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SPACE


I
FOUR MEN
ON 24 October 1944 planet Earth was following its orbit about the sun as it has obediently done for nearly five billion years. It moved at the stunning speed of sixty-six thousand miles an hour, and in doing so, created the seasons. In the northern hemisphere it was a burnished autumn; in the southern, a burgeoning spring.
At the same time, the Earth revolved on its axis at a speed of more than a thousand miles an hour at the equator, turning from west to east, and this produced day and night.
As a new day broke over the Philippine Islands, two navy men, one Japanese, one American, were about to perform acts of such valor that they would be remembered whenever the historic battles of the sea were compared and evaluated.
Later, when the ceaseless turning of the Earth brought high noon to the island town of Peenemünde on Germany’s Baltic coast, a small, quiet mechanical genius working for Adolf Hitler would find himself in the middle of an ordinary day which would have a most extraordinary conclusion.
A few hours following, when midafternoon reached London, a Youthful American engineer, not in uniform, would see for himself the power of Hitler’s vengeance weapon, the A-4, and would take steps to destroy it but [2] not its makers, because even then the American government could foresee that when the war ended, they would need these German scientists.
And toward the close of that long day, when the Earth had revolved the western region of America into the hours of sunset, in a small city in the state of Fremont a boy of seventeen would experience three resplendent moments, and would realize as they were happening that they were special in a way that might never be exceeded.
 
In the early afternoon of that October Tuesday, Stanley, Mott, an American civilian twenty-six years old, displayed a sense of almost frantic urgency as he watched the radar screen at a tracking station thirteen miles south of London.
“It’s coming!” an English sergeant cried, trying vainly to keep the excitement out of his voice. And there on the screen, as Mott watched, the sinister signal showed, a supersonic, unmanned monster bomb coming at London from some undetermined spot in Holland.
Even on the radar it displayed its silent speed, more than two thousand miles an hour. It would not be heard at this station until some moments after it had passed: Then sonic booms would thunder through the air, reassuring the listeners that this bomb at least had passed them by. “If you hear it,” the sergeant explained to Mott, “it’s already gone.”
In the fragile moments of final silence, everyone in the room listened intently for the tremendous sound which would indicate that the rocket bomb had struck, and sensitive devices were pointed toward London. K-k-k-krash! The bomb had fallen. The listeners turned antenna to new directions and soon an ashen-faced young man from Oxford University announced; “The heart of London. But I do believe east of Trafalgar Square.”
“Hurry!” Mott snapped, and within three minutes he and the Oxford man and a driver were speeding toward London with a set of red cards showing on their windshield, allowing them to pass roadblocks and salute policemen who barred certain thoroughfares. “Bomb squad,” the Oxford man called as the car sped past. This was not exactly true. He and Mott were not qualified to defuse unexploded bombs, as the real squad did; they collected data on the damage [3] inflicted by these new and terrible bombs which Hitler was throwing at London in what he boasted was “our act of final revenge.”
From the manner in which confusion grew as the car approached the area leading to Trafalgar Square, it was apparent that the trackers had been correct; the rocket had landed in the vicinity but well to the east. This was confirmed when wardens shouted, “It landed in the City.”
Then apprehension doubled, for this meant that the crucial business heart of London, termed the City, was once more in peril. The Bank of England, St. Paul’s, the “Guildhall, from which Churchill spoke-how Hitler would gloat if his spies wirelessed tonight that one of these enticing targets had been struck, how smug Lord Haw-Haw would sound as he ticked off the losses on the midnight radio.
But when the weaving car entered Cheapside-with the driver crying “Bomb squad! Bomb squad!”-Mott and the Oxford man saw with relief that the symbolic targets had once more been miraculously spared, but this discovery gave them short comfort, since they must now inspect the hideous consequences of wherever the bomb had fallen.
“Many lives gone this time,” muttered an elderly warden with pale face and drooping mustaches. He led the way through to a gaping hole where a short time before a small news kiosk had served businessmen working in the City. It and the shops near it had been eliminated-erased and fragmented as if made of sticks-with all their clerks and customers dead.
“I don’t know which is worse,” Mott said to the Oxford man. “That ghastly hole in the ground or the splinters of wood and bone.”
“Thank God, that monster in Berlin doesn’t have fifty of these to send at us every day,” the English expert muttered.
“How many have hit London?” Mott asked.
“If my count is correct, this is only number seventy-three. Since September, when they started. Something’s badly wrong with the German supply system.”
“Our bombing of Peenemünde is what’s wrong,” Mott aid. “Your boys have wrecked their hatching ground.”
“Let’s be grateful for that,” the Englishman sighed as he poked among the wreckage for any shreds of the bomb. [4] His team was still not quite certain how the horrible thing operated. “You know, Mott, before they started to arrive, we calculated Hitler could throw a hundred a day right at the heart of London. One hundred thousand civilians dead each month. We’ve been lucky. We’ve been terribly lucky.”
“How many dead here?”
The two experts consulted with wardens and came up with a figure of less than fifty, and when Mott repeated the number, almost with a sense of gratification, the Oxford man gave a convulsive sob. “Look at one of the fifty,” and he pointed to the body of a young girl who had been serving in the shop of a tobacconist. She was torn apart, but her head was untouched and her pretty face was still smiling, or so it seemed.
Mott looked away. Seeking out a member of the real bomb squad, he asked professionally, “Did you recover any metal parts? Any at all?”
“Total fragmentation,” the man said.
“Damn. Always we work in the dark.” He kicked at some rubble, gave a last survey of the wreckage, and stepped aside as hospital orderlies moved in to start recovering bodies.
“Shall we go on to Medmenham?” the Oxford man asked.
“That we shall,” Mott said. “We’ll hit those Nazis tonight with such a rain of destruction they’ll forget London.” I looked up at the sky and said, “Moonlight will be good at ten o’clock. Stand back, Hitler, you bastard.”
They sped from London on an emergency route leading to the west, and three times they crossed the winding River Thames, beautiful in its autumn coloring, with great trees crowding its rural banks. Heading in the direction of Windsor Castle and Eton, they could make excellent time, since the roads were free of traffic, and soon they were turning off onto a country lane that led to a remarkable site at which a remarkable meeting was about to take place.
Medmenham, a rustic village, was the site of England’s ingenious Air Force Signal Center, where data on the bombing of Germany were evaluated. Some of the brightest men and women in the world, English mostly but with a cadre of Americans and French, grabbed at aerial photographs as the plane crews delivered them and then made [5] sophisticated calculations of the damage that had been inflicted. At Medmenham, as one watched these clever people at work, one got the feeling of a Germany that was being slowly strangled and reduced to rubble.
Tonight, the brightest of the Allied minds had assembled in a temporary shed to study just one set of photographs: those showing the German rocket site at Peenemünde, in former times a trivial summer resort located on a small island. facing the Baltic Sea. If the German wizards at Peenemünde were allowed to proceed freely with their experiments and their manufacturing genius, London would be destroyed-and after that, New York and Washington.
“It could be the major target in the world,” an American Air Force general was saying when Stanley Mott joined the group. “What’s the word from Washington?”
“I bring a straightforward commission. Peenemünde is to be erased. Forget the other targets.”
“That we can’t do,” an English general interrupted. “You Americans with your heavy bombers are free to go at Peenemünde. We encourage you to strike at the breeding ground. But we British, with London in such peril ... We must try to eliminate the actual launch sites. What news of the latest rockets?”
Mott said, “About an hour ago one landed in Cheapside. Almost equidistant from the Bank of England, St. Paul’s and the Guildhall. Hit a tobacconist’s.”
“God must be with us,” the general said, then quickly: “How many dead?”
“Less than fifty.”
The room fell silent. These men knew what the word fifty meant, the tragic reverberations outward to the families of the dead.
“So you will appreciate,” the English general said, “when I insist that we must continue to seek out and destroy the launching sites.”
The American general, who seemed to be acting as chairman of the meeting, nodded. “You do your job, we’ll do ours. And tonight ours is Peenemünde.”
“Before we start on that,” an English civilian said, “I’d like to show you these latest photographs of the area just north of The Hague. This little town is Wassenaar, and we feel sure that those shadows indicate a [6] rocket-launching site. If we can knock that out within the next few days, we think we can drive the rocket operation back out of London range.”
“What is the effective range?”
“We don’t know, of course, but we calculate two hundred and twenty miles, maximum.”
A different American general asked contemptuously, “You mean Hitler has wasted all his energy-Peenemünde ... the whole snakes’ nest-on a rocket that can strike only two hundred miles? The man must be an idiot.”
“We know he’s an idiot,” the English general said, “but a damned lethal one. Our planes must concentrate on Wassenaar.”
An English civilian coughed. “There’s a problem. Wassenaar is a residential town. If we saturate ...”
“I know,” the English general said. “I know damned well what the problem is, and frankly, it’s a cruel one. Advice?”
A different civilian interrupted an officer who was about to respond: “We’ve consulted the Dutch government-secretly, of course. One of their men is waiting outside.”
“Bring him in,” the American general said.
A fifty-year-old Dutchman appeared in civilian clothes. Seeing the generals, he saluted. “My name is Hegener. I go in and out of the Netherlands. Regularly ...”
Mott thought: It’s like saying I go in and out of New York. Regularly. By the Hudson Tunnel. But what a hell of a difference. He wondered how Hegener went in and out. In by parachute? Out by darkened motorboat?
“My government has studied the problem,” Hegener said, “and we believe Wassenaar must be saturated.”
No one spoke. There was nothing to be said. Permission had been granted to take radical steps that might save the English city of London, but everyone in the room knew what penalties the Dutch town of Wassenaar must pay. It was a total war, which these men were determined to win because to lose would mean total hell. And now Wassenaar had moved into the front lines.
“Thank you, Mr. Hegener,” someone said, and the Dutchman rose to go.
“Do you live near Wassenaar?” an American asked.
“Oh no! I live well to the north in a fishing village on Texel. But it would be the same.”
When he was gone, the American general said, “Agreed. [7] Your planes to knock out Wassenaar. Ours to take care of Peenemünde. And we start tonight.”
“Is the raid set for tonight?” Mott asked. He seemed unusually young to be questioning a four-star general, but he worked in a field of such recent origin that most of its practitioners were young. Mott, for example, was by no means an expert in either rocketry or the work being done in atoms, but he was a solid engineer with a marked capacity for adjusting to any radical scientific developments.
“Yes, we’re launching three hundred and ninety-four bombers at Peenemünde at 2100 hours. From sixteen different airfields. Led by four highly trained British pathfinders, who’ve been there before. Tonight we knock out Herr Hitler’s rocketry.”
This news presented Mott with so many problems that for the moment he could not sort them out, so he sat silent, studying his fingertips. He was about to ask that the room be cleared of all but the very top generals and experts, when the British leader said brightly, “Gentlemen, I believe they’re ready for us at the mess. To those of you who haven’t been here before, we have a surprise in store. Fletcher, will you explain?”
As the men gathered their papers, almost every one top secret, an attractive woman in uniform stepped forward and said in beautifully arranged words, “A patriotic gentleman has given us his estate for our mess. Danesfield his house is called, just a stone’s throw down there. It’s rather something and not at all what we have regularly, I assure you. It was built in the 1890s by a Mr. Hudson, who had the good fortune to invent and sell our most popular soap, Sunlight.” At this name several men chuckled.
“When Mr. Hudson grew tired of his mansion, he passed it along to a Mr. Gorton, who was also lucky. He invented and sold H. P. Sauce, and he was even richer than Mr. Hudson. He had twenty-one gardeners and forty-six servants. Gentlemen, you are going to dine in one of the stately homes of England.”
Stanley Mott, son of a Methodist minister in a small New England city and a graduate of Georgia Tech, was not prepared for Danesfield. The gray-stone building was immense, with a garage area larger than most mansions; ten apartments stood over what had been the stables; they were now occupied by Air Force drivers and mechanics. [8] The hall itself contained forty-six bedrooms, in which the bright young men of the Signal Center slept, but it was the pair of rooms in which the officers would dine that stunned the Americans.
The first, a kind of reception-hall-dance-hall-living area, had a ceiling thirty feet high, a gigantic fireplace and a minstrels’ balcony from which a six-piece military band played English airs as if a duke and his duchess were entertaining in 1710. Officers assigned here led the visitors through this enormous room and into the dining hall, a place of such brilliance that Mott could merely shake his head in wonder.
It was sixty feet long, with a green marble fireplace at one end, each part carved like a work of art. One wall contained four enormous bay windows that gave a view of the Thames below, but the extraordinary feature was the dining table. It could seat as many as seventy if the chairs were close together, and every item on it seemed to gleam: the napery, the china, the silverware. Forty-six men and four women sat down to dinner, served by enlisted men who had been waiters in private life.
The pace was leisurely, the talk civilized, the food reasonably good and the music from the minstrels’ balcony lively. It was impossible to believe that these diners were dedicated solely to the defeat of Adolf Hitler.
But as the evening progressed, Stanley Mott began to get his ideas organized, and before the dessert was served he knew what he must do. Moving to the side of the American general, he whispered, “I think you and six or seven of the top brains-”
“Not before the toast to the King.”
“Sir, I have the gravest information-”
“It can wait fifteen minutes.”
“Sir, it pertains to tonight’s raid.”
The general turned abruptly, looked at Mott, whom he had never seen before this evening, and asked, “That serious?”
“It is, sir.”
The general coughed. “Archie, I wonder if we could speed this up?”
“Assuredly.” The English general indicated that the waiters should bring the dessert without clearing the table entirely, and when this was done, hastily, the men ate the [9] quivering jelly with dispatch and leaned back as the American general rose and said, glass high, “Gentlemen, the King!” When the toast was drunk, the British general rose, raised his glass, and said, “Gentlemen, the President of the United States!”
As soon as the ceremonies ended, Mott said, “Not more than eight of us.”
“Good,” the American general said, and forthwith he nominated the team, including three British civilian experts. The seven men and one woman-four military, four civilian-returned to the hut where the maps were and began their solemn discussion.
Mott spoke first. “Gentlemen and madam, it is absolutely essential that we destroy Peenemünde.”
The English general interrupted: “In the big meeting I kept my mouth shut. But actually, with the destruction we’ve already done to Hitler’s rocket-building capacity, we think that Peenemünde has been fairly neutralized.”
Now Mott was on the griddle and he squirmed. His task was most difficult, for he was privy to data which no one else in this room knew or could appreciate. That Peenemünde as the cradle of German rocketry had been pretty much sidetracked by the swift progress of the war, he had to concede. The massive English raids of a year ago had wrecked it temporarily, and tonight’s follow-up was intended merely to keep it off balance. The fearful rocket menace that Peenemünde had once threatened had been moved to other sites, and these men knew it.
But Peenemünde as the center for research in heavy water was a much different matter. Peroxide, as the English insisted on calling it, might prove to be the material which would enable the Germans to construct a bomb of radically different character, an atomic bomb if you will, one of which could destroy all of London in a single, searing blast. Mott could not be sure that Germany actually had a process for making heavy water, a most important agent which resulted when hydrogen atoms were displaced by deuterium. He only suspected that if the process did exist, it was functioning at Peenemünde, and he was not at all sure that if the Nazi scientists had the water, or peroxide, they would know how to convert it into a bomb.
So he opened the discussion gingerly: “Gentlemen, we [10] have reason to think that the Germans have developed at Peenemünde a process for making heavy water.”
“Oh dear,” one of the British civilians said. “Not that silly-water nonsense again?”
Another said, “I thought we’d disposed of that monster-bomb theory a long time ago.”
Mott said, “I grant you, we have nothing positive on this. But our people think that if even the remotest chance exists-”
“Mr. Mott,” the American general interrupted with some impatience, “I’ve already told you, we’re going to bomb the living hell out of that place. What more do you want?”
Mott was a member of an adroitly assembled team, when they met in the White House, President Roosevelt chuckled. “You look properly nondescript. All types. All ages.” Only five had specific scientific backgrounds: two university professors of atomic physics and three bright fellows from something called The Manhattan Project. The other six were a mixed bag: two businessmen, two military men in uniform, an FBI man, and to confuse enemy spies, Stanley Mott from Georgia Tech, youngest and by far the most disarming.
Roosevelt had told them two things: “America is about to produce a master weapon. And we have reason to believe that at Peenemünde, Hitler is doing the same.”
Concerning this basic secret the eleven were forbidden to divulge anything, but all were quietly at work. Some had already been parachuted onto the Continent. Others were being moved about by submarine. And Mott was in London, where he would probably not be noticed. On this important night he began cautiously, revealing only permitted data: “President Roosevelt has sent my team to Europe with a simple directive. We must destroy Peenemünde, whether it has a rocket capacity or not. And in doing so, we must under no circumstance allow our bombs to strike the living areas.”
The English general threw up his hands. “Damn it all, in our early raids, they were the principal targets.”
“And thank God you missed,” Mott said sharply.
“Yes, we did,” the Englishman said. “We had bad luck with our pathfinders. They laid their flares too far north.”
The American general looked at his watch. “Our men take off in two hours. The living areas are heavily [11] targeted.” He dropped his head slightly, so that his eyes stared straight out from under heavy eyebrows. “Why are we to avoid them this time, Mr. Mott?”
He almost spat out the last words, displaying the contempt which an older military man usually felt for any intruding younger civilian, and one of the English civilians noticed this. “Professor Mott, please explain.” And another civilian, catching the problem, said, “Yes, elaborate, Professor Mott.”
Mott never used his title, earned with distinction in graduate work at Louisiana State, where he had taught the fledgling science of aeronautics, and he certainly avoided mentioning his undergraduate college, for he was tired of clever men who chanted:
 
“I’m a rambling wreck from Georgia Tech
And a hell of an engineer.”
 
But now when these accusing generals, so much older and heavy with braid, heckled him, asking if he was really a professor, he felt he must inflate his record. “Indeed I am, In advanced aviation theory.” Actually, he taught the beginners’ course.
“Clarify your point, Professor.”
Slowly and carefully Mott looked at each of the seven. He must say enough to convince them, not enough to betray his major secret. He coughed and clasped his hands nervously, all his actions calculated to gain him a respectful hearing. “There are three men living in the Peenemünde camp tonight whose safety is absolutely vital to the free world. I think you can guess why.”
“Let me try,” an older English civilian said. “You Americans and we English are pitifully far behind in rocketry. We’re seeing what can be accomplished with the first generation of German rockets. And we fear the Russians are far ahead of us. So that in the postwar world …”
“There are three German scientists we must keep alive until they reach our lines,” Mott said. “Count Wernher von Braun, a relatively young man who seems to be the genius of the rocket operation. My job from here on out is to get him safely to our side. Then we badly need General Eugen Breutzl. He’s the managerial genius. We have reason to believe he’s not a Nazi, just a technical wizard who could [12] move our program ahead by generations. And the third man is a shadowy fellow. Name seems to be Dieter Kolff, if we have it correct. He’s about thirty-five years old, and the reason we must get him is that he may prove to be the real genius of the team. He’s their expert on the A-10.”
“What’s that?” a civilian asked. “Our information doesn’t go beyond the A-6.”
“Well,” Mott said, as if consulting with a seminar of extremely gifted graduate students, “you’re the world’s experts on the A-4, which you call the V-2. You know about the next in line, the bigger versions up through the A-6 and perhaps A-7. But we have fairly solid information that this quiet expert Kolff, if he really exists, is specializing on the A-10.”
“And what is that?” the same civilian pressed.
“It’s the one that can hit New York. Fired from Germany.” There were several gasps, after which he said, “Yes, A-10 or something like it is only a short time down the road.”
“I should think you’d want to wipe out the living quarters above all else,” the English general said. “Exterminate such vermin.”
“No! No!” Mott protested. “Because neither you nor we know how to make a rocket that will carry a bomb even ten miles. And we have reason to believe that the Russians are about to come up with one that will” fly a thousand.”
“So you think that we must keep these three men alive?” the American general asked.
“It is vital.”
“Then why in hell do we bomb the place at all?”
And that was the question which could not be answered openly. Mott retreated rather lamely to the heavy water. “To eliminate a short-range danger, we’ve got to knock out the heavy-water capacity. To protect our long-range security, we’ve got to save those three German scientists.”
“Professor Mott,” the general snorted, “you sound like a damned fool. To break this on us at takeoff time for a major strike.”
“I feel like a fool,” Mott conceded. “But have we a safe phone? Please instruct your pathfinders to lay their guidance flares well away from the living quarters.”
[13] “We can do better,” the English general said. “Young Merton, who will fly as tonight’s coordinator, is waiting outside.”
Master Bomber Merton was twenty-three years old, a blond young man weighing less than a hundred and forty. He would have been out of place as a junior master in a classroom of unruly boys, but tonight he proposed to fly unaccompanied across the North Sea to Peenemünde, where he would circle aloft for nearly two hours, radioing instructions to the four English pathfinder planes as to where they should drop their flares, and then to the oncoming American bombers as to how they should launch their devastating bombs. The fate of three hundred and ninety-eight planes would rest in his hands; he would be responsible for the future of German rocketry, German heavy-water bombs, if they existed, and the security of he free world. He grinned boyishly and seemed shy in the presence of so many experts.
The woman photographic analyst moved to the wall and pulled aside white linen sheets that hid the target maps for Peenemünde, the little island nestled along the Prussian shore. It resembled a fetus, a monstrous thing brought to birth by mad scientists, and at the far northern end stood the launching sites for the great rockets that had alarmed the world. The test stands for the engines were clearly designated, as were the command headquarters and the army barracks. In green, well down on the island, clustered the buildings labeled SCIENTISTS’ HOUSING, and t was to these that she pointed.
“We have solid evidence from both our photographs and prisoner interrogations that the scientists you seek do indeed live here. We believe their housing was moved south after our big raids of last year.”
“If there were heavy-water experiments under way,” Mott asked, “where would they center?”
“When we had the abortive peroxide scare a year ago-”
“It was not abortive,” Mott said sternly.
“We found nothing,” the woman continued, unruffled. “But we guessed that it would have been up here.”
“That’s where we’re concentrating tonight,” Master Bomber Merton said.
“And that’s what must be avoided,” Mott said almost pleadingly.
[14] “We can place the bombs anywhere you like,” Merton said enthusiastically. “But you must tell us.”
Before Mott could respond, the American general stared at the two young men from beneath his heavy brows. “Is Washington committed to this strategy?”
“It is,” Mott said quietly. “I’m one of eleven men directed to spend the rest of the war trying to salvage those three Germans. Von Braun, Breutzl, Kolff. General, we must have them.”
There was a protracted silence, during which Mott wished that he could divulge what he had learned on the sand flats of New Mexico: that the United States had progressed far beyond the heavy-water principle and was in position to construct an atom bomb even more powerful than speculation had predicted. World terror was possible. It might arrive at any moment, from Russia, from Germany, from New Mexico. All things were in flux, and any nation that managed even a week’s lead over the others would have an advantage of stupefying magnitude. The bomb that these men scoffed at was a reality, or almost so, and the likelihood that Germany might be first to launch it, and with rockets that could not be intercepted, was so awful to contemplate that everything possible must be done to interdict it.
Please, please, Mott thought, make these men accept partial evidence. They’ll see the actuality all too soon.
“It sounds like an asinine proposition,” the American general said. “Bomb hell out of an island, but don’t touch the bottom half.”
“Sometimes,” the English general said consolingly, “we’re forced to adopt half-measures. To keep the whole in balance.”
“What do you mean?” the American asked.
“Surely I don’t want to waste my heavy bombers striking at a temporary target like the Wassenaar launch site. You know we should be concentrating on knocking out the heavy industry. But Churchill has to give evidence to the citizens of London that we’re doing everything we can to protect them from Hitler’s rockets.” He paused and turned to Mott. “How many people was it we lost today?”
“About fifty.”
A Royal Air Force man shook his head. “If we know about it, all London knows about it. Fifty more dead. And [15] the other day smack into a cinema. Two hundred dead that time. So we have to bomb Wassenaar.”
“Is this line safe?” the Master Bomber asked.
“Yes.”
Merton spoke with his people at Benson Air Force Base in the direction of Oxford, and Mott could hear him planning the night as if it were a game: “Four pathfinders will find me already over the target. You’ll drop your flares well away from the living quarters marked in green. Plenty of moonlight. Plenty of visibility. Ten minutes after you leave, the Moon will set and it will be dark. Then the Yanks come on. I’ll vector them in, but they must not ;overshoot the flares. Is that understood? Roger and out.”
Visualizing both the German A-4 rockets and the monstrous American bombers, Mott wondered at the curious and self-defeating decision made by Adolf Hitler. One of his famed rockets could deliver about a ton of explosive, and never on a precisely determined target, while an American bomber, which cost about the same as a rocket, could drop six tons within a closely defined area.
At first glance it seemed that Hitler had made a hideously wrong choice, but Mott also knew that before long the Germans would have stouter rockets capable of delivering eight and ten tons of explosives, and his secret briefings had caused him to fear that within the year someone would have anew kind of bomb which would be calculated in the million-ton range, and someone else would have rockets which could deliver such a bomb across the Atlantic.
These were the days of awesome decision, and he watched with relief as Master Bomber Merton put down the phone, tapped the map, and said cheerily, “Whatever they have hiding at Peenemünde, it gets a thrashing tonight.” And off he went to direct his hornets to a target which might or might not be fabricating heavy water to be used in an atomic bomb which might or might not be completed in time to annihilate London within the near future.
When he departed, Mott sighed. The hiding place of Von Braun, Breutzl and Kolff would be spared for one more night.
“Was it really so important, Professor Mott?” one of the American generals asked.
[16] “The security of the world might well depend upon what we accomplish this night.”
 
On this same afternoon of 24 October 1944 the remnants of the Japanese Imperial Navy, badly battered by incessant American pressure, launched one of the most daring ventures in the history of naval warfare. It was a door-die effort made inescapable by General MacArthur’s recent surprise landing in the Philippines. Japanese intelligence saw quickly that MacArthur’s forces were not well secured and that a bold strike might drive them from the Philippines, bloody MacArthur’s nose, and give Japan a year’s respite to strengthen its homeland defenses.
This stupendous effort of throwing every available fighting ship and airplane against the Americans was called Sho-Go (Operation Victory) and its success depended upon the resolute performance of three war-hardened admirals who had been asked, each one separately, to perform a miracle. The top planners had every reason to believe that Sho-Go would drive the Americans from the sea, and humiliate MacArthur once again.
Sho-Go had three simple principles, the intermeshing of which would ensure a surprising victory. The entire surviving fleet would be divided into three parts, each with a totally different responsibility. The North Fleet, under the command of Admiral Ozawa Jisaburo, would sail down from Japan, allow itself to be seen, and then toy around north of the Philippines in hopes that Admiral Halsey would be tricked into rushing north with the bulk of the American fleet. These ships constituted a decoy which, because it would be outnumbered if Halsey fell into the trap, could expect to lose many of its major components. To make the bait more alluring, this fleet brought with it four huge carriers on the principle that “Admiral Halsey can never resist going for our carriers.” They would be especially vulnerable.
The South Fleet drew the suicide mission. It would form off Borneo, well to the south of the Philippines, steam north, keeping to the coast of Asia, and then come sweeping east to pick its way through a narrow strait, which, if negotiated, would throw the great battleships and cruisers right onto the lap of MacArthur’s shorebound men. But to accomplish this, the South Fleet would have to [17] break through a relatively small American defensive fleet that would probably be alerted and waiting at the exit from the strait. That a naval battle of tremendous magnitude must take place, there was little doubt, and the  Japanese admiral in charge of this fleet had good reason to suppose that by nightfall on 25 October he and all his ships would be dead.
He was Nishimura Teiji, a man without fear. He had fought his ships bravely in many battles and expected to continue doing so, whatever Sho-Go directed him to do. With consummate skill he sneaked his battle line up from Borneo, around the southern Philippine Islands and into the narrow strait that would lead him to MacArthur’s beachhead. As dusk fell he prayed to his Shinto gods of war that no American fleet would be waiting for him at the exit, but as a sensible man he realized that this was a forlorn hope.
The two feints, one to the north, the other to the south, “and each extremely dangerous, had been set in motion in order to spring free the redoubtable Central Fleet, which would leave from Singapore, steam north at flank speed, cut boldly east, and come crashing through the formidable San Bernardino Strait, which the American command had long ago decided was too perilous for any warships to negotiate. The job of bringing a major fleet-five massive battleships, twelve heavy cruisers, fifteen destroyers, all with enormous firepower-through waters deemed impossible to navigate was given to the boldest admiral of the three, Kurita Takeo, a man of medium height and modest weight, with a close-cropped bulldog head. On the eve of batty he told his commanders, “I expect every one of our ships to steam through San Bernardino Strait without incident, and then to fall upon the enemy and drive him from the Philippines.” He led the way, moving at a speed that would have been incomprehensible, in these narrow waters, for a small fishing boat. Thirty-one major warships followed in line. If they broke through and if the American Halsey was lured north with his major fleet, and if Admiral Nishimura used his South Fleet to divert the other warships in the area, Admiral Kurita’s powerful force would find only a phantom American fleet to confront it: a few baby aircraft carriers, a few small destroyers. These could easily be sunk, and then General MacArthur [18] would be driven from his beachhead and perhaps even carried as prisoner to Tokyo.
Dusk on 24 October was a time of silent apprehension, for one of the greatest naval battles in world history was about to erupt: three separate Japanese fleets against three separate American fleets. A capricious fate had determined that no one of the Japanese fleets would meet an American force of comparable size and power. The individual battles were going to be terribly unfair, and not always in favor of the Americans. By dawn on 25 October, General MacArthur’s fingerhold on the Philippines could  well be in mortal peril.
It fell to Admiral Nishimura, leading the South Fleet, to feel the first taste of battle. Curiously, the Americans, despite their superiority in air power and their prudent use of scouting planes, did not detect the movements of either the Central Fleet or the South, and these massive forces were left free to move into their straits as they  wished, but two American submarines, always on the prowl, by the sheerest luck were loitering along the very path that Admiral Nishimura was following, and with skill and courage they pumped torpedoes into one of his big ships. Before the battle was engaged, he had suffered a dreadful loss, but a much worse problem lurked at the exit from the strait.
Since the beginning of naval warfare, admirals had known that there was one condition to be avoided, and every ensign learning the rules of war had memorized the truism: “Never let the enemy cross your T.” The same young men, when they had mastered this lesson, dreamed of the day when by clever maneuvering they could cross the enemy’s T, for then victory was assured. Don Juan of Austria, half brother of Philip II of Spain, had crossed the Turkish T at the battle of Lepanto in 1571 and altered the history of the Mediterranean. Lord Nelson had crossed the French T and saved England. At Jutland in World War I the British crossed the German T to save Europe.
Of course, in 1944, with battleships having airplanes to scout for them, it was preposterous for naval men to still dream of crossing the enemy’s T, but some did, and among them was Admiral Jesse Oldendorf, commander of the American battleships prowling the other end of [19] Admiral Nishimura’s strait on the slight chance that the Japanese might be attempting to force it.
As the bombers heading for Peenemünde on this night had discovered, there was a half-Moon casting considerable light, but at dusk it stood right at the apex, and before midnight it would disappear, leaving the sky dark. Admiral Nishimura, heading straight for the waiting Admiral Oldendorf, counted on this darkness to obscure the Japanese warships, and it did, so on he plowed at a speed which terrified some of his subalterns.
The crossing of a T consisted of this. The enemy fleet must be in file, one behind the other and in such position that its ships cannot easily or quickly move up one beside the other. They form the stem of the T, and for reasons which will be explained, are cruelly vulnerable. The attacking fleet must be in line, which means that every gun on a given side of the ships can bring to bear upon the lone enemy ship at the head of the file, whereas this exposed target can bring its guns to bear on only one of its tormentors. And as soon as the first enemy ship is sunk, which it will surely be when facing such concentrated firepower, the next ship in file moves into the lead, where it finds fifteen or twenty enemies waiting.
In the hours before sunrise, when the sea was dark and the Japanese ships were in file, one behind the other, Admiral Oldendorf crossed their T.
Not often in naval history had there been a major battle in which the forces were so ill-matched. Admiral Nishimura would exit the strait with only seven ships: two major battlewagons, a cruiser and four destroyers. He would be faced by overwhelming American strength: six major battleships with terrifying names like Maryland, West Virginia and Tennessee, four heavy cruisers, each more powerful than some battleships, four light cruisers and an amazing twenty-eight destroyers. This meant that the Japanese were outnumbered 42 to 7. In addition, the Americans had forty-five small and lively PT boats to sting and harass the enemy, forcing him to break up his orderly approach.
The battle was joined in pitch-darkness, beginning at three o’clock in the morning, a condition which Nishimura preferred because he knew that in previous night battles [20] the Japanese had usually bested the Americans, who did not seem to know how to conduct themselves in darkness.
This time they did. As Nishimura led his small fleet toward open water, American destroyers, bewildering in their abundance, slashed at him, throwing his ships once more into confusion, slowing some down and crippling others.
Then, from a distance of eleven miles, without seeing the Japanese fleet and guided only by radar, the mighty guns of the American battleships opened up, and whenever they paused, the eight cruisers took over, including the Australian Shropshire. Among them, the six battleships carried more than three thousand heavy shells, which they threw with deadly accuracy until the night sky was illuminated with gunfire and towering explosions from the doomed Japanese fleet.
Nishimura Teiji died with his ships. From the moment Sho-Go was explained, he had known that when he exited from the strait, something would be waiting for him, but even in his most pessimistic moments he had not dreamed that his T would be crossed by six major battleships and eight monstrous cruisers. He lost six of his seven ships; the Americans lost none. It was a loss without parallel in recent naval history, but it was also a suicide venture which amounted to victory, since Nishimura had accomplished precisely what had been required of him. He had kept the big American warships bottled up at the south, leaving General MacArthur’s troops on Leyte exposed to the Japanese Central Fleet when it broke through. A survivor from Nishimura’s flagship reported that the little admiral had stood calmly on the bridge of his ship as it sank, obviously content that he had done his job.
 
The North Fleet had also gained a victory, in a manner of speaking, for Admiral Ozawa Jisaburo had tricked Admiral Halsey into running far to the north to take the bait which the Japanese had dangled before him, leaving the Leyte landings unprotected.
It was a tempting lure that Ozawa offered: a major Japanese fleet consisting of eighteen warships, including four of Japan’s greatest aircraft carriers. Had Halsey refused this challenge, even though responding to it did imperil MacArthur’s landing, he would have been a naval [21] idiot. So after the most delicate weighing of alternatives, and fully aware of what he was doing, Bull Halsey roared north, taking with him an American fleet of staggering size: six great battleships like the Iowa, the New Jersey and the South Dakota; ten aircraft carriers like the Essex, the Enterprise and the Lexington; eight cruisers; and forty-one destroyers. Once more the Japanese were outnumbered, 65 to 18, but this had been intended.
What was not intentional was the lamentable fact that the four great Japanese carriers, deadly terrors in the early days of the war, were now without planes. This vast fleet could put into the air only fifteen airplanes, and since they were manned by untrained pilots, even these would soon be shot down; whereas the ten American carriers had a plethora of planes with superbly trained pilots to fly them. So in the second battle here at the north, like the first at the south, the imbalance between the two fleets was staggering, and Admiral Ozawa knew as day broke on 25 October that he, too, was engaged in a suicide mission. His task was simple: keep Halsey engaged, while sacrificing as few ships as possible.
Then came the slaughter. Halsey, convinced that the outcome of the Pacific war depended upon his knocking out the Japanese carriers, fell on them remorselessly. The battle had scarcely begun when the swift carrier Chitose absorbed a hellish concentration of bombs, sinking at 0937. At 1018 the battle-hardened Chiyoda lay dead in the water and had to be abandoned; she would sink at 1630. At 1414 the monstrous Zuikaku, one of the most powerful carriers in the world, rolled over and sank. At 1526 the mighty Zuhio was attacked by twenty-seven American planes and sank under the weight of their bombs.
The guts of the North Fleet had been eviscerated, and Halsey’s big warships were free to move close and finish off the remaining fourteen Japanese ships. It was apparent at only a naval miracle could save the Japanese fleet, and now just such a miracle occurred.
Admiral Halsey, gloating in his flag command quarters, began receiving anguished messages from Leyte Gulf, where a disaster of such enormous dimension had overtaken the American forces that General MacArthur’s position was in mortal danger. Halsey was confronted by a cruel choice: stay north, finish off Ozawa’s fleet, and [22] terminate Japan’s naval threat; or speed south to help avert disaster. His whole inclination was to stay north and destroy Japan’s capabilities, and this would have been the correct decision. Left to himself, he would surely have chosen that alternative.
But now one of the sardonic mischances of warfare intervened to trick him into the wrong decision: he received a garbled interrogation from Honolulu. When sending important coded messages it was the custom in the United States Navy to preface crucial details with nonsense words and to close with others. This yielded a twofold advantage: it required the enemy to waste time trying to decipher the entire jumble, and when the operation was ended and its details known, it prevented him from making clever guesses as to which coded word had meant which salient fact. A well-constructed Navy message might read CHICAGO WHITE SOX FOUR CLEVELAND INDIANS TWO LANDING ON BOUGAINVILLE AT 0730 ZEBRA GET THEE TO A NUNNERY.
Admiral Nimitz, in Honolulu, watching the course of this great battle-to be termed later by historians as “The greatest sea battle in the long history of naval warfare”-realized that Halsey’s flight to the north had imperiled the operation, leaving MacArthur in jeopardy, and when he saw the danger imposed by Japan’s Central Fleet, he rushed Halsey an urgent message: WHERE IS TASK FORCE 34?-referring to the portion of Halsey’s fleet that was supposed to be guarding the center. The sending signalman properly opened the message with nonsense words: TURKEY TROTS TO WATER, which was traditionally digressive, but unfortunately he ended with a flourish acquired in some English class, and this could be read as part of the message: THE WHOLE WORLD WONDERS.
The unfortunate addition would still have been harmless if the receiving signalman had done what he was supposed to do, knock off the irrelevant beginning and ending phrases, but he was confused by the close relationship of the last two phrases and handed Admiral Halsey this message from headquarters: WHERE IS TASK FORCE 34? THE WHOLE WORLD WONDERS.
Halsey could interpret this only as a rebuke and possibly as a veiled attack upon his honor; because of his [23] headstrong behavior, he had left a detachment of the American fleet in mortal danger.
In disgust and dismay, he turned away from the crippled Japanese North Fleet, which could now escape to safety, and sent his battleships south on what he knew would have to be a futile mission. If conditions in Leyte Gulf were as perilous as the messages reported, his battleships would arrive far too late to be of any good. At this sad point in the great battle he realized that he had been tricked; Admiral Ozawa, that canny master of naval deception, had dangled before him four aircraft carriers that were largely useless, with no planes, pilots or aviation gasoline. Even if Halsey had not attacked them, they would have died of their own strangulation.
So the Japanese won the first two engagements in this running battle, even though the cost had been suicidal. Nishimura had tied down the American battleships in the south, Ozawa those in the north. Now everything depended upon Admiral Kurita Takeo of the Central Fleet, and rarely in history did any admiral enjoy such an untrammeled opportunity to crush a major adversary.
 
Admiral Kurita launched his triumph in high style. After fighting off numerous American aviation attacks without losing one ship, he personally led his huge, powerful fleet in one of the notable maneuvers in naval history, bringing it safely through the narrow strait which the Americans had deemed impassable, considering it far too narrow and dangerous to permit the passage of a destroyer, let alone a battleship.
But Kurita was lucky, bringing with him a most formidable string of warships: five of the most powerful battleships, whose guns were of greater caliber than the Americans’, eleven massive cruisers and fifteen destroyers. This fleet of thirty-one sturdy, well-manned ships could confront any adversary.
It was amazing what they did confront. With Halsey taking his six battleships north, and Oldendorf taking his six south, none was left for the middle. Nor were there any cruisers. Nor any large aircraft carriers. Nor any of the really big new destroyers.
What was there? A ragtail collection of small, thin [24] shelled, lightly armed, slow-moving baby aircraft carriers, called ‘Jeeps’ or ‘baby flattops,’ intended for unopposed antisubmarine patrol or the support of Army troops ashore. There were sixteen of these, each with one futile five-inch gun and a limited supply of all-purpose ammunition, which meant that it suited no specific purpose at all. To protect the defenseless baby flattops, there were nine moderate-sized destroyers and twelve sharply undersized craft called destroyer escorts, whose name correctly defined their duties. They were not intended for major battle.
In the DE Lucas Dean, built in a hurry in Bremerton nine months before, the captain was Norman Grant, USNR, actually a thirty-year-old lieutenant commander and a beginning lawyer from the western state of Fremont, a man who had never seen the ocean before he volunteered for the Navy to escape being drafted into the Army. Grant was the first American officer to spot the oncoming Japanese fleet as it moved through the early dawn. Controlling his emotions, he signaled the admiral in charge of the Escort Carrier Group: “Major Japanese fleet exiting strait. Battleships, cruisers.”
When planes confirmed the report, at 0647 on the morning of 25 October 1944, everyone in the little American fleet knew what was at stake. Without heavy guns, without adequate torpedoes, and with no hope of reinforcements from anywhere, these fragile ships must try to harass and heckle and outguess a massive collection of warships and cruisers any one of which had more fire power than what the Americans together could muster. If the North and South Fleets of the Japanese had faced difficult odds, this American fleet faced worse.
Nineteen-year-old Yeoman Tim Finnerty took down in shorthand what Captain Grant said to the crew of the Lucas Dean: “Men, we sailed all the way from Seattle to take on the Japs. Here they come. Let’s give a manly account of ourselves.” And then, as the notes indicate, he gave his first order: “Hard right rudder.” Since he and nine-tenths of his crew of 329 were landlubbers, it was customary aboard the Lucas Dean to use simple left and right instead of port and starboard; hardly anyone aboard the little DE could have explained those nautical terms, or any others.
The sixteen little carriers were spread far apart, in [25] three groups, each with its own destroyers to protect it. Captain Grant’s DE was attached to the first group, the one nearest the oncoming enemy, so, as part of the screen, he would be among the earliest to encounter Japanese fire.
Then came the order: “DDs move out.” This meant that the three heavier destroyers, those with the best chance of surviving hits from the Japanese guns, would make the first runs, discharging their torpedoes into the path of the oncoming fleet, then hoping to retire.
The men of the Lucas Dean lined the decks of their ship to watch the opening maneuvers, and were disgusted to think that they were being held in reserve while the bigger DDs sped directly at the enemy, throwing a smoke screen to hide themselves from the Japanese gunners. But as the Dean’s men watched, they heard a mighty sigh of wind, saw briefly four monster shells come at them and land resoundingly in the water, throwing such giant concussions that the little DE was thrown about as if it were a leaf on a turbulent lake.
“Look!” a sailor named Parker shouted. “They’re coming at us in Technicolor.”
He was right. To aid in spotting the effectiveness of fire, each side used heavy dyes of six or seven different colors. These first ones were red and green, their splashes leaping fifty and sixty feet in the air.
“It’s Christmas!” Finnerty shouted, and men looked strangely at one another as the red and green water came down upon them.
In a kind of glazed trance that might have been identified as cowardice, Captain Grant watched the DDs as they headed directly at the Japanese cruisers that led the enemy attack, and it staggered him to think that those small DDs should volunteer to throw themselves at all this might in order to give the American carriers just a few more minutes to escape southward. Since he spoke to no one, his men could not guess at his thoughts, nor predict what he might do when orders came for them to speed out to face the enemy.
There was no time for such speculation, because another salvo of four gigantic shells bracketed the Lucas Dean, throwing it about, and then Captain Grant came to his senses.
[26] “Hard right,” he said in a calm voice, and when the third salvo from one of the Japanese battleships landed well aft of the Lucas Dean, he gave the order to swing in a tight circle and head directly for where that salvo had struck, on the principle that when the Japanese spotters saw the fountains of red and green marker-dye, they would correct their sights and not fire at the same spot again.
“Chasing salvos,” it was called, and Grant displayed an uncanny sense of when to move exactly into the middle of the last splash, and when to veer well away in some radical direction.
Then came the thrilling command: “Small boys, move out!”
Over his intercom Captain Grant said, “Here we go, right at them. Every man.” He did not finish his exhortation, for he knew it was not needed.
The Lucas Dean and three other small, fragile DEs leaped forward, abandoned the baby flattops, and sped directly at the oncoming battleships. It was preposterous, an act of insanity, boats so small against the mighty Yamato, Musashi and Kongo, but if the DEs could divert the battleships even momentarily, the American carriers might have a remote chance of escape. The gamble was that elements of Admiral Oldendorf’s southern fleet would come roaring north, or some part of Admiral Halsey’s big fleet might steam back to the rescue.
Because a constant rain of shells came at the Lucas Dean, the lead DE, Captain Grant had to dodge and duck, chasing salvos all over the sea, and this took him away from the other three little ships, so that when he was in position from which he might launch his torpedoes, he was alone, one small craft with three battleships coming at him in file.
“Gentlemen,” he announced quietly, “we shall cross their T.” And that is exactly what he did. Starting from a point well to the east, he took the Lucas Dean on a course that carried him directly across the bow of the lead battleship, and when he had the three in the position he wanted them, he fired his entire spread of torpedoes.
Then came the most agonizing twelve minutes the crew of his DE would ever know, for it would take that long for the torpedoes to reach the battleships, and all the while the glorious fountains of color-red and green and blue [27] and golden yellow-spouted about the little ship as the infuriated battleships fired at it. Ducking this way and that, Captain Grant evaded the salvos, keeping one eye always on the wake of his torpedoes.
“It takes a long time, sir,” Finnerty said, standing by with his notebook.
“Full speed astern!” Grant ordered, and the ship quivered as it halted in midflight, hesitated, and backed off while a mighty salvo landed a few yards ahead.
Now the Lucas Dean was doomed, for two cruisers had moved up to aid the battleships, and the bombardment became so intense that further escape was impossible. But then a low rain cloud swept in, coming from the west like a victorious runner. “God, I hope it reaches us!” Finnerty cried.
“I hope it stays away till we see the torpedoes,” Grant prayed, and ignoring the incoming shells, he stared at the vanished wakes. “Eleven minutes. Soon twelve.”
Peering under the clouds, he continued to stare at the Japanese ships. “The BBs see our torpedoes,” he announced ,calmly, and the men watched as the big ships turned in what seemed like wild confusion. Turning to Finnerty, he directed him to write: “All torpedoes ran hot and true. All missed.”
“Look!” the sailor Parker shouted. “We hit a cruiser.” For only a second there was a distant roar, a towering geyser, and then the dark grayness of the saving cloud.
“We may have hit a cruiser,” Captain Grant told Finnerty, and Executive Officer Savage went among the men, shouting, “We crossed their T.” He was right. One small ship with minuscule guns had driven the battlewagons into disarray, giving the baby flattops a few minutes of respite.
The four DEs turned in large circles and headed back to the flanks of the carriers, whose safety they were bound to defend, but they were rather useless there, so again came the command: “Small boys, move out!” And once more Captain Grant and his men left the cover of their clouds, sped north, and engaged the great fleet bearing down upon the carriers.
Two of the DEs were promptly sunk by a hellish concentration of fire from the Japanese battleship and cruisers, and this left the forward carriers completely [28] undefended, and unable to defend themselves. “Bare ass to the wind,” it was called, and these carriers were just that. Each had one five-inch gun whose shells could not begin to pierce the steel plates of the Japanese ships. But in hopes that the meager weapon might do damage on deck, the baby flattops fired.
What happened in return was another miracle of warfare. The Japanese battleships turned their heaviest guns on the carriers, and the most exposed, the Chesapeake Bay, took four eighteen-inch shells at various parts of her deck, all within six minutes. But because the Japanese had expected to encounter American battleships, their guns were loaded with armor-piercing shells which would have created havoc had they struck the heavy plating of an American battleship, for then the steel-hard nose would cut through the deck, arm the fuse, and cause a gigantic detonation below.
When the same shells struck the paper-thin Chesapeake they screamed right through the ship, finding nothing hard enough to activate their fuses. When the sailors of the Chesapeake realized what was happening, one man cried, “They’re making Swiss cheese!” Four of the most powerful shells in the world had struck a Jeep carrier without causing a single casualty. There were, of course, eight gaping holes in the flattop, four where the AP shells entered, four where they left.
The Lucas Dean was not so lucky. With no more torpedoes to fire, it was only a partial warship, but Captain Grant was determined to use that part to maximum advantage. Throwing a heavy smoke screen, he dodged and zagged his way far forward until the ship reached a spot from which he could fire with some effect upon the smaller Japanese destroyers whose skins would not be thick enough to repel his shots. He fired sixteen times and accomplished nothing. But because he had taken a position close to the main Japanese fleet, the Lucas Dean had to be dealt with, and two cruisers came right at it, blazing harshly. Now there were no colored splashes, for the Japanese gunners could see their target, but there was still the game of chasing salvos, and Captain Grant played this to perfection, staying alive long enough to find shelter in another rain cloud.
But as he hid there, the Japanese cruisers could see [29] what he could not: the cloud was extremely small, and the ship must be crouching somewhere within. Laying down a creeping barrage, the cruisers scored two hits, both fore, both devastating. However, the cloud remained long enough to give Grant sufficient time to survey the damage, and now he learned the rare quality of Mr. Savage, the executive officer, for this newly arrived Texan, who had never seen any ocean a year ago, took such complete command of emergency repairs that within half an hour the Lucas Dean was able to move under its own power, not fast but quite securely.
“What now?” Mr. Savage asked.
“Back to the wars,” Grant said.
“What else?” Savage replied.
Their DE could make only half-speed, and they had only a small portion of their ammunition left, but it was obvious that if they could in any way divert or harass the enemy warships, they might contribute slightly to the American position. So moving under protection of the rain clouds, they returned to the front and saw with extreme delight that American planes from the little carriers had begun all-out attacks on the Japanese ships. If the Dean could cause only a trivial confusion, it might be enough to make some Japanese ship falter, and slow down, and become a better target for the aviators. So Grant threw his little craft right at the heart of the oncoming Japanese fleet.
In the legends of many people one finds accounts of how the gods favored men of extreme bravery. The American Indians, the ancient Greeks, the Romans and the Goths all believed that if a man displayed unusual heroism, he would receive unusual protection ... up to a point.
Norman Grant, a beginning lawyer with a wife he loved back in the small Western town of Clay, was such a man. When Finnerty asked him, as the Lucas Dean limped haltingly north, “Do you intend to take on their whole fucking fleet?” he said, “I do.”
For thirty-eight minutes this DE worked and wove its way as if it had a whole nest of torpedoes to discharge. It lobbed its few shells onto the decks of the much heavier warships, then walked the salvos back to safety. When it was clearly doomed, it found a rain cloud, and when two other equally heroic destroyers were shot out of the water, [30] it somehow survived. It was a charmed ship, for the gods had taken it under their protection.
Every man aboard the Lucas Dean realized that their captain was proving himself to be a man of remarkable heroism, and some sensed that they, too, shared his courage. But heroism aboard a moving vessel is quite different from that required of a foot soldier, who can, if his spirit fails, run away. It requires true courage of monumental character for a soldier to stay and fight when he might flee, but aboard ship the captain merely points the bow in a certain direction, and no man on board can do a damned thing about it.
What caused Captain Grant to behave as he did that October morning? What produced in an ordinary lawyer from a small land-locked town in the West an impeccable sense of naval maneuvering? A chain of trivial incidents had linked together to make him the man he proved to be that day of battle:
 
1921, aged 7: His father speaking: “You mustn’t lie about the box of candy. If you took it, say so. No punishment I give you will ever be as bad as the punishment you will give yourself if you become a known liar.”
 
1932, aged 18: Mr. Stidham speaking: “We are most pleased, Norman, that you’re taking Elinor to the dance. Remember that we’re placing her care in your hands. Home by one. And you don’t have to prove that you can drive down a darkened road at seventy miles an hour.”
 
1941, aged 27: Head of the firm speaking: “I tell each lawyer who joins our firm only once. Over the past two decades four lawyers in this county have gone to jail for misappropriating funds with which they were entrusted. And I’ve testified against three of them.”
 
1943, aged 29: Navy bo’s’n speaking: “By the old standards there isn’t one of you men prepared to take charge of a Navy vessel. But I’m convinced you have character and courage, and that will suffice.”
 
¯
 
[31] Kurita’s fleet contained one battleship the Americans desperately wanted to sink, the Haruna, veteran of many battles, and because of its emotional challenge, always a prime target. In the hideous days of late 1941 when America shivered in humiliation after Pearl Harbor and the Philippines, the nation sorely needed a hero, so enthusiastic public relations men concocted the doctrine that Colin Kelly, braver than most, had sunk the Haruna. Photographs of Kelly, his airplane and the destroyed Japanese battleship flashed across the world. But to the embarrassment of the Navy, in the next sea battle Haruna was there, spreading devastation.
But in that battle she was sunk again, after a vicious fight which the public relations men described in vivid detail. Of course, in the next battle she was present, her guns belching. Again and again she was sunk, and then again, but here, in late 1944, she was steaming menacingly right at the little carriers. A score of aviators, learning of her presence, vowed to sink her ... for real.
“Haruna is mine!” one pilot from the carrier Chesapeake Bay shouted into his radio as he peeled off to smash her with his heavy bomb. In fact, he was so determined to do so that he followed his bomb almost down to the deck, and saw with pleasure that he had delivered a mortal blow.
“I’ve sunk the Haruna!” he shouted in plain speech. But the Haruna sailed on, directly at the Lucas Dean.
When Finnerty saw the monstrous battleship bearing down, about four miles distant, he gasped, “Good God! Look!”
There was no way that the men of the Dean could determine that this was their hated enemy, and there was also no way that they could damage the perpetual survivor. But they could pretend that they had torpedoes, and if the oncoming battleship believed them, it might turn away and fall prey to the American airplanes aloft. So while shells fell about the damaged Dean, Captain Grant turned her broadside to the Haruna as if his tubes were filled with deadly fish.
He succeeded and he didn’t succeed. The Haruna did turn aside, but as it did so it launched a fourteen-inch shell that landed just aft of the Dean’s tower, creating havoc.
The Dean was not blown apart, and it was in no [32] immediate danger of sinking, but it was so sorely damaged that it had to retire, seeking what cover it could, and as it turned back in flight, as if it had been whipped by bigger boys, Captain Grant covered his face. He could visualize the terrible destruction the Japanese battleships would now wreak upon the baby flattops; he wanted to weep for the dead of this day, for the gallant hopes that had died with them. He and his men should have been able to hold back the enemy, protecting their part of the vast battlefront, but they had failed. There must have been something more he could have done, and in his failure he did not now want to see the destruction of his fleet. He was not a sailor. He was not a Navy man. He knew none of the traditions. But he did not want to lose his ship. He did not want to know the ignominy of defeat.
Then he heard one word. It was uttered in a Texas accent: “Jesus!” He assumed that Mr. Savage had seen some final Japanese warship bearing down on them, and quickly he looked up to decide what steps to take in this last extremity, for he was determined that this little DE go down fighting.
“Look! Look!” Finnerty cried, and soon Savage was bellowing, “Look at the bastards!”
When his eyes focused on the northern horizon, he saw a sight he could not believe. Admiral Kurita, with the entire American fleet defenseless and standing by for the slaughter, which would leave General MacArthur’s forces on Leyte unprotected, had given the order for a general retreat. With victory assured, he fled the dangerous seas in which little ships had kept coming at him, no matter how many times they were hit.
“Finnerty,” Captain Grant said quietly. “Mark this. At 0949 the Japanese fleet turned north and left the battle. The Lucas Dean has absorbed four major hits and can make only three knots, but she is still afloat.”
And then the gods had had enough. From out of the clouds to the west appeared a new type of warfare. It consisted of a Japanese dive bomber, manned by a single aviator wearing a white scarf decorated with a red rising sun. It was the first of a special breed of warrior, never before seen in warfare, and it came on and on, heading directly for the Lucas Dean.
[33] It was a kamikaze, a plane and a man blessed before takeoff from a nearby land-based airfield. It was on a journey of no return, for the Japanese high command realized that if Sho-Go, their master plan, failed, they would be forced to rely upon other tactics.
“Shoot him down!” Mr. Savage screamed, but the bullets missed, their tracers showing high and low.
“Get that son-of-a-bitch!” Finnerty yelled at the gunners, but they could not adjust their guns to the resolute speed of this plane.
On and on it came, one small plane, one small man. In the end, just before the pair crashed into the Dean’s tower, the men of the Dean could see their enemy, a young Japanese, his face frozen into a horrible mask, his hands frozen to the controls.
There was a massive crash and an explosion of flame, which Mr. Savage’s men might have controlled except that from the north came another kamikaze, headed straight for the Dean. It, too, avoided the gunfire, and at the last moment the sailors on the Dean could see its pilot’s face, smiling, shouting, exultant, but they could hear no words, for almost instantly plane and man crashed into the port side of the DE, which exploded violently, broke in half and started sinking.
 
When Captain Grant climbed into Life Raft Number Three he made a swift automatic survey of what was now his command station: Some food, less water, the three guns, no radio. When this was completed he started an assessment of the crew’s condition, assisted by Pharmacist’s Mate Penzoss, who had a clear understanding of what had happened during the wild two hours of the DE’s rampage through the Japanese fleet: “Original complement, 329. I counted at least forty dead before that last plane hit. Let’s say ten more when she exploded. That makes fifty gone, 279 somewhere in the water.”
“How many went down with the ship?” Grant asked over his shoulder as he helped a swimmer climb aboard. “Let’s say fifty. So cut the number of swimmers to 229. How many here?”
Making a hasty count of the tangled bodies, Grant supposed that he had thirty aboard, including a dozen who [34] were near death. Among those with lesser wounds was Tom Savage, the executive officer, whose face was very white.
“Where’d it get you, Tom?”
“A little fragment, must have been, here on the left side.”
Grant asked Doc Penzoss, a high-school graduate who dispensed aspirin and Atabrine, to look at the wound. “Did it break a rib?”
“Don’t think so.”
“Rescue craft’ll pick us up noon. We’ll have a before doctor look at you within the hour.”
Penzoss was called away from Captain Grant by cries from seamen who saw their comrades dying. He had one small bag of disinfectants and Syrettes and was determined to use them efficiently.
His place was taken by Yeoman Finnerty, who jotted in his notebook the figures that Captain Grant recapitulated: “If all six life rafts got into the water, and if each contained forty men, we’ll have saved the complement.” But Grant could see only three rafts afloat in the oily waters, and none contained more than thirty.
So the hurried search began, and from the waters Grant and his men pulled those who would otherwise have drowned. Once they came upon a seaman floating face downward, obviously dead, and Grant began to haul him aboard, but Penzoss took his arm quietly and whispered, “We haven’t enough space to stretch out the wounded,” and trying to keep the others from seeing, the pharmacist allowed the body to drift away.
Finnerty’s notes said that the Lucas Dean had broken apart at 1007 on the morning of 25 October, in the sight of at least two dozen American ships, so it was likely that rescue would be swift, but midday came without any signs of such help. Kurita’s fleet had disappeared, ignominiously, and new American ships were beginning to arrive from the south, but none came to where the abandoned men of the Lucas Dean drifted in the sea.
In late afternoon the men in Raft Three rescued a seaman from the DD Hoel who said that his destroyer had taken one hell of a beating: “We lost one engine and half our guns. Then we lost our other engine and the rest of our guns. In the end they moved in close and blew us out of the water.”
[35] “Many survivors?” Penzoss asked in his high voice.
The Hoel man turned and said, “You talk just like my sister.”
As dusk approached, the floating men had to acknowledge that they would not be rescued this day, and since they had only two frail flashlights, it seemed unlikely that help would reach them this night, either. When darkness fell, some of the badly wounded died, and at regular intervals Penzoss supervised the throwing away of bodies. With the first burials prayers were said, but toward midnight this stopped.
Now the skies cleared, allowing a beautiful half-Moon to show high in the western heavens, and the stars came out, incredibly beautiful, and a farm boy from Minnesota was able to recite the names: “Three of the loveliest stars in the sky. Vega, Cygnus, Altair.” A boy from New York who could rarely see the stars corrected him: “Cygnus isn’t a star. It’s a constellation.”
“You’re right,” the Minnesota boy said. “But that star has such a difficult name, I always forget it.”
“Deneb,” the New York boy said.
The ship’s navigator heard this conversation, and moved awkwardly to join the two men. He knew all the navigational stars, and through the long night he explained which ones would be setting in the west, which rising to replace them in the east: “Alpheratz, Hamal, Aldebaran.” Shortly before midnight he told the listening men, “Soon we’ll get the finest bunch in the heavens. Orion.”
When the multiple stars of that constellation did appear, Lieutenant Savage began to groan, and both Captain Grant and Penzoss moved to his side. “What is it, Tom?”
“Something’s moving. I have one hell of a pain.”
Grant wanted to touch the wound to see if a shell fragment of some kind was exposed, but Penzoss restrained him. When they were well away from Savage the medic whispered, “Gas, I’m afraid. The heat yesterday. The motion tonight.”
The raft was not of wood. It was a rubber affair, thick and greasy and heavy, and because it had no keel or stiffening, it rose and fell and twisted with the motions of the sea, so that even some men who had been at sea for two or three years became nauseated and a few newcomers really seasick.
[36] “If you must vomit,” Penzoss said repeatedly, “do it over the side.”
Toward dawn, when the skies were filled with bright stars, shining even more brightly because the moonlight had long since vanished, one man who had never really seen the heavens before, told the navigation officer, “This is a night I’ll never forget.”
“Look to the east,” the young astronomer said. “Dawn. Planes will soon spot us, and we’ll be picked up.”
But this did not happen. And no rain clouds appeared to protect the rafts from the Sun. Now the merciless heat was beating down upon the stricken sailors, and more badly wounded started to die at an appalling rate; even some men with only minor wounds began to experience dreadful pains and the fear of death.
No matter what the condition of the men, the burden of their suffering fell on Penzoss, who crawled from one to another, apportioning his precious medicines as he deemed best. He was twenty-one years old, a boy with almost no education from a small town in Alabama, but he performed like a doctor of sixty from Massachusetts General.
“You must do something for Lieutenant Savage,” Grant said at noon, but there was nothing Penzoss could do. A fragment of shell, which could easily have been extracted in a hospital with proper instruments, had worked its way poisonously toward lung and heart. The pain was agonizing.
“Can’t you give him something?” Grant asked.
“I have a few Syrettes of morphine.”
“No better time to use them. There’ll be a rescue before dark.”
The medic’s frown indicated that he had given up hope of rescue on this day, but a scream from Savage drew his attention to that direction, and at Captain Grant’s command he administered the Syrette, breaking off the tip professionally and inserting the needle deep in a blood vessel of the left arm.
It was, as he had suspected, useless, for at 1300, when the heat was at its fiercest, the Texan died. Then began Captain Grant’s near approach to loss of self-control. Holding Savage in his arms, he started to tell Finnerty “write [37] that he was the most efficient officer ...” but when the words were spoken he realized how inadequate they were to describe this glowing stranger who had boarded the Dean so late and with such distinction.
Looking aloft at the empty sky, Grant shouted, “Where in hell are the planes?”
“Sir,” Penzoss whispered. “The men.”
Grant cleared his head, but kept hold of Savage until Penzoss whispered in his high voice, “Sir, we better bury him.”
“You mean, throw him overboard?”
“We must. We may have to spend another night.” Reluctantly, Grant surrendered the body to Penzoss and Finnerty, who with some difficulty raised it onto the slippery edge of the raft, then dumped it overboard. Before it had disappeared, the raft moved toward a cluster of men who had kept themselves alive for more than twenty-four hours without the aid of any life raft. They were waterlogged and near death.
Captain Grant was first to dive overboard to rescue them, but soon he was joined by two other good swimmers, and with their help he hefted the tired survivors into the raft, but when sixteen had been added in this manner, Penzoss called down quietly, “Sir, we mustn’t overload.”
“And we mustn’t leave these men.”
“Then we’ll all go down.”
“Then we’ll all go.” And he threw aboard the last of the swimmers.
They were from the baby carrier Chesapeake Bay and they had wild tales to share with the men from the Dean: “Yep, we took four eighteen-inch shells from the Yamato, probably, right through the ship without exploding. It was miraculous.”
“But the holes did sink you?”
“No! No! We floated just as good as ever.”
“What did sink you?”
“This Jap airplane. Flew right into midships. Intentionally. Blew us to hell.”
So crews from the first two ships to have been sunk by kamikazes, a word none of the men yet knew, met on the swells of Leyte Gulf, a chance encounter which Finnerty noted.
[38] “What are you writing there?” Captain Grant asked, and when Finnerty would not answer, Grant took the notebook and read:
 
From 0700 till 1007 when the Lucas Dean broke apart, Captain Grant fought his ship with a gallantry that had no equal. Against odds that would have terrified the ordinary captain, he took his DE right at the heart of the Jap battleships and cruisers, and even when he had no torpedoes or ammo he maintained position in order to confuse the enemy, even though they could do twenty-seven knots and the Lucas Dean three because of lost power. In the life raft his courage manifested itself through two hot days and one cold night ...
 
Grant tore the page from the book. “There were no heroes in this fight,” he said. “The crew was the hero. And especially Savage.” His voice came close to breaking.
Then came the sharks. The survivors from the Chesapeake Bay spotted one of their mates clinging to a floating chair of some kind, and they shouted reassurance, but as the raft drifted slowly toward the downed man, everyone saw with horror that two sharks were about to attack him.
“Shoot them!” somebody called, but before those with guns could act, the lethal fish tore at the man, ripped off his legs, then returned to shred the torso.
In the late afternoon, as the raft moved through the waters where other American ships had sunk, the men saw a score of corpses, arms and legs missing, and some watchers became so violently ill that they vomited, even though the raft was by now fairly stable.
“They could all have been saved,” Grant said, and this was the beginning of his great rage. How many of the incredibly brave men who in their little ships had withstood the might of the Japanese navy, how many of them were to die because some imbecile at headquarters had forgotten to dispatch rescue missions?
“Where are they?” he raged at the merciless sky and at the cruel waters. And then the stars came out, distant beacons shining impartially upon the remnants of the Japanese fleet, driven forever from the seas, and upon the victorious Americans drifting forgotten in the tropic waters.
[39] “If you have good eyes,” the navigation officer said, “you can see differences in the color. Saturn is whitish. Jupiter is red.”
“For Christ sake, shut up,” an enlisted man shouted.
“I’m sorry,” the officer said. He and the lad from Minnesota huddled together, and soon they were joined by the young man from New York. Through the long night they would console themselves with the stars, to keep from thinking about their comrades who would die before dawn.
Penzoss, endeavoring to recall what his Great Lakes instructor had taught about sharks, told the other men, “Sometimes they let a man drift right past without touching him, especially if he’s moving his arms and legs a lot. But like we saw, they can also attack with terrifying power. One thing we know for sure, let them smell blood from a wounded man or fish, they go crazy and tear him apart.”
“Are they still out there, followin’ us?” a farm boy asked.
“They come, they go. They could be a dozen miles from us right now.”
“I’m gonna say a prayer on that.”
“You people there?” It was a voice from the sea.
One of the flashlights probed the darkness: “There’s a nigger out there.”
The raft was maneuvered to where a big black man swam without the assistance of any spar or floating chair. He was less than fifteen feet from rescue when flashlights showed that the water about him was being churned by huge dark shapes, and several men shouted, “Sharks! Sharks!”
Penzoss, remembering a tactic his instructor had advised, cried, “Shoot the bastards! Draw blood!” And the three riflemen blazed away.
The stratagem worked, because when one of the sharks took three heavy bullets he began to spurt blood, which sent the other sharks insane. With great slashing swipes of their furrowed teeth, they tore the wounded one apart.
Amidst the fury the black man swam closer to the raft, but when he reached it, the sides were so slippery and he so exhausted that he simply could not hoist himself aboard, so Captain Grant leaped into the dark water while Penzoss screamed, “Use anything. Scare the sharks away if they start to move in.”
As Grant started to slip his right arm about the [40] swimmer’s torso to give an upward thrust, a stray shark, inflamed by the melee in which the others were attacking a second bleeder, swept toward the raft, smelled the black man’s right foot, and snapped it off in one swift motion. Blood gushed over Grant’s face as he hoisted the wounded man into the raft, but he ignored it as his men reached down to pull him to safety just before two wildly thrashing sharks swept in, then veered away, their mighty jaws empty.
“What happened to you?” Penzoss asked the black man as he applied a tourniquet.
“Chesapeake Bay went down ... I was cook’s helper ... I swam.”
“Jesus! You were in the water all that time? And the sharks waited till the last minute?”
“Am I going to lose my foot?”
“You already lost it,” Penzoss said.
“Oh, oh! A colored man with no leg. A cripple. A beggar.”
“You didn’t lose your leg. And the Navy takes care of heroes like you.”
The man made no reply, for in the moonlight he saw Captain Grant’s insignia. “You a lieutenant commander?”
“He’s captain of the ship,” Penzoss explained.
“And you jumped in to rescue me? Among the sharks?” He dropped his head into his hands and wept.
To distract his attention, Finnerty asked, “What’s your name? I got to record it.”
“Gawain Butler.”
“That’s a hell of a name.”
“My mother read Tennyson.”
Penzoss looked up. “I didn’t know that niggers read poetry.”
“We did,” Gawain said.
At midnight, when darkness engulfed the castaways, and the stars shone with terrible brilliance in a sky untouched by soot or the lights of civilization, the men of the Lucas Dean heard voices in the night, and they came upon other swimming sailors from the Chesapeake Bay, and a harsh decision had to be made. “This raft can’t hold no more,” a bo’s’n said firmly, and Captain Grant had to agree.
But the swimming men, survivors through sheer courage for forty hours, had to be saved, so Captain Grant dived into the water, swam to the men, and led them to the raft. [41] Before he hefted them aboard he said, “Four volunteers re-quested to swim down here with me till morning.” Finnerty volunteered and three other seamen. Through the long night they would hold on to ropes that rimmed the raft, relieving it of their weight.
In the dark waters, Finnerty clutched Captain Grant’s right arm and said, “When we’re rescued, I’m going to write all I wrote before, and a hell of a lot more.”
Grant said nothing. He was torn apart with fury that his men had been required to exhibit such bravery in their DE, and now were drifting, abandoned, after the fight. His guts were fiery with disgust, and only the fact that he was in charge of this pitiful bobbing craft kept him from screaming at the gods who had treated his men so shabbily. The rampaging sharks had moved well away to inspect other groups of survivors, and mercifully they did not return.
Never was the Sun hotter than when it rose on the morning of 27 October 1944, and as soon as it was high, seven moderately injured men succumbed, and only when their bodies were tossed overboard did Captain Grant consider the raft sufficiently lightened to warrant his climbing back aboard. He lay exhausted in the awful heat, but his mind was churning, and it was in these three dreadful hours of morning that he saw with wonderful clarity the course he must take if he survived.
He had been reared in the small city of Clay in the state of Fremont. He’d attended the state university in his hometown and the University of Chicago law school. He’d married Elinor in 1940 and had attended a crash course for prospective naval officers at Dartmouth College in the cold winter of 1943. Never brilliant, he had received in all his schools what professors called Plodders’ A’s, and some had recognized him as a better prospect than those who received such marks through their sheer brilliance.
His father was a merchant, and his wife’s father a farmer, so he had no inheritance to look forward to. From 1939, when he acquired his law degree, to 1942, when he volunteered for the Navy, he had earned only a meager living in Clay as a general lawyer handling routine cases, but in his last year he had been approached by the Republican party to run for the state legislature, and he had given serious thought to that possibility.
[42] Now he remembered the words of Yeoman Finnerty as they swam together in the shark-threatened waters: “You’re the greatest hero I ever heard of, Mr. Grant, and I’m going to say so.” He had told Finnerty to shut up, but now the words echoed, and he thought: In the world that exists after this war, men who are known as heroes will be valued. Look at Colin Kelly, who sank the Haruna, or thought he did. What a fuss they made over him. The state of Fremont can find a place for me. In his near-mania he gritted his teeth and muttered, “It damned well better.”
“What’s that, sir?” Finnerty asked, his own head reeling from the heat.
“Finnerty, what you said in the water … What I tore out of your book … You saw things better than I did.”
“What do you mean?”
And Captain Norman Grant; USNR, formulated his philosophy: “Finnerty, the world is a shitty place. Leaving us to die out here. If we get back ...”
“We’ll get back.”
“You and I are going to take the world by the balls and squeeze till it screams.”
“A partnership?”
“Till death.”
“I think it’s a plane, sir.” And it was. After forty-eight hours in the raft, with the Negro Gawain Butler sloshing his right stump with salt water to prevent infection, the survivors of the Lucas Dean and the Chesapeake Bay were rescued. They were flown to Manus, where skilled doctors and considerate nurses performed the saving operations which had been denied the many who died.
Captain Grant spent his first two days at Manus casting up accounts, and to the best of his knowledge, supported by what data Finnerty and Penzoss could supply, the facts were these: Lucas Dean known complement, 329; killed while aboard ship, 49; died while on rafts, 57; died floating in the sea, 92; known survivors, 131. When he looked at the deaths, many so needless, his rage returned.
But then he commandeered shore-based officers to help assemble the figures for the three-part battle, and its magnitude staggered him: Total number of Japanese warships, 69, including 13 under an Admiral Shima who trailed along behind; total number of American warships, 144; [43] total Japanese ships lost, 28; total American ships lost, 5, to which should probably be added the DD Albert W. Grant, which was almost sunk not by Japanese guns but by American warships firing in the dark. Total number of Japanese sailors who died that day, probably 10,000. Of course, the Americans also lost numerous planes, the Japanese almost none-except the suicides. But at this time all the figures had to be tentative.
As the officers worked on this report, they heard rumors of the extraordinary heroism of Norman Grant and his Lucas Dean, and questions were asked among the survivors, with three enlisted men volunteering amazing reports: Finnerty the yeoman; Penzoss the medic; Gawain Butler, the black cook’s helper from the Chesapeake Bay. So on a November day at the Manus field hospital, a cordon of war correspondents and photographers surrounded the bed in which Butler lay, ostensibly to watch him receive a medal for swimming alone for nearly thirty hours and losing his right foot to a shark at the last moment.
“It was quite a feat,” one of the newsmen whispered to “ his photographer. “But why summon all of us?”
Then the admiral in charge of the ceremony said. “Seaman Butler has asked permission to say a few words,” and in the precise English his mother had taught him, Gawain said, “When I had lost hope, this man here, Captain Grant of the Dean, swam to rescue me, even though he knew sharks were about. And when he lifted me into his raft, he realized it was too loaded, so he swam all night, outside.” It hadn’t happened just that way; Grant had got back into the water to provide room for other seamen from the Chesapeake, but that was the way the legend was recorded.
Then Finnerty spoke, telling of the wild-man way in which Captain Grant had fought his little destroyer escort. “You mean,” he was asked, “he said he was going to cross the T of the whole Japanese fleet?”
“That’s what he said,” Finnerty replied. “And he did it.” From his waterlogged notes he read out the quotation that was flashed across the wire services, properly edited:
 
YEOMAN FINNERTY: Do you intend to take on their whole fleet?
CAPTAIN GRANT: I do.
 
[44] When the questions were finished, and the photographs snapped showing Grant at the bedside of Cook’s Helper Butler, with Yeoman Finnerty and Pharmacist’s Mate Penzoss at his side, Grant stayed with his men from the Dean. “I didn’t want this. Finnerty here can tell you I didn’t want it. But it’s happened, and by damn, we’re going to use it for good purposes.” And then his resolve, so carefully nurtured since the battle began, vanished, and he broke into wild tears.
“The dead! The dead in the water!” He looked at his men and said, “There isn’t a man here who could equal Tom Savage. His death is on our hands, and we can never discharge it.” But with grim force, totally concentrated, he would try.
 
At the precise moment when Lieutenant Commander Grant was preparing to throw his DE at the oncoming Japanese fleet, the football players of his hometown of Clay in the northern part of the state of Fremont were preparing for the second half of their game against arch-rival Benton High School from the much bigger city which served as state capital.
Because of the war, the game could not be played at night, and because travel was limited, no one had expected a large crowd, especially since the game would be taking place on a Tuesday, when the playing field was not being used by the local university for its ROTC drill. However, since entertainment and sporting events had been cut to the minimum, townspeople had flocked to watch the hometown team.
Since Benton was almost twice as large as Clay, sports fans always assumed that it would win, and it usually did. But this year word had circulated through the state that Clay had a wizard, “as good a halfback as Norman Grant was at his best, back in 1932.” The young halfback was good, and men at the store lamented: “Danged shame we aren’t playing a regular season, against these good teams from Kansas, so that John Pope could show his stuff against the best.” No one ever called him Johnny, because from his earliest days he cultivated a serious mien, as if he already knew he was intended for important duties.
He was seventeen that autumn, not tall, not heavy, but handsomely constructed for American games as they were [45] then played. In basketball his lack of height was only a minor handicap, because once the whistle blew, his speed, his body control and his deftness made him a premier player. Of course, in later years, when players customarily resembled skyscrapers, men of his build would be at a severe disadvantage and might not even make the squad, let alone a team.
In football it was the same. He weighed only a hundred and fifty-one, and would never weigh much more, but again his extraordinary control and his ability to change speed and retain his balance when it appeared that he had been knocked down made him a high-school phenomenon, so that even when the players from Benton seemed gigantic, the Clay supporters could whisper sagely, “Don’t worry. John Pope will tie them in knots.”
And that was what he did. When Benton had the football in the first half they moved it pretty much as they wished and scored heavily, but occasionally on their march down the field they would make a mistake and Clay would recover the ball on a fumble or fluke, depriving them of yet another score. Even so, by the end of the third period the husky Benton Capitals had scored twenty-five points, with every prospect of adding to that total in the final period.
However, John Pope was having an exceptional day, for on those lucky times when his team obtained possession, he did as he was supposed to and ran deftly through the big Benton line, twisting and turning to great effect. At the end of the third period he had scored all of Clay’s points, twenty, a feat he had performed several times before.
At this point the game was temporarily interrupted by a ceremony which should have occurred at half-time, except that the speaker had encountered difficulty in breaking away from an important strategy meeting in Washington. Senator Ulysses Gantling was up for reelection this year, and as an outstanding Republican he had assumed responsibility for Tom Dewey’s statewide campaign for the Presidency. Gantling’s own reelection was hardly in doubt, but he had learned to take nothing for granted and was touring the state frantically for both himself and Dewey.
As a farmer, he had proposed the most effective [46] counterthrust to Roosevelt’s claim that “you never change horses in midstream.” He toured Fremont, Kansas and Nebraska, shouting, “If your horse is winded, lacks courage and shows signs of drowning when the water gets rough, you damned well better change ... especially when a much better one is ready to take over.” That made sense to rural audiences, and there was talk that when Dewey was elected, Gantling of Fremont would find a place in his Cabinet. It was impossible for the voters of this region to believe that a majority in corrupt places like New York and Boston would want to give a dictator like Roosevelt a fourth term.
So the game was halted while Senator Gantling, saying never a word in favor of either his candidacy or Dewey’s, stood tall and gray beside the flags while an honor guard from the ROTC held their guns at parade rest. He spoke with great feeling of the young men of this region who were at this moment fighting the enemy on far-flung battlefields. Then he asked that the spectators and the players of both teams bow their heads as Reverend Baxter from the Baptist Church read a prayer, after which the honor guard would fire a salute.
Some two thousand citizens of Clay did bow their heads and pray for the safekeeping of their volunteers who were at that moment in Italy, in France, in Africa, on Guadalcanal and at the gates of Germany, but no one in that crowd, not even Senator Gantling, who pondered such matters because he tried to govern well, could imagine what it was like to be in an icy ship with a frail bottom on its way to Murmansk or in a writhing metallic tank on its way across Belgium.
Five members of Norman Grant’s family lowered their heads, praying for his safety, and if they had been told then of the heroic acts he was performing or the perils he was about to face in the dark waters of Leyte Gulf, they would have been unable to raise their heads, for they would have been frozen with horror.
One young man, a member of the Clay football team, did not lower his head in prayer, for as he was about to do so he happened to look at the eastern sky, where he saw something which astonished him. “Look,” he whispered to Pope, who stood nearby. “The Moon is shining at the same time as the Sun.”
“It often does,” John said without looking up.
[47] When the prayer ended and the ROTC guns rattled, Senator Gantling said with what a reporter would call unusual felicity, “As a loyal son of Calhoun in the western part of this state, and as a football player who used to contend against each of your teams, I believe I would be forgiven if I said that I hope you both lose. But I could never utter such words, because like all good Americans, I constantly pray that the best team will always win, for only then can we be truly strong.” Saluting the flag and marching out with the ROTC, he left no doubt as to which was the better team in the forthcoming election. But as he passed the lined-up players, he stopped briefly in front of John Pope to say, “I’m keeping my eye on you, son. And what I hear is very reassuring.” He was famous for his garbled metaphors and also for his flashing smile, which he now directed at the young football star, who could mumble only, “Yes, sir.”
The fourth period started with Clay trailing by five points, and Benton quickly made it eleven by scoring on a long run. But then John Pope took over, and with a series of brilliant plays, carried the ball down the field toward the Benton goal line, where the Clay fullback punched it across.
On the ensuing kickoff, Benton looked as if they would score again, but miraculously the smaller Clay line held, and Benton was forced to surrender the ball. Now it became a contest between John Pope and the clock, and on every series of downs it seemed as if the clock would win and that the game would end before Clay could score again. On first down, Pope would be dragged down by the Benton tacklers. On second down, he would gain nothing. On third down, someone else would carry the ball and fail. But on the fourth-and-desperation, Pope would somehow break loose and give Clay one more gasp.
As the final seconds ticked away, he carried the ball, and most of the Benton team, right down to the three-yard line. Then, when the Benton tacklers were concentrating on him, the Clay fullback again rammed the ball across the goal line. Clay had won, 33-31.
John Pope would never forget that game, not because of his outstanding heroics but because of what happened in the locker room afterward. Of course there was raucous celebration, and some of the Benton players did come in [48] to congratulate him, but the significant thing was that a heavyset man in a dark suit sought John out and said, “I used to play for University of Colorado. Son, if you go to Boulder with all the national publicity that team gets, you could be the next Whizzer White.”
“I’ve been thinking about the Naval Academy.”
“Navy? What’s a halfback from Fremont doing thinking about the Navy? We’re a thousand miles from any ocean.”
“Norman Grant, he’s from this town, you know. He’s in the Navy.”
“Son, let me level with you. If Norman Grant had gone to Colorado instead of Fremont, he’d be immortal.”
“He is immortal ... around here. But thank you for your interest.”
“Son, things change. New ideas replace old ones. This time next year-You’re a junior, aren’t you? You may have forgotten all about the Navy. If you do, remember Colorado. When you go Colorado, you go first class.”
John did not linger to celebrate his performance. He knew he’d been good, and he felt gratified that a former player at a university like Colorado had praised him, but he had never allowed football or any other game to dominate either his current behavior or his long-term set of values. His interest at this moment was far removed from football, for as he left the gym alone he looked up into the evening sky and saw to his satisfaction that the half-Moon was visible high overhead and stars were beginning to appear, and he thought of two objects which had recently assumed great importance.
The first was a book which he had owned since July, the only one he had ever purchased with his own money. It had been published in Edinburgh by a firm called Gall and Inglis, and the university bookstore had needed ten weeks to secure a copy. When he reported to claim it he had been waited on not by a student clerk but by a full professor, who introduced himself formally: “I am Karl Anderssen of Norway. I wanted to meet the young man who was purchasing this book. Who are you?” When Pope explained, the professor had asked, “But why would you want this particular book?” And he held John’s book in his two hands.
“I thought it was time I learned something about the stars.”
[49] “This is one of the loveliest books in the world,” the professor had said, still clinging to the large flat volume. “Norton’s Star Atlas. Half the great astronomers living in the world today started with this as boys. Do you know it?”
“I’ve never seen it,” John had replied, so the professor opened the book that charted the heavens, but not to the fascinating diagrams that John was so eager to see. He turned instead to the many pages of small print that summarized most of astronomy as it was then understood.
“If you use only the charts, young man, you’ll drop astronomy within six weeks. But if you start with these pages, and digest even a part of them, you’ll always be a prisoner.”
“A prisoner?”
“Yes. The stars reach out and grab you. They infect your mind. They change your entire perspective.” Reverently he had handed the book over, then asked, “Have you ever seen the stars?”
“Not really. But my father is borrowing a pair of field glasses for me, and when he does ...”
“What a wonderful experience! You’ll never forget it.”
“Do you operate the telescope at the university?”
“I do.”
“Could I look through it? Sometime?”
The professor hesitated. He was in his sixties and had transferred to Fremont because the atmosphere was so unpolluted that he could spend hours at his telescope instead of the minutes available in a smoke-ridden city like Cambridge or New Haven. “No,” he had said that July afternoon, “you can’t look through the telescope.” When he saw John’s disappointment he added, “Look at the stars now with your naked eye and make them familiar. When you get your field glasses, see the enormous number that spring into view. Do it right. Step by step. When you’ve done these things and digested them, come to the observatory and ask for me. Because then you’ll be ready.”
The second object that captivated young Pope this night was the pair of binoculars which his father was borrowing from a hunting friend. If things had gone well, the glasses should be in the drugstore now, so instead of going directly home, John headed in the opposite direction toward the center of town, where his father managed a drugstore [50] which his father and grandfather had operated.
“They tell me you ran quite a few yards today.” His father always spoke this way, formally, half whimsically, never praising his son outright because he realized that the boy received more than enough adulation at school.
“I had a good day. The Benton linemen were clumsy.”
“I got the glasses.”
“Are they as good as he said?”
“They’re German. Very expensive, so don’t lose them. The writing says 7-X-50 and I judge that’s pretty powerful.
John took the glasses, then asked for the case and studied how they fitted into it. He hefted them, inspected the mechanisms to satisfy himself as to their operation, and smiled at his father. “Thanks.” Quickly he added, “How long can I keep them?”
“Paul’s off to Detroit for the duration. Says he won’t need them at the tank assembly line.”
“You mean ...”
“Yes. They’re yours for a year ... a couple of years.” He watched his son’s face, then asked, “Don’t you want to go out and try them?”
“No,” John said slowly. “Not in the middle of town, where there’s so much light and dust. I want the first sight to be perfect.”
His father nodded.
Throwing the strap across his shoulder and settling the heavy glasses against his body, John walked slowly home, glancing at the sky from time to time.
It was now approaching six, advanced war time, so that the noble stars of summer were about to appear for one last time this year in the deep west. From his intensive summer study of Norton, he had identified the star which he hoped would be the first that he would see through the binoculars; it was Arcturus, the golden-red giant that would soon be breaking through the fading daylight: Follow the curving handle of the Big Dipper, and there will be Arcturus. I’ll see the great summer triangle, Arcturus-Antares-Vega. And when they disappear, there’ll be another triangle just as good, Vega-Altair-Deneb. He thought of the stars as if he knew them individually.
But he had to hurry if he wanted to see Arcturus this year, for he knew that it would be dimmed by the earth’s [51] atmosphere because it would stand so low in the sky; and several times as he hurried home he was tempted to see if the glasses could pick up the star through the fading light, but he was restrained by what Professor Anderssen had said: “Do it right. Step by step.” After supper, he thought, when the sky was properly darkened, he would launch his investigation, but almost immediately he realized: I started my investigation the moment I looked up at the stars with that book at my side. The binoculars are only the next step.
At the supper table he irritated his mother by propping Norton against his glass and studying one last time the chart which showed where Arcturus would be, but when Dr. Pope returned from the drugstore he said sharply, “Down with that book. You’re eating supper now.” So the book was laid aside, but even before his first bite, John asked: “Can I please be excused? I want to be there when a certain star-”
“You’ll eat your supper,” Dr. Pope said, but his wife laughed and said, “He’ll never have another chance to use his glasses for the first time.”
“He played a football game. He must be hungry.”
Mrs. Pope indicated that John could leave the table, for she knew that he was assailed by a hunger that comes rarely in a human life, and after he left the room she told her husband, “I’ll take him a sandwich later.”
In a few minutes John, wearing a heavy jacket against the cold autumn air, hurried through the kitchen. As he passed her, his mother said, “Mrs. Kramer called to say you did wonderfully in football.”
“I had a good game,” he said, heading toward the backyard.
The elder Popes rarely attended the various games in which their son starred, Dr. Pope because he was needed at the store, Mrs. Pope because she could not convince herself that games were important in the long scale of human values. Physical exercise, yes. But organized games with cheerleaders, no. They were helpful in building strong bodies, and she certainly believed in that, having seen much sickness at the drugstore, where she had served as clerk before she married. But she never planned for her son to be a major athlete, and definitely not a professional of any kind.
[52] The elder Popes, with three children to educate, the other two older than John, trusted that their offspring would be good citizens, and that was about it. The older son was going to be a doctor; the daughter gave signs at the university of wanting to go for her master’s and then to teaching on the college level; John had shown no specific propensity, for he excelled at everything. His marks were never lower than B, and not too many of them. He was good at math, better at physics and chemistry, but he could also express himself adequately in either term papers or public speaking.
He was by no means an ideal child, for he had a fiery temper which he sometimes had difficulty in controlling, but in most things he bespoke the intelligent care his parents had spent in his upbringing. He was a Baptist, a Republican, a Boy Scout, a football star who did not take his acclaim too seriously, and now an amateur astronomer. He had not a single cavity in his teeth and was a lean, wiry six pounds under the normal weight for his age and height.
He was opening the door when his mother said, “By the way, John, Penny phoned and asked what time you’ll be over to study math with her tonight.”
“She just wants me to do her problems for her.”
“That’s ungracious. If you promised to see her, call and cancel your date like a gentleman.”
“Mom, I don’t want to bother with Penny tonight. Please, you call her.” And before his mother could protest any further, he was out the door.
When he first stepped into the night he did what astronomers had been doing for some two million years before the invention of the telescope: he stood in the middle of the open land behind his house and slowly surveyed the heavens, orienting himself as to the stars at this latitude, at this longitude and at this hour. He thus became one with the ancient Assyrians, with the wondering men who erected Stonehenge, and with the Incas of Peru. He looked only briefly to the north, for he had long since mastered the polar stars that never set; there was Polaris, friend of mariners, the two Bears, and the Dragon that wound its tortuous way between them. He knew each of the stars in the Big Dipper by its Greek designation and its characteristics, but his interest tonight was in the stars of the [53] west which would soon be setting, to be lost for half a year as they moved into the proximity with the Sun, whose light would obscure them during the daytime hours.
And as he stood there, face up to the sky, he savored that mysterious moment when the glow of twilight disappeared into true darkness, allowing light from distant stars to reveal itself. Low on the horizon stood Arcturus, glowing red like some mighty furnace, and he wanted desperately to bring it first into his glasses, but he realized that the flickering atmosphere would diminish the star, so he turned his gaze higher, and after a while the whole panoply opened up, stars innumerable in brilliant configurations and colors.
Curiously, he did not bother with the bright half-Moon, Ï for he judged correctly that this was a garish nearby phenomenon which he could always study at will; what he yearned to see were the stars, those scintillating messengers from immortal distances. So for some moments he surveyed his heavens, looking now at one high star, then another, until finally he settled upon the one which he would first see with his new glasses.
It was Altair, a gleaming white star in the constellation Eagle: “You can always locate it. Track down from Vega and Deneb. You’ll know it by its two bright guardians.” There it was, Altair, one of the brightest stars, one of the first to have been awarded a specific name by the ancients; in all societies it had been associated with birds, with flying, and now it flew through the dark prairie sky.
Slowly he brought his glasses to his eyes, cocked his head backward, and pointed the binoculars toward Altair. At first it seemed disappointingly blurred, but as soon as he twisted the central knob that moved both barrels his left eye saw the star in perfect focus. Then with a light touch on the knob that activated only the right barrel, he brought his right eye into focus also. And then he gasped, “There are so many stars!”
What the chart had shown to be a moderately populated area turned out to be a veritable jungle of stars, and in that precious moment he deduced the nature of the universe: With my unaided eye I could see only a few stars attached to Altair. Now I see hundreds of them. And if I could use the university telescope, I’d see thousands. And if we could somehow lift that telescope up above the [54] interfering atmosphere, I’ll bet we’d see millions. Out to the farthest edge of the universe.
That is what happens when a boy of imagination looks seriously at his first star. But he was also a practical lad, and always his eye came back to brilliant Altair with its two distinctive guardians, and he realized that as long as he lived he would be able to look casually at the autumn sky and identify Altair. It was his forever.
In school John Pope was not a literary boy, but like his well-educated parents he could speak in complete sentences when grappling with ideas; when playing with his peers in athletic contests he mostly grunted. But now he said aloud, “A human mind is limited only by the power it has at its command.”
When his arms grew tired from hefting the heavy binoculars, he sat on the ground, as the ancient Assyrians must have done when plotting their heavens, and rested his elbows on his knees, and he was in this posture when he became aware of someone behind him. Turning quickly, he saw his mother coming toward him with a sandwich.
“It’s very beautiful, John.” When he grabbed the food and showed his football hunger, she pointed to a brilliant star overhead and asked, “What’s that one called?”
“Vega,” he said without hesitation, and suddenly he wanted his mother to see that star, for the books said it was particularly beautiful. After finding it himself, he handed the glasses to his mother and showed her how to progress from the horizon upward to the point overhead, and when she had done this she cried with pleasure, “John, it’s lovely.”
“It’s called Vega, after some girl, I guess.” It never occurred to him that a star so exquisite could be anything but feminine.
He did not know much about girls; he often said that his sister was ‘a real peach,’ but what he meant by this he could not have explained. He had taken several different girls to school dances and was vaguely aware that many others in school considered him rather special, but he had done nothing about it. At seventeen he was not allowed to run about at night as some of the other football players did, and both his mother and father had asked him pointedly not to associate with the faster girls who had access to automobiles. Three young people from Henry [55] Clay High School had been killed in hideous crashes, and the older Popes had told their son that he could not have a car until he was eighteen. He understood. There were numerous hard-and-fast rules in the Pope household, and each of the three children had played a role in determining what they should be, and had then accepted them.
“We don’t want you to be prigs,” Mrs. Pope said. “And we certainly don’t want you boys to be sissies. But we do want you to grow up to be responsible young people. We want you to seek out others like yourselves. Young people who go to church, get married, have children who are decent.”
Mr. Pope said, “I know you’ll drink a bit, but I pray that you won’t smoke. I’m convinced from what I see ... men hacking with coughs that never end ... Don’t smoke.”
Mrs. Pope felt that fried foods twice a week were just about enough, and while this part of the West did not go in for salads, she was a stickler for vegetables: “They give the stomach something tough to work on, and there will be no desserts in this house until your vegetables are eaten.”
Three times this autumn he had dated a girl in his class who was becoming important to him. Penny Hardesty lived in a frame house four blocks away, but in the wrong direction. The Popes lived on Ash Street, which itself wasn’t one of the best. Then came, in alphabetical order, Beech, Chestnut, Dogwood and Elm. The Hardestys lived on Elm, a rundown thoroughfare housing the day laborers and hardy workmen of the town. Sam Hardesty worked for a trucking firm, his wife in a hairdressing salon. They had four children of good reputation, but none of the first three had gone beyond high school, and it was generally understood that Penny would not. The family was well regarded, but those better-positioned often asked among themselves, “I wonder why Sam Hardesty never made more of himself?”
Penny was a B-minus student. Her teachers said repeatedly that she could be straight A if she applied herself, but they noticed in her a flippant manner associated with girls who became boy-crazy. She didn’t. If she was driven off the straight-and-narrow that teachers loved, it was not because of boys; some deeper malaise affected her, and what it was not even she could have explained. Vaguely, he wanted to better herself, because she saw clearly that [56] her two sisters and her brother had severely penalized themselves by not continuing with their education. “They’ve put themselves in a box,” she told John on their second date, “and I think it’s awful to be the cause of your own punishment.”
He enjoyed being with Penny because she talked of serious subjects. She was not at all like the other girls, and as he met with her in classes and the informal life of school, he began to realize that his football prowess made little impression on her. She called the team ‘those great animals’ and teased him when the coach laid down rigorous rules ‘for his little darlings.’
Penny was exceptionally good in history and civics and would have drawn down A’s if she had been more consistent in writing her papers, but sometimes she would produce brilliant work, at other times the most sloppy and haphazard reasoning. In mathematics she was not good at all, and it was while coaching her in this subject that John Pope first realized that she thought entirely differently from him, for either she grasped an abstract concept at first confrontation, or she dropped it completely and would have nothing further to do with it. She could not, for example, fathom the principle of negative numbers, and when John drew the basic diagram-vertical line (Y-axis, ordinate) cut by a horizontal line (X-axis, abscissa)-and tried to explain the four quadrants, she understood the upper right, where everything was normal, but when she got to the lower left, where things were negatives which yielded positives, she placed her hands across that part and said, “For me, it doesn’t exist,” and she would not allow him to proceed.
Later she told him that when you lived on Elm Street you experienced so many negatives that you went blotto unless you blocked them out of your life and concentrated on the positives.
On their two recent dates they had, more or less at her instigation, engaged in some prolonged kissing, which John enjoyed immensely, and several times they had studied together at night, doing math or arguing history problems. Mrs. Pope liked Penny and was pleased that John had found himself such an acceptable girl to take to the dances. She noticed that Penny was especially helpful about the house, a trait she exhibited at home, too, where she had [57] assumed responsibility for keeping the entire lower floor neat: “I don’t want to live in a pigpen.”
Mrs. Pope told her husband, “There’s nothing really serious between John and Penny,” and he replied, “There would be with me and Penny, seeing she’s so pretty.”
She was a most attractive young lady, almost as tall as John, with shimmering dark hair which she often wore in two pigtails and appealing bangs, wiry rather than fat, and unusually alert. She had a fine complexion and a face that was not strikingly beautiful but highly satisfying. She had a knack for wearing clothes that suited her and often favored neat dresses with crisp white Peter Pan collars, a costume which allowed her to look at the same time pert and irreverent.
So when John Pope first looked at Vega, the glorious summer star of the northern heavens, gleaming blue-white like the fairest diamond, it was natural that he think of Penny Hardesty ... and then of their kissing ... and then of what some of the other football players had been saying recently about their adventures with their girls.
John could not think of Penny “in that way” because he well knew that she was made of much more serious stuff than the casual girls who knocked around with the team, girls who had their own cars and who lived in homes where the parents were often absent. He and Penny had talked about this several times and had both known that life held a good deal more than high school and Saturday nights in autumn. Penny, for example, was determined to go to college, somewhere, somehow, and John had confided to her a secret which not even his mother knew yet: “Pop knows Senator Gantling from Calhoun, and he promised Pop that if I did well in school, he’d appoint me to Annapolis. About twice a year he checks on how I’m doing and last time he told Pop, ‘Your son looks like a shoo-in.’ ”
“Annapolis? You’d go so far away?”
“You’d be invited. For the big dances. The uniforms and all that.”
“Annapolis!” She had seemed much more impressed, or perhaps bewildered, by the possibility than he was. But she had said a strange thing: “My vision doesn’t go beyond this town. I can’t even think of going to nurses’ school at Webster. And certainly not to Nebraska the way Charlene [58] did. And you’re thinking of Annapolis!”
The night was advancing., In England the tremendous fleet of American bombers had crossed the North Sea and were over Peenemünde, where the pathfinder planes had set their flares. In Leyte Gulf, Lieutenant Commander Grant bobbed in the water, trying to assure himself that American rescue planes would soon spot him and his men, not yet aware that the sharks were destined to find them first. In the quiet skies over Fremont, Vega had begun her descent, and an enchanted young man searched a neighboring constellation for the miracle about which he had been reading for some weeks.

It lay in Hercules, and with his sharp eyes he could just barely discern it, a faint hazy discoloration. Placing it carefully, he raised his glasses and vectored them in. And there it was!
M-13 it had been named, the great globular cluster in Hercules, one of the staggering phenomena of the heavens. It lay 34,000 light-years away, a massive glob of individual stars throwing enormous quantities of light across the two hundred million billion miles that separated it from earth. Look at it! John thought with reverence. Half a million stars in one cluster.
He could not see it well and could certainly not differentiate any of the individual stars, but he could discern the massive cluster and approximate its significance, a part of the celestial system so brilliant that it glowed across that immense distance.
“How wonderful it is!” he cried into the night air.
“What is?” a voice asked. A hand was placed on his shoulder and a head moved close to his.
It was Penny. John had promised that he would help her with her math tonight, but then had canceled the date without even having the courtesy to call her himself. His mother had said over the phone, “John has a new toy, Penny, binoculars, and I’m afraid he’ll be out of circulation for a while.”
When Penny heard this alarming news-that a pair of binoculars could be more important than a promised date-she had glimpsed a vision of the years ahead. She and John would date casually through their senior year, and off he would go to Annapolis, where he would find new [59] horizons and new obligations; they would never meet again. Her opportunity of allying herself to a really first-class person would be lost, and she would be restricted to the third-class men and boys she saw all around her. Rightly or wrongly, she had identified John Pope as her only logical avenue of escape from a life which she knew to be extremely drab and limited, the life allotted to her sisters and brother. Appalled at that prospect, she had come quietly through the back streets to the Pope house. Arriving unnoticed just as Dr. Pope returned home from closing the drugstore, she had remained behind a tree until he entered, then listened as he called into the backyard, “Don’t wear those glasses out the first night.”
“I won’t, Pop.”
When all was quiet she slipped past the house and into the yard, where in the light of the fading Moon she saw “ John, seated on the ground, his elbows on his knees, peering northward. When she moved closer she heard him talking to himself, and this tempted her to join the conversation as if she had always been there.
John, overcome by the emotion of seeing a perfect star, one of the subtlest in the heavens, allowed his binoculars to fall to their strap, turned quickly, and took Penny in his arms. They kissed for a long time, then launched into explorations they had never risked before, until finally they moved purposefully into some low bushes where they could not be seen from the house, and there they more or less undressed, using their clothes to protect themselves from the cold ground. With great thrusts and clutchings and yearnings they completed the adventure, then lay cold and shivering until they began again. The stars, which had once seemed so imperative, passed overhead unnoticed.
It was past one when they put on their clothes. They were shivering so furiously that Penny said, “Sex. I’ll always think of it as stone-cold.”
“Not me!” John said.
From an upstairs window Mrs. Pope called, “John, leave the stars. You’ll catch your death of cold.”
“I’ll be in soon, Mom.” He walked Penny home, again through the back streets, with the binoculars banging at his side, and as they moved through the silent town she [60] did a very unwise thing, or perhaps the wisest thing she would ever do. She revealed her strategy: “John, you must understand this night.”
“I could never forget.”
“I didn’t say remember. I said understand.” For just a moment she wondered if she should speak her thoughts, but it was her nature to do so: “I can see the future, John. You’ll go away. Annapolis. The war will still be on. Normally, I’d never see you again. But you’re far more important to me than wars or colleges or anything at all. I wanted you to know that. Indelibly. I wanted to bind you to me, because I know you’re a young man who’s not afraid to be bound.”
“I was ready,” he said.
“You’re the finest thing I’ll know in life. I’m the best girl you’ll ever know. I live up there among the stars. I wanted you to know.”
At her door they lingered, both aware that something very special had happened under the stars. They had looked far into the future, past the wars and the alarums that they read about in Shakespeare, and they knew that in the whirling space of which they were a part, they shared now and would always share a special relationship. They kissed goodnight.
On his way back home, John followed the more open streets, and this allowed him to see that in the university observatory someone was working with pale night lights, so on the chance that it might be Professor Anderssen, he turned away from the street that would have taken him home and hurried to the door of the observatory. It was open, so he entered. Hearing sound from the second floor, he ascended the rickety stairs and found to his delight that the man at the telescope was indeed the professor.
“I’m the one who bought the star atlas,” he explained.
“Yes! Yes, it’s you. I see you’ve been working with your binoculars, as I advised.”
“They’re not mine. A friend of Pop’s. He’s making tanks at Detroit.”
“Have you been following the heavens as they drift by?”
“Yes, sir,” John said, hoping to give the impression that he had used the glasses night after night.
“And what have you seen?”
[61] “Well, I haven’t bothered with the Moon very much.”
“The Moon can always wait. It’s of little consequence, really. What about the stars?”
“I was thrown off my rocker by Altair. So many little stars I never knew existed.”
“What power are your glasses?”
“7-X-50.”
“You can see a lot with that.”
There was an awkward pause that betrayed the professor’s desire to get back to his own work, and John knew that he ought to leave, but this night had been so extraordinary, so unbelievable, that he longed to extend it. “Is there any chance that I ...”
“Might look through the telescope?”
“Yes.”
“You’ve never done so before?”
“These are the best I’ve done,” he said, tapping the binoculars in a familiar way.
“It can be quite startling.” He looked at the big machine, then at John. “But are you ready?”
“I think I am,” John said. Last night he would not have had the courage to say this.
“Let me ask you a few questions. What time zone are we in?”
“Greenwich minus six.”
“What time is it in London now?”
“Seven o’clock in the morning.”
“What’s our longitude as we stand here?”
“Ninety-seven degrees West.”
“Our latitude?”
“Forty degrees North.”
“In orienting a telescope like this one, which of these two measurements is the more significant?”
“The latitude.”
“And why?”
“Because to build an equatorial mount-”
“You know what an equatorial mount is?”
“Yes. It allows you to point your telescope at a particular star and then have the whole telescope move with the exact motion of the earth, so that the star always remains in the center of the scope.”
“You’re ready,” the professor said. Not many of his [62] university students could have, answered so precisely. “But what should you see first, young man? What’s your name again?”
“John Pope, my father’s the druggist.”
“Of course, you’re the famous football player my son talks about.”
“I play.”
“And you know this much about the stars?”
“I can scarcely credit the things I’ve seen.”
“What have you seen?”
“M-13.”
Professor Anderssen raised his chin as if he had been struck. “You know the Messier numbers?”
“Some of them.”
“Would you like to see something rather extraordinary in Perseus?”
“You mean 869-884?”
Professor Anderssen clasped his hands and said, “Son, how would you like to test yourself in real astronomy? Register as a special student for my course in January?”
“Could I? I’m only a junior in high school, you know.”
“When men like me grow old, we search for lads like you. Register.” He coughed, then said brightly, “And now you shall see your first real treasure in the heavens. The double cluster.” Slowly he swung the telescope away from the area he had been studying, and John assumed that he was supposed to step forward and look through the eyepiece, but as he started to do so, Professor Anderssen cried, almost harshly, “Stand back. This is an instrument of dignity, worthy of respect.”
He came to stand beside John, pointing in the dim light to the extraordinary beauty of the telescope, its polished wooden segments, its burnished brass fittings. “The telescope was made by Alvan Clark of Massachusetts. In 1886. He was the best America ever produced, a profound astronomer and a better mechanic.”
“If it’s so important,” John asked, “how did it get here?”
“Son, this is the leading observatory in this part of the world. If it were not, I wouldn’t be here.” He touched the telescope lovingly. “Back in those years the university graduated a truly stupid man. I’ve seen his letter of application to study astronomy. Every word misspelled. Astronnimy. He was refused admission, so he went out and [63] earned four million dollars bartering railroad stocks. First thing he did with his money was buy this Alvan Clark, and the building to house it. Used to come here night after night to look at the stars, and couldn’t name one of them.”
Professor Anderssen pressed his hands against the gleaming woodwork and said, “Before you look through a great telescope, you must look with your eyes. What do you see up there in a line between Perseus and Andromeda?”
Through an aperture in the ceiling John studied the cluttered heavens and came slowly to see a slight but fixed . haziness. “Is that it?” he asked.
The professor said, “Now look at it with your binoculars,” and when John did, he saw to his satisfaction that it was a distinct aggregation of something, but precisely what, he could not determine.
“Now you’re ready to see the famous double cluster through an Alvan Clark,” the professor said, and with some difficulty he searched for the pair, uttering pleased grunts when he finally focused upon it.
Stepping back, he invited John to look, and when the boy had adjusted the controls to accommodate his eye, he saw that what had seemed a confused haze was really a balanced pair of magnificent clusters, teeming with stars and vitality and nocturnal beauty. They seemed to be in competition, west against east, a staggering collection of great stars engaged in some kind of combat. Some were grouped tightly, as if locked in struggle, others were far-flung, but all were enchantingly interrelated, as if the torment of the heavens kept them associated against their will. It was the complexity and implied movement that made these clusters so appealing.
“How many stars in each cluster?” Anderssen asked.
“Do all the stars we see belong to the clusters?” John asked.
“An admirable question. No. Some stand between us and the clusters. Some form a distant background. In the left, three hundred individual stars. In the right, four hundred.”
“It seems impossible.”
“And now for the gem. Messier 31. Can you find it without the glasses?”
“Oh yes. I look for the Great Square of Pegasus, project [64] the diagonal toward Cassiopeia, and halfway there, a bit to the west ... I see it now.”
“What do you see in your binoculars?”
“A faint, hazy mass. Very stable. Very big.”
“It’s the most remote object in the heavens that ancient man could see with his unaided eye. Do you know how far away it is?”
“No.”
“About two and a quarter million light-years. That means that if you and I send a message to Andromeda tonight, at the speed of light, and if they understand it and want to reply, we can’t possibly receive their answer for four and a half million years. How far away is that in your calculations?”
“I’d need a pencil.”
“Here’s one.” So John sat at the wooden desk used by the university astronomers, and by a darkened light put down his figures, reciting to the professor as he did: “Two and a quarter million light-years multiplied by about six trillion miles per year.” He did the multiplying and adding of zeros, then reported: “I get something like one followed by nineteen zeroes.”
Professor Anderssen was conducting his own calculations, using precise values, and he said, “Remarkably close. The actual distance seems to be thirteen billion billion miles away from us.”
The two sat silent in contemplation of this stupendous distance, and John looked at the shadowy form with new reverence. “Now see it in the telescope,” Anderssen said, and John moved to the eyepiece, staring across that immense distance to where M-31 glowed majestically in the night.
“See its magnitude,” Anderssen whispered. “Note its shape, exactly like that of our galaxy. See the glowing core at the center, the immense radius of the fiery gases. Can you detect the swirling arms, the wild violence? Can you guess what mysterious control holds it all together?”
For eleven minutes, while the telescope subtly followed the movement of the distant galaxy through the heavens, John Pope stared at its multiple wonders. And then he heard again the quiet voice of the Norwegian professor: “Tonight you’ve been introduced to two wonders. The beautiful and the stupendous. There are, we judge, one hundred [65] billion other galaxies out there. And if we ever lift a telescope above our atmospheric interruption, I’m sure it will reveal an additional hundred billion. For space is limitless. It goes on forever. Always remember, John, that you and I live on a minor planet attached to a minor star, at the far edge of a minor galaxy. We live here briefly, and when we’re gone, we’re forgotten. And one day the galaxies will be gone, too. The only morality that makes sense is to do something useful with the brief time we’re allotted. I would be most pleased if you would report to my class in January.”
Slowly, through the starry night, with much more visible than when he started after supper-for the sky was now dark, allowing the weaker stars to shine through-he walked homeward, his binoculars hanging at his side. In Leyte Gulf it was four in the afternoon of the first day, and Norman Grant was baking in fierce sunlight on his raft, while at Peenemünde the German rocket experts were spending the early daylight hours endeavoring to assess the damage done by the tremendous American bombing.
John Pope knew he had experienced something rare and precious-his first journey into the heavens, the glimpse of perfect beauty in the star Altair, the awakening of love with Penny, and the vision of that galaxy infinitely remote: There can never be another- night like this. My job is to make all nights good within their own limits.
“Damn it all!” his father shouted as he came in the door. “Two-thirty! Just who in hell do you think you are?”
John was startled. He had never before heard his conservative father swear. “I was at the observatory,” he apologized. “They let me use ...”
“John,” his mother called from the foot of the stairs. She was in her nightgown and it was evident that she had been crying. “You should have telephoned.”
“I just stopped at the observatory.”
“You are not to roam the streets like rabble, John Pope,” his father said, jealous of the good reputation that name carried. “And if you do go somewhere like the observatory, have the decency to telephone us. We care deeply what happens to you, son.”
“The professor invited me to attend his college classes. Starting in January.”
[66] “That’s gratifying,” his mother said.
In his bedroom he could not sleep, for the majestic universe seemed to be exploding about him, shattering and illuminating.
An hour before dawn the elder Popes heard their son’s alarm clock, and they stepped into the hallway in time to see him disappearing down the stairs. “Where in hell are you going now?” Dr. Pope swore for a second time.
“I want to see how the night ends.”
“John,” his mother said quietly, “you must put on something more.” When her son hesitated, she added, “We watch your health. Put on a jacket.”
When he reached the yard he saw above him the unequaled panoply of winter constellations: Taurus, Orion, the Twins, the group with great Sirius, and in the east the Lion and the outriders of the Virgin. He stood enraptured, using his glasses on one after another of their splendid stars, but it was not until just after dawn that he saw what he had left his bed to view. It was the spot where red Arcturus would have been seen had not the risen Sun obscured it. Visualizing the star as it would have appeared, he accepted the fact that his Earth actually did revolve in a twisted path around the Sun. At dusk he had seen Arcturus slip away; at dawn he was seeing it return.
“We do revolve in space,” he whispered to himself. Again he longed to capture this great red star in his binoculars, but again it lay too low for sensible viewing, so he waited, but by the time Arcturus had risen enough to clear the atmosphere, day had come and there were no stars.
 
At three o’clock on the afternoon of 24 October 1944, when Professor Stanley Mott was investigating the damage done by the rocket that landed in the heart of the financial district of London, and when Admiral Nishimura was placing in his private safe the Sho-Go instructions which required him to take his small fleet on a suicidal foray into Leyte Gulf, Dieter Kolff, a rocket technician of indeterminate rank, was pushing his bicycle onto a small ferry that would carry him from the top-secret town of Peenemünde in the Baltic to the mainland of Germany a short distance to the west.
He was thirty-seven years old, a small, thin, shy man [67] with an ineffectual mustache. He wore heavy glasses which he took off when trying to impress people but replaced rapidly if a document or piece of equipment was handed him. He spoke softly but revealed a fierce willingness to defend his judgments; his inner convictions he shared with absolutely no one, not even Liesl, whom he was leaving the island to visit.
Developments in Nazi Germany had taught him this distrust. As a boy from an impoverished mountain area south of Munich, he had encountered scorn, for he was not from some hereditary warrior family in Prussia, or clever in business like a Ruhr German, or intellectually gifted like a Berliner. He had only one gift: he could look at a piece of machinery and see what was wrong with it. He had been able to do this on his family’s farm and later when he worked in the factory in Munich. But because he was not university educated, or able to express himself well, he gained small profit from his gift.
When drafted into the army he remained a mute private, first on the French front, then on the Russian, and officers with infinitely less ability in keeping their machines of war functioning walked past him a score of times without ever asking for his assistance. But he was clever enough to see, in the spring of 1942, that any German armies which went deeper into Russia were apt to encounter tragedy, and he devoted all his energies to escaping from those gray, forbidding steppes.
His chance came in early 1943 when he was serving with the unlucky General Paul von Kleist in the Caucasus. During a vast retreat Von Kleist’s tanks started to break down, and when the general hastened among his men, goading them to make repairs that were impossible, he spotted one taciturn mechanic who doggedly mended anything that was brought before him, and on the muddy repair field Dieter Kolff was commissioned a lieutenant and placed in charge of overhauling the great tanks.
Two weeks later Hitler dispatched an urgent request to the Wehrmacht, asking it to send him responsible young men with impeccable records to work at a demanding task. That was all that the order said, but discreet inquiries established that men with mechanical ability were needed, preferably not from large cities. Von Kleist pondered this [68] cryptic statement and concluded that what Hitler sought were strong farm boys who had not been contaminated with city radicalism.
His quota was eleven, and after he had nominated nine promising lads his eye fell upon Lieutenant Kolff, the most reliable officer in the headquarters company, and a wily tactic evolved: I’ll send the Fuehrer my best man and maybe ... Just perhaps Hitler would overlook the disasters on the Caucasus front.
“Where were you born?” Von Kleist asked, and when Dieter gave the name of his rural village, the general said, “Your papers say Munich. We don’t want anyone from that trouble spot.”
“I’m from a farm,” Dieter replied, and that evening he was on his way out of Russia, rejoicing with every clackety turn of the train wheels.
He had not worked with the heavy installations at Peenemünde for two weeks before his extraordinary native ability was recognized, and late one afternoon he was brought before a tall, silent man with deep-lined face and funereal voice. “This is General Eugen Breutzl,” an orderly said. “Don’t you salute generals?”
Kolff saluted awkwardly. “They tell me you are very good with machines,” the general said. He was fifty-three that year and obviously harassed by the urgent demands constantly pressed upon him.
“I can fix things,” Kolff said.
“Education?”
“I worked in a factory. Fixing things.”
“Family?”
“Farmers.”
Breutzl frowned, then asked brightly, “Big landowners?”
“No. A little chicken farm.”
“How did you become ... well, an officer?”
“In Russia. I knew how to fix tanks. General von Kleist ... a field commission.”
“You think you can fix the things we’re making?”
“I can.”
“Do you know what they are?”
“The men say they’re rockets. For hitting London.”
“Do you know anything about rockets?”
“From what I’ve seen, I can fix certain things.”
That had been almost two years ago, and now [69] Lieutenant Kolff was one of General Breutzl’s most valuable men. The general, an engineer and not a scientist, was in charge of building the great A-4 rockets which the scientific genius, young Wernher von Braun, had devised, and the job was not an easy one, for whenever General Breutzl had a production line nicely started, Von Braun altered the specifications, requiring a complete reorientation of machines and men.
“Why doesn’t he make up his mind?” Kolff asked one day in desperation.
“Because it’s an entire new world, Dieter. There are no rules to go by.”
Kolff was no longer an officer in the Wehrmacht. He was one of the anomalous breed that infested Peenemünde, men of no stripe but of great ability in grappling with the problems of a coming world. Out of respect, Breutzl was accorded his old title, but he was no longer a general in the military sense; he was a genius at perfecting engineering solutions which enabled rockets to fly, and in the early days when they had failed, twenty-three out of twenty-nine exploding on the pads or shortly after takeoff, it was usually because the scientist had ignored Kolff’s practical advice. Once he said laughingly, “And when I fail it’s because I didn’t listen to Dieter Kolff.”
The little farmer had an almost mystical sense of what an engine could do, or not do, and when the rockets became increasingly complex, he was often the only one who could unravel their mysteries. He was a kind of German Thomas Edison, and both Von Braun and Breutzl knew that they were lucky to have found him. “He is,” said Von Braun, “an untutored genius. How did we get him?”
“Number ten in a detachment of eleven,” Breutzl said. “I wonder how many more we have out there we haven’t identified.”
“We’ll need them all,” Von Braun said.
The rocket program had not gone well in those first years. Again and again the leaders of Germany had come to Peenemünde to ascertain when the A-4s could be launched against London, and repeatedly there had been debacles, with rockets disintegrating in midair, but the three men had plodded on, convinced that what they had envisaged could fly, could carry a massive load of explosive to London and deliver it on target.
[70] Now, as he unlimbered his bicycle at the far end of the ferry, Kolff reflected on how lucky he had been: If I was still a private, without my battlefield commission, Von Braun would never have looked at me. He doesn’t care much for privates. He thinks I come from some important family. But he knows I can fix his rockets. Indeed, the rockets that were now falling on London reached there in large part because of innovations and corrections initiated by Kolff, and the fact that as a mere lieutenant he was permitted to leave Peenemünde at three in the afternoon to visit his girl was proof of the regard in which Von Braun held him.
When it was recognized that he had valuable skills, he had been removed from the A-4 and assigned to a project of ultimate secrecy, and it would have surprised him to learn that both Moscow and Washington had compiled dossiers on him, for each was determined to capture him when the war ended. Up to now he had been unwilling to concede that Germany might collapse, and the reason for his optimism was that he knew what tremendous weapons he and General Breutzl were about to perfect.
When he was detached from the A-4, he did not move to the next sequence, the A-5 through the A-9, each of which was planned to accomplish some tremendous thing. He was assigned to the A-10, last in line and the mightiest. It represented a concept so dazzling that he was allowed to discuss it only with Von Braun and Breutzl.
The A-10, and it was very close to solution, with production not much more than a year in the future, was a rocket that could be fired from Peenemünde with a colossal head of explosive, and land on Boston, New York or Washington. Dieter was not angry at the citizens of any of those cities, no more than he was angry at the people of London, who were being struck daily by his bombs. He was a technician, a man trained to apply his skills to whatever task loomed, solve its complications and move it to completion. If the aerial bombing of New York was desirable, regardless of motive, he would devise ways by which it could be accomplished. And it was on this task that he now concentrated.
So it was a very important man who mounted his bicycle and pedaled westward as the American bombers prepared to strike a mortal blow at Peenemünde. He was [71] headed for a farm north of the mainland town of Wolgast; it was owned by the family of Liesl Koenig and was conspicuous for only one thing. It stood adjacent to an expensive summer resort with gorgeous water views on three sides: east to the channel separating the mainland from Peenemünde, north into the Baltic Sea, and west into a bay containing a very large island.
Liesl worked at this establishment, caring for rich Berliners during the high summer season and for modest Pomeranians during the truncated winter season. She was not a pretty girl, nor was she any longer young. Indeed, she might have been passed by altogether had not Dieter Kolff come to the island and met her during a walking trip on the mainland. She was now twenty-eight and would probably have moved to Berlin as a domestic had not the war intervened. She was a hard-working woman with a pleasing if subdued disposition, and Kolff felt that he was lucky to have found her.
On the highway west of the ferry he was stopped three times by guards, and his bicycle was well searched, even though the older guards were familiar with his visits to the Koenig farm. They nodded in friendly fashion as the younger men searched him, for nothing could move on or off Peenemünde without scrutiny.
Dieter spent a quiet afternoon with Liesl, had supper with her family, and walked in the autumn evening to the grounds of the resort, from which he could see the antiaircraft guns that lined the mainland shore. “We’ve grown afraid,” Liesl said, “since the big raid last year. Father saw scouting planes overhead this afternoon.”
“We saw them, too. They were Luftwaffe.”
“Not the ones Father saw.”
There were so many things that Kolff wanted to share with this responsive girl. She was, he was ashamed to tell anyone else, a lot like his mother, a good, reliable farm girl who would bring her husband stern qualities and much devotion. She understood whatever problems he was allowed to share with her, especially his fear of the Russians: “You should have seen their villages. They let their farmers live like animals. If they were ever to come here ...” He shuddered.
“Is there a chance they will?”
He hesitated. In Germany one was prudent never to [72] say what one thought, unless it conformed to some rote requirement, but it was also necessary for every human being to reach out and confide in someone. Liesl could well be a spy conscripted in this particular spot to trap Peenemünde workers like Kolff, so he must say nothing about the A-10, nor about any of the lesser bomb systems for that matter. But about Russia he could speak. He had to speak.
“Two years ago, when I was there, our officers were confident the Russians could never turn the tide on us. That was a poor country. A land of peasants. But now ...”
“They’re moving closer, Dieter.”
“Are you afraid?”
“Yes, I’m afraid.”
They said no more that evening, but each knew that now the agenda was clear and overwhelming: somehow they must avoid capture by the Russians. All that they did hereafter would be predicated upon that imperative.
When darkness fell, they retired to a barn on the resort premises and made love, a practice they had fallen into when they became aware that Russian armies were descending upon Germany and that terrible uncertainties might soon engulf them. Each depended upon the other in these perilous days, and each knew that salvation lay only in the other’s love. Liesl’s suspicious father had asked four questions: “Does he own his own farm? Was he ever really an officer in the army? What’s he doing on that island, anyway? And whatever happened to that Detterling boy? He owned a good farm.” Under the circumstances, she felt it unwise to discuss anything important with her father, who so far had made only one substantial observation about the visiting stranger: “He eats like a pig. Don’t they feed him over there?”
He had identified Kolff’s major peculiarity: despite his frailness, he could consume unlimited quantities of food without affecting his girth, but as Liesl pointed out, “You have no right to complain, Father. He usually brings us far more food than he eats.”
On a normal visit Dieter stayed with Liesl until about nine at night, when he cycled back to catch the last ferry, which crossed at ten, but on this night he was agitated by so many conflicting bits of gossip circulating on the island that he longed to stay, not to discuss the [73] possibilities openly, but simply to talk with someone.
So they lingered on the grounds of the summer resort, discussing trivialities, until Liesl stopped their walking and took him by the hands. “What is it, Dieter?” When he looked surprised, she added, “What big thing disturbs you?”
In silence he contemplated in order the seven major developments that disturbed him, not one of which could he openly state or even intimate: There was a rumor that Himmler’s secret police were going to make another move against Von Braun. There was another that General Breutzl was to be demoted and exiled to the Russian front. There were constant fears that Peenemünde would be closed down entirely, because the Russians were moving too close. And so on, plus an eighth one which he himself had generated, and this he could share with Liesl.
“The general has aged ... badly. They blame him for everything that goes wrong, but I can tell you that nothing goes right without him.”
“You like him, don’t you?”
“I wish all Germans were like him. I wish all fathers were.”
“Mine’s complaining again.” She hesitated, then said softly, “We should get out of here, Dieter. Both of us.”
“Yes.” After a long while he said, “It will be up to me, Liesl. I’ll tell you when.” And after another long reflection he changed the subject. “I promised Baron von Braun to look after the general. I must go back.”
“But you’ve missed the ferry.”
“I steal chickens for them from our mess. They’ll lift me over.”
It was ten-thirty when he bade Liesl goodnight, kissing her breasts at the gateway to her farm. “What’s that?” she asked, pointing to the sky.
The Moon was bright, deep in the west, and it glowed upon a lone aircraft that flew fantastically high. They watched it for some minutes, guessing wildly as to what it might signify. And then two streaking pathfinder planes came in very low, dropping not bombs but flares of different colors which glowed in the night.
“Oh God!” Dieter cried. “It’s a raid. With those flares it’ll be a major raid.” And he pedaled furiously toward the ferry, keeping his eye on that plane mysteriously high in the heavens, wondering what it could be, not realizing [74] that in it rode Master Bomber Merton, who would direct the oncoming Americans to the targets illuminated by the flares.
He had not reached the ferry when the first bombers came roaring in, much lower than he expected. They were huge, and dark, and the Moon disappeared just as they reached Peenemünde. “Someone planned this exactly,” he told the men at the ferry, and then the great explosions began.
“I’ve got to get across,” he said.
“Not in this,” the ferrymen said, seeking cover. And for almost two hours the men huddled there, listening with growing horror to the tremendous load of explosives being dumped upon the island.
“Where did those first yellow flares land?” Dieter asked the ferrymen.
“Down by your quarters,” the man said.
“Oh Jesus! They’re trying to kill General Breutzl.”
“And your Von Braun.”
“He’s in Berlin. Listen, I’ve got to get across.”
“Not now.”
Other planes moved in, German fighters this time, and some of the enemy bombers began to burn and fall into the Baltic. One came right at the empty ferry, kept aloft and crashed in the direction of the summer resort at which Liesl worked.
Now he had two worries, his general and his girl, but when the bombardment ceased, and the German fighters withdrew, Dieter hurried not to the Koenig farm but to the island, to see what had happened to General Breutzl. Wherever he went, guards stopped him, for the destruction was massive and buildings of all kind were afire. Commandeering a guard with a motorcycle, Dieter abandoned his own vehicle and rode pillion to the scientists’ quarters, the ones that Professor Mott had ordered spared.
The first set of flares had overshot their mark, not landing on the manufacturing and research facilities as intended, but directly on the living quarters of the scientists. The monitor aloft had warned each incoming flight of the imprecision, but the target was so tempting and the flares so distinct that whole sticks of bombs had struck the area. Dieter, approaching from the north, could see the devastation, the gaping, burned sections, and he realized that [75] had he not gone to visit Liesl, he would now be dead. But what of General Breutzl?
“Over there!” Dieter yelled into the ear of the driver, but the cyclist said, “Not me.” So Dieter dismounted and ran toward the shattered buildings. He did not have to enter, for on the lawn outside the dormitories were laid the thirty-one bodies, and toward the middle of the row, calm and kindly even in death, lay General Eugen Breutzl, whom the Nazis had never trusted but on whom they had been forced to depend.
When no one was looking, and for reasons of secrecy which he could have explained to no one, not even to himself, Dieter waited till all the others were preoccupied with the devastation caused by the raid, then moved to the concrete vault in which the general’s plans for the A-10 were kept. These work sheets, usually the result of long consultations among Von Braun, the general and Kolff, were safe. Allowing no one to see him, he removed them, carrying them to his own wrecked quarters, where he set fire to a few inconsequential ones, snuffed out the flames, and intermingled the charred pages with a few of his own diagrams. At that moment he had no clear idea why he was taking such precaution; it was instinctive and had something to do with the rumors that Von Braun might soon be arrested again by Himmler’s men.
 
Two nights later, at three o’clock in the morning of 27 October, when Norman Grant, wallowing in the waters of Leyte Gulf, had about decided that his dwindling crew of heroes would never be rescued by a forgetful Navy, Dieter Kolff sat upright in bed, awakened by an idea which flashed through his canny mind like a thunderous explosion of lightning: Chickens! That’s what will save me-chickens!
He had a right to be apprehensive about his security, because as soon as the bombs stopped falling, an old adversary, ominous and persistent, returned to the island, eager to pursue past suspicions. He was Colonel Helmut Funkhauser, forty-eight years old, a somewhat overstuffed would-be Prussian with no neck and pinched-together eyes. Son of a modest butcher in Hamburg, he had been an early volunteer for Hitler’s Brown Shirts, not because of any philosophical conviction but because membership was exciting and a glimpse of the future. By [76] extraordinary obedience to any orders from above and by attention to detail, he had risen to become one of Heinrich Himmler’s lesser aides, and it was then that he began claiming Prussian ancestry. His present assignment had been handed him by Himmler himself: “Bring those damned scientists to heel. Get rid of Von Braun. And make sure that our SS men take charge of everything.”
When Kolff saw Funkhauser step out from the black sedan he realized that trouble had returned, for several times in the past he had encountered this colonel, finding him to be an insecure petty dictator, subservient when superiors were present, arrogant when they were not. He was not a murderous Nazi acting from deep principle; he was merely one of the functionaries who carried out orders.
Kolff had first met Funkhauser in mid-1943 when the colonel swept down on Peenemünde from his headquarters in Berlin, one hundred and ten miles to the south, to arrest Von Braun, General Breutzl and Kolff, whisking them away, without Hitler’s knowledge, to a secret SS prison camp near Stettin. There he had grilled them for six days, building against them charges of disloyalty which could lead to their execution.
His charges were threefold: “You’ve been guilty of disloyal thoughts. You have used Peenemünde as a base not for military revenge against the English but for future space travel. And you have made secret plans to escape to England, where you think you will be free to work on your rockets without the Fuehrer’s supervision.” Any one of the accusations, if proved or even strongly suspected, would warrant death.
Colonel Funkhauser’s supporting evidence was ingenious, and illustrated the paranoia which Himmler was relentlessly introducing into German life: “Four of my spies, inserted into the Peenemünde work force, have heard you, Von Braun, wonder out loud in bars and the like whether the A-4 will bring England to her knees, despite the fact that the Fuehrer has publicly stated that it will do so. You, Kolff, have been heard predicting that the monthly quota of nine hundred rockets cannot be met.”
“Until we solve the problem of why they explode just as they’re about to come down-”
[77] “Silence. There’s grave suspicion that they explode because you personally have sabotaged our war effort. And all three of you are known to be planning for the years after the war, when your rockets can be used for travel to the Moon, or the planets.” Here he became livid with bitterness, bending his fat body forward and staring with beady eyes at the three men. “You are traitors to the Fatherland! You are disloyal to the Fuehrer! Your job is to destroy London now, not worry about space travel later on.”
There was much to this charge, Kolff admitted to himself at the time, not on General Breutzl’s part, for he was a military perfectionist, dedicated to the job of producing A-4s in the most effective manner. Von Braun and Kolff, however, had often speculated on how their mighty machines could be utilized in peacetime, and they saw clearly that with the power and control they were developing, man could be thrown far into space and brought back to safe landing. “It could be done,” Von Braun had once said, “within four years of when we make our serious start. And if we don’t make it, Russia will.”
“How about America?” Kolff had asked.
“They had the best start of all-their genius Goddard. But no one listened to him, and now they find themselves with no capacity whatever.” During the remainder of his life Dieter Kolff would recall that when Von Braun first voiced such thoughts about the future-Russia’s advances, America’s retreats-the baron had fallen silent, as if he had revealed much more than he intended, and it was obvious that he had more he wished to predict. But he did not dare to speak, for he, like everyone else in Germany, had to be afraid of who might be listening, or where the spies were planted. And Dieter remembered that as soon as he uttered those words, Baron von Braun stared at him, as if calculating whether he might be the spy planted by Himmler to trap him.
Colonel Funkhauser’s guess that the Peenemünde personnel were dreaming not of the present war but of the future peace was shrewdly correct, but his suspicions about his prisoners’ plans for fleeing Germany were paranoiac: “Von Braun, you’ve been seen twice. When you took off in your little plane, you headed not toward Berlin but out to [78] sea. Did you know that I gave orders to the air force that if you ever did it again, you were to be shot down? No questions, no warnings.”
“I fly my plane to get to the meetings your people keep convening,” Von Braun said softly. He was a big man, ample in all dimensions, with a large head and a very large face which seemed to be younger than its thirty-one years. Indeed, he looked like some enthusiastic university second-year student, and much of the animosity he encountered stemmed from the fact that he appeared insultingly youthful to be exercising the great responsibilities given him. He was arrogant, too, and for three good reasons: had he wished, he could have called himself Baron von Braun, for his father had held that title; as a putative baron, of Prussian heritage, he had a certain uncontrollable insolence, especially when meeting with the lumpen-proletariat that filled Himmler’s force; and indubitably he was a genius whose mind worked so swiftly that assistants were left behind and gaping.
General Breutzl, for example, never tried to keep up. When young Von Braun flew off into the scientific empyrean, he nodded, waited till the flight was over, then attended to the instant problems. One day Von Braun had explained how Albert Einstein had proved that if a man could travel outward from the earth at the speed of light to some remote star and then come back at the same speed, he would age from thirty-two to forty-seven, but when he returned to Berlin, that city would be eighteen thousand years older than it had been when he departed. This had agitated Kolff, for it went against reason: “How can there be two times running at the same moment?” But Breutzl had merely nodded, saying, “So now our man is back home, and he still faces the problem of why these damned A-4s are exploding just before striking their target.”
In this 1943 confrontation Colonel Funkhauser did launch one substantial charge against the three Peenemünde experts, and he delivered it with bitter sarcasm: “You are supposed to be the ultimate brains in this operation. You’re supposed to draw up the plans for a rocket which will destroy London, then give those plans to the engineers and stand back while they make thousands of bombs which we can fire across the Channel. Professor von Braun, do you know offhand how many last-minute [79] changes you’ve made in your rocket plans? Since you started two years ago, that is?”
Von Braun fidgeted, for he knew that this was a weak point in his performance. More than a hundred times, and this was not a figure of speech but an actual count, General Breutzl had pleaded: “Wernher, you must settle upon one plan, no more changes. Then let me go ahead and show the factories how to duplicate those plans.”
But rocketry, with its insatiable demands for new metals, new fuel systems, new guidance controls, new everything, could never be easily nailed down. Changes were inescapable for the solid reason that unforeseen malperformances dictated them. If Von Braun had proposed a few changes, Hitler should be grateful that he was on hand to identify them, because in the end-say the beginning of 1944-Germany was going to have a massive rocket that would destroy London and end this war.
Colonel Funkhauser produced a piece of paper, which he waved before Von Braun. “Make a guess, Professor. How many changes have you sent to the factories?” And there the ridiculous figure was: 65,121. It was accurate. It was inevitable. To make a monster rocket from scratch and to ensure that it could perform a chain of intricate maneuvers was a trial-and-error process. Von Braun himself had retreated, lunged ahead, wobbled, stumbled in confusion, and at the end had come up with a rocket that looked fine but which failed in twenty-three of twenty-nine tests.
So he had sent 65,121 alternations to the workmen, and he could foresee another five thousand before the rocket functioned. It was in light of this that one day in 1943 he made in Kolff’s hearing his second reference to America: “It takes sixty-five thousand errors before you’re qualified to make a rocket. Russia has made maybe thirty thousand of them by now. America hasn’t made any. Therefore, men like you and me and the general, we’d be a hundred times more valuable to the Americans than to the Russians.” When he showed no inclination to expatiate on this, Kolff asked no questions, but the comparison lodged in his mind, and not exactly in the way Von Braun intended. Kolff thought: If the Russians are so far advanced, they’d recognize the value of men like the general and me. Good God, that means the Communists will be out to capture [80] us. And he began to watch nervously the progress of the Red Armies along the eastern front, for with every victory over Hitler’s troops, they moved a mile, a league closer to Peenemünde.
“So you are all guilty of sabotaging our war effort,” Funkhauser had said grimly, “and I’m sure you will be shot as soon as I submit my report.”
Obviously, they had not been executed, even though Funkhauser had recommended it. Powerful friends of Von Braun, and he had them everywhere, intervened with Hitler himself, and the Fuehrer spared him. Breutzl and Kolff were sentenced to death, but Von Braun would not allow this. For six days he devoted every minute to their rescue, when it might have been to his advantage to let them be executed on the spurious grounds that they were indeed saboteurs while he was “pure.” But he could not do it, and in the end he carried his campaign to Hitler, convincing him that the A-4 would never fly successfully without the help of these two experts.
Dieter Kolff owed his life to Baron von Braun, as he took pleasure in calling him, since it was reassuring to be working with a baron, and he never forgot it.
So on the night of 27 October 1944 when he thought: Chickens! That’s what will save me ... he was a man with a right to be terrified of what Colonel Funkhauser might do to him once he fell outside Von Braun’s protective shelter.
His strategy was this. Deep in his autonomic system Dieter realized that as long as he could retain control of General Breutzl’s papers, he had a bargaining power with whoever won this war, Germany, Russia or America, because it was easier for Von Braun to conceive fantastic concepts than it was for someone like Breutzl to translate them into practical manufacturing operations. And the combination of Breutzl’s plans and Kolff’s ingenuity might actually surpass what Von Braun was capable of, especially in countries like Russia and America, which had a plethora of imaginative theoreticians but not too many skilled in practical application.
Dieter Kolff knew that he was a valuable human being, one of the most valuable in the world at this moment, but he also knew that with his unimposing appearance and his lack of formal education, he could achieve little [81] without the charismatic leadership of his hero Von Braun. He was welded to this brilliant baron, now and forever, but until he discovered what Von Braun was going to do in the aftermath of war, he must prudently protect himself.
I must act today, he told himself before dawn. Funkhauser and his SS men will start looking into the Breutzl case: “How did the general die? Where are his papers?” Kolff would be interrogated, and he would be wise to have those papers far from Peenemünde in some safe place. He had no minutes to spare.
Waiting until dawn, lest he arouse suspicions, he took a large knapsack, went to where he had hidden the Breutzl papers, and stuffed them inside. Knowing that he would be shot immediately if these papers were found on him, he walked casually to the bomb-damaged kitchen, where he nodded to the helper with whom he had established a system to defraud the regulations-beer to the cook, chickens to Dieter-and in this way got hold of three dressed fowl, which he tossed casually atop the papers.
On his bicycle he pedaled his way to the Peenemünde end of the ferry, where he gave the SS guard one of the chickens, trying his best to appear noncommittal about everything and in no particular hurry: “I’m going to see my girl. She must have been terrified by the bombing.”
“Anyone in your buildings hurt?”
“Killed. Dozens of them.”
“Those bastards. When do we blow up London?”
“Any day now.”
At the far end of the ferry he was warmly greeted by another contingent of SS men, to whom he handed his second chicken.
“What’s in the knapsack?” they asked.
“Chicken for my girl,” he said, displaying no anxiety, no desire to be on his way.
“Are you ...” The SS men made the common gesture indicating sexual intercourse.
“Why do you think I’m taking the chicken?” Dieter asked with a faint smile that made his little face with its inadequate mustache look quite ridiculous.
“I’d better inspect the knapsack,” the SS man said, pulling aside the covering. “Orders, you know.” Dieter strained his throat to keep from gulping, and displayed no nervousness as the guard poked around the naked chicken.
[82] “Good luck!” the other guards said. “And thanks for our chicken.”
Trying desperately to do nothing that might attract attention, even though his heart was thumping, he pedaled down the road toward the summer resort, where he found Liesl working with three other girls at preparing the place for winter. Keeping his left arm over the top of his knapsack, he joked with the girls, then indicated that he wished to be alone with Liesl, and blushed when the girls teased him about his intentions.
When they were alone, in broad daylight but in a part of the establishment where they were hidden from the others, Dieter faced his first life-or-death decision. There had been other moments of importance, like his landing the assignment to Peenemünde, and his sitting in Stettin prison waiting to be shot, but in those affairs he had not had much choice. Now he was making the first in a series of decisions which would determine the remainder of his life, and he took each step with full cognizance of its peril.
“Liesl, we must go to your farm and do something of vital importance.”
“Yes.” Peenemünde had now been bombed several times, first by the British, now by the Americans, and in each raid errant bombs had come close to the Koenig farm, so that death had been imminent. Also, the Russians were moving always closer from the east, the Americans from the west. Decisions of great moment must soon be made by all Germans, and Liesl was ready. She knew no other unmarried man but Dieter and was prepared to follow his lead.
“I think we’d better go now,” he said, so she made excuses to the other girls, who teased her bawdily. When they reached the Koenig farm, he asked her to fetch a shovel, and when she produced one, he said, “We must find a safe spot. I have important papers. If these papers are found, we’ll both be shot. If they aren’t found, they’ll be our passport.”
“To where?”
He had hoped that she would not ask this question, for it was one he had not yet answered in his own mind. What was Von Braun going to do? Join up with the Russians, who were actively engaged in the rocket race? Or with the Americans, who were so far behind? Desperately he wished [83] to know Von Braun’s plans, but even without them he knew the right choice.
“To America. They’ll be needing people like me. Somehow we must get these papers to the Americans. For the present, we must hide them.”
And after the hole was dug, he realized that he was placing his life in her hands. If she was a spy planted by Colonel Funkhauser, he was already dead, but he knew there was no alternative. He handed her his life, and she buried the knapsack.
When the ground was tamped flat she quietly returned the shovel to her father’s barn, then came and stood before him. “Does this mean you will marry me?”
“I’ve thought about that. You’re the one girl I love. You know that. But it would be terribly risky to go before a magistrate now. Too many questions, and the SS might interfere.”
Her body sagged. He represented her only chance to escape this farm, to escape the Russians, and now he was refusing to marry her. She did not voice her resentment or even think of retaliating against him, for she realized that she was in a perilous position from which she could escape only with his help. “If you’re afraid ...” she began.
“I am,” he said with great force. “Everything’s in chaos. I was damned lucky to get past the guards at the ferry.”
“I know,” she said with a bitterness not entirely masked, but Dieter was too self-occupied to recognize her scorn.
“But I know that you are my life, Liesl, and I think we should be married right now.”
“How? If you’re afraid of the SS.”
“By our own will. Here, under the sky.” She stood there, silent, so finally he asked, “Would you be willing to marry me, right now?”
“Will it be a real marriage?” she asked with peasant caution.
“The minute you touched the knapsack we were married,” Dieter said. “God knows when a minister will be free to confirm it.”
“How shall we do it? Liesl asked, as if she were a little child needing instruction.
Dieter took her left hand in his, but forcefully she changed this, aware that her right hand should do the pledging, and when she was satisfied, she looked at him, [84] a twenty-eight-year-old farm girl placing her life in his care.
“I take you as my wife,” Dieter said, standing near the buried knapsack, which would be their wedding ring and documentation.
“I take you as my husband,” Liesl said, breaking into tears as she visualized the marriage she should have had, with the girls from the resort dressed in white. After an awkward pause, she asked, “Aren’t you going to kiss me?” And Dieter did. Then she maneuvered him cleverly toward the barn, where they consummated their unusual marriage.
“You must always be ready to leave at any moment,” he warned her. “And if I send a message to meet me somewhere, you must bring the papers.” When she nodded dutifully, he said, “You know they’re our only passport to a new life.” And she said she knew.
On his way back to the ferry he was assaulted by the sick suspicion that she might indeed be one of Funkhauser’s spies, and he could hear the colonel’s words in the Stettin prison: “Four spies that I inserted into the work force at Peenemünde ...” But even if she were a spy, there was nothing he could do about it now. He must live the next critical months in treble anxiety, for the world was falling apart and he was already dizzy from trying to hold on.
Such speculations were driven from his mind when he reached the ferry and learned that the SS troopers were about to launch a search party for him. “Colonel Funkhauser has been demanding that you report to him ... immediately.”
He pretended surprise and indignation. “When did he arrive? I should have been informed.”
“Flew in unexpectedly to check the damage.” Two guards from the mainland end entered the ferry with him, and when they reached the other side they were joined by two more, who mounted their motorcycles to form a cordon about his bicycle, and in this austere manner he traveled south to the bomb-ravaged dormitories, where he found Funkhauser’s men rummaging among his private possessions.
“What happened to General Breutzl?” the colonel asked. He was an untidy man, thirty pounds overweight, who [85] always wore his SS uniform two sizes too small on the specious grounds that if it was kept tight, it would also be kept neat.
“He was killed. By one of the first bombs.”
“And what did you do about it?” Funkhauser asked in his silky public voice.
“As planned. I tried immediately to save him, but that was hopeless. So I assumed responsibility for his secret papers.”
“And what did you do with them?”
“They were destroyed in the fire. I rescued just a few sheets and ...” He looked toward where his envelope had been planted and saw with satisfaction that Funkhauser’s men had discovered it and turned it over to the colonel.
“I see that you found something,” Funkhauser said, staring at him with his pinched-together eyes. “These charred bits. But I wonder if they’re what you really found?” He changed his manner abruptly and asked, “What were you doing on the mainland?”
Dieter felt trapped. Did Funkhauser mean on the night of the bombing, or now? Did he even know that Dieter had been away from his post on the night when Breutzl was killed? After just a moment’s hesitation he replied, “My girl. I wanted to see if her farm had been hit during the raid.”
“Had it?”
“No, thank God.”
There would have been deeper questioning had not the colonel been interrupted by a disheveled messenger with startling news: “The Fuehrer’s aide telephoned. You’re to fly to Wolf’s Lair immediately ... with Dieter Kolff.”
Funkhauser looked in amazement at the man he had been interrogating. “You? What would Hitler want with you?”
Hurriedly, Kolff picked among his scattered belongings, finding bits of clothing proper for a visit to Hitler’s retreat hidden three hundred miles to the east. “Have I time to shave?” he asked, and Funkhauser grumbled, “On the plane.” So the same convoy of motorcycles rushed the two men back to the north end of the island, where Funkhauser’s plane stood ready.
Once before Dieter Kolff had met his Fuehrer, in the spring of 1944 when Hitler pinned the silver medal on his [86] quivering chest: “For valiant services to the Third Reich.” Dieter’s performance had been of great merit to the Nazi war effort, for when the precious A-4s continued to blow up while aloft, he went almost directly from the prison cell in Stettin to a watch point on the Baltic coast northeast of that city, and there, in the heart of the area on which the defective rockets fell, he stationed himself with binoculars and camera, awaiting the next test shots.
For the first time he saw the mighty machine from the recipient’s point of view: a monstrous silver torpedo, beautifully proportioned, leaping through the sky as if impatient to reach its target, silent at first, then with resounding cracks as it broke through the sound barrier, disappearing as quickly and mysteriously as it had come, for it was traveling at a speed of one mile per second. It was therefore nothing like an airplane, and eyes that were adjusted to planes had little chance of even seeing an A-4.
But it was Dieter’s job to see, and since the rocket slowed perceptibly when it started its erratic dive, bearing in its nose a ton of Trialen, many times more destructive than TNT, it was just possible to watch its performance. And as he did so, he identified the trouble. “What seems to happen,” he told Von Braun, “is that when the engine cuts out, enormous pressures accumulate in the chamber, and the sides blow out.”
“What can be done about that?” the master asked.
“Simple! We wrap a steel band around the rocket at the critical point. Bind it together.”
“Won’t that slow the speed? Aerodynamically?”
“Slightly. Very slightly. But that’s the price you pay for safe delivery.”
When Kolff’s simple device was installed, eighteen out of nineteen trial runs succeeded, and the A-4 was ready to strike at London. Hitler had been overjoyed, because he had foreseen in a dream that this instrument of destruction was going to win the war for him. First London, and when the English were battered to their knees, fifty even more powerful rockets every day into the heart of Moscow, or whatever other city the Russians held.
“And this is the little fellow who won the war for us?” Hitler had said when facing Kolff at the Berlin ceremonies. It had been a stupefying period: one day facing death in a Stettin prison; the next receiving a silver medal from [87] the hands of Hitler himself. Now, engaged in traitorous activity against the day of Germany’s defeat, he could not even guess what might lie in wait at Wolf’s Lair.
The little plane sped eastward, keeping well north of Stettin, then along the very coast which Dieter had guarded, waiting for the next A-4 to explode before his eyes, then south of Danzig, which had once borne the shameful Polish name of Gdańsk but never again, and out into one of the romantic and secret places of Europe, the vast Masurian Lakes, each with a shoreline of radiant beauty and mystery.
In the heart of this region, not far from the Prussian town of Rastenberg, Adolf Hitler had built the gigantic subterranean center from which he intended to conquer the world. It was called, in German, Wolfschanze and was indeed a lair from which ferocious beasts could prowl, destroying society’s flocks.
Nothing had been done by accident. Near Wolf’s Lair there was no airfield, nor was there any conspicuous railroad. No big roads were allowed, with the result that Allied scout planes had searched for the hiding place a hundred times without ever identifying it. Yet hidden in the woods was a complete city, constructed of gigantic concrete cubes with steel-reinforced ceilings sixteen and seventeen feet thick. Had the enemy scout planes spotted the place, the following bombers would have done little damage, for not even the famous Tallboys of the RAF could have penetrated those ponderous shelters.
Colonel Funkhauser’s plane landed at a well-camouflaged airstrip many miles from the Lair, and in a small car he and Kolff were whisked down country roads hidden by trees. When they reached the center of the establishment, a concealed city of some twenty thousand, Kolff recognized the infamous bunker in which, a few months earlier, the dissident generals had tried to assassinate Hitler. He was familiar with the monstrous structure because after the attempt, Colonel Funkhauser had assembled all the workmen at Peenemünde to warn them: “Now you’re going to see what happens to traitors who try to take action against the Third Reich.”
Funkhauser had screened the newsreels made by Goebbels of the conspirators’ trial: a three-man banc of judges, all Nazi stalwarts without legal training, had screamed [88] at the accused, reviling them and castigating them day after day. In the end, all were found guilty and some were hung from rafters like carcasses of mutton, with jagged hooks piercing their necks and brains. The film showed them struggling as the cattle hooks worked their way in. Others were suspended with piano wire about their necks; when they squirmed, the wire cut their heads off. Kolff had been one of the men who had vomited. Now he was at the center of this madness.
But when Hitler appeared, smallish, thin, dramatic in general appearance, Kolff, like all other Germans present, was eager to assist him. They saw him as a leader in trouble, a man endeavoring to do his best for Germany, and he merited the love of his people. All the monstrous misbehavior of his underlings was forgotten and forgiven when the man himself stood forth, quiet, hesitant, smiling in his weary way, pleading for support.
“Kolff, tell me. What is the future of the A-4?”
“My Fuehrer, you know that with the ones that we’re firing on London from Wassenaar in Holland-”
“I know about that. So do the English.”
“We’re getting twenty-nine out of thirty excellent firings. I do believe the problems that halted us for so long-”
Hitler, weary of the continual excuses, abruptly ordered that lunch be brought: for the others a rich chicken stew with dumplings; for himself mixed vegetables lightly cooked and a large bottle of Fachingen mineral water. As they ate he asked in a sudden change of subject, “Kolff, have you ever been to Nordhausen?”
“Not yet, sir.”
“I want you to go. With Breutzl dead, you know more about production than any of the others. See if they’re on the right track.” When he rose to stride up and down beneath the protective ceiling, the others rose, too, but he bade them be seated.
“Now, General Funkhauser ...”
“General?”
“Yes. You’re now in charge of all A-4 rocketry. Peenemünde, Nordhausen, Wassenaar. We’ve had enough of scientists. Now we need warriors.”
“I’m ready,” General Funkhauser said in clipped accents that boded much trouble for scientists like Von Braun and his fellows.
[89] “Now tell me honestly, what’s been happening with the A-4,” Hitler said, resuming his massive oaken chair.
From his pocket General Funkhauser produced a slip of paper: “Excellent news! Five days ago, an A-4 hit a London cinema, 287 dead. Last week an A-4 hit Stepney at marketing hour, 197 dead ...” On and on he went, detailing the chance landings of chance rockets. Taken altogether they did not add up to a thousand deaths, nor to the interruption of one industrial operation. Yet the men in the subterranean center consoled themselves with the fact that the horrible English bombings of Germany were at last being revenged. General Funkhauser’s family in Hamburg had been wiped out in the terrible fire bombings of 24 July 1943, when fifty-five thousand civilians had died, and now with grim satisfaction he recited the retaliation: “Two weeks ago an A-4 landed in a small village near London-I had the name but forget it now-and more than ninety people were killed.”
Hitler rose from his chair, moved about with obvious delight, and cried, “We shall be revenged. Funkhauser, for every German soul that perished in your Hamburg, a thousand Englishmen will die. When we get the rockets flowing, that is.”
He looked directly at Dieter Kolff and asked, “They will keep flowing, won’t they?”
“That’s my job,” Kolff said.
“See that they keep working at Nordhausen,” Hitler said, and the conference was over.
General Funkhauser wanted very much to stop at Peenemünde to inform the insolent scientists that for the rest of the war he would be in charge, but Hitler had been so insistent that Kolff inspect Nordhausen that he deemed it prudent to fly directly to that extraordinary site, and within two and a half hours they were landing at a secret airstrip on the southern rim of the Harz Mountains. Small cars were waiting to carry them to the mouth of the tunnel that led to the underground works.
It was like descending into hell, Kolff thought, and when he saw the appalling conditions in which the thousands of slave laborers worked-dark cells with no sunlight or ventilation or toilet facilities or food-the grandeur of Adolf Hitler at Wolf’s Lair dimmed. This was hideous, the portrait of a beleaguered nation gone underground, [90] snarling like a pursued animal. The French prisoners who worked here, the Poles, the Dutch, the thousands of Russians, were slaves who would never again know freedom.
It was remarkable that such an installation, more than a mile deep, with branches running in all directions, cut into the stone by other slaves now dead, could produce the intricate parts needed to make an A-4 fly, but thanks to the dictatorial control of Himmler’s SS men, it did. Slaves who would never again see the light of day forged parts which carried messages to the stars.
“Can our production be maintained?” Dieter asked, judging it to be prudent for him to show interest.
Without attempting to answer this question, Funkhauser summoned the local manager, a brutal, scowling man who had once served as a policeman in a rural town: “We experience sabotage now and then. Can’t be prevented.”
“How do you handle it?” Dieter asked.
“We line all the men in the section against that wall and machine-gun them.”
“Don’t you lose skilled labor?”
“These are minimal jobs. We get replacements by the truckload. We can teach them in one afternoon.” He laughed. “They learn or we shoot them.”
At this moment Kolff chanced to see Funkhauser’s face, and for the first time he realized that the new dictator of the A-4 program did not approve of conditions at Nordhausen, but before either of the visitors could speak, the local man said with obvious pride, “Look at the high quality of work we do here,” and Dieter had to agree that it was miraculous: “You wonder how men in such conditions can do such fine work.”
“Discipline,” the manager said. “We wouldn’t dare assign German workmen to a hole like this. And the slaves we do get have to be guarded by SS men. We couldn’t trust anyone else.”
He was eager for his new commander to see Dora, the camp where the replacement slaves were kept, and when Dieter saw this miasma, this abhorrent place with its rows of shacks, its wall where saboteurs were shot, and its incredibly filthy kitchens, he wondered why the war did not halt tomorrow, but even as he protested inwardly, it occurred to him that the conditions under which German prisoners would in future live under the Russians were [91] apt to be equally bad, and he resolved that it he escaped he would run to the west rather than to the east.
When the tour ended and he was alone with Funkhauser he was afraid to say what he thought of the infamous things he had just seen, but the general felt no compunction. “As soon as we knock out England, places like this must be eliminated. Too much wasted human capacity.” And still Kolff kept silent, for he was thinking that any sensible observer of this war must know that throwing casual and almost accidental single rockets at London was never going to subdue that city or its allies. Good God, he thought, this is almost November, and only seventy-three rockets have hit London, with twenty-six of them landing in remote suburbs. Really, nothing had been accomplished, or would be. Wernher von Braun was right in thinking, if he did so think, that the major justification of the A-4 would be in its peaceful application, in its offering man the chance to travel outside the limitations of Earth.
In the meantime, he would return to Peenemünde, no longer the major center of the rocket effort, and do whatever was required to stay alive under General Funkhauser’s monitoring eye. In his spare time he would continue his experiments on the A-10, which in years to come would be able to bomb New York and Washington, for he shared the emotions of the men at Hitler’s headquarters: Allied bombers had pulverized German cities, so Allied cities must be terror-bombed in return. It was illogical, considering his basic concern about escape, but it was understandable. He, too, wanted revenge.
These contradictions were eliminated shortly after the turn of the year, for Russian troops moved ever closer to Peenemünde, while the Americans and English applied heavy pressure along the western front. One day Von Braun appeared unannounced at Kolff’s research hut, announcing a meeting of the leading scientists at a time when General Funkhauser would be absent from the island. It was a grim assembly, made more so by their leader’s ominous words: “Russian troops will be here soon. It’s inevitable. Our task is simple. Keep our cadre together. Take our papers with us. And move west to be captured by the Americans.”
One young scientist, terribly frightened, asked, “Won’t [92] we run the risk of being shot by Funkhauser?”
Without flinching, Von Braun turned and smiled at the young fellow. “We run four risks of being shot. In the closing days the SS may shoot us to prevent the spread of our knowledge to other countries. Out of sheer hatred the Russians may shoot us when they arrive. The Americans may shoot us if we can’t explain things fast enough when they overrun us. And wherever we move, some damn-fool sentinel may shoot us by accident.”
“But why do you choose the Americans?” another asked.
“I have never understood how the English do business. They seem to despise anyone who works for them, even their own people. I have no feeling for the French at all. They’d be too stingy to support a real space effort. The Russians? They’re abominable, and those of us who side with them will do poorly. The Americans have the money, and after they see what we’re able to do with the A-4, they’ll be willing to let us spend it in building a real space program.”
Amazingly, more than a hundred scientists, fully realizing the risks they were taking, agreed that when the distant guns began to echo at Peenemünde, they would put together a cavalcade that would wander the face of war-torn Germany trying to find Americans to whom they could surrender. They could not know, at this painful stage of Germany’s impending defeat, that in France, Professor Stanley Mott, a practical engineer like themselves, had put together his team of experts whose job it would be to scour Germany in search of Wernher von Braun, General Eugen Breutzl and Dieter Kolff, trusting that the Germans would have sense enough to bring their papers with them. Mott had heard rumors that General Breutzl had been killed in the big air raid of 24-25 October, but he hoped that this was not correct, for it was the managerial genius of this man that would be most sorely needed during the first stages of America’s effort to build a rocket.
 
When the rolling thunder of Russian artillery barrages could be heard in the south, announcing that Stettin was about to fall, the scientists of Peenemünde made their move. In large convoys of trucks, small cars and anything else that could run, they headed west toward Nordhausen and the underground horror in which their A-4s were [93] stubbornly being fabricated, in the last wild hope that some miracle would enable them to destroy London, or at least Antwerp.
On the day of departure, with doom darkening the sky and the mind, Dieter Kolff faced a series of difficult decisions. He realized that once aboard one of the trucks leaving Peenemünde’s island, he would have no chance of disembarking on the mainland side to pick up Liesl. It might be practical to leave the area with the others, then double back to fetch her, but this seemed illogical. Or he could simply ride with his colleagues and forget her, but that he could not do; he loved Liesl and appreciated her heroism in sharing with him the dangers of hiding the papers. Overriding these personal considerations was the fact that whereas the trucks carried tons of documents, to keep them away from the Russians, he better than anyone else, better even than Von Braun, knew that what they carried were the simple equations, the easy solutions that any Russian or American scientist could reconstruct in a few weeks, given a real A-4 to analyze. The knapsack that Liesl had buried on her farm contained the secrets of the A-10, the rocket that could soar four thousand miles across oceans to attack other continents. These papers were irreplaceable, and to leave the area without them would be insane, so when the big trucks rolled away they left Kolff standing alone.
After Von Braun’s team disappeared in the west, he stuffed a few valued belongings in his knapsack-a slide rule, a drawing compass, an S curve-and went to his bicycle, but before he could leave the island a member of the skeleton SS Troops commandeered him for a painful duty: “Himmler says we’re to blow up any remaining A-4s.” So with great concentrations of Trialen, Dieter had to destroy the majestic engines he had helped create. Those lying partially completed on the ground were easily pulverized, but when the SS men came to the last rocket, standing upright on its pad, they did not know how to handle it, so the job was given to Dieter.
There it stood, the last A-4 at Peenemünde. It rose sleek and silvery forty-six feet in the air, like some monstrous artillery shell waiting to be loaded. Beautifully proportioned, aerodynamically perfect, it looked as if it longed to be on its way to some distant target, its fins ready to [94] keep it stable as it slashed through the atmosphere. It was magnificent, and it was doomed.
“We’ll fire it,” Dieter said. “Out over the Baltic. The Russians must never get a rocket like this.”
He was the only one who knew how to prepare it for firing, and when the controls were set, he advised the SS men to take cover behind the log-and-stone revetments, for, as he warned them, “The noise and flame will be terrific.”
He was the last man at the launching pad, a mere five feet four inches looking up at the rocket nine times taller than he. As he stood there he could see marks from the hundred improvements he had made, the thousand that Baron von Braun had suggested. This was one of the noblest instruments yet made by man, a messenger to a new age, and it would soon fly aimlessly.
Throwing the switches, running from the launching area, he leaped behind a bulwark as the mighty engine exploded. Upward through the autumn sky rose the last rocket, out toward the Baltic it roared, and far from Germany it plunged harmlessly into the dark waters.
 
Dieter feared that the northern ferry might be guarded by new SS men who would not let him pass to the mainland, so when the rocket disappeared he pedaled south to the bridge where the guards would recognize him. When they asked where he was going he said, as always, “To see my girl,” and as soon as he reached the Koenig farm he announced, “Time to dig up the papers.”
“Are we leaving?” Liesl asked.
“Haven’t you heard the Russian guns?”
“I’ve been terrified.”
She did not seem like a woman who could be easily terrified, yet it was clear that she had for some weeks been obsessed by the approaching enemy and was now relieved that steps were to be taken. It was she who produced the shovel and started digging; it was she who knelt down to retrieve the knapsack.
Her father and mother, tied to the land their ancestors had farmed in Pomerania for generations, preferred to trust their fortunes with the Russians; they had despised what they had seen of the Nazis and judged that things could not be much worse under Communism. The [95] farewells were not tearful; all over Germany families were being torn apart, and most took solace from the fact that their members were at least alive. Herr Koenig did not kiss his daughter but did shake her hand, as if she were a stranger from the village. Frau Koenig, standing in the doorway that led into the barn beneath the bedrooms, wept. She, too, shook hands first with Liesl, then with Dieter. At the last moment Liesl ran to the cow she had raised and kissed it on the side of its placid face, embracing it with her arms.
So they started on their hegira, he walking, she on the bicycle with the precious knapsack strapped into a large bundle behind. They headed south for Berlin, but whenever they came to a crossroads, armed guards kept shoving them north and away from the capital, which was already overcrowded.
“We are ordered to Nordhausen,” Dieter explained again and again. “They are waiting for us in Berlin.”
“Blocked,” the guards said. “You must keep to the north.”
If they did this, Dieter realized, they must sooner or later come into conflict with the SS units guarding the Baltic coast, so with all the energy he had he pressed for a southerly direction, and it was this stubbornness that caused the perilous shooting.
They were on the outskirts of Neustrelitz, a small city halfway between Peenemünde and Berlin, when an SS guard, determined to protect his post, even against Russians, directed them to stop pressing south and head westward. Dieter pointed out, quite correctly, that to do so would take them in the Lake Müritz region, which would be difficult to negotiate.
“West!” the guard ordered, and later when he spotted the Kolffs trying to sneak down a lateral road, he took aim at Dieter and hit him in the left shoulder. When the guard saw his target go down in a heap, he was satisfied that he had killed him, so he took careful aim at Liesl, but as he did so, she saw him, and in a flash fell to the ground, encouraging him to assume that he had killed them both. For a moment he contemplated running over to pick up their bicycle, but he knew he himself might be shot if he abandoned his post, so he thought no more about the matter.
On the ground, Liesl saw that her husband was [96] bleeding copiously, so keeping low, she tended his wound, satisfying herself that he was not about to die. When she had the blood stanched, she turned her attention to the bicycle, pulling and hauling until she could work it into a position outside the line of sight of the trigger-hungry SS man. When she succeeded in getting both her husband and the loaded bicycle in safe terrain, she slapped Dieter’s face several times, challenging him to get on his feet and out of Neustrelitz.
He could do neither. His wound was more serious than she had detected, and after a few steps he fainted dead away. Now she had to make grave decisions.
Lugging first him, and then the bicycle, she worked her way almost to the outskirts of the town, but by then she was exhausted. Sitting under a tree, she breathed heavily and listened to her husband’s irregular panting. When a farmer came by she commandeered him: “Good fellow! My husband has been hurt. Can you find a doctor?”
The man had his own preoccupations: “The Russians are coming. Who cares about doctors?”
“My husband is dying,” she pleaded.
“I’ll watch him. You fetch the doctor.”
“You’ll steal my bicycle.”
“The Russians will steal it if I don’t.”
“Will you fetch the doctor?”
“What is he, a spy or something?”
“He is my husband.” The forceful way in which she spoke convinced the farmer. Placing his own bundles beside the bicycle, he said, “See, I trust you, even if you don’t trust me.”
When the doctor arrived, a pale thin man, he asked, “Are the police after him?”
“An SS man shot him for no reason.”
“God damn them,” the frail doctor said. He inspected Dieter’s wound, then looked up at the farmer. “This man could die if he’s not attended.”
“He can come to my place,” the farmer said, so he and Liesl watched as the doctor skillfully extracted the bullet and medicated the resulting gash. Handing Liesl a vial of medicine, he said, “Three days’ rest, he’ll live.” Before leaving, the doctor looked in all directions, then returned home by a different route.
[97] For three days the Kolffs hid with their bicycle at the farm west of Neustrelitz, talking incessantly with the owner, a sardonic man who had seen many fortunes rise and fall in his lifetime: “Germans down now, never lower. The war’s lost. Somebody will shoot Hitler soon. Then we’ll get the Russians and the damned Allies.”
“Why do you hate the Allies?” Dieter asked, not confiding that he was in search of them as saviors.
“The bombings. Have you seen Berlin? Hamburg? I hear rumors that Dresden has been wiped out. One hundred and fifty thousand dead in one night. The Allies, too, are monsters.”
Then he became reflective. “I know what you’re doing. Running away from the Russians in hopes that the Allies will capture you. And I wonder what you guard so carefully in that bundle on your bicycle. I’ll tell you what it is, documents you hope to sell to the Allies. I’ll bet you’re from Peenemünde, aren’t you?”
When Dieter refused to answer, he asked, “What awful things were you up to? I never saw such secrecy. But don’t worry about running away to join the Allies, because I’m going to do the same thing. They’re bastards, all of them, but at least they aren’t Russian.”
His wife would not leave the farm, but he had no hesitancy in leaving her, and on the last night he explained why: “I know Germany, the good Germany. Can you believe, sitting here tonight on the edge of ruin, that within ten years we’ll be one of the most powerful nations on earth? And why? Because of people like you two. The husband very intelligent. The wife very courageous. I liked the way you looked after your man, little girl. You could run this country. A damned sight better than Hitler ran it.
They were off, a wounded man, an elderly farmer, a would-be housewife and two bicycles. The farmer insisted that the Kolffs ride the bicycles, at least until Dieter recovered from his wound, and in this way they tried to move south to Berlin, but always they were stopped. At the interrogations the farmer said, “This is my son, wounded on the Russian front, and my daughter. We’re joining my brother in Frankfort.”
“You can’t move down this road,” the guards said, so, [98] invariably, the trio were shunted westward until they came to the outskirts of Wittenberge, a small town on the right bank of the Elbe River.
“This is a famous place,” Dieter told his wife. “Martin Luther started here ... at the doors of the cathedral.”
The farmer, a good Lutheran, burst into laughter. “All you bright boys say that. And you’re all wrong. This is Wittenberge with an e. Wittenberg without the e is miles and miles upriver. Martin Luther never saw this Godforsaken place.”
When they were inside the town, walking about to see how best to spend the few marks they allowed themselves each week, Dieter suddenly stopped in horror and leaped behind a pillar, for there, coming straight at him, was General Funkhauser, attended by three SS men. When the pompous, pudgy commander lost Peenemünde, having allowed its principal scientists to escape, he was demoted to officer-in-charge of the Wittenberge District, which the Russians would soon be attacking. It was his task to conscript every able male and arm him for the defense of the town, because if Wittenberge fell, Berlin would be exposed on the north. Dieter, guessing that something like this was afoot, sank deeper into the shadows, allowing the powerful and vengeful man to pass.
When he returned to Liesl and the farmer, he was shaking, and they thought he had been attacked by a fever, but after he took a drink of wine and sat for a moment he informed them of their peril: “General Funkhauser is in charge of this town, I’m sure of it. I saw him striding along with three of his SS men, and if he even hears of us, we’re dead.”
With the greatest circumspection, the farmer went into the heart of town to make inquiries, and he returned with doleful news: “Every male is now a member of the defense army, under command of General Funkhauser. We must all report at once or be shot.” In the silence he studied Dieter, then asked bluntly, “Are the papers valuable?”
“They can save our lives,” Dieter said.
“Then we must sneak out of here.”
With great ingenuity the farmer organized a plan whereby the three of them, with their two bicycles, could edge their way to the south of Wittenberge, but as they [99] moved through the dark night an SS guard detected them and fired. The farmer was killed. The Kolffs were arrested.
In the morning they were hauled before General Funkhauser, and Dieter was astonished by the changes he saw in the man: because of anxiety and meager food he had lost more than twenty pounds and now had a neck like ordinary humans; also, his eyes seemed more compassionate, and Dieter remembered how Funkhauser had been repelled by conditions at Nordhausen. He’s becoming a human being again, he thought. He knows the war’s lost, and will soon be quitting Himmler and his gang. Alone with Liesl he whispered, “Do everything possible to keep him confused. He may save our lives.”
The interrogation started badly: “Well, our hero from Peenemünde. The little man who has a silver medal from Hitler himself. What evil tricks are you up to this time?”
Dieter stood silent, remembering that since this unpredictable man had once tried to have him executed, there was a likelihood that the sentence would now be carried out. Funkhauser, obviously uncertain of himself, was encouraged by Dieter’s cowering. Tapping the knapsack which lay on his desk, he asked sardonically, “And what is our little man stealing from the Third Reich? Secret papers? Could they be the ones I was looking for after the death of General Breutzl?”
Keeping his eyes fixed on Dieter, he shoved the knapsack at him. “You open it. Show me what secrets you were going to sell to the enemy.”
With fumbling hands, Dieter dug into the knapsack, producing a few papers. “What are they?” Funkhauser asked in his silky voice. When Kolff made no reply, the general screamed, “Are they the secret papers of General Breutzl? Of course they are. And what do they deal with? Germany’s secret weapons.” Whenever he said the word secret he lingered over it, as if, like Hitler and Goebbels and the German public, he believed that some mysterious force would still save the nation.
Dieter, realizing that Funkhauser had incriminating proof of everything he charged, could only remain silent, awaiting judgment. It was harsh: “He and his wife. Spies and traitors. Shoot them.” He stomped from the room, leaving Dieter alone with two husky SS guards, who led him [100] out into the hallway, where they grabbed Liesl, throwing her behind her husband as the death march to the courtyard began.
It was a warm day at the beginning of March and the sky was that wonderful Prussian blue which seemed half-dawn, half-midnight. Staring at it and remembering the days when he first bicycled to the Koenig farm to court Liesl, he wanted to take her hand, to console her, but the guards, now augmented by three riflemen, kept them separated. So he had to be content to look back at her, and he was relieved to see that she was marching to her death without panic. She even smiled at him as if to say that since they had been goaded into making their choices, there should be no lamentation.
When they were stood against the wall, Dieter asked in a quivering voice, “May I kiss my wife goodbye?”
“Go ahead.”
“Liesl, it was short ... but very good.”
“I love you, Dieter.”
They kissed, and then of their own accord, as if their punishment was the inevitable consequence of their own actions, they resumed their places against the wall, and the three soldiers planted their feet wide apart and hefted their rifles. For an awful moment Kolff and his wife looked into the shining barrels, and Dieter, the engineer-mechanic, wondered: How can three shoot two? Something might go badly wrong. Then he saw, kneeling on the gravel, a fourth man with a machine gun, and in a curious way he was satisfied. The SS were doing it right.
But in the split second before the command “Fire!” General Funkhauser ran into the courtyard, sweating, and shouted, “Take them back to their cells.”
“We have no cells,” an SS man shouted back.
“Keep them in a closet. And guard them.”
The closet in the town hall of Wittenberge was seven feet wide and three feet deep, with no light and very little air. They had to find a place for themselves among brooms and mops, but there were several workmen’s smocks on which they could sleep. They were kept in this dismal place for what seemed like a week, although it could have been more. They were fed miserably, never had enough water to drink, and were allowed out only to go to the bathroom, one at a time, under heavy guard.
[101] “He’s confused about the papers,” Dieter guessed.
“A guard told me as we went down the hall, “Germany’s defeated. Everyone is closing in upon us.” He was almost crying, as if it were unfair.”
“We must do nothing to anger them, Liesl. They’re in a trap, too, and they know it.”
On what seemed to them the eighth day, General Funkhauser brought them both to his office, an ornate affair, rather handsome in its display of the symbols prized by a provincial town. There was the engraving of Bismarck, crisp and clear in its fine black lines, the colored portrait of some local general, and the huge photograph of Hitler, menacing and fatherly at the same time. And there, on his desk, was the knapsack.
“Are these papers what I think they are?” Funkhauser asked, and instantly shrewd Liesl deduced two facts: the General was in desperate trouble, like all of Germany, and he had grown to believe that somehow these papers could save him.
Calmly she said, “They could save your life when the Allies come. But they have meaning only if Dieter is alive to explain them.” She would hook their lives to his, for she knew that otherwise he would shoot them in the back when the Allies approached.
“They look like plans for a rocket,” Funkhauser said, riffling the papers.
“Sssssh!” she warned. “They cover a weapon so secret that only Hitler and General Breutzl knew the full details. And Dieter.”
When Funkhauser looked at the inoffensive little man he could not believe that Kolff could have been privy to some great secret, but then he remembered that when he and Dieter had visited Hitler at Wolf’s Lair … “He did take you aside at the end, didn’t he?”
“This is something entirely different,” Dieter said.
“You think the Allies would want to bargain for these papers?”
“That’s why Von Braun sent them out secretly,” Liesl said. “With the one man who could explain them.”
“Wait!” Funkhauser snapped, his beady eyes narrowing. “Von Braun and all the other leading scientists are at the underground works at Nordhausen. Why aren’t you there, with them, if you’re so important?”
[102] “I’m not important,” Dieter said, “but the papers are, and Von Braun knew that I was the only one who could deal with them.”
In some irritation the general instructed his guards, “Lock them up,” but when they were alone m the darkness Liesl assured her husband: “He’s worried. The Russians have him worried. And we have him worried. He won’t shoot us now.”
Early next morning General Funkhauser summoned them to his office and dismissed the guards. Without preliminaries he moved from behind his desk, stood with the Kolffs as if they were his equals, and pointed to the knapsack. “Could we deliver these papers to the Americans?”
“Those were my orders,” Dieter said.
“From whom?”
“From Baron Wernher von Braun,” and as he uttered this influential name, he automatically reached for the knapsack, bringing it to his chest as if it were something he must cherish. Funkhauser jerked it away and clutched it himself.
“We’ll take it through the lines to the Allies,” he said. Then, looking with some contempt at the Kolffs, he added, “I can speak a little English, you know.”
 
They were a curious trio as they wound their way toward the triangle formed by Hamburg, Bremen and Hanover. General Funkhauser was always in the lead with a small bicycle which he had commandeered and to which the precious knapsack was tied. He had been afraid to use an SS automobile lest it attract too much attention and perhaps cause his arrest, and it never occurred to him to let one of the Kolffs use his bicycle, for he was a general, made so by Hitler himself, whom he was now abandoning.
Usually Liesl rode the Kolff bicycle, but she kept close watch over Dieter, and whenever she detected that the wound in his shoulder was causing serious discomfort, she dismounted and made him ride. They ate poorly, slept wherever they halted, and smelled horrible, but they noticed with some amusement that General Funkhauser was quite vain of his appearance, so that no matter how dusty his uniform became, he took pains to keep it as neat as his fatness would permit.
He was proving to be a remarkable man, able to adjust [103] to anything. Such food as they obtained was due to his ability to forage on land that seemed completely barren. He would eat anything-a stray duck, fish caught by some farm boy from the family pond, a sheep shared with sixteen, crusts of stale bread from a village bakery-and was willing to concoct whatever story was necessary to cover the situation. Dieter was his younger brother and they were heading to the family shop in Bremen. Liesl was his daughter, searching for the husband who may have survived the bombing of Hamburg. But wherever they went, he listened to the rumors of war, and when he learned that British troops were advancing in the north, he led his refugees south: “No German is ever smart enough to deal with an Englishman.” When villagers told him that a French unit was about to take Bremen, he scurried away: “The French eat well and live miserably.”
But no matter where he led his dusty entourage, they saw the ruin that had overtaken Germany. It was heartbreaking, whole towns wiped out in one night’s bombing, a village on which three accidental bombs had fallen, farms burned and deserted. Once they stopped at a scene of desolation, and Funkhauser screamed at the heavens, “Goering, you fat beast, you promised me we would never be bombed.”
Tears came to his eyes as he thought of Hamburg. He had not actually seen his devastated city but had heard from those who had watched the Funkhauser homes bombed to fragments and then burned. Sniffling, he looked at the Kolffs beseechingly and asked, “What country deserves punishment like this? What did we ever do wrong?” And each day, more firmly, he turned against both Hitler and Himmler, even cursing them when he saw some especially hideous wreckage.
He had always been a man to change his loyalties quickly. As a lad he had listened approvingly when his liberal father praised the German Republic, but in 1931 he had switched easily to the youthful Nazi party, seeing in it the salvation of his Fatherland. He had served for a while in the army of Ritter von Leeb, whom he then considered to be the finest German he had known, but when differences arose between Hitler and his generals, he sided completely with the Fuehrer and assured his associates that the generals, especially Von Leeb, who had failed to [104] capture Leningrad, were asses lacking in military genius. When the bad days of the war approached, he saw clearly that Heinrich Himmler was the only man who had a clear vision of both the past and the future, and he threw his energies totally into the service of that master conniver. Most eagerly did he work to undercut the army and the regular police, and now, at last, when isolated units of the SS were supposed to hold forlorn outposts like the town of Wittenberge, he awakened to the fact that Himmler was really a psychopathic megalomaniac, a phrase he had heard one of his young assistants use to describe Winston Churchill, and he was abandoning him, as proper Germans should.
On two different occasions he had ordered Lieutenant Kolff to be shot, and for good reason, yet here he was with Kolff and his peasant wife, ducking and dodging through the rural bypaths of a defeated Germany. It was insane, but he felt sure that something would work out, as it seemed always to do.
He was not careless where the Kolffs were concerned. Always at night or at the beginning of any crisis he kept his bicycle close to his side, the knapsack where he could touch it. He also kept his revolver on the ready, and he had begun to contemplate various clever ways by which, in the moments of surrender to the Americans, he could dispose of these two. The more he saw of Liesl the more he distrusted her, a silent, inscrutable type who could be plotting anything. And as for Dieter, it was clear that he was a South German oaf with a sparse mathematical ability and not much more. It was inconceivable that the Americans would want that one.
But until he reached the Americans, he needed the Kolffs, and so he was generous with them. If he refused to share his bicycle, he did divide all food equally with them. He was jovial when the weather turned bad and they had to plod through mud, and incredibly ingenious in devising stories which brought them always closer to the American lines.
On one such foray he heard that an American army had captured Nordhausen, and for some time he sat disconsolately on the ground beneath an evergreen, apart from the Kolffs. Then he turned to face Liesl: “Did Dieter ever tell you about Nordhausen?”
[105] “He said it was horrible.”
“It was. A taste of hell. When did I first realize that Germany was doomed? When I stood in those caves at Nordhausen.”
“Why did you permit them?”
“It was Himmler’s idea. The industrial city of the future. Poles and Russians to work underground.”
“I grew up on a farm,” Dieter broke in. “So did Liesl. We need the sky.”
“Where was your farm?”
“A village not far from Oberammergau, south of Munich.”
“Really!” Funkhauser leaped to his feet, quivering with excitement. “I heard in the village that Von Braun and his top scientists have been moved to Oberammergau! Maybe we should work our way south to join them. They’ll be protected by the Americans.”
Without further reflection he headed his party south toward the mountains, but on the second day he called a halt, deeply confused. “If the scientists moved south in a group, Himmler must have ordered it. When he has them all safe in one spot, he’ll machine-gun them, all of them, to prevent them from taking their secrets to the Allies.” He became so convinced of this that he changed course completely and headed due west, grumbling, “Lakes or mountains, Himmler or Hitler, to hell with them all. We’ve got to reach the Americans. Now!”
He was relentless in pursuit of this policy, forging ahead toward the sound of distant battle, and one night as the “ three lay down to sleep, completely exhausted, Liesl whispered to Dieter, “The general is making up his mind about many things,” and she left Dieter’s side and crept away.
In the morning Funkhauser bellowed, “Where’s my revolver? Where are my papers?” and Liesl said, “I took them,” and he shouted,. “Why do you betray me?” and she said coldly, “Because you planned to shoot us ... today or tomorrow.”
The bluster faded; with a contrition that might or might not have been authentic, Funkhauser said, “At Wittenberge, when we set out, yes, I did think of bringing you close to the Americans and shooting you. Anyone would have. But as we’ve traveled these dangerous miles ...” He paused and held out his hands. “I’ve said so many times [106] that you were my family that I’ve come to believe it.” Keeping his hands out, he begged, “Do not shoot me, I beseech you.”
“We never planned to shoot you, General,” Liesl said. “Now lead us to the Americans, for you are an excellent guide.”
He led them into a much different kind of confrontation, for as he crept like a cunning badger through a woods, with the Kolffs trailing, he stumbled right into a contingent of the German army, and in the confused gunfire that ensued, Liesl took a bullet through her left leg.
“Down!” Funkhauser bellowed, and the three travelers fell upon pine needles.
When they looked up, Liesl clutching her leg, they saw an amazing sight. Their assailants were a disorderly gang of boys, fourteen and fifteen years old, but in full military uniform. One of them was sobbing, “I shot a lady. Oh my God, I shot a lady.”
General Funkhauser, realizing that he had come upon one of the desperation units commissioned by the Nazi high command, began to storm at the children, “What are you doing in these woods? Why are you shooting women who are trying to save the Fatherland?”
When he announced that he was a general in the SS and in command of this section of Germany, some of the boys saluted, and he tried to console the little boy who was weeping: “You couldn’t have known it was a woman. Now you help bind her wound.” And he lectured the older boys on how they must maintain better control when on maneuvers.
“What are your orders?” he asked.
“We are to stop the Americans.”
“Where are they?” he asked eagerly.
“In the next town. We expect them soon, and we’re to hold these woods against them.” He looked at their feeble rifles, their thin arms barely able to manage the guns effectively, and saluted: “Protect the Fatherland.” And he called to the Kolffs, “Hurry, hurry! This is the day that determines everything!”
As they emerged from the woods to seek the town of which the boys had spoken, it became obvious that Liesl could neither walk nor pedal the Kolff bicycle, so in a burst of generosity Funkhauser performed an act which [107] would in years far distant be remembered with charity: “Liesl, my daughter, you must sit yourself on my bicycle so that I can push you into town.” And with a fatherly eye he kept watch on Dieter, who teetered along on the Kolff cycle, and in this way they struggled toward the fateful meeting with the Americans. “Hurry, hurry!” he encouraged his charges. “Our trusted allies will soon roar down this road.”
Halfway between the exit from the woods and the entrance to the town the three fugitives met their first Americans, a patrol roaring out to locate the enemy. “Honored sirs!” Funkhauser shouted to the motorcycle vanguard. “I am General Helmut ...”
“Get your ass off this road!” a rude voice shouted.
“Honored sirs! I am General ...”
A big man in a dirty uniform wheeled his motorcycle, placed a foot in Funkhauser’s belly and shoved him off the road; the American did not have to discipline the Kolffs, for they had jumped into a ditch.
When the patrol passed, Funkhauser resumed his approach to the town, and he was pleased to see that a regular marching unit was now coming toward him. Hands up, he ran toward the American captain, shouting in clear English, “Sir, sir! I have papers which your generals will want.”
“Out of the way, you fucking Krauthead,” a soldier grunted, shoving him back into the ditch as heavy guns rolled by.
“Please, listen!” he cried from beside the road. “I have important papers which your generals ...”
The semitanks rolled past, and when they reached the woods Liesl could hear agitated gunfire, and she was about to weep for the little boys when she saw that General Funkhauser was standing transfixed, staring at the woods as he contemplated the awful tragedy his one-time leaders had brought to Germany. “Children with little guns! Defending against motorized cannon. And Hitler’s men promised us that no enemy foot would ever step on German soil. Damn them all.” He remained staring at the woods as the heavier American guns exploded into action; then, in total despair and silence, he helped Dieter mount his bicycle, then went back to the ditch to rescue the bleeding Liesl, and pushed her humbly into town.
[108] As they turned a corner leading to the main square, they found themselves face to face with another American, this one in dusty civilian clothes. At first he was as startled as they and began to call for troops to protect him, but then he peered inquisitively at Dieter’s face and took a deep breath.
“Dieter Kolff, I believe,” he said in German.
“From Peenemünde.”
“Did you bring the papers on the heavy water?”
“I brought the secret papers,” Funkhauser interposed, tapping Liesl’s knapsack and introducing himself. “General Helmut Funkhauser, Commandant General of Peenemünde, at your service, sir.”
The American ignored him and asked Kolff again, “Did you bring the papers on the heavy-water installations at Peenemünde?”
“Heavy water? What’s that?”
“You had no ...” Mott hesitated to say the crucial word, but he could not restrain himself. “You had no atomic works there?”
“What would they be?”
“No papers?”
“Sir, these are the secret papers of General Eugen Breutzl.”
“Where is he?”
“Dead. In the great bombing.”
Mott shook his head. “He was a good man. Before the interrogation-”
“I knew Breutzl well,” Funkhauser interrupted, pressing himself forward.
“You will all be properly interrogated,” Mott assured the three. “But Breutzl, what was he working on here?” and by his gestures and his interest he indicated that now the papers in the knapsack were his.
“On a rocket that will fly from Peenemünde to New York.”
The search was ended. For two years Mott had sought this little man, had studied diligently the one photograph available. Now he was found. Germany had produced no atomic bomb. But it had been on the verge of discoveries equally important, a rocket that could fly between continents, and the secrets were to rest with America, not Russia.
 [108] Intuitively Mott did something he would later recall with astonishment, something that bespoke his stern New England upbringing. Seeing in the much-damaged street the gaping doorway of the village church, its seventeenth-century façade blown away by American bombs, he said, I think we should pray ... give thanks ... for our deliverance.”
He led the three Germans into what was technically their church, and he sat on one of the old benches, depleted spiritually by his long search, and as he closed his eyes he heard General Funkhauser intoning, first in English, then in German, “We thank you, God, for directing us to make all the right choices.”


II
FOUR WOMEN
FROM the moment in that spring of 1946 when the Republican leaders of Fremont telephoned their war hero Norman Grant, asking if they could drive up to consult with him, his wife, Elinor, became apprehensive, and she showed it.
As a loyal Republican she realized that Fremont was crucial to the Republican cause; it would be a linchpin in the off-year drive to purge Congress of the Democrats who supported the incompetent Harry Truman. Through some aberration, fanned no doubt by the recent war hysteria, Fremont had in the last election sent one Democrat to the House of Representatives, and it was imperative that he be thwarted in his bid for reelection.
Elinor was eager to see this correction made, and had her husband lived in that congressman’s district, she would have encouraged him to contest the seat. Unfortunately, the Democrat represented the big industrial city of Webster on the Missouri River, which made Grant ineligible.
What the politicians wanted, as they explained when they convened in the local headquarters, was some young man of good reputation who could head that statewide ticket in the race for the United States Senate. And therein lay the difficulty, as Elinor saw immediately: “Senator Gantling considers that seat his ... for as long as he lives. Some of the visitors showed their impatience at having to [111] discuss such matters with a woman, but Grant had insisted upon his wife’s presence: “She’s always given me sound advice.”
“Gantling’s an old man. He weakens the ticket.”
“He’s only sixty-two,” Elinor protested.
“Sixty-four,” one of the downstaters said, “and he looks eighty.”
“He is sixty-two,” Elinor said primly. “I looked it up.”
“You guessed what we wanted to talk about?” the downstater asked.
“Yes, and I must point out that my father has always been a close personal friend of Senator Gantling. Ran his campaign for him when he first went to Congress.”
“We all supported him then, but he’s had his day, Mrs. Grant.”
“And I would remind you that my husband’s father also worked for Gantling. This family simply cannot serve as the spearhead to defeat that fine man.”
“Mrs. Grant, I think we should take a very careful look at the state of Fremont,” and the downstater spread the map on the table. “You summarize our thinking, Lewis.”
A burly gentleman who regularly delivered a heavy Republican majority from the sparsely settled northwest section of the state jabbed at corners of the map as he spoke with considerable force. “Four areas matter, and mine’s not one of them, so I’m free to speak realistically.”
Fremont was the most typical of the great Western states. Named for the flamboyant explorer John Charles Fremont, it had honored in its four major cities those outstanding politicians of the early nineteenth century whose interest in the West had helped that vast area become an integral part of the nation. In the east the commercial city of Webster; in the west the regional capital of Calhoun; in the north, with the state university, Grant’s home city of Clay; and in the center the capital city, named after the man who may have been the best of the lot, Thomas Hart Benton.
“Senator Gantling is an important man in his home district of Calhoun,” the big man was saying. “But the whole damned town has only nineteen thousand people. Over here in Webster, where the votes really concentrate, Gantling is known as a fool.”
“That’s too strong,” Grant protested.
[112] “Tell him, Henry.”
And Henry did. “Senator Gantling has run his course, Norman. And you. too, Mrs. Grant. You must wake up to reality. He’s insulted our people, ignored them, passed them by when goodies were distributed. It’s the old fight of the eastern end of a state versus the western end. It happens everywhere. Philadelphia versus Pittsburgh. St. Louis versus Kansas City. And right on your doorstep it’s Webster versus Calhoun, and I warn you right now. If we Republicans run Gantling again at the head of our ticket, Webster and the whole eastern half of the state is going to vote Democratic. I warn you.”
As the discussion continued, even Elinor Grant had to concede that her antique favorite, Ulysses Gantling, had probably worn out his welcome in the state of Fremont. The little town of Calhoun still favored him as a local boy, but the big city of Webster was fed up with his posturing ways.
Then the big man from the northwestern district revealed the deeper purpose of this meeting: “Norman, you must keep your eye on the bigger target. 1948. Tom Dewey will pretty surely be our man then, experienced, one national campaign under his belt, a born leader. He’ll run against that goddamned haberdasher from Kansas City, and you know and I know that if the election were held today, Truman wouldn’t get ten electoral votes. Even Senator Fulbright of his own party advised him to resign, the country’s so against him.”
The manufacturer from Webster laughed. “Did you hear Truman’s reply to that one? Said he needed no advice from Senator Halfbright.”
“We all know he’s a disgrace, totally unfit to sit in the White House, and our job is to get him out. Returning this state to its proper stance in 1946 is the best thing we can do in preparation for 1948. A good strong senator. Knock off that damned Democrat in Webster ...”
“That’s why I’m here,” the manufacturer said. “Grant, I need your help. Enormously. With you heading the ticket, I can defeat that Democrat. With Gantling, I’ll not only lose the House seat but also the Senate.”
“Is he really so weak?” Grant asked, and as soon as he uttered these words Elinor realized that he was beginning to visualize himself as savior of the party, as a man [113] standing before the voters with fresh new ideas, and she was frightened.
Elinor Stidham had been born in 1917, when her father, a well-to-do farmer from north of Clay, was absent fighting in France. She therefore never knew him as the robust, simple man he had once been; she saw him only as a frail person, badly damaged by the war and unsure of himself. She was two when he was finally released from the hospital, and she could not recall his ever playing with her, or bouncing her on his knee; he certainly never spoke of the war or of the adventures she imagined him as having.
She developed into a quiet, stately girl who always seemed much older than those in her class. She did extremely well in school, and at the university, too, and could have become quite popular had she sought that kind of approval. Her marks were mostly A’s and she joined one of the good sororities, but she was elected to no office, not even in Kappa Alpha Theta, and most students were ignorant of her presence on campus.
Boys always noticed her, but after chilly rebuffs they allowed her to move alone, which she did, from sorority house to library to classrooms to the gymnasium. She was tall, slim, attractive, with very dark hair which she kept tight about her head, and it pleased her that several of the more serious male students, especially the bookish types, signified a serious interest in her, even though the rowdy element no longer did.
The campus was astonished, therefore, when its premier football player, Norman Grant, suddenly started dating her. Half a dozen campus beauties had invited him to their dances, and several dozen others would have liked to do so, but it was obvious that he’d settled on Elinor Stidham.
A wealthy alumnus, proud of Norman’s football skills, had casually given him a Chevrolet on the sensible grounds that “any football player as good as Norman Grant is entitled to a convertible.” In it Norman drove Elinor up to the Stidham farm, where he spent long hours talking with Frank Stidham, who still refused to mention his experiences in the war but who was eager to talk about the nature of a good society.
Stidham was a Republican, of course, as all responsible citizens of Fremont tended to be, but he had an extremely [114] wide social comprehension which encompassed Burke, Jefferson, Lincoln, Woodrow Wilson and especially the Frenchman Alexis de Tocqueville, whose ability to identify the fundamentals of the American system astounded him: “If a young man wanted to grasp the true nature of this country, the only book he would have to read is De Tocqueville.”
“Professor Bates says the same thing about Lord Bryce.”
“Well, now ...” Stidham twisted in his chair as if his back hurt, then smiled. “Bates has something there. Yes, he has. But when I was in England, I felt that men like Bryce, and I met a lot of them, ponderously elaborated the obvious, which is what Bryce does, I’m afraid. But in France the brilliant mind cuts right into the heart of a problem, laying waste the verbiage, and that’s what De Tocqueville does. Have you read him, Norman?”
“No, I’ve been too busy trying to keep up with my classes. Pre-law is no snap.”
“Why do you play so many games, Norman? Isn’t football enough? Do you really need basketball, too? And then baseball?”
“I’m just geared that way, sir.”
When two of the football players asked Grant why he bothered with that Stidham broad, seeing that she never put out, he smiled and said, “Elinor and I’ve known each other since high school. We dated a couple of times then.”
“Did she put out then?”
“It’s none of your business-but no. But one thing kept sticking in my mind.”
“What?”
“When I drove up to the farm in a borrowed car for our first date, her father spoke to me as if I were his equal. Maybe you’ve seen him. Smallish fellow, seems to be in pain a good deal. And he told me that his daughter was very precious to him-”
“All fathers say that. I went with a dame-”
“And he added that it wouldn’t be necessary to impress his daughter by driving seventy miles an hour around the curves of a dark road.”
“What the hell has that got to do with anything?”
“The more I thought about it, in later years, that is, the more I realized that he was letting me know that the [115] Stidhams take life seriously. And so do I.”
He had left the university with eight varsity letters and a high B-plus, which made it easy for him to enter law school in Chicago. When he left Clay, Elinor had two more years to go for her degree, but she never doubted that he would be back, to see her father if not her. Once she said sardonically, “I sometimes think that Norman comes here to eat your pies, Mother, and to have Father tutor him for his law exams.”
Mr. Stidham was not a lawyer, but he was an acute student of American history, especially its foreign policies relating to war, and Elinor could remember clearly the night in 1938 when her father told Norman, “I’m deeply worried about Mr. Roosevelt’s actions vis-à-vis Japan.”
“We could handle Japan, if anything happened,” Grant assured him.
“I don’t mean that. It seems to me that war in Europe is inevitable. Things are so unstable that even the slightest disruption ...”
“What has Europe to do with Japan?”
“Don’t you see? If war does break out there, attention will be diverted from Japan, and their war lords will feel free to undertake the most daring ventures. Sooner or later they will do something which will infuriate America, and then the fat’s in the fire.”
“Why are you blaming President Roosevelt?” At his law school Grant was discovering to his astonishment that most of his better professors defended Roosevelt, whereas no one in Fremont did.
“I simply think he ought to do nothing that drives a wedge between us and Japan.”
“Is he doing so?”
“I’m afraid everything he does is antagonistic.”
“Maybe we should be antagonistic. The way those yellow devils have been treating China.”
“The point is, Norman, that if Roosevelt continues, this nation must be prepared to fight Japan on a very broad front indeed.”
“It’s a small island. We can handle that island, I’m sure.”
“You should look at your map. It’s a group of islands, and they will not be the battlefield.” When Norman asked what would, Stidham took down an atlas which displayed [116] the Pacific in a large double-spread. “The battlefield will be the entire ocean. Java down here. The Philippines up here. Malay even. Hawaii no doubt.”
Such reasoning was preposterous, and Norman said so: “Japan is a tiny place, sir. They’re not capable of an effort like that. Our Navy would knock the hell out of them.”
In 1940, when he was back in Clay with a law degree and a foothold in a good local office, Norman proposed to Elinor Stidham, as she had always been sure he would. The wedding was held in the Baptist Church, and the honeymoon was by train to Niagara Falls. Because of Norman’s sports achievements, newspapers as far away as New York City chronicled the marriage, and while they were staying at the newlyweds’ hotel at the Falls, an admiring older couple showed them the wire-service announcement in the Buffalo paper, then ordered a bottle of wine to help them celebrate.
In 1942, when all of Mr. Stidham’s remarkable prophecies had come true, Norman Grant was sent to Dartmouth College for a six-week course that would make him an officer in the United States Navy, and the problem arose as to what his young bride ought to do for the duration. The two men, Stidham and Grant, discussed the matter thoroughly and decided that Elinor should stay at the Stidham home and engage in such patriotic work as might develop, but when they informed her of their decision she surprised them by saying that she had already written to the hospital in Hanover, New Hampshire, where Dartmouth was located, and had obtained a job as helper in some menial capacity.
The men were outraged, with Norman making the most sensible objection: “I’ll be busy twenty hours a day. There’s no way I could ...”
She would not listen. Better than any young woman in the state of Fremont she understood the nature of this war. For years she had listened as her father patiently identified the major strains that must produce the conflict, and if he had been unable to convince the members of the Clay City Rotary Club, or his new son-in-law, he had certainly convinced her.
She had followed Norman to Dartmouth and had served as nurse’s helper in the local hospital. Then she had moved to the Patuxent River in Maryland when it looked as if [117] Norman was going into naval aviation. When BuPers suddenly switched him to the badly understaffed destroyer unit on the West Coast, she found a job in Seattle helping to run a restaurant, and from there she had sent her husband off to what became, in 1944, the great Battle of Leyte Gulf.
Now, in 1946, she looked much as she had in high school and college: still slightly underweight, still smartly dressed, still distinguished by her fair skin and very dark hair. As each year passed she became more beautiful, and although during the war she had given ample proof of her courage, she seemed always to become a little more frail, a little more vulnerable.
She did not want her husband to challenge Senator Gantling. She did not want him to move to Washington if perchance he did win: “Norman has fought his war, gentlemen. It’s unfair to make him repeat.”
“Wouldn’t it be a good idea,” the man from the northwest asked, “if we called Paul Stidham in here? He knows Gantling. He knows Grant. He’d give us all sober advice.”
So Stidham was called on the telephone, and shortly he was among the men with whom he had conducted many campaigns. Tight-lipped, with his forefingers pressed against his lips in a kind of church steeple, he listened as the politicians spread their problems before him, and after his daughter had expressed forcefully her opposition to Norman’s candidacy, he said very quietly, “I agree completely that Ulysses Gantling has run his course. If you offer him to the voters again, we will lose his seat and the Democrats will retain their hold on that House seat. Gantling’s time is up, and he must face that harsh fact. He must step aside for a better, younger man, and I know no one more qualified to make the challenge and serve in the Senate than Norman Grant. I’ve followed his course of self-education for the past fourteen years, and he’s ready. You men will serve the state and the nation well if you nominate him and see that he wins the primary.”
“Will you serve as state chairman? Grant for Senate?”
“Certainly not. I shall support Senator Gantling, as always.”
“But it would look dreadful ... Norman’s own father-in-law ...”
“And his wife,” Elinor said crisply. 
[118] “Good God! the man from Webster growled. “Are we a bunch of insane children?”
The politicians jumped on the Stidhams, pointing out the scandal that would inflame the state if a young man challenging a well-known incumbent found his wife and his distinguished father-in-law supporting the opposition.
“You’re entirely correct,” Stidham said quietly, “it would be scandalous. But I’m beholden to Ulysses Gantling and could not possibly desert him, especially since I believe that Norman can win despite my stand.” He could not be moved. Honor-bound to continue defending a man he had helped into the Senate years ago, he refused to abandon him in the last stages of a career which had not been outstanding but which had been defensible. Ulysses Gantling had never been a first-class senator and would never be, whereas Norman Grant had at least an outside chance, so logic demanded that Paul Stidham shift his allegiance to his son-in-law. But honor required that he stand by his old friend, and this he would do.
“What about your daughter, then? Shouldn’t she campaign for her husband?”
“I campaign for nothing,” Elinor said.
“Will you at least keep your mouth shut?” the man from Webster asked.
When Elinor refused to reply, the man from Calhoun, on whom would fall the heavy burden of opposing Gantling, the honored citizen of his own town, asked, pleadingly, “Don’t you admit that your husband is much the better man?”
“He’s a superb man,” Elinor said, moving slightly toward where her husband sat.
“Wouldn’t he make a fine senator?”
“The best.”
“And don’t you want to see Tom Dewey elected in ‘48?”
“Anything to get rid of Truman.”
“Then will you please keep your mouth shut?”
Elinor looked at her father, who stared straight ahead. Finally she said, “My family has always supported Ulysses Gantling, who has proved himself to be honest and trustworthy ...”
“And damned dull,” someone interjected.
“So I must vote for him. But I will keep my mouth shut.” [119] With that she patted her husband slightly on the shoulder and left the room.
 
During the campaign Elinor took an intense dislike to Tim Finnerty, the brash young newspaperman from Boston whom Norman imported to help run his Benton office. After one glance at Finnerty, she warned her husband: “I don’t really care whether you win or lose, but if you care, you ought to get rid of that young monster. In this state a Roman Catholic Irishman from Boston will do you more harm than good.”
When Norman insisted upon keeping Finnerty, she never again went near the Benton office and showed her resentment whenever the young Irishman visited their home in Clay. She did hear, however, that Finnerty was an asset among the rougher element in the riverfront city of Webster, and she had to take notice when he unveiled the stratagem which more than any other accounted for her husband’s sudden spurt in the polls.
During the first four weeks of the primary Senator Gantling had played adroitly upon the emotions of his state, pointing out his years of faithful service and the damage being done to the Republican party. To the surprise of many, the old warrior was proving a much abler antagonist than predicted, and three weeks before the voting he looked like a sure bet for reelection.
It appeared to many voters that Norman Grant was running principally on the ground that he had been a football star at the university; there was a good deal of sports talk, and cheerleading, and nostalgia. And it was after one such rally that Finnerty read the riot warning: “We’re going to cut out all this shit.”
“Young man, watch your words,” one of the locals said.
“Do you want to win this election, or don’t you?”
“Young man, I’ve written to Boston about you. You’re a registered Democrat.”
“I’m employed as an honest workman to see that my old buddy gets elected to the second highest office in this land. I take no credit for what we’re going to do from here in. A friend of mine’s come up with a strategy that’s a beauty. So from tonight on we’ll knock off the old shit.”
He spent that night on the telephone, and two days [120] later, before an audience in the critical swing district in Webster, he revealed the new strategy. It consisted of having Norman Grant pose in front of a mock-up of a destroyer escort, while three good-looking young American men-himself, Pharmacist’s Mate Larry Penzoss of Alabama and Cook’s Helper Gawain Butler from Detroit-stood at attention in their Navy uniforms, bedecked with ribbons and medals.
He spoke first: “I am in the paid employ of Norman Grant. It’s my job to get him elected to the United States Senate. So anything I tell you is suspect. But Larry Penzoss here, from the great state of Alabama, he came at his own expense. He’s not getting a penny from Norman Grant, and he has something important to tell you.”
With a marvelous Deep South drawl Penzoss re-created the scene on the raft, and with a pathos that brought tears to many, told of Captain Grant’s heroism and compassion. He astonished Grant by recalling in wrenching detail the death of Executive Officer Savage and Captain Grant’s deportment during the burial at sea.
In the silence that followed his speech, Finnerty indicated that Gawain Butler, now a restaurant man in Detroit, should speak, and the tall black, moving on a prosthetic right foot, stepped forward to tell in impeccable English the story of how Norman Grant had pulled him from the shark-filled waters and had then volunteered to spend the night in the water, at infinite risk to his life, so that a nigger, as he phrased it, might be saved. Gawain ended: “It’s up to you to decide whether Captain Grant will make a good senator. I can assure you he made a fantastic captain.” He saluted and stumped back to his place in line.
Then Finnerty took over: “I warned you before that anything I might say would have to be suspect. So I’m not going to say anything. But with your permission I’m going to read you from the notes I took that day of battle. They were written in 1944, when I was a green kid of nineteen, noting as was my duty the behavior of the bravest man I have ever known, the bravest man the entire state of Fremont will ever know.”
From an inside pocket, fumbling as he did so, he produced a water-stained book, not the real one, of course, for that formed part of the Navy historical record, but a [121] good imitation, soaked in the washbasin of a Fremont hotel two nights ago and dried over a groaning radiator. Turning the pages carefully, he came to the morning of 25 October 1944 and in a low Irish voice he read:
 
“Yeoman Finnerty (That’s me). ‘Do you intend to take on the whole Japanese fleet?’
“Captain Grant (That’s him): ‘I do.’ ”
 
Cleverly the young Irishman broke the tension: “In this world a lot of men say “I do,” but no matter how badly the marriage works out, it never involves the consequences that hit us that morning.” When the listeners stopped laughing, he fumbled with the notebook again, confiding details of overpowering effectiveness:
 
“Immediately after the battle ended, I wrote in my log as required a report of what I had seen that morning. Later, when Captain Grant had a chance to see it, and read how I had praised him, with his customary modesty he tore the page out and threw it away. I should now like to read you my report as I reconstructed it later, when the United States Government wanted to give him the highest medals this nation can give: ‘Against odds that would have terrified the ordinary captain, he took his DE right at the heart of the Jap battleships and cruisers, and even when he had no more torpedoes or ammunition, he maintained position in order to confuse the enemy. In our life rafts his courage continued, for he voluntarily placed himself in waters which only a few minutes before had contained sharks in order to save others.’ ”
 
Here he pointed with his left hand at Gawain Butler; with his right hand he closed the notebook, returning it to his pocket.
A political reporter from the Chicago Tribune, eager to see Fremont get itself organized in preparation for the Dewey victory in 1948, wired an enthusiastic account to his paper:
 
[122] Four days ago this reporter was satisfied that the aging warhorse Ulysses Gantling was a shoo-in for a sixth term as senator from Fremont. Even the challenger’s father-in-law was supporting the tested old warrior.
 
But in Webster and again last night in Benton, Norman Grant disclosed a strategy that gained him frenzied, hand-clapping, soul-wrenching, throat-choking support, and since it seems likely that he can repeat this act throughout the state, I now predict that he will sweep Fremont in a landslide.
 
What is his trickery? Simple. He telephoned three young heroes who had served with him on the destroyer escort Lucas Dean in the Battle of Leyte Gulf, and these simple men, without coaching of any kind or prompting from Grant, narrated scenes of his heroism. Especially effective was a tall Negro from Detroit, a cook with one leg missing, who told the voters how Captain Grant had pulled him from the water after a shark had chopped off his foot. Many heroes have done things like that, but what Grant did next, in the cook’s own words, established a new criterion for heroism: “To make place for me on the raft, he quietly jumped down into the water himself, even though he knew sharks had just been there.”
 
One minute after Gawain Butler of Detroit finished telling his story, the people of Webster were willing to elect Norman Grant President of the United States. That they will elect him senator seems assured.
 
It was not until the fifth repeat of the heroism act that Elinor Grant saw it. The three sailors had motored from the northwest corner of the state to Clay, and at a huge rally in the university auditorium, with no mention of Grant’s football prowess, and certainly no pompon girls, the three men stepped forward to relate their experiences during the Battle for Leyte Gulf. When they were finished, and the roaring cheers had died away, Elinor told her husband, “Revolting. How in God’s name could you allow that, miserable Finnerty to arrange such a travesty?”
“I didn’t allow him,” Norman said. “I encouraged him.”
[123] “Did you summon those three men? Those exhibitionists?”
“I was too dumb to think of it. It was Finnerty’s idea.”
“And you don’t feel ashamed? Humiliated?”
“Elinor, an election between honest men is like a battle between sovereign nations. You better win.”
“You’d do anything to win, wouldn’t you?”
“Only if it’s honest. Only if it’s necessary.”
“You think an obscenity like that fake patriotism is necessary?”
“Last week I was losing. Thanks to Finnerty’s brilliant idea, this week I’m winning. And I will encourage Gawain Butler to tell his story across this entire state. Because it’s good for Fremont to hear a black man speak. It’s good for them to hear someone from Alabama. Or an Irish Catholic from Boston.”
“You feel no shame?”
“There’s something you will never be able to comprehend, Elinor. When we finally crawled out of that raft ... Hundreds of men needlessly dead because no one at headquarters had remembered to send out rescue teams ... I told those three men that the world was a shitty place ...”
“I don’t want to hear such language.”
She fled to her father’s house and asked him what he thought of Norman’s blatant flag-waving, and he had to reflect some moments before answering: “America has an enormous propensity for electing military heroes to offices they’re not capable of filling. William Henry Harrison, Ulysses Grant, William McKinley. I have no doubt that Dwight Eisenhower will be laurelled with the Presidency any time he wants it, on either ticket.
“But you must remember that we also got a couple of rather good men this way. Andrew Jackson and Teddy Roosevelt among others. And best of all, George Washington, whom we so desperately needed. Every one of those men was elected not for his capacity, but because the public perceived him as a military hero. This nation will always be eager to believe that a military man is more intelligent than he really is. Now it’s your husband’s turn.”
“Is he a bright, good man? I no longer know how to judge.”
[124] “He’s a football player,” Stidham said. “A fine, strong, honest football player. And if he had been something different, we might have lost the Battle of Leyte Gulf and sacrificed an additional half a million young men.”
“Will he be a decent senator? After such a despicable start?”
“Norman has a fighting chance to be a fine senator, but I expect he’ll turn out to be only average. Never a distinction, never a scandal. That was the best I could get out of Ulysses Gantling. I’ll be satisfied if we do as well with Norman.” He hesitated, trying to strike a balance concerning his fragile daughter. “It’s you I’m afraid of, Elinor. I suspect you’ll make a very poor senator’s wife.”
“So do I,” she cried, running to her father’s chair, and kneeling beside him. When her convulsive sobs quieted, she whispered, “It’s never been Norman I’ve been afraid of. It’s always been me. I’m not suited for this job. I simply am not.”
“What makes you think I was suited to be an officer in France? A pathetic farce, really. Or Gantling’s campaign manager? I very nearly lost him that first election. We do what we have to do, Elinor. And now I think it’s time for you to appear on the podium with your husband. He’s fighting for one of the premier jobs in the world and he deserves your help.”
At the climactic rally in Benton, five nights before the primary, she sat on the stage beside her husband and, at Finnerty’s insistence, even said a few words. But when the three sailors appeared in their freshly pressed uniforms, with ribbons neat and medals polished, she wanted to throw up.
 
Rachel Lindquist believed that one test of a woman was how she organized space: “Whether it controls you, or you control it.”
When her roommate at Wellesley had asked what she meant by this, she had said forthrightly, “A kitchen at home. Do the plates and forks command it in disarray, or do you instruct the ugly things where they belong and see to it that they keep their place?”
“What’s the great virtue in that?” asked her roomie, a slovenly girl from Virginia, pouting.
[125] “Because it establishes who’s boss, that’s why. Because when the space is ordered, you’re free to live creatively.”
“Are you lecturing me?” the fluffy girl asked.
“This room proves to me that you allow space to dominate you. Everything is in chaos. Your clothes spread everywhere.”
In the weeping spell that followed, the roommate announced her intention of quitting the room and finding another girl to bunk with, and Rachel encouraged her to do so. The upshot was a visit to the dean, who listened to the roommate’s weepy recitation of accusations, smiled and said consolingly, “Betty-Anne, I agree with you. You’ll be much happier with a girl more like yourself.”
The change was approved and each girl was happier. Rachel, of course, had to room alone for several months, but in that time she instituted a system of beautiful orderliness, so that later, when a Jewish girl from Scarsdale moved in with her own neat clothes, things progressed with no strain.
Rachel Lindquist’s father was a member of one of those hard-working, gifted Swedish families that settled in Worcester, west of Boston, in the late years of the past century. Her grandfather had invented a process whereby Carborundum particles could be attached to fabric, producing an excellent abrasive for use in manufacturing, but since he was unusually cautious in financial affairs, he missed his opportunity to convert his small operation into a massive corporation the way some of the other Worcester Swedes did, but his four patents were so original and so carefully protected that he and his descendants did collect gratifying royalties from the big combines.
Rachel was carefully educated in a private school near Worcester and then at Wellesley, where, after her unfortunate experience with her first roommate, she had an unbroken chain of successes. Her parents expected their only daughter to excel in her classes, which she did, and the friends who had known her in the lower schools were sure that her lovely blond hair and elegant figure would ensure a good marriage.
She was repeatedly invited to dances at Harvard and Amherst, and in her junior year, 1941, she met a senior at Yale named Stuart. A graduate of Groton, he [126] represented one of the fine milling families of New Hampshire, and it was assumed by everyone, especially her parents, “That Rachel was safely settled.”
That was before Pearl Harbor. Toward the middle of December, when the world seemed to be falling apart, she attended a political seminar at MIT and there met Stanley Mott, a young professor from Georgia Tech. He was so alert, so vividly interested in what aviation could do for the world that she was immediately attracted to him, and at the end of the three-day session, with Hitler and Tojo and Mussolini on the agenda daily, she realized that she was intended for something in life more exciting than young Mr. Stuart of Groton and Yale, and New Hampshire milling.
Her parents were distraught: “Who is this Professor Nobody?”
“He teaches at Georgia Tech.” She might as well have said that he came from Arkansas.
“An illiterate plantation owner, I suppose,” Mrs. Lindquist said. Although she belonged to only a minor branch of Boston’s great Saltonstall family, she felt a burning obligation to protect the superiority of that revered name. “He’s the son of the Methodist minister in Newton.”
“I didn’t know there were Methodist ministers in New England ... in the better suburbs, that is.”
“Graduated with honors from the local high school, one of the best in the country, and he won a science foundation something or other. A full scholarship.”
“If he’s as good as you say, why in the world would he have elected Georgia? If he was really first class, that is?”
“I wondered about that, too,” Rachel confessed. “If he’s as bright as he seems ... I mean, the men with him said he was a genius in aviation. Why wouldn’t he have gone to a real university? Like Harvard or MIT?”
The question was so perplexing that Mr. Lindquist launched a chain of telephone calls, to bankers, lawyers, educators, and the police of Newton. He learned that Stanley Mott came from a standard lower-class family of good reputation, that he had been a wizard in science at Newton and had ranked high in all national test scores. He had gone to Georgia Tech because he was interested in engineering as a practical science and had done at least as well in his classes as Rachel had done in hers, but as Mr. [127] Lindquist observed: “No one in his right mind would equate Georgia Tech marks with those from Wellesley.”
“How did he ever become a professor?” Mrs. Lindquist asked, and her husband explained that he wasn’t a real professor, only an assistant: “He has no more than a master’s degree, you know. Something to do with aviation.”
“Did he get his master’s at MIT?” his wife asked.
“Louisiana State, I’m afraid.”
“He seems always to shy away from the first-class schools.”
The Lindquists were displeased when their daughter wanted to invite Professor Mott to Worcester, and were relieved when he reported that he could not come: “I’ve got to give and grade my exams. And the Army Air Corps has been talking with me.”
They did not see him until May of 1942, for he was kept busy teaching crash courses for the military, and when he did come north he was ten pounds underweight and rather haggard. He did not create a good impression, for he was distressingly nervous: “The Air Corps has been badgering me.”
“Are you to be a pilot?” Mr. Lindquist asked.
“No. I can’t fathom what it is they’re after.”
“Would you prefer the Air Corps to the Navy?” Mr. Lindquist, as a courtesy to his daughter, felt obliged to keep the conversation moving, even though he understood few of the answers. This Mott was a rather tedious young man, not at all like that Stuart chap from Yale, but he could talk coherently, which was more than some of Rachel’s young callers were able to do.
“You must be proud to know the Air Corps wants you,” he said.
“That signifies little, Mr. Lindquist. There are so few of us trained in aviation engineering.”
Rachel was obviously attracted to him, and when she insisted upon taking the train all the way to Atlanta to see the Georgia Tech graduation, her parents awakened with a shock to the fact she intended to marry him.
“At least bring him back to Worcester for a proper wedding,” Mrs. Lindquist pleaded.
“It’s only reasonable,” Mr. Lindquist added. “His people would be just as eager as we are.”
“He doesn’t have people,” Rachel said. “Only his mother.”
[128] “Was she deserted?”
“Widowed.”
Under pressure, the young people consented to a formal wedding in Worcester, but it was a rather drab wartime affair. Mrs. Mott came out from Boston, ill-at-ease and barely presentable. Two of the real Saltonstalls graced the party and many of the Swedish establishment, but the bright young men and women who would normally have added radiance to such a wedding were absent, the men in training camps, the women dashing about the country to keep up with them. And as soon as the Motts were married, Stanley had to report to Wright Field in Ohio-attached to the Air Force, but with civilian status.
In true military fashion, he was assigned not to aviation work but to an advanced study group endeavoring to deduce what the German scientists at the secret Baltic base of Peenemünde were up to. His work was classified top secret, which meant that he could tell his wife nothing.
Rachel understood. She had been attracted to Stanley by his obvious brilliance, and the more she saw of him during their catch-as-catch-can courtship and marriage, the more she appreciated the solid qualities of his mind. Whatever he was free to tell her, she understood, and sometimes his silences were more instructive than what he said.
She had one more year to go on her Wellesley degree and was reassured when he encouraged her to complete it, no matter what the hardships. Like him, she rushed normal procedures, taking a criminally heavy program right through the academic year and into the summer as well. As soon as she graduated, she hurried to Dayton, where she took a job helping in a day nursery filled with children whose mothers were doing manual labor at the air base. When the older woman who attempted to run the vastly enlarged nursery collapsed from overwork, Rachel took complete charge, and even when she informed Stanley that she was pregnant, they both agreed that she should continue her work.
It was now that she exhibited her devotion to the principle she had expounded at college: The test of a woman is how she organizes space. In the Mott rooms at the motel she established a place for everything and rigorously discarded any object that was not essential; as a consequence, [129] the Motts lived in constructive order, whereas most of the other young couples, many from places like Vassar and Harvard, lived in chaos.
She applied the same rule to her personal appearance. She had thick blond hair which she wore drawn back in a severe Grecian style. She was pleased with the effect this created, for it framed her placid Swedish beauty handsomely and worked well with the simple clothes she preferred. She brought with her four conservative suits, all light in color to match her complexion, and four blouses with no frills.
She felt it indecent ever to live without art; at college she had had an expensive record player but no stacks of popular single records, like the other girls. She told Stanley: “I’ve always felt that eight or ten really good complete albums were enough.” She abhorred anything later than Beethoven and would allow him only his Seventh Symphony and Razumovsky quartets: “There’s great vulgarity in Beethoven.” She had a gorgeous piano concerto by Mozart and one of his lilting violin concertos. But mostly she liked Bach and Vivaldi, holding that composers like Schubert, Schumann and Stravinsky were violent exhibitionists. When she found a composition she liked, she played it constantly, but it was always something like the Brandenburg Concertos.
In their early marriage, when her records all sounded alike to Stanley, he said, “One of the fellows in graduate school had a marvelous record. Ravel’s Bolero.”
“Oh my God!” she said.
In art it was also less-equals-more. Stanley, having had several good civilization courses at Georgia, wanted to spend part of his first paycheck for a nicely colored photograph of the Cumaean Sibyl by Michelangelo: “The professor explained how elegantly it fitted the architecture of the Sistine Chapel.” He drew an illustration of the converging areas.
Rachel took one look at the obscene reproduction, a horrible affair of improper colors and forced foreshortening, and refused him permission to bring it into their limited quarters: “Art must command. It must fill its area on its own terms. It must say something fresh to you every day.” For two weeks she studied all the reproductions in the Dayton area, finding nothing that satisfied her.
[130] “What’s the big deal?” Stanley asked.
“It’s all Monks Fishing,” she said.
He did not understand, but wanted to, so even though he was fatigued from the demanding work on rocketry and atomic energy, the devices the Germans were working on at Peenemünde, he asked if he could accompany her on her next visit to the reprint galleries, and it was on such a trip that she explained Monks Fishing.
“Have you ever noticed that in really bad novels, when the author wants to present an artist, it’s always an architect? Why do you suppose that is? Because to the average readers a poet would be insufferable. To them a novelist is a man who lies about the house doing nothing. A painter is a mess. But an architect wears a nice suit. He can be shown drawing in a clean office. And when he goes out to supervise the builders he can wear tweeds and smoke a pipe. Best of all, you can see the end product. And it’s useful. You can imagine offices in it and electric light companies. Architects are the salvation of the middle class.”
“What in the world does this have to do with Monks Fishing?”
“Because in painting it’s the same way. You want a cheap copy of Michelangelo because you know the original’s in the Sistine Chapel, and that makes it acceptable. Well, rich Americans and Europeans who travel all over and want to buy a work of art always buy Monks Fishing.”
She took him to a store she had located which specialized in such art, and there she showed him some fifteen big, expensive, colorful reproductions of paintings by unknown French and Italian commercial artists. In one a group of monks in colorful robes sit about a long table, dozing disrespectfully while a cardinal in bright red tells an interminable story. This was titled “The Boring Story.” In the next the monks watch admiringly as the cardinal in red drinks a substantial draught from a beautifully painted goblet. This was titled “The Toast.” The third, fourth and through the thirteenth showed the same monks at the same table reacting in various amusing ways to the cardinal, or sometimes two cardinals.
Masterpiece number fourteen was what Stanley Mott had been awaiting. It showed four monks beside a river, two drinking from a bottle which they pass from hand to hand, one snoozing under a tree while the bob on his [131] fishing, line indicates that he has caught an unattended fish, and one fishing with no results. It was called “Monks Fishing.” Number fifteen carried the same title but showed one of the monks having fallen into the stream while trying to land a rather large fish.
“Don’t ever buy Monks Fishing, Stanley.” In another store she showed him the one painting she had been able to approve. It was a Piet Mondrian, all clear and crisp and beautifully organized, with a few simple lines and highly effective colors.
As soon as he saw it he realized that this was a portrait of his wife. The simplicity matched her overall appearance. The few black lines represented her sparse attitude toward decoration. The perfectly adapted coloring of the enclosed spaces was the coloring of her blond hair, her flawless complexion, her subdued suits. The Mondrian was Vivaldi translated into visual imagery.
It was too austere: “I sort of hoped we’d get a Van Gogh Sunflowers ... or maybe-”
“Don’t tell me,” she interrupted. “You wanted an Orozco.”
“Is he the Mexican? Yes, one of the professors at Georgia Tech had a marvelous copy of women bandits during the Mexican revolution.”
“Orozco would be big in Georgia,” she said, but as soon as the words left her lips she was apologetic. “I don’t mean that, Stanley. Really I don’t.”
She rummaged through the reproductions till she found a copy of the Van Gogh and a very garish attempt at the Orozco bandoleras. “Don’t you see, Stanley? These are unutterably trite. If we had them on the wall a week, we’d grow tired of them.”
“I looked at those women through a whole semester. They stood right behind the professor’s head, and I still like them.”
“Later on you won’t,” she said, and since she would be paying for the framing with her own money, he encouraged her to buy the Mondrian. In their cramped quarters it proved to be exactly right, and when the orderliness of the Brandenburg Concertos marched through the room, the picture seemed destined for that space, with these two people, and this music.
Rachel allowed only one aspect of her life to deviate from this norm: in her bedroom, where no one but her [132] husband could see, she kept a collection of seven wonderfully carved wooden figures of human beings, each about nine inches tall. There was one group of two related figures, a mother combing the hair of her daughter, and one of three, an elderly couple dancing while a grouchy lean man played his accordion, and two superb single figures, a farmer mowing with a stubby scythe and a woman looking at the sky. Six of the figures stood forth in plain, untouched wood; the lanky accordionist wore a colored cloth cap and played a blue accordion.
The figures were obviously folk art, but where they came from, Stanley could not at first decipher. To him they had the sentimental quality of Orozco’s marching women; indeed, they were identical in spirit. Yet Rachel loved them, and finally she told him what they represented. Perched on the bed, her head cocked alluringly so that her hair hung free, she said, “When I was thirteen my parents took me to Sweden. Mother deplored the place, finding it so different from Boston, but Father was deeply moved at seeing the bleak impoverished village from which he had sprung.” It was called Döderhult in the southeast province of Småland, and after a brief stop Mrs. Lindquist had wanted to hurry back to the civilization of Stockholm, or preferably London, but her husband had insisted upon staying, and it was during the second day that Rachel discovered the wonder of this little town:
 
“I was walking aimlessly along a road that led to the Baltic when I saw a shop window containing a congregation of these little wooden figurines carved by a local man, and immediately I realized that they were the equivalent of the Tanagra figures of Greece. An enthusiastic teacher had taught us about them in our fifth-grade unit ‘Greece and Modern Man.’ I went right into the store and selected these seven. I hadn’t enough money, so the shopkeeper said he’d hold them for me till I could persuade my parents to anticipate my allowance. Mother was furious, called the little things junk, but Father was deeply touched. When he saw them he began to cry. Later he told me that the woman looking at the sky was his mother. “She looked exactly like that,” he said. And there they are.”
 
[133] The artist, Stanley learned, was an untutored Swedish peasant named Axel Petersson, an intuitive genius who could make wood sing, and in time Mott grew to regard the little wooden people with even more affection and understanding than did his wife: “They make you human, Rachel. They tell me that you yourself are a Swedish peasant ... trying to act sophisticated.”
In her intellectual tastes she was far from a peasant. On Sundays, when they had a few free hours, it was she who suggested that they read aloud one of the plays being produced in these years. Once under a tree in an Ohio valley she read him the entire Murder in the Cathedral; she had been to Canterbury during her sophomore year and was thus able to set the stage for him. He could see the assassins coming toward Becket, and for days thereafter he found himself thinking of medieval England.
The most memorable reading was one she had insisted upon: “It’s very long, Stanley, but I think we need it.”
It was Strange Interlude, and it occupied them for most of a long afternoon. When it came time for Stanley to take the book, he found positive delight in altering his voice for the asides, and in the midst of one unusually expressive passage, Rachel kissed him passionately. “You’re really very good, Stanley. You could have done well at a school like Yale.”
“I did well at Georgia Tech,” he said defensively. “We knew who Eugene O”Neill was, you know.”
“I didn’t mean it that way, really I didn’t.”
“What did you mean by saying yesterday that we needed this play?”
She smoothed down her dress, coughed and said, “Because for the last few months we’ve been talking in posed sentences, just like these characters. Our worlds are drifting dangerously apart, Stanley, and that’s perilous.”
“You know what my work is, Rachel. I simply can’t talk about it.”
“That part I know. I believe FBI men are watching you. At least I have good reason to think so. And they should. But we mustn’t be like the characters in this play, never speaking our minds.”
“What do you want me to say-that I’m allowed to say?”
“Europe? What do you think’s going to happen to Europe?”
[134] “It’s inconceivable to me that Hitler can retain control of all Europe. It goes against all reason.”
“And if he fails, will Stalin control it all?”
“You have to face one problem at a time.”
“But if the other man is looking far ahead, he may be able to solve two or even three problems at the same time.”
“Even one defeats me, sometimes.”
“Is your work so difficult?” Before he could respond, she said brightly, “Scratch that, Stanley. What I really wanted to ask was this. How do you see us living after the war ends? And I don’t even mean that. What I mean is, how long do you think the war will last?”
“Four more years.”
She gave a little cry: “Till 1947! Oh God, can we survive so long?”
“We have to,” he said, and with that he resumed his reading.
A few days later he informed her that he would be leaving Wright Field and moving to London. “No, you can’t join me there. Absolutely impossible.”
“What do you think I should do, Stanley? Till the baby comes ... no, what I really mean is, after the baby comes?”
He thought about this for a long time, then kissed her tenderly. “You know, the best thing we’ve done in years was to read Strange Interlude. He wrote that play about us.” He kissed her again. “But to answer your question, I don’t have a clue. I don’t know how long I’m going to be gone. It’s a vital mission and it could take years. Darling, I just don’t know.”
The next morning, when she was preparing one of his suits for the cleaner, prior to his departure for London, she found in his coat pocket a photograph of a small man who, from the cut of his clothes, appeared to be German. The only noticeable thing about him was a mustache that wandered ineffectually over his upper lip, and he had on the kind of cap factory workers in England often wore. The picture bore no name, no identification of any kind, but she surmised that her husband was heading for Europe to find this man.
She pondered a long time as to what she must do about this photograph, and she sensed that she had not been intended to see it. She could even have committed a crime of some kind in doing so, and she supposed that the best [135] thing to do was return it to its pocket and leave the suit as it was, without a pressing. But her compulsive sense of neatness would not permit this, and for the last two days of their time together in the Dayton motel she kept the photograph to herself. When the time came for him to leave for London, she kissed him ardently, then handed him the photograph.
“I hope you find him,” she said.
 
When in the summer of 1945 the colonel from the Air Force arrived in Worcester, where Rachel Mott was maintaining quarters for her son Millard while she worked at a nearby war production company, he informed her that her husband had been commended for his role in finding and rescuing several important German scientists. When she asked what kind of scientists they were, the colonel told her truthfully that he did not really know. “I think we can assume they had something to do with weapons, but exactly what kind I wouldn’t even dare guess.”
She then asked whether one of the scientists had been a small, rather thin man with a scraggly mustache, and he said, “Ma’am, the fact is, I don’t know anything. Except that your husband is alive, and the Air Force thinks very highly of his work.”
“Will he be coming home soon?”
“I would surely think so.”
Stanley arrived in the United States in November 1945, but was not even allowed free time to visit his wife in Massachusetts. He called her as soon as the military transport docked and said, cryptically, “It’s vital that you take yourself and Millard immediately to Fort Bliss in El Paso, Texas. Ask for a friend of mine named McCawley”-he spelled the name twice. “And I leave it to you to get us the best damned quarters in the fort. I love you, and I want to talk to you directly, not like in Strange Interlude.”
That was all he said. Fort Bliss; El Paso, Texas; McCawley. She supposed that he had spelled the man’s name incorrectly, but when she reached Fort Bliss she found that it really was McCawley. He was a sergeant with unusual powers in the assignment of quarters, and when, dead tired from her mysterious trip, she told him that she was Stanley Mott’s wife, he beamed. “One of the best. I served with him in France. Tireless.”
[136] “What was he doing; Captain McCawley?”
“I wish to hell I was a captain. It’s sergeant. And I was a sergeant then, doing his paper work.”
“Which was what?”
“Top secret then, top secret now.”
“Then why am I here?”
“Because your good husband, God bless his muscle-bound ways, is going to arrive on Thursday.”
“For a long stay?”
“Years, I should think.”
And that was all she could discover. Her husband was still a civilian, still engaged in some top-secret business. But he was on his way to Fort Bliss and would be stationed there for a long, indeterminate period. She sighed and proceeded with the three-day job of wangling from the military in charge of the fort the gear she would need in order to convert their barracks quarters into a decent home.
In this assignment. she received much help from Sergeant McCawley, who had a thieving mind and a cynical approach to military life: “Get all you can the first week, when they’re glad to have you aboard. Because later on, invariably you become dirt.” Because the main flood of whoever was arriving had not yet appeared, she and McCawley had their choice of rooms, furniture, kitchen equipment and bedding. He wanted to force upon her a whole roomful of junk she knew she did not need, and when he saw how sparsely she had furnished the quarters, he said, “Mrs. Mott, I would advise you to accept this crud, whether you need it or not. Because maybe later on you can trade it off with your neighbors, whoever they are.”
“I think this is adequate,” she said, but he looked so hurt at having his advice rejected that she asked him gently if he would mind baby-sitting Millard while she went in to El Paso to purchase a special gift for her husband.
“How long since you’ve seen him?”
She counted up the dreadful years of lonely train rides, of giving birth to a baby when one didn’t know if the father was still alive, the spells of heartbreaking loneliness. “It was a long time, Sergeant, and I hope it’s never repeated.” In McCawley’s car she went from one art shop to another, until she found a fairly good silk-screened copy of Orozco’s marching women. By good luck it had been framed austerely, not California-style, and she bought it for [137] twenty-eight dollars. The man gave her the wire and pinned hook for hanging, and when she returned to her quarters McCawley helped her find just the right spot over the davenport, where Stanley would have to see it as soon as he entered the door.
“This room does look pretty nice,” McCawley admitted, “but I have a surprise for you.” He had sequestered a storage locker in the basement of the barracks, a large wired-in cubicle with a newly printed sign: STANLEY MOTT. Inside was enough military furniture to accommodate two families. “Believe me, Mrs. Mott, you can use this in artful trading.”
On Thursday, as promised, the long train pulled in to El Paso station, where carefully guarded military trucks, with their canvas sides in place to prevent observation, rolled up in long lines to receive the military prisoners assigned to Fort Bliss. Rachel was not permitted in the station area, so she did not see the German scientists debark: General Helmut Funkhauser giving orders, Wernher von Braun’s principal assistants stepping gingerly onto Texas soil, inconspicuous Dieter Kolff coming forth in a huge American hat that obscured his face. No women had been allowed to accompany their husbands to America, but there were over a hundred men, confused and insecure, assigned to a fort they did not understand for duties which had not been explained.
At Fort Bliss the Germans were unloaded first from the trucks, and now Rachel could see for the first time her husband’s prey, and that one-time photograph had been so deeply engraved on her memory that when she saw Dieter Kolff come down the steps of the truck, she recognized him immediately and uttered a small prayer: “Thank God, Stanley found him.” She knew that these words made no sense; she had not the slightest comprehension of why Kolff had been so eagerly sought, but as the daughter of a well-disciplined Swede and a Saltonstall of Boston, however remote, she knew intuitively that men and women felt better when they fulfilled the task set them.
“Stanley!” she cried, and there from one of the last trucks stepped her husband, looking precisely as he had when he left, no heavier, no thinner, no mustache, no scars. When he saw her he walked properly toward her, then broke into a run, embracing her furiously. She refrained from [138] crying, but after their fourth or fifth kiss she did point to where Dieter Kolff was marching to his new quarters: “I see you found him.”
“Took two years.”
“Was it worth it?”
“We were all screwed up about Peenemünde, but ...”
“What’s Peenemünde?”
“I’ll tell you when we get home. Where is home?”
When she led him to the apartment and opened the door, the first thing he saw was Sergeant McCawley standing there with Millard, and he called for the two-year-old boy to run to him. McCawley had trained the lad to cry out “Daddy,” and there was new embracing, but as Stanley clutched his son he saw over the boy’s shoulder the Orozco, the painting he had so admired at Georgia Tech. Placing Millard in a chair, he went to the wall and took down the painting. Handing it to his wife, he said, “All the time I lived in confusion I remembered our apartment with the Mondrian ... the order ... the neatness. I’ve outgrown Orozco. Let’s trade it in for something simple and clean.”
But when he tossed his duffel into the bedroom he saw the little wooden figures of Axel Petersson, especially the older man dancing with his wife, and the pair were so real, so instinct with the humanity that binds lives together, that he grabbed them in his hands and danced about the room, smiling at his wife and shouting, “This is what we waited for, all of us,” and he caught his wife and they fell on the bed.
Later in the day, after they had slept and showered, McCawley drove them to the art shop, where Stanley himself traded the garish Orozco for a fine Mondrian, a vertical rectangle with black lines delineating handsomely proportioned blue and red and yellow spaces, and when he hung it in his new living room he kissed his wife and said, “Very sensible, Rachel. In here, where we present ourselves to the world, crisp neatness. In the bedroom, where we live our true lives, the dancing figures.” And that’s the way it was to be.
 
At the end of one week Rachel Mott told her husband, “I’m in love with these crazy Germans. I can’t believe Hitler ever touched them.”
She respected the manner in which the scientists [139] organized their living space. Each man assumed responsibility for bringing order into whatever corner was assigned him, and each kept his area impeccably neat. She noticed also that each man devised for himself some work space on which he could spread out his papers, or make his tools.
She was both amused and impressed by General Funkhauser, for he was an obvious fraud but one determined to please his new American masters. He perfected his English and explained things for her, telling much more about Peenemünde than her husband had felt free to do. He was first to volunteer for any arduous duty and seemed to know more about the A-4s than even Von Braun, and he explained several times how he had rescued, at no slight danger to himself, the papers summarizing the top-secret work being done at Peenemünde. She smiled at his pretensions but continued to listen to his blandishments.
From her talks with General Funkhauser, who now weighed thirty pounds less than he had at the rocket base, she learned that if the war had continued a few months longer, or if on the other hand Funkhauser had been placed in command of rocketry a few months earlier, Germany might have won. One afternoon she asked him if rockets could indeed carry men to the Moon, and although he had once condemned Von Braun and Kolff to death for having suggested this, he now revealed himself to have been an ardent space enthusiast: “I always said that with rockets we can go anywhere-the Moon, Mars, Venus, even directly to the Sun.”
About the fourth week Rachel began to suspect that General Funkhauser was not entirely disinterested in his courtship of Stanley Mott’s wife, because at the conclusion of any particularly long discussion, he managed to bring up the subject of that basement storage cubicle where there were several pieces of furniture he could use, and gradually the surplus found its way to Funkhauser’s quarters, until he had a kind of eighteenth-century Prussian overstuffed castle right in the heart of Fort Bliss.
At the end of one meeting, General Funkhauser lingered to say, “The men admire your beautiful hair, Mrs. Mott. It’s so blond and German.”
“Swedish,” she corrected.
“Swedes are mainly German,” he said. “Completely Nordic.” To this she made no response, so he added, “But [140] you’d look ever so much prettier if you wore your hair in braids. The way my sister did.”
“Where is she now?” Rachel asked.
“Killed by American bombers.” When he saw her wince, he added, “The men talked about your hair, Mrs. Mott. They agreed it would look better-more German, that is-if you wore braids.”
The idea of sacrificing her carefully devised Grecian coiffure for a pair of dangling Saxon braids delighted Rachel and she broke into laughter, but General Funkhauser was not amused. “Later, you will see.”
He then changed his attitude completely, becoming a sweet Rhenish peasant. “The men think you are beautiful, Mrs. Mott. You remind them of their wives.” Before she could respond, he added, “That little table, the one where the leaf drops down. I could use that very capably for my papers, Mrs. Mott. Do you think ...”
She laughed and said, “Any man who tells me I’m beautiful can have any table he wants,” but the general frowned at this suggestion that he had praised her only to get one more piece of furniture.
At a later meeting she asked Funkhauser about the little man her husband had been seeking, and the general said expansively, “I saved that one’s life. A minor mechanic at the rocket base.”
“Could I meet him, please?”
“Your wish is my command,” Funkhauser replied, using a phrase he had learned at the cinema, and when he returned with Dieter Kolff walking respectfully behind, she found the latter to be a quiet man approaching forty, who spoke sadly of his wife wandering somewhere in Germany. He was the first prisoner to mention his wife, and he did so with such obvious affection that Rachel asked her husband, “When will the Germans be allowed to bring their wives over?” and it was then that she discovered that these scientists existed in a legal no man’s land.
“They have no papers,” Stanley explained. “None of any kind.”
“How did they get in the country?”
“We slipped them in.”
“A hundred and ten! Some slip.”
“No one knows officially that they’re here. The records say simply ‘With the knowledge of the President.’ ”
[141] Why does he want them here?
“That I am not free to say.”
So she went back to General Funkhauser, and he was eager to talk: “You watch the railroad yards. Soon great trains of stuff will begin arriving. I suppose you know what.”
“No, I don’t. My husband is more military than most military. He simply will not tell me anything.”
“Proper. Highly proper. I demanded the same of my troops.” He caught himself. “I was an engineer, mostly.”
“What will be in the trains?”
“Things,” and he would say no more, for he suspected that in his enthusiasm he had said too much.
Rachel developed a considerable respect for the care with which the Germans protected and advanced their intellectual interests. Like good men of all societies in all ages, when they found themselves in forced constraint and forbidden to carry on their normal occupations, they organized themselves into a kind of university in which each man taught, without books, the subject he knew best. The Fort Bliss university was exceptionally rich in that most of the Germans in the barracks were highly trained specialists: mathematics classes were brilliant; physics the same; and mechanical engineering, some of the best in the world. The humanities were more difficult, although two men did organize a good course in German political thought which attempted to explain German history from Bismarck through the Weimar Republic and down to the collapse of the Third Reich.
Preeminent among the students was Dieter Kolff, the farm boy with a rudimentary education and magical fingers that could mend machines. Grasping the empty months as an opportunity to catch up with the trained men about him, he delved into mathematics and science with such a dogged persistence that he caused chuckles: “There goes Dieter with his trigonometry notebook like it was a Bible.”
Curiously, he learned the big words of his new-found knowledge in English rather than German, and he began inserting phrases like reciprocal ratio and level of minimal return in his long German sentences. History, philosophy and literature were non-essentials whose vocabulary he avoided; calculus, astronomy and physics were his delight, [142] so that by the time he graduated from Fort Bliss University (Pragmatic) he was going to be lopsided but very solid.
He did cultivate one intellectual diversion. At Peenemünde he had learned to enjoy symphonic music, borrowing records from Von Braun, and when he learned that Mrs. Mott had a supply, he asked if he could borrow some. “No,” she said. “My records are precious and they must not be abused on bad machines. But you’re welcome to come listen.” She arranged informal concerts, which were attended by many of the Germans, and in this way Dieter became familiar with the classical music of his native land.
It was because of this university that Rachel was drawn more deeply into the German orbit. When Dieter Kolff told her that a frail handsome man named Ernst Stuhlinger was instructing those who were interested in radical new principles governing an ion ramjet, she said, “These must be some of the brightest men in the world,” and Kolff replied, “They are.” Then he added, “But if...” He could not phrase his thoughts in English and had to depend upon her faulty knowledge of German. “What we need most is someone to teach us English.”
So she became an instructor in the German university. The scientists liked her teaching, and General Funkhauser volunteered to serve as her assistant, correcting her now and then when she used the wrong word for some scientific principle.
As she worked she became worried about the bleak lives which most of her Germans were leading. They seemed not to be used in any constructive way; only the top men ever got to the testing range at White Sands. The others moped in the barracks, perfecting their scientific education, but little else. Once when she asked one of the Germans to give a little talk, he astounded her by saying, “At night we study the stars. There is a hole in the fence that keeps us in. We slip through that hole and wander on the prairie, looking at the stars and feeling the free wind on our faces. We think the soldiers know about the hole in the fence, but they also know we need space to move in, as if we are not prisoners. I go through the fence every night. Even in the rain.”
When she asked another prisoner to give his talk, he said, “Better I speak German,” and before she could protest [143] this waste of the educational period, he indicated that General Funkhauser could interpret for him. “Every day we study hard to make our rockets better, so that when the United States wants seriously to catch up with the Russians, we will be ready to help. Kolff here has new machines to make the engines. Bergstrasser has a new fuel system. I have, in my own modest way, a new plan for inertial guidance.”
“What is inertial?” Rachel asked.
General Funkhauser started to explain, but it was obvious even to Rachel that he didn’t know what he was talking about, so a very young man rose and said in broken English, “A new system ... like the compass … no needle ... three gyroscopes.” Of this, Rachel could make no sense whatever, but after class Dieter Kolff stayed behind and said, “Me too ... I don’t understand inertial ... a better compass ... much better.”
“But what’s a gyroscope ... three gyroscopes?”
He whirled his right forefinger rapidly. “Give stability.”
“Oh, yes! We had that in physics, I’m sure.”
“When will come our wives?”
She liked men who were hungry for their wives; she had been so terribly hungry for her husband. In subsequent days she saw a lot of Dieter Kolff, and once asked him why her husband had sought him so diligently.
“Professor Mott ... I looking for him, too ... very good man, very sensible man.”
“But why was he looking for you?”
Kolff’s mustache twitched. He wondered if he dared speak. He wondered if this woman was an American SS planted in the fort to trap him. But then he concluded that from all that he had seen, she was remarkably similar to Liesl Koenig, and he said, at some danger to himself, “Do not speak husband. He is very secret. I work on some important weapon. Not important man like General Breutzl, but ...”
“Is he here in Fort Bliss?”
“Dead. I his helper. I know everything.” He stopped. “Please not to speak.”
Those words were enough to clarify her husband’s two years of anxiety, and when she sat with Stanley that night, with their son between them, she felt an overwhelming appreciation for what he had been doing, and the manner [144] apparently in which he had done it: “I’m very proud of you. Stanley.”
He reached across his son to embrace her, fervently. “I’ve been able to guess what you must have gone through. Alone all those months.”
“When will the German wives be allowed to come over?” she asked.
“We don’t even know whether the Germans will be staying in this country.”
“Really, you ought to make up your minds. This isn’t human.”
He leaned back and stared at her. “Has Dieter Kolff been talking with you?”
“No, but in my class I talk with him.”
Occasionally the German scientists were granted permission to shop in El Paso, and on festive days they were even allowed to cross the international bridge into Ciudad Juárez on the other side of the Rio Grande, provided they were accompanied by American soldiers. Some of the younger men used this as an opportunity to visit the Mexican brothels, where they were welcomed because of their good looks and their generosity with money.
The serious scientists sometimes preferred to visit Juárez with their English teacher, and often Rachel led groups to the bazaars and the good food. She had grown to like chili and tamales, and especially the crisp tacos fried in deep fat. “It’s murderous food, really. But I think one can stand it from time to time.”
Now things at Fort Bliss grew serious. A secret report arrived via Paris to the effect that the Peenemünde men who had been captured by the Russians were enabling the Soviets to make quantum leaps in their rocket program, and belatedly the American military began to appreciate the treasure they had in Von Braun’s group. The prisoners began to spend a good deal of time at White Sands, where Dieter Kolff supervised the assembly and testing of the A-4s which Professor Mott’s team had gathered from various storage sites in Germany.
Much work was done on refining the engines and the guidance systems, and Baron von Braun was often absent from the fort, discussing potentialities with American military men in Los Angeles or Washington. Classes at the informal university met less frequently, except for Mrs. [145] Mott’s instruction in English, and even that was no longer urgently needed, since so many of the scientists were now speaking quite passable American.
The Germans were startled when the fort authorities announced that they could now purchase automobiles and use them within restrictions. Twenty-two younger men banded together and bought a used Plymouth. General Funkhauser, with funds borrowed from five other older men, bought a large Buick, which he then used as a taxicab, earning substantial profits-which he shared, half to him as manager, half to the other five as owners. It was he who obtained permission to take six Germans and one American with a machine gun all the way to California. When he returned he told everyone, “That’s the land of opportunity. When they set us free, which will be any day now, we must all head for California.”
There was still no news of when the German wives would be allowed into the country, but as a further measure to keep the scientists happy, Stanley Mott was designated to fly to Germany with greetings from the men and to ascertain how the women were doing and whether they were obtaining the meager funds their husbands were sending them from the allotments paid them by the United States Army. He located most of the wives in a barracks at the town of Landshut, northeast of Munich, but when he asked about Liesl Kolff, he was told she was not there, and the commandant said, after searching his files, “We have no record that Dieter Kolff was ever married.”
And then the fortunes of the German scientists took dramatic turns for the better. The American military belatedly recognized that these brilliant men were sorely needed if the United States was ever to catch up with the Russians in rocketry, and it became apparent to everyone that the Germans would be required to stay in America for many years to come. But how to provide them with legal papers of immigration without disclosing to the world, and especially to the citizens of the United States, that America was using Hitler’s scientists, who were hiding in the country illegally?
One part of the problem was rather easily solved: eventually the wives assembled at Landshut were quietly placed aboard military transports and shipped to Boston, where they were entered as ordinary immigrants with [146] provisional papers. In due time they would reach Fort Bliss.
Meanwhile, at the fort, some high shenanigans were under way, and it was due largely to the wit of Rachel Mott that the logjam about the paper work was broken. On her frequent trips to Ciudad Juárez she had made friends with the customs officials, whom she persuaded to be lenient with the Germans when they brought back armfuls of cheap Mexican purchases, and in these negotiations she had also come to know the chief immigration authority.
One afternoon she went to him and placed her problem honestly before him: “We want to regularize our Germans. It’s very important for the nation’s security.”
“I’ve been wondering what we ought to do about them. Clearly, they’re here illegally.”
“Illegally, yes. But with the knowledge and approval of the President.”
“I’ve been told that, and I’m damned if I know what it means.”
“It means we need them, badly.”
“Why?”
“Top secret.”
“Then why are you meddling in it?”
“Because no official wants to deal with this through ordinary channels.”
“What do you want me to do?”
“Tomorrow morning, at nine forty-five, we want you to be here, but to be looking upstream. At ten sharp we also want you to be here, inspecting every bus that comes in from Mexico.”
“And then?”
“You make all the Germans get out, one by one, and you give them ordinary visitors’ passes. In three months they can exchange these for permanent permission, and in however many years it takes, they can apply for citizenship.”
“Tomorrow?”
“Yes.”
So on a bright Thursday morning one hundred and ten German scientists who had never been in the United States, officially, climbed into buses at Fort Bliss, entered the international bridge at 0945 and drove into Mexico. Once in Ciudad Juárez, the buses circled about a statue of some [147] Mexican general and came immediately back across the bridge, where they were halted peremptorily by the chief of immigration. The scientists filed out of the buses and marched into the immigration offices, where they solemnly swore that they had, for some months, been living in Mexico City. They petitioned for entry permits, which were granted, after which they filed back into the buses and drove to the prison at Fort Bliss, legally entitled to be there.
One scientist, looking at his stamped paper with the silver eagle, said, “It was so very German, that whole arrangement.”
A few days later the wives arrived, and when Rachel watched them disembark she burst into tears, for their patient, aging faces reminded her of her own, and of the years of absence, and of the endless journeys back and forth. When the women embraced their husbands she had to turn away, and she was weeping when Dieter Kolff came to her: “My wife did not come. What can I do now?”
 
In that chaotic spring of 1945 when Stanley Mott had wandered into yet another German village, searching for scientists, and had stumbled upon one of the men he sought most avidly, he carried with him memorized instructions as to how he must handle Dieter Kolff and any unnamed men, like General Funkhauser, who might be fleeing with him:
 
Because there is a strong likelihood that Himmler’s SS Troops will seek to machine-gun the entire Peenemünde cadre to prevent them from bringing their secrets to us, speedy efforts must be made to move any captives to the secure area which will be established near Munich.
 
But these careful plans had made no provision for handling wives, especially those with no legal proof of their marriage.
So Liesl Koenig Kolff was left stranded in central Germany, with no papers, no wedding license and no knowledge of where her husband might be, her only consolation being that she had escaped the Russians. When stories began to filter out concerning conditions in East Germany, [148] she was grateful that Dieter’s resolve had saved her at least from that fate. Rumors circulated that men from Peenemünde were being kidnapped right off the streets of West German towns, so highly did the Russians value their knowledge, and for some months Liesl trembled with fear, convinced that she was about to be snatched because she knew that secret papers regarding future rockets existed.
She became one of the millions of women of this period who had no meaningful past that could be certified, no papers to prove her identity, no sensible hope for the future. In her wanderings she became much like Elinor Grant and Rachel Mott in their years of ceaseless travel without their husbands. Men went away to the excitement of war; women were left to meander with ration books and babies, and neither would ever understand the miseries of the other.
When Liesl learned that the scientists’ wives were congregating at the barracks in Landshut, she traveled across much of Germany to join them, but since none of them had known her as Dieter’s wife and since she had no papers or anyone to certify her, the American guards would not permit her entrance, and she drifted off to Hamburg, where city-wide rebuilding provided opportunities for almost anyone who would work.
Even so, she found it difficult to land a job of any kind and had to be content with a frowzy night club near the waterfront, not as an entertainer or a hostess, for she was neither pretty enough nor young enough for such glamorous work. She did not qualify even as a waitress or a kitchen helper; the best she could get was a job as a cleaning woman. She reported seven days a week at nine o’clock in the morning, and worked till ten or eleven at night; in time the new German government would halt such exploitation, but in this time of crisis she was glad to have a job of any kind and did not complain.
She, roomed with two other girls, much like herself, whose husbands had either died or absconded, and because Liesl knew how to hoard pfennigs and buy always at the cheapest places, they managed. When she tried to correspond with her parents at the farm, she received no reply, and this worried her, but when one of the girls suggested that she cross over into East Germany to see what had [149] happened to the farm, she shuddered.
She had better luck with her husband. Through authorities with the American occupation forces, she learned with difficulty where the German scientists were imprisoned. “That’s altogether the wrong word,” a major from California said. “They’re being kept together because they work well as a team.” He gave her the address of Fort Bliss, to which she sent a stream of letters advising her husband of her plight as a displaced person with no documentation.
She sent five letters before she received a reply, and when it arrived, all stamped and censored by two governments, she sat down in the night-club kitchen and held it unopened in her lap, just staring at it and trying to estimate what plan of salvation it might contain. That Dieter would somehow rescue her, she had no doubt, and this was justified, for when she opened it, she found it full of the most soaring optimism. It was the first letter she had ever received from him, so she could not claim to recognize his handwriting, but she did recognize the competence with which he wrote:
 
Life here is good. Professor Mott’s wife is a fine, decent person who teaches me English. We work as you can guess, and although we are in a fort we are not in prison. I have been to Mexico three times.
 
I have discussed with both Professor Mott and Mrs. Mott ways by which you can get to the United States. Do everything possible to get here. It is not heaven, but it is certainly not Russia.
 
There are three ways we can do it. First, go to the collection center at Landshut near Munich and join the other wives. I am surprised you haven’t done this. Second, see if there is any way you can get from the church in Wolgast where we were married by the Lutheran minister a copy of our wedding certificate, which will authorize you to join me when the time comes. Third, if all else fails, I shall hurry back to Germany as soon as the law allows and fetch you. Von Braun and Stuhlinger say they will return to Germany to marry their childhood sweethearts.
 
[150] As soon as she read Dieter’s second suggestion she understood his tactic; they would have to convince the authorities that they had been married in a church in Wolgast, the small town opposite Peenemünde’s island, and that the papers had somehow been lost when the Russians arrived. Her sixth letter to Fort Bliss covered this point nicely:
 
Two times I have traveled to Wolgast to see if I could get a copy of our marriage certificate, but when the Russians reached there, they tore our little church apart, and all the records are lost.
 
Husband and wife corresponded thus for many painful months, building a careful history of their past lives, and Liesl eased Dieter’s mind when she reported that she had quit her job in Hamburg in order to move closer to the other wives at Landshut “So as to be ready to join them when the time comes.”
The time came, but she was not allowed to accompany them on their journey to the United States, for the American authorities, well versed in such problems, concluded that she was merely one more prostitute trying to slip into the States on the spurious claim that she was married to somebody. In despair she watched the legal wives move out, then found her way back to West Berlin, where she was lucky to get another job cleaning up the kitchen of a cabaret.
She was there one night, sweaty, tired, bedraggled and hopeless, a drab thirty-year-old German woman given to plumpness, when the manager informed her that an American man wished to speak with her. Realizing how dismal she must appear, she started to tell the manager that she could not go into the cabaret, but he anticipated her: “Not in there. I took him into the alley.” After wiping her hands, she met him, Professor Mott, with whom she had spent three wonderful days at the time of her deliverance.
“I’ve been sent over to investigate-” he began, in good German.
“And Dieter ask you to find me,” she interrupted in English.
“How did you learn English?” he asked.
[151] “I know some day I be going to America. People everywhere speaking English these days.”
He wanted to take her immediately to his hotel and give her a good wash and a meal, but she said she must finish her work, so he waited, and when they were alone he spoke rapidly and frankly: “I am quite sure that you and Dieter were never married, and this raises all sorts of difficulty.”
“We were married in a little church in Wolgast, but the Russians-”
“Drop the Russians! You’re a woman without papers, and Army Intelligence will spot you a mile off.”
“I was married in Wolgast,” she said stubbornly, “and when the Russians-”
“Here’s what we’ll do. I will go before a notary public at the American embassy in Bonn. And I’ll swear that when I rescued Dieter Kolff and General Funkhauser in 1945, you were there as Dieter’s wife and it was you who possessed and delivered to me the papers we so badly wanted.”
“I did,” she said quietly. “Did Dieter tell you how I got them?”
“He told me two things, Liesl. How you saved them at the farm. How you got them from Funkhauser.”
“It’s strange,” she said in German. “Funkhauser is there safe, and I am a fugitive.”
“From the way Funkhauser’s starting, he’ll be president of something one of these days.”
On his return to Bonn he made the deposition, and Army Intelligence sent men to Berlin to investigate the case of Liesl Koenig, who claimed she was the wife of Dieter Kolff. It took them about six minutes to decide that she was lying, but when they also went to Hamburg and,” Landshut, they found that she had left a trail of good remembrances: “Hard-working. Studied English. Saved her money.” Her roommates, when questioned, proved that they were of the same type, not prostitutes at all, but merely women left adrift. Not many interrogations produced so consistent a record, and the investigators reported: “About her marriage, many questions. About her character, none.”
The clerk at the Bonn embassy who handled such routine matters was a black man, assigned there to prove to the Germans that America did not want to go the way of [152] Hitler’s racism. He was, of course, the only black in the embassy and vastly overeducated for his job, but he was effective; any German who wanted a visa to visit America, or a permit to emigrate there, had to satisfy this black man as to credentials, and he was very canny. Looking only at the reports of the field investigators, he was inclined to deny Liesl Koenig a visa, but when he studied Professor Mott’s report of the woman’s behavior at the time of Germany’s surrender, he realized that here was an exceptional case.
Summoning Mott, he said, “Bring that woman in. She merits closer attention,” and when he saw Liesl and heard her stubborn insistence that she had been married, in a little church ... “I know about Wolgast,” he said, “we’ve made inquiries there. No such church ever existed. The Russians left Wolgast untouched.”
“I was married in a small church-”
“Fraulein Koenig,” the consul interrupted, “because of your great service to the United States, I am issuing you a visa. It refers to you as Mrs. Kolff. When you reach Fort Bliss you may want to get married legally, but at any rate, you’re entitled to join your ...” He stopped, cleared his throat and ended, “You are herewith given entrance so that you may join Mr. Kolff in El Paso.”
 
At the fort, Liesl was amazed at how quickly the German wives had adapted to American ways: there was a school, from kindergarten to the fifth grade, a kind of hospital, garages for the family cars. They had already made a shrewd analysis of the El Paso stores. The women were all learning English, and some wrote long reports to young girls back in Germany whom the unmarried scientists were planning to import as wives.
Liesl was even more impressed by the Motts. They looked after the entire German contingent, and she discovered that she was not the only drifting wife that Mr. Mott had succeeded in getting into the States. When Wernher von Braun was called to Washington to give advice to the American government. Mott went along to protect and advise him, and in all the work at White Sands, Mott served as intermediary between the American military and the Germans. In addition, he was a constant friend, [153] and when General Funkhauser was arrested for running a public taxicab without a license, it was Mott who explained to the Texas Rangers that the voluble general was both legally in the United States and well on his way to becoming a citizen.
“That’s all well and good,” the Ranger said. “But he’s operating that damned Buick of his as a taxi.”
“He’s helping out the men here who have no cars. And he’s doing it at the Army’s suggestion.”
“Who suggested it.”
“I did.”
“Are you Army?”
“I’m liaison. I represent the Army.”
“Well, Professor, you tell that fat-ass German that if the El Paso traffic cops catch him one more time driving Mexican women over to Juárez in his taxicab, he’s in jail.”
The way Mott handled such matters won him the affection of the German wives, but it was his work on scientific problems that gained him the respect of their husbands; originally he had known little about rockets, but his solid work in aeronautics had enabled him to learn rapidly, and before long he was almost as capable as Kolff in anticipating and solving problems.
“He is very good, that one,” Dieter told his wife. “In daytime he keeps General Funkhauser from being arrested by the traffic police. At night he helps men like Stuhlinger get permission to do the things that are necessary.”
One night both Mott and his wife came to visit the Kolffs, and it was Rachel who said, “I’ve been visiting with a minister in El Paso, and he assures me that he would be most happy to arrange a wedding for you. He’s Lutheran.”
Dieter and Liesl looked at each other, then she turned away and went over to a desk, pulled open a drawer, and rummaged till she found her passport, visa and qualifying documents. Handing them to Mrs. Mott, she pointed to the various lines that identified her as Mrs. Dieter Kolff. “I swear many times I married. You, Professor, do the same. And Dieter swear, too. If I change my story now, I go to jail. You and Dieter go to jail.”
There was much legalistic discussion of this, until Liesl [154] grew angry. “Listen, you” It matters not whatever you say. Because I truly married. In a field near Wolgast. Just as I have said.”
When the Motts looked at her in amazement, fearing that the years of hardship had somehow addled her, she stood there angrily and said, “When the world falls apart, when this man”-and she indicated her husband-”knew not what to do with his papers, he comes to me and asks my help. We take our lives in our hand. We fight the whole SS, and I bring the shovel and we bury them. And I ask him, “Dieter, will you marry me?” and he say, “No, it is too dangerous.” And I almost die with shame. And then he say, “Much dangerous we do it public in church. The SS ask about papers. But I marry you here under the eye of God.” And in an open field near Wolgast we marry ourselves. And always I am his wife. I don’t need no El Paso church.”
After a long pause Mrs. Mott, who was never deterred from a course she believed was right, said, “Liesl, the German wives here in camp ... they say the American authorities at Landshut turned you back because they knew you were never legally married. If you allow me to arrange a wedding now ...”
Liesl spoke solely to Mrs. Mott, in German: “Every woman in this camp, you and the German and American wives, we all got through the years of war somehow, and the years of destruction that came after. And I do not now ask you how you lived during the long years when your husband was away. I do not ask how the German wives lived before they reached El Paso. For myself, I found work in night clubs, not singing, not dancing with the customers. I was the lowest helper, not even washing dishes in the kitchen. I worked in the toilets, scrubbing floors. So I do not give one damn what the others say. I survived, and that’s enough.”
Her own problems faded into insignificance when Stanley Mott informed the Kolffs that he had heard there would be an investigation of General Funkhauser. “The Army and the FBI aren’t stupid,” he said. “They know that some of the German scientists we brought here were committed Nazis, and they’re going to keep digging them out until they’re all back in Germany.” The Kolffs seemed stunned  [155] by this. “You’ll be questioned, I’m sure,” Stanley went on. “But don’t worry. We’ll be right there with you.”
 
From the first day the Peenemünde men arrived in the United States, there was constant agitation against them. Politicians who had served in the Allied armies at Salerno or the Bulge were little inclined to extend a cordial welcome to their former enemies. Some Jewish veterans who had seen Buchenwald and Auschwitz were repelled by the thought that now their country was depending upon former Nazis for its military might, and occasionally ugly incidents had occurred in El Paso when the Germans went shopping. Some veterans were especially outraged when the women spoke German in the stores, and the FBI received numerous anonymous complaints that the Nazis at Fort Bliss were communicating with Communists in Mexico.
It fell to Stanley Mott to defend his charges, and he did so faithfully. He told Congress, the local newspapers, the weekly magazines and the area Rotary Clubs that the most careful screening had been conducted, and that every individual guilty of criminal behavior or even suspected of it had been weeded out and sent back home. As for the remainder, and particularly Von Braun’s inner team, he assured his listeners that they had been as much endangered by the Nazis as any other Germans who had been destroyed:
 
“On the morning that I rescued General Funkhauser, Dieter Kolff and his wife, with their ultra-precious secret documents which they had been endeavoring to deliver into our hands, I learned that in a different part of Germany, Heinrich Himmler’s SS troopers had massacred eleven scientists they suspected of sabotage. And we had frightening proof that Himmler’s men intended doing exactly the same to the brilliant men who are now housed at Fort Bliss. Gentlemen, it was touch and go. And if Himmler’s men didn’t get them, the Russians were going to.
 
“I spent three years of my life trying to work it so that these men got to America and not into an early [156] grave. I know every one of them. I know every record, every black mark and every white. And I certify that they were needed. They’re needed now. And they will be needed in the future. Without them we might have stood naked in space.
 
“What is more important in the matters that you have been discussing today-the question of their loyalty now and their cleanliness in the past-I also certify these men. I know them better than I know my own son.”
 
It was because of testimony like this, often repeated, that Stanley Mott became known throughout the government and the Army as Professor Krauthead. He laughed when his wife told him of the nickname, and admitted that he deserved it: “At college-no, even in high school-I was often laughed at because I always had single objectives. I was known as a straight arrow. With some people that’s a term of criticism. Not with me.”
“Where is the arrow pointing now?” she asked.
“Out there,” he said, indicating the heavens.
“You think it’s that important?”
“Even more than you can guess.”
“Isn’t it because you were assigned the job of finding these men?”
“It goes much further back than that.”
“You certainly didn’t read science fiction as a boy?” she asked, amusement echoing in her voice.
“I’ve never read any. But I did study aeronautics, you remember. And what I study, I tend to believe. If it stands inspection.”
“You really believe that aviation and rockets and space are critically important?”
“In our lifetime we’ll leave El Paso at nine in the morning and have late lunch in Paris. I or somebody like me will walk on the Moon.”
“What nonsense.”
“Von Braun doesn’t think so. Nor Stuhlinger. Nor Dieter Kolff.”
“Sit down, Stanley. I want to ask you something very important.”
They sat near the window, staring out at the row of low buildings that housed the Germans, most of whose men [157] were up at White Sands testing an improved version of the A-4. Of the hundredfold Peenemünde rockets that had been assembled in New Mexico, only five remained; all the rest had been shot into the air northward toward Carrizozo, often exploding, as they had in the Baltic, sometimes performing miraculously.
Rachel shot her question: “Stanley, do you think it prudent to defend the Germans as vigorously as you do? In public, I mean.”
“You told me you’d grown extremely fond of them.”
“I have, and I’ve tried to help them. But how do you know they weren’t all dedicated Nazis? How can you certify their credentials so unhesitatingly?”
“Some of them I refused to certify, and they’re back in Germany.”
“But Von Braun and Kolff”, weren’t they Nazis, too? Don’t we have proof that Hitler gave Kolff a medal, personally?”
“We’ve been all through that. Dieter Kolff traveled halfway across Germany to hand me the secret papers. In helping us to avoid simple engineering mistakes, I would judge Kolff to have been worth about three billion dollars to this country.”
“I’m not talking about money. I’m talking about you, making a fool of yourself if this blows up in your face. If they all turn out to have been Nazi criminals.”
When he started to defend his judgment and his tactics, she cut him short with the one question he could not easily answer: “All right, I’ll give you Von Braun and Kolff. But what about General Funkhauser?”
“I thought he was your buddy.”
“He is. I’ve grown to like him very much. But I also suspect he was a Nazi and maybe even a storm trooper.”
Mott pressed his hands against his temples, a gesture he had acquired in Georgia when test questions were unusually perplexing. “I’ve studied every aspect of the Funkhauser problem, and I come up with this. He obeyed but he did not initiate, and at the first opportunity he quit the sorry business.”
When congressmen pestered him about Funkhauser he reiterated that sentence until he came to accept it as the fundamental judgment regarding all his Germans. Jewish groups had come to Fort Bliss with solid complaints, and [158] he had reasoned the same way with them. And the FBI, extremely careful in such matters, had compiled a rather damaging dossier: “These papers prove your man Funkhauser was a Nazi criminal.”
“They do nothing of the sort,” Mott snapped. “Look at what the papers say. He was a reasonably good administrator who bumbled along from one job to the next, altering his colors whenever necessary. Study the record and you’ll conclude that he can be characterized as absolutely anything.”
“How do you characterize him, Professor Mott?”
“As a man whose courage and determination enabled us to get hold of documents we sorely needed for the safety of this nation. If I defend him, it’s because I appreciate the great good he did us.”
“Would you be content if we shipped him back to Germany?”
“I would oppose it with my life. In very risky times, Helmut Funkhauser chose our side. If caught, he would have been shot.”
“A rat deserting a sinking ship.”
“Exactly, but, gentlemen, he brought with him one whopping piece of cheese.”
The day came when two Army generals and an FBI team appeared at Fort Bliss. As was expected, the Motts were asked to summon the Kolffs, and when the party assembled, a young FBI man said succinctly, “We have solid evidence on every stage of Helmut Funkhauser’s life in Germany. We know the date on which he sentenced you to death, Herr Kolff, the date on which he flew you to meet Hitler. We know that he was appointed to supervise the rocket works at Peenemünde, and what he did at the caves of Nordhausen. There is nothing you can tell us, except for the few months that are blank.” He stopped, and was about to conclude his statement when one of the generals took over.
“The period between when you left Peenemünde and when you met Professor Mott.” He waited. “Tell us what happened in that period.”
Dieter and Liesl Kolff looked at one another, and finally she spoke, in broken English, and she was so nervous that one of the FBI men said in good German, “You may speak German.”
[159] She looked at him but did not smile appreciatively, as he thought she might. She frowned, for she saw in this young man with the close-cropped hair, the dark blue suit, the highly polished black shoes, America’s version of the perpetual policeman: the SS who knocked on doors at night; the French Sûreté men she had known while waiting for her boat at Le Havre; the Russians whom she had escaped. They were the same in all nations, essential but to be avoided. If General Funkhauser, regardless of his record, was in trouble with these young men, she had to be on Funkhauser’s side.
Slowly, and with great care, she told of hiding the papers, of her marriage to Dieter in the little church at Wolgast, of their flight after the bombing and their encounter with Funkhauser. She did not disclose the sentence of death passed in Wittenberge or the emotions she felt when facing the firing squad, but she expounded at some length on the courage shown by Funkhauser in getting them across Germany and his resourcefulness in finding them food and safe passage, and places to sleep at night.
“He was a very brave man,” she said. “Without him we would have been dead.”
“Did you know him to be a Nazi?”
“My father was a Nazi. He had to be or he would get no barley.”
“But wasn’t General Funkhauser a hard-working Nazi?”
“I never knew him at Peenemünde. First time I saw him, he was city commander at Wittenberge. Trying to do a good job. But he gave up that important post to flee with us ... to take the secret documents to the Americans.”
“Herr Kolff,” the FBI man said abruptly. “You haven’t answered my questions. Did you and your wife agree that she should do the talking?”
In English, Dieter said, “She always speaks first. She’s a farmer’s daughter.”
“Is what she said accurate?” The FBI man studied his papers. “Were you really married in the church at Wolgast?”
“A woman ought to know where she was married.”
“About Funkhauser. Was he an ardent Nazi?”
“He was. I was present when Hitler promoted him to general.”
“And gave you a medal?”
[160] “Hitler appreciated me for the same reason your people do. I can fix rockets, that’s all.”
“What did you think when General Funkhauser sentenced you to death at Stettin?”
“He was a colonel then. I thought I was dead.”
“Why weren’t you?”
“Because Germany needed rockets. The way the world needs them now.”
“If you were an American official, would you allow General Funkhauser to remain in this country?”
Before Dieter could reply, his wife did a surprising thing. “Pardon me, misters. But you must see what General Funkhauser did for us.” And she pulled up her skirt, revealing on her left leg above the knee a deep, jagged scar. “In a small battle I was shot through this leg, and the general could have grabbed the papers and gone ahead and escaped without us. But he put me on his bicycle and pushed me the last miles, and Professor Mott can say so, too, for he lifted me off the bicycle.” Looking directly at each of the FBI men in turn, she said, “I would give him refuge.”
It was irrelevant, really, what the Kolffs testified, because the matter of The United States v. Funkhauser was taken out of the hands of the little group in Fort Bliss. On one of his trips to California, General Funkhauser had met with leaders of the aviation and rocket industry that was centered in that state, and he was so impressive in his knowledge of rocketry and its manufacture, so modest in his account of how he had steered Von Braun around seemingly insuperable blockages, that very soon three different companies wanted to hire him.
California senators tend to be powerful, and when they went to the White House to say that their constituents, five or six of them, wanted to employ this master scientist Funkhauser, he was cleared immediately. The general left Fort Bliss in a private DC-3 and returned some years later in his own Beechcraft. He was a troubleshooter for Allied Aviation, specializing in their rocket and space ventures.
 
Liesl Kolff submerged herself in the reassuring routine of El Paso, and one morning she was told, “Mrs. Kolff, you may accompany your husband to White Sands today. Something special.”
[161] She was present, at a goodly distance, when the last complete A-4 in the world was launched with an infinity of recording devices aboard. She saw the enormous flames shoot out and heard the echoing roar. She watched as it climbed perfectly into the high blue of the desert sky, then sped off to the north. How different this treeless desert is, she thought, from the green woods of Peenemünde. What a far way we have traveled, Dieter and I.
She gave birth to a son, whom she named Magnus, after Von Braun’s younger brother, and surprised everyone at Fort Bliss when she spoke loudly and forthrightly in defense of Wernher von Braun when newspapermen in Washington accused him of having been Hitler’s right-hand man: “We are all Americans now, even General Funkhauser, and I want to hear no more about the past. The last A-4 is gone. Now we must occupy ourselves with other matters.”
She and Dieter remained close to the Motts; she babysat for them whenever needed and refused compensation. She recognized the fair-haired Rachel as a most generous and sensible woman, and of course, both Kolffs looked on Mott as their savior.
The four were together, veterans of Fort Bliss and completely acclimatized to life in the Texas-Mexican Southwest, when news came that the Army had decided to experiment with rockets in a massive way. Dieter and Mott were delighted, for they saw this as a breakthrough in the field they had elected for their life’s work, but the two women were apprehensive when they learned where the Army intended sending them.
“Alabama,” the soldier on the phone said. “A place called Huntsville, Alabama.”
“Why there?” Mott asked in amazement.
“Because Senator John Sparkman lives in Huntsville,” the soldier said. “And in Army life that’s a damned good reason.”
Further investigation showed that a huge arsenal had been activated there during World War II, Redstone it had been named, and it had served well. But with peace breaking out it had been no longer needed; the Huntsville people who had worked there were thrown into the cadres of the unemployed, and it had fallen to Senator Sparkman to find them something to do. He had found them a [162] challenging new job: these Alabama farmers, cotton pickers mostly, would build the machines that would throw men out to the stars. But to accomplish this feat they would need the help and guidance of the Peenemünde men like Dieter Kolff.
“It’s what I dreamed of,” Kolff said. Like General Funkhauser in decaying Germany, he was prepared to move wherever he was needed, and now he was needed in Alabama.
 
In the dark days of the 1946 senatorial campaign, when Fremont’s naval hero Norman Grant was discovering that no mere amateur was going to defeat the practiced old warhorse Ulysses Gantling, he became aware of a rather pretty freshman girl from the university who was working as a volunteer in his headquarters, savagely determined to see the old senator defeated.
Once when she was stuffing envelopes with obvious fury, he asked her, “Why the frown?” and she replied, “I hate that double-crosser.”
“Who?” he asked, and she snapped: “Gantling.”
“I never allow myself to speak of him that way,” Grant said with a disarming smile, and she snapped again: “Well, he hasn’t done to you what he’s done to me.”
Grant had sat down beside the agitated girl to ask what Senator Gantling, a rather kindly man even though a political enemy, could possibly have done to a pretty college freshman, and the girl explained: “He didn’t do it to me. He did it to John Pope, the mealy-mouth.”
“Pope?”
“No. Gantling,” and she pretended to spit at the corner. Grant, after looking carefully at the flushed girl, made a shrewd guess: “And you hope to marry this John Pope some day?”
“If he gives me a chance.”
Grant smiled and reassured her: “He will. Who is he? Who are you?”
The girl drew back, her bright eyes flashing. “You don’t know who John Pope is? You’re not ready to be a United States senator.”
Now Grant laughed. He was losing the primary but not his sense of humor. “On my word, I’ve never heard of the young man.”
[163] “Where were you when he was setting all kinds of football records around here?”
“Oh, that John Pope? I was away at war.”
It was extremely fortunate for the future senator that he said these words, because after Penny Hardesty had introduced herself and wished the hero well, she had a bright idea: “If you were the hero people around here say you were, Mr. Grant, you ought to appear before the crowds in uniform. Get their sympathy.”
“I’d never do that. The war’s over.”
“And so are you if you don’t pull out the plug.” She felt so strongly about the necessity for some dramatic impact in his flagging campaign that she took her concern to the bright young Irishman who seemed to be in charge of strategy, and told him, “Finnerty, this campaign is dying on its feet, and you know it. We’ve got to capitalize on the boss’s military heroism, or we’re going to lose.” She shook her finger in Finnerty’s face. “And I don’t want to see that foul-ball Gantling back in Washington.”
“I’m quite sure Norman Grant would never consent to trailing around this state in his naval uniform. That is definitely out.”
She stood by Finnerty’s desk, biting her nails, obviously agitated by this daily erosion of what should have been a winning position. Then the idea struck her: “Finnerty! He doesn’t have to appear in uniform. You do.” She became excited, and with flashing hands, arranged the imaginary podium: “Grant stays over here in whatever he chooses to wear. No, make it something dark blue that might be taken for a uniform. You stand over here. Buy yourself a new uniform if necessary. And you read the two citations that appear in this brochure.”
She was so enthusiastic about the possibilities that she babbled on, predicting Gantling’s sound defeat, but Finnerty stopped her: “What would you think if I could import a tall colored man who lost one foot to the sharks. Very handsome, speaks very well. I mean, in a state like Fremont, would it help or hurt?”
It took Penny one second to answer that question. She leaped around the desk and kissed Finnerty on the cheek. “You should be running against Gantling.” When he recalled the incident later, it occurred to him that Miss Hardesty never referred to the campaign as a crusade to [164] elect Grant, but always as a vendetta to defeat Gantling, and one day when things were moving handsomely he asked her why. They were in a diner with their candidate, grabbing a hurried meal between stops at factories, and Penny, with her mouth half filled with cheeseburger, said, “I despise Gantling because he’s a spineless weasel.” Finnerty told Grant, “We better keep this one away from the press.” But she continued: “For four years Gantling promised John Pope that he would assign him to Annapolis. Did so twice in my hearing. But last year, even though John graduated with all sorts of honors, Gantling could see this campaign looming ahead, and he gave his appointment to the son of that crapper who’s running his campaign in Webster. On a scale of ten, John Pope is a nine-point-nine, that son-of-a-bitch in Webster is a two-point-three-”
“Penny,” Norman Grant interrupted. “I wish you’d not use profanity. Some newspaper person might hear it.”
“He’s a newspaperman,” Penny said, pointing to Finnerty.
“And I agree with Captain Grant. Knock it off.”
“I never swore till I met Gantling. He is really a-”
“Start now,” Grant said. “My opponent is what you say. He has the character of a weeping willow, and it looks as if we’re going to retire him. Thanks to Finnerty ... and you.” He added this last phrase so lamely that Finnerty had to say, “Captain Grant. You better know now. It was Penny who dreamed up the idea of us three veterans.”
Grant nodded severely, then asked, as if he were her father, “Where is young Pope now?”
“Who knows? He was so disgusted when Senator Gantling reneged on the appointment to Annapolis that I think he just sat in a corner and cried. Then someone told him that each year the Navy sends a handful of superior enlisted men on to Annapolis. He’s in the Navy somewhere, and before long, if I know him, he’ll be selected for Annapolis.”
“If I’m elected ... I really don’t know much about this, but if I’m entitled to, I’ll appoint him.”
“John would not rely on that, Mr. Grant. He’s been deceived before ... by a senator.” Her lips trembled and she came close to tears, but then she stuffed the last of her burger into her mouth, looked at her watch and said, “We’re due at the glove factory.”
[165] When Grant won the primary in the early summer of 1946, Penny Hardesty moved to his statewide headquarters in Benton, where she assumed, with Finnerty, command of that office. From everything she read, she became convinced that this was the year for a Republican triumph, and it was she who coined the phrase that helped Grant cast scorn and ridicule on the rather drab ward heeler the Democrats had nominated to oppose him: ONLY ONE MAN IS FIT TO SERVE IN THE SENATE. She also invented the slogan that helped the entire state ticket defeat the Democrats: HAVEN’T YOU HAD ENOUGH? She drafted sharply worded statements explaining how Truman’s ineptness and the fumbling of the Democratic Congress had caused meat prices to rise while delivering little profit to the farmer. She ventilated three regional scandals in which Democratic bureaucrats had abused the Western states, and to cap her achievement, she went personally to the home of Ulysses Gantling and persuaded him, for the welfare of the party and the nation, to make a ringing endorsement of “our great naval hero, Captain Norman Grant.”
On election night, when Grant saw the magnitude of his victory and realized that he had won six secure years in Washington in one of the finest jobs the nation had to offer, he told Finnerty and Penny, “I want you to come to Washington with me.”
He encountered two objections: his wife, Elinor, deemed it most unwise to take so young a girl to the capital; and Penny herself pointed out that she did not yet have her degree from the university. To his wife, Grant replied, “That bright little girl is forty years old right now. It’s Washington that had better watch out, not Penny Hardesty.” And to Penny he said, “I’ve called the people at Fremont State, and they’ve arranged to transfer your credits to Georgetown University. It’s all been done.” Then he added the clincher: “And if Mr. Pope does get into Annapolis, there you’d be.”
So Penny Hardesty, nineteen years old and the fourth child of a working-class family that had never sent a member beyond high school, went to Washington to help establish a newly elected senator in his offices and to pick up a full scholarship at Georgetown University, arranged for by her employer. She resembled the thousands of other [166] young girls who left distant states to build their careers in the nation’s capital; they were all bright, all ambitious, all moving into a city where eligible men were outnumbered by nubile women ten-to-one.
On that score Penny had no worries. In fact, she was so fearfully busy attending to her senator twelve hours a day and cracking her books at night that she could not have dated had she had the opportunity. Tim Finnerty, through his association with her in the Fremont campaign, appreciated what a brilliant, coordinated person she was and was ready to escort her anywhere. Indeed, he was so eager to do so that she had to clarify things: “Look, Finnerty. There’re two reasons why we’re not allowed to get serious. A Midwest Baptist is not the girl for a Boston Catholic to take home to his mother, and his sister in the nunnery, and his uncle Francis Xavier, who is a priest. And somewhere out on the bounding blue I have a sailor.”
Senator Grant showed Penny his memorandum to officials in the Navy in which he asked their advice as to whether he was legally entitled to appoint to Annapolis a young man who had already enlisted as an ordinary seaman. The Navy, inordinately proud of having one of its heroes in Congress, called immediately to assure Grant that they would look into the matter and reply shortly. In the meantime Penny received a letter from her sailor, proving that this young man did not wait for others to solve his problems for him:
 
Marvelous news. I’ve been appointed to Officer Candidate School. It won’t be Annapolis, but it will give me a chance to go into flying later on. I’ve already told Mother and Dad, and I want to tell you, too, but nobody else. I stood either at the very top of all the men who took the exams, or close to it. It’s going to come true, Penny.
 
Just as she was kissing the signature, Senator Grant came by with the good news: “Navy tells me to go ahead.” And on this assurance she sent the telegram: SENATOR GRANT HAS APPOINTED YOU TO ANNAPOLIS. I AM PROUD OF YOU. PENNY.
She would always remember the ensuing years as among the richest of her life-not the most exciting, for they were [167] to come later, but the most rewarding. She worked m the office of a fine man, whom she could respect increasingly. She worked beside a brilliant man, Tim Finnerty, whose shrewd insights into political maneuvering she envied. She was attending a fine university whose professors, Finnerty pointed out acidly, “are exactly the kind of Catholic subversives you yokels from the West ought to come up against.”
She was beginning to see, from the inside, that the Democrats were not the inept slobs she had said during the campaign and that Harry Truman was a rather more substantial President than she had at first perceived. “Watch out, Finnerty. That man won’t be a pushover in 1948.” But both Grant and Finnerty were satisfied that Dewey would win easily.
Because she was taking pre-law courses at Georgetown, she became Senator Grant’s liaison with the Justice Department and developed a burning admiration for the manner in which the Supreme Court of the United States served as a buffer between the various branches of government and especially between the forty-eight sovereign states.
On four different occasions she had an opportunity to meet Justices of the Court: twice she carried papers to Chief Justice Vinson. who seemed austere and preoccupied. Justice Burton she liked immensely, but Justice Douglas made her suspicious; she agreed with Senator Grant that some of his dissenting opinions were asinine. But the Court as a whole, especially the stalwart conservative judges like Burton, Reed and Jackson, satisfied her that the system evolved by the founding fathers was a good one, probably the best known to any nation.
But when the work was done, and her explorations finished, it was to the lovely town of Annapolis that she repaired, always delighted by the first sight of its towers, the stateliness of the Naval Academy, the delicate charm of its little streets and Southern mansions. Sometimes, as she drove her Plymouth in from Washington on Friday evening, she would draw over to some curb and simply look at the beauty of this rare town, checking the old brick houses she had not seen before, then driving slowly down to the enchanting harbor that crept right into the heart of town, with small craft lining its shores. It must be, she [168] thought, the most beautiful state capital in America.
To her left, as she studied the harbor, rose the old gray buildings of the Naval Academy, where John Pope was learning the rules of his profession. In his plebe year he was allowed few privileges; sometimes Penny made the trip to Annapolis and wasn’t even able to see him. But she came to know the widow of a naval captain who ran a small boardinghouse on colorful Pinckney Street, and when John was not available, there she nestled down to study her law books. When he was given freedom he joined her there for dinners which the widow delighted to prepare, after which John took over the Plymouth for a drive through the Maryland countryside.
Once when he had a full day off, they boarded the ferry and rode across the bay to the Eastern Shore, where they entered a strange and beautiful world that seemed locked by history into the eighteenth century. They ate crabs and oysters and beaten biscuits and told each other how different this was from Fremont and Nebraska. On one drive back John spotted an ice cream stand, from which he purchased a pint of rum raisin ice cream, and as they finished the last bites, licking the wooden spoons, Penny whispered, “I was going to say that I wished life could go on like this forever. We don’t have to wish it. You and I can make it continue.”
After their first sexual experience in the autumn of 1944 it had been understood between them that they could repeat it whenever an opportunity occurred, and during John’s senior year in high school they had found many occasions for relaxed and extended explorations. They were in love and there was every expectation that some day they would marry; they both wanted this, equally, and no attractive girl that John met as a football hero diverted him from Penny, and not even a man as gifted as Tim Finnerty distracted her.
In the week before John enlisted in the Navy, they had made love every night, as if trying to store up memories sufficient for the long years ahead, and whenever he managed to snatch a leave, they did the same. Once she traveled to Chicago to be near the Naval Training Station when he was granted two days of freedom, but now that he was a fully registered midshipman at the Naval Academy he felt constrained: “The Navy would knock the devil [169] out of me if they found I’d been registering with you in some cheap hotel.” This they refused to do, so their lovemaking was restricted to the Plymouth, parked in some dark Eastern Shore lane, or in the home of some girl friend in Washington. But their affection for one another increased with each meeting, whether they were able to go to bed or not.
Mostly they talked, neither ever growing weary of learning what the other was engaged in. “They have some of the brightest professors at Georgetown. Really brilliant men whose teaching is entirely different from that at Fremont U. Question. Question. Question. They want to drive you in a corner, and if you can’t fight your way back ... goodbye.”
John said that his studies at the Academy were tougher than he had expected, especially in mathematics. “You’d think the Navy ran on a slide rule. Sometimes I can hardly keep afloat, until I remember that the others are having an even tougher time with the formulas than I am. You know, Penny, we got a damned good education back there in Henry Clay High School.”
On one visit, when the widow either accidentally or prudently had to visit relatives in Baltimore, they hurried to bed, where John confided the good news: “As you know, I put in for aviation training, and three days ago I received confirmation. I go either to New Mexico or Pensacola for real flight training. Not exploratory stuff, but the real thing.”
Before he could do this, however, he had to master smallcraft sailing, and the Navy kept some nineteen two-man boats in the Severn River, where he learned to handle sails, cast off ropes and dock his little yacht, as he and Penny called it. Twice he was able to take her sailing, and on one glorious weekend he and six other novices, under the eye of a former Navy captain, were able to take their girls on a two-day cruise down the bay to the enchanting town of Oxford, which dated back to the 1600s. The men slept aboard; the girls checked in at the old inn on the waterfront, and at dusk they met for crab cakes and beer. On the quiet sail back to Annapolis, John whispered, “The day I graduate, we get married.”
“I decided that three years ago,” Penny said. She was well on her way to becoming a lawyer, and told him, “When [170] you’re flying off some carrier, I’ll be fighting government cases in some town like Boston. You watch.”
Even though she had learned to respect the quiet, tough manner in which Harry Truman handled the perilous tasks of the Presidency, she was astounded when the 1948 election drew to a close with him still in contention. She had assumed, like all Washington people from the Western states, that Governor Dewey would win easily, and she had even played the game of who would be invited to join his Cabinet: “There’s a real chance that Senator Grant will be offered Secretary of the Interior.”
“And I’ll advise him not to accept,” Finnerty said.
“Why in the world not?” Penny asked. “When Dewey wins this year, he’ll be good for eight years. That’s better than being a senator.”
“There’s nothing better than being a senator,” Finnerty said.
Together with Grant, they returned to Fremont to campaign for the entire Republican ticket, and when she saw once more that stable, solid group of Republicans she was reassured: “Dewey has it. And you, Senator Grant, are going to have to make some tough decisions. How do you incline?”
At such moments she became vaguely aware that her boss and his wife were not having an easy time handling his new responsibilities. Elinor Grant was as attractive as ever, her dark hair still framing the pallid face austerely, her controlled smile still giving an aloof but pleasing impression. What seemed lacking was any conviction that she approved what her husband was doing. When Midshipman John Pope took his girl Penny to the ArmyNavy game in Philadelphia, it was a total event: both of them wanted Navy to win, silly as it might seem to others; both of them cheered, and drank beer afterward, and yelled at their friends in a day of irresponsible delight. And whenever Penny negotiated a new milestone on her way to a law degree, John exulted with her. When Mrs. Grant refused to participate in any celebration of her husband’s achievements, Penny said, “Maybe she doesn’t comprehend what an enormous thing it is to get a bill passed through the Congress. Especially one that will benefit the entire West.”
If Penny was confused by Elinor’s indifference, she would [171] have been appalled had she Learned that Mrs. Grant still protested the fact that the senator had brought Penny to Washington. “Mark my words, Norman, that girl has her cap set for you. Sooner or later, there’s bound to be a scandal.”
Once, in the moment of victory over the hapless Democrat who had opposed him in the senatorial race, Norman Grant had kissed his ablest lieutenant Penny Hardesty; Elinor had seen this and it rankled.
She nagged her husband so incessantly that one morning in 1949-when Harry Truman was in the White House for four more astonishing years and big, friendly Tom Clark was on the Supreme Court-Senator Grant summoned Penny to his office. “Penny, I’ll let you have the bad news straight, and I don’t want to discuss it. You’re fired.” She gasped, and then he added quickly, “And five different senators want to hire you. I’d take Glancey of Red River. He’s a mover.”
“Why?” she asked, stunned by the two messages, one so devastating, the other so commendatory.
“I can’t say.”
“It’s Mrs. Grant, isn’t it?” When he said nothing, she added, “It’s got to be.” When she carried the news to Finnerty he gasped, although he had been forewarned by the senator, and she said, “It’s got to be Mrs. Grant, doesn’t it?” All he would admit was “He doesn’t have an easy time with that one.”
“He advises me to take the job with Glancey of Red River.”
“So do I.”
“Then you knew?”
“Yes, and that’s all I’ll say.”
“Well, I’ll say something more. Elinor Grant is going to destroy her husband, you watch.”
“Nothing can destroy our boy, and you know it.”
She sat on his desk. “Why is it that women hate other women? Every senator I know has a wife who despises all the women who work for him. Why can’t women ...”
“Frankly, this is the wrong time to discuss the problem with me. I’m getting married next month.”
“That’s wonderful. Who’s the girl?”
“An Irish girl. From Boston. A good Catholic, like you said.”
[172] “Now I can kiss you!” Penny said, and suddenly she was lost in tears. She was being separated from two men who meant so much to her, Grant and Finnerty. She had helped propel them toward the stars and now she was being cut loose. “You’re buzzards, all of you. And I love you, all of you, even old double-dealer Gantling.”
Before she shifted jobs she was requested to join in a series of conferences, which determined many of her future attitudes. Paul Stidham, Elinor’s father, now old and enfeebled, hurried to Washington to look into the problems that seemed to be immobilizing his daughter, and as soon as he arrived she appeared to improve, regaining her wit and her quiet competency.
Paul asked if he could meet with Penny Hardesty alone, and when they sat together in the senator’s inner office he asked bluntly, “Did my daughter have any justification in having you discharged?”
“Sexually, none, although I believe she feared that. Tim Finnerty in our office wanted to marry me. I’ve been engaged for some years, more or less, to John Pope, whom you probably remember as a football hero at Henry Clay High School. He’s a midshipman at Annapolis, only a few miles away.” Speaking almost harshly, she said, “I am not a sex-starved young secretary.”
“What was the problem?”
“You know better than I,” Penny said coldly.
“Her inability to get Washington in focus?”
“Or anything else,” Penny said with asperity. This man’s daughter had damaged her grievously and she felt no inclination to treat him gently; had he educated Elinor better, this would not have happened.
“What’s her trouble, Miss Hardesty?”
“You’ve surely known for a long time, Mr. Stidham. She’s unable to face the reality of her world. So she engages in fantasies about people like me ... and her husband. She has no concept of what his job entails, or the power he might command, or the good he might do.”
“What are you going to do?”
“I’m going to work for a real senator, a tough, brawling man who knows what he wants and who gets things done. A Democrat, God forbid.” She laughed heartily, then apologized: “I’m sorry, Mr. Stidham, that I’ve been so blunt.
But unless you get your son-in-law off dead center, where [173] his wife has forced him to stand, he’s going to be a very poor senator indeed.”
“My own opinion.”
“Oh, Finnerty will keep getting him elected, and he’ll fill a spot. But that’s not what he intended when he took that oath in the life raft.”
“What oath?”
“Finnerty and that wonderful Negro told me about it. When the second night ended and it looked as if they would all perish, Norman went kind of wild and swore that if he survived ... Well, he was going to do something with his life. He’s not doing it.”
A plenary session was called; to which, significantly, Mrs. Grant was not invited. It, was held in the back room of a Washington restaurant, ostensibly to bid Penny Hardesty farewell. Grant attended, of course, and so did Finnerty and Paul Stidham. The head of Grant’s office in Fremont was there, and to Penny’s surprise, so was her new boss, Senator Michael Glancey of Red River, a ruddyfaced, boisterous Democrat from the oil fields.
“I have asked you all to join me,” Paul Stidham said in his soft, high voice, “because my son-in-law Senator Grant needs your advice. Frankly, I long for him to pull a strong oar in the Senate, and he isn’t doing it. What’s wrong?”
Senator Glancey was not hesitant: “When a freshman comes in here, he’s wise to keep his mouth shut. Norman’s done that. But he’s also wise to start chopping out a niche for himself. And you haven’t done that, Norman.”
“I’ve worked on agriculture.”
“And very well, too. But men seem to attain stature in this body not by attending to the issues that please the people in their home state. We’re all obliged to do that. What counts is the way a man tackles the big issues, the ones that affect us all.”
“Meaning?”
“The biggest thing in the world right now is atomic energy. What we do with it. How it fits into the national and international defense posture.”
“You’re handling that rather well. You and Lyndon Johnson.”
“Thank God for Lyndon; he has his head screwed on right. If he can hold his seat in the Senate, he’ll be a force for good.”
[174] “What has atomic power to do with me”?” Grant asked.
“Not a damned thing,” Glancey snapped. “But advanced aviation and rockets and what they’re calling space are also going to be of major importance. I’m sure of it, and on my aviation committee we need a good man from the Republican side. A strong fellow likely to be reelected term after term.”
Finnerty said, “I think we can guarantee the elections, Senator Glancey”
“I think so, too.” As a successful senator, Glancey had learned to pay attention to what the field managers of other senators said, for he appreciated how much an elected official owed to the men who kept the machine rolling. Turning to the man from Grant’s state office, he asked, “Do you concur? Can you keep getting him elected?”
“There’s not a cloud on the horizon.”
“There’s always a cloud on the horizon,” Glancey corrected. “It’s just that sometimes we don’t recognize it.”
This encouraged the Fremont man to speak more frankly. “Our senator is safe for one more election, of that I’m sure. But if he has not established himself ...”
“Exactly,” Glancey said. Then he chuckled. “God knows I’m not here to elect Republicans. But the solemn fact is that we’re never going to carry Fremont. So what we want is a good Republican rather than some clown. A feisty young Republican will knock you off one of these days, Norman. Not a Democrat. That is, if you allow yourself to become an old clown like Gantling. We all knew he was doomed.”
“And you think Norman will be doomed if he doesn’t get off dead center?” Stidham asked.
“Definitely. What I offer you, Grant, in return for this very bright young lady that you’re tossing my way, is full partnership on our aviation committee. We need you as a former military man, a hero if you will. We need a strong, continuing man in your party.”
“I’ve never piloted an airplane.”
“Nor have I. To tell you the truth, I’m what is known as a white-knuckle flier. I’m scared to death of the damned things. But I fly in them because my job demands it.”
Senator Glancey asked for another drink, then said, “Our country’s the same way. But we must learn to handle [175] planes and all the things that’ll come after. And you’re the man to help us.”
 
So in the spring of 1950 John Pope and Penny Hardesty, not yet married, committed themselves to aviation, he at a naval air station in Pensacola, where he would master advanced fighter training, she to Senator Glancey’s office, from which as a lawyer she would be encouraged to exert constant influence on legislation dealing with aviation and the burgeoning field of rocketry.
On graduation day at Annapolis, two United States senators appeared to cheer Penny when the newlyweds came out beneath the canopy of crossed swords-Grant, Republican of Fremont; Glancey, Democrat of Red River-and each kissed the bride for the delighted photographers. Mrs. Grant, who did not accompany her husband to Annapolis, was freshly disturbed when the pictures appeared in her hometown newspaper.


III
KOREA
LIEUTENANT (junior grade) John Pope drew the worst assignment of his career on a bitterly cold January day off the coast of Korea when a sailor aboard the carrier Brandywine shouted, “Hey! Chopper coming in!”
Pope and other pilots on stand-by moved to the railing of the ship, stamped their feet to keep warm, and watched as an Air Force copter came low over the freezing waters, circled professionally, and dropped neatly onto the designated square. The bearer of bad news was a colonel in his forties, a no-nonsense type who strode across the deck to greet the captain of the ship, who passed him along to the Carrier Air Group commander. Within minutes all Navy pilots were called to the briefing room belowdecks.
“Problem’s simple,” the colonel said as he stood with pointing stick before a map of the two Koreas. “The North Korean air force consists of a few native pilots, a lot of Chinese and a handful of very good Russians who fly out of sanctuary up there beyond the Yalu River. We have no complaints. Our F-86s are knocking the hell out of them in one-on-one combat. Our only wish is they’d send more MiGs down the alley, because if they do, we’ll crucify them.”
Pope thought: Standard Air Force doctrine. When do we get to the point? The colonel, as if he had heard the question, said, “So why am I here? I’ll tell you why I’m here. The damned Koreans have come up with a gimmick [177] that’s giving us real trouble. With the best F-86 pilots in the world, we can’t handle it, and frankly, gentlemen, I’ve come here to enlist your help.”
With his wand he pointed to an imaginary channel leading down the west coast of Korea to Inchon, the seaport used by the American forces, a center of great cargo dumps and gasoline depots. “The little bastards have built themselves what we call the Slow Boy, a small, cumbersome plane made largely of wood. Flies only at night, reflects practically no radar signal, carries a healthy load of small bombs, and operates on a Who-gives-a-damn? principle. That is, it flies very low, and if it sneaks through and bombs one of our dumps, fine. If it gets shot down, who cares?”
The colonel laughed at the crudity of this tactic, then grew serious. “Trouble is, it works. They keep getting through. Our F-86s are no damn good trying to spot those plywood crates slipping in. Our gunners don’t find them. So our ammunition dumps keep exploding. What we need is four or five of you Navy men who are practiced night fighters. With your heavier, slower planes. Police that corridor and knock hell out of the Slow Boys.”
He said no more, but the CAG commander took the podium and said crisply, “Washington and Hawaii approve. We’re detaching a group of four F4U-5NL night fighters to K-22 as of now. Lieutenant Pope will be in charge,” and he rattled off the names of the other three. “You will take off at 1300. Briefing starts immediately. That’s all, gentlemen.”
 
K-22 was situated only forty miles from where the Brandywine rolled in the heavy seas. It perched on the extreme eastern edge of snowbound Korea on a small peninsula jutting out into the Sea of Japan, and every American aviator who served there acquired a tricky little habit that would remain with him the rest of his life. It concerned airplane takeoffs.
It wasn’t the perpetual fog which gave trouble, nor the proximity to the sea. It was the water in the gasoline; it gave no trouble once the plane was airborne, for then rapid fuel consumption permitted the engine to ingest the small amount of water without danger, but on takeoff it was hell.
[178] Since a plane on taking off needed every ounce of forward thrust, even the slightest dilution by water could prove fatal, and that was no figure of speech, because the plane, just as it was about to lift into the air, would find itself choking. It would gasp, then stutter, then start that dreadful plunge, ending with a sardonic explosion. The rotten gasoline which had refused to lift the plane into flight now exploded in ghostly flame, burning the pilot to death.
At K-22 that winter five planes had burned on takeoff, and pilots not on flying duty sat in the rude mess hall tensed up whenever a fellow pilot was on the strip preparing to take off. Conversation would halt. The young men would lean forward. Everyone would listen to the engine as it revved up, trying to detect any stutter. When the plane started down the runway, the nervous pilots would try not to look at one another. They just sat there, tense, listening.
Roar-roar-roar! The pilots could visualize the plane as it sped toward the sea, gaining speed, reaching for the go-no-go point. The listeners waited. Roar-roar-roar! This time the supply of fuel continued unbroken. The plane sped north toward the waiting enemy at the Yalu.
No one mentioned the takeoff or its successful completion. Occasionally one of the grounded pilots would sigh, as if completing a prayer, but he refused to speak of the water in the fuel, nor did he congratulate the pilot who had made the roger-dodger takeoff. Bright conversation resumed. The acey-deucy games continued, until the next flight. And that was the tricky little habit John Pope acquired at K-22. He fell silent when a fellow pilot was trying to get his plane into the air.
Since K-22 was an Air Force base, lined with those sleek F-86 Sabre Jets, Air Force personnel manned the facilities, which meant that Pope’s three Navy fliers were outsiders, and therefore at a disadvantage, but Pope was a master pilot now, cautious, brave, unusually capable, and he proposed to take no guff from anyone. His logbook showed more than nine hundred hours in seven distinct types of aircraft, with numerous entries in red indicating night flights.
He stowed his gear where the sergeant indicated, accepted the cot he was assigned, parked his F4U where [179] told, and instructed his three associates to keep a low profile: “Our job is to find those Slow Boys.”
He was not allowed to stay aloof, because with healthy curiosity the Air Force pilots wanted to know about his plane. “It’s a relic, really.” he said. “World War II. You probably knew it as the Corsair, the ones the Marines used to shatter the Jap air force in the islands. Marvelous plane. Big, heavy, absorbs punishment like a tank.”
“Why the funny designation? All those letters and numbers?”
“You know the saying: “There’s a right way, a wrong way and the Navy way.” The F means fighter, and it was fearsome. The U is our way of indicating the manufacturer, in this case Chance-Vought, one of the best. The 4 means the fourth prototype in this series. I understand 2 and 3 weren’t much, but with 4 they hit a winner. The 5 means the fifth major improvement in this version. The N means night fighter, and the L means it has de-icer boots and some other ingenious stuff to combat lousy weather.”
“Jesus!” a captain said. “You have to be a graduate engineer to know the name of your plane. But why is it so heavy and so slow?”
Pope considered this logical question for a moment, then said, “You fly the F-86? Well, it’s a gazelle. My F4U is a rhinoceros. In the jungle, there’s a place for both.”
“But the heaviness?”
“You land your F-86 on flat terrain. You can run three thousand feet before you hit the brakes. We land on a carrier. We stop within one hundred feet. In effect, we have no brakes.”
“How do you stop?”
“It’s rather exciting. You’re up there making about a hundred eighty knots. Midnight. Far ahead you spot your carrier. Lots of blue lights. The red wands of the landing officer glowing. You cut back to about a hundred knots, drop your gear, your flaps and especially your tail hook. And you put your plane right down on the deck of that plunging ship.”
“How can you see the landing area? At night? With no lights?”
“You can’t. You trust the lighted wands and-slammo! Your hook grabs the wire and you stop with one terrific [180] jerk. That’s why our F4Us have to be so heavy. To withstand the shock of that grabbing wire.”
“And if your hook misses it?”
“Tough luck. You slam straight ahead into the barriers, a tangle of wires strung above the deck. They smash the plane but usually spare the pilot.”
“And if you miss?”
“You get swim pay. If you’re around to collect it.”
His new assignment was a curious one. He slept all day, rose at dusk for breakfast, climbed into his F4U, and taxied out to the end of the darkened runway, where he assumed strip alert. This meant that he sat in his plane hour after hour, all lights out, pitch-black everywhere, getting his eyes accustomed to the night and waiting for the signal “Slow Boy coming down!” Then he leaped into action, but mostly he just waited.
To civilian observers it seemed fearfully exciting, and one New York Times reporter wrote: “A flight into darkness, a faint dim signal on the radar, a swift pursuit, the tap-tap-tap of the forward machine guns, an explosion filling the sky when the enemy cargo is hit, and then the flaming debris floating past like wounded butterflies at some misty lakeside.” The reporter had been to Harvard, and he had a good ear, a good imagination, but what endeared him to the pilots at K-22 was his appealing habit of paying for drinks at the mess, where he listened to aviator talk.
To Pope the night patrol was something quite different, as he said in a letter to Penny: “You spend eighteen nights on strip alert and nothing happens. You go up four nights and find not even a shadow in the moonlight. Finally you spot something coming south, but it’s a flock of birds. And on the rare night when you do intercept an enemy, the guy on your wing shoots him down.”
What Pope did enjoy were the orders that arrived occasionally: “Tonight ignore the Slow Boys. Seek targets of opportunity and knock them out.” Then he ranged solo across all of North Korea like some swooping eagle trying with his keen night vision to spot enemy activity on the ground below. He loved the sense of freedom such activity produced, the sheer joy of flying through unencumbered space, enfolded in a darkness which he alone commanded.
[181] He was seeking trains. Daylight attacks by the Air Force and Navy had so paralyzed Korean transportation that no train dared move when it could be seen; they crept out at night, running swiftly from one hiding place to the next, carrying an immense amount of war supplies to the various fronts.
“It’s unbelievable what a Communist repair crew can do after we bomb the hell out of one of their rail lines,” the Air Force colonel had said in one of his briefings. “At ten in the morning we can tear up five hundred feet of track, then strafe the wreckage all day, and next morning they have the thing repaired. That night, trains sneaking down as usual.”
Speaking directly to the Navy fliers, he said, “It’s not easy. Korea’s a hilly place. A lot of tunnels in this land. So when you come roaring in and smash one of their boxcars, what do they do? Uncouple it, leave it standing, and speed the engine into some tunnel where you can’t get at it. What you men have to do is knock out the engine. And that won’t be easy.”
One night Pope did spot a train. The stars were brilliant in a moonless sky, and when he returned to K-22 he swore that he saw the train clearly in the starlight: “I came in low, knocked two of the boxcars off the track. And you know what happened next.”
“The engine ducked into a tunnel?” a Navy flier asked.
“With fifty or sixty undamaged boxcars.”
After this had happened a few times, the F4U detachment held a think session at which they devised a bold strategy which, if it worked, would take care of any North Korean train caught between tunnels: “We’ll knock it so flat that even the blind photo birds will be able to find it.”
The photographs were important, because the armed forces had discovered that pilots were so enthusiastic, and such congenital liars, that little credence could be given their exaggerated claims. Confirming proof was essential.
“I came in low,” a blazing-eyed pilot would report, “and dead ahead stood this train. Tat-tat! I knocked it twenty feet off its tracks.” But when more sober fliers went out to find the derailed train, they usually found nothing. So the custom grew that as soon as a pilot reported a kill, recco planes went out to photograph the scene, and when they [182] got shots of an engine on its side or a string of boxcars burning at the mouth of some tunnel, the squadron celebrated.
Why were the photographs so important? Certainly the Air Force did not imperil reconnaissance planes merely to prove that some hotshot Navy pilot was a liar. The true reason lay deep within the psychology of the aviator: medals were awarded not on hearsay but on incontrovertible proof of performance. A pilot could sit in the bar of the officers’ club night after night, claiming kills, and no listener took him seriously unless some other flier supported his report with substantial evidence. And that’s why the photographs became so important, especially with the night fighters.
In daylight combat, a wingman could confirm, or a ground observer who saw an enemy plane come down in fiery parabola, but at night it was almost impossible for a fellow pilot to witness anything. There was, for example, the Air Force pilot at K-22 who returned to base morning after morning claiming that he had overtaken one of the plywood night invaders and had blown him out of the sky. No one saw these kills. No one could inspect the ground behind enemy lines to identify the shattered plane, but the high command was so eager to create the illusion in Washington that it was dominating the skies that it gave this windbag a medal with two clusters.
And that was the heart of the matter. Combat aviators hungered for medals. They took unparalleled delight in the ribbons, the glittering medals which testified to their heroism. Only rarely in the mess did an aviator say anything which indicated that he considered himself a hero, but even the quietest man wanted the decorations which silently proclaimed that fact. For an additional medal, men would lie, exaggerate, falsify, support friends in hopes that friends would support them on some later claim; above all, they would take the most outrageous risks in order to qualify for one more ribbon.
It was fatuous. It was juvenile. But it was also the essence of the heroic experience, for armies had found that whereas men would fight for many noble reasons-home, country, family, hatred of oppressors-the best men fought best for the good regard of their fellows, and the time honored proof of their regard was the medal. In the years [183] when John Pope and his fellow officers were flying their night combat missions against enemy flak and the hazards of weather and sudden mountain heights, each man was receiving $263.63 a month, lousy food and cheap whiskey. What compensated them for the enormous risks they were taking was the respect of their fellow pilots and their intense love of aviation.
That was why John Pope, when he went out one wintry night to test the new strategy of killing trains, was careful to inquire as to whether a photographic plane might be available next morning.
“A Marine from K-3 flew in this afternoon with a soupedup photo Banshee. Raring to go.”
“Tell him to be ready.” Pope did not predict garrulously that he was determined to bag a train; to do so would have been alien to his pattern, for he was the quiet type, efficient, even retiring. He knew that few men could fly an airplane better than he, or handle it more efficiently at night, but he never spoke of his skills. In a crowd of young men in civilian clothes he would be one of the last to be identified as an aviator, and even in military uniform he resembled an effective staff officer or a photographic reconnaissance interpreter, a photo bird.
On this night, as soon as dusk fell, he climbed into his F4U, with its massive load of ammunition for strafing and its bombs for heavy work, and taxied to the far end of the runway, where he assumed his position of strip alert. He waited. Staring at the Sea of Japan, he watched the grand procession of stars as they rose from the waters: the Bull reared his horns above the sea, followed by the huddling Twins. At nine the Lion crept out, and at midnight he had a clear view of the bold star he had studied so longingly in the hours before dawn on that first night with the borrowed glasses: red-gold Arcturus flaming like a beacon.
He slid open his window so that he could lean out and see the stars overhead, and there was Orion the great hunter: I’m a fair country hunter myself, and tonight I get me a train.
It was well after midnight when the signal came for takeoff, and when he checked the sky one last time to ensure his orientation, he saw that Orion was skidding toward the western hills and dragging with him the heavenly animals: They’re getting out of my way. Thanks.
[184] Steadily he applied power to his engine and listened approvingly to the swift acceleration of the propeller as it strained against the brakes. Suddenly he lifted his toes, the F4U surged forward, and as he roared down the runway he realized that every pilot within hearing distance was listening to his progress, even though apparently asleep; they were praying that the gasoline would be good and that he would soar aloft, but he was not the least bit uncertain, or afraid, or clenching his teeth. He was supposed to take off from K-22 at 0134 and he intended to do so. To fail would be unthinkable. If there was water in his gasoline, it could wait till he got airborne.
In more than a hundred precarious landings on the chopping deck of a carrier he had never once supposed that he might fail to engage the restraining cable, or plow into the parked planes on the deck, or plunge off the end of the deck and die trapped in his plane. His job had been to get the plane safely down, and he always did, night or day, storm or fair. His job this night was to prove the efficacy of the new tactic and he roared aloft to do so.
Since K-22 was positioned well below the battle line to protect its fuel dumps from intruding Communist planes, he spent his first minutes heading due north, which carried him well out to sea, but when his instruments indicated that he must be at least forty miles into enemy territory, he turned west, dropped to a thousand feet, and began searching the valleys.
In the darkness he saw little, even though his eyes were well accustomed to moonless nights: The Slopes aren’t risking much this time.
Like many pilots, he referred to the enemy in impersonal terms. Slopes. Asiatics. Kimchi Kings. K-22 employed many able South Korean workers, and large segments of the front line were defended by Republic of Korea forces whose endurance under attack was legendary, and the pilots maintained amiable relations with these allies. But the North Korean enemy were Slopes.
He made six long sweeps, then reported in code: “Nothing visible.” Occasionally he inspected the western alleyway leading from the Chinese border to Inchon, hoping to find one of the wooden Slow Boys sneaking south, but he detected nothing. He kept well away from Pyongyang, the North Korean capital, where antiaircraft fire was [185] concentrated, and he maintained a prudent watch for Russian MiGs, which had recently been attacking the American night fighters, for as an aviation expert he was aware that the Russian plane was many times faster than his, better armed and capable of flying much higher. He was brave, but not foolhardy, and he recalled the doctrine of his squadron: “If you meet a MiG one-on-one, run like hell, because you’re outnumbered.” It was the job of Air Force F-86s to tackle the MiGs, and he was quite content to have them do it.
He realized that in his F4U he had a limited time in the air, and it seemed that on this night he would find nothing, but as he checked his fuel and thought about heading home, he saw in the starlight a moving object, deep in a valley, and when he roared down to inspect he found to his delight that it was a Communist engine pulling at least sixty boxcars. But it was heading at top speed for the safety of a tunnel.
With restraint he ignored the splendid target, so vulnerable to his guns, and disciplined himself to put into effect the strategy his men had agreed upon. Leaving the train with its antiaircraft guns popping away, he wheeled and sped toward the entrance of the upcoming tunnel. There, with fine precision he dropped one of his large bombs, tearing up the track and blocking that tunnel.
Still he ignored the train, swinging around to the other tunnel from which the train had just emerged. There he laid another heavy bomb smack on the tracks, blocking that escape.
Gunners aboard the train, realizing what he had done, fired into the night with fury, accomplishing nothing but the clear outlining of their train, which now stood trapped in open space.
Flying well to the west, Pope turned in a great circle, spotted the train, and roared back at low level, blazing his guns directly at the engine, which he seemed to miss.
Undaunted, he whispered to himself, “Better luck this time.” He took a wide sweep back toward the west, came in purposefully ignoring the antiaircraft fire, and struck at the engine again. This time his aim was good, for there was an explosion and a vast release of steam, but he suspected that this might be a stratagem calculated to deceive him, and he remembered what the old-timers at K-22 had [186] warned: “The best railroad men in the world are those Slopes. They know trains. They can trick you a hundred different ways.”
Again he flew west, turned and came back, but this time when he lined the engine up he saw that the steam had been no ruse; the train was badly wounded but by no means destroyed. So, ignoring the flak, he came in hard and low, releasing a bomb at the right moment. With a gigantic flash, metal hit metal, the engine teetered, and the first three cars followed it off the track. This train was wrecked.
Pope wanted to stay on the scene to shoot up the fifty or sixty stranded boxcars, but he knew he had no fuel to spare, so he called K-22, giving other pilots the coordinates of the waiting target: “Finish it off!”
But now, as he headed south, satisfied that he had performed well, he had two burning concerns: he wanted to find that Marine who had come to K-22 with his photo Banshee and he wanted desperately to see Altair come rising from the sea, his star, his omen to bless this night.
Just as he approached K-22 from the west, with his nose pointed out to sea, he saw bright Lyra dead ahead and then, low on the horizon, as its eagle wings dropped water, came Altair. He saluted.
 
The Marine captain who had brought the photographic plane to K-22 on temporary duty was two years younger than John Pope but some twenty years more experienced. A real football hero from a small Texas town, and not an ersatz underweight like Pope, Randy Claggett had gone to Texas A & M and had fought the entire establishment to get into the Marines rather than the Army, which A & M boys were expected to join. He was taller than Pope but riot noticeably heavier, for in high school he had been a fleet end, adept at confusing the opposition. In college he had been too light for the varsity, but as a scrub he was outstanding because of his willingness to tackle even the biggest regulars.
He was profane, tough and make-believe illiterate. A first-team fullback had knocked a small corner off one of his big front teeth and the dentist had ground down its mate for symmetry, which gave him a raffish gap-toothed grin, which he delighted in flashing in the heat of any [187] argument. His logbook showed that he had piloted fifty-nine different aircraft types and was expert in sixteen, including the best Navy types: F4U-4, AD-2, F9F-4 and the heavy F3D-2. He had a mania for airplanes, and if sober men like John Pope could justly be considered experts, he was three or four magnitudes more advanced, for in some strange way he was an airplane. When he sat in his cockpit he became attuned to its set engine, a part of its guidance system, an extension of its flaps; he did not fly the plane, he flew himself.
It was therefore a humiliation that he had been diverted into reconnaissance work: “Goddamn baby-sitting, that’s what it is. Y’all know that when I go up there, I got no guns, no bombs, no nothin’? Takin’ pitchers like some clown at a carnival.”
The Marine brass had not been stupid in assigning Claggett to the Banshee, for it was a major asset in the American arsenal. Stripped to essentials and with no armament of any kind, it could ascend to 52,000 feet, and with miraculous cameras, photograph large sections of enemy terrain with an accuracy that seemed incredible: “I can drive this bucket of bolts so high I can take a snapshot of God at work.” He had taken photographs from maximum altitude which showed North Korean soldiers working at a transport depot and he swore that a good photo interpreter with proper microscopes could determine the make of the automobiles, and certainly whether they were cars or trucks: “Don’t you bastards try nothin’ down here, because I’ll be watchin’ you from up there.”
He was in bed when Pope broke into his quarters a few minutes before sunrise. “Are you Claggett? The photopuke?”
“Who in hell are you?”
Like many serious pilots, Pope never swore and it startled him sometimes when a fellow officer let loose with a chain of profanity, but he needed Claggett, so he said, “I’m John Pope. Temporary duty off the Brandywine.”
“I’m Claggett. Perpetual temporary duty.”
“I just destroyed a train. We’ve got to have good photographs.”
“I know, I know. You destroyed a train. I fly my ass off to get a pitcher, turns out to be a two-wheel manure cart, shit all over the landscape.”
[188] “This was a train ... with at least sixty boxcars.
“It’ll be the first.”
“It is the first. We devised a new tactic. Block up the tunnels to prevent escape ...”
Claggett sat up, running his thin fingers through his heavy, matted hair. “You blocked ‘em off?”
“I did.”
“That I must see. Those goddamned Slopes bombed our dump the other night.”
“One of the wooden Slow Boys?”
“The same.” He twisted his scrawny body out of bed, worked his shoulders as if they had recently been broken, and looked at himself in the mirror with disgust: “I better shave.”
In the morning twilight, as Altair faded from view, the two pilots shaved, Pope heavy from sleeplessness, Claggett drowsy with too much, one ready for bed, the other for enemy skies. With precision Pope designated where the train must still be, unless the incredible North Koreans had cleared one of the tunnels and muscled the undamaged boxcars inside.
“I can find it,” Claggett said, and when the two men reported to operations they found great excitement because the dawn patrol had located Pope’s train and had shot up the stranded cars.
“Everything’s ablaze,” an intelligence officer said. “Claggett, we want pictures.”
“You got ‘em,” Randy said, and within minutes he had his Banshee in the air, headed northwest toward the valley where the boxcars were aflame, but the Russian pilots who flew some of the North Korean MiGs had anticipated that when the train was set afire, other American planes would stop by to confirm, and they were waiting.
They came at Claggett from due north as he was heading west, four of them with powerful armament and great speed.
It seemed that he was doomed. “Jesus Christ!” he called to base. “Four MiGs right at me. I’m headed upstairs.” Pulling the nose of the Banshee almost straight up, he poured on the juice and took off like a purposeful hawk. 24,000 feet with the MiGs closing fast. 28,000 and no escape. 32,000 and the first MiG makes a pass with tracers decorating the sky just ahead. 35,000 and three MiGs [189] hammering at him. 37,000 and he has a fleeting suspicion that one of the MiGs has fallen behind. 40,000 and he breathes deeply, for all the MiGs are trailing. Up, up he goes, to well above 45,000 feet above the frozen hills of North Korea, and as he rests there for a moment, in absolute safety, for no other military plane in the world can fly so high, he watches a most beautiful sight.
Out of the morning sky to the east come three Air Force F-86s. For the moment they are well below the capable MiGs and they are outnumbered, but by the time the Russian pilots realize that they will soon be under attack, the F-86s have gained altitude, so that the battle will be an even one, and Claggett sees that the powerful American planes will have a good chance of bagging a couple of MiGs.
Before the battle can be joined, the Russians, under strict orders to bring their precious planes back safely, withdraw, retiring speedily and in good formation to their sanctuary north of the Yalu. Claggett can come down and finish his job.
The F-86s, suspicious of the Russians and aware that they might sweep in unexpectedly to down the photographic plane, signal to Claggett that he must stay with them, which he is quite willing to do: “Don’t want no MiGs up my ass.”
And so the four American jets fly out toward the Yellow Sea, drop low and come in at a perfect angle so far as sunlight is concerned. The sixty photographs, when developed, will show a T-69-type Chinese engine, heavily armor-plated, blown off the tracks near the entrance to a tunnel, followed by sixty-seven loaded boxcars, three off the track, twenty-one aflame, and all seriously damaged.
For this episode Lieutenant (j.g.) John Pope will receive his monthly pay of $263.63, a medal with ribbons, and a recommendation for promotion to full lieutenant, and the squadron will be satisfied that it has at last devised a tactic for knocking out Communist trains.
 
Randy Claggett, Marine captain, was a new experience for Pope, who had watched many braggarts wilt when demands were great, and many quiet men display great talent when called upon, but he had never before encountered a military man as loud-mouthed as Claggett who was in every respect a better flier than himself. At the [190] bar, after the wrecking of the train, Claggett was especially effusive: “Boy, I have seen many trains knocked on their ass, but never one better than this. Whoever hit that baby made the crap fly. I came in low and sweet to get the pitcher, when I see four MiGs comin’ right up my bucket. What do I do? I shift gears and say, “Randy, son, you better get to Dallas before they do.” At 40,000 they drop off. Remember that, fellows, you get to 40,000 they call it quits.”
He laughed rather noisily at this suggestion, because few American planes except his could approach that altitude. “There I am at 50,000, eatin’ gas like it was popcorn, with them four MiGs jess awaitin’ for me, and I say, “Randy, you fart, them foxes down there got you treed and they gonna chew you up, if’n you come down.” And then I see the sweetest sight ever, three F-86s comin’ out of the sunrise. Bartender! Give every Air Force man in this bar a free beer.”
Claggett was not always so kind to the Air Force: “This K-22, it’s a cesspool. You ought to see K-3 down at Pusan. We live down there. We got Jo-sans.”
“What’s a Jo-san?” Pope asked.
“Korean girls. They wait in the mess. Best screwin’ this side of Fort Worth.” He rummaged in his wallet for a photograph of a Korean Jo-san, but came up instead with a fine color photograph of his wife, a handsome blonde.
“That’s Debby Dee,” he said. “Married her the day I got my wings and been flyin’ ever since.”
The pilots drinking Randy’s beer passed the photograph around and each man appraised Mrs. Claggett with professional skill. She was beautiful, no question about that, in a cheerleader way, but she seemed older than Claggett, perhaps because her beauty was the florid type that fades quickly. Pope wanted to ask how old she was, for she seemed infinitely older than Penny, but he said nothing.
In the days that followed he often found himself in Claggett’s company, which was surprising in that Pope flew at night, Claggett in daylight, but Randy required so little sleep that he often went along on Pope’s ground duties, talking incessantly: “How did I get stuck with photographic duties? Man, you know I could fly fighter planes better than them Air Force clowns we have to put up with.”
[191] “You spoke rather well of them the other day. After they saved your tail.”
“In an emergency they’re useful. But to answer your question. I gave the Marines all sorts of hell till they allowed me to opt for flight training. You know, as a kid I used to take cars apart. Father came home one day, his whole Packard was strewed acrosst the lawn. He like to died. I got a real feel for engines, Pope.”
“Why aren’t you in fighters?”
Claggett ignored the question. “When I left Pensacola, I reported to VC-4 in Atlantic City. You ever fly off that field? Telephone wires right acrosst the end of the runway. We ast the government four times to take them down or we were gonna crash into houses. Said it was too expensive. So one night we cut ‘em down.”
“We?”
“Well, I did. Everyone at the base knew who did it, so I got some fryin’, but the command was glad to see them down. Only next day they put ‘em up again and fined the squadron. Who gives a damn?”
Pope never did discover just how his rambunctious colleague had found his way into Banshees, but an older Marine who flew in from one of the carriers said, “The Banshee requires the best judgment in the business. Or it did when we were testing it. And they chose Claggett because-”
“Were you in flight test?”
“Two years at Patuxent River.”
“Good duty?”
“Best in the world. I flew forty-seven different planes. Invaluable.”
“How do you get that duty?” Pope asked.
“One morning the Angel Gabriel knocks on your door. Strictly luck.”
“But don’t you have to know airplanes?”
“Everybody knows airplanes. What you have to know is Gabriel and his cockamamie horn. Toot, toot, we shoot.” And he waved his right hand high in the air.
A few nights after this, when planes were grounded, Pope accompanied Claggett to a movie on the base. It starred an actress John had enjoyed in Gone With the Wind, Vivien Leigh, and an actor with whom he was not [192] familiar but of whom he had heard much favorable comment. Claggett said, “You’ve got to see this guy Brando. Terrific!”
The film was called A Streetcar Named Desire, which Pope thought ridiculous. His opinion worsened when he found that Brando played a sloppy, profane ignoramus who went around in a dirty T-shirt. “This Kowalski is a bore,” he told Claggett during the first intermission when the reels were being changed. “I’d kick him out of my house.”
But when Blanche DuBois began to act the irresponsible, addle-pated sister-in-law, Pope became uneasy and wondered why Kowalski didn’t kick her out. As the seamy details continued to unfold, Pope became actually nervous, for the picture of family life being offered was not at all what he wished to see. “That woman’s impossible,” he mumbled.
“You’d kick her out, too?”
“Wouldn’t you?”
“All she needs is a good screwin’.”
Pope never responded to such talk, not because he was prudish, but because he believed that when he married Penny Hardesty in his Annapolis days he settled once and for all any problems relating to sex, and he was always vaguely disturbed to find that other officers felt otherwise. He was extremely happy with Penny and was repelled by the harsh view of marriage being presented in this movie, and when the Brando-Leigh relationship became downright ugly he could not stay to watch.
“I’ll see you at the hall,” he said as he slipped uneasily from his seat. Claggett could not understand his friend’s behavior, but when half a dozen other pilots rose to leave the improvised theater, he grabbed one by the arm and whispered, “What’s going on?”
“I don’t fly all day to see this crap at night,” the Air Force major snapped.
“What crap?”
“A dame like that.” The Air Force man pulled his arm free and stalked out of the shack.
Later, Claggett realized that this film had struck too close to the lives of the fliers, for as he heard them talk about it he learned that some had wives who were as flighty as Blanche DuBois; others had homes which were [193] threatened by circumstances not unlike those that separated Kowalski and his wife. These pilots, who were risking so much against the MiGs and the darkness and the upreaching mountains and the watered gasoline, wanted films that showed placid family life: contented wives in picket-fenced gardens watching over well-behaved boys who were playing Little League baseball.
He sought Pope and asked, “Did the movie really hit you so hard?”
“I walked out, didn’t I?”
“But why? It was just a movie, and a pretty good one.”
“Did it get any better? After I left?”
“She continued her dance. Stupid, mixed-up broad.”
Now Claggett grabbed Pope’s arm, a habit of his, for he never liked to see a friend walk away angry. “Sit down, Pope. You mustn’t take things too serious.”
“I don’t understand you, Claggett. You show me this picture of your beautiful wife while you’re looking for the photograph of the Jo-san you’re shacked up with.”
“I found that pitcher,” Claggett said enthusiastically, and from his wallet he took the snapshot of a lovely Korean girl, sixteen or seventeen years old, in one of those appealing dresses in which the beltline came just under the breasts, with the rest of the dress falling free in one handsome, unbroken sweep.
“Ain’t she somethin’?”
“Why do you fool around with her? If you have ...”
Claggett now produced the familiar photograph of his wife, Debby Dee, and placed it on the bar table beside that of his Jo-san. “Two superior chicks.”
“Where is your wife?”
“Iwakuni, I guess. She followed me to Japan, and I suppose she’s livin’ it up over there. She usually has somethin’ cookin’.”
This was so distasteful that Pope rose abruptly and went to bed, but he was so accustomed to flying at night and sleeping in the daytime that he tossed in restlessness, and after about an hour of frustration he rose, slipped into his fatigues and returned to the officers’ club, where Claggett still sat, this time with the Air Force major he had spoken to in the movie. They were talking about women.
“I don’t care to waste an evening watching some sick babe making a fool of herself,” the major said, indicating [194] a chair that Pope could use if he cared to join them.
“But most women are that way,” Claggett insisted.
“Rubbish! I’ll bet you three-fourths of the fliers in this unit are married to perfectly normal women.”
“Granted,” Claggett said. “But the normal woman is usually just as screwed up as that sister-in-law in New Orleans.”
“What in hell are you saying, Claggett?” the major cried.
“Statistics.”
“Not covering the people I know.” The major turned to Pope and said, “You ... I always forget your name.”
It irritated Pope that Air Force types, especially majors, feigned not to know the names of Navy fliers who joined their units. “Name’s Pope.”
“That’s right,” the major said. “Pope. Pope. You fly the special F6F.”
“F4U night fighter.”
“Pope, F4U. What we’re arguing about, Pope, is women. Claggett here says that all women are pretty much like that mixed-up babe in the movie.”
“I know. He was selling me that line before I went to bed. But-”
“Now wait,” Claggett protested. “You can’t use Pope as evidence. He’s a notorious straight arrow.” He said this with a kind of affectionate, patronizing sneer. Pilots were characterized by other pilots in brief phrases which summarized a whole constellation of attitudes, thus identifying the man without need for elaboration. Randy Claggett was referred to respectfully as a front runner or a super stick, the first referring to his known willingness to volunteer for any difficult flying job, the latter to his skill in performing it. Beginning fliers fantasized about earning either of these accolades; Claggett had both.
John Pope, as Claggett had warned the Air Force major, was a notorious straight arrow in that he didn’t smoke or drink, he exercised to keep his weight down, he performed any task with rigorous perfection, he didn’t use profanity, and he stayed away from Jo-sans. It was assumed by fellow pilots that one day Super Stick Claggett would be dead and Straight Arrow Pope an admiral.
“Yes,” the major said with a broad, welcoming smile, “I’ve heard you were a true straight arrow, Pope. As such, you couldn’t possibly agree-”
[195] “Wait a minute! Claggett interrupted. “His wife’s just made herself a lawyer. Puts her completely outside our argument.”
The major drew back and looked at Pope in obvious confusion. “A lawyer? You mean, she works at it?”
“Yes, she’s legislative assistant to Senator Glancey of Red River.”
No one spoke. Neither Claggett nor the major could comprehend how a pilot in military service could sustain a marriage to a woman who held her own job away from the base. Many wives often worked, military pay being what it was, but only as schoolteachers or secretaries to commanding officers, and always on the base or close to it.
“How do you handle it?” the major asked, but before Pope could answer, Claggett asked, “You got a pitcher of her?” and Pope produced three snapshots of Penny, each quite feminine and lovable. The two fliers, studying with great care, deduced that she was a brunette, about a hundred and five pounds, petite, bright, witty, with flashing eyes and a strong sense of duty.
“No,” Pope corrected. “She’s not what they call petite. About five-four, but you’re right, she does have drive. Votes Democratic sometimes.”
Again the two pilots were mystified, for the wives of young officers who hoped to become admirals were well advised to vote Republican, and their husbands were almost obliged to.
“With a solid, safe woman like her,” the major said, “you didn’t like the movie either, did you?”
“Why do they make films like that?” Pope asked. “The dirty side of life?”
“War’s a pretty dirty side,” Claggett observed, “and they sure make movies about it.”
“But war’s unavoidable,” Pope said. “We’re at K-22, three men, three different services because the Communists made us come here. You don’t have to make a movie about a doomed woman like that one.”
“Shakespeare wrote his plays about doomed people,” Claggett responded. “You ever see Othello?”
“Where did you ever see Othello?” the major asked with obvious surprise.
“We got little theater at Texas A and M.” He laughed. [196] “The big brass of ROTC on campus were disgusted with the plays bein’ shown. All defeatism ... downers. So they organized a special series. The Problems of Command. Ibsen’s Enemy of the People to show the conflicts of public office. Shakespeare’s Coriolanus to show divided loyalties. The Caine Mutiny. And Othello.”
“What was it supposed to show?” Pope asked.
“The sour relationship between a commandin’ officer and some jerk on his staff. Best play of the lot.”
“Did Debby Dee see the plays?” Pope asked.
“I didn’t know her then. She was varsity cheerleader at Texas Western.”
 
So many fliers protested the showing of a downbeat film like A Streetcar Named Desire that the K-22 commander summoned the education and entertainment officer and chewed him out: “There will be no more films like that shown on this base. We want only patriotic, upbeat stuff like Ginger Rogers and Fred Astaire.”
A notice was posted in the officers’ mess to the effect that henceforth all movies would be screened prior to showing and that undesirable films would be shipped back to the depot in Tokyo. Who would do the censoring was not indicated, but the entertainment officer told his friends that it would be himself, the chaplain and a colonel.
When Pope read the notice he chanced to see above it a mimeographed announcement which obviously came from the Bureau of Naval Personnel, and he supposed that it had been forwarded to K-22 by some aircraft carrier operating in the Japan Sea:
 
NAVY AND MARINE FLIERS
For the class starting on June 15 there will be a few openings at the Patuxent River Naval Air Station for pilots with wide experience who wish to become test pilots for the newer types of aircraft. Apply in writing with full credentials and recommendations to ...
 
The phrase newer types of aircraft had been inserted with the specific purpose of attracting pilots like John Pope, and the bait was shrewdly placed, for that morning he drafted a letter to his commanding officer, still aboard the [197] carrier, seeking permission to submit his application.
It would never have occurred to him to confide to anyone his secret ambition to become a test pilot; straight arrows proceeded strictly by the book, kept their aspirations to themselves, and either succeeded or failed according to their demonstrated abilities. It was an impressive dossier that he was able to forward to Washington: unblemished flight performance in nine different aircraft; no disciplinary action; three trains destroyed, with Claggett’s photographs to prove it; two medals to substantiate the kills; and superior ratings from every commanding officer under whom he had served.
But there was one nagging omission which a casual reader of the application might overlook but which a Navy selection board would spot immediately: he had never engaged an enemy plane in combat, neither a Russian MiG nor a North Korean Slow Boy, and since he flew only at night, it was unlikely that he would ever encounter a MiG, for the Russians refused to squander these valuable planes on speculative missions. His only chance for aerial combat lay in tracking down a wooden Slow Boy, and this he was determined to do.
At two o’clock on the morning of 12 May 1952, when eagle-like Altair was flying toward the apex of the heavens, a radar watcher just south of the battle line detected a blip which had to be an airplane of some sort coming south toward the huge gasoline dump at Inchon. An alert was sounded and Pope’s F4U leaped into the air.
The heavy plane climbed to 7,000 feet and headed northwest to intercept the intruder. In the starry night Pope spotted the enemy well below him, plodding along with its burden of TNT. Breathless with excitement, he swung into position well aft of the Slow Boy, shifted about in his seat till he found the best position, and zeroed in, his guns ready to explode on this perfect kill.
In fact, he was so intent on his mission that he failed to see the second half of this night’s North Korean effort: a MiG flown by a Russian pilot whose job it was to shoot down whatever careless American pilot started after the Slow Boy. By the time Pope realized that he had stumbled into a trap, the MiG was firing its tremendous guns, and Pope, sick with fury at having been tricked, felt bullets striking his F4U.
[198] It absorbed a hellish beating but tried valiantly to fly on. A wing trembled, half cut off at its base, and then a tank exploded. In flames the F4U spiraled toward the ground, crashing some fifteen miles north of the battle line. Americans and Koreans alike saw it come down, and by 0430, when sunlight was threatening to end the night, teams from both sides were converging on the wreckage, and it was an even chance as to which would reach it first. For some minutes they were aided by an immense burst of flame to the south: the Slow Boy had dumped its bombs on a gasoline depot.
The North Koreans came by foot from a nearby base, the Americans by helicopter from a field to the south, but all were preceded by a low-flying plane of tremendous speed, Randy Claggett’s Banshee. As he photographed the wrecked plane he caught in his cameras the distinct picture of a downed aviator some distance away, his parachute beside him, his arms raised and waving.
 
In the officers’ club at K-22 Pope and Claggett held a gloomy review:
“Sonnombeech, Pope, we came here in January to shoot down Slow Boys. It’s June and we’ve accomplished nothin’.”
“I saw a Slow Boy. What I didn’t see was his MiG.”
“We’ve scrubbed two F4Us and I didn’t get any pitchers worth a damn. The Navy must be real proud of us.”
“You took on four MiGs that day.”
“And you did get three trains.”
“Hitting a train on the ground is not blasting a plane in the air.”
In their depression they fell ominously silent as a plane revved up for takeoff. They listened to it speed down the runway, stutter with soul-shaking terror, then catch its breath and soar into the air.
“Pope, I was intended to be a fighter pilot. I watch these F-86 clowns, I could die with envy.”
“I don’t know. When I was down in that rice paddy waiting to see who was going to come through the trees, my side or theirs, I didn’t have a single regret. I love to fly, and you know what I thought? War is the ugly price you pay so that you can have the fun of flying.”
Claggett drank his beer gloomily and took deep offense when Pope ordered a second ginger ale. “Goddammit, how [199] can a pilot drink that horse piss?” When Pope showed no inclination to defend his preference, the wiry Texan reached out and with a swipe of his hand knocked the ginger ale to the floor and said with passion, “Pope, I been awatchin’ you, and you know airplanes. I have deep respect for men who take planes seriously. Ain’t many of us do. I got a proposition for you. Which I would be pleased if you took it seriously.” And from his blouse he produced the notice which had been posted on the bulletin board. True to form, as soon as he had seen the notice he quietly snaked it off the board, on the principle: “I don’t want no competition.”
“Navy’s callin’ for a few knowin’ men. Would this application be of any interest to you?”
When Pope studied the form that Claggett extended, he saw something which amazed him: “Randy, did you get a master’s degree at Purdue?”
“Like the man says on the third line, “Number One in his class of sixty-seven.”
“Why do you talk that illiterate Tex-Mex?”
“I study hard so I can live the way I want. I want to talk Texican. I want to live tough.”
“With this record, they’ll accept you for sure.”
“I hope so, and I wish you’d apply, too. We could be a team.”
With his right forefinger Pope pushed the announcement slowly back toward Claggett. “I saw that the morning it was posted. Before you stole it so the competition wouldn’t see it. My application’s been in for weeks.”
“You sneaky sonnombeech! I’m convinced they’ll select us both. And we’re gonna take them planes higher and faster ...” He jumped into the air, his arms waving. “Pope, let’s fly the wings right offen them beauties.”
 
In 1952 Senator Norman Grant, Republican, Fremont, was up for reelection, and his political mentor, Tim Finnerty, told him, “Senator, in twenty years you can see two dozen new senators come to Washington, and many of them serve only one term. Do you know why? Because they don’t run as hard the second time as they did the first. But if you can tuck that second term under your belt, you can be good for six terms. We better get to work.”
Finnerty did not want to risk this second election with out the assistance of Penny Pope, who had been so effective [200] the first time around, but as Grant pointed out, “That raises a problem. Penny votes Republican, I suppose, but she’s working for Senator Glancey, who’s a Democrat. He might take offense.”
“Problem’s simple. You ask Glancey for a loan of his Girl Friday.”
“No, Tim, I won’t do that. Won’t put Glancey in my debt, because who knows what quid pro quo he’d demand later on?”
“You mind if I ask?”
“Is her help that important?”
“Senator, this is your crucial second election. Everything’s important. Even the color of your stationery. I want you to stop using that blue-ink letterhead. Trustworthy men use black.”
When Finnerty made his pitch in Glancey’s office, the Red River senator required one minute to assess the problem accurately. “Norman needs my girl but doesn’t want to obligate himself by approaching me personally. Now, I need Norman to give me Republican help on certain things in aviation and defense that I want to accomplish. I want him to be indebted to me. I insist upon it. So there’s no chance whatever that I will release Mrs. Pope unless Norman asks me personally.”
“That he won’t do,” Finnerty said forcefully.
“That I will seduce him into doing,” Glancey said quietly. “And when I outline my problems to him, he’ll want to be obligated.”
“Norman Grant does not obligate easily,” Finnerty warned.
Glancey changed direction completely, something he was notorious for doing. One minute he was talking duck shooting in the Ozarks, the next an affirmative vote on a new bomber for the Air Force. “What we’re overlooking, Mr. Finnerty, is the attitude of the young woman in question. Had we not better consult her?”
He rang for Penny, and when she appeared he rose courteously and asked her to be seated. “I’m sure you know Mr. Finnerty of Senator Grant’s office. And I’m sure you can guess why he’s here.”
“About Grant’s vote on the bomber?”
“Not at all, Mrs. Pope. He solicits your assistance in the forthcoming election.”
[201] With the directness that made Penny Pope attractive to many besides her husband and her employer, she said, “But he’s a Republican, and I work for you.”
“Precisely,” Glancey said.
“Of course, I’m more liberal than my husband.”
“Liberal enough to vote for Adlai Stevenson?”
“Maybe not that liberal.”
“Would you like it if I gave you my blessing? About working for Senator Grant?”
“I would appreciate it. Tim and I work well together.”
Glancey turned to Finnerty and said, “So it’s simple. For three good reasons I have no objection to my Girl Friday working for the opposition. I doubt that our man Stevenson can win nationally. I’m sure Grant can win in Fremont. And I need his help on my big projects.”
“Then it’s agreed?”
“Not at all. I want Grant to come here. To ask in person.”
Mrs. Pope accompanied Finnerty to Norman Grant’s office, and when Penny saw her fellow townsman, thirty-eight years old, trimly dressed, with a nineteenth-century manner, she intuitively felt that he was entitled to reelection, for he looked the way a senator should.
“Senator Glancey says we can have Penny ...” Finnerty began.
“If I ask in person?” Grant asked. When his aide nodded, Grant shook his head as if perplexed. “That old swamp fox. He wants a deal of some kind.” Turning to Mrs. Pope, he asked, “Can you be of substantial help?”
“We got you elected last time.”
“Aren’t you giving yourself too much credit?” Grant said jokingly.
Penny leaned forward. “There are only two kinds of senators. Those that get reelected and those that don’t. The first are of great value to this country. The others we can forget.”
“I certainly intend to be reelected.”
“Your type is also divided into two. Those like Senator Glancey, who fight and scratch and gouge, God bless him, and cannot be kept from winning, and those good men like you who need a great deal of clever assistance. You need Finnerty and me. We do the gouging.”
So Norman Grant walked down two floors to meet with Michael Glancey, and the latter spoke without [202] equivocation. “I doubt if Stevenson can win, because this country is hungry for a military leader. Profound decisions will have to be made in the years ahead, and I’d rather see you representing Fremont than some dunderhead I couldn’t trust. Since there’s no chance the Democrats can win your seat, I’d be pleased to see Mrs. Pope helping you over the hurdle.”
“Then why did you insist that I come down here in person?”
“Because I want you to promise that you’ll stay put on my aviation and defense committees. I’d be proud to see you the minority leader of those committees one day, and you will be, Norman, if you get reelected this time.”
“What big things do you see coming along?”
“I’m not sure about specifics, Norman, but I’m sure that the Russians are way ahead of us in certain areas. And if they are, we could be in trouble one of these days.”
“You believe I could help?”
“Vitally. You know what war is. You know what national danger is. You, me, Lyndon, Symington, a handful of others. As the leading Republican, you’ll be crucially important.”
Grant had been in the Senate long enough to comprehend basic values, so he asked, “What good would Fremont get if I stayed with the committee? I was planning to shift to Agriculture.”
“Fight like hell to get Agriculture, Norman. Your people will love it. See you as their champion. But stay with me, too, and if what I see developing takes place, there’s going to be a lot of industrial expansion. I’ll protect you.”
“Thank you for letting me have Mrs. Pope. She’s a wonderful woman.”
“I know that better than you,” Glancey said.
For these intricate reasons Penny Pope spent the summer of 1952 organizing the state of Fremont as it had rarely been organized before. She applied everything she had learned in Glancey’s election of 1950-he won by a landslide-plus some original ideas of her own, and in early October she flew to Alabama to talk with Larry Penzoss, then up to Detroit, where Gawain Butler was principal of a small black school.
She had no trouble with Penzoss, who was immersed in the dull job of dispatching trucks; he could break away [203] for six weeks if needed. But with Butler, things were not so simple. Since his school was about to open he was needed on the job, and he had grave doubts about the voting records of Senators Grant and Glancey when black rights were involved. “Why should I break my back to help men who never help me?”
“Mr. Butler, you’ve told me a dozen times about how Senator Grant helped you climb aboard that raft. Now he needs-”
“You seem not to know, Miss Penny-”
“Make it plain Penny.”
“When men leave the raft, they must continue to grow. Senator Grant is exactly where he was that morning we were saved. No better. No worse. Me, I’ve been to college. I’ve seen a whole new world. I’ve acquired high standards as to how men should behave.”
“Mr. Butler-”
“Call me Gawain”
She hesitated, then laughed freely. “That’s a crazy name for a Negro principal.”
“It sure is. Know what the tough boys in my school sing? ‘He’s Gawain and he ain’t comin’ back.’ ”
“Gawain, if we can get you and Penzoss and Finnerty on the stage again, Norman Grant has this election sewed up.
“But what do we Negroes get out of it?”
“You will have a friend in high places. You will have me to help you in Senator Glancey’s office.”
“He will never vote for justice.”
“Why do you suppose he hires me? I heckle him every week we’re in session.” Butler started to protest, but Penny cut him off. “Gawain, I have a powerful nose for politics, and I can foresee situations coming down the road when the votes of Glancey and Grant might be very important to your people ... to your school ... to you. I may not be able to get you two votes, but I’m absolutely convinced that on a just bill I can get you one. That means a standoff with my senators. It’s your job to handle the other ninety-four.”
Penzoss spent four weeks in Fremont, appearing with a uniformed Tim Finnerty, medals shining, and they accomplished much, but Penny kept them in the smaller towns from Monday through Thursday. Over the [204] weekends, when Gawain Butler with his limp and his cane flew in from Detroit, she scheduled the three heroes into the major cities and onto the more important radio and television shows.
They were handsome young men-Finnerty, twenty-seven; Penzoss, twenty-nine; Butler, thirty-one-and although Penzoss had had to have his uniform let out at various seams, they still created a heroic illusion. Their testimony to Norman Grant’s good character bore weight, and by the end of October it looked as if the senator would be reelected, just as it seemed certain that General Eisenhower would win the state and probably the nation.
Grant and Butler had their serious talk in the western city of Calhoun. “Looks like we’re in,” the black man said.
“How’s your school doing?” Grant refused to utter even one word which might indicate that he thought he was winning. He was running scared and refused to take any poll seriously.
“We have many problems, Senator.”
“Even in the North?”
“I wasn’t speaking of Negroes. I was speaking of Detroit.”
“I’m sorry. That was thoughtless of me, Gawain. Tell me, are you pretty well launched in the Detroit system? You’ll get a bigger school one of these days?”
“I’m afraid Detroit’s going to face very serious problems.”
“I’m confused. You mean black versus white?”
“No! I mean things are changing so fast. Business moving out to suburbs. Off the tax rolls. Unemployment.”
“They tell me that’s true of all cities.”
“It is, and you must do something about it.”
“Where do you come in?”
“I’m a citizen of Detroit. But I’m also a black man. And every wrong thing that happens in a big city has double impact on us Negroes.”
“What do you want me to do, Gawain?”
“Vote occasionally to help us.”
“Like what?”
“Fair employment practices, so that Negroes can join unions. Better schools in the big cities. Urban renewal.”
“That’s a pretty broad spectrum.”
“That’s why I’m working to help elect you, Senator Grant. [205] With your background and your character, you ought to be able to handle a broad spectrum.”
The two men sat silent. Butler had said everything that he was concerned with, so there was no need for him to speak further. Grant was thinking that this was about the fiftieth urgent agendum that had been pressed upon him, each more crucial than the other, and he was becoming powerless to evaluate them, but he did acknowledge that he had two personal obligations which had to be considered seriously. Senator Glancey had been invaluable in launching him properly in the Senate, and if Glancey needed help on aviation matters, he would get it, and Gawain Butler was one of the finest men he had ever known, in uniform or out, and if he felt that Negroes in the big cities needed help, he would have to weigh that claim studiously.
“I think we have this election won, Senator Grant.”
“If we have, I’ll want to hear from you.”
“You will.”
 
When Professor Mott received orders to move the Germans from El Paso in Texas to Huntsville in Alabama, he sent most of them by train, but Dieter Kolff and seven other families wished to drive their second-hand automobiles across country, so a caravan was approved, and as Mott watched the efficiency with which Kolff organized the expedition, he was reassured: when the American Army got these men, it was getting a bargain.
Dieter had acquired a 1938 Oldsmobile touring car, the handsome one with the heavy chrome-steel bars across the grille and the overdrive which allowed the driver to shift the monstrous thing out of normal high gear, where the engine continued to grind, and into a superdrive in which the engine merely kept the momentum already in the car moving forward. It had not been much of a car when Dieter got it-twelve years old, a hundred and twelve thousand miles-but by the time he and a wizard engine man named Unger had rebuilt it with specially tooled parts, it was good for another two hundred thousand.
There would be nine cars in the convoy, counting the Chevrolet in which Mott, his wife, their son Millard and their baby Christopher would lead the procession, but on the eve of departure they were joined by a tenth: three [206] soldiers under the command of First Lieutenant McEntee, whose job it was to see that the Germans made the transit to Alabama without saying anything to the press or straying about in idle sightseeing.
The soldiers were not needed, because Dieter Kolff had devised mimeographed plans that accounted for every mile and every minute of the trip: “We shall go via Carlsbad, Dallas, Little Rock and Memphis. Each car will be numbered one through nine and will maintain position. Each piece of luggage in each car will be numbered and accounted for every night and morning. The cars will be kept clean, with large paper bags into which all litter will be thrown. At each stop throughout the day we will arrange for the next gasoline fill-up, and we will stop together.” And on and on.
Lieutenant McEntee had his own orders, but they were ignored, Kolff having anticipated everything.
The first clash of wills between the American Army and the Peenemünde Germans came at Carlsbad, where the safari stopped for gas. “Since we are here,” Kolff said as if the arrival had been accidental, “we should see the famous caravans.” One of the soldiers said, “You mean caverns. You’re not permitted to do that.”
“Since we’re here,” Kolff repeated, his tense little body prepared to defend itself, “why don’t we just stop by?” He pronounced the innocent words chust stopp py, and when the Germans reached the entrance to the natural wonder. Mott found that the officials in charge were awaiting them with free passes and cold drinks. Kolff had written ahead, two weeks before, advising them of the exact minute his men would arrive.
Lieutenant McEntee protested again, but the government official already had Kolff out of the Oldsmobile and was distributing pamphlets to the other cars, so that a visit to the caverns became inescapable. Mott, in looking over Kolff’s itinerary for the trip, had wondered why this day’s stage was so relatively brief. Now he understood, for the excited engineers spent two hours underground, bombarding the Carlsbad scientists with a barrage of questions, especially about the myriad bats which used the caves as a daylight refuge.
“You go way down,” Kolff said to the attendants. “We go way up.”
[207] “Do you fly?”
“No, we-” Before Kolff could explain about rockets, Lieutenant McEntee intervened to forbid the conversation, so Dieter returned to the bats. “They fly at night. So do we.” The guard could make nothing of this, but when the tour reached the lowest level, where the Germans could marvel at the limestone points whose imperceptible downward dripping through the eons had created a subterranean cathedral, Kolff whispered to the guide, “Rockets,” and the man said, “No, stalactites.”
Lieutenant McEntee, infuriated by Kolff’s deception, assembled the Peenemünde families at the night stop and reminded them: “No stopping. No sightseeing. Our job is to get to the Army base at Huntsville in good order.”
As the caravan headed for Arkansas, Stanley Mott reflected on the years he had known these Germans, and he said to Rachel, “I wonder if there was ever a migration in this country of a more brilliant concentration of human power?”
Rachel could think of two possible competitors:. “Maybe the Pilgrims on the Mayflower. Maybe the Mormons moving west to Utah. They were powerful, too.”
“But those men up ahead and the ones on the train, they “hold the future in their hands.”
“Do you really think so?”
“I do indeed. I’ve lived with them for six years now, and I’m constantly staggered by the clear vision they have.”
As they crossed the country he shared with her the dreams of these remarkable men, insofar as he had been allowed to know them: “You know that quiet Ernst Stuhlinger? What do you suppose he’s working on? No laboratory, no equipment but a pencil and a sheet of paper, and that incredible mind. An ion ramjet.”
“And what’s that?”
“We think of outer space as empty. No gravity. No atmosphere. But there is this solar wind. Not blowing the way earthly wind does. Just particles of energy flowing out from the Sun. Constantly. As long as the Sun lasts. Stuhlinger thinks he could build a device of enormous size, a huge mouth really, which would speed through the upper atmosphere, gathering up these stray ions the way a whale gathers plankton in the ocean.”
“Can you see the ions?”
[208] “Invisible. And almost nonexistent. One part in a billion, or something like that. But with an ion ramjet you could collect all there are in a given part of space, convert them to energy, and fly your machine for many years in the atmosphere.”
Mott was always distressed, when he spoke of such speculations, by the fact that his son Millard showed no interest, even though Mrs. Mott, not trained as a scientist, could follow his explanations. The boy was diffident, interested in nothing, disgusted with Huntsville even before he reached it, and Mott wondered what deficiency in himself had created this intellectual vacuum. The constant moving about, perhaps, had dulled the lad’s capacity for enthusiasm, and when he watched the zest with which the Germans headed into new territory, he feared that Millard had failed to develop one of the most precious human attributes, wonder, and the ability to project oneself into unexplored dimensions.
Hans Unger, who had helped Kolff rebuild the Oldsmobile, was devising in his head a better guidance system for the rockets he was convinced the Americans must build. “If we don’t,” he said, identifying himself with his new country, “we shall lose the race to the Russians.”
“Is the race itself important?” Mott had asked, and he remembered the colloquium that Unger had once convened in the barracks at El Paso: “Chentlemen, Professor Mott bass asked a most benetrating qvestion. Duss it matter the Roosians, they are aheat of uss?”
Mott would never forget the intensity of the replies: Von Braun, Stuhlinger, Kolff, Unger hammered at him, driving home their conviction that within the next decades someone would command space, and the military advantage derived therefrom, and the ability to predict weather, and the possibility of stationing a device of some kind to throw back radio signals to any spot on Earth. “But the most significant return,” Von Braun had insisted, “will be the encouragement of the spirit of exploration ... in all fields ... in all arenas.”
Mott had asked point-blank, “Are you satisfied that with the rockets we could build now, we could get to outer space?”
“Tomorrow,” Von Braun snapped. “If we’re set free.”
“And the Moon? And Mars?”
[209] “Give us six years. Professor Mott, we’re on the verge of tremendous accomplishments. But so are the Russians.” Mott remembered with chilling effect what Von Braun had said next: “Your United States has about one hundred of us Peenemünde men. Russia must have captured four hundred. Do you think that by accident you got all the bright ones? Don’t you think Russia got some able ones, too?”
“But did they get any geniuses?” Mott asked.
“In this business a genius is merely a good engineer. I’m a good engineer. So is Kolff over there. You set Kolff free, by this time next year he could have something orbiting in space.”
It was almost as if this caravan of used automobiles were heading purposefully to some powerful destiny. The fate of a good deal of mankind rode with these wandering scholars; one young man in a rebuilt Pontiac dreamed of throwing out from a potential spacecraft an immense gossamer construction made of the most delicate filament, infinitely finer than a nylon fishing line. As he explained it to Mott: “In outer space, you understand, with no wind, no gravity, no disturbance of any kind, a piece of my filament would be just as rigid as a steel beam eight inches through.”
“I can’t believe it, but what would be the purpose?” “Collect radiation from the sun and convert it to electricity. Perpetual motion available at last.”
“Is that practical?”
“Would I work on it, otherwise?” Odderveiss, the young man said, returning to his sketches.
The boldest idea rode with the driver of the 1938 Oldsmobile, for Dieter Kolff had never surrendered his vision of the A-10: the immense rocket, which should have come off the line in early 1945, with the ability to launch from Peenemünde and deliver Trialen bombs into the heart of New York or Washington. Now that he lived in those cities, figuratively, he had diverted his imaginary rockets to other targets: Moon and Mars and Jupiter.
“It can be done,” he insisted to anyone who would listen. “We can do it now, and we must.” In German he had often discussed the step-by-step procedures with Mott, hoping that Mott would report his conviction to the military, but nothing had happened, and he was bringing to his new [210] job in Alabama not the equipment necessary for such shots into space and not even the plans, but only the moral conviction that whichever nation first mastered space might well master the world.
 
It would be said later in Huntsville: “Over a hundred German scientists arrived here at eleven o’clock on an April morning and by nightfall more than sixty had applied for cards at the free library.”
They were housed temporarily at the former Redstone Arsenal, which had been a thriving installation during the war but which served no peacetime need, and the citizens of Huntsville, while vigorously opposed to accepting Nazi Germans, as they called the Peenemünde scientists, were nevertheless gratified that at least someone had moved in to keep Redstone active and inject money into the local economy. These conflicting reactions meant that the reception was uneven, social leaders of the old Confederate city standing aghast at the invasion, bankers and businessmen being rather glad to see it. Certainly, there were no untoward incidents. Magnus Kolff, like the other youths, was enrolled in the local kindergarten, and when he returned for lunch with the exciting news that band instruments could be borrowed without cost, his mother said, “Get a trumpet, this afternoon,” and the early days at Huntsville were marked by loud and enthusiastic trumpet practice.
Liesl Kolff spent three days converting her new barracks into decent living space and then was seen about the camp no more. She spent her time in town trudging from one address to another, looking for a proper home in which to house her family: “No more camps. No more tents. We’re human beings now.”
Huntsville residents were considerate of her desires, and one family after another suggested houses that might be available, but some were not large enough and others were too expensive. At the end of two weeks Liesl had succeeded in helping six other German families to settle into their own rented homes, but the Kolffs were still in barracks.
And then one day, as she looked toward the north, she saw the beautifully wooded hills of a high area called [211] Monte Sano, “The Mountain of Health” a local woman explained, and Liesl went there, climbing the narrow footpaths until she reached a splendid plateau from which she could see the city below and the military installations beyond. From that moment she knew what she and Dieter must do, and next day she asked her husband to cut her a heavy walking stick from a sapling, and using this to knock aside brush, she explored the entire plateau until she found an almost perfect spot: sloping land that could be converted into a German-type wooded area with pine-needle base, cliff to protect the area from below, broad vista to delight the eye, and most important, tall, stout trees to give shade.
Next day she took Magnus to the hill with her, and while he practiced trumpet calls off-key, she piled stones at what she deemed would be the corners of a satisfactory lot. On the weekend she led Dieter and Magnus up the hill to see what she already called “our house,” and when Dieter saw what she had uncovered he was satisfied that they must build here: “After nearly five years of test shots in New Mexico, I’m hungry for trees.”
But how to get the money to buy the land, if it was for sale, and build an American house, which must be very costly? Dieter went to his counselor, Professor Mott, who was himself living in a rented home. “How can we Germans get enough money to buy our homes? Or build ones?”
Mott explained that in America one went to a bank and pleaded with the banker for a mortgage, but that none would be available unless the applicant already had a nest egg of several thousand dollars. “Could we see the banker, just in case?” Dieter asked, and an appointment was made with a Mr. Erskine, descendant of a well-regarded Confederate family, who listened attentively to Dieter’s plea, then said with some warmth, “Mr. Kolff, the city of Huntsville is truly delighted to have you Germans as our guests. You could be the salvation of this city, and we intend to offer you every consideration. But we cannot issue mortgages unless you have some down payment to protect us.”
That was final, and Kolff understood, but Mott asked if he could speak with Erskine alone. “I assure you I’ve not said a word about this to Kolff, but would you drive out to the camp to see what kind of people they are?”
[212] “I surely would. Let me assure you, Mott, I’m sick about refusing so many of your Germans, men and women of good character apparently ...”
“Come see.”
So with Dieter sitting in the back seat, the banker and Mott drove out to the barracks, and there Erskine saw the cleanliness of the Kolff home, the trumpet on the sideboard and the extreme neatness of the place, but what impressed him most was the 1938 Oldsmobile standing beside the barracks. It was impeccable, well-washed and polished, with shiny black tires. Any family that would rebuild an antique like that and care for it with such obvious affection would repay a mortgage.
“What we can do,” Erskine said, back in his office, “is grant you a mortgage-that is, all the German families-on the lowest down payments we’ve ever accepted. How much money would you need, Mr. Kolff, land and house?”
“If we can get the land ...”
“Where?”
“I’d rather not say till we get the money.”
“That’s prudent. But how much?”
“Land, maybe fifteen hundred. House, maybe five thousand.”
“Six thousand, five hundred-and no security? That’s rather much, Professor.” He broke off the conversation to ask, “Are you buying, Mott?”
“My future’s very uncertain. I’m not military, you know. I’m renting.”
The banker asked Kolff if he would wait outside, and when he was gone, Erskine said, “These are the kind of people we want in this community. Will they be here long?”
“I believe this is a long-term commitment. The government doesn’t know it yet, but the whole push of experiment ...”
“Does the Army agree?”
“The Army is fumbling, sir. But it knows it can’t turn back.”
“I can only repeat what I said to Kolff-and you can tell all your Germans this. I can give them mortgages at the lowest possible rate, the lowest possible down payment. If your man Kolff can come up with ... well, let’s say two thousand dollars ...”
[213] “He can’t. There’s no way he can.”
“He drives an automobile.”
“He bought it for forty dollars. What you see is what he did.”
Erskine leaned back and drummed his fingers. “We forget down here in Alabama that immigrants still come to our shores. With nothing. Wife, two children and nothing. It’s amazing, really. Why don’t you assemble all your Germans who want to buy homes, see how much money they can come up with, and come back and see me. We might be able to work something out en masse.” But when the Peenemünde men were assembled, they had almost no savings and their salaries were already allocated to furniture and food.
The solution came from a remarkable source. General Funkhauser, fifty-four years old and handsome, with graying hair and a gray worsted suit, flew in to check with the Army concerning rocket contracts obtained by Allied Aviation, and when he heard of the plight of the German scientists he said on the spot, “I’ll lend you fifteen thousand dollars, and Allied will guarantee another fifteen thousand against your salaries on our projects.”
When Mott heard this he insisted that Funkhauser leave is meeting at Redstone and drive immediately to the bank to assure Mr. Erskine that the funds would be available, and the general so charmed the banker, a trait Funkhauser had perfected in California, that a deal was arranged whereby the thirty thousand, some in hand, some guaranteed, could be used as a revolving fund which the Germans could then use as collateral to enable them to buy their own homes.
The first loan was made to Dieter Kolff, and ten minutes after it was assured, Liesl had a real estate man tramping over the plateau of Monte Sano, noting the rock-pile corners of her proposed lot. At the end of two weeks several German families had bought adjoining lots, and one of the most congenial settlements in northern Alabama was under way, a place of solidly built homes, wooded gardens and lanes marked with flowering shrubs.
A significant characteristic of Monte Sano was the amount of music that could be heard as the German children brought home their free instruments, and after a [214] while the Huntsville band, accustomed to playing John Philip Sousa and American Legion marches, was offering Mozart and Beethoven.
 
At the arsenal things were not going so smoothly for the German scientists; they were now prisoners of the Army and were restricted in their work to those rockets which the Army alone was developing for potential military use-Corporal, Sergeant, Redstone-and were not free to participate in the exciting and competing work being done by the Navy, with their more scientific Viking research rockets, or by the newly fledged Air Force, which was developing missiles like the Bomarc and Matador to its own specifications. It seemed to Dieter that America was prodigal in its waste of talent, headstrong in allowing conflict among agencies, and lagging in its pursuit of the Russians.
I don’t see how this country ever gets anything done, he told his wife as they worked together to make their home on Monte Sano always a little neater and better. “You put Von Braun in charge of everything, he’d have rockets in six months.”
“America won the war, didn’t she?” Liesl asked.
“That’s a mystery also,” Dieter said, but at the same time he was continuously grateful for the asylum America had provided and, unlike certain of the Peenemünde men, never considered returning to Germany. He was especially gratified with the easy manner in which Magnus was fitting in to American patterns and was proud of the boy’s fine marks at school. Once when Wernher von Braun came to Monte Sano for supper, the great scientist took Magnus on his knee and interrogated him about mathematics and geography, and the Kolffs were proud of how their son acquitted himself.
When the boy was in bed, Von Braun confided his fears, his large, usually placid face betraying real doubts about the Army program in which he was inextricably enmeshed. “American generals are like German generals. If our team does a single thing that might be useful only to science, they scream and inspect us for loyalty.” He laughed. “Remember how General Funkhauser was going to have us shot because we were thinking about space? They don’t [215] shoot you in Huntsville. They do worse. They cut off your funds.”
On the other hand, if the Germans applied themselves to military projects, they enjoyed remarkable freedom and constant encouragement. This was partly because the generals realized that in going before Congress in search of funds, they were restricted in what they could divulge; to the appropriation committees, they appeared as merely one more group of American military men, singing the same tired songs; but if they could throw the burden of testimony on Von Braun and General Funkhauser and specific experts like Dieter Kolff, all speaking in heavily accented phrases which carried an extra freight of scientific substance, they were apt to gain attention and grants.
Von Braun seemed to be away from Huntsville most of the time: in Washington to testify before Congress, in Chicago to speak before large assemblies of scientists, or in the smallest Tennessee town to explain to local businessmen the significance of the new science. He was a genius in meeting American voters where they were and leading them gently, amusingly, to where he wanted them to be. He was especially adept at using his German accent effectively, and Dieter once heard him say to a group of representatives from a House committee, “When I left Alabama this morning to fly here to testify before you, my wife asked, “Wernher, do you have your speech prepared?” and I told her, “I know it backwards,” and that’s how I’m giving it, I’m afraid.”
Von Braun, from his painful experience with Hitler and the Wehrmacht generals, knew how effective models and displays could be when talking to non-scientists, and it was for this reason that he often took Kolff along with him when he wished to make an especially powerful presentation before President Eisenhower or Senator Glancey’s committee: “I have my prized assistant, Dieter Kolff, to demonstrate the four parts which will fit together to make a Saturn rocket.” And Kolff would take the carefully machined mock-up and break it apart, allowing watchers to handle the segments; then he would skillfully put them together again, as if he were a child playing with toys. Von Braun did not invite him to speak about the parts, [216] for Dieter’s English could not be relied upon; Von Braun did the talking, and it was largely due to him that Huntsville continued to receive the funds necessary for basic research.
But he and Kolff could never understand the peculiar workings of the American system, in which the Army remained suspicious of the Navy and the Air Force combated both, on the grounds that space should belong to those who flew it. “They could see, if they studied what happened to Germany’s war effort,” Von Braun said one night at his home when Kolff and Stuhlinger and the visiting Funkhauser were discussing next steps, “what happens when you allow generals to fight among themselves and make scientific decisions based on their own narrow interests.” He was recalling the devastating debates that had occurred at Peenemünde, where the German air force had used the north end of the island to build an unmanned airplane, which proved extremely effective in bombing large areas, while Von Braun’s group filled the rest of the island with their competing rocketry.
“I defend the American system,” Funkhauser said. “Everyone competing with everyone else.”
“It’s so wasteful,” Von Braun complained.
“More so than even you imagine,” Funkhauser conceded. “Because in my opinion, some of the very best work is being done by private industry. I sometimes think that Allied Aviation is ahead of all the services.”
The experts discussed this for some time, in German, and when Funkhauser told them what he had seen in the California and Texas aviation shops, they were astonished. “What will happen, I think,” Funkhauser predicted, “is that we will all drift along, going our own ways, until something big happens. Bang! Then we’ll have to pay attention. In six weeks, Army ... Navy ... Air Force ... private industry-we’ll coalesce into one very effective instrument.”
“And if nothing big happens?” Kolff asked.
“Something big always happens,” Von Braun said.
The Germans were stunned after they and the Army experts had developed a set of rockets with enormous power and a body of compact scientific instruments to ride atop the rockets and send back to Earth data concerning the upper atmosphere. This beautiful and sophisticated [217] arrangement of equipment came close to what Kolff had been dreaming of, and one afternoon he showed Von Braun a set of calculations: “With this, and just a little more boost, we could throw that science package right out of the atmosphere and into Earth orbit.”
“Don’t say that!” Von Braun snapped. “Not where people can hear.”
But someone at Huntsville did hear, not this specific conversation but others which had idly speculated upon the power of the new rockets, and on the eve of test-firing the package, a harsh warning came down from the Department of Defense at Washington, signed by the Secretary himself:
 
In firing the test rocket you are to take every precaution to ensure that no part of the rocket or its payload escapes into outer space. International consequences would be grave if this were to happen. Every member of the team will be responsible to see that it does not.
 
So the American capacity to loft an object into space, where it would orbit the earth at an altitude of about a hundred and twenty miles and stay there for years, untouched by storms or rust or the decay of its power supply, was killed before it had a chance to demonstrate its ability.
The Germans did not despair. Quietly and with remarkable skill they turned their attention to that chain of almost insurmountable problems which would enable them to throw into the air not some small device weighing three pounds, but a monstrous space vehicle weighing twenty-five tons. The burning interest of men like Kolff could not be quenched by directives from Washington.
Occasionally, just occasionally, they had to face the fact that whereas their Peenemünde team was accomplishing miracles at Huntsville, at other bases about the nation American scientists, with no help from any Germans, were accomplishing equal results. “I doubt that their rockets will fly,” some of the Germans predicted, but Kolff, having listened attentively to what General Funkhauser had reported about American industry, suspected that with or without the Germans, America was going to solve the rocket problem.
[218] But when one after another of the American rockets fizzled, he noticed that the authorities kept coming down to Alabama to consult with Von Braun, and he realized that at last his leader, whom he admired so intensely, was recognized as essential to the American effort. And because he was Von Braun’s engineering genius, he was essential also.
Therefore, when he finished his work at the Redstone laboratories, always moving his great design of a master rocket ahead inch by inch, he returned to Monte Sano and its neat German community with a sense of deep satisfaction. His wife had a secure home now, much better than the farmhouse she had shared with cows in Pomerania, and his son had a proud position in the school band: youngest member, and best trumpeter.
And then one night he climbed the hill with disastrous news. Assembling the Peenemünde people, he told them, “Professor Mott has been fired.”
Yes, the fine young engineer who had searched Europe for them, who had herded them to safety at the village near Munich and inducted them into American life at El Paso, was no longer needed by the Army. A delegation of Monte Sano Germans formed immediately and drove down into Huntsville to the house the Motts had rented, and there they found Stanley and Rachel sitting disconsolately in the middle of their austere living room, facing the Mondrian prints they had brought with them from El Paso.
“We’ll go on strike!” Kolff said, and five men who had learned English because Rachel had been so generous with her time assented.
“Don’t be foolish,” Mott interrupted. “I’ve never been an Army man. Just a civilian employee. And now my employment’s ended.”
“But you saved us all,” Liesl Kolff cried.
“And we will fight for you now,” her husband vowed.
The protests were prolonged and heartfelt. These Germans knew they were of value to America and were able to contribute that value only because Stanley Mott had championed them against enormous odds. He had found them, saved their lives, and delivered them to the laboratories of the New World. Now they would defend him.
Even Wernher von Braun made representations to the [219] Army command, who replied that Mott was merely one more civilian whose job had been completed, and he must go. Frantic calls to universities and other learned institutions proved that the scientific explosion which was about to overtake America had not yet begun. “We can’t even find jobs for our doctoral candidates,” one graduate school reported. “We’re advising them to go into high-school teaching.” Mott, with only an M.S., had little bargaining power.
To his surprise, Rachel was remarkably philosophical about his dismissal. “You know what the old general told us when he was ousted: ‘War promotes, peace demotes.’ ” She assured Stanley that if they did have to settle for a high-school job, no matter where, she was sure that she and the boys could adjust, and without knowing where they were to go, she started packing.
It was Dieter Kolff who saved them, or rather his wife, for Liesl heckled her husband incessantly: “You cannot allow these good people who saved our lives ... how many times...” At this point in her sentence she would stand with her heavy arms cocked at an aggressive angle, her stubby hands on hips that grew broader year by year, and demand to know what he proposed doing.
What he did was use the telephone at the base to call General Funkhauser out at Allied Aviation: “General, the wonderful young man who saved us both, he’s being fired.” When Funkhauser established that the man was Professor Mott he exploded, causing the phone to rattle, and three days later, in the Allied four-engine plane, he came roaring in to Huntsville. Within minutes he was meeting with the Motts and Kolff in the latter’s office.
“I can’t give you a job right now with Allied,” he said as he stalked about the room. “But if we did have a job opening”-he pronounced it chob-“I thought you might like to know how highly we prize a fine engineer like you. Guess what our salary would be?”
Mott was too humiliated to play games, so he gave an abrupt, absurd figure: “Fifteen thousand?”
“Eighteen,” Funkhauser said in volatile German. “And I assure you of this, young man. There is going to be a scientific awakening in this country-aviation ... atomic power ... space. Things you and I haven’t dreamed of yet. [220] And when that happens, men like you are going to be at a premium.”
He dropped into a chair, grasped the arms, and stared at Mott as if he were a horse to be traded. “You’re a commodity. What can we do today with a commodity?”
Suddenly he jumped up, pointed an accusing finger at Kolff, and cried again in German, “Stupid, why didn’t you think of it?”
“Of what?”
“Those fellows in Hampton, Virginia! They’re always looking for men exactly like Mott.” He grasped Mott’s arm and said, “You are of enormous value, young man, we’ll prove it.” Grabbing for a telephone, he arranged a meeting for that afternoon, then told Dieter, “You’re flying with us.”
During the short flight to Virginia the two Germans reminded Mott of the extraordinary group of people he was about to meet: “The National Advisory Committee for Aero-nautics-NACA, with each letter pronounced-is like nothing else in America. A board of twelve leading experts who serve without pay. They hire eight thousand extremely bright engineers and theoreticians to investigate flight-airplane engines, airplane design, airport facilities, new metals, new fuels. If America is preeminent in aviation, it’s because of NACA”
“Would I fit in?” Mott asked. “I’ve never had advanced courses in aviation.”
“You’d be ideal, Stanley,” Dieter said, patting him on the knee. “From what I’ve heard of NACA, it doesn’t go looking for aviation experts. It hires the most brilliant engineers it can find and turns them loose. Your wide background is what they’re looking for.”
Funkhauser interposed an additional consideration: “Stanley, we’re entering the age of space. We need people who can think about bold new horizons. Americans equal to Germany’s Oberth and Russia’s Tsiolkovsky. You know who they are?”
“I do.”
“Good. You’re far ahead of the others.” He winked at Kolff. “NACA doesn’t know it needs this young man, Dieter, but we know it needs him.”
Mott’s introduction to NACA was disarming: a clutter [221] of unimpressive buildings not far from the James River, a panel of four intense specialists, a series of penetrating questions. “You come highly recommended,” the spokesman said. “Was it really you who saved the Peenemünde documents?”
“It was,” Funkhauser said. “I searched all over Germany for him, and he searched for me.”
“And what were your main courses of study?”
“Mechanical engineering, materials, structures.”
“Excellent,” and the spokesman explained the philosophy of NACA, a philosophy which had enabled the agency to pioneer far more than half the discoveries that had made flight possible, profitable and safe: “We like to bring in engineers who’ve had wide experience in general principles. Who know what a vector is, a slide rule. And we put them to work on every conceivable type of problem until they appreciate the complexity of flight, trusting that they’ll apply what they know to what we don’t know.”
“I’d like that.”
“When can you start?”
“Tomorrow,” General Funkhauser said.
“We could use you tomorrow,” the NACA man said.
“That sounds wonderful, sir, but I have to close out my duties at Huntsville.”
“Why? They fired you, didn’t they?”
“I can’t just walk out.”
The NACA men nodded, almost approvingly; if this man was loyal to people who had fired him, he would certainly be loyal to those who hired him. “Agreed,” the chairman said. “Start work as soon as you can get here. But by the way, where did you say you were educated?”
“Bachelor’s, Georgia Tech. Master’s, Louisiana State.”
With spontaneous enthusiasm the chairman rose, reached across and shook Mott’s hand. “That’s a spectacular combination. We have seven superbrains in NACA. Three from Louisiana State, two each from Purdue and Georgia Tech.” When he led Mott toward the door, he added, “We don’t want you to come here just to work. We want you to become one of our next superbrains.”
Mott halted and his throat choked up, but after a moment he asked, “Could I call my wife?” The NACA men heard him say, “Better than you could have dreamed, [222] darling. They’re shifting us into the fast lane.” She must have responded with a question about opportunities in the new job, for he replied, “Unlimited,” and hung up.
 
When Mott reported to NACA he was assigned to the operation that stood at the very heart of Langley’s contribution to the nation, the vast wind tunnel in which models of the best airplanes in the world were tested and improved upon. It was a huge white building, two blocks long, of astonishing shape: “Looks like a monster doughnut covered with confectioner’s sugar that somebody squashed from two sides so the hole almost disappeared.”
The speaker was a white-haired engineer named Harry Crampton, who had worked in the smaller Langley tunnels for thirty-one years and who now supervised the masterpiece. “We call it the Sixteen-Foot Tunnel,” he said, pointing to a diagram of the multimillion-dollar center, “because here, where the wind reaches its maximum speed, beyond Mach 1, the cross section is sixteen feet. That’s enormous. You can place your model in the center and it will avoid turbulence occurring along the walls.”
He led Mott into the tunnel itself, a cavernous affair with enormously thick and polished walls. Its crushed-doughnut design meant that it had two fairly long straightaways, four abrupt 90° corners, and two short connecting arms. “A very narrow capital O might be a better description,” Crampton said, and Mott, in his desire to be cooperative, made his first mistake: “Some scientist did a good job here.”
Crampton stopped, stiffened, and in the gloom of the great tunnel, said, “Scientists are men who dream about doing things. Engineers do them. This was designed by engineers, built by engineers, and is run by engineers. You’re an engineer, young fellow, and you’re to be proud of it.”
“I’m sorry,” Mott said.
“You thought that if an engineer was real good, he became a scientist. It’s the other way around. If you want to be an engineer but find you have ten thumbs, you become a scientist.”
He led Mott on a walk-through of his tunnel, counterclockwise from where it narrowed. At the first squared-off bend stood an axle from which protruded twenty-five [223] huge wooden propeller blades, so exquisitely shaped that they cleared the tunnel walls by less than an eighth of an inch. When they revolved at furious speed they created a massive movement of air, and only a few feet farther on, a second set of blades caught this moving air, accelerated it, and whipped it down the back straightaway at a speed of over five hundred miles an hour.
“Twenty-five blades in the first set, twenty-six in the second,” Crampton said. “Why?”
“To avoid resonance,” Mott answered quickly, and the old engineer was pleased, for if the sets had been identical, and rotating at their enormous speeds, the moment would come when they would spin in harmony and set up a vibration that would tear the building apart. With a 25-26 ratio, that harmonic resonance could be avoided.
The propeller blades were made of a handsome white spruce, and Crampton asked why, but Mott could not answer. “I’ll give you time to think about it,” the older man said as he led Stanley between the stationary blades and into the long straightaway. “Here’s the secret of any wind tunnel. The air comes roaring off the propellers, and you gradually broaden the diameter of the tunnel so that a huge mass accumulates, traveling relatively slowly but at high pressure. Now, here you suddenly constrict the diameter, so that the same mass of air has to rush through a sharply diminished opening. It must go faster. It reaches the speed of sound, and then as the diameter opens up, the speed of the air actually becomes supersonic.” And when Mott studied the interior of this great twisting worm, he realized that in no portion did the diameter remain the same for long; it was always either expanding or contracting.
“What we’re doing is playing games with our mass of air. Slow it down, rush it ahead. The result? When it comes past the critical point, it’s a monster gale.” Like a proud parent, Crampton looked at the test section, then laughed. “But at the same time, the air is playing games with us.”
“In what way?”
“You understand what the sound barrier is?”
“Mach 1. About seven hundred and sixty miles per hour at sea level.”
“It varies according to temperature.”
“I thought temperature and altitude,” Mott said.
[224] “Many people do. Only temperature. Now think a moment. The higher you go close to Earth the colder it gets. But the governing factor is temperature.”
Crampton leaned against the tunnel wall, polished like a jewel to allow the air to pass with minimum friction, and pointed to the handsome metal pylon to which vehicles to be tested were attached. “Seems incredible, but three years ago we could move air past that stand at Mach 0.9, just under the speed of sound, or Mach 1.1, just over. But the tunnel would not allow us to study what happened close to Mach 1, which was where the mysteries happen in high-speed aviation. Breaking the sound barrier it was called. Many judged it to be impossible. Too many planes went haywire when they attempted it.”
“Three years ago you couldn’t do it. Can you do it now?”
Crampton ignored the question. He tapped the carefully tapered sides and said, “They must not allow any of the high-speed air to escape, because that’s how we build up our miles-per-hour. But as the air approaches Mach 1 in this final constriction, so much accumulates in such a little space that it begins to vibrate, choke, flutter. It allows us to photograph nothing.”
“But just beyond Mach 1 it calms down?”
“Yes. We knew that if we could get the plane through that barrier, supersonic flight would be more predictable. This wind tunnel proved that. So the barrier became a terrible psychological and physical problem. I have some old schlieren photos in my office showing you how terrible. The whole tunnel seemed to vibrate and we honestly believed that no airplane could pass through and survive.”
“How was it handled?”
“Simple. A determined pilot named Chuck Yeager took his X-1 up to a great height, where the atmosphere wasn’t too heavy, and flew right through the barrier, but in our tunnels we still couldn’t analyze the science of it, and when other pilots tried to break through it, they crashed.”
“I always thought the English broke the sound barrier. I saw this movie in which Ralph Richardson’s son ...”
Crampton groaned and lowered his head, as if bearing a savage burden, one often borne before. “Movies are going to destroy human intelligence. That damn-fool movie dealt with crazies who took their planes up and dived them, without control, until they accumulated speeds that tore [225] them apart. Chuck Yeager took his X-1 up and flew it, under perfect control. All the difference in the world.”
“Did you get the wind tunnel straightened out?”
“Not me. A genius named John Stack.” He paused to consider how he could best explain to Mott. Then pride captured him. “At NACA we solve everything, eventually. That’s our job, and now it’s yours.”
“This time, how?”
“Stack reasoned that if the tunnel was choking at Mach 1, it must be because it was receiving too much air. He concluded that we were feeding in much more than necessary, and it was his brilliant idea to come in here just before the throat and bleed off just enough of the supercharged air to allow the remainder to pass through without creating turbulence. Look at this photo.” And he showed Mott a high-speed schlieren photograph of an unsatisfactory model perched atop a narrow steel pylon, more than a hundred minute wires leading from a hundred sensors mounted on various interior parts of the plane. It stood in the midst of a wind roaring past at Mach 1, with the air eddies magnificently depicted as they swirled about the uneven protuberances. Even Mott, untrained in wind-tunnel analysis, could see that the wing on this model created far too much turbulence. And what was remarkable, the general body of air, even at Mach 1, was orderly and in no way turbulent. Mr. Stack, whoever he was, had solved his problem and opened the pathway to the development of airplanes that could break through the sound barrier almost as undisturbed as a horse-drawn carriage heading for a country picnic in 1903.
“At NACA,” the instructor said, “There are no insoluble problems. Only time-consuming ones.”
And then as the two men stood in the throat of the tunnel, where the walls narrowed like the digesting portion of a python, Crampton placed his hand upon the chrome-steel pylon and said, “You must treat Langley with reverence. It’s a holy place, really, because without it we couldn’t have proved that engine nacelles should be fused into the wing of the plane rather than stand exposed so that mechanics could service them more easily. We gave he plane forty additional miles an hour with that one. It was at Langley that we proved wheels drawn back into the fuselage after takeoff added another sixty miles. And [226] it was here that we improved the bombers that subdued Hitler.
“The tunnel must be protected. And if you ever bring in a model with a loose bolt or a fragment of metal that might break off, you can destroy this tunnel.”
From his pocket he took a coin and placed it against the pylon. “Let’s imagine that you, Engineer Mott, have brought in a model which is defective. This little piece of metal is going to break loose. Now follow me,” and he walked swiftly down the darkened tunnel to the first set of twenty-five blades. “We’re traveling at six hundred miles an hour and we smash into these wooden blades. We shatter three, and their rubbish flies through here to strike the twenty-six blades, and the whole tunnel is rendered useless.”
Mott studied where two blades in the first set had been adroitly repaired, as if a jeweler had inserted small pieces of wood to fill the holes caused by some break-away piece of metal. “Now you understand why we use wooden blades? If we used steel, which would in many ways be better, when a flyaway bolt struck them, their pieces would become bullets.”
Crampton touched the gigantic blades as a father might touch a son who had done well in games. “When you work here, Mott, you work in a cathedral.”
 
It was a year before Mott got into the tunnel, for he was so good at designing models that Crampton kept him in that part of the operation. “You’re a real engineer, one of the best. You know materials and how to handle them. If I’d had you as my model builder fifteen years ago ...”
“I’d like to start work in the tunnel.”
“And you should. I’ve been selfish, keeping you over here in the shops. But you’ll be a better tunnel man for it.
When he moved into the tunnel, one of seventeen creative engineers supported by twenty-three highly skilled model builders and mathematicians, he launched a series of experiments to identify the sometimes minute modifications that pinpointed improvements to be made in the full-scale prototypes of the aircraft before they were sent up the Chesapeake Bay for testing at the Naval Air Test Center at Patuxent River. He found his work totally [227] absorbing, for it utilized all that he had learned at Georgia, Louisiana and New Mexico.
His life with his family, ensconced in a small white bungalow on the banks of the James River, with a small boat of their own, was the happiest he had ever known. His elder son, Millard, having been expelled from an exclusive school in New England, was idling his way through an ineffectual public school education, but he was behaving himself, and Christopher reveled in the waterfront, competing with other youngsters in one-man small-boat races. Rachel, indefatigably concerned about the problems of her society, had no Germans to teach English, so she directed her enthusiasm to black playgrounds around Hampton, where she served as a voluntary teacher’s helper, taking over whole areas when regular supervisors called in sick.
The Motts, as a group, had found their niche, and even Rachel’s mother, when she visited NACA, had to agree that her son-in-law had finally landed a job commensurate with his qualifications, but she did feel obliged to offer two criticisms: “They’re not paying you nearly enough, Stanley. And I hope that when you have a good hold on things here, you’ll apply to MIT for a teaching position.” She could not believe that any really first-class intellect ever spent the productive years of his life at any place other than Harvard or MIT. Second-class men did rather nicely at Princeton or Yale, and for the others, there were the Western colleges that excelled at basketball.
Stanley and Rachel were amused by her mother’s pretensions, and Stanley tried to explain that NACA was closely associated with the very Harvard and MIT professors whom she admired. “Experts from those schools often spend weeks with us at NACA working on problems too abstruse for the university men to solve. In fact, last week I was working with two professors from MIT on the problem of how to bring a body traveling twenty-five thousand miles an hour in empty outer space back through the friction of the heavy atmosphere without permitting it to burn up from the tremendous temperatures generated.”
Mott had told the professors, “If we ever send men into space, as Von Braun insists we will, the problem will not be getting them up into space. The Huntsville Germans are sure they can do that with rockets they already have. [228] The difficulty will be getting them safely down. Through the atmosphere. At temperatures which cause ordinary metal to burn like paper.”
The three men studied this in abstract for three weeks, then conducted what experiments they could in the wind tunnel, but since it was obvious that they could never generate speeds of 25,000 miles an hour, they were again thrown back into speculation. They spent another six weeks drafting a report on the current status of bringing a metal body back through the atmosphere, and in the end made a one-paragraph recommendation:
 
At the present state-of-the-art we do not know enough to make even tentative suggestions as to how this intricate problem should be solved, but we do know that our ignorance of the atmosphere above 65,000 feet will be a permanent disability unless immediately resolved. We recommend an intensive study of the atmosphere to a height of 200,000 feet and higher if present equipment permits.
 
This advice was so obviously sensible that when the MIT professors departed, the engineers in charge of NACA looked about for one of their men to head the study of the upper atmosphere, and because of Mott’s excellent work in the wind tunnels, they gave him the job, and for the next two years he spent about half his time at nearby Wallops Island.
This was one of the low, marshy barrier islands of the Delaware-Maryland-Virginia peninsula, contiguous to Chincoteague, where the wild ponies thrived. It was a forbidding place, smothered in mosquitoes and buried in swamps, but its splendid beaches, curving like majestic scimitars, provided launching spots from which scientific instruments could be thrown high into the air by small, powerful rockets using solid fuels.
There were in these early days no commodious quarters for visitors, so that when one flew the relatively short distance from NACA installations at Langley to the frontier area at Wallops, one traveled from long-established order to disorder, from comfort to discomfort. However, the life on Wallops was so primitive, with great fishing and boar hunting and living in tents, and improvised meals [229] heavy with carbohydrates, that most men enjoyed it: “This is the Daniel Boone part of my life. My wife and kids sure as hell can’t follow me here.”
At Wallops, America’s fundamental research into the upper atmosphere took place, and the secret of the excellent results obtained-best in the world-was twofold: rockets and telemetry. The former carried sophisticated scientific instruments thirty and forty miles into the air; the latter reported what happened en route ... up and down.
A specialist in telemetry explained his arcane art: “Simplest way to get data, of course, would be to have the nose cone or payload of the rocket containing the instruments parachute back to earth so we could visually check them. Two problems: our rockets must fire out to sea to prevent land disasters; and the complexity and weight of the parachute system would negate the value of the shot. So we go two different routes.”
He took Mott to the radar range, where delicate instruments monitored every moment of a rocket flight so that speed, acceleration and atmospheric resistance could be determined. “Look at the graphs the radar produces. They tell us everything.” The expert laughed. “Everything, that is, except what we really want to know. So we fall back upon this final system.” And he showed Mott how the instruments sent aloft delivered electrical impulses to a kind of radio which relayed them back to Earth. “When we send this baby up, it can talk to us in code and report every slight change it encounters. We call it telemetry.”
Occasionally the instruments didn’t work. A most intricate device would be placed atop a sounding rocket, complete with a score of telemetric devices, and it would soar the first five miles through the visible cloud layer, through the stratosphere and mesosphere, reporting perfectly on conditions there, but when it entered the ionosphere, where the data became critical, some small component of the instrument system, damaged by the physical stress of launch, would cease functioning and the shot would be scrubbed.
These failures irritated Mott, for he knew that he was on the verge of understanding the atmosphere, that mysterious ocean of air which seemed so evanescent on a summer’s day but which was almost as solid as an oaken board when one wanted to penetrate it at one’s own speed. He [230] studied the best reports available, especially those of the Russians, who had done such good work, and he constructed the most beautiful diagrams of the atmosphere, using eleven different colors to indicate the bands which appeared to differentiate the varied characteristics of this great, unknown ocean.
He was captivated by two physical features that did not seem, at first glance, to be in any way associated with NACA’s desire to bring a metal vehicle back through the atmosphere: the matter of temperature at various altitudes, and the spectacular manner in which pressure diminished as one rose higher and higher. He was not obligated to study these phenomena, but he was drawn to do so on the off chance that they might shed light on his basic problem.
He had always supposed, from his experience in climbing mountains and from what normal airplane flight proved, that the higher one went into the air, the colder one became, and his tests at Wallops confirmed this. At one mile up, it was cold. At two miles, it was noticeably colder. At nearly three miles in the Rockies, it was bitter. And on an airplane seven miles up, it dropped to -50°.
It continued this way to an altitude of about twelve miles, and then things went haywire, as if an entire new set of rules applied, for at sixteen miles, the temperature started to rise sharply until, at thirty miles, it was a comfortable +48°. But this soon changed, for at fifty miles, it dropped to a severe -100°, where it remained for some time.
But at about fifty-five miles, it started a dramatic leaping as if fire had been placed under the instruments; it reached more than +200°. And then at some point beyond which the Wallops machines could not yet soar, an almost unbelievable phenomenon would occur: the temperature of the atmosphere would be the same on all sides of the machine, but the side facing the Sun would accumulate so much radiation that it would heat beyond the boiling point, while the shadow side, only a few feet distant, would be -200°.
It was a crazy ambience, this vertical pillar of atmosphere, but it was the portion of the universe through which man must move if he wished ever to enter space, and its peculiar behavior was dictated by physical laws [231] that could be unraveled if men like Mott had sufficient brains and enough rockets at Wallops Island to accumulate the data. There were, of course, other groups in various parts of the United States, as dedicated as he, working on similar problems related to space: How to build better rocket engines? How to combine more efficient fuels? How to navigate when there are no landmarks to refer to? How to construct suits in which men could live in a world of no pressure?
It was the latter concern which kept Mott focused on the problem of decreasing pressure as one rose through the atmosphere. At sea level it had been agreed that pressure was normal, 100 percent, but it diminished quickly as one climbed upward, until at the top of the Rockies it was only 50 percent of normal, and at five miles, it was so weakened that men required additional oxygen to breathe. If air pressure at sea level was judged to be 1, at sixty miles up, it became 0.000002, and so far as human breathing was concerned, oxygen and pressure both could be said to have vanished.
Mott spent several months analyzing this phenomenon and interpreting what it would mean to either a man or a machine, and he helped deduce the principles which would govern any flight into the upper reaches of the atmosphere. In doing so, he became so enchanted with this mysterious ocean of air that he would often stand on the beach at Wallops, not far from the primordial soup from which life had emerged three or four billion years ago, and watch with awe as one of his weather rockets soared into the air, bearing its precious little cargo of instruments which would send down arcane signals as to what was occurring aloft, and as it passed gradually from sight he would remain on the silent beach, imagining himself a passenger aboard that rocket, passing from cold to hot to burning hot and freezing cold, breathing normally in the first seconds, then feeling his throat constrict as oxygen became more rare, then gasping for one final breath of air that did not exist, before turning on the latest device of his imagination which would provide him with oxygen and proper pressure.
Like all such experimenters in these years, whether in the backwaters of America or the remote corners of Soviet Russia, Mott lived in a world of juvenile excitement, [232] moving from one threshold to another like a boy with a chemistry set or a new collection of maps, always wondering, speculating, making wild guesses, and striving to thrust back a little further the frontiers of knowledge. One evening, as he watched the Sun already sunk throw its rays around the edge of the western earth to illuminate one of his radiosondes rising into the highest layers of the atmosphere, a hundred miles up, making it shine while Earth grew increasingly dark, he realized that with imperceptible steps he was making the transition from engineer to scientist, for with the skills of the former he was attacking the mysteries which preoccupied the latter, and he was increasingly proud to stand in both camps, a man who could at the same time control material things like metals and wind tunnels yet grapple with the ultimate mysteries such as life at incredible altitudes. His four published papers indicated the direction in which his mind was growing:
 
Mott, Stanley and Crampton, Harry: Effects on the Base, Afterbody and Tail Regions of Twin-Engine Airplane Model with Extra Low Horizontal Tail Locations at a Speed of Mach 0.7. 1955.
 
Mott, Stanley and Winslow, Elmer: Aerodynamic Characteristics of a Delta Wing with a 75° Swept Leading Edge at Mach 2.36 to Mach 3.08. 1955.
 
Mott, Stanley: Preliminary Tables for Estimating the Properties of the Upper Atmosphere as Derived from Telemetry Delivered by Rockets and Free Balloons. 1956.
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As his work at Wallops drew to a conclusion, it was generally recognized by his associates that he knew as much about the upper atmosphere as any man alive, and they suspected that this mastery would serve as a plateau from which he would ascend to even greater understandings, not because of his undoubted ability but because the speed of change was so great that anyone who stood upon an eminence in these particular years would be thrown inescapably higher.
As often happened with men obsessed by abstract ideas, [233] Stanley’s mastery came at the expense of his family life. Because of his increasingly protracted absences from Langley, Rachel had to assume responsibility for the boys, and she witnessed daily how much Millard and Christopher needed their father. The older boy had become moody and insecure; the younger, assertive and rather difficult to handle. Judging that only a little fatherly care could bring the younger son, Chris, back into orbit, she directed most of her attention to Millard, now thirteen, and the more she saw of him the more disturbed she became, for he was definitely developing characteristics which, if projected ten years, would make him most unmanly.
The children of top-flight engineers and scientists, such as those one saw at NACA laboratories, were apt to be highly individualistic, and this did not disturb Rachel, but she did believe that boys should develop as boys and girls as girls, and it distressed her to see anyone confused about his or her status. Millard was definitely confused and she wanted her husband to do something about it.
As soon as the problem was presented to Stanley, in whispers upon his return from Wallops, he acknowledged that he must act quickly, and he suggested a camping trip to the undeveloped marshes east of Chincoteague, and the family responded enthusiastically. They borrowed a small truck from a NACA engineer, put together some informal camping equipment, including a Coleman stove, and were off, taking the ferry from Norfolk across the mouth of the Chesapeake to Cape Charles and then up the peninsula to an area as wild and forlorn as any in America, but also as powerful because of its relationship to the sea.
There they camped, netting themselves off at night from the ferocious mosquitoes and probing Assateague Island during the day for signs of feral pigs and strange birds. Young Christopher lost his boisterousness the first day and settled down to enjoyable explorations with his father: “Look at the herons. Four kinds and the book shows only three.” With a heavy pencil he checked off each of the birds he saw, more than fifty, giving himself credit for some that not even Rachel could identify as they sped past.
Stanley spent many hours with the boy, leading the conversation when possible into the subjects of deportment and congenial family living. “Are those boys the police arrested fun to be with?”
[234] “The best.”
“What would you have done if you’d been arrested?”
“It wasn’t serious. They didn’t really steal anything.”
“They broke a window. They climbed into the store.”
“But they didn’t take anything.”
“They were taken to jail. Have you ever been in jail?”
Mott called the local police for the address of the nearest jail, and one morning he took his sons to see what a stonewalled prison was like, and when they saw the heavy gates and the bleak corridors they understood a little better what their parents were talking about. Young Chris, in particular, was impressed: “Mom, they ate from tin plates on long benches and every time somebody opened a door, somebody else locked it.”
“Boys who break into stores live in jails,” Rachel said.
The experience must have frightened Chris, for during the remainder of the camping trip he kept even closer to his father, so that by the time they packed for home Mott believed that he had reestablished contact with his younger son.
With Millard the problem was more serious, for the boy was not committing offenses against society which might one day land him in jail. He was at enmity with himself, and nothing that Mott senior could volunteer in an effort to penetrate the cloud in which the boy had immersed himself proved effective. “Grandmother is still willing to pay your way into a good school.”
“I’ll never go back.”
“Not to the same one.”
“They’re all the same.”
“Millard, there must be a hundred schools-”
“They’re all bullies.”
“One bad example.”
“Father, I don’t want to hear any more about it. Let her keep her money.”
“It isn’t a matter of money. When you grow up, do you want to be an engineer, like me?”
“I hate math.”
“All right, what don’t you hate?”
Millard would confide nothing, so Stanley and Rachel together talked with him about the necessity of a college education, and she said, “I know a dozen girls who grew up with me, really fine girls. They were like you, didn’t [235] want an education. Now they can do nothing.
“They could do anything you do.”
“They could. But they don’t.”
“What’s stopping them?”
“College urges you forward to do things,” Rachel said, and in her case this had been true, for no matter where she had been assigned by good or bad luck, she had felt obligated to dig in, to do what was needed.
“To do what I do,” Stanley told his son, “you have to have at least two different degrees. The men who move the firing stands around don’t need any.”
“I’d like to move the stands,” Millard said defiantly.
“Of course you could,” Mott said quickly. “It’s a good job and those men are good men. But when a boy has the capacity …”
“I can’t do anything that you’re talking about,” Millard replied in an almost whining voice.
“Why don’t we try this way?” Rachel suggested. “You spend the rest of this year, Millard, thinking about the various things you might want to do. Tell us about them, and we’ll tell you the steps you have to take.”
“For example,” Stanley said, “if you want to be a policeman-”
“I hate jails.” And there the master conversation, the one that was to have unraveled difficulties, ended. Mott tried three more times to gain his son’s confidence, but Millard had found in school or on the streets someone his own age with whom he preferred to discuss important matters, and this meant that his parents were permanently excluded.
 
Mott’s attention to this vital concern was diverted when he was assigned by NACA to find the answer to the most fascinating question he had so far encountered in his adult life: “Mott, you know as much about the atmosphere as any man we have. The Department of Defense is faced with a perplexing problem: How to get a bomb or an aircraft back down through the atmosphere ... before it burns up? They’re assembling a top-drawer study group at our installations at Ames. We’ve nominated you because in the years ahead we’ve got to have someone here at headquarters who’s conversant.”
The Ames laboratory of NACA was in California next [236] to a naval air station south of San Francisco, and since Stanley’s assignment there was not permanent, it meant that he could not bring Rachel and the boys west. They stayed at Langley and he saw them as often as he could on his trips back east to compare notes with men who were working on the reentry problem there. At Ames he occupied austere quarters, which satisfied him, for he was immersed in his challenging task.
“When you make the jump from aviation to space,” a scientist named Schumpeter said, “you have to unlearn everything you’ve been taught,” and he held up the sleek, streamlined model of a Lockheed F-104, allowing the sunlight to play upon its needle-sharp stainless-steel nose and advance probe.
“Let’s see this beauty in the air tunnel,” and he took Mott to the Ames tunnel, a vast affair, where they could watch how effectively this perfectly designed plane slipped through the air, its slim nose opening a path and its knife-sharp wings cutting through without making a disturbance.
“Perfect for its purpose,” Schumpeter explained. “I worked on the provisional models and helped them eliminate the bumps and protrusions.”
Back in his laboratory, he laid the model aside, almost contemptuously. “Not a single characteristic of that plane helps us with our problem. The F-104 flies in the air ... we have to fly through it. It makes thirteen hundred miles an hour, we make twenty-five thousand. It spreads the air aside so that it can slip through, we build atmosphere up like a wall and have to batter our way through. And it flies through cold air, whereas we fly through friction temperatures so elevated we really cannot comprehend them.”
And then, with the aid of military rockets which climbed to great heights, he demonstrated the real problem: “We’re going to take this model up to more than eighty miles. Three stages. And when we get there, we’re going to turn it around and fire two more stages to send it hurtling back through the atmosphere. Not as fast as a returning spaceship, but fast enough. And you watch what happens to that beautiful nose.”
Schumpeter led the entire team back to Wallops Island. [237] and on a starry night they fired the three-stage Honest John + Nike + Nike almost vertically into the darkness, watching its first flames burn out at 20,000 feet when its second stage took over. It soared far out of sight, reached its apex, turned over, and began its headlong rush back to Earth. As it reached Mach 17 the two remaining stages were fired, driving the model thundering back into the thin but rapidly accumulating atmosphere at the blinding speed of Mach 20.
As the scientists and engineers awaited its return, Mott speculated: “If we’d used those last two rockets to maintain our upward velocity ...” He hesitated, for he was not secure in his knowledge of rocketry and did not wish to sound stupid in the presence of the team with which he would be working for a long time, but his proposal was so daring that he felt compelled to explore it.
A young engineer named Levi Letterkill anticipated him: “Yes, if we’d maintained the upward thrust and goosed it with two additional rockets, we could have built up our speed to about eighteen thousand miles an hour, enough to throw us into low earth orbit.” When Mott hesitated about making any response, the young man added tentatively, “I’ve been told that if you can get up to twenty-five thousand miles an hour, you can escape low earth orbit and go into orbit around the Sun.”
“Could our rockets tonight have produced such a speed?” Mott asked.
Letterkill stood silent, making calculations. “Yes. We could have gone into orbit this night ... or tomorrow night.” He hesitated, for as Mott was to learn, he was a cautious man working in unknowns where a miscalculation might prove disastrous. “I think we might have wanted slightly more powerful rockets in the last two stages.”
“Are such rockets available?” Mott asked, and another member of the team answered, “With big enough rockets, anything is possible.” Mott, remembering a dozen failures of the A-4s in New Mexico, concluded that it was going to be just a little more difficult than these men were saying.
When his team assembled all evidence on the vanished rocket and its payload-telemetric reports, optical observations, multiband radar records-Mott was startled by [238] the conclusions a Department of Defense expert offered: “Nine inches of the hardest metal we can fabricate burned away as if it was a dry board.”
Several experimenters asked for an elucidation, and he said, “The thin leading point of the metal encounters molecules of atmosphere, battles against them, builds up a super heat, finds oxygen in the atmosphere and burns like chaff. When the point is gone, the next sixteenth of an inch faces the tremendous heat, and it burns, exposing the next point. And then the whole thing goes, one small point after another.”
“And remember,” Schumpeter said ominously, “This model had to penetrate only part of the atmosphere and at only part of the speed our returning vehicle will have.”
A heat engineer said, “If our model had encountered the true conditions, its entire substance would have been consumed.” In the night air a plane, its lights flashing, headed back to Patuxent River across the bay, and the men watched its progress. “A plane like that,” the heat engineer said. “could not possibly get back through the atmosphere. Every vestige except maybe the castings of the engine mounts would burn up.”
Back in California, the team went to work, always with the model of the burned F-104 before it. “We want something as different from that as possible,” Schumpeter reminded them, and the search centered upon that requirement.
The heat engineer established the three basic alternatives and disposed of two: “We can come in with a pointed nose and burn up. Or we can use a heat-sink principle, which is entirely practical, except for one slight handicap.”
When members of the team wanted to know what heat sink was, he explained easily: “We construct a metal an alloy of the most specific components featuring titanium, and we cover the entire leading edge of the vehicle with this alloy. When it comes thundering back through the wall of the atmosphere, the alloy accumulates the heat and doesn’t burn at all. It simply absorbs it ... dissipates it.
“Even if the nose is pointed?” Mott asked.
“No, no!” The engineer laughed. “You make the poiw sharp enough, the heat will burn anything, anything at [239] all. So we’ve got to be talking about a blunter surface. But with a blunt surface, the heat sink will work.”
“What’s the drawback?” someone asked.
“Weight,” and he put on the blackboard some figures. If we cover the leading edges of a blunt-nosed airplane with enough alloy to heat-sink the temperatures, the plane would weigh something like three hundred tons and would require fifteen or twenty of the engines we now use, which would in turn require fifteen or twenty times the amount of fuel. A heat sink is a marvelous idea ... for a tank, not for an airplane.”
“And the practical alternative?” Schumpeter asked.
“Ablation,” the engineer replied, and for the first time Stanley Mott heard the miraculous word which would dominate his life for nearly two years. From his study of Latin at the high school in Newton, Massachusetts, he knew the word ablative, for it denoted a grammatical form much loved by Julius Caesar, a no-nonsense engineer himself. “The ablative absolute,” his Latin teacher had explained, “is used by men of action who don’t want to waste words: Ponte factō Caesar transit. The bridge built, Caesar crossed it. Consider how effective this is. No bothering ,with who built the bridge or at what cost. The bridge was built, as a bridge should be, and Caesar crossed it.”
For some weeks Mott had concentrated on this amiable construction, using it correctly and effectively: “Equation solved, I turned the page.” He did not crybaby about the difficulty of the chemistry equation; he solved it and got on with the job. In fact, the ablative absolute could be said to have become Mott’s guiding principle in his education, and he was delighted to learn from a footnote in his Latin grammar that the ablative was one of the earliest cases in human language. It died out in Greek and the Teutonic tongues and did not even have a name until Caesar personally christened it. “My case and Caesar’s,” Mott said whenever he came upon a felicitous example.
But now he could not envisage any relationship between his grammatical ablative and the engineering one. “An ablative material is one that merely wears away. It doesn’t actually burn, although it looks as if it had charred. It boils away, or evaporates, one tiny bit after another, in the super heat. And it does so with astonishing slowness. [240] Water, wind, fire, even heat can’t destroy it in a hurry But almost anything can wear it away ... very slowly.”
The word in its two meanings was even pronounced differently: ab’lative in grammar, a blayt’uv in engineering. But Mott paid attention when the heat engineer demonstrated what might be achieved with a good ablative material: “I have here a block of reasonably good material, two inches thick. With this blowtorch I’m going to produce extreme heat on this face. You’ll see the material become white-hot, evaporate, and leave a residue which the air from this fan will blow away. But I’ll hold the back of the thin block in my left hand, which will not even feel the heat.”
And he did exactly that. The blowtorch hissed its throbbing flame directly at the block of material, which behaved as the engineer had predicted: it charred but it did not burst into flame, and when the discolored material blew away, what lay underneath was not even discolored. Nor did the tremendous heat penetrate the block; it was carried away by the material as it was ablated.
When he completed his demonstration the engineer asked Mott to hold the block, and even at the point of maximum heat, Stanley could feel nothing, so effective was the ablation. “What is the material?” Mott asked.
“Now here we have hope,” the engineer said. “This isn’t even a good material. It would last up there about one second. Char completely away. But I’m convinced that we can construct a material to our specifications-and it won’t be just good, it’ll be perfect. That’s our job.”
For six months Mott worked with the Department of Defense reentry team and with experts from private business on the bizarre task of creating a new material that would fill a precise need in the space program, and after only a brief exploration of the problem and an analysis of what the various companies could provide, it became apparent that the contract for constructing the new material to specifications would have to be awarded to Allied Aviation, because their people had already begun investigating this problem. They had not by any means solved it, but at least they knew where the difficulties were going to lie, and it was in this way that Mott found himself once more working with General Funkhauser.
The man was amazing. Starting with a knowledge of [241] ablation even more defective than Mott’s, he was assigned by his company to supervise the project because the American managers had learned that this remarkable German could organize an effective team to attack any problem in either aviation or space. He had a general knowledge of everything and a specific skill in cajoling experts to work together, and when it came to serving as an interface-one of the bright new words-between private industry and government, he was a genius. “After all,” he told Senator Glancey’s committee in secret session, “if I could work with a madman like Hitler and keep my head, I can certainly work with reasonable men like General John Medaris.”
The new material would be constructed of three components: a basic substance which burned slowly even under ordinary conditions, a fiber of some kind to provide tough resilience, and a binder. In the old days it would have been asbestos, flax-cord and glue, which together could have formed a fine sturdy material that would not burn in an ordinary gas flame, but now even better materials were required.
Each of the three components had to be invented separately, and the experts at Allied Aviation proposed some eighty different substances, each effective by itself but not particularly useful in combination. “Two of them are always right,” General Funkhauser observed, “but the third intrudes like an unwanted guest at a honeymoon.”
The search went on interminably, and so much superheated gas was wasted on burning away materials that were supposed not to burn that Mott began to wonder if the proper combination would ever be found.
While these studies were under way, Schumpeter was engaged in devising the proper profile for the space vehicle itself, not the giant structure that would sit atop Von Braun’s rocket when it went up, but the small capsule in which the passenger would direct the flight, and the more he worked, with that shining F-104 on his desk, the bigger and bolder the ablative surface became, until one day in desperation he sketched on his blackboard a monstrous affair which looked not at all like an airplane but like a giant toadstool.
“It still has a protruding stem,” one of the team pointed out. “That’ll burn away.”
[242] “We’ll bring it in ass-backwards,” Schumpeter said, and for some minutes the team studied this remarkable proposal, which seemed to contradict everything known about flight, and gradually they began to see that what Schumpeter was proposing was really the only way to solve this difficult problem: if a pointed nose burned away, bring the damned thing home like the side of a barn, smear it with a foot of ablative material, and come bursting right down through the atmosphere with sparks flying as the material carried the heat away.
The team flew back to Wallops Island, where Rachel and the boys sat in their car off the base to watch strange blunt objects being thrown into the upper atmosphere by their father, who told them, after months of testing, “We’re on the verge of something great. The others have solved their part of the problem. I haven’t.”
When Schumpeter’s revolutionary structure proved that it could manipulate the upper atmosphere, the pressure on Mott and General Funkhauser to provide the proper protective material increased, and in the eighth month of their experiments they produced a masterful new material composed of silica-based granules in place of asbestos, a newly invented fabric instead of familiar ropes, and an epoxy in place of glue.
Schumpeter summarized the tests: “This is a wonderful material. Perfect in every requirement, except one. It weighs five times too much per cubic inch.” And when he placed his calculations on the board they supported his objection: “You’ve given me an excellent material for protecting Mack trucks on their way through Arizona. Now let’s find something for a spaceship.” So Mott’s team went back to work.
 
In many ways Mott epitomized his nation and his culture. Despite the fact that he had ignored the pioneering work of Robert Goddard, he had been forced by German successes in World War II to take rocketry seriously, and this had led him into making advanced studies of the upper atmosphere, and once he comprehended the nature of that mystical ocean he was driven to master it with rocket vehicles and imaginative instruments to measure the heating rate which would have to be neutralized before man could venture upward through the atmosphere, break [243] loose from it, and then return through its fiery heat. His two most recent publications indicated the intensity of his study:
 
Schumpeter, Karl and Mott, Stanley: Controlled Rocket Experiments, Three Stages Up, Two Stages Down, Testing the Ablative Characteristics of Eight Alternative Configurations. 1957.
 
Mott, Stanley: Nineteen Ablative Coefficients of Seventeen Fabricated Materials. 1958. (Secret)
 
His speculation about the future had started with his innocent question on the beach at Wallops: “If we’d used those last two rockets to maintain our upward velocity ...” He had known the answer. before he framed it; if his studies helped men to penetrate the atmosphere and return safely through it, the next step must be to shoot them into brief orbit, and after that to send them on sustained orbits, and from that platform to challenge the Moon, then Mars, then Jupiter, then the Galaxy, and on to the very edges of the universe.
How simple his first steps along this path had been: algebra in grammar school, trigonometry in high school, calculus in college, and now the majestic problem: If we should ever want to send a rocket to the Moon, what trajectory would we use? The questions, the possibilities were endless, and although he could not yet chart specific solutions, he saw with great clarity that the proper approach was to apply to each chance assignment his complete brain power, trusting that other men like himself were applying their power to their contributory tasks.
He worked nine weeks, incessantly, his glasses blurring from perspiration and from the fumes of his testing, and in the end he helped produce a master ablative material, light as soft wood, sturdy as hardened steel, quick to evaporate and carry away heat, but stubbornly averse to burning. When Schumpeter put these figures on his board he cried, “We have it!” and one more step in the infinite process of commanding space was completed.
 
Funds for the kind of experimentation Stanley Mott was engaged in were provided by a grudging Congress, which often masked the purpose of the work by allocating the money not to NACA but to the military, for Schumpeter’s [244] studies of reentry applied equally to a ballistic missile of the Army, a rocket of the Navy, and a putative spacecraft of NACA.
NACA now had a staff of about 7,000, and with branch centers like Ames and Wallops Island, it controlled research facilities worth more than $400,000,000, so funding became a major problem. Fortunately, Lyndon Johnson, the power in the Senate, supported the aviation program and its ramifications in space, but he had to assign the difficult task of shepherding the necessary bills through Congress to the two Western senators, Glancey and Grant, and it was for this reason that Senator Grant saw less and less of his fragile wife, Elinor, who often stayed behind in Clay when he attended the sessions in Washington. As for visiting the NACA bases, which her husband had to do with increasing frequency, this she refused to do, whether she was in Clay or in Washington, yet she continued to protest whenever she saw a photograph or news story which indicated that Mrs. Pope had accompanied the committee.
Her principal concern, however, was not her husband’s probable infidelity with the secretary of his committee, but the ominous fact that little men from outer space had been visiting Earth for some time and were about to make themselves generally known prior to assuming control of world government.
She had come upon her knowledge of impending invasion in a curious way. While waiting in her hairdresser’s salon in her hometown city of Clay, she had idly picked up one of the lurid magazines provided the clients, but was repelled by the crime and sex it reported and was about to put it aside when toward the back a well-prepared advertisement caught her eye.
It featured the photograph of a world-famous scientist, Dr. Leopold Strabismus of Uppsala, a distinguished-looking man with large head, neatly trimmed black beard, and penetrating eyes which transfixed the reader. Mrs. Grant immediately liked this learned man, for he radiated assurance and knowledge, and she could almost hear him speaking his message:
 
WILL YOU BE READY WHEN THEY COME?
President Eisenhower knows about them. So do his Joint Chiefs of Staff. So does the Airlines Pilots [245] Association. So does J. Edgar Hoover, and it is his job to keep this dramatic knowledge from the public.
 
Who are they? The Visitors from Outer Space. The little men behind the Flying Saucers you’ve heard about. You know, of course, that they have already landed at numerous places in America, but what you don’t know is that they have organized a program for taking over our government and bringing sanity to our troubled world.
 
The advertisement went on to promise that if the reader joined Universal Space Associates-in California, of course-and paid its modest yearly dues, she, or he would receive monthly reports on the activities of the Visitors and advance information on their future plans: “You will be saved and the others won’t.”
When Mrs. Grant returned to her home, her hair neatly arranged after her weekly visit, she was so haunted by the memorable features of Dr. Strabismus, and so concerned about his warning, that when she rose the next morning she hurried back to her hairdresser’s with pad and pencil to take down the California address. When she wrote to USA she not only asked for information about the little men in their space machines, but also confided her abiding fears to Dr. Strabismus, hoping that he might give consolation.
 
I am a woman with a college education who endeavors to keep abreast of what is happening in my world. My husband is engaged in some kind of mysterious work with the government, and I am certain it concerns the Visitors from Outer Space that you speak of.
 
He refuses to tell me what his business is, and I am growing fearful that very bad things are about to happen to us and would appreciate hearing from you.
 
When the letter reached headquarters in a suburb of Los Angeles, a young woman, who represented one-third of USA, was about to address an envelope and mail back the glossy promotional literature that showed the actual [246] landing of a flying saucer, when the name of the correspondent in Fremont caused her to hesitate. “Dr. Strabismus, you’d better look at this! I think this woman’s husband could be a senator on the Space Committee.”
From the second of the two rooms which constituted USA a tall, heavy, youngish man with a beard came to inspect the suspicious letter, which he held to the light at various angles. He asked to see the envelope, which his secretary retrieved from the wastebasket, and then he telephoned the reference desk at the local library. Elinor Grant, of Clay, Fremont, was indeed the wife of Senator Norman Grant, a leading member of the Space Committee, and the letter was obviously a transparent attempt to entrap USA. Dr. Strabismus was too clever to be caught in that bind. “You haven’t mailed her anything?”
“I was just about to.”
“Do nothing. Let me keep this.” And he took the suspicious correspondence into his office, where he placed it on his desk-to be studied gingerly as if it were a triggered bomb.
From his early days in Mount Vernon, New York, when he was Martin Scorcella-Jewish mother, Italian Catholic father-he had kept running only a few steps ahead of the police, and at one of the universities enlarged by the state of New York to accommodate the flood of World War II veterans, he had actually been arrested by campus security forces for retrieving the discarded mimeograph forms from which examinations for large classes had been printed, and had escaped punishment by brazenly confronting the university’s authorities: “Can you afford a scandal? Do you want the papers to know how many students bought copies of my exams?”
“Exams?” the dean of instruction had asked.
“Yes, exams. I’ve been doing it for three terms.”
The university calculated that young Scorcella had earned some $9,000 from his stolen pages and sent him flying. He landed in a small room in New Haven, Connecticut, where he wrote term papers for Yale undergraduates and sometimes graduates, an easy task, for he had a wide acquaintance with scholarly literature and a facile pen for adapting it. “Creative plagiarism,” he called. it.
He was never arrested by the New Haven authorities, [247] for they could think of no local ordinance on which to charge him, but after he had composed some ninety different papers and theses, he awakened to the fact that he was working very long hours to help brainless young men compile the grades that would enable them to earn a great deal of money without working half as diligently as he, and he became quite irritated by the unfairness of such a system.
His numerous papers in physics and geology, including three doctoral theses, had generated a sincere interest in science and an appreciation of its limitations. When excitement over flying saucers became a national fever, he foresaw that with the intellectual climate in such turmoil any bright young man capable of manipulating it was going to earn himself a fortune, so he grew a beard, which lent force to his powerful face, took down his sign DIPLOMA BY YALE/EDUCATION BY SCORCELLA, and awarded himself the name Leopold Strabismus, borrowing the first from Leopold Stokowski, whose Bach transcriptions he liked, and the second from a medical term he had used in a thesis.
For about five months he brooded in Mount Vernon, trying to visualize some operation that would place him at the center of the scientific revolution which he knew was coming, and consistently his mind reverted to the word space as used in the popular newspaper stories about “the little men from outer space.” He saw that this was going to be the charismatic word which would unlock enormous possibilities, but his first attempts to capitalize upon it in New York were unproductive; he then realized that the really effective manipulators of such projects were headquartered in California: “They have an unlimited supply of whackos out there.” He kissed his mother goodbye, moved to Los Angeles, and hired a secretary who loved the nonsense of life and an adroit Mexican-American named Elizondo Ramirez, who was exceptional in handling both minor forgeries and major business deals.
He spent three months preparing the advertisements that would appear in the cheaper magazines, choosing each word to achieve major appeal, but at the end it was Ramirez who gave him the most effective ideas: “Chief, the best ads in this field I’ve ever seen, you standing in front of a wall containing six or seven framed diplomas, only the name of the university showing and best if it’s [248] in Europe.” Ramirez visited offices throughout the area, taking surreptitious photographs of surreptitious diplomas, which he delivered to an ingenious printer for copying. When the handsome documents were stood along the wall, and the time came to select Leopold’s major degree, the one to be featured in the ads, the two men vacillated between Utrecht, the Sorbonne, Vienna and Uppsala. Strabismus inclined toward the middle pair, but Ramirez warned: “Chief, half the quacks out here use either Sorbonne or Vienna. Stay away from them.” In the end they chose Uppsala because its double pp produced a fine scientific ring.
When it came to naming the great research center, Strabismus found that he was not happy with any proposed so far and started over. Ramirez applauded this decision: “Everything depends on the right name, like a story I saw the other day,” and he produced a clipping about an elderly lady who had given UCLA three million dollars. When asked how she had accumulated so much, she said, “I knew I knew nothing about stocks, so I just ordered Merrill Lynch to put all my husband’s insurance money into Americans and Generals.” When the reporter said he was still confused, she explained: “I knew that any company that was allowed to have American or General in its name had to be good.”
The problem was solved by the secretary: “So what are the best initials in the country? USA.” And Strabismus cried, “The S could stand for Space. What are the others? The three conspirators tried many solutions, but again it was the girl who produced the winner: “Universal Space Associates. I like the Universal because it sounds big and out there. And Associates gives the sense you’re in the middle of the operation.”
Many of the agency’s most effective financial device were contrived in these group brainstorming sessions. “Chief, best trick I ever saw, a doctor doing the cancer bit in Long Beach. Had a cure, seafood and walnuts, which brought him a lot of dough, but then we organized a circle of subscribers all across the country, and for seventy dollars extra a year we’d send them four personal telegrams reporting on last-minute breakthroughs. You’d be amazed how much extra those telegrams brought in.”
USA proved much more profitable than Strabismus had [249] anticipated, and he could have moved into more spacious quarters, with another four or five secretaries, but he took delight in running the research institute from the two cramped offices and with only his two original helpers: “I love the power of words. I get a real thrill out of sitting here and drafting the material that’s going to bring us millions one of these days.”
The approach, as perfected by Ramirez, was simple: “Send us $44 and we’ll share with you our secret discoveries.” For an additional $52, anyone really interested in the future of the world would receive every month an urgent letter signed by Dr. Strabismus himself, advising on recent activities of the little visitors. And for $76 more a year, one could receive telegraphic communication when events of shattering importance were about to happen.
The three scientific investigators garnered over $80,000 that first year, aided by the flurry of flying saucers landing across the country, and when a hungry press invented the name Unidentified Flying Objects, Strabismus grabbed onto the acronym UFO and used it in all his advertisements, which made him a world authority on UFOs. It was then that his oratorical and television notoriety began to blossom.
He learned that the United States contained several centers which could always be relied upon to produce major paid attendance for any symposium on UFOs: Boulder and the Denver area were very reliable; Dallas and Houston were high on the list; Miami was reliable and for some reason Seattle was good; New York was unreliable and cities like Philadelphia and Washington were disasters, showing little real interest in serious scientific experimentation; but the best of all was Boston, because meetings held there could be depended upon to attract skeptical professors from Harvard and MIT and also bright young men from Route 128, the Highway of Genius on which many of the nation’s major scientific firms were located, and these men sensed that they must be attentive to all ideas circulating in their society, no matter how abstruse or downright crazy. Many of their most effective discoveries had begun with ideas no less insane than those promulgated by Leopold Strabismus.
In four years the outfit, still consisting of only three people, was clearing $190,000 a year, with unlimited [250] possibilities, and it was therefore no trivial investment that Strabismus sought to protect against the danger represented by Mrs. Grant’s letter. When he discussed the matter with his associates he warned: “This is probably masterminded by her husband. Tempting us to commit fraud through the mails. Let’s sit tight on it.” But three weeks later USA received an even more urgent letter from the senator’s wife, begging for assistance because her husband still refused to divulge what he was up to.
“When am I scheduled into Boulder?” Strabismus asked his secretary, and when she said that he had a major speech at the university four weeks hence, he directed her to send Mrs. Grant a carefully couched letter informing her that unfortunately the doctor was absent for consultations with leading scientists from Europe, but that he would be in Boulder on April 16 and would be most happy to consult with her, should she care to make the short trip from her home in Clay.
She attended the speech, listened with intense interest as he fended off critics from the Denver scientific community, and realized that she had at last come into contact with a man who understood what was happening in the world. She surprised him by suggesting that he drive back to Clay with her in her car, and when she heard the secret details of how little men had already landed, assumed human form, and infiltrated the highest levels of government, she was terrified by the danger not only to the United States but to humanity in general.
“Ah, no!” Strabismus reassured her. “We have every reason to believe that these visitors are amicable. With their superior intellect and technology, we should expect only the most beneficent assistance ... if we listen to what they say.”
Are we listening? I mean, men like my husband, in positions of power?”
“No, we are not.” As he stared at the empty plains, overpowering to one raised as he had been in crowded New York, he confided: “These plains remind me of what the little men told me about parts of their planet.”
“You’ve seen them?”
“Of course! My first contact with them launched my dedication to research on other worlds.”
[251] “Were they indeed kindly, the ones you net?”
He explained how they had sought him out because of his advanced work on extraterrestrial societies. “It was in a valley north of San Francisco ... well authenticated in the literature. They landed about three hundred yards from the highway and signaled me to join them.”
“What were they like?” Her curiosity was insatiable, and Strabismus seemed always to use just the right words to sustain it. He sounded plausible and generous, and the fact that the little visitors had selected him as a major emissary to the people of Earth did not make him either arrogant or selfish.
“I intend sharing all I know with people like you, Mrs. Grant, so that when the visitors take their first steps in controlling our government, they’ll find reliable support.”
He stayed at the Grant home for three days, a tall, distinguished scientist with a dark beard, and when he departed for California he took with him Mrs. Grant’s joining fee of $44, her $52 for the monthly special report, and her $76 for the telegram service, which he especially urged her to subscribe to: “It’ll happen like the bursting of a bomb at dusk on the Fourth of July. Poof! They’ll announce themselves. You should be prepared.”
And because USA was about to enter negotiations with the little men which might prove determinative, Strabismus left Clay with a special check for $2,000 to cover expenses of these meetings at various spots around the world. A widow in Dallas had contributed $125,000 to cover some of the expenses, and a retired Army officer in Seattle, who had married well, had given $23,000.
 
When Senator Grant returned home to mend his political fences during the summer recess, he found to his dismay that his wife had mailed four checks to an outfit in California for a total of $5,360.
“What in the world is this for?” he asked.
Elinor was evasive: “While you’ve been wasting time on your precious committee and its pretty secretary, I’ve been working, too.” He inquired on what, she showed him some of the Strabismus literature, and after he studied it carefully he satisfied himself it was fake. He was shocked to think that his wife had fallen prey to such nonsense, [252] but when he tried to discuss the matter seriously, she rebuffed him with a series of arguments she had heard Strabismus use with great effectiveness when silencing his critics at Boulder.
“You don’t believe, Norman, because you’ve been conditioned to ignore psychic evidence.” When he asked what psychic evidence had to do with flying saucers, she said, scornfully, “Because you haven’t seen them yourself, you reject the reports of great scientists who have actually met and consulted with the visitors.”
“What great scientists?”
“Dr. Strabismus, for one. He’s met with them and is privy to their plans.”
Elinor’s use of such precise and almost learned phrases as privy to their plans when discussing such nonsense disturbed the senator, and he called friends in the FBI to obtain information on Strabismus:
 
A harmless quack thrown out of New Paltz for stealing examination papers and out of New Haven for writing graduate theses for Yale students. Runs a three-man so-called research operation into outer space from a two-room storefront in Los Angeles, from which he sells by mail services relating to the arrival of little green men. Also solicits personally, but the postal department can find no evidence of fraud, nor can we. Preys upon frightened women especially.
 
The senator could not confront his wife with these actual findings, for his relationship with the FBI had to remain confidential, but he did ask Mrs. Pope to employ a detective to investigate Strabismus, and when that operative uncovered many of the same facts, he was free to place them before his wife.
“The man’s name is Martin Scorcella. He was a cheap thief in college, a plagiarizer at Yale. He never saw Sweden, and I’m sure he never saw any little men in California.
With a power that Grant had never suspected in his wife, Elinor rebutted everything the detective and the FBI had reported. “He told me all about his early years. New [253] Paltz was the college you’re speaking of. The professors were against him, and he outsmarted them. Yale University begged him to become a full professor, because he knew more than any of the undistinguished men on their faculty. And he did see the little visitors who confided their plans to take over this country. It may surprise you to know it, but one of President Eisenhower’s closest advisers is a man from another planet in disguise. They’re in your precious Navy, too, in positions of high command and in most of our leading banks. You’re in for an awakening, Norman Grant.”
When $3,000 more of their savings fled to California, Grant realized that he must enlist the help of someone outside his family to convince Elinor of her folly, for he was obviously powerless to do so, and he asked Mrs. Pope if she knew any reliable scientist in the NACA community with whom he might talk on a matter of extreme importance. “I want a stable man of excellent background and wide knowledge of the space field.”
She suggested several names but could recommend none without reservation, for some were too old to be informed on recent developments, and some were too specialized, but at this point a visitor from the Virginia headquarters arrived in Washington with a report on what the experts at Ames in California had decided about the problem of ablation, and Mrs. Pope decided on the spur of the moment that he was precisely the man required. “I’ve never seen him, Senator, but I do know his record, and it’s superb.”
When she slipped into the meeting room in which General Funkhauser and Stanley Mott were demonstrating to the committee the qualities of the material they had confected, she saw, standing behind the lectern, a slim, youngish man with glasses, and when she whispered to a staff scientist she knew, he assured her that that was Mott. She listened to Mott’s complete presentation, his precise, clipped New England manner of speech, always finishing every sentence, and it was easy to believe that he was as capable as her informants had said.
She listened to his difficult vocabulary, both as an intelligent layman and as an employee of the Space Committee, and what she heard was pleasing: “I believe that with this material, which is expensive per cubic inch but [254] not excessively so, we have solved the problem of reentry.”
“Any practical use in everyday life?” Senator Glancey asked.
“It’s very light. It could be used to insulate airplane engines, I would think.”
“Who will own the patent?” Glancey asked.
“Allied Aviation,” General Funkhauser said.
“I should think that if the government, through NACA ...”
“Senator,” the general said, “we have paid most of the developmental costs.”
“But who provided the basic concepts?”
While the discussion continued, Mrs. Pope signaled to Professor Mott that she wished to see him, and he left the podium to join this attractive brunette, who said, “Senator Grant would like to speak with you in his office.”
“Me?” He followed her, wondering what kind of error he might have made, and was completely unprepared for what followed when he was alone with the senator, whom he had never before seen.
Grant was now a heavyset man, but very straight in bearing and military in manner. “Sit down, please. Mrs. Pope tells me that you have an excellent record in NACA. He pronounced each of the letters separately rather than as an acronym, the way others often did.
“I’m grateful for the chance to work with such an exciting organization.”
“Mrs. Pope tells me you know a great deal about space ... outer space, I think they call it.”
“Others know more.”
“But you are keyed in? I mean, you do know what you’re talking about?”
“I’ve studied.”
“Good.” The senator rose and stalked about his office for some minutes, then stopped before Mott and asked abruptly, “You will swear to keep what I say confidential?”
Since most of what Mott heard these days was confidential, he found no trouble in nodding.
“Professor Mott, tell me the truth. Are there any little green men?”
Mott was stunned. He had often read with contempt newspaper stories of people who saw ordinary things like the planet Venus or an escaped balloon and called the police to report a ship from space. Whenever his rockets [255] were active at Wallops, he could depend upon someone’s having seen a UFO that had landed just down the road to unload little men who had fanned across the countryside. He was perplexed as to why the invaders were always little, always men: “If you consider our Galaxy, our Sun is rather small, so there’s about a sixty-forty chance that if some planet did have people, it would be attached to a very large sun and might be quite large itself. The chances are therefore better than fifty-fifty that newcomers would be not smaller than us, but larger.” But always, he went on, the invaders were little, because the first postwar reports had said so, and as for the green, that description came not from observers who met the little people, but from the eager imagination of the first newspaper reporters who had recognized a good story when they heard one.
“So far as we know, Senator Grant, no living human being has seen a visitor from another planet, and we have no believable record that anyone in past ages saw such visitors, either.”
The senator breathed deeply. “My wife says she has seen them, landing on a mesa in Arizona, and she’s talked with a man in California who has met and spoken with them.”
Mott was trapped. If he laughed, he might infuriate a senator of paramount importance to NACA, and if he supported the crazy wife, other scientists would hear of it and brand him a fraud. As an engineer he favored blunt speech, and as a scientist he had to respect evidence and condemn fraud; he could not bewilder this troubled man who had sought his advice. “Senator, your wife is being hoodwinked. Has she given this man good money ...”
“Nearly half our savings.”
“Definitely fraud.”
“No. The postal department says the man makes no criminal claims. And it isn’t extortion because she gives him the money willingly.” He produced a small bundle of material from California, much of it bearing the charismatic bearded countenance of the great scientist. One quick glance assured Mott that this was typical pseudo-science rubbish.
“This would be amusing, Senator Grant, if it weren’t so persuasive ... so capable of doing damage. Could I meet your wife?”
[256] “She’s back home. Doesn’t like Washington too much.”
“She’s fallen into rather ugly hands, Senator. When I return to California, I’ll look into this.”
“No scandal, Mott.”
“It’s already a scandal if this man is persuading your wife to hand over your savings.”
“I mean, no publicity.”
“I would never tangle publicly with a man like this. But I’d like to see what he’s up to. Gives science a bad name.” When Mott returned to Ames, and the clean-up work on ablation, he excused himself for several days, and with travel orders provided by Mrs. Pope, dropped down to Los Angeles, where he located in a nondescript suburb the national headquarters of Universal Space Associates, only to learn that Dr. Strabismus was absent, giving a lecture in Boulder. His questions about the intellectual research projects of the Associates were neatly fended off by the secretary, a bright young woman, and those dealing with finances by Mr. Ramirez, who seemed especially quick with figures. However, Mr. Ramirez could not recall what bank USA used for the deposit of the funds: “That’s all left to Dr. Strabismus, and he’s on a lecturing trip.”
“When will he return?”
“Not till Thursday,” the secretary said.
“Good. I’ll be working at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory in Pasadena, and I’ll be back Thursday.”
“Are you government?” the secretary asked.
“Yes.”
“I just remembered, he’ll be heading directly to Seattle.
“I shall meet him in Seattle, and if you and Dr. Strabismus play tricks on me you’ll go to jail.”
“Have you any credentials?” the young woman asked brazenly.
“I do,” and he produced his NACA identification.
“He’s at home,” she said evenly. “If you can wait ...”
“I’ll wait.” And within a few minutes the distinguished head of USA appeared, tall, well-dressed and shrewd.
“Come into my office,” he said, and when he led Mot.” into the second room, Ramirez disappeared. It was a messy place with a large flat table on which Strabismus worked on the printed materials which provided his fortune. “Who sent you?” he asked.
“A gentleman high in government,” Mott said, and he [257] expected his words to have a sobering effect on the scientist, but Strabismus laughed.
“Isn’t it obvious, Mr. Mott, that if you take any intemperate steps, Senator Grant will be hurt much more than I will?”
Mott swallowed. This was going to be much more difficult than he had foreseen. “There are ways to investigate men like you ...”
“The postal department, the FBI investigate me regularly. I’m completely clean.”
“You’re stealing from gullible women.”
“Half my members are men, Mr. Mott. Some are men just like yourself who are sick and tired of the pretensions of established science. I advise you to go back to your duties in Virginia. Don’t be tricked into doing the dirty work of a befuddled senator whose brilliant wife sees the new light.”
Indicating the brightly colored pamphlets on the table, Mott asked, “How many contributors do you have?”
“Fellow explorers? Mr. Ramirez would know that ... he’s out.”
Mott proved unable to unnerve Strabismus, for the doctor had learned at New Paltz and Yale that the law protects the abuser much more than the man abused, and since he had been ultra careful never to transgress the laws of solicitation by mail, there was little the government could do about him. He was selling dreams to bewildered persons, and that was no crime.
“Don’t you see?” he asked Mott as he engineered him toward the exit. “I depend on you. It’s the explorations you men at NACA conduct, the pronouncements you make, that agitate my clients and send them running to me. The more you succeed, the more confused the world becomes, and the more I’ll be needed. Now you go back to your test tubes and rockets and do my work for me.”
Mott was so angered by the man’s insolence that he left California determined to combat the fraud, and when Mrs. Grant next returned to Washington he hurried up from NACA to show her how callously the California guru was abusing her. For reasons he could not have explained, he insisted that Senator Grant be present at the interview, but when he stood before these two leading citizens he felt quite out of place, a rather small man with eyeglasses [258] confronting a handsome senator and his well-coiffed wife, but he had work to do.
“Mrs. Grant,” he began hesitantly, “I’ve looked into Universal Space Associates and I must advise you that it’s a cheap operation of three irresponsible people in a pair of dirty rooms. I have photographs of the place.”
When he produced his snapshot of the mean quarters, Mrs. Grant refused to look at it; instead she smiled slightly, her lips primly together, as if she held a secret that these two men could never comprehend. And as he proceeded with his deflation, introducing more and more evidence, her smile persisted. No matter what he said, she had anticipated it and erected her defenses against it; in the end he accomplished nothing.
He was flabbergasted, for he was in the presence of an intelligent college-trained woman who simply refused to accept evidence. But this was not the heart of the matter, for when he finished-humiliated by this woman’s calm belief-she clarified her reactions by handing him two publications from Dr. Strabismus. The first was entitled If They Try to Attack Me and was as clever a bit of writing as anything Mott had ever encountered; in beautifully phrased paragraphs with the shrewdest headings possible, the California charlatan had refuted in advance every line of reasoning an ill-spirited critic might advance, and Mott blushed to see how completely Dr. Strabismus had forestalled him:
 
They will say I was arrested at Yale University.
They will tell you that the Air Force has never seen a Flying Saucer.
They will try to convince you that Visitors have never been seen by reliable witnesses.
They will say that we do not do reputable research.
They will deny that Visitors are among us right now.
They will abuse you if you tell them that Visitors are participating in President Eisenhower’s Cabinet meetings.
 
After Mott read this masterful pamphlet, he laughed and said, “I wish NACA had writers this good.” But when he looked at Mrs. Grant she was not laughing. She merely [259] showed that complacent smile, phased that she had routed her two enemies.
It was the second publication which shocked the two men, for Elinor had never previously shown her husband the kind of frenetic letter Dr. Strabismus mailed at the start of each month to his $52 subscribers:
 
Alert! We have learned definitely from a meeting of Visitors held aboard a spaceship in the South Atlantic to which they invited two of our associates, that the Visitors have grown distrustful of the behavior of the Eisenhower Administration and are going to reveal themselves and take over the United States government next Tuesday.
 
The historical event will occur at eleven o’clock EST and you will find in every community, and especially in your own, citizens whom you have known favorably who will disclose themselves as Visitors who have been working among you to test you. Be as cooperative as humanly possible, for upon their good opinion of us in these early hours will depend the safety and continuance of this nation.
 
LEOPOLD STRABISMUS
Universal Space Associates
 
When the two men finished the communication, Mott reading over Grant’s shoulder, they looked up to see Elinor smiling triumphantly. “It all ends Tuesday,” she said, “This charade you’ve been playing.”
“Are you one of the Visitors?” her husband asked gravely.
“You will be astonished,” she said. “In every community en will step forward and disclose their true character. You will be astonished.”
“Elinor ...”
“You and your silly little Senate. You, Professor Mott, and your make-believe investigations at NACA. One snap of a finger and the Visitors will reveal more wonders than you could dream of in a thousand years.”
The men kept close watch on Mrs. Grant over the weekend, and saw that by Sunday she was in a state of euphoria, for the old world had only one more complete day [260] to run, and she was preoccupied in planning for the new. She speculated aloud as to who in the Senate and Cabinet would step forward at eleven o’clock EST to reveal himself as having been an agent of the Visitors, and she could think of only a few Republicans worthy of that role and no Democrats. Never for a minute did she consider her husband a possibility: he had condemned himself through his love affair with Mrs. Pope.
And then, about noon, on the fatal Monday before the changeover, she received a telegram from Dr. Strabismus:
 
Reprieve. At a last-minute meeting aboard the spacecraft I and my assistants were able to persuade the Visitors to grant President Eisenhower additional time to get the affairs of this nation organized in accordance with the dictates laid down by the superior planets.
 
The Visitors will not repeat not take over at eleven tomorrow. The Visitors working among us will not repeat not reveal themselves. They have agreed to be patient and watch how we handle this extra time. Everything now depends on Washington.
 
LEOPOLD STRABISMUS
Universal Space Associates
 
When she showed the telegram to the men they could not believe that she accepted such transparent nonsense, month after month, but after she gave them time to digest the tremendous news, and its implications for the future, she retrieved the message and clutched it to her, smiling gently at her critics as if she were privy to some profound secret denied them.


IV
PAX RIVER
NEITHER John Pope nor randy Claggett won assignments to Patuxent River with their 1952 applications, and after the Korean War ended they lost contact, Claggett going to a Marine squadron at El Toro in California, Pope to the Navy installation at Jacksonville, on the opposite side of the continent.
But the Navy command had spotted Pope as one of their most promising straight arrows, and after he had served at Jacksonville for only seven months he received orders to report to the University of Colorado in Boulder to try for a Ph.D. in engineering, with minor attention to astronomy. Naval officers, if they wished to progress in the service, had to have three entries on their record: combat experience if a war was under way, advanced education, and command of a fighting unit. Pope had performed his combat duty with medals, and it was now assumed that he would do the same with his next obligation.
But when he reported to Colorado’s dean of engineering, that scholar said, “They’ve proposed a schedule for you that looks impossible.”
“I’m not afraid of work.”
“Engineering alone’s a full-time program. So’s astronomy.”
“I already know a little of each. I’m ready to try.”
The dean gave him an impromptu quiz, then telephoned [262] for a professor from the astronomy department to do the same, and Pope rattled off his answers so confidently, not being afraid to say “I don’t know anything about that” when the questions became too difficult, that the men agreed: “You can attempt it, if you wish.”
Like many successful men, Pope believed that whatever was required of him to do at the moment represented the happiest experience of his life. When he was playing football in Clay at age seventeen and first felt the power in his body, he thought: This is the best thing I’ve ever known. The four years at Annapolis, when he was courting Penny, “were maybe the happiest years I’ll ever have.” The flying days at Pensacola, when 45 percent of his associates dropped out because of deficiencies and nine men died because of faulty judgment, “were maybe the most exciting days of my life, because it was then that I learned I could fly with the best.” Korea would be unforgettable because it tested his courage, and no man is entitled to an armchair opinion about that. Of the forty-three fliers most closely associated with him, eleven had perished and three were crippled so badly they had to leave the service. “They were precious days,” he told Penny. “Days like that come only once in a lifetime.” He rarely spoke about his experiences in battle, but one autumn night when he was touring Fremont, he sat in a Webster bar with Finnerty and his wife and said, “Got a letter today from this Texan Randy Claggett. When I was downed in North Korea and the Slopes were closing in on me ...”
“Don’t use words like that,” Penny protested.
“Well, the Commies. It was a foot race. The baddies or the goodies. And Claggett spotted me from his Banshee. That’s an airplane. And he vectored in the helicopter. I understand, Finnerty, why you feel attached to Senator Grant. I feel the same way about Claggett.”
Often at Colorado, when snow dusted the Rockies behind the campus, or elk came down to the lower levels to graze, or the principles of engineering and astronomy began to clarify, Pope would exclaim, “These must be the best days a man will ever know!”
A succession of such judgments did not mean that the speaker was deficient in ability to discriminate; it meant that life was providing a series of graded adventures, each appropriate to its moment, and the recipient sensed this. [263] Or as Claggett once said, “I’m growin’ up lucky.”
For Pope the days grew even better when Penny flew out from Washington to spend a weekend with him at some lodge high in the mountains where snow covered the trails, and where she sat with him before the fire, telling him of battles within the Eisenhower administration.
Their peculiar pattern of marriage, first with John’s service in Korea causing separation and then her work in Washington keeping them apart, seemed to intensify their love, for they were certainly more dedicated than most military couples. They found each other interesting intellectually and more than pleasing sexually; their long absences built up desires which flamed when they did finally get together, and when they were forced by their demanding schedules to part, they did so with renewed assurance that their next meeting would be even more incandescent.
They were a fortunate couple, and they knew it, their sharp differences in political opinion merely heightening their sense of individuality. Every bit of evidence John saw strengthened his conviction that only Republicans could be trusted to organize society; every superior officer he had served under had been a Republican; all the men in the Senate who could be trusted to support the military had been so, too; and the few outspoken Democrats among the aviators he knew tended to be troublemakers with limited career possibilities.
Penny, on the other hand, watched in Congress as tough-minded Democrats like her Senator Glancey did the hard work and initiated the important bills. She felt that the Republicans she knew, even Senator Grant, for whom she had campaigned, tended to be cardboard cutouts of real men, and while they served a useful and precautionary purpose, if they alone were allowed to govern, the country would stagnate.
They discussed such matters frequently, and John took considerable umbrage at Penny’s downgrading of Senator Grant: “If you think so poorly of him, why did you bring me to Fremont to vote for him?”
“Because he’s an honest man, much better than the imbeciles, Republican or Democrat, who ran against him. Besides, we need him on the committees. He does good work there, I will admit.”
[264] “First you drag him down, then you build him up. Make up your mind.”
“Norman Grant is a space-filler. We have forty senators like him, on both sides of the aisle. But he fills his space with dignity.”
“I suppose your Glancey is the true hero?”
“He’s a prime mover.”
It was amusing the way in which both the military and the politician sought glib phrases to summarize human experience-front runner in aviation, prime mover in politics-and when the phrase was apt, it served as a convenient intellectual shorthand. In the Navy these days the operative word was outstanding, with a long, heavy emphasis on the stand; one no longer used words like excellent, very fine, or first class; everything superior was categorized as outstanding. In Penny’s political world the in-phrase was bottom line, especially when used as a verb: “It’s a seductive idea which the voters will like, but first let’s bottom-line it,” which meant that the profit-or-loss summary, which appeared on the bottom line of financial statements, had to be estimated.
“I think Norman Grant is outstanding,” John Pope said.
“But when you bottom-line what he accomplishes, it isn’t much,” his wife replied.
Their love reached its apex in a curious way. John, like all aviators, was infatuated with automobiles, and when a 1949 Mercury convertible crashed on the Boulder-Denver speedway, he bought the wreckage for $75, and with the help of two other officers taking advanced courses at Colorado University, rebuilt it into a fine, sturdy machine with a homemade canvas top weatherproofed by an expensive liquid concocted for the Air Force.
He used the Mercury primarily to run down to the new Air Force field at Colorado Springs to protect his flight status. If he flew thirteen hours a month, he received $185 extra pay, and he had come to depend on this money. Also, he needed to keep himself proficient in night flying, demanding skill for which he felt he had a special aptitude. He had never flown over terrain that was more exciting: to the east, the vast plains leading to his home state of Fremont; to the west, the mighty Rockies with fifty peaks higher than 14,000 feet and majestic plateaus bigger than some states. On days when the plains basked in sunlight [265] and the mountains stood below him clothed in snow, the contrast was stunning, but on nights when the moon was full and the Earth below resembled the drawing for a fairy tale, he experienced a sensation of grandeur and unlimited national power which caused him to exult. It was a marvelous sky, a majestic land, and he felt himself master of both.
His studies were going well. As an adult now, with a wife he loved, he was able to avoid the wrenching dislocations which attacked many younger students, so that his unusually heavy burden of classwork became simply another hurdle to overcome. He worked about fifteen hours a day, concentrating on his slide rule in engineering, on the stars in astronomy. Early in his studies he realized that his overriding task was to handle the engineering courses well, and this he did, devoting most of his study hours to them, but he found that his early experiences in astronomy had given him such a solid foundation in that science that every minute devoted to the stars seemed to yield multiple dividends.
Their identification he had long mastered; now he was learning their mechanics, and every lecture or demonstration revealed new wonders that delighted him. He knew the color, size and distance of most of the major stars and the significance of these measurements. He also knew the peculiarities of certain important stars invisible to the naked eye but of crucial meaning to the structure of the heavens: Barnard’s star, which might be the only one in all the billions in the sky which could one day be proved to have planets like the Sun; Proxima Centauri, closest star to Earth; Epsilon Eridani, the near star most resembling the Sun in its characteristics.
What pleased him most, however, was his increasing knowledge of the mechanical structure of the Sun’s planetary system, for he now had sufficient mathematics to follow the analyses of the great astronomers. He was especially delighted with the deductions of the French scientist Joseph Louis Lagrange, who, with the simple mathematics available to him in 1780, had deduced that when one massive object orbited another, five points developed in remote space at which very small celestial bodies could find refuge and remain stable despite the pull of the larger bodies. He spent some time calculating the five [266] Lagrangian Points for the Sun and Jupiter, then tried to visualize what tiny heavenly bodies might be lurking there.
The reason why John’s Mercury convertible became a significant factor in his love for Penny became apparent when spring vacation provided him with nine free days. Calling Penny to be sure she could arrange a brief vacation of her own, he jumped in his car, and with only a few dollars and a Conoco road map, sped eastward-eighteen hours a day, with a little sleep in the back seat when the convertible was parked beside the road with the improvised top up.
He roared into Washington remarkably fresh and rested picked Penny up at Senator Glancey’s office, went in to wish Senator Grant well, and headed back to Colorado.
He and Penny delighted in traveling like this: they rose at 0400 in the morning while it was still dark, dashed a little water over their faces, combed their hair, and zipped into the clothing which they had left piled on the floor when retiring. By 0415 they were on their way westward, watching the stars retreat before them as the Sun came up.
By 0930 they had covered nearly three hundred miles, for they drove steadily and at top speeds. They were hungry now, so they pulled up at some gas station and asked for directions to the best hash house in the district, and usually they received good advice. They were also tired from the five-hour dash, so they ordered a substantial breakfast and relaxed. John usually slipped into the men’s room to shave while Penny read the local paper to see what this region thought of Washington, and after a leisurely meal of pancakes, scrambled eggs, hash browns, sausage, toast, jam and two glasses of milk, they returned to the rested Mercury and sped westward.
They followed interesting highways through West Virginia, Ohio and Indiana, where they picked up Route 36, which carried them into St. Joseph on the banks of the Missouri, and from there into Fremont, where they spent the night at their homes in Clay, John sleeping with the Popes, Penny with the Hardestys. From Clay it was an interesting gallop to Boulder and the vacation glories of the Rockies.
They never stopped for lunch, grabbing a few apples and cookies en route, and expected to cover something like [267] seven hundred milts a day, except that when they hit the free and open spaces of the West they revved the convertible up to ninety miles an hour and sometimes reached eight hundred miles for the day. They stopped at 1930 for a bite of dinner, wherever they happened to be, and finished off the day’s driving beneath the evening stars. At 2200 they stopped at whatever motel was available, kicked off their clothes, and went right to sleep. At 0400 the next morning they were wide awake and eager to be on their way.
The thing that made such travel rewarding was its cheapness-gas, 31¢; motel, $4.50; breakfast, $1.45-and the fact that they were seeing new aspects of America; it was also spiritually refreshing in that during the long drives they were free to talk. In fact, the best conversations the Popes conducted occurred on these trips, for the car became a cathedral-in-motion in which two worshippers convened to settle family questions of the highest moment.
“Where will the Navy send you after Boulder?” Penny wanted to know.
“Not overseas, for sure. I’ve done that duty.” She was relieved. “But it could be Germany.”
For John, overseas consisted of only two things: a war zone like Korea or shipboard duty, especially in the Pacific. Germany was mainland and relatively close to home.
“We could manage Germany,” Penny said.
“You ever think about leaving Washington?”
“Not really. You know, John, I believe that if an important job opened up ...” she paused, then said, “I’ve worked with enough senators now to feel sure they’d confirm me for any job to which I was entitled.”
“The way you talk sometimes, you won’t get an appointment with a Republican President in office-and a after Eisenhower has two terms, Nixon’ll have two.”
“Don’t you be too sure of that.”
“Eisenhower’s sure to be reelected. Best president we’ve had in a hundred years, and the voters know it.”
“I suppose he’ll make it,” Penny said, “but I’m not at all sure about Nixon being able to follow on.”
“The men I work with ... Colorado ... the Air Force ...”
“They’re all Republicans, John. But that’s beside the point. What I mean is, I could very well be selected as legal counsel for some influential committee.”
[268] “That would be swell!” John said with real enthusiasm. “You could handle such a job, better than most.”
“None’s on the horizon, you understand, but these things have a way of suddenly popping.”
“You ever think about children?”
“All the time. I wish we could have some.”
“You ever think about adopting some?” When Penny made no reply, her husband said, “It’s perplexing how things work out. Of all the men I know in uniform, I think I love my wife more than any of them, but we have no children. I know this skinny ape from Texas ...”
“You mean Claggett?”
“Yes. He had this dipsy-doodle wife. College cheerleader or something. He shacked up with any Korean Jo-san who would have him, and I figure from what he told me one night that his wife did the same with anyone at Iwakuni. And they have three children. Beats all.”
“John, if a good job does open up in Germany, grab it. I’ll spend my summers with you.”
“I’m quite sure it’ll be stateside. We’ll have a bundle of opportunities to work things out then. And if a really fine appointment should open up, make Glancey and Grant support you. And I mean really support.”
“I’ll do that. Symington owes me a lot, and so does Mendel Rivers.”
“What do you think it might be, Penny?”
She sat close to him as the afternoon landscape rolled past, and for some moments she kept her forefingers to her lips. Then she said, “Glancey is one of the very brightest men in America. I mean, this Red River hillbilly has radar. He always knows where the money is, where the skeletons are buried. But he also has a fantastic sense of what’s happening in the world, and he’s convinced that stupendous scientific miracles are about to happen. What scares the devil out of him, he believes it’s the Russians who’ll produce them.”
“Like what?”
“Like he doesn’t know. But I’m infected with his enthusiasm, if that’s it, or maybe his fear. I think we’re on the verge. Commercial planes flying faster than sound. Some new kind of television. I don’t know. But I do know that throughout world history ...”
“You been reading a lot?”
[269] “When you work for a man like Glancey, you want to read a lot. And what I’ve read convinces me that whenever there’s a yeastiness in the air, great things happen.”
“You think we’re in such a period now?”
“I’m convinced of it. Aren’t you?”
“I did have a glimmer one night in Korea. After Claggett took his Banshee to fifty-six thousand feet, much higher than the specs said he could. You know how he did it? He had his mechanics hammer his tail pipes into a much more restricting outlet. Squeeze it down. This gave him greater thrust but also greater heat. When I warned him about it he said, ‘This bundle of bolts either breaks sixty thousand or explodes.’ ”
“But you say he only got to fifty-six thousand.”
“Yes, he showed so much heat he knew he was going to explode.”
“What has that to do with the future?”
“That night Claggett told me he knew in his bones that man could fly anywhere, any altitude, any speed.” He drove in silence across the great prairie of the West, the land which early explorers had predicted could never be settled-Grand Island, North Platte, Julesburg-then added, “He told me that every muscle in his body wanted to keep on flying upward. Only the machine faltered.” There was a long pause. “He said our job was to devise equipment that didn’t falter!” He laughed. “You’ve never met Claggett. He talks like an illiterate. But when he’s sharp on target he talks like a professor. ‘Devise equipment’ was how he said it.”
When they came down out of the mountains after five days of probing the upper trails, sunburned and chap-lipped, they found a letter awaiting them from Claggett:
 
Up the ass of them clowns in Korea. Back home I wangled an appointment to Patuxent River, which is three times as good as they told us. You fly everything, everywhere. Real frontier stuff, wild blue yonder and up your bucket. John, break your ass to get here. You’re twice as good as anyone here except me.
 
When Penny read the letter tears showed in her eyes and he whispered, “Get that job, Pope. It’s so close to [270] Washington, we could be together every weekend.”
So he wrote letters from Boulder, she from Washington, and just as John was completing his doctoral thesis he received notice of his next assignment: Test Pilot School, Naval Air Test Center, Patuxent River, Maryland.
 
In Huntsville, Alabama, the family of Dieter Kolff was happier than any of its members had ever been before. There was enough food, assurance that the stay in America could be permanent if the Peenemünde people so elected, and much work to be done. Liesl tended her home, her garden and about ten acres of other people’s woods with a peasant joy that enriched the lives of those who came in contact with her.
She did not appear much in public, for she realized that her dumpy figure and the odd way she wore her clothes set her apart from the rather well-dressed Alabama women and even from the younger German wives, who were adjusting easily to life in their new land. She was approaching forty now and had put on considerable weight, as German farm women did, and she felt that her place was in the home or in the woods of Monte Sano.
Her husband had carved a handsome walking stick for her, a heavy one cut from some local tree like oak, and with it she commanded her little forest, which she kept meticulously neat in the German fashion. Any fallen twig had to be picked up and piled in one of the spots from which her neighbors could obtain such firewood as they needed. Paths were to be raked and each spring the winterkill had to be broken into usable lengths, so that by the end of two years she had created not a woods but park in which flowers were free to grow where before only pine needles had accumulated.
Her garden and her home were equally neat, equally fruitful, and sometimes whole weeks would pass without her thinking about her family farm opposite the island on which Peenemünde stood. Her English was so halting that she did not yet think or dream in that language, and she doubted that she ever would, but she did do her calculations in English, and German systems of money were forgotten.
She tended the family finances, especially the savings, and whenever her husband and her son brought her extra [271] money from unexpected sources, she hurried it down to the bank and handed it to Mr. Erskine in discharge of the Kolff mortgage. Once when she entered the gray-stone bank building Mr. Erskine invited her into this private office, where he told her, “I loaned money to ninety-one German families, almost no security. Not one has failed to pay me back on time, and you’re ahead of schedule.”
This emboldened her to ask, “If I pay all back, yes? Mr. Kolff and I borrow again, yes?”
“Of course! That’s what I’m here for, to lend money, and your credit is A-1.” Then he asked what she wanted the money for, but she was embarrassed to explain. “As a matter of fact,” he said while she fumbled, “you could extend your loan right now.”
“What you mean, extend?”
“Well, instead of waiting to pay off the small balance outstanding, you could borrow what you need now, and make the balance that much larger.”
“You say I could have the new money now?”
“Right now. But the directors would have to know for what purpose.”
“I want to buy the woods.”
“How many acres?”
“Ten.”
“Do you need them?”
Mrs. Kolff considered this for such a long time that Mr. Erskine suspected she might not have understood, but she was thinking of how human beings hungered for land, and of how they never had enough land, and of how states and nations always lusted for more land, and how in the end men and women returned to the land, their dust to become part of the great inheritance, and she recalled what her father had often said: “If a man is safe with ten acres, he’s a lot more safe with ten times ten.”
“I mind the woods,” she said. “I build the paths. I would like to be sure.”
“Do they stand next to your house?”
“They’re part of it, and I like to be sure.”
“I’d like to see them,” and he drove her up the hill in his own car, and as soon as he saw the lovely park he realized the trap into which this woman had placed herself: by cleaning the ground and making the woods so attractive, she had increased its value to a point at which [272] she could not afford to buy; with her hard and voluntary work she had destroyed her own dreams.
“I’m afraid you’d never be able to afford these ten acres, he said.
“How much?”
“I could ask, but they would be very costly,” and later when he told her how much the owners wanted in comparison to what she and Dieter had paid for their original plot, she was appalled.
So she surrendered her dream of owning the park, but this did not deter her from tending it as before. Her major interest, however, became her son Magnus, only eight year old but such a strong trumpeter that he was asked to play in the school band and in the Huntsville orchestra as well. He was by no means a genius, but he was exceptionally good, with a knack for reading music at sight; it was as if he had some inner decoding device which enabled him instantaneously to translate lines and dots on a sheet of paper into clear notes on his trumpet, and his mother was delighted. Even the sound of his practicing pleased her, and she would often ask him to accompany her to the park when she did her work there, fancying that the birds listened approvingly as he played.
Music was important to Magnus but it did not preempt all his interest, for he loved to play rowdy with the boys at school or participate in soccer with the German boys on Monte Sano. He was freckle-faced, rather heavy for his age, with thick blond hair cut straight across his forehead, and although he did reasonably well in school, he found most of his subjects depressing. What he preferred was music and sports, and he was becoming outstanding in each.
He did not like to speak German even though he understood when it was spoken to him, and when his parents coaxed and bullied him to retain his mother tongue, he stubbornly refused: “Nobody at school speaks German.”
“You will be happy one day that you know this language,” his father predicted.
“I’ll learn it then,” he said with adult shrewdness.
He was a good boy, and when others in school got into serious trouble, he watched from the sidelines, too prudent to be lured into situations which were bound to result in punishment: “If they catch you American kids, it’s all right. [273] Your father talks to you. If they catch me, my father beats me.” There was another deterrent voiced repeatedly by his mother: “Remember, Magnus, you’re not an American yet. They can send you back to Germany at any time ... if you’re bad.”
Liesl was not sure of her facts. Some of the German wives had explained that Magnus and their children, having been born in America, were automatically citizens, but she was certain that she and Dieter were not, so she assumed that if the parents were expelled, the children would be, too, and she used this threat to keep her energetic son in line.
But the day came in the fall of 1955 when the immigration commissioner and the local judge decided that it was in the interests of the United States for these Germans to be brought securely into American citizenship, so an impressive ceremony was staged, with Army officers in uniform and state dignitaries present to give speeches. As the solemn ritual began, the immigration man asked each of the applicants routine questions about the Constitution and the President, then certified them as having completed satisfactorily their course of prescribed study. The judge then asked everyone to stand, and in brief, emotional words, conferred citizenship upon these unusually valuable newcomers, and a woman in charge of the ceremony signaled that the town band should play. Stubby little Magnus Kolff, youngest member of the band, blared is trumpet sweetly to the strain Mine eyes have seen the glory and many eyes were moist.
 
Dieter Kolff himself was not doing well during these days when his wife and son were so happy; it was not that he was delinquent but that his superiors, especially Dr. von Braun, could not get their priorities sorted. No one could be sure, week to week, what the mission at Redstone was, or what the Army was proposing to do next, or whether there would be any money on hand come the first of the month. It was chaos, really, and sometimes the more thoughtful Germans would whisper at night, “How did this nation ever defeat us?” And although they did not openly voice their next rhetorical question, they did ask it of themselves: How could this nation stand up to Russia?
The situation was this. Under the guidance of a [274] Pentagon that did not understand rocketry or space-and which intuitively distrusted the field because it posed difficult new problems-and while the generals and admirals were composing glowing accounts of how they had won the last war with weapons they did understand, a deadly battle developed among the three major services, and whenever the specialists in one looked as if they might spurt ahead, authorities in the other two conspired to haul them back, which would not have been unproductive had the Pentagon provided a referee to adjudicate among the contestants, selecting the best of each set of proposals. But the man at the top was Charley Wilson, trained in building automobiles and tanks, and to him the whole prospect of expensive missiles which he would never comprehend was distasteful, so instead of receiving firm direction from the Pentagon, the engineers at Army’s Huntsville and NACA’s Langley got only confusion and at times downright ineptitude.
The Air Force, in whose hands the whole mix should probably have been left, was putting its hopes in the Thor and the Atlas Intercontinental Ballistic Missile (ICBM), which if it worked as planned, could be modified to serve almost any mission; some dreamers visualized seven or eight different kinds of Atlases, splendid American-devised machines which would throw objects clear to the Moon. But with incredibly bad luck, the Air Force ran into constant difficulties, and their first ten attempts to fly their rocket ended in disaster.
The Navy backed its Vanguard, an unclassified rocket designed to place scientific satellites in orbit as the American contribution to the International Geophysical Year, when all the nations of the world would cooperate in vast new explorations of the upper atmosphere and space itself. The Navy solution was not a good one, but the top Navy officers were among the best politicians in the world, so their faltering experiments were protected.
The Army, betting on Von Braun and his Germans at Huntsville, was offering the Jupiter, a magnificent-looking offspring of the Peenemünde A-4, fifty-eight feet tall, nearly nine feet in diameter, with enough rocket power to launch either an atomic warhead or a scientific payload to the Moon. But it was not immediately recognizable as superior to the Air Force and Navy solutions, so it had to [275] fight its way insecurely to a position of dominance.
“It’s vital,” Kolff told his assistants, “that we make every item in this Jupiter foolproof. It has got to work, pray God, it has got to.”
In the summer of 1955 Kolff’s team spent sixteen and seventeen hours a day perfecting each step in the intricate, monstrous system: miles of thin wire; hundreds of electrical connections; nine different kinds of metal; tons of gear. In the winter of 1956, when they test-fired the gigantic contraption, binding it to Earth with bands of steel, lest it soar aloft without its guidance mechanism, the whole rotten thing collapsed and the team had to go back to the laboratory and try to deduce what had gone wrong.
Von Braun was distraught, for he knew that agents in Huntsville were reporting each disaster to Air Force and Navy, and for a while investigators from Washington hinted that the whole Army show might be closed down because of inefficiency and the team dissolved: “You could surely find jobs for your men in private industry. Reliable mechanics are always needed.”
“They called you ‘a reliable mechanic,’ Von Braun said disgustedly when he reported the interview to Kolff. Then he laughed, boisterously, his massive head bobbing with sardonic disgust. “You, who have worked on the world’s greatest rockets. How old are you, Dieter?”
“Forty-nine, almost fifty.”
“Do you think of yourself as ‘a reliable mechanic’?”
“I’m a rocket man. Waiting till we get a chance at the big one.”
“I wish to God you were a reliable mechanic, so we could get that damned thing in the air.”
“We’ve analyzed everything and still don’t know what went wrong.”
“Can we hope the next one will go?”
“We’ll make it go,” Dieter said, and he recalled the days of despair at Peenemünde. “Remember when Hitler invited eight leading generals to see the invention that was going to win the war? Phhhhht. I wanted to die.”
“We nearly did, both of us.” Von Braun laughed again. “And if we fail next time, Dieter, we’ll die again. In a different way.”
Now Kolff found difficulty in sleeping, for he perceived that a great deal more than Army prestige would be riding [276] on the next Jupiter: America’s posture vis-à-vis Russia, potential future flights to the Moon, and indeed, the entire space program of not only America but perhaps the entire world. There were a hundred men, Kolff estimated, who wanted to see this multifaceted program go forward; there were a hundred million, it seemed, who wanted it to fail.
In September 1956 Kolff flew to Cape Canaveral it Florida, an Atlantic Ocean offshore island almost exactly like Wallops but seven hundred and fifty miles farther south, and there on the desolate dunes he supervised the positioning of the huge rocket. When he saw it secure in its gantry, pointed slightly out to sea, he tried to visualize the complex innards, any one of which could malfunction to cause a failure, and he shuddered.
The waiting time was agony, and he could see perspiration forming on Von Braun’s face. Finally the signal came. The engines ignited and a monstrous blast engulfed the launch pad. Slowly the great machine lifted into the air and with tantalizing motion started to climb away from the gantry ... up ... up, not in a titanic upward explosion but still slowly, as if it were crawling. It continued, it engines bursting flame, and then its speed increased slowly, purposefully and always upward, until at last it attained a stupefying power that carried it high into the air, flames following, and out over the sea.
Radar and telemetry signals showed that it climbed to the unbelievable height of 682 miles, which carried it 3,335 miles down range before it plunged into the dark Atlantic.
“We’ve provided America with a majestic tool,” Von Braun exulted, and when he saw Kolff sitting limp upon a stool, all emotion drained, he went over and sat beside him. “We’ve taken our first step toward our Moon.”
The sensational flight had one curious aspect which only the top experts appreciated: an object thrown into the air could go into orbit at a rather low altitude, say one hundred miles up, and this one had soared almost seven times that height without doing so. What was the matter? When Mrs. Pope asked on behalf of the committee, Von Braun explained: “Height has nothing to do with it, really. It can soar a thousand miles straight up and still fall right back to Earth. But if it gets out of the atmosphere and has enough speed, it will always go into orbit.”
“How much speed must it attain,” she asked, knowing [277] that her senators would grill her on details.
“Mathematically, it works out to 16,029 miles an hour. To cover variations in conditions and the effectiveness of our machines, we work with the figure 17,500 mph. I can assure you this, young lady. If it’s less than 16,029, it doesn’t matter how high it flies. Earth’s gravity will always pull it back into the atmosphere. But even if it goes only one hundred miles up and attains 17,500, it must go into orbit and remain in it.”
Before Penny could comment, he broke into a chuckle. “Oberth used to tell us, ‘If you could drive an automobile at 17,500 mph, it would have to climb to orbit.’ ”
Now Penny asked the vital question: “But when you had your machine a hundred miles up, why didn’t you goose it sideways and throw it into orbit?”
“Ah, my dear! That extra speed, that’s what requires the extra energy.”
“Can I tell the senators that you’ll be able to apply that extra energy?”
“One of these days, yes.”
When Dieter returned joyously to Huntsville, Liesl presented him with further good news: “At last the owner appreciates that I make his woods better and he’s willing to sell us two acres ... a decent price. Tonight I am very happy.” But before Dieter could congratulate her, she produced a letter whose contents made the land purchase debatable:
 
Mr. and Mrs. Dieter Kolff,
 
Your son Magnus is so exceptional in playing the trumpet that the management of the National Music Camp at Interlochen, Michigan, would like to invite him to play in our Youth Orchestra for seven weeks this summer.
 
The letter went on to explain that although this was a full scholarship, granted in recognition of Magnus’ unusual musical ability, there would be travel and incidental expenses which the Kolff family would be expected to meet. This would use up the money that Liesl had intended applying as down payment for her cherished woods.
It was the kind of problem which enriched family life: [278] two options, either of which would justify an entire year of family labor. The Kolffs studied the matter at supper, with Liesl confessing that although she wanted the woods, she felt that Magnus’ education should come first, and the boy saying that whereas he did want to go to the music camp and play real symphonic music, he liked the woods just as much and wanted the family to own its share. Dieter, obviously, would have to make the decision.
Before he could do so his attention was diverted by a frantic telephone call: “Kolff, get down here immediately! Four men we can’t identify are raising hell.”
When he reached the base he found enormous agitation but no solid facts: “All the Germans are being deported. Nazis.” That, of course, was fallacious, but when he entered his office he found his secretary in tears and two strange men shuffling through his papers.
“All in German?” one of the searchers asked.
“Rocket work is mostly German,” Dieter said. And then he learned that the Pentagon had reached a portentous decision regarding the future of Huntsville, and before it was divulged these operatives from Army Intelligence were checking to see what arcane work the Germans were up to. Kolff, because of his notorious interest in long-range rockets, was especially suspect.
At 0900 the next morning everyone assembled to hear the directive prepared by Secretary of Defense Charley Wilson, as avowed an enemy of rockets and space exploration as the German generals who had given Von Braun so much trouble at Peenemünde. The instructions were entitled Roles and Missions Directive, and the engineers gasped when a brigadier general glumly summarized them:
 
“Gentlemen, as of 0800 this morning the United States Army, and particularly the personnel at this base, is ordered to stop work now and permanently on any rocket or other piece of ordnance with a range greater than two hundred miles. Such work henceforth will be the responsibility of either the Air Force or the Navy.
 
“This means that practically all projects currently under the supervision of Dr. Von Braun and his associates will be terminated. An effort will be made [279] to find work for all members of the staff, either here at Huntsville or in private firms elsewhere which may be interested in space technologies. These orders are in effect now.”
 
When the meeting dissolved, shocked men stood in groups speculating on what might happen, and someone started the rumor that the Germans would be collected in a concentration camp at El Paso, but that was quickly squelched by the general, who told the men, “You’re legal American citizens, with as much right to stay here in Alabama as I have,” but when the men asked whether they could keep their jobs, he was evasive.
The tension was broken when Kolff’s secretary ran up, crying, “You better get to the field. The Pentagon men are going ape.” And when Kolff reached the storage area he found that the engines on which he had worked with undeviating devotion for nearly twenty years were being dismantled: “We can’t run the risk of any hanky-panky. This base is now limited to two hundred miles and these Jupiters are under wraps.”
By the time Dieter could get back home Liesl and Magnus knew of the disaster, but even before they could offer condolences, he said, “We’ll buy no woods. We’ll send no one to camp. In fact, I don’t know what we’ll do.”
“Can we stay here?” Liesl asked.
“I think we shall have to sell the house and move.”
Liesl stifled a sob, then asked, “Where?”
“I don’t know.”
 
When Lieutenant John Pope, USN, reported to Patuxent River for training as an advanced airplane test pilot, he found his Korean fly-mate Captain Randy Claggett, USMC, living in a helter-skelter paradise.
Pax River was one of America’s finest military installations, a set of airfields located at the far tip of a peninsula jutting out into the Chesapeake Bay and roughly equidistant from Richmond, Annapolis, Washington and Wallops Island. The last two relationships were important because if administrators of the base got into trouble, they could always have easy access to the high command in the nation’s capital, and if airplanes on test flights had really difficult maneuvers to perform, they could fly out over the [280] Atlantic, using Wallops Island as their point of reference and their refuge if emergency landings or refuelings became necessary. Pax River was a beautiful, well-run base staffed by some of the world’s most expert fliers.
Because of its enviable location, incoming pilots could choose among four locations in which to live: barracks on base which only the squares elected; miserable private digs just outside the gate which everyone tried to avoid; an attractive group of newly built homes at a settlement called Town Creek, where married couples could raise their children safely; and a remarkable frontier area across the Patuxent River at a Navy small-boats base called Solomons Island, so inconvenient, primitive and rowdy that only the toughest pilots married to the most resilient wives elected to live there.
Randy Claggett lived at Solomons, and in order to report for duty in the morning, he had to either drive thirty miles upriver, cross over and drive thirty miles back or take an old motor launch run by the Navy between its two bases. This launch could take no cars, so a pilot who lived at Solomons had to own three automobiles: a real one for the wife and kids, a broken-down hack to carry himself from barracks to the launch, and another crate parked across the river to use for getting from the opposite landing to the test center. Only the first was licensed.
As soon as Pope reported, Claggett took over: “Amigo, no self-respectin’ front-runner ever lives on base, and the town rentals are unspeakable. Only horses’ asses live in suburban grandeur at Town Creek, so the only possible place is Solomons. Come with me.”
They went to a parking lot, where Claggett jumped into a Chevrolet fourteen years old. “I paid me a hundred and six dollars for this affair, but with a little work I got it to run.” It barely held together, but since it was needed only to get Claggett from the landing to base and back, plus runs to the liquor store now and then, it sufficed. The launch looked as if it would positively sink in midstream. but it chugged across the river to the left bank, where an unbelievable 1939 Chevy waited.
“This’n cost me forty dollars and three weeks of work but hell, it only runs two miles each way, no plates, no nothin’.” This astonishing vehicle carried the two pilots to [281] a row house on the Navy base where toys and various children’s vehicles covered the sandy weed-grown lawn.
Banging his way into the house, Claggett shouted, “Debby Dee, the sonnombeech is here!” And from the kitchen appeared a handsome, blowzy blonde who appeared to be a few years older than her pilot husband. Like Randy, she was from Texas, and like him, she had an infectious good will toward the world, large eyes which smiled enthusiastically and an obvious windblown charm. She used an exaggerated Texas drawl and did her hair in a preposterous way. She was careless about her dress and even more indifferent about the raising of her children, so far as Pope could discern, because she alternately bellowed at them or consoled them passionately if they came to harm. She had two sons and a daughter, but as she explained right at the start: “The boys aren’t Randy’s. He was good enough to marry me when Frank was killed in flight trainin’.”
“The sonnombeeches are mine now,” Claggett said, as he belted one of the lads for hauling a pedicycle into the room. Both he and Debby Dee assured Pope that there was only one place to live. “Solomons has everything. Wonderful neighbors. Great parties Saturday night. and a pretty good Methodist church for Sundays.”
Randy insisted on taking Pope to a garage off base where the owner had a pathetic Ford for thirty dollars-“Hell, John, you and I could rebuild this bale of bolts in five days, run you perfect home to the landing.” The man also had a rather better Ford at ninety dollars-“I’d recommend it, John, because you’ll need something reliable to move about the base.” But what Pope appreciated, then and years later, was another discovery Claggett made: “John, isn’t that a 1949 Mercury over there?”
The body of the convertible had been wrecked beyond repair, but the canvas top looked as if it had escaped serious damage, and when the two pilots inspected it, they found that with some care it could be removed from the wreck and installed in place of the self-made job Pope had been using on his car. The owner would not sell the top, absolutely refused, but he would sell the whole car for twenty-five dollars, and when the pilots had transferred the top he bought back the rest of the hulk for ten dollars.
“With epoxy to touch up the scars, you’ve got a new top, [282] good for decades,” Claggett said. And then Pope deliverer the unwelcome news: “I’m going to live in quarters ... on base.”
“Oh, for Christ sake!” Claggett exploded. “Only worms live on base. At least buy a decent house out at Town Creek.” The Claggetts felt so strongly about this that they called several of their pilot friends and lined up two rather nice houses, but even when Pope saw how attractive they were, and how congenial the military families who lived nearby seemed to be, he stood firm: “My wife’s working in Washington, for the time being, and we won’t need a house.”
It was Debby Dee who took him aside, cigarette dangling from her full lips. “Pope-san, if you’re strapped for cash, Randy and I could ...”
“It’s not cash at all, Debby Dee. It’s just that I don’t need a house.”
“But the owner’ll sell this excellent-Look, clown, this house has three bedrooms. It’s only thirteen thousand dollars and he’ll give you a twenty-year mortgage at five point three percent.”
“I don’t want a house. All I want to do is test planes.”
She stepped back and saluted. “Join the brotherhood, you sonnombeech. And I suppose you know the password? Professionalism.”
It was certainly Randy Claggett’s beacon. He could horse around at home on Solomons, or at weekend parties, or when tinkering with his three cars, and he could talk Tex-Mex, but when he approached a new airplane whose characteristics were unknown and to be proved, he became a kind of self-contained god, a being totally immersed in the task at hand, and he believed with reason that no one on Earth could discharge that job better than he, for he was a professional, best in the business.
Everyone at Pax River aspired to that reputation, and when Pope’s incoming class of fifteen assembled in the Test Pilot classroom, Captain Penscott, who would be their supervisor for five months of basic training, greeted them without emotion: “Gentlemen, you’ve been chosen because you’re the best military pilots in the nation. You know far more about airplanes than those you served with, and by this time next year two of you will be dead because you didn’t know enough.”
And during the fifth week the sirens sounded, [183] because a Navy lieutenant with 1,400 hours in his Aviator’s Flight Logbook had augered in an F7U-3-flown it nose-first right into the tarmac at three hundred miles per hour. He had one of the new houses at Town Creek, and Debby Dee was the first wife to come across on the launch from Solomons to take care of the widow and her two kids.
When Pope was handed his first Flight Test Procedures for Stability and Control Evaluation, mimeographed by Douglas Aircraft to guide military pilots in testing the A4D-3, a light attack bomber which might or might not go into full-scale production, he was astonished by the complexity of the tests he was supposed to conduct and about which he was obligated to furnish written reports. The booklet identified thirteen almost unrelated aspects of the airplane which had to be tested under flight conditions, such as:
 
How does the plane behave in a stall?
Does it have dynamic longitudinal stability?
What are the characteristics of its high-speed dive recovery?
How do its lateral controls respond in critical situations?
What is its dynamic stability?
 
In simpler terms, the test pilot was supposed to put his plane into every conceivable kind of jeopardy, bring it out safely, and record precisely what happened before, during and after the crisis. It was in this written reporting that many test pilots failed, and Pope was profoundly impressed by the meticulous care with which Randy Claggett wrote his reports. He might sound illiterate during a Solomons beer bash, but when he brought a test plane back to Earth, he wrote with the precision of a writer for Scientific American: “The company engineers have to know exactly what happened, and only you can tell them.” When he saw Pope’s first reports, he showed his contempt: “Too wordy. Too imprecise. How? How much? How long before the response?” And always he wanted to know how Pope had felt when the strange things were happening: “That’s a better guide than all the telemetry the engineers invent. Not what you thought. Not what the instruments showed. But how your guts felt when the plane yawed [284] unexpectedly. How did your ass feel when it started to slide? Did you feel your eyes drifting? Goddammit, Pope, you’re the most expensive instrument they’ll ever put in those planes and the most complicated, so trust your reflexes.”
At one party Claggett reverted to this theme, and with a beer can in one hand, he directed a conversation with six other pilots; they were in the kitchen, of course, while their wives were in the front room discussing shopping markets and kindergartens. “We’re the end of a long line, gentlemen.” (He was imitating Captain Penscott.) “The end of a long process of Darwinian selection.” And he invited the pilots to offer their guesses as to the statistics he wanted.
“If you got into Annapolis or West Point, you were one in five hundred who thought they were eligible. If you graduated, only thirty percent were allowed into flight training. Only sixty percent of that number made it to completion. Advanced training washed out a good twenty percent. And a hell of a lot didn’t live through the squadron. MiG guns or their own carelessness did them in. I understand that about a hundred of the best fliers in the world apply for test-flight training every class, here or Edwards, which leads me to think that each of us represents something like one in two hundred thousand.”
“How in hell did you get that?” asked one of the pilots who had been doing his own figuring.
“Because it’s a good round number. Now let’s look at the costs. High school, four thousand dollars. Annapolis, four years, forty-eight thousand dollars. Flight training, including the smashed SNJs, a hundred and fifty thousand. Advanced flight and peacetime squadron, three hundred thousand dollars. Korea, three years, the banged-up planes, a million eight hundred thousand dollars. Pax River, three years all told, another five hundred thousand dollars. What’s that add up to? A lot of mazoola.”
Pope studied with interest the dogged way in which Claggett pursued his career, and he listened carefully to his suggestions: “I heard Captain Penscott say you were one of the best. If so, make your moves with the most careful attention. You must get into Flight Test. That’s where we do the real work, testing the hottest things that fly ... in the abstract ... philosophically. If you can’t make that, Service Test is acceptable, but it’s a step down. You [285] take the plane when I’m through with it and see bow it fits Navy requirements. If you’re obviously not a first-class stick man, they’ll put you in Electronic Test, which is all right if you grew up wiring Heathkits. Armament Test is the same thing-avoid it. A guy like you, known as a straight arrow, faces one fatal temptation. They’ll want to keep hold of you as a teacher in the Test Pilot School, and if you let them ... farewell, poor Yorick, I knew him in the old days when he was a pilot.”
“Can I get into Flight Test?”
“You have to get in, it’s that simple.”
Claggett had two other bits of advice which he deemed vital, for when he shared them he kept hold of Pope’s arm, bringing him close as if he were whispering recondite information shared only by the professionals. “John, never become too close to the manufacturer’s field representatives. They’re business. We’re military. And if you’re seen suckin’ up to them, the rest of us will figure you’re trying to land a civilian job when you’re through here, and men who do that are beneath contempt.
“Also, John, never hobnob with the VR types, the pilots testing the transport prototypes. It’ll be obvious that you’re hoping for a later job with Pan American or United. To hell with them. They fly boxcars. We fly airplanes.”
And when Pope’s five months of intensive training drew to a close, Claggett cautioned him again: “I think you’re gonna be one of the great ones, John. Normally I despise men who bunk on base just to save a few bucks, and I really don’t like straight arrows, but dammit, you know airplanes as well as I do. You really do. The one unforgivable sin in your work for the next two years is to crack up a prototype aircraft. Kill yourself, that’s okay, and screw the commander’s wife, that’s okay, too. But you’re here to protect that aircraft, and if you auger one in, you’ve failed your test.
“And don’t allow yourself to become too attached to one type. Remember, the airplane has no affection for you. To it, one pilot’s as good as another. Test the goddamned thing and walk away from it.” Proudly he showed Pope his Aviator’s Flight Logbook, which recorded his pilot’s experience in seventy-one different kinds of aircraft, even some of the despised VR types, and in the final days of his own preparatory training Pope watched with admiration the [286] brazen way in which Claggett gained access to the newer planes as they arrived at Patuxent River.
He would wait till someone landed a prototype, go over to it, kick the tires and ask casually, “How do you start this bundle of bolts?” A pilot could have 3,000 hours in the air with all types of planes and still not be able to guess how the next manufacturer had decided to hide the ignition system on his new plane. When Claggett found out, he would ask the returning pilot, “Anything oddball about this one?” And always one pilot would help another, warning him of special problems.
Off Claggett would go, sometimes with only the vaguest permission from the tower, but after he had put the new plane through its maneuvers and made voluminous notes as to its performance, he would land and seek out one or two pilots who had flown it before and spend perhaps three hours comparing notes on the most intimate details of this plane’s behavior. Only then would he meet with the team in charge of the plane and with the manufacturer’s representatives to report in astonishing detail on the strengths and weaknesses of their product.
“I have one failing you should avoid,” Claggett confided on the evening before Pope’s graduation from the school part of the Patuxent River program. “I’m a sucker for any kind of cross-country flight. I’ll even go commercial. So I take every trip that comes along, and pilots who do this put themselves in grave danger. Fly out to the big factories in Los Angeles. Edwards Air Force Base to test their new planes. Maybe over to England to meet with the British at Boscombe Downs.”
“What’s the danger?”
“You become known as a giddy-biddy, a goody-grabber, and when you come home you find that someone who’s been tending to his knitting has drawn all the good assignments, and you’re no longer in the mainstream. You get none of the new planes.”
“How do you protect yourself?”
Claggett looked around him as if fearing spies, then said, “By being the best damned pilot on the lot. By writing the best reports. By flying the ass off anything they let you climb into.” He laughed. “I’ll never be cured. I love that Pax-Jax-Lax routine.” He was referring to the field designations of Patuxent River, Jacksonville, Los [287] Angeles. “My heart grows double when the engine revs up and I’m on my way. At thirty thousand feet the world is mine.”
Next day John Pope graduated as a full-fledged test pilot, and Captain Penscott, recognizing his ability, invited him to become head of instruction in the training school: “It’s a long-term job, Pope, one that carries with it real distinction. You could purchase a house and live well.”
“I would be honored,” John said. “But you know my wife works in Washington, and I was hoping I’d get Flight Test.”
“Has Claggett been poisoning your mind?” Penscott asked amiably.
“Well, he has said two things,” Pope lied. “That to become a permanent instructor was about the best a man could hope for. And that hard drivers tried to get into Flight Test.”
“I was afraid you’d say that,” Penscott said. “Flight Test it’ll be.”
 
That night Randy and Debby Dee Claggett threw a graduation party at Solomons, with the ancient launch working overtime to carry the people from Town Creek across the river and young Tim Claggett driving the broken-down Chevy round-trip from the pier to the three row houses his mother had borrowed for the bash. By this time Pope was well enough acquainted with the Pax River people to know what to expect: no alcoholism whatever in the entire crew, no talk of books or art, the loudest possible hi-fi music, politics never mentioned, men in the kitchen, wives in the front room, models of aircraft fastened to all the walls, and the warm-hearted camaraderie of men who had spent the last dozen years risking their lives and who hoped to spend the next dozen doing exactly the same.
What Pope was not prepared for was that when he left his austere bachelor quarters on the base and drove his Mercury convertible to the ferry, crossed it and climbed into Tim Claggett’s Chevy, he found Penny waiting for him in Debby Dee’s front room. Randy had driven hell-bent to Washington to bring her down for the gala night.
His heart stopped when he saw her-straight, neat, hair trim against her well-shaped head, her eyes wide, her broad face glowing with delight at seeing her husband again. “Penny,” he cried. “How did you find this place?”
“The Flying Gorilla,” she said, pointing to Claggett, who [288] was once more playing the Texan beetworker from Central Mexico: “I breeng you Señorita, sir. My seestair, very pretty, very clean, three dollars.”
The Navy wives made a fuss over Penny, who with her working experience in Washington was able to fit in immediately with women whom instinctively she liked: “I have no children, dammit, and I think it’s that clown’s fault.”
“No, no, memsahib!” Claggett shouted. “In Korea our boy Pope had three children. The fault ain’t his’n.”
The Navy wives liked Penny and spent much time trying to discover what it was she did in Washington, and she explained that because of her law degree she had been able to land this demanding job as secretary to the Senate committee that dealt with aviation and space: “You might say that I help men like Lyndon Johnson and my boss Michael Glancey find the money that keeps places like Patuxent River functioning.”
“Bless that girl!” Debby Dee cried, and she asked Penny if she wanted anything to drink.
“A beer,” Penny said, and Debby Dee shrieked, “Us beer drinkers got a new convert.”
The party continued till dawn, and as the sun came up over the Chesapeake, Debby Dee led the Popes to one of the borrowed houses, told all the late drinkers to scram, and put the new test pilot and his beautiful Washington wife to bed. “Get some kids,” she told them. “It ain’t legal to be a test pilot without kids.” Her own son Tim was still driving the ramshackle Chevy back and forth to the landing as the test pilots made their way across the river and back to their jobs.
Penny was so delighted with Pax River, and especially with the Claggetts, that she made plans to leave Washington on most weekends, sleeping over at either Solomons or Town Creek, and the more she saw of the orderly yet frenzied life of the test pilots, the more she loved it and the more she respected the men and women who participated in it. She was very proud of her husband and saw that most of the other wives were proud of theirs, and she was staying with one of the families at Town Creek when one of the new test pilots who had graduated with John augered in, reducing a great plane to a compact mass of [289] metal and bone and blood. He was the first of the fifteen to die.
Then she appreciated doubly the meaning of her husband’s occupation, for the entire base-admiral in charge, Captain Penscott in charge of the school, tech reps from the manufacturers, young men who had come aboard as beginners in the new class-coalesced about the stricken home to make death bearable, if not understandable.
On her weekends Penny came to know the older test pilots, who were either still working on the base or returning to it to compare notes or drink beer with their earlier associates, and she saw that John Glenn, quiet and sober, was much like her husband, a true straight arrow, and from watching Glenn, she came to know John better. Al Shepard was all dignity and power, while Scott Carpenter was relaxed and amiable. She had difficulty believing Pete Conrad had ever gone to Princeton. She was overawed by Bill Lawrence, perhaps the ablest flier, all things considered, that Pax River was to produce-if she excluded Randy Claggett and her husband-but she was grateful for a rowdy, talkative type like Gerry O’Rourke, who kept things moving with his irreverent comedy. It was a splendid group of men, and she could not believe rumors that the Air Force parallel types at Edwards in California excelled. “They may fly higher,” she told the Senate committee, “but they cannot fly any better.”
She was sleeping at they Claggetts’ one Friday night, tired from her week’s work and the speedy trip south, when she heard a loud explosion across the river and awoke to see flames leaping toward the sky. She was terrified, because her husband was engaged in night flying that week, and for a dreadful half-hour she supposed that it had been his plane which had “bought the ranch.”
Claggett was not doing any night flying, so he and Debby Dee were present to console her, and the latter said, from long experience, “We’ll get a phone call. We always do.”
“You mean they’ll tell me about it over the phone?”
“Good God, no!” Debby Dee blurted out. “They send the chaplain, or one of the fliers in uniform. If nobody comes up that walk-You’d be able to hear the launch, too.” They waited a long time, talking of inconsequentials, [290] with Penny Pope starting even when a cricket’s rasping legs gave noises that could be interpreted as the start of a phone ringing, and then they waited longer still for the sound of the launch, but in the end it was John Pope on the phone: “Hello, kiddo. You get down here all right? Just called to see.”
When Penny replaced the phone she looked for a moment at her companions, sitting there in the semi-darkness, not exulting with her, for her gain was the dreadful loss of someone equally precious. And then she collapsed. “Oh, Debby Dee! I love him so much.” And in a flood of words this capable, self-directed committee secretary told of their courtship under the stars in Clay, when John was already interested in astronomy, and of their nights together in the university observatory with Dr. Anderssen, and of their courtship while John was at Annapolis, and of the generous way he encouraged her, and of her love which grew deeper with every year.
“You have kids,” she told the Claggetts, “and so do all the others. John and I have tried, and maybe failure cements us even closer.”
“Why don’t you quit your job and move down here?” Debby Dee asked, hoping to ease her into less-hysterical conversation.
“Whatever you do, it’s never right,” Penny said, so they gave her two stiff drinks and put her to bed.
Now, when she visited with her husband over the weekends or during a Senate break, she loved him increasingly, for at last she understood what impelled him: “You want to be the best, don’t you? You want to drive yourself always to the maximum performance.”
“I’ll never be the test pilot Randy is.”
“You’re twice as knowledgeable about airplanes,” she said forcefully.
“Specifications, yes. But what makes one fly and another falter, no.”
“Are you making a mystery of it, a religion?”
“It is a mystery. At the farthest edges when you’re up there with a plane that’s never been really tested, it is a mystery.” He hesitated, for he must next speak about things that the test pilots would usually voice only to other test pilots, but he loved this strong-willed girl from the plains as none of the other pilots loved their wives; she was part [291] of him, the measure of his life-and he wanted to share everything with her.
“Since we started our tour, three men just as well trained as I am have flown their planes into the ground, and statistics predict that four more will before we’re through. Every one of them knew his plane. Every one talked slowly and clearly into his mouthpiece as things began to fall apart. And every damned one of them did the first right thing, and then the second and then the fifth and sixth, and nothing worked, and they were still trying to figure things out when they hit. Randy Claggett would have saved every one of those planes. At step three he’d have figured something, something never in any book. And that’s the difference.”
She drew in her breath, then asked, “You? Would you have brought them down?”
“I might have figured it out by step five, but then it could have been too late. But I promise you this, Penny, if they do come up the lane one day, the chaplain and the others, you can be positive that I was about to try step “Six.”
Once he allowed her to see the mimeographed instructions Grumman sent to the men testing the F11F-1, a plane in which the Navy had placed great faith when it issued the original contract, but which was proving a dismal disappointment:
 
LATERAL CONTROL
 
Purpose: To determine aileron force gradient.
 
Procedure:
1.   Trim out in the desired condition.
2.   Roll into a left or right turn to an angle of bank 45°.
3.   When the turn is stable hold the rudder fixed in the trim position and abruptly apply a given amount of aileron and hold it until the airplane has reached a 45° bank in the opposite direction.
4.   Record the time to roll the 90° and note aileron force required.
 
Important Note:
Make this check at ¼, ½, ¾ and full throw aileron [292] displacements, first left, their right.
 
Further Application:
Make checks at various altitudes and air speeds to determine rate of roll at various Mach numbers and their equivalent air speeds.
 
Caution: Watch out for flutter. If it occurs, lower speed instantly.
 
When she leafed through the booklet she found that her husband was obligated to perform more than eighty such tests with their Further Applications and Cautions as to when the wings might fly off. “How many planes are you men testing?”
John rattled off the names of twenty-six on the field at this moment, including many that would prove useless when subjected to tests like the above but also those noble workhorses of the fleet, those planes upon whose predecessors the safety of this nation had once depended: the Douglas dive bombers, the Grumman fighters, the great Chance-Vought F4U series, which the Marines had used to repel the Japanese and which Pope had used in Korea against the Chinese.
He shared with her, as a virtual member of the Senate committee, the two scandals at Pax River: “There never was a plane more difficult than the old F4U. Birdcage so high the pilot couldn’t see to land it on a carrier. Had a really nasty way of snap-rolling at high G’s. But we never had a better plane. It was made of concrete. Could not be shot down by anything but a three-inch shell. An absolutely marvelous plane, and I flew it all through Korea, the Chance-Vought Corsair, my love.
“So now the same company with the same engineers builds the Navy the F7U, the Cutlass. And it’s a disaster. There doesn’t seem to be a thing right about it, especially the engines. Pilots call it the Gutless Cutlass, and men like Claggett have sent in a dozen reports on what has to be done, and they can’t seem to fix it. You know, I suppose, that Claggett refuses to fly it any more. Calls it the Widow Maker.”
“Do you fly it?”
“I fly anything.” Without further comment her told he of the F3H planes, first and second series. “The poor old F3H-1, maybe the worst disaster of modern times. The [293] Ensign Killer. Had a J-40 engine, I think, and performed so dismally they sent the last forty of them down the Mississippi on barges. Too dangerous to fly. So they brought out an improvement-F3H-2 with an Allison J-71 engine. We named it the Screamin’ Demon, and it broke our hearts to see how at so many critical points it failed. A great plane on paper, it never quite made it. I found its air-to-air missile system elegant. First in the world that will kill an oncoming target head-on. But dammit, both the plane and the engine failed us. Claggett and I have sent in dozens of reports. But most of the faults can’t be corrected.”
“But you still fly it?”
“That’s our job. We’re testing them. And if we don’t test them, the Navy buys them and then the young pilots get killed expecting them to perform properly.”
“Is it really rough?”
“Thirty days, thirty flights, maybe fifty, not a thing happens. Plane goes into a spin, you note the numbers, you bring it out of the spin, you note the numbers.”
“Are spins dangerous?”
“Not if you bring the plane out.”
“And if you don’t?”
“Then you try something, and something else, and always you find something.”
When she returned to Washington after discussions like this, she had increased admiration for the men all down the line who made aviation possible: the big companies that made the planes, the Senate committees that paid for them, the generals and admirals who fought to get the right ones, the gallant young men who flew them, and then that special breed of quiet supermen who drank beer in the kitchen on Saturday night and tested the untried planes on Monday morning.
In recent months two more men in their thirties had been killed: one testing a plane that should never have left the factory; the other in a plane which was as good as any nation in the world was making, but which on this particular day over the Chesapeake Bay behaved erratically, and the young fellow in it panicked and lost his life and a plane that any of the other pilots on the test line could have brought down easily.
The more Penny saw of the pilots, the more reassured [294] she was about their essential sanity: there were no daredevils in this group, and any youngster who sought to achieve that reputation was either dropped completely or disciplined by the oldsters like John Glenn or Randy Claggett, and it was peculiarly effective when the lanky Texan assumed the role of taskmaster. He never attacked the young show-off directly, or in front of others, for he realized that a test pilot required all the self-esteem and bravado available, nor did he denigrate the man’s basic ability, for the young man would not have been chosen for Pax River if he was not competent, but what he did do, and most directly, was challenge the man’s professionalism.
“You know, Forbes, this ain’t much of a report.”
“The facts are there.”
“But if’n a report ain’t done good style-I mean slam-slam-slam, one point directly after the other-and I mean in order, goddammit, just like the book says ...”
“It’s all there.”
“It ain’t all there, goddammit. It ain’t there if’n I cain’t find it.”
“What do you want me to do? Become a professor of English?”
“Exactly,” Claggett would say with great warmth. Then, putting his arm about the man, he would say, “Forbes, you’re one of the hottest pilots on this here line. I reckon you can be the very best in your group. Ability? Unbounded. But whippin’ that plane around the sky is only one-third of this job. The other two-thirds is feedback. You tellin’ the brain boys what’s what. And this you must do in precise ... orderly ... fashion. I spend one hour testin’, two hours reportin’. It’s called professionalism, son, and if’n you ain’t got that, you ain’t got nothin’.”
Penny studied with amusement the various ways in which these men proved their professionalism. The preferred automobile was a meticulously polished two-seater black Thunderbird. The family car had to be the largest possible used Buick station wagon, although an Oldsmobile would also be acceptable. A house had to have a high-fidelity sound system, but not a bookcase, for the men did enough reading on the job, and their wives had neither the time nor the interest. Beer was the drink, rarely whiskey, and some families who had served overseas were [295] addicted to Tuborg, Heineken or Asahi Black, even though those imported brands cost more.
The families were curious affairs, close-knit emotionally but wildly divergent socially, in that members, from long experience in military families that moved constantly, even from continent to continent, had learned to shift for themselves and each individual for himself. Thus, the young fathers tried to play the role of the stern paterfamilias, and a reasonable discipline was maintained in the home, but the youngsters found their own diversions and went their own way in many things.
There was a wide variety in family styles, from the rigor of the Marine colonel and his Michigan wife to the slap-happy freedom of the Claggetts, but in the entire group, so far as Penny could discern, there was not one crybaby wife, not one would-be superman husband. They were not necessarily well adjusted, but they were ... well, she could only borrow her husband’s favorite word-professionals.
It was almost laughable, however, to watch these wandering families, these rootless pilots, suddenly trying to play Horace Homeowner, with carpenter’s tools, paintbrush and lawnmower. Pax River, at the time, had seventy-one test pilots, and only four of them had ever owned a house before. Now two-thirds of them did, and the transformation was a shock.
Penny was joking about this one night during a weekend visit, when she suddenly burst into tears, her trim businesswoman façade racked by sobs. “John, I want us to buy a house. There’s one for sale at Town Creek, and I want us to have it.”
“Why? We’d never live in it.”
“John,” she blubbered, “it’s the normal thing to do.”
He drew her into his chair and kissed her many times, stroking her pretty legs and saying, “We won’t be here long, Penny, and-”
“None of the others will be either, but they all have homes.”
“And when we’re reassigned it’ll be difficult to sell-”
“It’s difficult for the others. But I notice they always find a buyer, somehow.”
“It would be a waste of our money, with you in Washington-”
[296] “I’ve saved the money,” she said grimly, leaving his chair. “I’ll buy the house. I’ll sell it, and I’ll make money doing it.
“With you in Washington-”
“Stop saying that! You and I are a family. And a family should own a house. And even if we do have to move around, we’ll keep the house. It’ll be our permanent anchor.”
John could not prevent a guffaw. “You ever lived in southern Maryland in the summer? You ever live here in the winter, for that matter? Now get to bed.”
When they were under the covers she snuggled close to him and whispered, “I have enormous respect for Debby Dee Claggett. I’d want to be a better housekeeper than she is, but I could never be a better mother. Do you know that she’s three years older than her husband?”
From Monday through Saturday noon, week after week, John Pope experimented with planes about to be purchased in large lots by the United States Navy, and he came to be recognized by the high command as “The guy who will fly anything.” He was especially appreciated by the manufacturer’s representatives for the extremely thoughtful reports he submitted after each flight, for he seemed to become one of them, a man desperately interested in the success of every model he tested, and after one long spell of intense application, even Claggett, the most professional of the test pilots, had to warn him: “Remember, John, the plane doesn’t love you. If it’s a clinker, say so, reject the damned thing.” But Pope felt that any plane which had matured to the point of having actually been built, even if only three prototypes were in existence, was worth saving.
His attitude was tested one morning when Captain Penscott asked him and Claggett to give two problem planes a workout. “Pope, you take the F3H up for maximum maneuvers, and you, Claggett, take the F7U, to serve as the target plane.”
“I don’t fly the F7U,” Claggett said in a low, respectful voice.
“Why not?”
“Because it’s pitifully underpowered and has killed too many good men.”
Are you afraid to fly it?” Penscott asked, and deathly [297] silence engulfed the ready room, because for anyone to challenge Randy Claggett’s courage was preposterous. He had flown more different types than anyone on the base, and in more different kinds of dangerous assignments and weather. He had taken the most tentative planes aloft and given them the most punishing analysis, often finding himself in perilous situations from which only his iron will saved him, and if three new planes arrived tomorrow on a barge, too dangerous to fly, he would want to give each a whirl.
But he had satisfied himself that the F7U, this bastard son of a heroic father, was unacceptable, and he would bother with it no more. His friends had lost their lives in this plane for reasons which he had outlined before their accidents occurred, and one of the finest squadron commanders the Navy had ever produced had been broken because of his rebellion against sending his young men aloft in this Gutless Cutlass, and Claggett felt that this was enough. Now he was being asked if he was afraid to fly it.
“Yes,” he said. “I am afraid.” And without permission he walked quietly from the ready room.
Captain Penscott faced an extremely difficult decision; at Pax River a man could be a full Navy captain in charge of testing, with all the power that that implied, yet be less significant than the top pilot who was actually taking the questionable planes aloft. Penscott could dismiss a newcomer who showed signs of weakness, but he could not discipline the best pilot of them all because he refused to fly a plane that had been proved to be a killer.
He made a command decision: “Pope, will you fly the F7U as target?”
“Yes, sir.”
“Find Claggett and tell him he’s to fly the Screamin’ Demon.”
“Yes, sir.”
So over the Chesapeake, two of the finest test pilots in America, in two fearfully disappointing planes, performed every prescribed maneuver, with the target F7U performing like a masterpiece and the pursuing F3H attacking it with vigor, but in the routine return to base, Pope’s F7U began to lose stability, and the first to notice it was Claggett in the pursuing plane.
[298] “John, this is Randy. I had that once. Pull back, old man.”
When this failed to produce the necessary correction, Claggett said, “John, it looks like your left aileron. Adjust!”
Again there was no improvement, and now the F7U was in real trouble, heading for a disastrous spin at only a thousand feet above the water.
“John,” came the quiet voice, “Try a tight turn left.”
The headstrong plane ignored this correction and gained speed in a pronounced spin to the right, a vertiginous and twisting drop, and now Pope heard nothing, not Claggett’s voice, not the tower, not even the plane itself. Patiently, methodically, without a shred of panic, he ran down the final items on his mental checklist, the one prepared months ago after long discussions with men who had fought this wayward plane, and as it was about to crash into the Chesapeake, he made the last corrections, pulled its nose up, and set it level for safe landing at Pax River.
When he delivered the F7U to the ground crew, he walked soberly to the ready room, where he and Claggett wrote seven pages of summary comment on the deficiencies of this plane, betraying no hysteria but specifying fact after fact which condemned it. And when Claggett was finished with that job, just as thoroughly and just as negatively, he spent two more hours reporting on his F3H. For duty of this caliber they received $429 a month.
 
If John Pope tried to ape the high professionalism of Randy Claggett, he also found delight in adopting the Texan’s major bad habit. He had become a goody-grabber, eager to take the Pax-Jax-Lax route to anywhere, so he was delighted one Sunday evening when Claggett called him in bachelors’ quarters with the news that General Funkhauser, one of the honchos at Allied Aviation in Los Angeles, wanted a consultation on the F6Q-1, which was approaching the time when prototypes would be coming into production.
“Pick you up at the landing, 1900,” Pope said, and when in the evening darkness a special run of the wheezing launch brought Claggett across the river, John was waiting in his Mercury convertible. With the top down, the two pilots roared along dark Maryland roads to Washington National Airport.
[299] “I don’t like asking you to fly commercial, especially a night trip,” Claggett apologized, “but all I could get was Government Transportation Request, so we’re taking United.”
They boarded one of the last flights out of National and droned westward to St. Louis, where they would change to a more powerful four-engine job that would carry them to Los Angeles. Pope dozed on the flight west of Denver, but Claggett excused himself: “I’m gonna make a serious run at the redheaded stewardess.” And toward morning, when Pope looked toward the vacant seats at the rear of the plane, he saw Claggett and the redhead necking.
They landed at Los Angeles at 0600, grabbed a rented car, and stormed along the superhighways toward Pasadena, where General Funkhauser and his aides would be waiting. They stopped for a leisurely breakfast of coffee and eggs, then pushed ahead to Allied Aviation.
They talked with tremendous concentration all morning, ate a lunch of salad and rye crisp, then worked with the engineers all afternoon. At 1700 they were back in their rented car heading for the airport, where they had a fish dinner before boarding the United Airlines Red-Eye Special for the all-night flight back to Washington. There they jumped into the convertible at 0800, roared down to Pax River, and reported to the airfield.
Claggett spotted a new arrival, a WFZ, about which he was curious, so he walked quietly over to the plane and asked the pilot, “How do you start this bundle of bolts?” After he had checked the intriguing new system he asked, “Any peculiarities I should know about?”
With that he took the new plane into the air, flew high over the blue waters of the Chesapeake and far above the Atlantic at Wallops Island. When he landed, he asked for the original pilot and compared notes for about an hour. Then he wrote his report, entered the new plane in his Logbook, jumped in his ancient Chevy, drove to the landing, crossed in a rainstorm, got into his even more decrepit second Chevy, drove to the Solomons barrack, kissed his wife, and fell asleep for sixteen hours.
The two men would accept any chance to travel, but what they enjoyed most was any trip to Edwards Air Force Base in California, because they knew that when they landed at that vast salt flat they were in the presence of [300] their peers, the finest Air Force test pilots. Here Chuck Yeager had broken the sound barrier in powered flight and Joe Engle had flown the X-15 almost out of the atmosphere to a height of 280,600 feet.
One had to respect the work done at Edwards, but at the same time one had to be always alert to defend the equally fine accomplishment at Pax River. The difference was this: an Air Force airplane, taking off and landing on fields of immense dimension, could be an ultimate flying instrument, the only consideration being the ideal combination of flight, altitude, speed and maneuverability. Wings could be wide or narrow, as the probable mission of the plane dictated. Weight could be minimal, every component honed to the vanishing point. Anything could be altered to provide greater combat effectiveness, and the speed at landing could be 250 mph if that’s what the combination produced.
But as Pope explained one night in the mess at Edwards: “A Navy plane is bound by so many restrictions, you wouldn’t believe it. Weight? Not a single Air Force plane I’ve seen could be used aboard a carrier, because if we soldered a restraining hook to the bottom of one of your birds, the girders necessary to absorb the shock of that sudden stop would be missing. When she lands, bottom of the plane gets torn off.”
Claggett, who loved his excursions to Edwards, enjoyed especially this arguing with the Air Force types: “You take the F4U, that marvelous plane the Marines used in World War II. Did you know that its wings folded? So it could be stacked on deck. You put folding wings on an F-105 and you couldn’t get it off the field.”
The two Navy men rarely made much headway in their arguments with the hotshot Air Force fliers, and one night Claggett, in some irritation, said, “I’m not sure that many of you clowns could qualify for landing on the deck of a carrier.”
“We can fly anything with wings,” a taciturn man from Tennessee called Hickory Lee said, “or even nubs of wings.”
The argument grew furious, with Claggett describing the difficulties his Marines had experienced in transferring their high caliber of land flying to the carrier Essex off Japan in 1945. “I want you apes to listen, and Pope can verify what I’m sayin’ because it’s history. The Marines [301] sent one of their best contingents, nineteen fliers with top records and three weeks’ carrier familiarization. At the end of nine days flyin’ without ever seein’ an enemy plane, what were the results? Seven pilots dead, one more drowned off the bow end. Seventeen F4Us lost at sea or completely wrecked.”
The Air Force men were attentive, and Claggett added, “In those same nine days Navy pilots, making far more takeoffs and landings, lost not a single man. Dented not a single fender.”
At this point the argument grew so heated that Claggett stomped out of the mess, uncharacteristically leaving the fight, but after he had made a quick deal for some large cans of white paint, he returned quietly to summon Pope, and together the two men went out to a hard-surface runway and sketched in bold sloppy strokes the outlines of the landing deck of a medium-sized carrier. The work was arduous, requiring much stooping over, and far from accurate, but toward midnight, when they were satisfied with the results, they returned to the mess, where this fellow Hickory Lee was still arguing. Smeared with white paint, the two Navy men challenged the locals to a contest: “I want you apes out there at 0600. I got me two colored paddles and I’m gonna be your landin’ officer, and I wanna see if you clowns can even hit the deck, let alone land on it.”
At dawn the pilots assembled, and the Air Force men were astonished at how minute their target was going to be, but Claggett bellowed, “All right, Lee, take her up!” And when the Tennessee captain sped his F-104 down the runway and high into the clouds, he made a sweeping turn, straightened up, and came roaring down at the simulated carrier at whose stern Claggett waited with two paddles to represent a landing officer. Several things happened: the F-104 was so much lighter than the rugged Navy types that Lee could not slow it down the way Navy pilots did; he came in high and fast, searching for a long landing area on which to brake down after his wheels touched. Also, Claggett complicated things by jiggling his paddles more than necessary and flashing the okay-to-land signal just a trifle slow.
Lee slammed onto the imaginary carrier, applied his brakes heavily, and ran about a mile and a half off the [302] bow end. “You failed, you dumb sonnombeech” Claggett shouted. “You’re in three thousand feet of water.”
He invited the others to try their luck, and when they landed, brakes screaming, and overshot the carrier, the Air Force men appreciated what a tremendous shock they would have had to absorb in order to stop their planes in the indicated distance. Grudgingly they admitted that there might be something about carrier flight they had not fully appreciated, but the trials continued, a gang of grown-up kids playing with toys that cost $3,000,000 each.
“You all flunked,” Claggett said at breakfast, “and even so, it wasn’t a fair test, because I couldn’t simulate one thing. On a real carrier, just as you approach the stern, the ocean lifts the ship thirty feet in the air, you fly right into the rolling edge, and we never see you or your plane again.”
The Air Force men liked Claggett; they respected the intense professionalism he displayed in all he did, so that Pope was not surprised when, at the conclusion of one test period at Edwards, some of the older Air Force types rose formally at the end of an evening meal and informed Randy that he had been selected for membership in the most exclusive flying club in the world, the Society of Airplane Test Pilots. Claggett, obviously proud of the honor, reverted to Texas hillbilly, to the delight of the pilots: “To peripherize the words of a great Confederate gineril, ‘If nominated, I ain’t gonna run, and if elected, I ain’t agonna serve, and if you-all try to put me in one of them newfangled F-100 series, I’m agonna gallop right acrost that there desert.’ ”
But the Pax-Jax-Lax tour that Pope remembered with greatest pleasure came when he finagled a four-week reciprocal visit to England’s test center at Boscombe Down, which lay southwest of London near the cathedral towns of Salisbury and Winchester. There, in the gray clouds that hung over the English Channel; he tested the sophisticated aircraft being developed by the English experts, and whenever he discovered something he did not like or which seemed second class, he noted it but was hesitant about voicing his negative opinion too strongly, because he remembered that it was on this field and others like it that the Spitfire was tested; it had everything wrong about it except its fantastic maneuverability and its [303] stubborn capacity to absorb punishment and still shoot down the Luftwaffe in staggering numbers.
He liked the British pilots, with their painstaking and sometimes creaking traditions, and he had to respect the severity with which they went about their work, but the highlight of his tour came when Penny cabled that her committee was sending her to England to look into negotiations regarding shared British-American facilities, and after her work in London she would be heading for Boscombe Downs. John consulted with his English pilots as to where she might stay, and they recommended the Boar and Thrush, a small inn from which the tower of Salisbury cathedral could be seen across the plains, and there the Popes spent one of the happiest weeks of their lives. Using her committee expense account, Penny rented a sports car, and in it they explored the glorious countryside: Salisbury, Winchester, Plymouth, the Hardy country, the prim majesty of Bath, and the spot that moved John most deeply, that circle of massive monoliths at Stonehenge, for when he saw this mysterious relic of four thousand years he imagined himself one of the ancient astronomers who oriented it, and he insisted that they wait there among the rolling hills until the evening stars appeared, so that he could check the accuracy with which the great stones were aligned.
“I have never been happier,” he said. “I have the best job in the world. I work with the best men. And I sometimes imagine it will go on forever.”
Penny replied that she felt that she had the best job possible: “To be at the center of things. To feel the changes coming on so fast. I suspect that Glancey and Grant will be reelected forever, and I’ll stay at their right hand doing the work.”
They were an unusually handsome pair, there in the shadows cast by the great stones; they were both thirty years old, both slightly underweight, both of medium height and fine appearance, and they were both straight arrows, attuned to jobs which they took seriously and which demanded their best. Their future prospects were illimitable; they were in love; and they were spending their vacation in one of the gentlest areas of the world.
Penny saw in the English papers that three choral societies were uniting for a program in Winchester [304] Cathedral, and with the help of women at the air base she arranged tickets for the Popes and an English couple whose husband flew with John. Somehow they jammed themselves into the sports car and trundled off to Winchester, where the united choir was a delight: boys of fourteen and elderly women of seventy, old men and round-faced young girls, singing the ancient songs of England and the best religious music.
John had little appreciation of the music but could enjoy the soaring architecture of the cathedral, and during intermission he found special pleasure in noting the numerous plaques set into the walls in commemoration of this or that English regiment which had served in India or Khartoum, but at the close of the second half of the program the choirs offered two encores that brought Pope right out of his seat. He had never heard either piece before, but with the aid of the brief explanation by the choir leader, he could immediately recognize their importance. The first began as a show piece for the baritones, who were then joined by all the voices; the words were a poem he did not know by a poet whose name he did not catch:
 
“And did those feet in ancient time ...”
 
The majestic thunder of the song made him want to cheer, and when the voices died away in prayer for a better day, he led the applause, hoping the chorus would repeat the song. Instead they closed with what the announcer said was one of the finest operatic choruses, which, like the first encore, had a solid religious base. It was the chorus of Israelites lost in their Babylonian captivity, dreaming of their homeland:
 
“Va, pensiero, sull’ ali dorate ...”
 
It was a perfect musical setting to words of deep emotion. and again Pope led the applause, watching with delight as the mixed choir bowed again and again.
Back at the Boar and Thrush he commissioned Penny to find copies of the two encores, and at the first music store she entered, an enthusiastic woman clerk interrupted as soon as Penny started humming. “Oh,” she said, [305] “That’s a grand hymn. Words by William Blake about 1800, music by Sir Hubert Parry about 1900, and the rousing arrangement by Elgar around 1915.” She blushed, then added in a whisper, “It became the marching song of the Labour party. My father’s Labour and he made me learn it.” She had three good versions of the hymn, but neither in this store nor in the others Penny visited could she find a recording of the second encore.
However, an older clerk who seemed to know a good deal about music told her that the chorus was from Verdi’s Nabucco, an opera almost never given. He thought that perhaps the chorus might have been put on discs by an Italian company, but could find no proof of this in any catalogue.
So the Popes had to be content with the William Blake song and a record player borrowed from the landlord at the Boar and Thrush, and for the last two mornings in England, Penny could hear her husband bellowing in the resonant bathroom:
 
Bring me my Bow of burning gold:
Bring me my Arrows of desire: ...”
 
When they returned to Patuxent River they found that Claggett had completed his tour and was taking command of an F8U-1 Marine squadron at Beaufort Air Base near Parris Island in South Carolina. At the farewell party on Solomons, after he had sold his two Chevys for $30 and $65, he took Penny aside. “You have a big job to do, Penny. When I leave, John becomes Numero Uno. Every pressure will be put on him to stay here at Pax River. Good living quarters. Great assignments.”
“Where do I come in?”
“You must drive him out of here. Don’t, don’t let that fine young man accept another tour here. That’s the graveyard. That stigmatizes him as a man without real drive. Get him busted free.”
“For what?”
“Goddammit, don’t give me that simple school-girl crap. You know damned well for what. For command. To get in line for the big jobs. Captain of a carrier. An admiral’s stripes.” He gripped Penny firmly by the arm. “You see it in the Senate. Some of the men forge ahead. Most stay on [306] the minor committees. Your man is destined to be a mover and a shaker. Don’t let him be sidetracked.”
“Are you destined to be a mover and a shaker?” she asked sarcastically.
“You bet your ass I am. And so are you.”
Claggett’s warning had been perceptive, for when he left Pax River, John Pope became the front runner, the true airplane driver admired by the incoming classes. He got the best assignments, worked most closely with the better manufacturers, but most important was the joy he continued to find in taking a new aircraft high above the peaceful Chesapeake and out over the turbulent Atlantic, testing it, pushing it, feeling it respond to his commands, and sometimes identifying terrible faults which would forever prevent the plane from gaining acceptance into the Navy’s arsenal.
Another man augered in, and John Pope was sent to notify his widow, then almost immediately thereafter still another, a young man who seemed destined to follow in the Glenn-Shepard-Claggett-Pope hierarchy of solid test pilots. Now he was gone, a white fish-gnawed corpse dredged out of his crashed plane at the bottom of the Chesapeake.
For some days Pope stayed off by himself, reflecting on the tremendous price the nation paid and would continue to pay so that it might have small, complex airplanes that could carry fighter pilots safely in defense of the country, or large, simplified aircraft that could transport huge numbers of people from place to place. The attrition was fearful, sometimes even sickening, so that Captain Penscott was safe in warning any incoming class of fifteen that “by this time next year two of you will be dead,” because invariably they were. In his gloom John wanted very much to talk with Penny, or to spend an evening with the Claggetts, but he was alone, and perhaps this was best because it forced him to sort out his ideas, and after three bad days he came back onto the line, choosing for himself the newest and most difficult planes.
He had one extremely close call, when the ailerons on a prototype failed to perform properly and he feared he might have to eject over the Chesapeake, but to do so would mean the loss of an aircraft, and this he could not [307] permit. So with sweat standing on his face, he wrestled the difficult plane into obedience; then brought it savagely back to base and slammed it onto the tarmac.
That afternoon, teeth grimly set, he took control of the area in which outlines of an aircraft carrier had been neatly painted on the tarmac, complete with landing signals and restraining gear submerged beneath the runway, and there he watched the new students bring their planes in for landings as near to the real thing as possible.
They would fly a long leg to the west, turn over the Patuxent River and come banging eastward toward the bay. At the proper moment they would begin their swift descent, watch the landing lights at the rear of the simulated carrier, drop very low, cut their engines and slam onto the deck, where cables stretched taut would catch at the dangling hook, stopping the heavy plane with a force of G’s that was unimaginable to one who had never experienced it.
After heckling the newcomers for two hours, Pope took one of the F6Q-1s up himself, made the long circuit, and came thundering down to the make-believe carrier. Reading the signals perfectly, he dropped his plane precisely on the deck, felt his hook grab, then experienced a wild sensation as the hook tore loose from the undercarriage, allowing the plane to skid at great speed down the tarmac on its damaged and collapsing wheels.
With automatic reflexes, Pope did everything possible to keep his plane from crashing wildly or turning over in flaming wreckage. Nine of the routine procedures proved useless, and he thought: We bought the ranch on this one. But when he wrenched the wheel violently to the left, some sorely damaged hydraulic system caught for a moment; the left wheel stayed upright and the plane came to rest in the middle of the tarmac.
Coldly, Pope climbed onto a wing, worked his way aft, and dropped to the ground. After surveying the wrecked plane for about half an hour, checking the points of failure, he let somebody drive him to the ready room, where he spent two hours writing his report on exactly what he thought had happened, with pen-and-ink sketches of where in his opinion the metal had failed. He concluded his report:
 
[308] The F6Q-1 is a fine airplane, very responsive under all conditions in flight and with remarkable maneuverability along all axes. If the hook can be strengthened, especially where it joins the empennage, I believe the plane will give a good account of itself.
 
He then spent four hours with the distraught representatives of Allied Aviation, and on succeeding days he devoted so much time to the field representatives that some of the old-timers, who had witnessed this phenomenon before, started the rumor: “Pope’s had it. Seven, eight nearmisses. Now he’s sucking up to Allied for a desk job in industry.”
One of the young fliers who had great regard for Pope’s impeccable record went to him with the rumor, at which Pope snapped: “You think I’m a desk type?”
“No.”
“Neither do I.” And when General Funkhauser flew in to check personally on the bad performance of his plane, Lieutenant Commander Pope refused even to see him, saying that his written report had to suffice.
Captain Penscott made apologies: “I’ve seen it a dozen times, Helmut. It’s called “end-of-the-skies syndrome.” A young tiger, flew anything with wings. His days here are numbered and he’s scared to death that from now on he’ll do no more flying. Desk job. Executive on a carrier.”
“A man like Pope can still fly, even at such jobs.”
“There’s flying, Helmut, and there’s real flying. They know the glory days are over. And it makes them edgy.”
 
For the past four years Norman Grant had been having a lonely time in Washington, for his wife no longer came to the capital even for brief visits, saying that she preferred staying in Clay, where she could supervise the education of their daughter, Marcia, now a headstrong high-school senior. It had been Mrs. Grant’s correct suspicion that Marcia would not thrive in Washington, and this became an added reason for avoiding the capital, but primarily she wanted to stay home to receive the urgent messages sent by Universal Space Associates, and the more deeply her husband became involved in space, the more she rejected everything he was doing, for she knew that the Visitors were going to assume control any day now; [309] their advanced technology, Dr. Strabismus warned, would make obsolete anything being attempted.
The senator dealt increasingly with what might be called “The space program,” even though no one in government had officially acknowledged that America needed a space program. Thoughtful men like Lyndon Johnson, Michael Glancey and Wernher von Braun did speculate on what the next practical steps ought to be, but their work had little real focus because most of the experimentation was being conducted in secret by the military.
In their discussions, the leaders were always apprehensive lest the space program become identified with the Democratic party, then in control of both houses despite the fact that the Republican Eisenhower had been reelected President by a huge majority. So whenever a consensus had been reached as to what must be done next, the men brought Norman Grant into their confidence and depended increasingly upon him for bipartisan support. At one informal meeting, when they disclosed some of their hopes for the future, Grant asked, “What cost figure would you propose for such a program?” And Majority Leader Johnson said, without apology, “About two billion.”
“Billion!” Grant exploded. “You’d be lucky if you could get two hundred million over a three-year period.”
“Norman,” Johnson said in his expansive Texas style, “we’re talking about a man-sized budget for a man-sized project for a man-sized nation.” And he outlined roughly his turbulent vision of the future: “New machines, new types of men flying them, new materials, new problems. It’s all going to change, Norman.”
It was at this meeting that Grant dug in his heels. Pointing his finger at Von Braun, he said sternly, “I’m not going to serve as errand boy to the Treasury to finance your grandiose playthings.”
With the suavity that had always marked Von Braun’s relationships with any authority which might have the power to veto his grand design of putting men into space, the German said quietly, “Senator Grant, it isn’t my plaything. It’s the world’s obligation, and there can be no turning back.”
“Simply because a thing can be done is no justification for doing it,” Grant said, “and certainly not at the cost you men propose.”
[310] Von Braun laughed warmly and said, “You’re entirely right, Senator. We never have to do something merely because it can be done. But you and I aren’t going to be the judge of that.”
“Who is?”
“Russia,” Von Braun said with iron in his voice. “Every report we get from behind the Iron Curtain confirms our fears that Russia will soon amaze the world with some bold move.”
“Like what?” Grant asked.
“I don’t know. But I think they have a capability of putting a nest of scientific instruments into earth orbit.”
“I can’t see that as revolutionary,” Grant said.
“And I would not be surprised if they followed with a man in orbit.”
“To what purpose?”
“To astound the world. To gain an enormous propaganda victory.”
When Grant demurred still further, Lyndon Johnson broke in: “Von Braun’s convinced me that if Russia succeeds ...”
“What do you want me to do?”
“Be prepared, Norman. I want you to think about these problems, because if Wernher is correct, and the Russians do perform some spectacular feat under the gaze of the whole world ... hell, we could be in hot water.” And then he lapsed into the Texas drawl he used when making a folksy point: “They was this rancher on the Pedernales and he didn’t have much of a herd, so he got his two sons to make imitation cow flops outen brown papier-mâché, and he placed hunnerds of ‘em aside the highway, and when my Uncle Sam Houston Richards asked the old man, “What you doin’, Clem?” the old man said, “Whether you got a herd or not, the neighbors better think you do.” When Russia makes its big move, Norman, we better be prepared to prove to the neighbors that we can match her.”
When Grant showed that he was not convinced about Russia’s capacity, the men convened another meeting at which two experts from the Russian desk at the Central Intelligence Agency made reports on the current state of their information, and both Glancey and Grant were astonished by what they heard:
“We have good reason to believe that Russia right now [311] has the capacity to throw a man into space and keep him there for several days.”
“How can you know that?” Grant asked.
“Workmen who report to us about launch and landing sites in Siberia.”
“Are they reliable?”
“Always have been. Also, we speak with scientists in Sweden who monitor the skies, and with the world’s best detection devices at Jodrell Bank in England. Bits and pieces, but each confirms the other.”
“And you think Russia has the ability to do what Von Braun predicts?”
“We can reach no other conclusion.”
Grant rose and moved about the room, as if preparing himself for his next question. “Tell me in simple terms, what would it mean if Russia did put a little machine in space? Or a big one with a man?”
Intuitively, everyone turned to Von Braun, who had been contemplating just this situation for nearly thirty years, and a bland smile came over his large features. “The world will be turned upside down. It will be told by Moscow that this proves the superiority of Communism, and where space is concerned, Moscow will be right, and the world will know it.”
Grant asked the CIA men what they thought, and they agreed that the propaganda victory would be immense. “We’d be on the defensive in every country in the world. Can’t you hear them chiding us? ‘You said you were world leaders, but in reality you’re world followers.’ I assure you, Senator, it would be a disaster.”
“And the very next day,” Johnson predicted, “you and I and Glancey would rush into the Senate and approve a House bill for five billion dollars ... to catch up. That’s why I plead with you to help us now, before the event.”
Grant was a conservative Western senator with broad experience in the military, and he suspected that this was all part of a tactic to scare and get funds, so he asked, “If Russia is so far ahead of us, and we’ve been spending so much money these last few years, why in hell are we so far behind?” He glared at Von Braun.
“But we aren’t!” Von Braun cried. “Two years ago we could have propelled an object into space. At Wallops Island our multiple-stage rockets-”
[312] “Wait a minute!” Grant interrupted. “There’s an expert from Wallops Island in Washington right. now. I think Mrs. Pope will know how to catch him.” And when Stanley Mott was presented to the informal committee, Grant said, “Mott, we’ve been told that Wallops had the capacity, some time ago, to loft a device into earth orbit. Is that correct?”
“We think so, sir.” And he told them of that Wallops launch the previous January when Levi Letterkill voiced his guess that if all five rockets of the Honest John + Nike + Nike had fired directly upward, orbital velocity of 16,029 mph would have been achieved.
“That was Letterkill’s guess,” Grant snapped. “Anyone can make a guess.”
“But later he ran his figures through the computer. Three days’ intensive analysis. And he proved conclusively that Honest John could have done it.”
“And America would have had a satellite in orbit?”
“Yes, sir.”
“How sure are you of your data?”
“Letterkill’s one of our best men.”
“Were you satisfied with his figures?” Grant asked.
“Gentlemen,” Mott said with his customary caution, “I can only give an opinion.”
“That’s why we asked you here,” Grant snapped.
“We could have gone into orbit.”
Grant threw down his pencil. “Damn it all, if Von Braun in Huntsville knew we could do it, and this Letterkill at Wallops knew it, and you knew it, Mott, why in hell didn’t we do it?”
Von Braun did not speak, nor did Mott, although each knew the answer. Grant, disgusted by what he was hearing, glared at Lyndon Johnson, who deferred politely to Glancey, who frowned and said, “So you nominate me to be the bastard? All right.” Clearing his throat, he said, “If Dr. Von Braun was not a good soldier, he would tell you, Norman, that your Secretary of Defense, Charley Wilson, issued secret orders that no American rocket was to be thrown into space.”
“Good God, why not?” When no one answered, Grant fumed: “If a Russian space shot is so all-important, why haven’t we been first?”
Mott replied, “Direct orders from President Eisenhower.”
[313] “I don’t believe it,” Grant said, and he stormed out of the office, shouting at Mrs. Pope, “Tell the White House I’m on my way over.”
By good luck Charley Wilson, whose retirement from Defense had already been announced, was still in Washington and Grant had a chance to talk with both men. “They inform me, Mr. President, that Russia may be about to loft a scientific package of some kind into outer space.”
“Those fellows at NACA, they’re always dreaming something.”
“They’re like the military commanders,” Wilson said. “Using Russia to justify their request for more money.”
“They assure me, Mr. President, that if Russia gets there first, it’ll be a huge propaganda victory.”
“I’m sure they think so, Grant,” Eisenhower said with a look of gentle amusement. “But I can’t believe the world is going to get very excited over something not much bigger than a football going around the Earth.”
“I’ve learned two things in this town,” Wilson said. “The military always wants more hardware and the scientists always want more money to study things like why dogs bark and why grass is green. You can’t ever satisfy them, and they never accomplish a damned thing.”
“Have orders been given to our team not to put anything into space?”
“They certainly have,” Wilson said. “We don’t want that can of worms opened up.”
“I judged it best,” Eisenhower concurred, “that we not trespass into areas about which we know so little. And if you think about it, Norman, you’ll agree.”
The two leaders, each so impressive in his early field of war or business, each so stalwart and responsible in his later work as a leader of government, walked Grant to the door, assuring him that Lyndon Johnson and Wernher Von Braun were fine men, but never to be taken too seriously in this matter of space. At parting, Eisenhower said, “Norman, keep a cautious eye on your committee. One of these days it’ll be needed, but it mustn’t go off half-cocked.”
So Senator Grant returned to the room where Mrs. Pope was collecting stray papers to be burned, and told her, “It’s reassuring to talk with the President. He puts things in perspective.” And at that moment, late afternoon at Jodrell [314] Bank in England, a British scientist who specialized in monitoring Russian activity telephoned one of the CIA men who had testified earlier in the day with information that “Something happened in Siberia this morning, Position L, nothing big. We can’t decipher it, but for sure, something was tried.”
 
That summer of 1957 was, in Elinor Grant’s judgment, one of the most exciting periods of world history, for as she explained to her eighteen-year-old daughter Marcia: “The Visitors have been extremely displeased with the way President Eisenhower has dragged his feet in the takeover, and on three separate and distinct occasions they’ve been about to invade Washington and have been stopped only because Dr. Strabismus has intervened.” She had the telegrams to prove it. The most recent stated:
 
Last week the Visitors held a plenary session in a spaceship off Morocco, which I was privileged to attend. Two members of Eisenhower’s cabinet, who are in reality Visitors implanted there long ago, joined me in persuading the Visitors to delay for one more brief respite their planned takeover. I can state with ultimate authority that it is now scheduled to take place the first week of October. The precise date will be sent you later.
 
LEOPOLD STRABISMUS
Universal Space Associates
 
Marcia recalled with amusement that the implanted Visitors had originally been “one Washington official with access to President Eisenhower,” but had quickly become “one of the President’s intimate advisers,” then “a member of the Cabinet,” and now “Two members of Eisenhower’s Cabinet,” and she speculated on what kind of charm Strabismus might possess to enable him to seduce her mother so outrageously, but in mid-July the world-famous scientist, as his brochures described him, came personally to Clay to solicit further funds for the impending plenary session of the Visitors, the one which would determine pretty much how the United States would be governed after the takeover.
[315] He was heavier now, thirty-two years old, with a beard increasingly handsome. He wore his black hair combed straight back and it emphasized the white suits he preferred in summer, and this offset his dark eyes, whose effect he strengthened by a judicious use of mascara. But his salient characteristic was the growing self-confidence that surrounded him like an aura; experience had shown that he could do anything, defend even the most outrageous fraud, and gain increasing support from the very people he was bilking. He had charisma, as carefully nurtured as delicate plantings in a spring garden, and his only problem now was how best to capitalize upon it.
“It’s essential that I be in attendance,” he told Marcia and her mother as he sat with them in their sunny reception room, “because the fate of outstanding citizens like the senator will hang in the balance. It stands to reason, doesn’t it, that superior though they are, the Visitors will have to depend upon some of our citizens to help them govern, and it might as well be Senator Grant as some boob from New Jersey.” And then he turned his dark eyes full upon Mrs. Grant. “Or you, Mrs. Grant. The Visitors are certainly not going to discriminate against able women.”
Brazenness like this captivated Marcia, and speculating on just how brazen he would dare to be, she started to watch him intensely, and he decided that the target on this visit was not the mother, whose limitations he understood, but the very pretty daughter whose capabilities were as yet unknown. Marcia was a petulant girl that summer, entered in the university but displaying no unusual promise except for her striking beauty. She was taller than her mother and slimmer, and her unblemished complexion testified to the care she gave it. She wore her hair attractively long, with two plaited braids behind her ears, and these she decorated with small blue ribbons that matched nicely her blue peasant’s skirt-which flared, when she moved suddenly, to display her fine legs.
Dr. Strabismus noticed the legs, and with never a word spoken between them, the great scientist and the senator’s daughter launched a courtship which proceeded with deepening import as the three talked about the impending invasion. The doctor was meeting with financial disappointment, for as Mrs. Grant explained: “The senator has closed out our joint account. He became quite infuriated [316] over that last check, so I no longer have access to money which is half mine, by rights.”
“Indeed it is,” Strabismus agreed. “But didn’t you tell me last time that you had personal funds ... from your father? Wasn’t he a distinguished ...”
“Farmer. Yes, he did leave me an inheritance, but I’m saving that for Marcia when she marries.”
Dr. Strabismus smiled at Marcia and said that this was an excellent idea, most prudent, but in view of the culminating importance of the impending meeting, and its special importance to them through the position in the new government which her father might obtain, did they not agree that a contribution now might be the best way to protect Marcia’s future?
While Mrs. Grant flustered this way and that, trying to find an answer, Marcia stared directly at Dr. Strabismus in her sultriest manner, as if to say: “I know you’re a fraud, an outrageous fraud, and if I had you alone for two minutes, I’d have your pants down.” He smiled right back, as if to say: “Well, we know one another, and if I had you alone for two minutes, I’d have your panties off completely.”
It was Mrs. Grant’s opinion that she and Marcia could spare, at most, $1,500 of the latter’s inheritance, and for this Strabismus thanked them profusely, then with masterful skill maneuvered so that Marcia could drive him back to his motel in her Pontiac, and six minutes after he got her there, they were in bed, wildly, joyously.
“You’re the most cunning fraud,” she whispered into his beard.
“And you’re the sexiest kid on the block. You’re ready for California, Marcia baby.”
“My parents would never let me ...”
“You don’t have to tell them.”
“They are a pitiful pair of jerks, aren’t they?”
Strabismus preferred not to answer, because he knew that Mrs. Grant was no worse than other flighty women who supported him, and that while Senator Grant was largely ineffective, he was not a public disgrace like some congressmen he had heard of. Most of the girls who flocked to California to share in the adventures of space with him were convinced that their parents were imbecilic, and he [317] supposed that this was a national sickness upon which a clever man could capitalize.
She laughed. “In effect, I’m paying you fifteen hundred dollars of my own money for this toss in the hay.”
“And it’s worth every penny, isn’t it?” Marcia agreed that it was, and when next day Dr. Strabismus met with Senator Grant’s two women, he warned them: “Remember! The takeover occurs without any chance of postponement during the first week of October.”
When the senator returned from Washington, Mrs. Grant showed him the October letter from USA, mailed in mid-September to speed donations, and he slumped into a chair to read every word of this amazing document, trying desperately to fathom how his wife could believe such transparent rot. When she told him that her cooperation had assured him a job with the new government, he exploded: “Are you losing your mind, Elinor?”
“No. And when Dr. Strabismus visited here Marcia liked him. too.”
“Where is she?”
“She’s gone to California. To visit school chums.”
“Where in California?”
“Los Angeles, I think.”
“Good God! Don’t you see what’s happened? He’s enticed her out there, and you know what that means.”
“Norman, that’s unworthy! Just because you can’t see what’s happening about you ...”
He called the FBI in Washington, and within two hours had confirmation that one Marcia Grant, rumored to be the daughter of Senator Grant, was living with Dr. Strabismus and helping address letters in the two-room office of Universal Space Associates.
“What have you done to your daughter?” he cried when he told his wife the ugly news.
“Spies,” Mrs. Grant snorted. “They’re trying to protect an old regime from the revolution that’s about to overtake the world, and they’ll say anything to save their skins.”
 
In the middle of September, Marcia returned sheepishly to Clay, entering her university classes two weeks late; when her mother tried to interrogate her about Strabismus, she broke into tears, then entered into a series of [318] passionate dates with a football player.
The three Grants were at home in Clay when the urgent telegram arrived on the first of October warning them to be extra attentive during the coming week because the intentions of the little Visitors were not at all clear:
 
But I can assure you that events of supreme importance threaten, and we must all be prepared. I wish I could be more specific, but the Visitors are extremely impatient with President Eisenhower, and I cannot predict what they might do.
 
The senator was so disturbed by this nonsense that he called the Secret Service to see whether it constituted a criminal threat to the President, and they dispatched from their Chicago office an operative wise in American ways to consult with Grant:
 
“America’s full of kooks, probably three in every hundred. Political, economic, religious, the world-is-ending gang. You ought to see the stuff that reaches our desk. Unbelievable. If we tried to track down all the wild ones in orbit, we’d need a force ten times as large, and even then we’d cover only the fringe. This is a nation of zanies held precariously in check by the sane majority.”
 
When Grant showed him the actual telegram, the Secret Service man laughed. “This is tame. We know Strabismus well. Compared to the others, he’s sane. Works rackets on widows. Has a sweet tooth for girls one day older than sixteen. He provides amusement, I suppose, and does minimum harm.”
“Can he be held in any way for stealing money? A good deal of money?”
“From your wife?”
“Yes.”
“She gave it to him of her own free will and accord, as the legal saying goes.”
“How do you know?”
“I could guess what it was when you called, and I checked the bank records. Twenty-one thousand dollars plus, and every cent legal.” Then he spoke as father to father. [319] “Senator, your girl came home, didn’t she” if she’s free of VD and not pregnant, you’re a lot luckier than some families. Take my advice, drop the case.”
When the first three days of October passed without incident, Mrs. Grant grew apprehensive, for she had convinced herself that this time the Visitors really would arrive, and she believed that because of her faithfulness, they would invite her to help in governing. She was forty that year, with a long life ahead of her, and she welcomed the arrival of the little men and the better world they promised.
Family problems reached a crisis on Friday when the three Grants dined together and the senator proved powerless to combat his wife’s reckless slide into unreality. “I forbid you to give that charlatan another penny of Marcia’s money.”
“I’m doing it to protect her position in the new world ... and yours, too, I might add.”
“Can’t you see he’s a charlatan?”
“Don’t keep parroting that word,” Mrs. Grant screamed, and she would have rushed from the table had not her daughter reached out to take her hand.
“Mother,” Marcia said. “we all know he’s a fraud.” And while she continued to hold Elinor’s hand she recited the facts: the two mangy rooms, Mr. Ramirez and his forgeries, the young girls who trekked in from various parts of the nation. “You might as well know the truth. He kicked me out when a girl sixteen years old came in by bus from Oklahoma.”
Mrs. Grant drew her hand away and stared straight ahead, refusing to hear these calumnies, but Marcia was now relentless. “Research? He dreams up everything. He has a staff of one, himself. And s for travel to Morocco, the only trips he takes are to towns like this to steal money from women like you.”
Mrs. Grant remained very erect, hands in lap, then said gently, “I hope you’ll be forgiven when the Visitors arrive tomorrow or Sunday. God knows, I’ve done all I could to protect you.”
At that moment the phone rang. It was Michael Glancey from Washington with news that would soon astound the nation: “Norman, turn on the television. Hear it for yourself”
 
[320] “The Soviet Union has announced, and observers at England’s Jodrell Bank confirm, that Russia has today placed in orbit about the Earth a satellite they call Sputnik. It makes a complete circuit of the Earth every ninety minutes and is broadcasting a series of clearly heard radio signals in code as it moves swiftly through the sky. It is the world’s first adventure into space.”
 
“The world has nothing to do with it,” Elinor said rhapsodically. “It’s the little Visitors ... on the day he predicted.”
Marcia had to smile. “Strabismus! That lucky son-of-a-bitch!”


V
INTELLECTUAL DECISIONS
IF America had been laggard in its exploration of space, despite the recommendations of its premier minds, it displayed an astonishing determination to catch up once the Russians had led the way, but before effective steps could be taken, intellectual choices of the most excruciating complexity had to be made in the areas of management, finance, personnel, and above all, engineering and science. From October 1957 through June 1962 some of the best intellects in the nation grappled with these matters and strove desperately to make the right choices.
President Eisenhower and Congress faced three tremendous problems: Should space be controlled by the military, since they could use it effectively against an enemy? Should it be financed by creating a bold new agency like the Atomic Energy Commission, which had masterminded the atomic bomb? If men were to fly in space, from what pool of volunteers should they be chosen?
The nation’s scientists and engineers had their own mind-breakers to solve: What kind of machine should be launched into space? Since ordinary compasses would be of no use, how could this machine guide itself to the Moon or the planets? Was the Moon a solid body on which men could walk, or was its surface composed of dust into which they would disappear? And suppose the round trip proved feasible, how could the returning vehicle make its way [322] back through the terrible heat of reentry without burning up?
Penny Pope started to tackle her duties one minute after she heard the news report about Sputnik. Dashing in to Senator Glancey’s office, she called Senator Grant in Clay, and by conference phone the two senators talked with Lyndon Johnson, who had been informed by the CIA. Hurried meetings were arranged, which Grant joined as soon as an Air Force jet could fly him to Washington.
After the committee consulted by telephone with Dieter Kolff in Huntsville, Stanley Mott at NACA laboratories in Langley, and General Funkhauser in Los Angeles, the most urgent strategies were devised. Especially helpful was Wernher von Braun, who assured the senators that “America can have its own satellite orbiting the Earth in sixty days,” and when the committee checked with Kolff, this big-rocket man cried, “Thirty days.”
Accordingly, Penny scheduled a score of meetings whose purpose was to make decisions regarding America’s first flight into space, and each meeting was attended by the beep-beep-beep of Russia’s Sputnik as it sped across the United States in amazing obedience to the schedule announced in advance by the Moscow propagandists:
 
1932 hours: Above San Francisco, California
1933 hours: Above Reno, Nevada
1939 hours: Above Clay, Fremont
 
The Soviets had included the last location because they knew that Norman Grant, a major force in aviation and space groups in the Senate, lived there.
In these meetings, at which she served as rapporteur, Penny had a chance to observe the considerable differences that individualized Johnson of Texas, Glancey of Red River and Grant of Fremont. The first was a folksy wheeler-dealer who believed that absolutely anything was possible if reasonable men sat down to find a common ground from which to proceed; he simply would not accept defeat and could conjure a dozen dirty deals to avoid it; he had a personal vision of what the next few months would produce and an unquenchable faith that things would evolve as he wanted them to. Penny found his attempts at humor unbearably corny and she did not like the suggestive way  [323] in which he put his arm about her: “Now, honey, you jus’ call him and reason with him. He’ll come around.” But she developed an enormous respect for the man, for she realized that on him-and at times, on him alone-depended America’s space program.
Senator Glancey was her man, a hefty manipulator in his rumpled pin-stripe suits, his unkempt hair and his jutting Irish jaw bespeaking a bulldog tenacity. He had the ability to give rich people, whom he admired immensely, everything they wanted to ensure their financial support, while protecting the little people on any emotional issue, for their voting support. He was not a demagogue, but he did have an amazing aptitude for being highly visible on any issue which promised votes and deftly concealed on those which were likely to produce controversy. Like many Southwestern Democrats, he voted Republican most of the time but gave resounding speeches filled with references to Thomas Jefferson and Franklin D. Roosevelt. He had what many self-educated men like him acquired, a sure sense of American history and an abiding belief in the destiny of his country.
In the dark years when America accomplished nothing in space, he was convinced that this condition could not continue indefinitely, and Penny knew that it was due mainly to his prescience that the engineers at NACA and the scientists at Huntsville received the funds they needed to continue their work in obscurity. By now Penny recognized everything that was wrong about her senator-his drinking, his obsequiousness toward anyone with wealth, his pitiful eagerness to get even the smallest government installation located in Red River, and his willingness to trade away any position if it would gain him votes on something he profoundly believed in-and she had concluded that he was, all things considered, the best man in the Senate and the kind of politician she would probably be if she ever got the chance.
For Senator Grant, whose presence in the Senate was partially due to her inspired assistance, she had both awe and contempt. She knew from what Finnerty, Penzoss and Butler told her that he was a hero beyond compare, and she had observed his incorruptible deportment in the Senate: grave, thoughtful, fearfully conservative, always reluctant to take a major stand on anything, and totally [324] supportive of any bill that might aid the military, while remaining generally indifferent to the kinds of social-engineering bills which sometimes ignited Senator Glancey. Grant was a fine senator but his horizons were severely limited, and her contempt for him derived solely from the fact that he refused to grasp the opportunities which a secure seat in the Senate provided. Knowing him personally, she felt no hesitancy about challenging him on issues which she felt he misunderstood or on which he should have taken a stronger stand, and he felt no embarrassment in fending her off with an indulgent smile. It was on committee work that Norman Grant and Penny Pope formed a sturdy team, he the conservative Republican with growing leverage within his party, and she the super-efficient young lawyer whose spiked heels beat a rat-tat-tat as she hurried from desk to desk with essential papers.
It was significant that both Glancey and Grant thought of Penny as “my girl,” and each relied on her for major decisions, but whenever they used the word girl, she immediately corrected them: “You are not my boy. You’re a grown man and a United States senator. I’m a grown woman and the administrative director of a very important committee.”
It was Penny who convened six rocket experts, who cautiously decided: “We should be able to launch an American rocket during the second week in January with a strong likelihood of success,” and she circulated a memorandum establishing 14 January as the target date, but on 3 November 1957 Russia lofted into orbit Sputnik II, much larger than the first and containing a passenger, the dog Laika.
In panic, those preparing America’s response insisted that the launching be rushed forward to December or even the end of November, and they received lively support from those in charge of Vanguard, who assured them that their rocket was ready. But when the compromise date of 6 December was announced, Penny warned her senators: “Don’t be surprised if it flops. I know we’re not ready.”
However, the entire Senate committee, accompanied by their executive secretary, flew down to Cape Canaveral in Florida for the auspicious entry of the United States into the space age. They watched five miles away when [325] the Navy’s thin, frail Vanguard stood poised at the edge of the Atlantic Ocean, ignited with a roar, rose upward for one second, then collapsed in a wild and fiery explosion. And the radio, which should have been soaring into space, lay on the ground uttering a feeble beep-beep-beep while the whole world watched and listened in dismay.
“A shameful disaster,” one of the committee members wailed, and everyone who spoke to the senators reflected the same attitude. Even Glancey was disgusted, but Norman Grant, with that stubbornness which had characterized his behavior at Leyte Gulf, tightened his neck muscles and said, “Schedule the next shot as soon as possible.”
He was watching, grim-lipped, some weeks later when the second rocket collapsed with a pitiful moan, after a flight of six inches, and he listened bitterly when a naughty joke began to circulate: “How does an American space scientist teach his son to count? 7, 6, 5, 4, 3, 2, 1, oh ... hell.”
In Huntsville, Dieter Kolff heard the taunts and kept his mouth shut, but at night when he climbed the hill to his sanctuary on Monte Sano he hammered at the table “Ï and told Liesl in German, “It’s heartbreaking! They insist on showing the world the failure of their Vanguard. And all the time I have the Juno rocket that will do the work. It’s insane! Liesl, I’m chasing butterflies.”
She stopped what she was preparing for dinner and made instead a dish of salt pork, onions, caraway seeds and sauerkraut, but he was so distraught that he could not eat, and then she knew that he was assailed by severe depression.
 
These humiliating disappointments had no visible effect on Grant, and even less on Wernher von Braun when he appeared before the committee: “In one sequence at Peenemünde we tried to fire seventeen rockets, and fifteen failed. Often you learn more from a failure you can analyze than from an accidental success.”
“I’d settle for an accidental success,” Glancey said, but he knew that what Von Braun said was correct.
Penny Pope was impressed by the methodical way in which Senator Grant grappled with his chagrin over the televised collapse of the Vanguard, and she applauded when he announced President Eisenhower’s determination to conduct the forthcoming tests in full scrutiny of [326] the taxpayers who were financing it: “We’ll make our next attempt exactly as we made the last. All the television the networks want. All the foreign press that wish to come in-”
“There’s a Japanese reporter asking special privileges,” Penny interrupted. “Asahi Shimbun. Shall I encourage him?”
“He’s welcome,” Grant snapped. “Our war with Japan is over.” Then he turned to basic matters. “If we failed so badly with the Navy’s Vanguard, we won’t repeat that folly. We’ll go with that Juno rocket Huntsville’s been advocating, and the heads of NACA will inform the Alabama team immediately.” When Dieter Kolff learned of the decision he threw his hands in the air and exulted: “At last we have our chance!”
On 29 January 1958 the senators and Mrs. Pope were again in Florida, examining from a distance Kolff’s massive Juno rocket atop which sat the Explorer spacecraft, and as they watched through binoculars, they noticed that the palm trees nearby were beginning to bend in a heavy wind and they learned that at 40,000 feet up, this wind was blowing at such a speed that it would divert the rocket and make any ascent impossible. “A hundred and eighty miles an hour up there,” the meteorologists reported, so reluctantly the flight was scrubbed, and the disheartened committee returned to its motel.
On 30 January they were out again to study Juno and her historic cargo, but this time the winds rose to the savage speed of 235 miles an hour, enough to blow the rocket and the Explorer apart, so again the mission was aborted, and at dawn when the senators returned disconsolately to their motel, they saw that Penny Pope had tears in her eyes.
“It’s so damned unfair,” she said, pointing to a headline in an early newspaper she had collected: American Space Shot Phhhhhts Again.
Senator Grant took her into the motel bar, where he ordered a tonic water for himself, plain, and a beer for her. “Have you ever tried to guess how many failures the Russians must have had before they succeeded?”
“Do you like to wash your dirty linen in public?” she asked.
[327] “Failure in a technical process is not dirty linen. It’s inescapable.”
“You like our way better? This public ridicule?”
“I’m never afraid of public ridicule if I’m going to win in the long run.”
“And are we going to win?”
“Without a doubt.” He took a sip of his tonic water, then added, “Isn’t it reasonable to believe that our Germans are as good as their Germans?”
“You think men from Von Braun’s team did it for the Russians?”
“Who else?”
On the night of 31 January the winds subsided, and at 2030 hours word flashed through the Canaveral area: “Tonight we go!” But when the countdown reached 2145 hours, Dieter Kolff noticed a leakage of liquid fuel on the launch pad, and rumor circulated: “The launch is scrubbed,” and Penny could hear groans from the press area.
Dear God, she prayed, please let it go off on schedule. She felt that America could not tolerate another fiasco; the senators who backed the project with their reputations could not survive endless disasters. Please, God, she prayed.
The countdown was halted and it appeared that the launch would indeed have to be scrubbed, but suddenly Kolff broke from the blockhouse, ran forward, dropped face down, and started inching toward where the mighty rocket was throwing its fuel.
“Get back!” the safety crew bellowed.
“Kolff! It could blow at any minute!”
Stubbornly he kept crawling forward until he was directly under the massive engines. Then, tasting the spill, he returned to the blockhouse and smiled broadly. “Condensation. Nothing’s broken. Resume countdown.”
At 2245 hours the Peenemünde experts reached the pregnant sequence, 10, 9, 8, 7, 6, 5, 4, 3, 2, 1 ... There was a titanic flash as Juno’s engines roared into action, a mighty gasp as the multipart instrument rose in the air, and then a second burst of flame as those in charge signaled Kolff to arm the upper stages.
“There she goes!” Glancey shouted, and members of the “committee started to dance. Senator Grant caught Penny by the waist and lifted her in the air as she cried, “Thank [328] God, thank God.” But late that night when it was certain that the American satellite had attained orbit and was functioning even better than predicted, Senator Grant asked Penny to draft a cautionary note to President Eisenhower:
 
The policy you so wisely promulgated of doing everything under public scrutiny has succeeded admirably, but it is my duty to point out that we have put one satellite in orbit weighing 31 pounds, but Russia has put two, Sputnik I weighing 184.3 pounds, and Sputnik II weighing a huge 1,121 pounds. Most important of all, Sputnik II proved that a living thing could survive in space, so one must suppose that a Russian man will soon follow.
 
We are far behind, Mr. President. We are in military peril and we had better catch up. I am eager to talk with you about these matters.
 
Satisfied that it could get something into orbit, the nation turned its attention to the problem of how the space effort should be organized, and Senator Grant leaped eagerly into the debate: “The entire project must be turned over to the military. At installations like Redstone Arsenal in Alabama they have the capacity to do all that’s needed. Furthermore, they have the personnel and the managerial capacity to take giant leaps forward.” Many congressmen with military service supported his arguments, and one pointed out: “It’ll be easier to fund the effort through the military budget, because Congress is always eager to vote whatever military funds are needed and damned reluctant to give money to civilian science.” Grant made a final telling point: “President Eisenhower, himself a military man, will opt for military control.”
A group of powerful Western senators, having observed at firsthand how ably the Atomic Energy Commission handled large projects and even larger budgets, recommended that America’s space effort be governed by such a body: “We’ll have no scandals if we go that route.” And each of these senators had two or three personal friends they were eager to nominate as members of the commission when it was formed.
[329] Senator Glancey spearheaded a third group, ably supported by General Funkhauser, civilian leaders of the aircraft industry and many champions of private enterprise. These men argued that the entire project should be placed in the hands of existing private firms, since it was clear that the great industries of California had the expertise to do the job and the know-how to keep costs down. When Glancey became vociferous in his support of such thinking, he was sharply challenged by Grant:
GRANT: Why do you oppose the military?
GLANCEY: Because I’m in favor of the American way, private enterprise.
GRANT: When the security of the nation’s at stake, the military’s the one to be trusted.
GLANCEY: You control costs better if you rely on private enterprise. They have to make a profit.
GRANT: Cost is not a consideration when the safety of the nation-
GLANCEY: The same men are going to be making the decisions, whatever we select. If the Army fires Von Braun and his gang today, private industry will pick them up tomorrow.
GRANT: I am especially impressed by the need for security, secrecy if you will, in this field. The military knows how to handle that, the private sector doesn’t.
GLANCEY: You make too much of security. On most things we can work in the open.
GRANT: In this field, one of these days, security will be of the utmost importance. Believe me.
GLANCEY: For a few brief months, or even weeks. Then the whole world knows.
GRANT: But it could be precisely those weeks that might determine the fate of the world.
While such debate fermented, a group of scientists gathered to argue that the whole project could best be left in the hands of those who were going to provide the answers, and they urgently proposed that a national scientific foundation of some kind be formed to assume control. The outstanding part played by certain university laboratories in developing the atomic process was cited, and it was proposed that a consortium of MIT, Cal Tech, Chicago and Stanford could easily and effectively bring the space age into being, but the possibility that a gaggle of scientists [330] could organize anything, let alone supervise a budget, was so roundly ridiculed in the press, in Congress and in industry, all of whom depended upon science for their safety and advancement, that this proposal was quietly dropped.
That left a fifth possibility. Often in the early stages of the debate each of the four major claimants conceded that NACA was a possibility, with its three excellent centers at Langley in Virginia, Lewis in Cleveland, Ames out in California, but they always spoke with disparagement: “Of course, we have good gray NACA, but it’s never been capable of managing much.” The fact that NACA had always been governed by an unpaid board of dedicated scientists and engineers, without a visible and voluble spokesman, had worked against it. Also, its tradition of rarely spending all the money budgeted because its quiet leaders believed that any project ought to be cost-efficient, raised suspicions, for Washington felt that any agency which did not have huge overruns could not be doing serious work. And finally, since NACA worked closely with three segments of the society-the military, the private airplane industry, the academic community-it was perceived to be subordinate to all three and not a viable entity of itself. In the great debate, NACA did not have to be taken seriously.
When the contending parties threatened to disrupt the nation with their angry debate, one man stepped quietly forward and in his unpretentious way made a series of spectacularly right decisions which established the patterns for the space age. President Dwight D. Eisenhower had not shown much perception in his initial reactions to the space age, for he pooh-poohed the frenzy into which some Americans, including Glancey and Grant, had fallen: “Why be afraid of something not much bigger than a football?” But as the crisis deepened, so did his understanding, and he now summoned all parties to the White House where he confided that he was about to send a message to Congress that would settle the debate once and for all:
 
“Gentlemen, it’s decided. We’ll have a civilian space agency. But not private industry. Not a consortium of scientists. And not NACA. It will be a new agency built upon the old, using the best of everything we’ve got.
 
[331] “We’ll send a signal to the world that we intend to use space for peaceful means. We’ll work in the open, finance everything in the open, and accomplish wonders with the men and equipment we already have.”
 
Back in his office, Senator Grant was appalled by this decision: “The general can’t be thinking straight! I’ve got to head this off before a terrible mistake is made.” He asked Penny to arrange a private meeting with the President, at which he vigorously defended the military’s right to control space, and Eisenhower, knowing how important this hero could be in the months ahead, did his best to console him. “Norman, under my plan the military continues its secret work, as always. And if our civilians uncover anything of significance, your people will be the first to know. But I’m convinced that the exploitation of space must be left in civilian hands, and if you think about it, you’ll agree.”
With this assurance, Senator Grant became the Republican leader in shepherding the President’s proposal through Congress, and he and Mrs. Pope worked long hours through the spring and early summer, hammering out details and doing the kind of tedious work which underlies any good legislation. During one long weekend, when they worked with Senator Glancey over what they assumed were the last alterations in the bill, they were shocked when Lyndon Johnson stormed in with nineteen refinements he deemed necessary, and Grant was disposed to ignore them, but Glancey warned: “I’ve learned one thing in the Senate. Don’t ever ignore Lyndon Johnson, or he’s gonna nail your pelt to the barn door.” Seven of Johnson’s proposed changes protected the interests of Texas, one way or another, and all seven were adopted.
Since the Democrats had only a 49-47 margin in the Senate, the votes of Republicans were important, and now Senator Grant became a focal figure. When certain jingoists tried to force the proposed agency back into the military, he stood forth as the acknowledged military hero in Congress: “Ike’s the best commander in chief we’ve had since Teddy Roosevelt, and if he wants it in civilian hands, so do I.”
“Six months ago you were all for the military,” his critics pointed out.
[332] “Six months ago I didn’t know what I know now,” he said.
“Six months ago Ike hadn’t twisted your arm.”
“I suppose God gave us arms so they could be twisted,” Grant said.
Often at the end of the day he would be so exhausted that he wished only to wash his face in cold water, grab a quick sandwich somewhere, and plop into bed, but Penny, who worked even longer hours, would catch him heading for some fast-food outlet and argue: “Senator, you’ll destroy your digestion if you eat that junk. You must get yourself a decent meal-with vegetables and a salad.”
At such times he would suggest that she eat with him, and they were often seen in the unpretentious restaurants near the Capitol where senators, congressmen and staff from the Library of Congress ducked in for hurried meals. One evening, during an unusually leisurely meal, Penny noticed that Grant’s face seemed suddenly more lined, as if the burdens of office were weighing too heavily on him. “Senator, if you keep frowning like that, you’re going to be an old man ... next year.”
“I’m worried about Russia,” he said.
“Senator Glancey’s worried about Russia, too. But look at his face. Open, bland, not a wrinkle in the world.”
“All he worries about, really, is Red River.”
“He knows how to relax. You should learn.” When no comment was made, she asked, “More trouble at home?”
“That damned Strabismus. Mrs. Grant insists upon sending him all kinds of money.”
“Why don’t you stop it?”
“I have. My money, that is. But now she’s sending him her inheritance.”
“Isn’t there a law about fraud?”
“He commits no fraud. We’re powerless.”
“What’s going to happen?”
He pushed back his plate, tried several times to formulate a reply, then asked, “How do you and John work things out? I mean, with him not at Patuxent River any more?”
“Navy wives have always devised ways. Our men are gone, then they come back.”
“I think a good deal about marriage and home these [333] days, Penny. Is the way you live any kind of solution? I mean, the two careers? The long separations?”
Penny was now thirty-one, as compelling in appearance as when she first worked for him, and she could visualize the long decades that lay ahead. Speaking very slowly, she said, “John’s career would always come first, I’m sure. But it’s a broken one. Here, there. Asia, Mediterranean. I’ll adjust to it. But my career with you and Senator Glancey, that’s important too, and I feel sure that John will adjust to it.”
“It seems to me you’re trying a very difficult game.”
“For sure. And aren’t you doing the same?” When Grant evaded the question, she added, “You in Washington. Mrs. Grant in Clay. Are John and I any more separated than you?”
He picked at his food, then indicated to the waitress that she should take the plate away. “It’s not the same. Not at all. You two are working at major jobs ... making major contributions. Elinor and I are working at only one job, and she’s actually trying to tear down the sensible work of this nation.” He was not proud to be talking like this to an attractive young woman who was the executive secretary of his committee, and he knew the poor impression he must be making, but in recent weeks he had grown quite desperate-he overworking in Washington, his wife frittering away her life back home-and he needed help.
“Penny, would you consider flying out to Clay and talking sense to my wife?”
Without even a pause, Mrs. Pope laughed. “Senator, how foolish can you be? Surely you know that Mrs. Grant despises me. Charges me with having an affair with you. Or trying to.”
Grant clasped his hands over his belt and studied the restaurant table: “That’s one of her saner ideas. And not to be taken seriously.”
“I have to take it very seriously.”
Impulsively Grant asked, “Penny, how did you grow up to be so sensible? So strong?”
“I had a good, tough father and I married a good, tough man.” As soon as she said this she realized that her words were a condemnation of the senator, and she started to apologize, but he forestalled her: “Elinor had a fine father, [334] one of the best. As for me, I’m damned if I can see what I ought to have done differently. Except maybe stay at home and run a small office on Main Street.”
“I’ve thought about this a good deal, Senator. So have all the girls in your office.”
“And what have you gossips concluded?”
“That sometimes nothing can be done.” She shrugged her shoulders, then added, “Except throw this Dr. Strabismus in jail.”
“Did you know that Marcia’s out in California with him again? They’re building a big new center, and she’s a consultant. Nineteen years old and she’s an architectural consultant.”
“Now you have reason to go out and shoot him.”
“When I asked if you would go to Clay to talk with my wife ... of course I didn’t mean it. But would you fly out to Los Angeles and see if you could ... well, I mean ... save my daughter?”
“I’ll go tomorrow,” Mrs. Pope said, and although the battle for the space bill was nearing its apex, she arranged for others to do her work, taxied to the National Airport and flew to Los Angeles.
The address she had in her notebook led to the two shabby rooms from which Universal Space Associates held forth, but Dr. Strabismus was not there. Mr. Ramirez, supposing her to be one more silly woman in love with his employer, handed her a slip of paper directing her to a suburban hillside, where she found an imposing white building near completion:
 
University of Space and Aviation
Dr. Leopold Strabismus
Ph.D., LL.D., D.H.L. Chancellor
 
From the dusty roadway Penny watched as trucks rumbled in for the building she was sure would be called Old Main, and she was amused to discover that Strabismus, fraud though he was, longed for legitimacy. He was making a financial killing from his two shabby rooms but he wanted the respectability that would come from what others would accept as an honest university. She smiled, and her feelings toward him softened a little. Placing her hands to her mouth, she shouted, “Marcia Grant? Are you there?”
[335] Instead of the senators daughter, a tall, bearded, heavyset man appeared from one of the unfinished doorways, and as soon as he saw Penny, in her trim business suit with its white collar, he assumed that she was someone from Oklahoma or South Dakota who had been sending him money, and he stepped forward with a gracious smile and a big extended hand.
“Come right along, ma’am. This is where the university will be.”
“Dr. Strabismus?”
“Yes, indeed. And this will also serve as headquarters for our space research.”
“It’s quite grand, really.”
“And where are you from?” he asked solicitously.
“I’m here to speak with Marcia Grant, and if you’ll call her ...”
“Miss Grant is not here, unfortunately.”
He looked at Penny, suspicious now, and his manner changed abruptly.
“I think she is,” Penny said coldly, “and I’ll go find her.”
“This is a hard-hat area,” Strabismus warned, stepping quickly forward.
“You’re not wearing one.” She brushed past him and called, “Marcia! Marcia Grant!”
From a second door the slim, leggy young girl stepped forth in a kind of slouch, her beautiful face marked with a disapproving scowl. “What’s happening out here?”
“Marcia,” Strabismus shouted. “Go back!” But before the girl could obey, she recognized the visitor and cried, “She works with my father!”
With a powerful grip Strabismus caught Penny’s arm from behind and whipped her about. “What are you, a spy?”
“I’m an employee of the United States Senate,” Penny said quietly, “and if you don’t take your hands off me, I shall summon a federal marshal.” With her right hand she brushed him away, then proceeded through the dust to where Marcia waited, and when she reached the extremely attractive young woman she greeted her warmly. “I think we must talk.”
“Don’t go with her,” Strabismus cried, trying to intercept Marcia, and when the two women ignored him, he said menacingly, “Don’t touch my car!”
“We’ll go over there,” Penny suggested, pointing to a [336] roadside diner frequented by workingmen, and when they were seated at the oilclothed table she said forthrightly; “Marcia, quit this nonsense and come home with me.”
“Did Father send you?”
“He did.”
“Does Mother know?”
“I doubt it. There’s not much communication, you know.”
“You’re sleeping with Father, aren’t you?”
Penny was shocked by what she did next. With a wide sweep of her right arm she brought her hand forcefully across Marcia’s face. “You’re talking with me now, not some damned fraud.”
The suddenness of the attack so astounded Marcia that she could not determine how to react, but Penny’s fierce integrity demanded a response: “I’m sorry.”
Penny was even sorrier. She took the girl’s two hands in hers and said, “I’m the one who’s sorry, but I work in a tough world where any challenge to honor must be met ... right then.”
“I didn’t mean to insult your honor.”
“It was your father’s that was offended.”
“May I ask a reasonable question without getting my head knocked off?”
“Shoot.”
“Are you in love with Father?”
Penny chuckled, then looked with real warmth at the confused girl. “I think all women who work for good men like your father grow to love them ... in a detached sort of way. But have you ever seen my husband?” She took from her small handbag a cellophane folder in which she carried three photographs of Lieutenant Commander Pope, one in tennis shorts, one in dress uniform, one as test pilot seated in a jet. “I really don’t need to romance older men.”
“He’s neat,” Marcia said. “Where is he?”
“He’s not running a racket ... not living off the contributions of addled women.”
“Be careful. Strabismus may wind up a much more powerful force than Father, or your husband.”
“What’s this university bit?”
“California lets you get away with anything. It has good laws on the books but never enough manpower to enforce them. They’ve made us a registered university. We’re going to start classes any day. Well, to be truthful, there aren’t [337] going to be any classes. All we do is sell degrees.”
“Aren’t you ashamed of letting Strabismus get away with this?”
“What do you mean, Strabismus. I’m in it, too. I’m Dean of Faculty.”
“My God! You didn’t even finish freshman year!”
“In California, anything goes.”
“Marcia, last year Strabismus kicked you out for some Oklahoma teenager. Next year he’ll kick you out again. You’ve seen what your behavior’s done to your mother.”
“Mother is a horse’s ass, and you know it.”
Again the arm came up instinctively, but this time Marcia intercepted the slap. “We’ve had enough of this charade, Mrs. Pope,” she said, and rose from the table, stalked back across the road and informed Dr. Strabismus in a loud voice: “She struck me-twice.”
“We’ll sue her for assault, that slut.”
Penny, just behind Marcia, heard him, and now in a rage, she shouted, “You say that to me, Strabismus, and I’ll get someone to slap you around.”
“You can be sued!” he cried. Calling out to workmen, he said, “You heard her. She threatened me.”
When Strabismus and the workmen pushed her bodily off the grounds Penny went to her car, slumped behind the wheel, and was thoroughly ashamed of herself, for as a lawyer she knew that in verbally threatening Strabismus, she had committed an assault, and in actually slapping Marcia, a battery-for either of which she could be thrown into jail. But she was now fighting mad and refused to leave California without seeing whether she could in any way deflate this impossible man. When she presented her credentials at police headquarters she was turned over to a Chinese detective, who listened patiently, then said, “We’ve studied his case eight or ten times. Complaints from all over the country. Impossible to prove fraud.”
“But the little green men?”
“Half the country sees little green men. My mother does.”
At the local FBI she asked, “The young girls? Aren’t they below age? Isn’t that statutory rape?”
“He’s very careful on that score. Young girls he sends ,back home. For example, how old’s your case?”
“Nineteen.”
“Legally an adult. She can sleep with anyone she wants.”
[338] “How about the Mann Act?”
“Now there you might have something. If Strabismus sends these young women air fare, or buys them a car in their home state ...”
“Will you check it? I suspect he did send her the money.”
“Not in our jurisdiction, but we could alert the Vice Squad of the local police.” But when the detectives went to the modest house in which Strabismus and the Grant girl were sharing quarters, they found that Marcia had receipts which proved that she and not Strabismus had paid for her transportation to California. “Definitely not chargeable under the Mann Act,” the police said.
There was no legal way by which Penny could attack Strabismus, for although he had mulcted citizens of more than a million dollars, he could not be punished because his advertisements had told contributors exactly what they would be getting, and he delivered. The fact that he was peddling arrant nonsense was not actionable, because in comparison to other ideas circulating in California his little green men were downright normal. Nor could anything be done to force Marcia to leave the bed of this outrageous man-she had climbed in willingly, and if she left, six or seven other young women would be most pleased to take her place. Mrs. Pope accomplished nothing.
On her last day in California she made a final appeal to Marcia, but the beautiful girl who should have been studying Biology 103 in some real university would not listen. “Leopold and I may be on to something very big with this university idea. No one can tell where it’ll wind up, but I’m staying with it. The young girls, they come and go. As for Mother, I doubt I’ll have any further contact with her. She’s quite batty, you know. But you can promise Father that I’ll do nothing to embarrass him in public. He’s nowhere, but he’ll be all right if he can ever get another war started.”
During the flight home Penny sat brooding, endeavoring to unravel the mystery of why these women behaved as they did: Elinor Grant occupies one of the enviable positions in this nation, and she’s blown it. Her daughter is bright enough to have any job she wants and pretty enough to have any man, and look what she does! And how about me? She thought about herself, her skills, her ambitions, her solid love for her husband, her lack of [339] children: I haven’t cooked a decent meal in three months.
From her purse she took out the photographs of her husband, and for a moment she wished that he would quit the Navy and settle down in some good town like Clay, at which point she would surrender her job with the Senate and care for him and any children they might adopt, but when the plane landed at St. Louis she bought a paper and found that the space bill was encountering opposition from both the military and the scientific community, so in a rush she called Senator Glancey’s office, and was told, “Get back here. Everything’s in the balance.”
She worked the last two weeks of July in a frenzy, helping her senators fend off last-minute amendments that might cripple the national effort, and often at night when the arm-twisting had to be done, she gained the impression that only one man in the United States appreciated the awesome possibilities of space, and that was Lyndon Johnson. Once she told Senator Glancey of her belief that Johnson was willing to use even the most nefarious means to gain his ends, and the Red River man laughed. “You got it backwards, Penny. He isn’t willing to use nefarious means. He prefers using them.”
On 29 July 1958 Grant and Glancey stood behind President Eisenhower when Public Law 85-568 was signed, giving the nation a mighty new agency whose job it would be to catch up with the Russians. Behind the two senators stood Penny Pope, hair drawn neatly back, blue suit belted around her slim waist, smiling as Senate Majority Leader Johnson whispered, “Honey, you wrote more of this damned bill than any of us.” NACA, the National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics, with a budget of $117,000,000 and a staff of 8,000, had become NASA, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration, with a budget soon to be nearly $6,000,000,000 and a staff of 34,000.
 
When the details of the new bill reached Huntsville, the gloom which already engulfed that base became actual panic, and the Germans, who had been living on the edge of a dark precipice, not knowing how they were to be disposed of, now saw that their Alabama work had no future at all, for as Kolff explained to his men: “The new agency is embracing all the strong branches of NACA. They’re taking Langley. Ames in California. Lewis in Cleveland.”
[340] “And us?”
“They don’t want us. We continue under Secretary Wilson’s directive: ‘Develop no vehicles that might be used in space.’ ”
“What can we do?”
“We can fire our rockets two hundred miles down range.”
“And if they go two hundred and ten?”
“We’ll be arrested.”
“How can we live with that?”
“I don’t know,” Dieter said. “Perhaps we’ll be dispersed. The old gang, all scattered.”
At home he was disconsolate, and so was his family. Liesl, still mourning her dead dream of creating a beautiful park, watched now as the land was being subdivided into ordinary building lots, its natural beauty ruined, its fine footpaths torn up by bulldozers. Monte Sano was still the most attractive place in Huntsville, so that the local residents often complained: “How did we let those damned Germans come in here and steal it right from under our noses?” But the noble place it might have become had Liesl’s plan been adopted was forever lost, and she grieved, not for her personal disappointment but because this seemed a thoughtless way to treat natural beauty.
Young Magnus Kolff tried not to show his disappointment at having twice been denied permission to attend the music camp at Interlochen. He compensated by being the best trumpeter in northern Alabama, and his parents were delighted when he was invited to play in several different orchestras and even to try out for the summer band at the University of Alabama-but when Dieter discovered that this was a marching band, a football band with emphasis on funny gyrations and exercises which emphasized not music but the spelling out of A-L-A-B-A-M-A, he put his foot down: “Music has nothing to do with football. You can’t go.”
The university, still hoping to get the boy, invited the whole Kolff family to Birmingham to see one of the less-important football games, Alabama versus Tennessee, and during the first half of his first American contest Dieter did get excited by the drill-like precision of the teams, but what happened at half-time killed both the event and any chance young Magnus had to play with that band.
“What we offer next,” the band leader announced in a [341] voice tilled with pride and excitement, “is nothing less than a musical tribute to three great composers, Beethoven, Tchaikovsky and George Gershwin.” Dieter had never heard of the last, but he was fascinated by what the band might do to honor the first two masters.
“Da-da-da-tah,” the band played, offering about ten bars of the Fifth Symphony. Then, without piano, they played twenty bars of a Tchaikovsky piano concerto, after which they played one minute of Rhapsody in Blue, with eight clarinets doing a respectable job of indicating the piano part. The entire tribute to three fine composers required one minute and twenty-three seconds, after which the band returned to its marching maneuvers.
“You cannot become part of that insult to Ludwig van Beethoven,” Dieter said firmly when the family returned to Huntsville, but he was soon to discover what peer pressure could be in American life. His son’s teachers, his band instructor and the school principal climbed Monte Sano to plead with Dieter to allow the boy to attend the university music camp.
“To march with that band, on an autumn afternoon, “ when Alabama is playing Auburn,” said the principal, his voice quavering, “is one of the finest experiences a boy can have.”
“They don’t play music,” Dieter said stubbornly.
“But, Mr. Kolff,” the principal said gently, “we hear that your part of the arsenal may be closed down. Your family may have to leave here. It would be important to Magnus when he moves to another school-if he could say with pride, ‘I played at the Alabama-Auburn game.’ ”
With a stubbornness born of ten generations of farmers determined not to succumb to improper blandishments, ,Dieter resisted the entreaties of his son and the boy’s uneducated allies, including the faculty members and the school principal. “You will not march about some silly field,” he said in German. “Please, Poppa,” came the plea in English. “All the other boys do it.”
Dieter sought to divert his son’s attention by borrowing a seductive catalogue of the G. C. Conn Band Instrument Company of Elkhart, Indiana, and showing Magnus the glittering photographs in color of a real silvery trumpet, saying, “Look at this, Magnus. On this you can play real music, and we’ll send away for it.” But Magnus replied, [342] almost scornfully, “If I join the big band, they give nee free the next size better over on this page.”
Dieter was now fifty-one, gray-haired, his narrow face betraying his apprehension about the future of rocketry under NASA domination, his eyes deep-set and still glowing with the ambition which had dominated the years of his imaginative and constructive life: he still wanted to build the great rockets that would carry payloads to the stars. What kind of instruments were in the payload he would leave to others: NASA, the Army, some new science agency, anyone. His job, and one which he felt only Von Braun and he could discharge, had been simply to build the vehicle, and now he was being forestalled.
“Hell,” he told his wife in German. “They’re strangling us.” He was not eating well, and one night at the table he came close to tears. “Two hundred miles Mr. Very-Bright-Charley Wilson limits us to. Liesl, in 1943 we were throwing the A-4 two hundred miles. So many years later and we’re back where we started.” Grimly he reminded her that the only significant triumph the Americans had known had come from his Juno rocket and its Explorer payload. “And this is the thanks we get.”
When a dignitary from Washington came to define the new restrictions, the Germans were assembled to hear the distressing news, and it turned out to be much worse than the rumors. Any project of even superficial interest was to be taken out of Alabama and positioned at one of the NASA centers, but the really significant efforts which might alter the thinking of the world, like Dieter Kolff’s potential rockets, were to be scrapped entirely. The Army at Redstone was not to be limited to two hundred miles; it was to be gutted and put back on the ground, where it ought to be.
The scientists and engineers were so stunned by this obvious miscarriage of intelligence that they made no protest during the meeting, but that night when the leaders gathered at Kolff’s for a wake, angry resentments were voiced and men in their sixties asked, “Where will we go? How will we find work?”
Others were more preoccupied with the fallacious strategy of such a decision, and one man said angrily, “No wonder the Russians are ahead of us. It might be better [343] if they dominate the field. Teach the Americans some sense.”
But Dieter could not permit such thinking. “Don’t ever say that! You’d already left Peenemünde before the final days. Each morning rumors as to what the Russian armies were doing to the population ... how soon they would reach us. I can tell you, it was a terrible time.”
“But in Russia they encourage men like us to do our work. We have proof of that,” and he pointed toward the sky.
“Don’t say that!” Dieter repeated. “Not one of us here would rather be in Russia, and you know it.”
“I would rather be working on something sensible,” the man said, and all agreed, but what that something could possibly be under the new rules, no one could guess.
Not even General Funkhauser, when he flew in from California to hire the services of four Germans needed for special work Allied Aviation was doing, could be hopeful. “We’ve been told the Army can’t afford to keep this base now that its major mission has been proscribed. And each of the other services has its own plans. No one will touch this place, but an office will be opened to see if we can find jobs in other parts of the country for you Germans.” One thing was certain: like Adam and Eve before them, the Kolffs would go into exile from the lovely Eden they had created atop Monte Sano. “They can rename it Monte Insano,” Dieter growled.
Packing had actually begun, when an extraordinary occurrence in the White House saved them. It had nothing to do with Huntsville, Alabama, or even the space program; it dealt with shame and remorse.
Never in recent American history had there been any action more despicable than that of President Eisenhower when confronted by the rabble-rousing of Senator Joe McCarthy, for at the height of his campaign of vilification McCarthy had found it expedient to accuse General George Marshall not only of stupidity and ineptness, but of treason. It was a time of inflamed passions, and the senator’s wild charges gained such currency that the reputation of one of America’s finest patriots was dragged in the slime.
Those who knew the three men-Eisenhower, Marshall and McCarthy-expected the President to spring to [344] Marshall’s defense, and for a very valid reason: Marshall had been Eisenhower’s superior, had vaulted him into command of the Allied forces, and had supported him unquestioningly at every crisis. If ever one man owed another a debt, it was Eisenhower.
But when the attack came on his old leader, an attack without a shred of substantiating evidence, Eisenhower scurried for cover; not only did he refrain from springing to the defense of Marshall, he also excised from speeches already typed any favorable references to a man who had been the architect of his, Eisenhower’s, glory. It was a shameful period in presidential history, and when critics later pointed out his pusillanimous behavior, Eisenhower must have winced.
He did have a defense: the crucial problem of the nation at that time had been how to muzzle the Senator from Wisconsin before he wrecked the Union, and almost any tactic that would remove him from public life was defensible. Eisenhower’s problem was McCarthy, not Marshall. The latter was expendable, so the President had turned his back upon his mentor and his friend.
Now, in 1959, with Marshall and McCarthy both dead, President Eisenhower wished to make amends, and when he learned that the Army base at Huntsville was about to be phased out, it occurred to him that if NASA could use this once-productive base, it might appropriately be renamed in honor of the old friend he had treated so shabbily. Dieter Kolff was among the experts summoned to the White House, and in impassioned, heavily accented language he defended the work he and the other Germans had been doing there:
 
“Mr. President, your honor, believe me that the Germans who were captured by Russia in 1945 were just as brilliant as Dr. von Braun here or workmen like these. If we here in America are on the verge of building rockets which will carry men to Mars or the Moon, I am sure that our cousins in Russia are capable of the same accomplishment. [He pronounced his words as Chermuns, Rrroshia, verteh and aggomplishment, which gave his statement an added, almost scientific, weight.] Please, Mr. President, put this great installation to some fruitful use.”
 
[345] Such pleas, repeated many times, satisfied Eisenhower that the rocket site could be adapted to service in the new age of space, and forthwith he directed that it be christened The George C. Marshall Space Flight Center, and on the day the transfer was completed-with a speech to remind the locals that General Marshall had been a powerful soldier, a fine Secretary of State, the creator of the Marshall Plan, which had helped save Europe, and a winner of the Nobel Prize-Dieter and his engineers perfected their plans for the gigantic rocket which they had named Saturn I, suspecting that there would be many improved versions later: Saturns II, III, and who could predict how many more.
A few months later they rigged their first Saturn to a test stand, tying it down so that it could not soar into the air, and with some trepidation, ignited the first of the monster engines. The mighty roar of America’s entry into the space age could be heard across state lines; the earth was scorched; the imprisoned power was terrifying as it shook all of Huntsville; and as the liquid fuels burned away, challenging the Sun in their power, Dieter Kolff stood with his hands folded over his chest, as if in prayer, and his eyes were moist.
The long perilous journey from a farm village near Munich to the Russian front to Peenemünde to El Paso to Huntsville to Cape Canaveral to the stars was back on track.
That night young Magnus, sensing his father’s euphoria, broached for the umpteenth time the possibility of his playing trumpet in the University of Alabama marching band, but to his dismay his joyous father showed no inclination to surrender. “Son, never use Beethoven in a poor way.” Dieter, however, was pleased, sometime later, when the best orchestra in the area, a pitiful thing by German standards, asked Magnus to play with them and offered him the use of one of the finest Conn instruments. As the leader said when he talked with Dieter, “Your son is the best trumpeter in Alabama.”
 
“When little NACA exploded into gigantic NASA the effect ran the conservative, penny-pinching engineers who had been running Langley was so drastic that it was almost amusing. Men had to expand their vision a thousandfold [346] overnight, and experts who had been pondering problems hundred miles into space were now encouraged to visualize operations occurring two billion miles away.
A new breed of managers appeared, too, men alerted to the necessity for good public relations, so that when secrecy and hesitancy once prevailed, with NACA engineers terrified of even uttering a theory before it could be proved, the NASA men delighted in throwing up into the wind of publicity the wildest statements to titillate the general public. One such imported expert, former edition of a newspaper, studied the rosters of all the branches taken over by NASA and saw to his dismay that only a few of the practical engineers who had perfected the marvels of this age possessed doctorates, and he was quite blunt when he faced the management with his data:
 
There is no major agency in this nation with as few men with doctorates as NASA. It’s a disgrace, and it places you at a severe disadvantage when you testify before Congress or in public. If I can issue a press release which says that Dr. Stanhope of NASA predicts this or that, it gets attention. If I have to rely on Claude C. Stanhope, who holds this or that position and, for God’s sake, isn’t even a professor, I get no hearing at all.
 
Watch carefully what the Army and Air Force do. It’s all General this or Doctor that. Navy plays the game better than anybody. They’re lousy with Doctors. Now take my advice. You get yourself some Doctors who can go before Congress and win us some appropriations.
 
A committee reviewed the entire personnel of the new agency and winnowed the possible candidates into two groups. The first were those younger men who had already demonstrated outstanding intellectual capabilities in getting their master’s degrees in various good engineering schools and who could be relied upon to handle the advanced work for a doctorate. High on this list was Stanley Mott: B.S., Georgia Tech; M.S., Louisiana State; IQ 159; lifetime grade average, 3.89.
“We’ve talked with the men at Cal Tech,” the older man in charge of the program, Doctor Rush, informed Mott [347] when the latter came to Washington, “and they tell us that their program normally takes three years.”
“Beyond the master’s!” Mott gasped.
“This is the top school in the nation, maybe the world. They don’t throw doctorates around.”
“I don’t want to drop out for three years. In that time we could be on Saturn.”
“That’s what we said. We showed them your record. The nine research papers you’ve already done-on the upper atmosphere, ablation, bringing a blunt-nosed body back through the friction belt-satisfied them that you’re well beyond the average doctorate level right now.”
“Did they listen?” Desperately Mott wanted to spend a year at Cal Tech, for in his advanced work at Langley and Wallops Island, and especially during his studies of ablation in California, he had seen that much of the really powerful thinking being done in these intriguing fields stemmed from this small, tight, distinguished center of learning in Pasadena. To share in this high intellection, to stand beside these brilliant men as they wrestled with the most arcane new concepts, would be a privilege, and he would undergo any hardship or embarrassment to get such an assignment. He would even plead for a chance.
“The difficulty is,” the personnel man said, “that what we want you to specialize in is the most arduous field they have, celestial mechanics, what holds the universe together and makes it run.” He stopped to allow this startling assignment to sink in, but as soon as he heard the phrase celestial mechanics Mott’s heart skipped a series of beats, for this was precisely the field in which in his spare time he had been educating himself. It seemed to him that this was the highest external field of knowledge to which a man could aspire; internally there was gene structure, of equal import and about to reveal secrets just as noble as those of the outer universe, but his mind had always soared outward, so it was inevitable that he would be preoccupied with the mechanics of the universe.
To be allowed to grapple with those secrets! To be one of the handful who comprehended the structure of a galaxy or the behavior of atoms at the outer edges of space!
“I’d volunteer to spend the three years for that,” he said quietly.
“Maybe there’s no need.”
[348] “Oh, but I’d like to try!”
“We’ve had substantial discussions with them ... emergency and all that ... national interest ... and they’re willing to make a concession. If you work hard and are able to maintain the level of studies you’ve already done with us ...”
“I will.” He was a learned man, one of the best in his field, forty-one years old, but he was pleading like a Boy Scout who wanted to attend summer camp. “I can work; you know.”
“They say that perhaps you could handle the material in two years.”
“Oh!” Mott had nothing else to say. He was being offered a belated chance to catch up with the most advanced thinking of his age, and all that was asked of him was that he apply himself. When the personnel man waited for an answer, Mott mumbled, “they’ll have to redefine the word.”
“What?”
Mott laughed, the hearty guffaw of a man released from tension. “I said that when I get through, they’ll have to redefine the verb work.”
Rachel was enchanted by the news that her husband was going to get his doctorate; she had often felt that he was far more learned than most men who had the degree but her brief time at NACA had demonstrated how even a good man could find himself at a disadvantage because he lacked the doctorate. The two boys were delighted at the prospect of living in California and studied maps to see how far Cal Tech was from the beach; they were disappointed.
Real disappointment, however, was voiced by Rachel’s mother, Mrs. Saltonstall Lindquist, in Worcester, Massachusetts. It was the custom in American social circles for women who were divorced, but who preferred keeping the family name of the former husband, to use as their first name not their given name, Mary or Esther, but their own family name. To refer to one’s self as Mrs. Armstrong Cheney was much more polished than to appear in the social columns as Mrs. Mary Cheney.
Rachel’s mother, being a widow rather than a divorcee, really had no right to adopt this pleasing convention, but with a family name like Saltonstall, she could not withstand the temptation, and as Mrs. Saltonstall Lindquist [349] she retained the social prestige to which she felt herself entitled. When she heard of her son-in-law’s implied promotion to become one of NASA’s senior scholars, she told the social leaders of her city:
 
“Rachel tells me that NASA realized it needed some of its own men to be trained in celestial mechanics ... what holds the Sun in place, and wouldn’t we be in a fix if it lost its place and dragged us around the universe in its fiery tail?
 
“Well, it’s a relief to me, I can tell you. I mean Stanley, not the Sun. It’s not pleasant to have to admit you have a son-in-law who went to Georgia and Louisiana. But I do wish he was taking his doctorate at a school of real distinction, like Harvard or MIT. Who ever heard of Cal Tech?”
 
The second group of NASA leaders identified by the inspection committee comprised those older men of undoubted brilliance who could use the title Doctor with good effect when testifying before Congress, but who had neither the time nor the energy to go back to the study halls of some university. NASA solved their problem rather neatly by quietly suggesting to the universities from which they had graduated that it might be rewarding to the academic community if So-and-So, a pillar of the space community and a brilliant scientist, could be invited back to give the graduation address and receive an honorary doctorate as compensation. Some very good men were decorated in this manner.
That left eight or ten able Europeans, including Dieter Kolff, who had no American university which could be gently blackmailed, but their special situation was resolved rather neatly by a NASA administrator at Ames in California: “We have this new institution in Los Angeles, the University of Space and Aviation, which was properly licensed by the state of California to provide a college education, but which now issues spurious mail-order doctorates in any imaginable subject for a fee of five hundred dollars, whether the recipient has ever set foot in California or not.” It would have proved embarrassing if NASA had tried to send its engineers like Kolff to that campus, for until the new building was completed, there [350] was no campus, no faculty, no library and no classrooms. There was, however, still that excellent printing press on the side street producing a catalogue much superior to that of the Sorbonne and an engraved diploma more impressive than that of Oxford, Yale or Louisiana State.
The diploma was signed, just under the eagle, by the provost of the new university, Dr. Leopold Strabismus, who also offered the M.A. at $300 and the ordinary B.A. at $200.
When Dieter proudly showed his diploma, and his admiring family saw that their father was a full-fledged doctor, just like Wernher von Braun, a rousing celebration was launched, and although everyone present knew that something quite preposterous had happened, no one knew quite what, and it was assumed that if Americans placed even more emphasis upon a doctorate than did the Germans of 1933, and if Kolff was demonstrably brighter than most of the Americans who held one, it was only appropriate that he be given his.
Word spread that Dieter’s was an honorary degree, awarded for his outstanding contributions to the space program. He accepted with grace, referring to himself as Herr Doktor Kolff and intimating to his associates that they might prefer to address him by his new title, too. In his testimony before Congress he was now Dr. Kolff and his words were listened to with added attention.
 
Stanley Mott and John Pope were alike in three respects: each was a straight arrow, each loved space and the stars, and each tended to believe that whatever he was doing at the moment represented a highlight in his life and possibly the maximum excitement that he would know. Leonardo, Immanuel Kant and Albert Einstein had probably felt the same way, and none of them had ever felt any necessity to apologize for his enthusiasm.
For Mott to enroll at Cal Tech, to walk the olive-lined brick paths, to meet with the top analytical professors in the world, and to pore at night over the reports of theorists from Cambridge in England and Pulkovo in Russia was the most demanding intellectual exercise he had ever engaged in. At the end of six months he understood exactly where he stood, as he reported to his superiors at Langley: [351]
 
Up to my neck in things i don’t comprehend. Only one eye and one nostril above the waves. I’ve been asked to participate in a gripping problem. Once every 175 years the planets arrange themselves in a formation which permits us to launch a spacecraft that could wander among the planets, picking up propulsive energy from the gravity of each in turn. We could go to Venus, Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus and Neptune, each planet whipping us along to the next.
 
This alignment occurs in the period 1980-1982. We calculate that if we launch in 1977, we could reach Saturn in 1981 and Neptune in 1989. I’m not yet equal to the task of helping to plot this journey, but I’m certainly sweating to catch up.
 
During the next six months, with the assistance of professors who lived among the planets as if the professors, and not some primal force, controlled their motion, he began to grasp the laws which governed even the tiniest particle of dust in the farthest reaches of the universe. Mars and Jupiter became merely the outriders of the massive galaxies that dominated both the remote distances and man’s imagination.
As he worked he began to wish that his assignment to Cal Tech had indeed been for three full years, for there were many minor avenues he wished to explore, but NASA kept quietly prodding him to attend to what the directors assumed would be their priority for the next decades: “Remember that your major concern is not wandering among planets, but how to plot the course of a manned satellite on its journey from Cape Canaveral to the Moon and back to some kind of splashdown in the western Pacific.”
Accordingly, he turned his back on OQ-172, the farthest object, 117,000,000,000,000,000,000,000 miles distant, and began to focus sharply on the Moon, a mean of only 238,890 miles away (nearest 226,000; farthest 252,000). In fact, that distance seemed so abbreviated when compared to those he had been studying, he came to think of the Moon in familiar terms, as if it rested over the next farm. He was assisted in this thinking by the scientific shorthand he had mastered at Georgia Tech: for example, the large [352] number, representing the distance in miles to OQ-172, could be stated in powers of 10, in this case 1.17 x 1023, the superscription 23 designating the number of figures following the decimal. The distance to the Moon was a simple 2.3889 x 105, and the frequently used million was 1 x 106. The beauty of the system was that if one wished to multiply two huge numbers, say three trillion (3 x 1012) by two billion (2 x 109), one simply multiplied the 3 x 2 and then added the superscriptions 12 + 9 for the answer 6 x 1021, which meant 6 followed by 21 zeros. The universe was organized in powers of 10.
One peculiarity of the system delighted him. It was difficult for even an astronomer to remember how many miles light traveled in a year, yet this was a measurement fundamental to space. The figure was easily obtained: seconds in a minute, times minutes in an hour, times hours in a day, times days in a year (60 x 60 x 24 x 365 = 31,536,000 seconds in a year), which you would then multiply by the speed of light, 186,000 mps. Some early student had realized that the total number of seconds, 3.1536 x 107, was practically identical with Pi, 3.14159265 x 107, so that astronomers often said that the miles in a light-year were Pi x 107 x C, the last letter being the symbol for the speed of light. This produced a rough approximation, which caused the astronomers to joke: “Close enough for use in NASA,” which customarily carried tolerances to seven decimal places.
That rockets could cover the relatively brief distance to the Moon, 2.3889 x 105, Mott never doubted, and now he began to construct those magnificent charts which showed how it could be done. A rocket would lift off from the Cape, enter low Earth orbit, stay there for several revolutions to confirm orbital data, then fire another set of engines and take off for the Moon. Of course, both the Earth and the Moon would be engaged in following their own orbits, so that the relative relationship between the two would be changing from second to second; the trick would be to aim the rocket not at where the Moon was, but at where the Moon was going to be in the number of days, hours, minutes and seconds it would require the rocket to traverse the 238,890 miles. It was an elegant problem regarding the motion of a body with six degrees [353] of freedom, but one that, could be solved, and he directed all his attention to it.
However, when the brain of an individual is fiercely concentrated on a given problem, it is sometimes diverted by accident into an unexpected channel, which proves more significant than the one being followed, and this now happened to Stanley Mott. He was attending a night seminar at the great telescope on Mount Wilson east of Cal Tech when he chanced to see an amazing photographic plate which showed one of the most distant galaxies, invisible to the unaided eye and to most telescopes, but absolutely perfect when caught in a giant telescope and held in focus on the photographic emulsion for eight hours.
The galaxy was seen edge-on, a thin, beautiful sliver of stars innumerable and clouds of primordial dust, but in the dead center, as in our own Galaxy, there stood a gigantic ball of generating fire from which the energy which informed the galaxy had originated and was still originating, and Mott realized that when he studied this remarkable plate, he was being vouchsafed a glimpse of his own Galaxy. This was what the universe was like, this incomparable beauty, this inconceivable multiplicity.
As photographed from Earth, this epic galaxy, this poem of the heavens, stood at an angle of forty-five degrees from the horizontal, the most effective possible presentation, as if an artist had positioned it for maximum effect. But it was the implications of the photograph which enraptured Mott: That band of shadow along the near edge, what could it be, cosmic dust? The spicules of flame leaping from the rim, how high into the perpetual darkness did they fly, a billion miles, five billion? The wonderfully tapering tips so far from the central bulge, what would the life of a star be at that remote point? And finally the thing itself, this collection of a hundred billion separate stars, perhaps two hundred billion, this unity, this diversity, this terrible fracturing violence, this serene loveliness, this image of mortality which was surely destined for flaming destruction, what did the thing itself signify?
Like any sensible man who is suddenly struck by a vision ten times greater than any he had anticipated, Stanley dropped all his work on the Moon and spent three weeks trying to understand this photograph, one of the [354] most completely successful ever made, one worthy of his digression.
He learned that because it was invisible and not discovered till late, the galaxy bore no name. It was referred to simply as NGC-4565 (New General Catalogue of Nebulae and Star Clusters, compiled by a Danish astronomer and published in 1888). It lay along an edge of the constellation Coma Berenices and was about twenty million light-years distant, which meant that what Mott was seeing in 1961 was what the galaxy had looked like 2 x 107 years ago, and it awed him to realize that in the multiplex of years since that moment, the galaxy could have modified totally, or moved into conflict with another galaxy, or vanished altogether. He was seeing an echo of some great thing that had once existed, and wherever he looked in the outer universe he was seeing the same type of thing: evidence that greatness had once been, but no proof whatever that it still was.
NGC-4565 held him captive for three long weeks, as if its gravitational pull were asserting itself over the 117 billion billion miles that separated it from Earth, and he was bedazzled when he learned that it was traveling through space at a speed of almost three million miles an hour. When he finished his study and returned to his work on the Moon, he knew that he had directed his intellect permanently into orbits so vast, so infinitely far beyond the Sun’s planetary system, that he would be forced to spend the remainder of his life not on Earth, not on target Moon, not on Mars or Saturn and not even in his own Galaxy, inexhaustible as it was, but out in the infinitely cold, the infinitely remote distances of the farthest galaxies. He acknowledged that as a faithful servant of NASA, which paid his bills, he would have to perform his routine duties and make the mundane calculations for the Moon trip-note how he brought the Moon down to Earth by describing its distance as mundane-but his mind and his imagination would be elsewhere.
 
Rachel Mott was not liking California. Her severe New England upbringing had not prepared her to accept the free-and-easy life of the Pacific coast; even her disciplined hairdo, each strand in its assigned place, seemed to protest the windblown excesses of the West. And she was not at [355] all happy about the reactions of her sons to their more relaxed environment.
Millard, now eighteen, with a slim, blond, athletic figure, was spending most of his time on the beach, learning to surf-, his shins were scarred from losing battles with the board, his face was tanned and his hair windblown. He had associated himself with a group of handsome young men much like himself, and they seemed well behaved, but the two or three girls in the gang, as Rachel called it, were a rougher type, and she often wondered how any of these young people succeeded in school, since their sole preoccupation appeared to be surfing.
One morning she asked one of the girls, “How are you doing in school?” and the girl replied, accurately, Rachel thought, “It’s a bore.” When she inquired among the boys, she was surprised to learn that two of them were already in college, and when she tried to check on how difficult the studies were in a Western university, the boys replied, “The professors are all jerks.” She was tempted to dismiss these replies as the shorthand of youth, but when she probed deeper she found that Millard really did consider his teachers jerks and their lectures a bore.
Rachel’s upper lip grew tense at such moments, not in anger but in regret that these fine young people were missing what had been so important to her and Stanley: the challenge of new ideas. When her upper lip tightened her lower lip protruded somewhat, lending her an air of hardness which she did not have, really, and when the surfers saw this, they retreated, for they did not care to waste their golden hours on anyone over thirty who might hassle them.
Rachel’s displeasure with California did not extend to the university where Stanley had immured himself. As she wrote to her mother:
 
Your last letter was far too harsh, Mother. Cal Tech is a fine school and in certain limited areas it would approach either Harvard or MIT, but it hardly has the refined scholarship of either of those outstanding universities. Stanley seems to thrive on his heavy workload and Christopher grows browner each day. I sometimes worry about Millard, as he has apparently surrendered completely to California life, and [356] I do not appreciate its slovenly ways. I’ll be delighted to leave here and return to the relative sanity of Virginia, and I’m assured by visitors from headquarters that when Stanley lands his Ph.D. he’ll be in line for an important promotion in the burgeoning NASA. Brains do pay off, though not apparently in the case of women.
 
One May morning she saw California at its worst, and it terrified her. She had taken young Chris to a store in one of those appalling malls, hoping to find bargains in the loose-fitting slacks and shirts boys his age preferred, and at first she was pleased with the selection such stores offered, but when she had bought several items and had taken Chris to a sandwich shop for lunch, she had an opportunity to inspect the workmanship in the shirts and was dismayed by the shoddy goods she had purchased.
As she stuffed the shirts back into their package, her gaze wandered to the next booth while she waited for the fresh salad she had ordered for herself and the savory western sandwich Chris had wanted, and she saw at the untidy table a little panorama of California life. A mother with curlers in her hair and a tight sleazy blouse across her ample bosom was whispering to her daughter, who looked to be about ten years old. She was a rather pretty child, with hair done in high style and manicured fingernails flashing bright red polish. The child’s face was made up with mascara, rouge and a fine powder, which did create a delicate balance and an appearance suitable for a college girl of twenty. Her dress must have been very expensive, for it was marked by the simplicity of a couturier; it seemed most inappropriate when displayed on a child.
“My God!” Rachel muttered to herself. “That child’s wearing a bra!” That was correct; to fill out the expensive dress properly, the little girl had been given a bra-Young Miss Special-with padded cups, and to anyone but a conservative mother from Boston, the effect was pleasing: a little girl of ten had leapfrogged more than half a dozen years to become a heartbreaker of seventeen.
What really disgusted Rachel, however, was the manner in which the blowzy mother was feeding her daughter: [357] a Double Grand Malted, a large plate of Fritter Fries and a bottle of West Best Ketchup, which was being doused vigorously over the greasy potatoes, after which enormous quantities of salt were applied. Rachel, looking at the wretched combination-all calories and not a vitamin in the lot-thought: It’s all right to contaminate a child’s dress style, because that can be altered easily if the person acquires any sense as an adult, but to damage the body, which can’t be repaired, that’s criminal.
She finished her own salad so slowly, wondering whether children were being equally abused in suburban Boston, that young Chris left the table to wander among the shrubbery that landscaped the sandwich shop, and her attention moved from her attractive son in his clean outfit to the plants which lined the street, and she thought: Maybe California doesn’t look after its children, but it certainly knows how to tend a lawn or a line of shrubs. They know how to make good salads, too, she conceded. It hasn’t all been a loss.
She had been daydreaming in this manner for some minutes when the little girl, who had also left her table without Rachel’s noting that fact, came screaming back into the restaurant. “Mummy, Mummy! He showed me his you-know-what!”
At first Rachel was unable to interpret this jargon, but when patrons in other booths began to stand in order to see the wronged child and the boy who had committed this sexual assault, she realized with horror that they were staring at her son Christopher, who had slipped back into the sandwich shop, his face red with confusion and shame.
“Goddamned degenerate,” a woman snarled at Chris as he slinked past.
“Mummy!” the little girl continued to scream, not unpleased with the commotion she was causing. “He showed me his you-know-what.”
On the fourth repetition of this unfortunate phrase, Rachel wanted to sink into the floor, just disappear, die maybe, and she thought that if the child uttered that stupid sentence once more, she, Rachel, would strangle her. But then, in the agonizing pause while the flustered waitress tried to add her check, Rachel thought of another man in her family, Uncle Donald, who had never been able to [358] control himself where women were concerned. He loved them, respected them, but never discovered a sensible procedure for living with them. There was the awful scandal when as the happily married father of three he ran off with a pretty clerk in the drugstore, and the worse affair when he exposed himself to four little girls, not forgetting the time he was horsewhipped outside a bank.
Rachel, her face beet-red, thought of Uncle Donald and wondered if young Chris was destined to follow in his flamboyant steps, and she could hear her mother informing all the neighbors: “Donald’s not a Saltonstall, thank God.”
For the fifth time the little girl explained to the patrons what Chris had done, and then mercifully the check arrived. Rachel paid it and was about to stalk out of the restaurant when she instinctively stopped, reached for her son’s hand, and brought him to her.
“You ought to take that one to a good psychiatrist,” a customer snarled, and it was this that infuriated Rachel most. In the street, beside the shrubbery in which the crime had occurred, she thought: In California they think they can solve everything with a good psychiatrist. And she was about to apply the simpler cure of Massachusetts and swat her son, right there in the street, when he said, not in self-pity, “She asked me to.”
“I’m sure she did,” Rachel said eagerly, embracing her son in sight of the customers.
At home that afternoon she sat in a darkened room, trying unhysterically to sort out not only this messy affair but also the general relationships within her family. She was bored with her mother’s simplistic, social-climbing ways and felt little rapport with her; the decades had passed too swiftly and Mrs. Saltonstall Lindquist had not kept up. She was relieved that Uncle Donald had scuttled away after one of his episodes and was now living in Minneapolis, where the colder climate seemed to have defused him. She was deeply in love with Stanley and appreciated increasingly the intelligence and judgment of this bespectacled wizard; curiously, she enjoyed trying to follow him in his abstruse exploration of the stars and she understood when he asked her to frame the glossy photograph of NGC-4565 which he now kept over his desk. From time [359] to time she had intimations that Stanley might even be a genius, not in the Einstein class, of course, but at least the equal of any of the professors at MIT, for whom she had enormous regard.
But now she could think only of their sons, and her feeling that they were heading into deep trouble. And she realized that it had been Stanley’s weakness, and hers, too: over the years, as her husband had become increasingly immersed in his work, he had drawn further away from his children, and she had made little effort to challenge this.
Millard’s surfing friends were, well, dubious. They were bronzed and trim, but they weren’t what one might call healthy, and this was proved by the weird assortment of girls they seemed to prefer. In thinking of these strange girls, she used one of the California words she disliked most heartily: None of them are cuddly. She couldn’t help laughing: You’ve got to hand it to California. Sometimes it does come up with the right word. And not one of those girls is cuddly.
She wondered if she had been. She wondered if any living human being ever saw herself as she presented herself, sexually, to the world. She was quite sure that the little girl gorging her Fritter Fries and ketchup now thought of herself as a prim, reserved child who had been wronged; her mother thought of her as a virgin angel; and Rachel thought of her as a little degenerate in training to become a prostitute.
And then she had a really ugly thought: I would rather that Millard be mixed up with that pitiful little girl, when she gets a few years older, than with the sterile things Millard’s been bringing here. And finally she saw clearly the corroding situation that faced her family: Millard’s a homosexual. I think he’ll always be.
At last the composure fled, and in the darkened room she wept. She had said, long ago, that the measure of a woman was how she organized her space, and she had accomplished miracles: the neat rooms, the Mondrians on the wall to establish the standards; her unflinching support of her husband regardless of what luck he was in; her repeated work with others less fortunate; and her constant concern with political problems. All these had given [360] evidence of her good intentions. How, then, could her sons be stumbling into so much trouble?
Christopher’s escapade with the Fritter Fries girl, as Rachel was already calling her, was no light matter; it bespoke a young lad who gave multiple signs of becoming just like his great-uncle Donald, an unstable, bewildered male who fell prey to anything in skirts. And it wasn’t only the sexual problem that caused Rachel’s apprehension about her younger son; like his older brother, the boy seemed absolutely drawn to the weaker members of his class in school, and he had already been detected twice in doubtful performances, not the rowdy exhibitionism of young males but the sneaky destruction of property and the flouting of authority.
This time she would speak sternly to her husband about these matters and demand that no matter how urgent his work at Cal Tech, he must become more concerned with his sons and take steps to try to ensure that they developed into responsible persons. There’s time, she assured herself. Even the Fritter Fries girl could be rescued if someone snatched her away from that impossible mother. Millard and Christopher can both be saved.
So when Stanley Mott returned to his rented rooms that afternoon, 25 May 1961, his attention should have been concentrated on what young Chris had done at noon, but instead he burst into the apartment aflame with excitement. “Have you heard the news? Where’s Millard? We must all listen to the television.”
Millard was spending the night with one of his surfing buddies, but the rest of the family gathered for the six o’clock news to hear a replay of President Kennedy’s message to Congress:
 
“Now is the time to take longer strides-time for a great new American enterprise-time for this nation to take a clearly leading role in space achievement, which in many ways may hold the key to our future on earth.
 
“I believe this nation should commit itself to achieving the goal, before this decade is out, of landing a man on the Moon and returning him safely to Earth. No single space project in this period will be more [361] impressive to mankind, or more important for the long-range exploration of space; and none will be so difficult or expensive to accomplish.”
 
When the President finished speaking, Stanley leaped out of his chair. “They told us at the laboratory, but I couldn’t believe it. “Before this decade is out.” That’s only nine years. Rachel, do you realize the work that will have to be done!”
She tried repeatedly to divert his attention to their sons, but she could see that he was inflamed by wild visions of what impended, and once she was even foolish enough to allow herself to be momentarily distracted from her mission. “If it happens, what role would you have?”
This allowed him to speculate, all through dinner, on the possible channels into which his career might flow. “Thanks to Cal Tech, I know about as much about the Moon as anyone else on board. But if we accomplish what the President outlined ... Don’t you see? As soon as we reach the Moon we’ll be drawn irresistibly to Mars and Jupiter. Inevitably. And that’s where I’ll really be able to contribute.”
When his enthusiasm had spent itself, and he returned from Saturn windblown and bearing the dust of stars, she sent Christopher to bed and asked her husband to turn off the news program and sit attentively while she said something of considerable importance. Whenever she spoke like this, perhaps twice a year, Stanley dropped whatever he was doing and said, “Yes?” for he knew that his wife was not a frivolous woman.
She was forty-one that night, a handsome, disciplined woman who had tended herself and who looked sternly competent as she said, “Your older son is spending the night with that dreadful Clarendon boy, who I know is a homosexual. Your younger son distinguished himself in a public restaurant by exposing himself to a ten-year-old girl who had been gormandizing on greasy Fritter Fries. Stanley, you have a problem with your sons. We have a problem.”
It was unfair to drag a man down off the stars, and on a night like this, to make him survey the condition of his sons’ lives, and Stanley Mott was not equal to the [362] challenge. “Ten-year-olds! Rachel, didn’t you ever play doctor when you were young?”
 
The last six months of Mott’s residence at Cal Tech would be remembered as the most difficult period of his life, because he was deeply engaged in completing his doctorate-Theoretical Treatment of Several Multibody Influences on Procedures for Launching a Manned Flight to the Moon and Returning Its Passengers Safely-and he allowed nothing to divert him. But when NASA realized how directly his doctorate impinged on the challenge thrown out by President Kennedy, it was inevitable that he be asked to participate in some of the most crucial debates ever engaged in by America’s scientific community. Great scholars of the most exalted reputation, two with Nobel Prizes, were scrapping with one another, not over some erudite refinement of a concept but over a practical matter on which depended the reputation of the United States: What strategy should be adopted to land a man on the Moon and get him back safely ... now?
The administrator himself stopped by Cal Tech to impress upon Mott the gravity of this debate. “Everything hangs on our making the right choice. Your field of expertise qualifies you to join the committee.”
“I’m honored, sir, but I have my thesis to complete.”
“If you help us get our men on the Moon, you’ll have a real-life doctorate any man would envy.”
“Could I do your work, and finish my work here at Cal Tech at the same time?”
“A superman could. I’d probably have tried in my day and fallen flat.”
“Can I try? I mean, may I try?”
“You may.”
He would never forget those months. In the heat of committee debate he would boldly oppose two revered academicians, knocking down their recommendations with his new-found knowledge, then return to the campus, where he would listen meekly as the Cal Tech professors lambasted the analytical procedures in his thesis. It was a game of such vivid intellection, such cyclonic changes of concept that he could scarcely keep all the facets in view, and sometimes he feared that his brain might simply call a halt and cease to work, but then some completely wild [363] suggestion would be made, forcing him to reorganize all his data and speculative ability, and just as he had taken three weeks off to digest that immortal photograph of NGC-4565, he would quit whatever he was doing and attack this new problem.
Such a digression now arose. A group of distinguished astronomers presented NASA and, by means of a press conference, the nation, with grave doubts about the feasibility of actually landing a man on the Moon; they did not mean the engineering difficulty of getting him there or the scientific mystery of enabling him to find his way without a compass; they meant the terrible dangers that might arise when a man tried to step down upon the Moon.
“There is a strong likelihood that the surface is composed of lunar dust about fifteen feet thick into which the man would disappear,” argued three of the experts.
“Judging from preliminary analyses, the surface might be composed of materials in such delicate balance that they could well ignite or even explode when subjected to pressure from a human foot,” another group said.
“The real danger will be the heat beneath the lunar surface, enough when agitated to melt metal,” submitted one man.
“No,” said another, “what photographs we have indicate the possibility of deep crevices into which machine and men alike will tumble.”
One scientist, whose self-imposed task it was to keep conversant with European studies, informed the committee that an Italian astrophysicist of impeccable reputation had conducted experiments which proved conclusively that a human being could not walk-could not manipulate his body joints-in any ambience with gravity less than one-fifth of that on Earth. “And you’re proposing that our man walk in gravity as low as one-sixth, on the Moon. It can’t be done.” This confused even Mott.
And the medical men whom the dissidents consulted identified the real fear: “There is a strong probability that the Moon contains diseases unknown on Earth. They will either strike down the humans who land among them, or attach themselves to those humans and run riot if brought to Earth where no counterstrains are known.”
These fears became so pervasive that NASA had to 3 institute a commission to confront them, and Mott, as a [364] leading selenologist, was invited to participate; so for some months his major attention, when not completing his doctorate, was focused on these challenging problems, and it was he who drew up the conclusions which would govern procedures until the moment when men actually stepped upon the lunar surface:
 
We are entitled to operate on the principle that the Moon has a solid crust which will support the weight of a man. Crevices may well exist, but the principal part of the surface, especially in the belt which most concerns us, appears to be free of them. The risk of stumbling into an undetected one is so small that it can be taken. We find no evidence that the surface is or will become inflammable. We have no experience with one-sixth gravity, but experiments are under way to simulate it. With our present knowledge, we see no impediment to free movement.
 
We are aware of the Italian studies which prove that man cannot walk in a gravity of less than one-fifth, but we are loath to accept these findings and shall conduct our own investigations immediately.
 
Speculation that the Moon may harbor virulent strains of unknown viruses must be taken seriously, and our medical team is going to recommend three weeks of quarantine for any human or object returning from the Moon.
 
Setting aside all other matters, including even work on his doctorate and speculation about farthest space, Mott concentrated on this practical question of whether a mar could control his joints and body movements in one-sixth gravity, and the place he turned to for instruction way Langley, where he found two men who had anticipated this curiosity, attacking it in a way that illustrated the inventiveness of the human mind. As the senior investigator said, “The problem was forthright. How do you place a man in one-sixth gravity? The solution was simple.”
What they had done was go to a very high gantry, already in existence, from which a cable 155 feet long could be suspended. At the ground ingenious body [365] supports were attached to the supposed astronaut’s head, shoulders, hips and legs. A wall was leaned back 9.5° off the vertical, and when the astronaut, suspended by the cable so that five-sixths of his weight was carried by the wires, walked against this inclined board, he experienced only one-sixth gravity. It was imaginative and perfect.
Mott insisted that he be placed in the gear, and as soon as he was suspended and allowed to stand against the inclined wall, he understood the mathematical principle. If the wall was inclined 90° to the ground, his entire weight would be held by the cable and he would experience null gravity. If the wall was laid flat on the ground, the cable would carry none of his weight, and he would experience the normal gravity of Earth. At 9.5° off the vertical the geometry was such that he discovered what one-sixth gravity meant.
In this condition he ran, jumped, bent down, twisted, climbed a ladder, leaped from a height of thirty feet, and fell slowly, comfortably back to the wall, and then, running as best he could in the dreamlike ambience, he marshaled all his strength and leaped right over a twenty-foot fence-an astonishing feat. The experience was so exhilarating that he wanted to remain in the gear long after the experiment ended, and watchers took photographs of this slender man in steel-rimmed glasses, forty-three years old, running like a gooney bird on Wake Island and leaping great fences like Aladdin or Buck Rogers.
When he submitted his final report, conceding only that there might be malignant viruses, which, however, he felt could be controlled, he was attacked on all sides, but he stubbornly refused to make any concessions: the Moon was approachable, it was not deadly, and men could walk upon it. For three weeks following the release of his conclusions he was required to defend them before scientific bodies, groups of reporters and television cameras, and with every recitation of his findings he became more obdurate in his support of them. He became NASA’s Moon man, and having cleared the way intellectually for the great experiment, he now worked assiduously to make it succeed. All his daylight hours and many of his dinners were devoted to Moon problems, and often it was not till eleven at night that he found time to work on his doctoral thesis, and he [366] would sit hunched over his desk till two or three in the morning, when Rachel made him come to bed.
As a member of the Moon Committee, Mott was told that five major solutions to the problem of lunar landing had been proposed, and it was impressed upon him that if a landing were to be accomplished by 1969, as Kennedy had promised, a choice among them had to be made quickly and correctly. “I can never determine which obligation is the more important,” one scientist said, “speed or accuracy.”
The five proposals were easy for Mott to grasp, since he had already analyzed four of them in his thesis, but to choose irrevocably among them was difficult, for it meant staking the nation’s reputation and the lives of its astronauts on a process that might prove disastrous. At the first meeting he heard proponents defend each suggestion.
“The first and easiest way is what we call the Jules Verne Approach, since he described it in surprisingly relevant detail back in 1865 in his novel De la terre à la lune, saying that the journey would start not far from Cape Canaveral in Florida, where ours will. His method? Simple. You build one hell of a big cannon, shoot a capsule to the Moon, carry power with you, and when you’re through exploring, shoot yourself back to Canaveral.”
The speaker, an old hand from the NACA days, assured the committee that the Verne Approach was practical, and reasonably safe, in that the gigantic rocket could let itself down gently on the Moon because the force of gravity there would be only one-sixth of that on Earth, which also meant that the power required to lift the rocket back into space would be only one-sixth the amount required to lift off from the Earth.
There was one difficulty. The rocket would have to be so big and heavy, if it were to launch from Earth, carry men and equipment to the Moon, and then retain enough power to leave the Moon and return to Earth with heat shields in place, that no rockets then in existence could do the job. A prospective super-rocket called Nova might do it, but the experts warned that it could not be operative before 1975, and there went President Kennedy’s promise that we would make the landing before 1970.
“The second way,” said one of Von Braun’s men, “has been studied exhaustively since 1930. It’s called [317] Earth-orbit rendezvous and it’s really quite simple. You lob a rocket that we already have into low Earth orbit and let it ride there, carrying the machine that will land on the Moon. Then we send a second rocket aloft, join it with the first, supply the first with all fuel and equipment, and from this stable platform the Moon rocket will fire and be on its way.
“The beauty of this assembling in orbit is that it requires only small rockets, the total weight is less, and the journey to the Moon is made in a small, easily maneuvered machine.” The difficulty was that rendezvous would be perilous, the joining doubtful, and the successful lift-off from the Moon with a well-worn vehicle extremely problematic. But the Von Braun man insisted that it could be done.
Now, for the first time, Mott spoke in the meeting. “How does Von Braun’s major assistant view these matters? Dieter Kolff?”
A specialist from Alabama stammered, then confessed: Dr. Kolff supports the first alternative. Use one of his gigantic rockets and blast right to the Moon.”
“Does he think he could provide such a rocket within the next four years?”
“He says he could do it next year.”
“Do you think he could?”
“No. And not in ten years. Dr. Kolff is mad about rockets ... big ones ... he’s to be forgiven.”
The third proposal was sponsored by some geniuses from California: “Build the lightest possible rocket. But use two in tandem. Rocket One carries the men and their food directly to the Moon. Rocket Two follows with all scientific gear, all the fuel necessary for the return trip. They land within a quarter of a mile of each other ...”
“And if Rocket Two lands on the other side of the Moon?” a scientist asked.
“With inertial guidance, that doesn’t happen.”
“And what is inertial guidance?”
“A modern miracle which you must take on faith ... for the present.”
“And the men in Rocket One, must they also take it on faith?”
“That’s how they found their way to the Moon in the first place.”
[368] This proposal merited the most critical attention, and when the proponents circulated beautiful drawings and cleverly made miniatures of Rocket One, Rocket Two and the Transfer Vehicle that would carry fuel from the latter to the former, the august committee became a group of schoolboys, moving their toys this way and that across their polished table.
“Can a vehicle like this travel on the Moon’s surface?” an academician asked.
“We think so. The rest would have to be taken on faith.”
Alternative Four was a most attractive proposal made by a group of private engineers who believed that a manageable rocket, with maximum power and size, should be launched toward the Moon, and when it had exhausted its fuel, a second rocket would overtake it with a monstrous load of fresh fuel, which it would deliver to the first rocket, sending it and its astronauts on their way to the Moon landing and a subsequent return to Earth.
“And what happens to the empty rocket?” one of the committee asked, and the engineers looked at the great scientist in disbelief.
“It’s in orbit. Absolutely nothing affects it, neither wind nor rust. It just keeps going forever.”
“In orbit about the Earth?” the scientist asked.
“It no longer has anything to do with Earth. It wanders through the planetary system and remains in orbit about the Sun as a small man-made asteroid.”
Mott had already studied the weights, fuel requirements and payloads for these four systems, and his knowledge proved valuable when the discussions started. Invariably the proponents of the alternatives challenged his figures, for theirs were always more hopeful, but between them they did agree on parameters, the new word this year, and sensible discussion became possible.
The fifth proposal was astonishingly different, and as it was being offered, the committee members leaned forward. It was made by an Air Force colonel in his late forties, a real super stick, a true believer, with piercing eyes that darted from one member to the next when his chin thrust forward in that person’s direction, as if he knew he had to convince these brilliant men one by one. “My plan is simple and daring. Using a relatively small rocket currently available, we will shoot a man and three [369] years of food and oxygen to a flat site on the plain near Copernicus. We’re absolutely certain that he can get there, and land, and survive with equipment and compressed foods we already have.”
“How does he get back?” Mott asked.
“He doesn’t,” the colonel said. And when the gasps subsided, he added, “Not right now. Not this year. But we have every right to anticipate that within three more years of night-and-day research we will have rockets equal to the task of going to the Moon and rescuing him.”
“Good God!” one of the scientists snapped. “Do you mean you’re willing to risk the life of a human being on a chancy venture like that?”
“I’ve risked my life on lots worse.” His arrogance offended the scientists, but he continued, “I flew to eighty thousand feet when we had rudimentary oxygen systems. At Edwards, I sent men up to a hundred and fifty thousand feet when every component was debatable. To have the honor of being the first man on the Moon, return or not ...”
He paused and looked around the table. “To establish the discovery rights of the United States to a surface area bigger than Asia? To go down in the history books of the world? Gentlemen, I could get you twenty test pilots in our services who would take off tomorrow.”
“Even though they would have to wait there three years, alone?”
“They would have a radio. Think of what they would broadcast to the world.”
“And at the end of three years they might hear on their radio that the rescue rockets were not functioning ... that there would be no rescue rockets. Would you send one of your men on such a trip, Colonel?”
“I told you, twenty would leap at the chance.”
“Would you?”
“I came here to volunteer.” He stood very erect, a man of not much over five feet six, weighing about one hundred and forty pounds, and as he waited in the silence it became apparent to the committee that they were dealing not only with fascinating proposals, but with a problem of life and death and the history of the world.
 
The Moon Committee came down strongly in favor of the Jules Verne Approach: “A hell of a big rocket, up, land, [370] and come home.” When Dieter Kolff in Alabama heard the decision he was overjoyed, because this was what he had been preaching for twenty years, and even though his ardent support of this proposal put him somewhat in opposition to Wernher von Braun, who favored Earth-orbit rendezvous, he was jubilant and assigned his men a score of studies which would enable the tremendous Nova rocket to leave the sheaves of paper on which it had been theoretically planned and become a titanium-and-steel reality.
But Mott was now working in a world of super-intellection, and as soon as a decision of any kind was promulgated it became the subject of intense analysis, with the most tenacious brains in the world snarling at it to expose its weaknesses. This was essential to the process, for Mott’s committee would ultimately spend some $25,000,000,000 to support their decisions, which would merit all the close scrutiny they could get.
When the debate about straight-up-and-straight-down was at its blazing apex, he happened to visit Chance-Vought, the well-regarded company that had built those remarkable airplanes for the Navy, the F4Us and the F8Us-and the fiasco in between, the F7U-and there he was accosted by a quiet man who had spent his life contemplating the intricate problems of hoisting enormous weights into the air and keeping them there in forward motion. During a memorable night at the edge of a test field this man carefully indoctrinated Mott with the concept that would ultimately save the space program:
 
“Keep your eye on the simple problems. Solve them, and everything else falls into place. And the greatest problem is this. You have to lift a ridiculous weight into the air to carry enough fuel to get you off the Earth, through space, off the Moon and back to Earth.
 
“If it’s this weight that’s holding you back, why not get rid of the weight? Yes, that’s exactly what I mean. Get rid of the damned stuff.”
 
When Mott asked sardonically which part of the weigh the man proposed dispensing with, the part that carrier you up or the part that brought you back home-and considering himself rather clever to have posed the [371] question so succinctly-he was surprised by the Vought man’s response:
 
“I mean all of it. Not just the rocket stages, as we do now. I mean the whole damned bundle except the tiny little chamber in which you ride the last forty miles of the journey. I mean you’re to do on a large scale what you’ve been doing on a small scale at Wallops. Use the first batch of fuel, then throw away the engines that burned it. Let that whole organism fall back into the ocean and sink. Just as we do the Atlas.
 
“Then use the next batch of fuel, and throw away the engines that burned it. I mean cut them loose completely and let them fall into the ocean. Then throw away all the instruments and electrical gear required so far. And when you land on the Moon, throw away most of the vehicle that got you there. Just leave it on the Moon. And when you get off the Moon and back to your mother craft, throw away the cabin that took you down to the Moon.
 
“Throw everything away, Mott, and on your return trip to Earth, you throw away even the machinery that brings you home, until at last you’re a thin little man in a very small capsule suspended from a parachute, and when you hit the water you throw away the capsule and the parachute.
 
“You’re to think of yourself as launching into space in a complex vehicle consisting of eight or nine components weighing thousands of tons, and at the end of your flight you land naked in Mother Ocean, where you started from in the first place. All the rest you’ve thrown away. You have become the spaceship.”
 
This became Mott’s operating principle, so that whatever proposal was placed before him was analyzed as to how much of it could be thrown away and how quickly, and it was his application of this great truth that doomed the Jules Verne Approach. “But, sirs,” he argued with the Verne proponents, “in your plan you carry an immense machine to the Moon and then you spend all your energy to bring it back to Earth.”       
[372] “Is there any other way?”
“Von Braun and his Germans at Huntsville propose a very sensible plan. Assemble the Moon rocket from components lofted into low Earth orbit. No gravity, no strain.”
One by one, Mott discarded the other alternatives: they were too heavy, too costly, too speculative, or, in the case of the Man-on-the-Moon-and-Let-Him-Rot, too inhumane. The only practical way to reach the Moon, he was convinced, was by the approach devised by Wernher Von Braun, who knew more about rockets than anyone else on Earth.
Accordingly, when NASA established a new committee to make a hard final decision regarding an actual flight to the Moon-“And no more fooling around”-Mott led the fight to kill off, once and for all, any further discussion of the Jules Verne Approach. “We’ve moved into a new century with new capabilities. Let’s use new techniques.” And he became such a vigorous exponent of Von Braun’s Earth-orbit rendezvous that committee members started calling him Our Little German.
He told one of the engineers, “You meet only a few men in your lifetime who are geniuses. If you’re smart, you cling to them.” And the engineer snorted: “Von Braun’s no genius. He’s an engineer.” Mott thought of several sharp retorts, but none seemed likely to be effective, so he said lamely, “I suspect it’ll be Von Braun who takes us to the Moon.”
By dint of much midnight work he qualified for his doctorate that summer, and with his own money he invited his mother-in-law out to Cal Tech to be with the family at the stately ceremony. Mrs. Saltonstall Lindquist noted with approval the quiet dignity of the university, the charm of the olive-girt walks and the grandeur of the faculty club, perhaps the finest in America. “It’s better than Harvard’s,” she admitted grudgingly.
 
Because of the stupendous surge in space ventures following President Kennedy’s challenge, and particularly because of the inflated NASA budget-well through the first billion dollars, and galloping toward the fourth and fifth-some dozen industrial firms offered Mott choice appointments with salaries that dazzled, but he thought of himself as a government servant engaged in the world’s most [373] exciting decisions, and he rejected them all, except that on the eve of graduation General Funkhauser motored over from his headquarters in Los Angeles with some shrewd observations:
 
“You haven’t been listening, Stanley. NASA is not going to make anything. It’s going to let everything out to commercial contractors-us, Chance-Vought, Grumman, North American, Douglas, Boeing. We’re the ones who’ll build the space age, not NASA. You join our firm and you’ll build the vehicles that go to the Moon. I am the space age, not Dieter Kolff at Huntsville or your friends at Langley. Join me and you join the first team.”
 
And when Mott did stand back and look at what was actually happening, instead of what the neat flow charts said was happening, he saw that General Funkhauser was painfully correct. The long-time airplane companies-Grumman, Douglas, Boeing-were really running the space program while the NASA bigwigs toured the country making speeches and testifying before Congress.
When Funkhauser offered him $37,000 a year to help Allied Aviation make proper decisions in the space age, Mott felt he had to discuss the tempting opportunity with his wife, and since Mrs. Lindquist was visiting, with her also.
The women were divided in their counsel. Mrs. Lindquist said, “Stanley, you’ve worked like a dog, and what do you have to show for it? A miserable rented house with one bathroom. Unless MIT offers you a full professorship, with a house thrown in, join the company and earn a decent salary.”
Rachel saw a different vision: “You’ve made yourself one of the top brains in the country. The world is wheeling around to your point of view. Stay with it, Stanley. You could be the American Von Braun.”
Just as his committee was about to announce that America would adopt Von Braun’s Earth-orbit rendezvous, he received a cryptic call from Mrs. Pope in the Washington office: “Senator Glancey wants you to fly directly to Huntsville. Dieter Kolff seems to be making waves. Has strong objections about something.”
[374] When Mott checked in to the Huntsville motel and called Dieter, he sensed tension and assumed that as soon as Kolff could drive down from Monte Sano to pick him up, the German would launch his complaint, but young Magnus was in the car with him. Mott was pleased to see the boy because despite his absorption in his work, there was an ever-present worry in the back of his mind as to what he and Rachel ought to do about their sons, and it was helpful to observe another boy of about the same age for comparison.
“How are you doing in school?” he asked the square-faced blond, and the answer he received was so different from what his own sons might have given that he was astonished: “I still do poorly in English, but I’m really learning something in mathematics and science, but what I like best is music.”
“What music?”
“We have an orchestra in town. I play trumpet.”
“He’s only fifteen,” Dieter said as he drove the Volkswagen up the steep roads leading to Monte Sano, “but he’s been accepted at the university. Scholarship in music.”
“Do you drive your father’s car yet?” Mott asked.
“Oh, no! That comes when I’m sixteen. Special permit.”
“But can you drive?”
“Oh, no! That comes when I’m sixteen.”
“I wouldn’t want him to touch the car till it’s legal,” Dieter said.
At the cottage on the hillside Mott was impressed by the clever additions the Kolffs had made to their home-a room here, an added storage space there, and since their continued stay at Huntsville had been endorsed by the President, a screened-in porch on which they could sit and survey the city lights gleaming below them.
The meal was one of Liesl’s best, an inexpensive cut of beef marinated in a strong vinegar and cooked for an extra period in a pressure cooker; this broke the tough fibers and allowed the marinade to penetrate all parts. With the sauerbraten she served potato dumplings and a homemade dark bread, and the meal was so appetizing and so obviously nutritious that Mott asked for seconds, his hearty appetite belying his thin, wiry frame.
While Mrs. Kolff cleared the table and Magnus went to his room to study, the two engineers sat on the porch [375] and began a conversation which challenged all that Mott’s committee had been doing:
MOTT: What’s eating you, Dieter?
KOLFF: The decisions you’re about to make. They distress me.
MOTT: I was told you now supported Von Braun’s proposals.
KOLFF: I do. I’m always a loyal soldier. You know that.
MOTT: I’m sorry your simpler plan couldn’t be accepted. But the Jules Verne Approach ...
KOLFF: I argued. I lost. That’s finished.
MOTT: Then what’s the problem?
KOLFF: The idea itself. It’s corrupt with error.
MOTT: Going to the Moon? You’ve talked to me about that for years. In El Paso ...
KOLFF: To the Moon, yes. But never to the Moon as a major target.
MOTT: What’s wrong with the Moon as a major target?
KOLFF: Because when you hit the wrong target you congratulate yourself. As if you’d accomplished some great thing.
MOTT: Do you doubt we’ll land on the Moon?
KOLFF: We’ll land there. Trouble is we’ll never get off.
MOTT: Now wait! Just wait! I’ve spent months reviewing every step of our procedure, and I’m morally certain we can get our men safely off.
KOLFF: The men, yes. The nation, no. Once we land on the Moon, we’ll remain imprisoned there.
MOTT: (soberly): What do you mean?
KOLFF: I mean the terrible error of sending astronauts there. The terrible error of making the Moon shot a circus event.
MOTT: The men are the heart of this adventure.
KOLFF: And that’s what’s wrong. We do not require them for a Moon landing. They’ll be in the way. They’ll make the adventure less significant than it should be. They’ll cheapen everything. And in the end, Stanley, they’ll be the reason why we stay imprisoned on the Moon.
MOTT: Explain.
KOLFF: Look at the Moon, coming like a gray goddess n the east. Then look at the stars over there where the moonlight doesn’t fade them out. The Moon is a vagrant [376] thing. It comes and goes. The stars are forever, and our obligation is not with the temporary Moon ... that’s easy to grasp. Our obligation is with the stars ... and they’re not easy to comprehend.
MOTT: Would you scrub the Moon shot?
KOLFF: Not at all! It’s a logical first step. But I would get it over in a hurry. I’d not send any men there, to avoid the circus effect. And I’d get on with the job of real exploration. Out there, where the battleground of the mind awaits us. (And he pointed in a direction far from the Moon.)
MOTT: Why do you object to the astronauts?
KOLFF: Now we come to the heart of the matter. The men are not technically necessary. You know that and I know it. But to accommodate them, we have to make the capsule enormous when it should be quite small. Then to lift the capsule we don’t need, we must have rockets twice normal size. Then we must have fuel for the oversize rockets. And we have to have support systems for all the things we don’t need. And most dangerous of all, when we get there the attention of the world is diverted to the men and away from the significance of our adventure.
MOTT (very slowly): Dieter, I know what’s eating you. You’re a man who can build very big rockets. At Peenemünde, you dreamed of one that could cross the Atlantic. At White Sands, it was always bigger, bigger. All you want to do is fire great big rockets and to hell with their purpose. You’re an engineer who’s gone mad.
KOLFF: And you’re an engineer who’s lost sight of the big goal. Science has corrupted you.
MOTT: You believe we could explore the Moon and Mars without men in the machines to guide them? To react to emergencies?
KOLFF: And better. Give me the money we’re wasting on the manned part, we could complete the basic exploration of the solar system in three years. We could land our machines on the Moon and bring back samples tomorrow. We have the devices to photograph the universe, to land on Venus, to fly out to Saturn to inspect the rings. We could do it faster and better and obtain twice as much information.
MOTT: Why don’t we?
KOLFF: Politics. For political reasons President [377] Kennedy said “We’ll fly a man to the Moon and bring him home.” (Here he paused to laugh at himself.) All my life I’ve been the plaything of politics. Adolf Hitler has a dream, and I’m summoned from the Russian front. Helmut Funkhauser wants to wipe out the stain of Nazism, so he leads me into your arms. Now it’s the business politics of Life magazine.
MOTT: What in hell do you mean?
KOLFF: Life has a contract with the astronauts. Exclusive. No other magazine. So it has to make them notable, how you say, newsworthy. Fifteen writers spend all their time converting seven ordinary young men into gods. And look at the newspaper! Abandons all critical judgment and writes about Al Shepard as if he were Columbus. And what did he do? He rode in a machine like the one we made at Peenemünde a quarter of a century ago. And neither Life nor the Times perceives the real significance of these flights.
MOTT: Its news. Its tremendous news.
KOLFF: It’s the wrong news.
MOTT: You can’t stop it, and Von Braun can’t stop it, and I can’t stop it, so what are you going to do?
KOLFF: I’m going to watch quietly while the circus triumphs, and then watch sadly as the meaningless parade grinds to a halt. And when we are doing nothing I shall sit here on this porch and look at the stars and weep.
Kolff was so impressive in his analysis that Mott impulsively altered his travel plans, remaining in Huntsville to talk with the other experts about the implications of what Dieter had said, and although the Germans were loath to disclose anything counter to government policy, it was clear that they shared Kolff’s apprehensions about manned flight as a dead end. Von Braun was not in residence at this time, so Mott sought permission to wait until he returned, for he suspected that the German leader must also see the essential uselessness of including human beings in the package being sent to the Moon, and in the two extra days he had to wait he talked guardedly with many people.
Von Braun proved an enigma. He was delighted that Mott’s committee had eliminated the Jules Verne Approach, and had pretty well dismissed the three other options, for this meant that his recommended assembly in [378] Earth-orbit rendezvous would have to be adopted, and this would require his continued management. He was in a strong position, and he knew it.
He did not want to discuss, even fragmentarily, the possibility of making the Moon shot without the involvement of human beings. “That’s all been settled at the top. We can live with it, quite easily. Besides, the men they’ve chosen are so highly trained they’ll be an asset during the flight.”
“But wouldn’t it be simpler ...”
“The matter’s settled,” Von Braun said, and it was obvious that he did not intend saying anything which might reopen it. As at Peenemünde, authority had spoken, ending speculation, but as Von Braun ushered Mott to the door he did say two things. “I hear you were one of the strongest champions of my Earth-orbit rendezvous. Thank you. You were not only courageous. You were right. And don’t let Dieter Kolff disturb you with his speculations. He’ll never be happy till he fires one of his rockets right out of the solar system. And when that time comes, he’ll be right. But for the present, he’s not.”
Two hours later, as Mott was preparing to fly back to California, he received an urgent phone call from the Space Committee in Washington. It was Mrs. Pope: “Senator Glancey wants you in his office this afternoon at four. Bring Kolff.”
The meeting was short and brusque. On one side of the table, like a condemnatory grand jury, sat Senators Glancey and Grant, accompanied by their chief of staff, Penny Pope, who took no notes. The meeting had been called by Glancey, but it was Grant who started the discussion:
“Just what in hell do you two men think you’re doing?
“What, sir?” Mott asked.
“Stirring up trouble about the Moon shot. Goddammit, we have trouble enough without men in our own organization adding to it.”
“What do you mean, sir?” Mott asked, with no sign of subserviency. The many invitations to join major companies that had been offered since he had achieved his doctorate gave him a confidence which he had not known before.
Norman Grant, with sixteen years in the Senate, had [379] also lost the hesitancy which had marked him at his first election. He was now accustomed to knocking down adversaries if persuasion failed, and he judged that in this crisis some knocking down was needed. “We have reports that you two men have been agitating at Marshall Space Flight Center against our proposal to have astronauts man the capsule when we land on the Moon.”
“Dr. Kolff and I discussed it, sir,” Mott said, using Dieter’s cherished designation to impress the senators. “Dr. Kolff is a world expert in these fields and I sought his opinion.”
“Well, I can assure Dr. Kolff that in this matter his opinion is not worth a damn, and he had better keep it to himself.”
“All opinions demand attention, Senator Grant. Have you heard some of the crazies we’ve honored with a hearing?” When he told the senators about the Air Force colonel who wanted to be set down on the Moon with a three-year supply of food and oxygen against the day when more powerful rockets might be invented to come save him, Senator Glancey shook his head, but Senator Grant said grimly, “I’m sure we could get volunteers to try it. If I were younger, I’d go in a minute.”
Glancey said, “The problem is this, Mott. Grant and I have to justify before Congress the God-awful budgets you NASA people hit us with. Five billion dollars a year. We cannot justify this if we go before the Senate and say, “This is for scientific exploration.” But if I stand before the Senate and say, “This is to put a brave American boy on the Moon and bring him back safely,” the senators will wipe the tears from their eyes and approve twice what Grant and I ask for.”
“But you know,” Mott said stubbornly, “That it could be done cheaper and better without the men.”
Grant banged the table in disgust. “Dammit, Mott, when Mrs. Pope brought you in here a few years ago I thought you were one of the brightest men we had in NACA. Now you sound downright stupid.” As soon as he said these harsh words he apologized. “Withdraw that. If there’s one thing you’re not, it’s stupid. I’m told you did wonders at Cal Tech. Congratulations. But you are obtuse. By God, you are obtuse.”
[380] “Yes, you are,” Glancey said, and now the tense session got down to cases.
“It’s like this,” Grant explained. “The NASA program is terribly expensive. It depends on people like Glancey and me and the Vice-President to keep it funded, and the best thing we have going for us is not Wernher von Braun, good as he is, or brilliant men like you and Kolff. It’s the astronauts, God bless ‘em, because the people of this country have taken these men to their hearts. If you were perceived as saying one bad word against John Glenn, you’d be driven out of NASA by nightfall. He’s sacrosanct, and so are the others. On them rests the whole defense of NASA. We’re not sending a monkey to the Moon. That was a terrible mistake. Ran the risk of people laughing. And we’re not sending a machine, because people can’t love machines. And we’re not sending scientific instruments, because people are interested in them only in Boris Karloff movies. What we are sending is brave young American heroes, and don’t you forget it.”
“What we’re really doing,” Glancey said amiably, “is muzzling you two. You can talk between yourselves about next steps and better steps, but in public, you keep your mouths shut.”
“If you don’t,” Grant said, “you could imperil the very program that you’ve worked so diligently to set in motion.” Turning abruptly to Mrs. Pope, he said, “You may bring him in now,” and when she left the meeting room, Grant said, “We’ve invited a gentleman to join us. To explain facts.”
The newcomer was a handsome, meticulously groomed man of about fifty, dressed in an expensive gray whipcord and wearing imported shoes fastened not by ordinary laces but by lengths of leather ending in soft Italian tassels. “I’m proud to introduce Tucker Thompson,” Grant said, “long-time editor of Folks magazine. His corporation’s been awarded an exclusive contract for covering the special group of astronauts we’re about to select, and I’ve asked him to outline the gravity of the situation.”
Thompson spoke in a Vermont dialect, twangy, subdued, extremely confidential; every sentence he uttered conveyed the impression that he wished to take the particular group of hearers and none other into the secrets of the space age:
 
[381] “I suffer from two grave disadvantages. Our company has won this contract in opposition to Life, so we’re newcomers. I don’t wish to say a word against Life, because they’ve done an outstanding job presenting the astronauts to the public. But we’re convinced we can do better. Also, my job makes me a kind of public relations man, and you’d have a right to be suspicious of anything I say.
 
“Folks magazine does not interpret the great space adventure as a circus. We’re not in the business of creating instant heroes. And I truly believe we’ll never overplay our hand in presenting our astronauts as anything supernatural ... just the finest young men our nation has produced and their wives as prototypes of what young American womanhood should be. We are not selling dreams, we’re selling realities.
 
“And the reality is this. America sees its space program as identical with the astronauts. And their families, I might add. Their families are a significant part of this mighty program. It would be impossible to imagine a bachelor astronaut, because half his significance would be missing. I think I could say without fear of successful contradiction that without its astronauts, America would have no space program.
 
“What’s the bottom line? No one must print or say or circulate in any way even the slightest hint that any part of the space program could go forward without the astronauts. We have an enormous investment in these fine young men and it simply must not be imperiled.”
 
Mott found it offensive to be lectured by someone who apparently knew so little about the scientific difficulties of the space program-the mind-breaking anxieties which kept even the best astronomers agitated for months-and he decided the moment had come when he must speak as a scientist.
“Our two senators remind us of the political realities.
This distinguished editor tells us of the public relations [382] aspect. Dr. Kolff and I are here as engineers and scientists responsible for the crucial decisions, and I remind you that the Moon shot is only part of our program. Either before or after its success, we’ll be sending a probe to Mars. Unmanned.”
“And the nation will know nothing of it,” Tucker Thompson predicted, “because writers like me will have no human beings on which to hang our story.”
“You think the story is everything?” Mott asked.
“I do.” Then, sensing that he was being put into opposition to these two brilliant scientists, he told a joke. “Public relations men, which I am not, have to be watched. When Moses was leading the children of Israel out of their captivity in Egypt, he gathered them on the banks of the Red Sea and told them frankly, “Children, we’re in trouble, deep trouble. The sea ahead of us. The desert around us. The Egyptian army bearing down upon us. Tell you what I’m agonna do. I’m gonna separate that Red Sea and make a pathway of dry land. We’ll march across, and when the Egyptian army tries to follow, I’ll tell you what I’m agonna do. I’m gonna close up that pathway and drown ‘em all.” The Israelite PR man who heard this was ecstatic. “You do that, Moses,” he cried, “and I can get you three pages in the Old Testament.”“
Grant said, “With our astronauts we get three pages in Life every week, three columns in the Los Angeles Times, three pages around the world. Never forget, you scientists, what a colossal beating our nation took when Yuri Gagarin was parading country to country proving that Communism was superior to democracy. I want John Glenn and Virgil Grissom to be doing the parading, and on the happy day we land one of our men on the Moon, we back Russia right off the map. It’s as simple as that.”
To Stanley Mott, ideas were the noblest manifestations of mankind, and he felt that in this room his ideas were not being accorded the dignity they deserved. He had spent his lifetime wrestling with these majestic concepts and responsibilities, and he was not disposed to allow two senators who had entered the field only recently, or a writer who had been handed an assignment, “Astronauts & Space,” to dislodge him peremptorily from his reasoned positions, and he was about to speak rather forcefully when Mrs. [383] Pope caught the set of his jaw and said brightly, “Well, I think that winds this up.”
But the two senators had detected Mott’s displeasure, and after Mrs. Pope had led Kolff back to the waiting room, Mike Glancey put his arm about Mott’s shoulder and said, “The difference between a politician like me and a scientist like you is that to hold my job I have to get elected ... every six years. You only have to be appointed ... once. And what you learn from elections is that man is the measure of all things. If there’s not a man in the picture, it ain’t a picture.”
“He’s right, Stanley,” Senator Grant said. “I had enough engineering in the Navy to know you’re right in your basic argument. Of course we could proceed without the astronauts. But it would be terribly wrong to try.”
“The taxpayer, the man who foots the bill, would walk away from our program. Your most creative dreams would be dead.”
After they had talked this way for some time, Glancey told a story about the first day of his first election campaign. “Stanley, I was the brightest kid in Red River. And I’d studied all the proposed legislation to make myself even brighter. But when I went out to make my speech in an Italian section, the first question was, “How do you stand on House Bill 21-957?” I’d never heard of it. Had to do with Italian immigration. They didn’t give a damn about all the hot issues-war, taxation, medical care, the new dam-they wanted to know about 21-957, and when I didn’t even know what it was, I lost any claim to their support. I didn’t get fifteen votes in that district.
“Point of the story,” Glancey said, “is that you must listen to the people on whatever terms they care to speak. In space it’s astronauts ... Tucker Thompson photographing the anguished wife behind the white picket fence.”
Mott listened, and the more he considered the phenomenon of the astronauts, the more he was driven to the conclusion that the senators were right and he was wrong. Dieter Kolff’s enthusiasm for the big mechanical rocket had blinded him to the social persuasiveness of the astronauts and their wives. Man was the measure of all things, and although it was correct that machines could perform miracles, they could not enlist the emotional support of [384] the public. Astronauts could, and he left this confrontation. committed to the role of human beings in space, for without them as a measure, a criterion for meaning, the program had no viability.
At the door, Grant asked, “What news from Los Angeles?” and for a moment Mott could not decipher what the senator was talking about. He first assumed that Grant was referring to some member of the study committee who had voted against Earth-orbit rendezvous, and started to fumble for an answer, but then he remembered that Grant had once commissioned him to check out the nefarious Dr. Strabismus, and recalling Dieter’s handsome diploma, he burst into laughter, and said, “Haven’t you heard? USA is no longer a research institute. It’s now the University of Space and Aviation.”
“Good God!”
“And even NASA bought six or eight doctorates for the older NACA hands. To give our outfit a touch of class.”
“You’ve got to be kidding.”
“Not at all. I saw one of the diplomas on Dieter Kolff’s wall three nights ago. It was signed by the chancellor of the university, Dr. Leopold Strabismus, and by his dean of faculty, Marcia Grant, Ph.D.”
Senator Grant sat heavily on one of the meeting-room chairs. “Ph.D.? She didn’t even finish freshman year. And now she’s the dean of faculty.”
“It’s not as bad as it sounds, because the university has no faculty.”
 
When the last objection to Earth-orbit rendezvous had been disposed of and the special committee was on the verge of recommending that flight to the Moon be conducted according to Von Braun’s solution, a nagging feeling assaulted Mott, and after three days of trying to suppress it, he knew that he must in prudence consult one final time with the men he had worked with longest, those stalwart engineers at Langley who had kept advanced programs alive during the bleak years when they had scarcely a penny, and when he reached there some of his cronies suggested, “Why don’t we fly up to Wallops where no phones can reach us and hold an old-time think tank on the beach?”
They commandeered a NASA plane and flew the short [385] distance to Wallops, where they spent the morning inspecting the striking changes made possible by the acquisition of a nearby naval base. The launching sites had concrete bases now, and there were roads through the spacious, sleeping marshes. There was a commissary instead of cold beans out of a can and a general air of prosperity, but several of the men voiced the doubts which perplexed Mott but which he did not wish to discuss in public: “I wonder if they do as much work as we used to, when we slept on the beach and waited for the results of our little rockets?”
In the afternoon they carried chairs to the beach and sat looking out across the Atlantic, that splendid body of turbulent water into which so many of their experimental rockets had fallen in years past, and after a while one of the men said, “They’re making a big fuss about the Mercury men, but none of them has been higher than we sent our rockets from this very beach.”
“Yes, but one of these days they’ll go straight up, two hundred fifty thousand miles, and by damn, there won’t be any atmosphere to measure up there!”
“What’s it going to be, Mott? Straight up and on, or some kind of rendezvous?”
“We’ve dropped the straight-up bit. That’s dead.” But when he told them that it looked as if NASA would adopt Von Braun’s plan for Earth orbit, one of the men said, “We have this super-brain at Langley, chap named John Houbolt, who’s trying to convince people that it’s folly to use Earth-orbit rendezvous. He claims it should be lunar-orbit rendezvous.”
You mean, fly the whole works up to the Moon, but don’t land it? Separate it into components and let one of them do the work. Then reunite and come back down?”
“Exactly what he preaches.”
“I don’t think much of lunar-orbit rendezvous,” Mott said, and he revealed that in his doctorate he had not even considered it. “But in our committee, of course, we did have this half-baked presentation, but I can’t recall we spent fifteen minutes on it. There’d be no advantage.”
And then one of the Langley men said something which caused bells to ring in Mott’s head. “You miss the whole point of what Houbolt’s proposing; he claims there would be a weight advantage. As the rocket ascended, you would [386] throw off the parts that were no longer needed. It woulcï get constantly lighter, until at the end you’d have only this little bundle. I think he says you’d leave even the landing machine on the Moon. Or most of it.”
“How’s that?” Mott asked abruptly, for he could hear the Chance-Vought man speaking that night beside the test field in California: “Throw away everything, Mott ... even the machinery that brings you home … You have become the spaceship.”
“It’s his plan, not mine. But he has studies showing that under his system, the weight would grow constantly less ...”
Another engineer broke in: “Mott, are your people visualizing what Moon vehicles will look like? I mean, are you constantly aware that because there is no atmosphere, no nothing to create friction, your machine can have as many protuberances, odd angles, whole faces jutting out ... You know, it can look like anything you want it to look like. Don’t get locked in to some streamlined beauty. You streamline an airplane to get it through the solid atmosphere. With no atmosphere, you don’t need streamlining.”
He suggested that the men move inside. “Give me a place to draw.” When they were settled with their beers. he sketched what he thought a Moon lander might look like, and it was good that he did, for even these practiced engineers were prone to forget that in an ambience without an atmosphere to cause friction or constraint, a vehicle could indeed be built of the flimsiest material and configured in the most bizarre ways. “If you want a place for a celestial monkey wrench, you just tack it on the side.”
But when the engineer was finished with his dramatic presentation of what his spacecraft would look like, a big square bundle with fifteen or twenty projections, Mott returned to what the other man had said on the beach: “Tell me about this throwing away of components,” and the men played a brilliant game of ideas-and-space: “You start with this gigantic rocket, the biggest Von Braun can build, and in let’s say fifteen separate steps, you discard item after item. After its utility has been discharged. You wind up in lunar-orbit rendezvous with let’s say six components, and only the light ones. This one breaks away and takes you down to the Moon. You never see it again. This one, this one, this one. In the end you come home in a basket. [387] That’s the advantage of lunar-orbit rendezvous.”
“You know,” Mott said reflectively, “an engineer from Chance-Vought made exactly the same pitch. Throw everything away. What are the facts?”
Without firm data, but with sophisticated guesses, the excited men began a study. The stars appeared, the Moon rose, the Earth in its incessant revolution caused the heavens to look as if they were turning, and the constellations climbed into position. One of the men dashed off in his car for sandwiches and beer and another for additional scratch paper, and gradually the rough dimensions of the problem were established, and toward three in the morning, when every aspect had been analyzed, Mott came up with these figures:
 
At launch, a vehicle which would carry three men to the Moon would weigh about 6,600,000 pounds. In a flight of about 200 hours, everything possible would be jettisoned, maybe nine components in all. At final splashdown, there would be no fuel, no food, no oxygen, no nothing, just three men in a capsule with an ablative front all burned off. Total residual weight, not more than 11,000 pounds.
 
“Jesus!” one of the Langley men said. “It could be done.” They spent the next hour checking the data, and at 0400 in the morning, when Altair was climbing above the eastern horizon to inspect the workmen in the porch, Mott ageed: “It could be done.”
He hurried back to Langley to meet with this man Houbolt, who seemed the typical specialist whose ideas were being rebuffed by his superiors. “Thanks a million for coming, Mott. The others simply will not listen when I try to tell them that lunar-orbit rendezvous is superior to any other. If the scientific community of this nation will not listen to reason ... They won’t even look at the comparisons.”
Mott talked with him for two days, reviewing in detail his excellent data and diagrams, and came away convinced that whereas Wernher von Braun’s Earth-orbit rendezvous was workable, lunar rendezvous was far superior, and he began quietly to campaign for it. His advocacy had be muted because he had already been rebuked for [388] having butted in on the astronaut-versus-machine argument, and he was not sure he could survive another head-on collision with the Senate committee; indeed, there was reason to think that it might have been Von Braun who alerted Senator Grant to the earlier subversion being practiced by Mott and Kolff.
So Mott had to move gingerly, but now he found an unexpected and extremely powerful ally: Lyndon Johnson, in a series of maneuvers so complicated that none could follow, charmed Texas millionaires into ceding land new Houston to a university, which in turn offered it to NASA as a possible site for the nation’s major space center, and with a chain of forced-draft studies which supported the Houston location, Johnson persuaded NASA to locate it, Manned Spacecraft Center there and to staff it with most of the brilliant men from Langley. Thus Lyndon Johnson’s Texas center became the arch rival of Von Braun’s Alabama center, and the war was on.
If Alabama backed EOR, Texas had to back LOR, and Mott found himself automatically allied with the flamboyant Texans against his original German allies in Huntsville. It was a fight which continued for almost a year, with politics, finances, regional pride, fundamental ideas and the great drives of the space age intermingled, and in the end a stalemate existed between Earth orbit and lunar orbit.
Senators Glancey and Grant became so uneasy with the impasse that they summoned Mott to testify before their committee, but he was so involved with the fighting that he asked to be excused, and they agreed that he should be saved for a rescue operation. Mrs. Pope did schedule hearings at which Alabama pleaded for EOR and Texas for LOR, and when the acrimonious debate ended, without conclusions, she telephoned Mott to appear before her two senators in the morning.
He drove through the night from an inspection he had been conducting at MIT and appeared before the senators bleary-eyed. Once more their words were harsh: “We’ve got to have a decision before the end of the month. See if you can knock heads.” He asked them which mode of landing they preferred, and Grant snapped: “We have no knowledge. All we have are the bills to pay.”
[389] Mott flew first to Texas, where a colossal space center was rising from marshland, and he had to admit: “If you’re going to do it, this is the way. Presto-changeo”. Let there be a space center!” He found the Texans adamant in believing that the Langley alternative was the only practical one: “Fly it high, throw everything away, orbit around the Moon and take minimum gear down to the surface, even less when you leave the Moon.” It could be accomplished with rockets then in existence, or about to be, and it was an elegant solution.
As a one-time engineer, Mott loved that word elegant, for it implied an entire scale of values: an elegant solution had to be simpler than its adversaries, it had to be easily assembled, it had to be cost-efficient, and it had to be instinctively satisfying to the engineering mind. Lunar rendezvous was elegant.
But it had to be sold to Alabama, which would be providing the rocketry, and when Mott reached Huntsville he sensed immediately that the Germans felt he was about to betray them. He had mournful meetings with Von Braun and Kolff and long-drawn-out sessions with the lesser engineers, who tried unsuccessfully to drive him into corners. When he talked with Kolff he found no concession whatever; a year ago the square-faced little man had placed his entire career and reputation on the line in favor of the Jules Verne Approach, and when his beloved big rockets were shot down, he transferred his loyalty to Von Braun, defending his leader’s EOR. Now he was being heckled to change again, and this he refused to do.
He asked Mott to dine with him on Monte Sano, and again Stanley met with Liesl and Magnus, who was preparing to play Telemann’s Concerto in D for Trumpet with an Alabama-Tennessee orchestra. “The solo part, you understand,” Mrs. Kolff said. “Five cities. He will travel in a bus and see places Dieter and I have never seen.”
“He’s very young for such an assignment,” Mott said.
“He’s been playing since he was four,” Dieter said. “A great tribute to America. You gave him the instrument, and the instruction.” After supper the parents persuaded their son to play the cadenza from the first movement of the concerto, and the stocky lad stood with his feet slightly apart, his head high, and played the limpid, rippling [390] music, displaying his skill at triple-tonguing and sustaining a long series of sweet, rounded notes. When he finished, he bowed and went upstairs to study.
But the Kolffs had not invited Mott to hear their son play; they wanted to talk with him about the great decisions soon to be made, and to his surprise Liesel joined him and Dieter when the chairs were placed on the porch so that the stars of summer could be seen. She said nothing, but she did listen intently.
KOLFF: I must talk frankly with you, Stanley.
MOTT: Not about manned flights. That’s settled.
KOLFF: Agreed. I know when my team has lost.
MOTT: And not about the Moon as target. We’re going there, and nothing can stop us.
KOLFF: Agreed. I tried to talk sense with you and failed.
MOTT: (with slight impatience): So what is it?
KOLFF: A problem with the most serious repercussions. (He spoke alternately in German and English, using simple words in the latter language, complex ones in the former, but he betrayed no preference, switching from one to the other in a lively flow of ideas.)
MOTT: Our decisions are nearly final. There can’t be much-
KOLFF: But there is, and this time you must listen, Stanley. I beg you, I pray you not to commit NASA to lunar-orbit rendezvous.
MOTT: You astonish me. Lunar orbit’s a marvelous solution.
KOLFF: Yes, but to a problem not worth solving.
MOTT: It’ll land us on the Moon. And get us off.
KOLFF: It’s a one-time spectacular. It’s a brilliant accomplishment with no constructive follow-on.
MOTT: With this technique we can go anywhere.
KOLFF: No, no, Stanley! It will carry you only to the Moon. And then its utility is dead ... vanished ... a costly dream wasted and down the drain.
MOTT (soberly): What do you see as the error, Dieter?
KOLFF: Von Braun’s solution of Earth-orbit rendezvous is infinitely superior because it gets you to the Moon almost as efficiently, but in addition, it erects a platform from which all the universe can be explored later on. Will we want a space station in permanent orbit? We can do [391] it from Earth rendezvous a hundred miles up, maybe three hundred, no more. Do we want to explore Mars and Venus? We’ll start from our space platform in Earth rendezvous. Mine the asteroids? Put great telescopes in space? Establish settlements on the Moon? All these things can be done if we start with a solid space platform constructed in Earth orbit. Your way we can do none of them.
MOTT: And we may refuse to do them all.
KOLFF: The sweep of history will not allow us to refuse. We must do each one.
MOTT: And if we do refuse?
KOLFF: If we prove irresponsible, other nations will carry on-Japan ... India ... France ... and always Russia.
MOTT: Are you badgering me because Von Braun asked you to?
KOLFF: Do you know the phrase sub specie aeternitatis? Under the eye of eternity? I am neither for Wernher nor against him. I only want this nation to do the right thing. I am acting as if eternity was watching over my shoulder.
MOTT: I’m afraid the decision’s gone against you, Dieter. We’re going to choose lunar rendezvous.
KOLFF: Then I shall have to oppose you. I’ll support Von Braun as vigorously as possible. Because I want to prevent you from making a tragic error ... from selling out cheaply when you know better. Something I never thought you would do.
But Dieter Kolff and the other Germans he enlisted in his crusade, men determined to go down fighting on this clearly perceived moral principle, received a staggering shock when Von Braun convened a meeting of the entire Alabama team and announced without emotion that at last he appreciated the reasoning of the men in Texas and was joining them. He said that his Alabama plan of Earth-orbit rendezvous was dead and that everyone should now rally behind the Texas lunar-orbit rendezvous and make it work.
Some of the Germans gasped when the announcement was made and a few challenged him to state his reasons, which he did, and after the hubbub had subsided he invited Mott to explain how the Texas-Alabama cooperation would work: “It could be seen, I suppose, as a crass political surrender to the might of Texas and Lyndon Johnson, but [392] that would be only partially true. It’s also the scientifically right choice. And there’s a third aspect which may override both the first and second. By doing it this way, we ensure all the major bases, and Cape Canaveral, of equally important assignments. We’ll break the instrument down into seven or eight parts. Huntsville will take responsibility for a couple, California for two or three, Mississippi for one, and Houston for its two, plus the astronaut program itself.”
“And how,” asked a practiced engineer, “can we possibly fit together seven parts made in seven or eight different shops?”
“By precision,” Mott said, and he started to explain how the specifications of each part would be so exactly drawn that it would abut against its neighbors below and above with tolerances of a thousandth of an inch. But then he saw with dismay that Dieter Kolff, infuriated by what he held to be a wrong decision, had risen to his feet, red of face, ready to blast the program while members of the press were in the room taking notes. He must be forestalled.
“And our good friend Dieter Kolff,” Mott said blandly, “will at last be able to build his monster rocket which will carry us to outer space.”
The Germans working under Kolff cheered, but Dieter, aware of the trick that had been used to silence him, glared and sat down. He and Mott would not speak to each other for seven years.
 
It was said previously that President Eisenhower, never an advocate of wasting money in space and almost an enemy of the program, made a series of crucial decisions and made them right. The first was when he placed the program in civilian hands and then protected it from military encroachment. His second may have been even more determinative, for when he learned that the fledgling NASA was about to broadcast a Civil Service Notice inviting civilians to apply for astronaut training at a salary of $8,330 a year and a rating of GS-12, he hit the roof, warning the administrators that such a blanket solicitation would bring crazies out of the woodwork, or as one jaundiced observer phrased it: “We’ll be deluged by all the matadors, scuba divers, hot-rod racers, hopheads, [393] Mount-Everest-because-it’s-there gang and half a dozen women who will demand that the Supreme Court enforce their right to fly.”
Eisenhower stopped such nonsense in a hurry. Summoning the NASA command, he said bluntly, “The men we need for this job are already in our armed forces. Our test pilots. They’ve been doing work like this for years and they’ll jump at the chance.” By that simple device he ensured that the first seven astronauts would be competent, disciplined types who would never embarrass the nation. Besides, as a military man, he knew he could hire the best Navy captains and Air Force colonels for $560 a month “plus a few perquisites here and there.”
Commander John Pope had been with his Air Group squadrons aboard the Tulagi off the coast of Asia, supervising intelligence flights over trouble spots like Korea and Vietnam when the first BuPers announcement was posted inviting any Navy fliers with test-pilot experience to volunteer for the pool from which a small group of men would be chosen for astronaut training. Since he was happy with his job, evaluating it correctly as an essential step to any position of high command, he could express no interest in this new career possibility, but he did notice that had he wanted to get back to that kind of work, he would have been eligible: “Two years experience as test pilot in at least twenty major types of aircraft, not over forty years of age as of 31 December, not over 5 feet 11 inches, not over 177 pounds.” He was vaguely pleased to see that he would have qualified on every point, and then he forgot the whole affair.
But in April 1959, when he became aware of the furor caused by the presentation of the first seven astronauts to the public, he checked carefully to ascertain whether any of his test-pilot friends were in the group, and for two days he moved about the Tulagi, telling anyone who would listen, “Hey, I know these guys. Al Shepard and Scott Carpenter were with me at Pax River. Great guys. I flew with John Glenn in Korea, him in daylight, me at night. At Edwards they told me this guy Slayton was a hotshot.”
From a distance he followed the press releases about the Sacred Seven, as an irreverent Navy pilot called them, and read with interest and a little envy the splendid stories Life ran about them and their wives. When the first [394] Mercury shots took off with monkeys as passengers, this same Navy pilot took to calling the over-publicized astronauts “Spam in a Can,” an allusion to the fact that they would be not aviators in the old sense but passive cargo in an intricate machine controlled by computers and ground-based directors.
Pope did not share this contempt. He argued that in the first stages of any new development the mechanics took priority, and he predicted: “Give men like that one flight, and they’ll take over. I know those characters. They’re take-charge guys.” And he assumed that they would be quickly leaving the Earth on their historic missions, but he had grossly miscalculated the difficulties the American program would encounter.
He was aboard the Tulagi that day in April 1961 when the Russian Yuri Gagarin made man’s first flight into space, and was depressed for several weeks by what he held to be a personal defeat: “Where were our Navy men? Why weren’t they up there first?” And his disappointments were not alleviated when Alan Shepard finally made what Pope had to describe as “a pathetic counter-gesture,” and after the details were made available he wrote a discouraged letter to his wife:
 
Don’t let your senators go around making speeches about the glorious triumph of our space program. Shepard’s flight was like a child’s sparkler when compared to Yuri Gagarin’s meteor. Shepard rose 116 miles in the air, Gagarin 203. Shepard was in the air 15 minutes, Gagarin 108. Our man traveled 303 miles, theirs 25,000. Shepard was weightless five minutes, Gagarin, 89 minutes. Tell your men to get busy.
 
John Glenn’s real flight into space, a three-orbit triumph, excited Pope enormously, and he began a collection of major stories about the astronaut and his reception in various nations. He learned the name of Glenn’s wife and the fact that she had a slight stammer “which she bravely overcame, proving that the wives of the astronauts have just as much courage as their husbands.” And he began to think seriously of volunteering for the astronaut corps [395] when the next group was chosen from the military test pilots.
But when the announcement was posted on the bulletin board at Jacksonville, where he was checking new planes to assure that they could land easily on the carriers stationed off the coast of Florida, he was forestalled from submitting his name by Admiral Crane, commander of the district, who gave him a sharply pointed fatherly talk:
 
“Pope, avoid this temptation. It looks enticing-to be an astronaut and to have your picture in the newsreels. And we can be proud of our Navy men. They’ve done a better job than any of the others. You know, of course, that John Glenn’s a Marine.
 
“But I assure you that every one of these men who leaves the service, Navy or Air Force or Army, will be surrendering his career in the service, whether he thinks he is or not. He’ll have the glamour for a while, the excitement of parades, but when he wants to come back and help run the Navy, he’ll find the doors quietly closing against him. The great job of running one of the nation’s armed services will be denied him.
 
“Pope, it’s well known in the Navy, and I’m sure you’ve suspected it, but you stand high in everyone’s opinion. We have no position to which you can’t aspire. You saw my last fitness report on you. The next one will be stronger. Don’t fritter away this golden opportunity by grasping at some temporary bauble. Leave the Moon to the wild-blue-yonder boys. The real job is down here on the oceans of the world.”
 
Pope did not volunteer for the second selection of astronauts, and he had put the matter pretty much out of mind when several things happened. In September 1962 when the new selections were announced, with the nine young men displayed on television, he shouted to Penny, who was visiting him from Washington, “Hey, they took Pete Conrad! You knew him at Pax River. You slept at his house one night, after the big party.” And when Penny ran into the room she found her husband shouting with [396] an excitement she had rarely witnessed, “That’s Frank Borman. I flew with him at Edwards. And I’m sure that little guy on the end was John Young. He’s a terrific flier. If it’s the Young I knew, he’s a hard driver.”
Now Pope began to follow with real longing the careers of the original Sacred Seven and the new Nifty Nine, for these were men his own age, men he had flown with, men with whom he had conducted simulated dogfights in untested planes over the silvery waters of the Chesapeake or the barren flats at Edwards. He remembered going up to Pete Conrad one morning at Pax River and asking, “Anything odd about this crate?” and he could almost hear the Princeton man instructing him: “Very delicate when you try to land at low speeds.”
But his sudden interest related in no way to any dissatisfaction with his own career. Admiral Crane had guessed right about Pope’s good standing with the Navy hierarchy, because shortly after his perceptive observations at Jacksonville, John received notice of his promotion to full commander and an assignment as executive officer aboard his old carrier Tulagi, still stationed in the Pacific. This nipped any personal interest in space that might have been germinating, for as he prepared himself for his new duties, Crane stopped by to talk to him: “Aren’t you glad you stayed with the fleet? Discharge this duty with distinction and you’ll earn yourself captain’s stripes. After that, you’re eligible for any job we have.”
Penny was delighted to hear of his promotion and arranged to fly down to Pensacola for the party for which he would don his new stripes, and John was pleased to see how she radiated her pleasure. As they were dressing for the celebration she uttered a little yelp of glee as he donned his new uniform. “You’re even more handsome as a full commander.” Then she tried to talk about her job, but he was too preoccupied to follow the details. Later she said, “I told you something about ten minutes ago, but you weren’t listening. Senator Glancey’s had me busy getting authorization for a special selection of astronauts. The program’s moving ahead faster than we anticipated. Would you have any interest in volunteering?”
“Nope. I did, briefly, a few months back. But things have opened up better than I could have expected in the Navy chain of command. I’m set.”
[397] She kissed kiln ardently and cried. “I’m so relieved, John. As I watch the space program unfold, it seems so damned … well, hysterical. Politicians using it to get bases for their districts. Newspapers using it to up their sales. And this man from Folks laying his oily plans. In the end, many of the astronauts will be short-changed.”
“Admiral Crane said the same thing, months ago.”
“And I’ve a strong feeling that when it’s at its height, the country will drop it like a bad tomato!”
When John said he doubted that last statement, she said, “I already see signs that Glancey is beginning to back off, and he’s an absolute litmus paper. He and Lyndon Johnson see things ten years before they happen.”
“How about Grant?”
“He’s a dear, John. Red, white and blue right through the center of his limited brain. I love that man.” She laughed uneasily, then added, “I mean, my heart breaks for him sometimes. His dipsy-doodle wife. That crazy daughter of his. He really deserves better.”
“What’s his daughter up to now?”
“Haven’t you heard? She’s a Ph.D. and dean of faculty at a university in Los Angeles.”
“I don’t think that’s so crazy.”
“But the university has no faculty. It sells beautifully engraved diplomas for five hundred dollars each. We can get you a second Ph.D. anytime you say the word.”
They had a passionate celebration in Pensacola, a treasured meeting of two people whose love had grown each year since high school, but an embarrassing moment occurred during the rowdy speeches in the officers’ club. John had said how much he appreciated his promotion, even though he wasn’t sure he deserved it-loud protests-when Penny rose, rattled her knife against her glass, and said, “Promotions everywhere in the Pope family.” Facing her husband, she said, “I didn’t want to intrude on your celebration, but I’m the new permanent counsel of the Senate Space Committee.”
Amid cheers and whistles, wives gathered around her with kisses, and John, watching from his end of the table, had the ugly thought: That flush of excitement when she arrived was caused by her promotion, not mine. What he did not remember was that she had tried to tell him of her good luck but was prevented from doing so by his [398] inattention. Then, dismissing such speculation as unworthy, he jumped from his chair, elbowed his way through the wives, caught Penny by her two hands, and drew her toward him for a kiss.
“Does permanent counsel mean you can’t be fired?”
“Not unless I steal funds.”
“Hooray! We can afford a new car!”
Commander Pope’s career would probably have proceeded according to Admiral Crane’s predictions had the carrier Tulagi remained in Pacific waters, but it did not, and when Pope reported for duty as executive officer he learned that his immediate assignment was to accompany the carrier out of Jacksonville and into the Caribbean, where it would serve as the principal recovery vessel for the three-orbit flight which Astronaut Scott Carpenter was about to make in his Mercury capsule Aurora-7.
The briefing book for the recovery procedure contained one hundred and forty-one pages, with a biography of Carpenter which showed that he had learned his test-piloting at Pax River. From a first rapid reading of the instructions, Pope deduced that about two dozen Navy ships would be in position to monitor the flight and pick Carpenter up from whatever part of the ocean he landed in, Pacific or Atlantic, and that about 125 airplanes would be in flight to lend assistance.
 
At the heart of everything [he wrote to Penny] will be the Tulagi, waiting with helicopters, powerboats and rescue frogmen to see that our boy gets down safely. We’ll spot the capsule on radar first, track it into our location, then pick it up visually so that we can vector our copters into the exact point he hits. It’s an amazing exercise in tactics and I’m proud to have my ship play a part in it.
 
He studied each page of the briefing book and became acquainted with what everyone along the flight path would be doing at each moment: the lonely watchers on Ascension Island, the remote listeners in Australia, the men in the fail-safe destroyer near the Antarctic Ocean, the hundred-odd experts at Cape Canaveral who would follow each mile of the flight. And always he would come back [399] to the duties of his carrier Tulagi, whose operations would close the circle and bring Scott Carpenter home safely.
It was an intricate role the carrier had: to position itself properly so as to track the capsule as it descended under its parachute, then dispatch helicopters at the proper signal, deploy frogmen to rescue Carpenter if his system fouled the way Gus Grissom’s had endangered him on the second Mercury flight, arrange for the orderly transfer of the astronaut to the carrier, and dispatch the proper messages to assure the world that the flight had ended safely.
Much of this detail focused on Pope, and to ensure its proper execution he drilled his teams repeatedly, both in dry runs and in real-time simulations. Insofar as he could determine, the Tulagi was going to perform competently, quietly, very forcefully, and when the great carrier steamed out of Jacksonville with sixteen newspaper and television reporters aboard, he told everyone, “This is a military assignment. I shall expect outstanding performance.”
The Tulagi assumed its station in the Caribbean on the afternoon of 22 May 1962, with the expectation that Carpenter would descend out of the skies in the late morning of 24 May. Helicopters were tested, radio circuits to the mainland were checked, and the frogmen were sent into the water on both the twenty-second and the twenty-third to be sure that they were familiar with temperatures and currents.
Shortly before dawn on the morning of the twenty-fourth the Tulagi was hit by a chain of squalls that deposited a great amount of rain and caused some of the reporters to file disheartening stories, but by 0900 the storms had departed and the ocean had assumed a character so benevolent that one newsman said, “Hell, he can water-ski over to us,” and at that moment the powerboats that would deliver the frogmen to the capsule flashed by, throwing spray. It was a glorious morning, the kind that Columbus must have known when sailing these waters.
Now the Tulagi began to receive reassuring messages from the control center at Cape Canaveral: “Aurora-7 on target. All systems go. All stations reporting favorably. Splashdown as scheduled.”
But when the flight was about an hour from its completion, ugly little uncertainties began to intrude, and [400] once Pope heard Cape Canaveral asking: “How much fuel?” He did not hear the answer, but the Cape said: “Check again. How much fuel?”
Thirty minutes out it became apparent that something had gone badly wrong, because the Cape was signaling ships far distant from the Tulagi to prepare for possible recovery maneuvers, and when Pope checked to see where those vessels were-although he knew perfectly from his studies-he saw that they were two hundred and three hundred miles distant.
“What’s happening?” he demanded of a NASA specialist aboard the carrier, but that man could give no definite explanation: “Fuel problem, apparently.
“Isn’t he going to land here?” Pope asked.
“Splash down,” the NASA man corrected, and he said the words so mechanically, as if using the right terminology was important, that Pope wanted to slug him.
“Is he going to splash down here?” he asked, emphasizing each word, but before the NASA man could respond, the radio crackled: “USS Intrepid, prepare to recover.” The Intrepid was 250 miles away! Shepard had landed almost on target. So had Gus Grissom, while Glenn’s landing had been marvelously good. This one was a fiasco, and as the minutes passed with nothing in the sky, John Pope stood by the railing of his carrier and came as close to cursing as he ever had.
Why did we have to be the ones they cheated? he asked himself again and again. He had practiced how he would greet Carpenter when he came aboard: “Good afternoon, Scott. Some distance from Pax River.” For two days on the trip out he had been unable to remember Mrs. Carpenter’s name, although he knew her well, and the papers given him did not state it, so he had TWXed the Cape: “WHAT NAME MRS. CARPENTER?” and they had replied “RENE” and then of course he remembered.
He had planned to end his greeting with: “They assure us Rene is fine.” It would have been a nice touch.
And now it was all down the drain. The minutes passed and the surface of the Caribbean remained unruffled. No boats were launched. No helicopters left the deck. The great carrier rolled almost imperceptibly on the bosom of the sea, and John Pope became more and more outraged.
When the radio announced that the Intrepid had made [401] a good, routine recovery and that Carpenter was in fine shape despite his misadventure, Pope’s confusion reached an apex: he was wildly furious at having been robbed of an experience he had planned for, but he was also torn with longing: God, I want to fly again! I want to test every plane in the world. The Moon ... He bit his lower lip until the pain startled him: The Moon. I know every crater on the Moon. He remained by the ship’s railing, tears of desire flooding his eyes, and then he stormed down to his cabin, where with trembling fingers he typed out a dispatch to a friend at BuPers in Washington:
 
I’m informed that before NASA selects its first contingent of astronauts trained in science, it’s going to enroll a special group of six with intensive flight-test experience. I fulfill their specifications as to age, weight, height, combat duty and flight-test. I seek permission to apply and will clear personally with my commanding officer, Admiral Crane.
 
To his surprise, the admiral flew personally to the Tulagi, where in the flag quarters he delivered a message from the Navy brass which astonished Commander Pope:
 
“John, I gave you bad advice at Jacksonville, and I apologize. When I cautioned you then against becoming an astronaut, I was thinking selfishly only of the Navy. I failed to realize how immense this space thing was, and how vital it’s going to become in the future to the Navy’s interest.
 
“NASA is going to pick six men in the special draft, we’re told, and it’s of maximum importance that at least two of them be Navy men. I know that the Army is grooming some of its likely candidates and the Air Force is frantic. They feel space belongs to them and that they’ve been short-changed. We have to get in there fighting. We’ve got to put our best men forward, and we all agree that you’re our prime candidate.
 
“The head of the selection committee is an Air Force astronaut you may have known at Edwards. Deke Slayton. This gives them a leg up, but they assure [402] me he’s very fair. You know anything about him? Well, study up. Find out what he likes to drink, what planes he flew, everything, because his veto is fatal. I suppose you know he was scheduled to take the flight that Carpenter took. Heart trouble scrubbed him. I wouldn’t blame him if he were bitter about it. But he’s the man you have to satisfy.”
 
Admiral Crane arranged for Pope to be relieved of duty aboard the Tulagi and flown to New York, where a selected group of Navy and civilian types briefed him and seven other Navy applicants on how men of promise conducted themselves when applying for important assignments. A psychologist stationed at Annapolis identified the body signals which indicated whether a man was a hard driver, or, God forbid, a born loser.
 
“Lean forward from the knees, not the waist. Always look as if you were prepared to step into a major task or belt someone right in the nose. Do not cock your head. It indicates indecision. If you have an unusually dark beard, shave twice a day, but never, never use powder. Real men use soap.”
 
He specified some fifty signs which other men check for when seeking prime movers, and the young Navy men listened, but they remembered longest the less highly structured advice given by an Annapolis man who had left the Navy to become head of a large corporation:
 
“Men of substance, and that’s what the committee will be looking for, wear socks which reach to the knee. There’s nothing worse than to see an executive showing ten inches of bare leg. Not one of my assistants has a pair of brown socks or brown shoes. The work of the world is done by men who wear neatly polished black shoes.
 
 “And for God’s sake, if they ask you to dinner, which I’m sure they will, remember three things. Do not drum nervously with your fork or spoon. Pick them up only to eat with, then put them down. Second, if drinks are ordered, don’t ask for wine. Men drink [403] whiskey, never rum, that’s for exotics, and gin only in martinis. Third, it can be very effective if you eat English style, knife in right hand, fork in left. It lifts you out of the ordinary.”
 
A football coach had been invited, not from Annapolis, whose teams were pretty awful, but from one of the Big Eight universities, which took education seriously:
 
“I’ve talked with men who were on the earlier selection committees and they have the widest possible interests. Look at the great job they’ve done. Sixteen choices, sixteen winners. And they mean to extend that record. So try to create the impression that you’re rugged, that you can respond constructively to pressure. For Christ’s sake, don’t stand with your hands on your hips. Window dressers do that.
 
“But on the other hand, and this is important, don’t come at them like gangbusters. They’re not looking for gorillas, they’re looking for executive types who can take charge of a mission valued at billions of dollars. They know you’re brave or you wouldn’t be in the final draft, so you don’t have to impress them with your heroism. They don’t want heroes, they want competents.
 
“Now, this is funny for me to say, a football coach, but watch your language. Speak in complete sentences. Because in your training you’ll have to do an immense amount of reading, a lot of writing. You can use test-pilot lingo, but don’t use a lot of er’s and uh’s, because there will be men in the group just as good as you are in flying planes who can also speak English.”
 
From New York, Pope and the others flew down to Houston, where they were registered under assumed names in the Rice Hotel. Since there would be four days of intensive interrogation and medical checking, the candidates were advised by means of a printed sheet on their pillows to get a good night’s sleep, and Pope did.
He awakened early, determined to make a good impression on the committee, and after shaving, called his wife [404] to assure her that he was in this to the bitter end: “When I stood by the railing of that carrier, waiting for the sky to bring us its messenger, I knew I wanted to be an astronaut. I have never wanted anything so much. Pray for me, because this is what God intended me to be.”
When he walked briskly in to the committee, leaning slightly forward in his polished shoes and knee-length black socks, he was enormously attractive, in a manly sort of way, five feet seven inches tall, one hundred and forty-seven pounds, close-cropped brown hair, thirty-two strong teeth, and eyes with 20-20 vision. He could write well, knew astronomy at the professional level, and carried with him one of the best records ever compiled at Pax River, but when he looked into the eyes of grim-faced Deke Slayton he realized that during the next few days this committee was going to meet with more than a hundred young pilots as good as he, and he was terrified.
However, alongside the stern-faced military men on the selection committee, there was at one end of the table a man who looked more like a college professor. He was in his forties, perhaps, wore steel-rimmed glasses, smiled easily, and stood when Slayton introduced him: “Dr. Stanley Mott, our resident brain.” Pope believed that his destiny rested in the vote of this sympathetic man, but then he saw with amazement the candidate who had preceded him, and his jaw dropped. The test pilot had lingered to speak with an Air Force officer on the board, and now saw Pope.
“Pope! They must be scrapin’ the bottom of the barrel.” It was Major Randy Claggett, the Marine’s favorite candidate and a man not at all overawed by the committee. When he clapped his old buddy on the back before sauntering from the room, Pope saw that he was not wearing knee-length black socks.
 
It was a gala night for the Germans in Huntsville: a local cinema had obtained a print of the new motion picture I Aim at the Stars, and everyone bought tickets because this was the film biography of their hero, Wernher von Braun.
There were rumors that the movie took unwarranted liberties with his life, and that in order to make it more appealing to female audiences, his well-remembered German secretary at Peenemünde was converted into a [405] beautiful English spy, but it was also said that the popular German actor Curt Jurgens gave a sensitive portrayal of Von Braun himself. At any rate, the Peenemünde gang appeared in full force, hoping for the best and eager to “Show their children what the German rocket center had been like.
The program started with selections by the local orchestra, and young Magnus Kolff distinguished himself with a beautiful rendition of Carnival of Venice, which pleased his parents, who invited him to sit between them when the movie started, but he disappointed them by preferring to remain with the younger orchestra members.
The movie was a disaster. Hardly an item of engineering background was accurate. The set bore no resemblance to Peenemünde, and the incidents were so contrived as to be grotesque. The Kolffs looked in vain for any of the scenes they had known so well during their courtship, and other engineers were openly disgusted by the nonsense. Von Braun, fortunately, was not present to share the ignominy of this night, but all who were felt that their role in history had been denigrated or even burlesqued.
For example, the miracle of Dieter and Liesl Kolff’s escape with the crucial papers was not even mentioned, and what was worse, a newspaper in the area reprinted an irreverent review of the picture which had appeared in an English newspaper: “I Aim at the Stars, but Sometimes Hit London.” The Peenemünde people were outraged, and Mrs. Kolff told her son, “A man as great as Von Braun, nobody should be allowed to make fun of him.”


VI
TWINS
WHEN Stanley Mott took his seat at the table during the first meeting of the selection committee and saw the list of the hundred and ten applicants for the six available spots in the astronaut program, he went immediately to the chairman and said, “I think I must disqualify myself. I know one of these men.”
“Which one?”
“Number forty-seven. Charles Lee, Army test pilot. It he uses the nickname Hickory, I know him. He worked for me as gate-guard at Huntsville.”
“What did you think of him?”
“Real Tennessee hillbilly. Finest kid I ever knew. My wife thought the same about his wife, another hillbilly called Sandra. I told him to quit his guard’s job and get himself an education.”
“Did he?”
“Yep. My wife found his wife a nursing job. He went to Vanderbilt. Graduated with honors.”
“That’s the kind of man we’re seeking. Stay here and share your opinion with us.”
“I won’t vote when his name comes up.”
“If he’s that good, you won’t have to.”
So Mott had stayed, had studied each of the competitors, and had voted strongly for Randy Claggett of Texas and John Pope of Fremont, both of whom were accepted. His [407] rugged testimonial on behalf of Hickory Lee enabled that young man to make the list also, but his three other choices were rejected.
After the six winners had been introduced to the public at a large press conference, NASA officials handed Mott a radical new assignment, but one which would give him great satisfaction during the next decade: “You’re a sensible man. Know a lot about engineering and science. We want you to look after the indoctrination and education of these young men. The way things are going, they’ll form the backbone of our program some years down the line and we want them to be in top shape.”
The first thing Mott did was to check his impressions of the six new astronauts against the more technical knowledge of the psychiatrist who had supervised the analyses of the original hundred and ten, dismissing about thirty out of hand, and he found Dr. Loomis Crandall of a clinic in Denver a most engaging fellow. A chain-smoker, prematurely gray, he was in his early forties, a graduate of the University of Chicago with advanced work in Vienna and Rome and solid experience as an Air Force psychologist at Colorado Springs. His youthful energy, coupled with his gray hair, lent him exactly the proper combination of erudition and street smarts for working with brash young test pilots.
He did not speak jargon. “What you’ve got to work with, Dr. Mott, are six of the most highly motivated young men in America. Look at their faces. Look at their records.” And he spread on the table six large photographs of the winners, each with a three-line summary:
 
Randolph Claggett, 1929. Texas A & M. Major, USMC. Patuxent River.
Charles ‘Hickory’ Lee, 1933. Vanderbilt Univ. Major, US Army. Edwards.
Timothy Bell, 1934. Univ. of Arkansas. Civilian. Allied Aviation test pilot.
Harry Jensen, 1933. Univ. of Minnesota. Captain, US Air Force. Edwards.
Edward Cater, 1931. Mississippi State. Major, US Air Force. Edwards.
John Pope, 1927. Annapolis. Cmdr., US Navy. Patuxent River.
 
[408] Mott checked this list as Dr. Crandall recited his conclusions: “Pope’s the oldest, Bell’s the youngest, the rest are nicely bunched. Homogeneous in most other ways, too. All Protestant. All from small towns. All married and all with at least two kids, except Pope. All from the Midwest or South.
“Now, that last point’s significant. To have passed our strict surveillance, these men must have had a central tendency in their lives. Good behavior, bravery, a certain religious bent. The whole mix. And what do you suppose is the best name for that? Patriotism. Old-fashioned patriotism. And where do you find that these days? Mainly in the South. In the Civil War country. Mott, if you took one thousand of the men who really run the Army, Navy, Air Force and Marines, you’d find that seventy percent of them come from the South, which has only ... what? Thirty percent of the population. Totally out of proportion, but that’s because the heroic occupations have always appealed to the Southern man ... and the Southern woman. Look at the list. Texas, Tennessee, Arkansas, Mississippi. And the chap who graduated from Minnesota was born in South Carolina. Went north only because his family was Swedish and they wanted him in Minnesota surroundings.”
Mott asked why the astronauts so far contained no Catholics, and Crandall had a prompt answer: “What have we insisted on in these first groups? Training in math, engineering, science, test-piloting most of all. And what does test-piloting demand? Training in math, engineering, science. And what do the great Catholic schools emphasize? Anything but math, engineering and science. So up to now a young man trained in the Catholic tradition has simply not been eligible.
“Hell, I’m Catholic. I desperately wanted a Catholic in this batch, especially since none appeared in the first groups. But where to find one? Not at Notre Dame. Not at Villanova.” He pushed his papers back and said enthusiastically, “We’ve got some great leads for a couple of hotshot Catholics in the next batch.”
Crandall emphasized the conspicuous fact that almost all the astronauts so far, and certainly all of this group, came from small towns. “I’ve pondered this, and it can’t [409] be genetic, or a matter of aptitude. It must be a socioeconomic factor. Boys from small towns tend to live close to their parents. They’re urged to take things seriously. Their families encouraged them to study, join the Boy Scouts, play games. These men, all of them, had character ingrained in them by the time they were ten.
“You can get that in the city, but more often you’re led into other channels. Business. Manipulative professions like the one I’m in. Political management.” He paused. “I’ll tell you one thing, Mott, I’d hate to live in a country governed by these astronauts. Very conservative. Very unimaginative in any field outside their own. They’re all Republicans, you know.”
But he also stressed what Mott already knew, that these men were determined to succeed. “Every one is a super-achiever, driven by the most profound determination to do things right. Cowardice, recalcitrance, the temptation to do sloppy work, all suppressed. Their capacity to do extra work is unbelievable, so if you’re to be in charge of their education, don’t fear to pile it on. These men will learn ten times as much as the average A student. Ten times as much as you or I could have mastered. These are super machines.”
When Mott queried him about one peculiarity shared by the six, Crandall grew expansive. “The point you raise worried me at first. Twenty-two astronauts-twenty-two of the best young men in America and not an outstanding athlete among them. Why? Well, I did a lot of double-doming and came up with a batch of fancy explanations. “Boys with the amount of drive they have don’t waste their time with games.” Or maybe “Engineering and science require so much lab work, there’s no time for daily football practice.” Or perhaps “In athletics the motivations are all external. What the coach says. What the rules say. In the fields these men work in, the disciplines are internal.” I had half a dozen other goodies, and when I discussed them with faculty members some of the teachers were rather pleased that in this most demanding of life tests, the super-athletes did not do poorly. They did nothing. Blank.”
He raised his hands as if to confess his bewilderment, then broke into a cheerful laugh. “Stupid me! I had over looked one simple fact which explained it all. In each [410] successive selection, we’ve picked smaller men. So they can fit into the machines we’re building. If we had selected the really bright football linemen, and there are some, believe me, they’d have stood six feet four and weighed two hundred and fifty. One of those gorillas would require more space than two of our men like Grissom and Young. As a matter of fact, the engineers who build the machines wish we’d keep the maximum height something less than five-eight and the weight no more than one-sixty.”
Mott said, “I seem to remember that John Pope did pretty well in football. Claggett, too.”
“They all played games,” Crandall conceded. “And some were pretty good. But not one of the first twenty-two was what you’d call a superjock, and very sneakily I weasel back to my first guess. They weren’t because men like these do not waste their time on sports, for the good reason that the goals they’ve set for themselves will not permit that extravagance.”
He made two other warning points. “Astronauts by an enormous margin are first-born children. They’ve been pampered. They have powerful egos. Their parents may have driven them too hard, but they also loved them. These men expect to be cared for. Do not brush them off. On the other hand, no astronaut, regardless of the pressure we put him under, has ever developed a gastric ulcer. These sonsabitches know something you and I haven’t learned. Work like hell all day, but turn it off at night. Eat a good meal and get a good night’s sleep. So you don’t have to treat them like china. These bastards are tough.”
He had more statistical analyses which he might have shared with Mott, but he felt that since the salient points had been covered, it was time to bring in a man with whom Mott would be forced to work in close tandem. “I want you to meet Tucker Thompson, chief honcho for Folks magazine. He’s primarily responsible for breaking the stranglehold Life had on the astronauts, and he’s got to make good on these six or get fired.”
Before Mott could say “I’ve already met Thompson,” the editor burst eagerly into the room, smiling enthusiastically, and Mott had an opportunity to inspect more closely the man with whom he would be working. He was tall, bronzed, about fifty, and when he extended his hand, his cuff disclosed an imposing link made of a large gold [411] nugget. He wore a button-down collar and a tie of rich solid color, a pair of exquisitely pressed black trousers, an expensive white jacket and, of course, tasseled shoes. He was slightly bald, a fact which showed to good advantage when he smiled. for then his large face seemed enormous-a vast expanse of tanned skin, shimmering eyes and very white teeth.
“I’m Tucker Thompson,” he said, starting to step forward. But then he stopped, drew back, and pointed at Mott with a long forefinger. “Hey! I know you. I met you in Senator Grant’s office. You’re …” He hesitated. “You’re Dr. Mott.”
He brought with him a set of the family photographs already taken by his magazine, and when he spread them on the desk, Dr. Crandall added an obvious point: “Yes, I forgot to say. These young men were never afraid to marry the prettiest girl in town. No psychological hang-ups about the conflicting roles of husband and wife. Boom! They’re in bed.” And with a pencil he identified the wives.
“Four normal. Two problems. The Swede Jensen married the Swede Inger. All-American, all-Americans. The Tennessee boy they call Hickory married a daughter of a Tennessee hillbilly, and every man should be so lucky. Outdoor type, has her own horse, her own used car. But when she dresses up! Get back in line, you guys.”
Mott studied Mrs. Lee’s photograph and marveled at how far she had progressed from the rather awkward girl he had known at Huntsville. “She was a friend of my wife’s. Look at those steely eyes. That one can do anything she puts her mind to.”
“The civilian Bell,” Dr. Crandall continued, “The lad so highly recommended by Senator Glancey, found himself a real doll, as you can see. Probably the best mother of the group.”
“She photographs like a million,” Tucker Thompson said. “With or without the three kids.”
“Ed Cater, the Air Force man from Mississippi, married himself a woman who is most deceptive. Looks like Miss Confederacy but ran a mortgage firm before she married Ed. Bright as they come.”
“I don’t see any problems there,” Mott said, adjusting his glasses. “Except my own. Keeping my mind on the job.”
“The problems hit us with these two,” Thompson said, [412] “and if I’d have been on the selecting committee, I don’t think I’d have allowed these two in. They damage our case.”
He pointed to the photograph of Debby Dee Claggett: loose-fitting blouse, sandals, blond hair somewhat awry, smoking a cigarette. “Frankly, she looks blowzy. We had a board meeting to decide how we should play her. She’s not an outdoor type. She’s not a cover girl. And she has two real significant drawbacks. Two of her kids are by another man. He’s dead, of course. They were legally married. And I find she has the habit of calling anyone she doesn’t like, or likes a great deal, ‘that sonnombeech.’ ”
Distastefully he turned Debby Dee’s photograph face downward and in its place produced a real horror. “Our makeup people decided to see what they could do with Debby Dee. What do you think?” In her improved version Debby Dee wore frills about her throat, dangling green earrings, a bouffant hair style, and a smile displaying more than twenty teeth, two of which had been filled with gold.
Nobody spoke, and after a while Tucker Thompson confided: “When she saw the photo she said, “That sonnombeech looks like a Shanghai whore.” We have a problem with Debby Dee.”
“What did your board decide?” Mott asked.
“We can play her two ways. Texas wholesome. We can claim her father owned a large ranch.”
“Did he?”
“Nobody knows where he is.” He coughed. “Or what I proposed, we can stress the death of her first husband.”
“But you said his being the father of two of the kids was a drawback,” Crandall said.
“In our business you often take a weakness and make an asset of it. Throw it right in the public’s face. We’ve been checking the record, and she seems to have behaved with extraordinary courage when her husband went down. We have some pictures. We can claim that Claggett was the closest family friend. Proposed immediately to care for the orphans, all that jazz. We convert a liability into an asset.”
“Your best bet,” Crandall said, “is to play her as a windblown original.”
“Dangerous,” Thompson warned. “Very dangerous. [413] Because you never know how the American public is going to react to an original. Especially a female original. Now you take two all-time winners, Gertrude Stein and Amy Lowell. God, you couldn’t get two zanier women than that, but we took them to our hearts. Now we sell automobiles with Picasso’s portrait of Gertrude Stein. We might have the same phenomenon with Debby Dee, but we might not, too.”
“Can we prohibit her from saying sonnombeech in public?” Crandall asked.
“I’m not sure that Debby Dee will take correction,” Thompson said, and with this he turned to his last photograph, Mrs. John Pope, legal counsel to the Senate Space Committee. She appeared in office garb, a neat red skirt falling just below her knees, a white Peter Pan collar and a string of beautiful imitation pearls. Her hair was pulled back and fastened with a barrette, but it was her dark eyes which commanded attention.
“We saw her, you know,” Mott reminded the editor, “in Senator Grant’s office.”
“I remember. In an office she’s great. But in our effort, she could turn out to be poison.”
“Why?” Mott asked. “She fills your bill completely, I’d say. Small town. Attends church. Childhood sweetheart.”
“She’s a time bomb, gentlemen,” Thompson said from long experience. “What has Life discovered with its astronauts? On the day the flight takes off you want a news photo of the wife waiting at home, or maybe praying in church. The kids. The white picket fence. The distressed neighbors on whom she leans. If one of the sons has a skateboard, so much the better, but a bicycle’s best of all. The daughter with a doll, not a teddybear. This tears at the heart, makes the space shot much more real than the pictures of the rocket blasting off.
“Now what the hell do we photograph if Astronaut John Pope takes off on a dangerous mission? His wife in her Washington office biting a pencil? She ought to be miles from Washington in some small town in a white house with a picket fence. And dammit, she doesn’t have any children. Everything about this capable woman adds up wrong. And do you know what I fear? These damned professional women. During the flight, when we can’t keep [414] the ordinary press away from her, she’ll say something. “Why aren’t there any Colored in the program?” “When will they take women up the way the Russians have just done?” God knows what she’ll say, but you can bet it’ll be counterproductive.”
He tapped the handsome photograph with his pencil and predicted: “That woman’s a nuclear bomb. Planted right at the heart of my program.”
“The obvious story,” Mott said, “is that this brave girl works in the very office, et cetera, et cetera.”
“In my business,” Thompson said, “you’re not to be too clever. Stick to the little house and the white fence. And do you know why? Two-thirds of our readers are women, and they instinctively despise bright young women like Penny Pope who hold jobs and keep their weight down.”
“Except for Debby Dee,” Mott pointed out, “your first four are rather thin.”
“But they’re also pretty. Like models. Women expect models to be thin. And none of them is contaminated by having a job.” With a broad sweep of his hand he indicated the entire gallery. “If a woman is pretty, thin is beautiful. If she has an administrative job, thin is avaricious and mean-spirited. You tell me what to do with this one.” And he pointed accusingly at Penny Pope.
 
All such questions became vital to Rachel Mott when NASA employed her to act as a kind of cicerone to the families of the six new astronauts. She got the exciting assignment because of the excellent record being compiled by her husband, but everyone who knew her realized that she was perfectly suited for such a task. She was a mature forty-three, always well groomed, a fine housekeeper with children of her own, and a Bostonian with a strong sense of obligation.
When she and Stanley took up residence near the new space headquarters in Houston, she was distressed when Millard elected to remain in California with the young men of the surfboard coterie, but she was pleased to see how easily Christopher, now thirteen, adapted himself to life in Texas. What gratified her especially was the respect shown her husband by everyone at NASA, where he was recognized not only as the mentor of the new astronauts but also as one of the most brilliant of the permanent staff. [415] It seemed that he moved from one important ad hoc committee to another, serving first as an engineer on some highly technical problem, then as a scientist on matters dealing with outer space.
His principal energy, however, was directed toward inducting the six young men into the mysteries of NASA, and within a week of their reporting to Houston he had them scheduled into a round of learning situations which resembled advanced work in some fine engineering university, except that the men had two hours a day of theory and ten hours of laboratory. This schedule would continue for about six months, after which they would move into specialized applications.
Such concentrated work left the wives free to follow their own obligations and interests, and this was where Rachel Mott’s responsibilities began.
Tucker Thompson saw to it that the wives were photographed regularly at those occupations which would best represent the female half of the NASA effort. Since three of the women had strong church affiliations-with the most respectable denominations, not the Holy Roller type that flourished in the South-there was a fruitful opportunity for shots of a reassuring nature: Sunday School, picnics, suppers for old folk, standing outside the church with the other parishioners on Sunday morning. He was also very strong on family outings when the astronauts were in Houston and on Little League baseball games; he had a low opinion of basketball: “Mostly a Colored game these days. Baseball is what our readers have faith in.”
Rachel saw the women at their more normal tasks, and although at first they had been suspicious of her, judging her to be a NASA spy, they came in time to respect her professionalism and her force of character. She was both sympathetic and persuasive and was never reluctant to express a strong opinion if she felt it needed. Her neatness, her command of English and her taste in clothes were impressive to these young women, who were equally attentive to their own appearances.
She had a hard time with Debby Dee, who was only six years younger and not disposed to pay much attention to what anyone presumed to tell her, but Rachel did not brood upon this failure, for she found the Texas woman far too brash for her taste and the Claggett children even less [416] disciplined than her own. The Claggetts were not a family she would have sought out, and she was somewhat gratified when her husband reported that he was not having much success with Major Claggett. “He finishes his work faster than others and he knows airplanes inside out, but he’s very difficult to communicate with. Fends everything off with a joke.”
Like everyone else, Rachel found herself in love with the Swedes, Harry and Inger Jensen, for they were attractive, bright and extremely eager to please. “Perpetual Boy Scouts,” someone described them, and Harry had indeed been an Eagle Scout. They were a pair easy to identify in that each had blond hair and a narrow triangular face. Their eyes were blue; they smiled incessantly; and they were in love.
She worried about the civilian couple, for they seemed to lack the harsh fiber that characterized the military families, even though Stanley assured her that Tim Bell was one of the hottest pilots private industry had so far produced. “General Funkhauser of Allied Aviation does not recommend a man who can’t cut the mustard. Look for the wife’s good qualities, not her weakest ones.” The trouble with the Bells, as Rachel saw it, was that the husband was inordinately good-looking, while the wife had that baby-doll prettiness which often spelled danger. Since she photographed magnificently, and since her husband looked more like a hotshot test pilot than any of the other men, their pictures were widely distributed, and in time Mrs. Mott came to agree that despite their possible weaknesses, the Bells were a considerable asset to the program.
She found it easy to like the three pretty Southern wives, Cater, Jensen, Lee; they conducted themselves well, assisted whenever called upon, and seemed indistinguishable from the millions of resilient wives who had accompanied their husbands in ages past when the latter went forth with Julius Caesar to the frontiers of empire, or with Robert Clive to the pacification of India, or with Douglas MacArthur to his occupation of Japan. They were professionals, and since she had made herself one at El Paso and Huntsville, she respected them.
Gloria Cater, the one-time business woman from Mississippi, was a constant surprise, a combination of [417] Southern ante-bellum beauty and a tough sense of self-protection. Inger Jensen was frail, talkative and great fun to be with. But the gem of the Dixie contingent, in Rachel Mott’s opinion, had to be tomboy Sandra Lee from the hills of central Tennessee.
She had been extremely fond of this self-directed beauty and saw with approval that Sandy apparently assessed the NASA experience with neat accuracy. She could turn on whatever mood Tucker Thompson and his photographers wanted, then walk away untouched by the nonsense. Rachel enjoyed hearing her tell how Hickory had wound up an astronaut: “My boy tore Vanderbilt apart. Straight A’s. Earned a commission in the Army, then his wings, then a master’s in aeronautical engineering at MIT, straight A’s again.” But Rachel noticed that one could approach the Lees only so far; then the mountain couple retreated; they did not permit anyone to know them intimately.
Rachel felt her closest identification with Penny Pope, of Washington, for in this competent, self-directed woman she saw the kind of efficiency she tried to maintain in her own life, plus a high degree of personal charm which she herself had never been able to generate. Also, Mrs. Pope was obviously more gifted intellectually than the other five and therefore more rewarding to talk with on the few occasions when she left her duties with the Senate to visit with her husband. Rachel did not feel, like some other NASA personnel, that “This Pope dame is a cool customer,” for she sensed the strong opinions and great warmth Penny was capable of, but she did know that the perfectly groomed young woman from the West was going to present problems quite different from those offered by the Southern belles. Rachel Mott liked Penny Pope, liked her enormously, but she also feared her.
“Well, what do we have?” Tucker Thompson asked at the beginning of the fourth week, when his magazine was preparing its initial presentation of the six wives. “What I’m looking for is a theme to hand the American public, and especially the American housewife. Because these are ‘her girls’ and we’ve got to keep them that way.”
“They’re beautiful. Your photographers should have an easy time.”
“But we’ve got to show them as more than beautiful. [418] We’re after their collective soul, and in this game first impressions are fatal.”
“They’re intelligent. There’s not a dummy in the lot. Even Debby Dee Claggett is as sharp as a pin, in her own way.”
“Intelligence is a negative factor when you’re trying to sell a group of women. One woman, like Oveta Culp Hobby, yes. The public can take pride in an exception. But not six. We’re looking for the theme that will make America’s heart sing. We do not have an easy job, Mrs. Mott, and I’d appreciate some serious help from you.”
“Start with the beauty, Tucker, but call it ‘The well-scrubbed American look,’ and then make a virtue of their diversity. Use Tomboy Sandra. Use cool, efficient Mrs. Cater, and contrary to your fears, I think you have a real goody in Mrs. Pope’s quietly helping to make decisions that enable her hero husband to fly his dangerous missions. Unity in diversity is your theme, Tucker. Or maybe it’s diversity in unity.”
There were several exhaustive meetings on the subject of how to present the wives, but in the end, it was Rachel Mott’s ideas about the cover which prevailed: “A small American flag in the center, blowing in the breeze, surrounded by the six wives shown in the most carefully chosen vignettes. Sandy Lee with an Indian sweatband around her head. Gloria Cater chewing an executive pencil. Penny Pope standing before a Senate eagle. Cluny Bell with her left hand framing her fragile face. Inger Jensen in an Eton collar being her adorable self. And Debby Dee Claggett-”
She stopped. How could the big Texas woman best be depicted? Tentatively she suggested, “With a martini glass, a cigarette ...”
“One thing for sure,” Thompson said, “our psychological studies prove that in a circular picture, people will usually overlook the eight-o’clock position. Lower left-hand corner. Debby Dee comes in at eight o’clock.”
The cover was a sensation, the handsome American flag surrounded by six of its most appealing daughters. As soon as customers started writing in for copies without printing so they could be framed, Folks ran off two hundred thousand and sold them for twenty-five cents each, and when [419] the lot was gone and the six wives properly presented, Thompson had one of his secretaries summarize the mail:
 
Most comment on: Inger Jensen, the one everyone would like to have as their daughter. Least comment on: Penny Pope, who struck readers as indifferent and why wasn’t she with her husband? Most liked: Debby Dee Claggett, who looked like the best mother in the lot. Consensus: An American bouquet the nation can be proud of.
 
Rachel Mott felt, with some justification, that she had played a helpful role in getting her six debutantes properly launched into the American social season, but on the day when Virgil Grissom and John Young made their historic first flight in the new spacecraft Gemini, she discovered that she was living in a fool’s paradise. It was a tense moment in space history, when the fate of the national program hung in the balance and when the safety of two astronauts-not one, as before-was at stake. All NASA was on edge, and Tucker Thompson felt that this might be a good moment for the general press to see how the new wives reacted to the machine in which their own husbands would shortly be flying. He called Mrs. Mott: “Rachel, where are the girls?”
“I believe four of them are watching the television at Gloria Cater’s.”
“Marvelous. That’ll make a great shot. But why only four?”
“Mrs. Pope’s in Washington, as usual. And Inger Jensen’s visiting her folks in Minnesota.”
“Damn! She’s the most photogenic of the lot. That little-girl charm. Well, we’ll go with what we have. Meet me at the Caters’.” He was about to hang up, but asked hurriedly, “It’s got a picket fence, hasn’t it?”
When they reached the Cater home Thompson explained to the waiting newsmen the ground rules governing the interviews and photography: “These women are under extreme tension. They’ve gathered here for mutual support. No harsh questions. Nothing at all about what would happen if the mission failed.”
Rachel should have gone into the cottage first to alert [420] the wives, but she stayed outside to coach the women reporters on the personalities of the four wives, and this meant that Tucker got to the living room first. He almost fainted, for he found the women with their shoes off, playing gin rummy and drinking martinis, while the television droned on, with no one paying attention. Mrs. Claggett and the hostess, Mrs. Cater of Mississippi, were smoking cigarettes.
“Good God!” Thompson cried. “A sacred moment in history. Men’s lives in the balance. And you’re playing poker.”
“Gin,” Mrs. Cater said.
“The press is out there. Reporters from all over the nation, all over the world. Get your shoes on.”
Sandy Lee took charge, and in her most efficient manner swept up the cards, hid the martinis and whisked away all sights of debauchery. Then, with the utterly disarming charm that she could turn on when needed, she went to the door and said quietly, “Persons from the major wire services and two reporters from overseas may come in for fifteen minutes. Then we’ll come out and meet with you for as long as you wish. Because this is a historic moment and we feel deeply proud to play even a minor part in it.”
With graciousness unbounded she escorted the five selected newspeople into the cottage, then smiled bravely at the sixty or seventy others as she closed the door and moved to where Gloria and Cluny and Debby Dee were staring at Walter Cronkite on the television screen.
 
The program for which the new astronauts had been selected was named Gemini because for the first time two men were to fly the spacecraft in a compartment so restricted that one man lay almost touching his partner and remained there immobilized for periods of up to fourteen days. When Dr. Mott actually inspected the capsule, he appreciated what Crandall had said about NASA’s restraints on the height and weight of its astronauts; no two men of normal-large dimension could possibly wedge themselves into this confined space, and even highly trained men like the lean astronauts had trouble doing so.
Gemini was a form of exploration unprecedented in world history, and it demanded men of agility, bravery and enormous competence.
[421] At the beginning of the six-month indoctrination, Deke Slayton, lean and mean, appeared before the astronauts with a stack of basic manuals and specific flight plans twenty-seven inches thick. “By the time your name is called for a flight, you will have memorized everything in boldface and understood the rest.”
The basic manuals were like intricate games for grownup children, in that each depicted in the most carefully analyzed form the operation of some one system of the Gemini craft: in one, colored diagrams showed the movement of electricity through literally miles of wiring; in another, the most elegant break-away drawings of the type developed in World War II to facilitate the repair of airplanes showed how the hydraulic system worked; in yet another, four cleverly printed sheets of transparent plastic lay one atop the other to allow the astronaut to see inside one of his rocket thrusters.
The fields of knowledge seemed endless, sixteen major concentrations of information, all of which had to be mastered, and regardless of which field the men attacked next, the same rule applied: two hours of intellectual discussion, ten hours of laboratory break-down, then two hours of comparing notes and ten more hours of tackling the problem physically.
From its earliest days NASA had followed a sensible program of requiring all its astronauts to study everything, but then to assign each man a field of specialization in which he was expected to become a top expert, familiar with the most arcane concepts and possible future developments. It was always an exciting time when these assignments were made, and one morning Deke Slayton appeared with a list: “Claggett, because of your unusual knowledge of airplanes, structures. Lee, because you’ve already done a lot with electronics, the electrical system. Bell, because you specialized in aerodynamics at Allied Aviation, flight surfaces. Jensen, because you’re small and tight, flight gear and survival mechanisms. Cater, because you’ve done good work on propulsion at Edwards, rockets. Pope, because of your doctorate in astronomy, navigation and computers.”
John noticed that whenever assignments of any kind were published, the same pecking order maintained, with Claggett at the top and himself at the bottom, and one [422] day when he was alone in Dr. Mott’s office he saw on the desk a list giving the names in the accustomed ranking and titled ORDER OF SELECTION. Since he was reading upside down, he had no time to decipher the typing which accompanied the list, but when Mott returned, he asked him bluntly, “Why am I at the bottom of the list?”
“You weren’t supposed to see that.”
“I didn’t read it. Just saw the title and the order.”
After Mott put the list in a drawer he said, “That’s the order in which you were selected. There’s no better airman around than Claggett. I suppose you know that.”
“I knew him in Korea and Pax River. The best.”
“The others have terrific records, Pope. This boy Bell, the civilian. He flew everything with wings and helped Allied improve every machine they ever made.”
“But why me at the bottom?”
Since Pope seemed bewildered by this ranking, Mott decided to level with him. “It wasn’t your flying. You’re up there with the best. And certainly not your bravery, because in Korea and Pax River ... well, you have the medals to prove that.”
“What was it? What’s my hidden weakness, because I certainly don’t know and I ought to.”
“Patterns,” Mott said, and when the young flier looked amazed, he added, “You didn’t conform to the patterns. You don’t live with your wife. You have no children. Statistically you represented a gamble, especially your wife. NASA feels safer when unknowns like Claggett and Lee conform to patterns. Because then the numbers are in our favor. With you we were flying in the dark. I think you know that.” When Pope made no reply, Mott said, “It surfaced in Korea and it certainly surfaced at Patuxent.”
“What surfaced?”
“That you were a loner.”
“What’s that got to do with it? Seems to me, the main thing is ... I was also good,” Pope said with that charming frankness which characterized the best test pilots. John Pope was one of the best fliers in the business; he knew it and was not hesitant about claiming his rights.
“That’s why we chose you, John.” This sudden use of his first name, as if the discussion had entered a new and more confidential phase, mollified the astronaut, and he [423] asked, “Why were you willing to overlook the anomalies?”
And now this unusual word, so scientific and so exactly right in this context, relaxed Mott, and he broke into a laugh. Taking off his glasses, he looked at Pope, nine years his junior and one of the most capable men he had ever met, and said, “We chose you because we knew that in the air you would prove to be one of the very best men on our roster. And you will be.”
“But on the ground, watch out.”
“Yes.” An embarrassed pause, then: “Any chance you could persuade your wife to quit her job and move down here to Houston?”
“None.” Pope blew his nose, more to gain time than for any other reason, then said, “Penny told me last weekend that she felt your wife was the person closest to what she’s like. You must have faced these same problems.”
“Curious. My wife said the same about Mrs. Pope. “More like me than any of the others.” But I never faced your problem, John, because my wife accepted the work I did. Some day I’ll tell you about El Paso. And getting eased out at Huntsville. My wife stayed close.”
“Mine doesn’t,” Pope said crisply, and without waiting for Mott to indicate that the interview was over, he rose and left the room.
The specialty he had been assigned delighted him, and had he had a free choice from the entire field, he would have elected astronomy and the new navigational systems, for he found them captivating. “They drive my mind to its ultimate capacities,” he wrote his wife, “and I feel constantly submerged. But damn it all, I’ll work it out in the end.”
The heavy problem of field trips prevented him from becoming narrowly specialized in navigation, for the astronauts were required to jump about the nation and the world with an agility that left some watchers bewildered. In one three-month period Pope and Claggett were occupied with these trips:
 
... To Worcester, Massachusetts, the David Clark Company, to be fitted for two different kinds of spacesuits, plus an extra one for Pope in which he might walk in space.
 
[424] ... To Los Angeles, California, for a two-day meeting with General Funkhauser’s men, who had won a contract to supply the controls in the capsule.
 
... To St. Louis, Missouri, the McDonnell Astronautics Co., to work on the spacecraft itself.
 
... To Cleveland, Ohio, to work at NASA’s Lewis Center on the performance of jet engines and rockets.
 
... To Sunnyvale, California, the Lockheed Space Company, to check the progress of the Agena target vehicle with which Gemini would hook up in outer space.
 
... To Owego, New York, IBM, for familiarization with the new, smaller computers which would run the spacecraft.
 
... To Fort Apache, Arizona, to engage in a three-day survival test on the desert, finding food and water as they became available.
 
... To Canoga Park, California, Rocketdyne, to study the principles and controls governing reentry through the atmosphere.
 
... To Redondo Beach, California, the Ramo Corporation, to work on trajectory calculations.
 
Plus several more of the 319 industrial sites where components of the Gemini program were being assembled, including many of the foremost names in American business: Bell, Burroughs, CBS, Douglas, Engelhard Minerals, General Electric, General Motors, B. F. Goodrich, and on down the line.
Some of the excursions had special meaning to the fledgling astronauts, but each man seemed to identify particularly some visit which proved unique for him. Hickory Lee came back from the wild C-135 parabolic flights at Edwards Air Force Base ecstatic: “By damn, they took me up there to forty thousand feet, flew damned near straight up, then turned the nose down, and in that swift change, Zoom! No gravity! I bounced around in the padded cargo space like a feather in a Texas tornado. Absolutely no gravity. For thirty-two seconds. Down we went, then up [425] again in the parabolic curve, then over and down. We did it thirty-eight times and I came out bruised from ass to elbow. Them mats, they don’t protect you no-how.” But for several days he kept talking about those moments of accidental freedom from the pull of Earth.
Some men found it difficult physiologically to adjust to the C-135 routine; all they got was an unmerciful pounding as the huge plane nosed down, and John Pope was one of these: “I was probably free of gravity, as they say, but I barely knew it.” What imparted the sense of space to him were two much more mundane experiments, but in a way more sophisticated, since they depended upon simple perceptions of gravity.
“If you’re like me and fail to catch the feeling in that bang-about C-135,” he advised the others, “Try that Langley Space Walk they showed us in the movies. Outstanding!”
But his closest approach to a perception of null gravity came in a swimming pool, or rather a huge cubic tank installed at the new center in Huntsville, where in full astronaut’s gear he was thrown into the water wearing just enough lead weights about his waist to achieve a neutral buoyancy: “It was weird and kind of wonderful. Not real weightlessness, you understand, because if you stood on your head in the water, blood rushed to your head, because gravity still operated. But there was a marvelous sense of freedom. I loved it. Whenever I suited up and the crane dropped me into the drink, I thought I was a medieval knight being hoisted onto my white charger. But my lance was a monkey wrench. The world I was to conquer was outer space.”
The most dramatic expedition was Randy Claggett’s to Johnsville, the Naval Air Center, just north of Philadelphia, where he was to undergo tolerance tests on the mammoth centrifuge. Using exactly the kind of whirling machine used to separate cream from milk, but on a larger scale permitting many more controlled variations, the men conducting the tests placed their subject in a pilot’s chair and whirled him about at ever faster speeds until the required G was reached:
 
“One look at that sonnombeech and I wanted out. They strapped me in eyeballs out and said, “Can you [426] take ten G’s?” and I said, “How in hell do I know?” and they said, “Well, you’re gonna find out.” It was kind of hairy, but I yelled, “I ain’t feelin’ no pain,” so they yelled, “Here come fifteen big ones,” and I had a little trouble focusin’ my eyes, but when they yelled, “Think you could take twenty?” I yelled back, “Let me outa here,” and they said, “You’re the judge,” and when I got out, the register marked sixteen G’s. That’s what I took.
 
“But they was this farm-boy sailor sort of standin’ around and he volunteered to try the machine, and when they strapped him in they ran it to fifteen pretty fast and he grinned and yelled, “I kin take it,” and they whomped him up to eighteen and asked if he’d like to go for twenty, and he shouted, “Why not?” and they gave him that and then told him that no one had hit twenty-one yet, and he said, “Give it a whirl,” but he was spinnin’ so fast the words kinda slipped outa the corner of his mouth, and they gave him twenty-one G’s for about ten seconds. Dreadful pressure.
 
“When they stopped the centrifuge he jumped down as good as new, but he was kinda dizzy, I could see that. He started home drivin’ his own car, but when I left the test area I saw him parked dead across the median strip, sound asleep. His brain musta been completely addled by the twenty-one G’s, but when I took him back to the base the doctors never gave a damn. I often wonder what happened to that farm boy.”
 
The excursions, which never abated, were made doubly enjoyable when NASA acquired the use of several dozen T-38 two-seater supersonic Northrop jet trainers. These were sleek, exciting aircraft which could hit Mach 1.3 or better, and to leave a late-afternoon meeting at Cape Canaveral, hurry to the airfield and whip a T-38 through the sky to Houston in time for dinner was a delight.
Because the T-38 could carry two, Claggett and Pope, as two buddies from Pax River, often found themselves sharing a plane on some swift flight to a contractor’s [427] meeting or to the next field test, and one day they flew to Key West for a drill on parachute landings in water, since every emergency had to be anticipated. For three days the two pilots were hauled aloft in an old DC-3 and tossed overboard at a height of 9,000 feet. As they descended, slowly twisting in the Caribbean sunlight, they would make silent bets as to which powerboat on the waves below would get to them first. On the third afternoon, when the tests were over, they sped to the airfield, climbed into their T-38 and flew across the Gulf of Mexico to the haven of Ellington Air Force Base north of the Houston space center, landing just as the sun was setting behind the city.
To be young, to be at home in the heavens, and to have a T-38 at one’s disposal, with airfields across the nation at which one could land for fuel or for a critical meeting, was to know the best of life. By no means was it recreation; the pilots had to do this flying to maintain their skills, and it was obligatory that they fly a certain number of hours each month, some at night, to qualify for the salary adjustments which meant so much to them. “Hell,” Claggett said, “me and Debby Dee, we couldn’t live on my base pay. Without that good ole flight pay, our kids would have to live on grits.”
The flight they liked best was from Houston to Cape Canaveral, for this meant that they were headed toward the mystical site from which they would one day soar off into space, and with a kind of reverence, they approached the sandy spit on which the launching pads waited. “This is for real,” Claggett cried one day as he took his T-38 far out to sea before landing.
Also, several of the most effective simulators were located at the Cape, and the astronauts never wearied of climbing into these extraordinary devices and going through imaginary flight procedures. NASA had developed a simulator for everything, Claggett said, “except tying your shoes, and the minute that becomes important, presto, they’re gonna have one.”
There was a simulator for launch, another for coming back through the atmosphere. There was one for the guidance system, another for the computers. There was an amazing simulator for aborting a flight, and a Rube Gold berg type, all angles and elbows, for landing on the Moon. [428] There was a simulator covering every conceivable emergency, but the best of all was operated by a tall. mournful doctor in engineering from Purdue University who had a kind of Fu Manchu beard and whom everyone called Dracula.
His job was to anticipate disaster, to imagine the worst possible outcome of every step his astronauts would take and then to simulate the disasters they might encounter. Halfway into the launch on his simulator, power in three rockets would be lost and a set of highly sophisticated telemetry devices would register every mistake the agitated pilot made. Or just at the crucial moment the two main computers would blow, and every wrong move made by the pilot in the right-hand seat would be coldly registered. Engines would catch fire; the ablative shield would burn off; the drogue parachute wouldn’t pull out the main; when Dracula was on the scene, playing his simulators like a violin, disaster was omnipresent.
And when the test flight was over, he would meet with the two pilots and read them his scorecard: “At 00:01:49 into the flight compression was lost.” The bastard never said, “I cut compression.” It was always an impersonal compression that acted poorly. “The commander made two wrong responses before he hit the right one and the mission crashed. At 00:05:23 an exaggerated pogo began. Pilot attempted correction using procedure abandoned four months ago and mission crashed.” It sometimes seemed as if Dracula could never be content until the imaginary Gemini spacecraft plunged into the Atlantic, killing both pilots, but when real flight began and absolutely no crisis eventuated for which Dracula had not prepared his crews, the astronauts began to generate a real affection for him. But he was, as Claggett said, “a real bastard,” which the Twins verified one morning.
Dracula was a genius at devising sight-and-sound spectaculars that exactly duplicated what the astronauts would see in the flight. Motion picture cameras displayed the heavens which would surround the men at a particular moment; the seasick motion of the descending capsule could be evoked with gimbals; noises were easy to duplicate-so that by the time Claggett and Pope had flown the various simulators for well over a hundred and fifty hours. [429] they believed with some reason that space could hold no surprises for them.
In that mood they climbed into the main simulator one morning after it had been mysteriously shut down for three weeks, and as they listened to the countdown numbers coming over their earphones-7-6-5-4-3-2-1-blast off-they grew tense, as always, awaiting Dracula’s next disaster.
But on this day the simulator was playing for real. It blew up. There was a terrible explosion, wild noises, with flame and smoke invading the capsule as it simulated lifting into the air atop its Titan rocket. To his credit, Claggett in the left-hand seat took every step calculated to diminish the consequences of the explosion, and in his right-hand seat Pope did what he could to control the fire. The flames, from whatever cause, were extinguished, so that the simulator, badly damaged, could be repaired and used again.
And then the two astronauts realized that it had all been faked. Dracula had devised a set of excellent motion pictures, a new sound system and a machine which would rock the simulator while giving off flame and smoke. At the debriefing the gloomy man droned: “At 00:01:09 one of the main rockets exploded. Commander and pilot responded with all the right procedures except emergency control of oxygen, so the mission crashed.” When headquarters asked Claggett and Pope how they had reacted to the unexpected explosion, the latter retreated to his test-pilot training and said, “I tried this and it failed. I tried step two and it failed. But step three proved effective.” Claggett was more direct: “I was scared shitless.”
 
Senator Grant did not propose to do the Republican dirty work on the Space Committee for the Democrats Lyndon Johnson and Michael Glancey without getting something for his state in return, but when the time came to identify the quid pro quo he ran into difficulty. Eastland of Mississippi had cornered most of the easy plums controlled by the Senate, while Mendel Rivers of South Carolina commandeered so many posts and establishments that an admiral had once growled, “Mendel, if we give you one m7ore base, Charleston will sink.”
[430] Of the NASA assignments, Johnson was taking care of Texas, and Glancey was protecting Red River with multiple contracts. Trying to combat such patronage crocodiles was difficult, but Grant was not powerless, and when he threatened revolt, the Democratic leadership had to consider ways to placate him.
“Norman,” Glancey said one morning prior to a committee meeting, “Air Force and NASA both could use another airfield west of the Missouri, and we’ve decided to place it just north of your hometown. Very convenient when you get your own plane.” Glancey also persuaded General Funkhauser to locate a branch of Allied Aviation next to the industrial city of Webster, and Grant was mollified except for one additional boon in which he had a personal interest.
“Glancey, our astronomer at Fremont State has talked some well-to-do people into giving us a planetarium. His name’s Anderssen, splendid scholar. I think it would be proper if this new bunch of astronauts reported there for their star studies.”
“Well ... you know, Norman ... we’ve been sending our men to Chapel Hill in North Carolina. They do an excellent job.”
“I’m sure they do,” Grant said crisply, “but I’m equally sure Anderssen can do as well.”
Nothing came of this exchange, but Grant was so eager to have six astronauts walking on the streets of his college town that he returned twice to the matter, and in the end Glancey surrendered: “I’ll speak to NASA,” and when those officials said that although North Carolina was doing a fine job, they could see no reason why Anderssen at Fremont State couldn’t do as well, the indoctrination was moved west. At his first meeting in the new planetarium the old man told the astronauts:
 
“When a man has studied the heavens for ten thousand nights he is entitled to make certain generalizations. Space is without limit or definition. There is no east or west, no north or south, no down or up, no in or out. It is truly boundless and must be respected as such. It cannot be measured or comprehended. All we can do is behave in accordance with its laws as we dimly perceive them.
 
[431] “It is those laws I wish to speak about, and I need not exhort you to master them, for the day is not far off when you, and each of you, will be soaring in outer space, with the welfare of this nation and indeed of all mankind depending upon how you perform.
 
“This is a galaxy. [And he flashed on the heavens of the planetarium a stunning photograph of M-51, the Whirlpool.] There are about one billion stars in that galaxy, and about one billion galaxies in the universe as we are allowed to know it at this moment. That means that we may have as many as a billion billion different stars. I shall now increase the light so that you can write on your pads a billion billion. That’s the figure one followed by eighteen zeros.
 
[He lowered the light and showed the astronauts a beautiful photograph of the galaxy in Coma Berenices known as NGC-4565, an elongated mass of stars and galactic dust.] “If we could see our Galaxy, spelled always with a capital G, from a vast distance it would look like this, a collection of some four billion stars arranged about a central core. I want each of you to guess where our Sun, one of those stars, is situated within the Galaxy.
 
[He replaced 4565 with an artist’s conception of our Galaxy as viewed from above, and with a flashlight-pointer indicated how the Sun stood far off to one side, well away from the vital center.] “We are attached to a star of only average size, in a galaxy of only average size, far from the center of action where new stars are being born, far from those centers of the universe where new galaxies are being born. Never, never, young men, believe that we stand at the center of things, or even close to the center of anything.
 
“But the position we do occupy within our marvelous Galaxy is a magnificent one whose complexities will occupy you for the rest of your lives. I have spent sixty years, as a boy in Norway and an astronomer in this country, endeavoring to penetrate the mysteries of our planetary system, and I suppose I know [432] as much about it as anyone living but I do not know its precise origin, or the construction of any component except Earth, always spelled with a capital E, or the mechanics which ultimately hold the system together, or its final destiny.
 
“I stand before you an ignorant old man terribly jealous of the astounding opportunity you have to explore our system and most eager to help you acquire the tools to accomplish that exploration. To perform your task, you must know the stars.”
 
The next thing he showed them, with the aid of special devices on the planetarium instrument, was the ecliptic, that arbitrary band of the heavens through which the Moon and the planets moved and along which the Sun appeared to move, and when this imaginary line was fixed in the men’s minds, he threw upon it handsome streamlined interpretations of the zodiacal signs, immemorially ancient in origin, the signposts of the heavens.
“I have studied the zodiac in five different languages, and with every known mnemonic device, but a child’s rhyme fashioned in England long ago remains the best help so far devised. It’s printed in your material and I shall expect you to memorize it by tomorrow. I use it almost every night, and so will you.” And he recited the childish rhyme which helps astronomers organize their work, pointing with his light-wand to the curious collection of figures associated with the words:
 
“The Ram, the Bull, the Heavenly Twins.
Next the Crab, and the Lion shines.
The Virgin and the Scales.
The Scorpion, Archer and He-Goat,
Then the Man with the Watering Pot,
And the Fish with the glittering scales.”
 
Having made the circuit once, he returned the heavens to Aries and cried, “Now all together,” and like a group of kindergartners, the six astronauts recited the nursery rhyme.
 
Professor Anderssen was rigorous in demanding that the astronauts master the navigational stars situated along; [433] the ecliptic, for some of these would usually be visible, but they were not conspicuous, their names were unfamiliar, and they gave the young men much trouble: “You simply must learn the easy ones by tomorrow. Spica, Antares, Aldebaran, Pollux, Regulus.”
When these were mastered he turned to the difficult ones, some scarcely visible to unpracticed eyes: “Nunki in Sagittarius, easy to find in the group that looks like a Tea Kettle; Deneb Algedi in Capricornus, not easy to find. Hamal in Aries, very difficult to find. But the most difficult of all, either to find or say, this one in Libra, Zubeneschamali.”
He was having some difficulty with Randy Claggett, who gave the star names his own pronunciation. The Big Dipper became Ursula Major, Zubeneschamali was Reuben Smiley, and the important navigational star Nunki became Nooki. “Am I correct in thinking, Major Claggett, that the word Nooki has sexual overtones?”
“Well ... it means ... you’re getting some.”
“Then I think we’d better call that star by its right name, Nunki,” but when in oral review Anderssen pointed his wand at Sagittarius and asked Claggett to identify the principal star, he bellowed, “Nooki.” For a brief spell the professor thought of disciplining the Texan, but he observed that Claggett was learning the stars faster than anyone else except Pope, who had a Ph.D. in related fields, so he tolerated him, and once when he was trying to teach the more difficult stars he shouted, “Learn it! It’s difficult! It’s Reuben Smiley!” and the class applauded.
When the northern stars were mastered, he convened his students in the planetarium and told them something they would often refer to when they talked among themselves. He was proving to be an inspired teacher, one whose obvious enthusiasm brightened his subject; when he said that he had studied the stars for ten thousand nights he meant just that, three long nights of observation each week for sixty years:
 
“We have mastered, I think, the northern stars, the easy bright ones especially, and we have seen how fortuitous it was that God or nature placed Polaris at the precise spot where it would be most useful, at the North Pole. Now look at the South Pole and see [434] how empty it is. Look at the entire southern hemisphere and see how few bright stars we have to guide us.
 
[He allowed the sky to move slowly, majestically through three complete days, speaking a few words now and then to impress upon the men the emptiness of the southern regions and the obligation they faced of being just as familiar with these few helpful stars as with the more numerous and conspicuous ones of the north.]
 
“When I was a boy in Norway and had mastered the northern stars, as you have done, I used to stand on my hill and rage at the heavens, pleading with them to shift so that I could see the southern stars, which I knew to be hidden below the horizon. “Canopus,” I shouted. “Come forth! I know you’re down there. Southern Cross, let me see you!”
 
“Think of it, gentlemen. We seven are among the well educated, and not one of us has ever seen the stars that guide the south. Now we shall learn them, but I cannot convey how jealous of you I shall be when you leap into space and fly beyond the shadow of the earth and see in all their glory the southern stars which I have never seen.
 
[Quietly he moved into his heavens the Magellanic Clouds which had so captivated the Portuguese explorer, the Southern Cross which had guided and delighted Captain Cook, the brilliance of Centaurus and the cold beauty of Canopus, second brightest star in the heavens.]
 
“I will expect you to know all the easy stars by tomorrow morning. Then we shall drop down to the difficult ones.”
 
And they were difficult: Achernar, Al Na’ir and crazy stars that not even Pope had ever heard of: Miaplacidus and Atria. But as Anderssen insisted: “They’re essential because at some crucial moment up there, it may be only this part of the heavens that you will be able to see, and if you do not know these stars, you will be lost.”
[435] In his concluding lecture, when he was satisfied that his six students had learned in their 120 hours of assigned time more than he had known at the end of five years of study, he told them:
 
“You are prepared to identify the stars which will give you the data you need to navigate to the Moon, or Mars, or Jupiter. You must now move on to master the computers which will absorb these data and tell you exactly where you are. But in a larger sense, none of us will ever know where we are. We are lost in the stars, in our little Galaxy, among the billions of other galaxies that help to control us within a universe we can neither define nor comprehend. The steps you brave young men take with your marvelous machines will push back the veil of ignorance a little way, and then our concern will be with the newly revealed and greater ignorances which will dominate us until others like you, with their own machines and understandings, push their veils aside to reveal the new imponderables. How I envy you.”
 
Tucker Thompson was enjoying such a great run with the six astronauts that his magazine advertised his work as “a better job than Life,” and the astronauts applauded this because according to their contract with Folks, each man stood to make about $23,000 extra income if the series was sold abroad. The fliers therefore worked closely with Tucker and encouraged their wives to do the same, but all of the women resented Thompson’s invasion of their privacy, and he had some trouble getting them to do the things that the American public had a right to expect of their heroines.
Thompson had particular cause to worry about Cocoa Beach, the explosive town to the south of Canaveral which had once contained 2,600 people and would soon have many times that number. Never a pretty town, in the old days it had served as a winter resort for snow-birds who flocked south each December from places like Maine, Minnesota and especially Ontario. Those with wealth continued on to Palm Beach, a hundred and twenty-five miles farther south; only those on budgets parked their caravans at Cocoa Beach. The houses tended to be one story, frame, [436] unheated and dusty, the stores two-storied and jumbled. There had been bars, most of which were shuttered during the summer, and living quarters for a small permanent population whose men commuted to jobs north along the coast to Daytona Beach or inland to Orlando.
Like Canaveral itself, the little town huddled on the outer chain of islands and expanded not like a lovely rose which flowered in all directions, but rather like a radish which elongated at each end but stayed the same in the restricted middle. Yet the town had a wild beauty, for to the east roared the somber Atlantic.
When the astronauts flew in to Cape Canaveral on duty assignments, which was constantly, austere bachelor quarters were provided in NASA buildings, but they preferred the livelier scene at Cocoa Beach, twenty miles to the south, and if they brought their wives along, which they often did, it became the custom for them to take rooms at a new and glossy motel called the Bali Hai, a name borrowed by many joints across the country from a popular song that was supposed to be tropical and sexy. This Bali Hai had been built by Canadians, who seemed always to have an uncanny sense of which Florida beach was going to become popular next, but it was run by a pessimistic married couple from Maine who had spent one winter too many among the snowdrifts of that igloo.
They were the Quints, “named after the Dionnes,” they told guests who had never heard of the famous Canadian sisters, and in one way they were ill-prepared for the high nonsense that preempted their motel, for they were dour Yankees; but in another, they were a good choice, because in Maine they had spent their long winters studying wildlife and had learned that “animals, four-footed or two-, are capable of damned near anything.”
The Bali Hai had three considerable assets: a white beach from which the husbands could plunge into the high waves of the Atlantic, a blue-tiled swimming pool shaded by palm trees in which the wives could disport, and a large dark bar in which both could celebrate. The walls of the Dagger Bar were tastefully decorated with daggers, swords, knives, sabers, cutlasses, krisses, poniards, stilettos, rapiers, machetes and dirks, most of them contributed by well-traveled patrons who had brought them home from foreign ports. The effect was quite stunning, a congenial [437] bar with inviting tables surrounded by weaponry which recalled the violence of the world and reminded the drinkers of the violence which had sometimes threatened their lives.
About the room evocative objects hauled in from the Bahamas were placed: large clamshells, fishing nets, green-glass floats used by fishermen, and two gigantic stuffed swordfish. The Dagger Bar featured rum drinks with exotic names like Missionary’s Downfall or Virgin’s Last Stand and an excellent fish dinner for a flat three dollars including one free beer.
Each new group of astronauts was advised by those who had gone before: “The scene is at the Dagger Bar. You’ll love the Quints, gloomiest people since Cotton Mather. But those fresh oysters, all you can eat for fifty cents!” Tucker Thompson, anticipating that his crowd would want to lodge at the Bali Hai, checked the place out and satisfied himself that the rooms were clean and the drinks honest, but then he discovered something that sent icicles right up his spine: the Bali Hai was sometimes overrun by hordes of groupies who wanted to be where the action was, and since many of them were delectable and still in their teens, he could foresee disaster.
The Cocoa Beach groupies following space were identical with the girls of Europe who idolized bullfighters, those of South America who traipsed after race-car drivers, or those of Canada who chased hockey players. All societies appeared to produce a plethora of young girls eager for excitement and willing to break away from stable homes in order to seek it. And around the world they behaved the same: frequent the scene of action, haunt the popular bars, and jump into the right bed with practiced alacrity.
Rachel Mott, observing the phenomenon for the first time, was appalled by the undisciplined behavior of her sex; it was really quite shameless the way the girls threw themselves at the men, but when Tucker Thompson asked about it one night in the Dagger Bar while five or six toothsome girls, all under the age of twenty, were clustering around Randy Claggett, she admitted grudgingly, “I’ve been quite shocked by these children. Where are their parents? But upon reflection, I’ve had to conclude that girls just like these probably haunted the camps where [438] the gladiators trained, and on the day when the little men descend from another planet, a supply of our girls will be there to greet them.”
“Well, they’ve got to lay off my astronauts,” Thompson said, “or we’re going to look like fools.” And he showed the Motts his magazine’s next week’s issue, in which his long-range program for the Special Group was revealed. It displayed on the cover, in the neatest possible array, the new astronauts, each man looking right into the camera with chin set, eyes ablaze and hair cut short, Marine style. THE SOLID SIX cried the headline, and Thompson sat back, highly pleased with his work.
“In our business,” he said, “the battle’s half won if you can label your product with a snappy title. The Brown Bomber made Joe Louis twice the man he would have been otherwise. The Lone Eagle-nobody ever did better than that. It made the public see Lindbergh, who was not an easy man to sell, as both aloof and particularized, almost human, you could say. I like that one they’ve started using for Brooks Robinson-the Glove. That’s classy. And I liked the Velvet Fog, the name they gave Mel Tormé when they discovered he couldn’t reach the hard notes. Saved his career. But the best they ever did was for that likable London heavyweight who came over here, to disastrous results. Phil Scott, his name was, and when he was knocked flat three times by punkos even before the big fight and all seemed lost, some clown gave him the name Phainting Phil, the Swooning Swan of Soho, and thousands paid to see him.”
“The Solid Six,” Mott repeated. “It has a good sound, and they certainly look solid.”
“What we thought … and you understand, the final choice wasn’t mine. The whole board wrestled with this one. Our thinking was that Life had pretty well preempted the field of glamour with their crews. Glenn, Borman, Shepard. That’s a pretty classy group. Did you know that some people are now calling the original astronauts the Sacred Seven? Well, we couldn’t replay that record, but we could identify our men with something patriotic and lasting.” He stopped to make an entirely different point: “The lasting part is important. Because our boys are going to be on the scene for a long, long time. The Sacred Seven are dropping away like flies ... private business ... all that. It [439] will be our boys who make the great Gemini flights, the ones who’ll later fly the Apollos to the Moon.”
He drummed on the table, then looked past Rachel Mott to where the teenage groupies were still making a fuss over Claggett. “We blow the solid bit if any one of our boys explodes in scandal. The newspapers are already fussing about the fact that we have an exclusive, and if they could blast us out of the sky with a juicy scandal, they’d descend on us like hungry wolves.” He stopped, looked at Mott and asked, “Did I mix my metaphors?”
“You did,” Rachel said.
“Forgive it. Point is, Mott, I want you to talk with your boys.”
“Problem’s not mine.”
“You bet your sweet ass it is,” Thompson said sharply. “Excuse me, ma’am, but this is important. Mrs. Mott, here, is doing a great job with the girls. You keep the boys in line.”
He was so insistent and so irritated with Mott for not assessing the danger seriously, that he got in touch with his superiors at Folks and they called Senator Grant, who seemed to be the Senate spokesman for the space exercises, and he telephoned Cocoa Beach immediately: “Mott, Tucker Thompson is dead right. It would be disastrous if scandal touched this program. You get those men straightened out. Pass the word.”
“Senator, I can’t-”
His protest was not allowed. “Those lads are your responsibility, Mott. Pass the word!”
Mott waited till all the men were at Canaveral, for he did not want to discharge this messy task piecemeal, and the delay proved almost fatal, for a persistent teenager from Columbus, Missouri, the daughter of a professor no less, forced her way into Randy Claggett’s bedroom while he was working in one of the simulators at the Cape and was waiting for him, undressed, in bed when he returned to the Bali Hai.
Randy did not feel obligated to force the girl from his bed, or even to make her put her clothes back on, but when he told her at half past nine that he really must go down for some supper and that she could not walk down with him, she understood and used a fire escape. Tucker Thompson watched the way they came straggling in from [440] two different directions, painstakingly unassociated, then met casually as if for the first time and sat together for a huge plate of oysters and two bowls of chili, and he was positive that his carefully orchestrated plan for his six astronauts was on the verge of destruction. Looking hastily about the darkened room to see if any newsmen had witnessed the sexual charade, he was relieved to find that all of them were absent, attending a briefing at the Cape regarding the impending second Gemini shot in which the popular Edward White was going to walk in space. But even as he took a deep breath he saw at a corner table a compelling young Japanese woman, not yet thirty, small, exquisitely framed, with becoming bangs, high cheekbones and just a hint of Asia in her eyes. Her complexion was that delicate coloring which appears on the finest celadon vases of the Orient, smooth and placid, and she seemed the kind of woman with whom any responsive man would want to discuss his troubles. Also, she wore that special combination of informal clothing which invited men to approach her table when she sat alone: a pleated blouse in handsome tan colors that matched her skin, a casual sweater thrown carelessly about her shoulders, a very wide belt emphasizing the smallness of her waist, a free-swinging skirt and Italian-style loafers with broad, blunt toes.
As soon as Tucker saw her, warning bells started ringing: That one is no groupie. She’s for real. But what truly terrified him was the fact that from her corner, under the Malayan daggers which framed her lovely square face with its sensuous drooping mouth, she was watching with professional cynicism everything Randy Claggett and his teenage supper companion were doing and was occasionally writing in a notebook.
“Who’s that?” Thompson asked.
“The woman in the corner?” Mrs. Mott asked. “She’s an accredited reporter from Japan. Well regarded in the profession. Did a stint with the New York Times. Got an M.A. with top grades from Radcliffe. Now writes for the Asahi Shimbun, biggest paper in the world, and is syndicated in Europe.”
“What’s a Japanese doing at Cape Canaveral? Spying?”
“She writes beautifully about space. Has a real feeling for it. Has a pilot’s license, I believe, and she did a lot of [441] glider soaring in New Hampshire when she was at Radcliffe.”
“What’s her name? She’s not on my list.”
“Yes she is,” Rachel said with some embarrassment. “She’s the one we thought was a Japanese man. Rhee Soon-Ka. Rhee’s the last name. When I went to meet Mr. Rhee-voila!” And she pointed to the lovely young woman taking notes under the Malayan daggers.
“A Japanese!” Thompson growled. “Emperor Hirohito would do anything to get even.”
“Tucker, take it easy!”
He could not. He had lost too many battles with the press not to recognize an enemy when he saw one, and knew intuitively that he would find himself, during the next decade, doing continuous battle with Madame Fu Manchu. “You say she worked for the New York Times?”
“An exchange job, I believe.”
“The evil tricks she didn’t learn in Japan, I’m sure she picked up in New York.” A flash of genius struck him: “Do you think I could go over and strangle her right now?”
“Tucker! She’s a woman doing a job. She doesn’t weigh more than a hundred pounds.”
“A cobra doesn’t weigh six.” He studied the intruder for several minutes, then rose abruptly and walked to her table. “I’m Tucker Thompson, Folks.”
“I know,” she said in a lilting voice. “Sit down. You’re the one who keeps the six little Boy Scouts locked up.”
“It’s our job to write about them.”
“You don’t seem to have that one behind bars,” she said, pointing to Claggett.
“His niece, from Kansas.”
“Popes used to have nieces. Astronauts have pickups.”
“You write one word …”
“I intend to write about sixty thousand words.”
“You be careful ...”
“It’s your job, Mr. Thompson, to provide the American public with fairy tales. It’s mine to provide the rest of the world with adult interpretations.”
“You be very careful …”
“I don’t have to be. I’m not trying to sell anything. Tonight I’m taking notes on a most attractive young man, a most lecherous one.”
“Now, Miss ...” He hesitated. “What’s your name?”
[442] “Born Rhee Soon-Ka. In America, I use Cynthia Rhee.”
“As a Japanese alien, you could find yourself in a lot of trouble, Miss Rhee.”
“I’m Korean.”
“Just as bad. I have the power to cause you a lot of trouble.”
“Have you chanced to read my series on the Kremlin? I’m always in trouble. You get fine stories when you place yourself in harm’s way, as your Admiral John Paul Jones so handsomely phrased it.” She spoke a beautiful, halting English, so carefully pronounced that it stung and infuriated, and she was not even trivially disturbed by Tucker Thompson’s bluster.
“I wish you a lot of luck with your story, Miss Rhee,” he said as he rose to depart.
“And you will do everything possible to prevent me from getting it.”
“With my six astronauts, I will.”
“And they happen to be the very six about whom I am writing.” And without referring to her notes, she recited the names in order: “Randy Claggett of Texas, wife Debby Dee. Hickory Lee of Tennessee and his wife Sandy. Timothy Bell of Arkansas and his wife Cluny. Harry Jensen of South Carolina and his pretty wife Inger. Ed Cater of Mississippi and his wife Gloria. And perhaps the most interesting of all, John Pope of Fremont and his ambitious wife Penny. You’ll be reading about them, Mr. Tucker.”
When Thompson returned to his table he received the harshest shock of all, delivered by Rachel Mott: “She’s supposed to have said in the bar that in order to complete her research, she intended to sleep with every one of our six.” She paused a moment, then added, “The Solid Six, as you describe them.”
 
The urgent meeting was held in Thompson’s room at the Bali Hai, and although he had originally intended for Stanley Mott to carry the ball, he could not refrain from getting immediately to the heart of the crisis. “Men, it’s very simple. If you besmirch the name of astronaut with cheap sexual adventures, you endanger a program of vital importance to the nation and to the world.” The listeners could see that he was sweating, and as they wondered what he would say next, he added; “Rumors are [443] circulating. I myself have seen things that would have looked damned suspicious to a knowing reporter.”
He really did not know how to proceed past that point, so he shifted gears completely. “You stand to lose a great deal of money, all of you, if this thing blows up.” And as soon as he uttered these words, he knew he had blown it. What lusty young man would quarantine himself from some of the most nubile young women in the world simply because a monetary contract was in danger?
Mott took over. “Senator Grant just telephoned me. He’s responsible for the funds you fellows spend in your T-38s. He’s got to wangle through Congress the billion-odd dollars for your Gemini program.” He stopped and laughed at himself. “How in hell do you say that word? I hear it four ways. Hard G. Soft J. Dictionary says it ends -eye. NASA uses -ee.”
Ed Cater said. “Our radio station has an astrology program and they give it the hard G and the -eye.”
“I would despise taking my intellectual leadership from an astrology program. Forgive me if I call it Jem-in-ee.”
With the tension broken, Thompson adopted a different tone. “Men, the Senate leaders, the NASA leadership, all of us want to see this program move forward in an orderly way. You know you’re already being ticketed for future flights, ones of profound significance. Don’t blow it by allowing some silly-”
He was interrupted by a hard, flat, unemotional voice; it belonged to John Pope. “If you’re talking about sex, say so.”
“That’s exactly what we’re talking about,” Thompson snapped. “If you men allow yourselves to get mixed up with those groupies …”
Pope was inflexible. “It’s highly improper for you to come here and lecture us on such a subject. We’re not Boy Scouts.”
“The public thinks you are.”
“Maybe that’s because of what your magazine writes, Mr. Thompson.”
“We write what America needs to hear.”
“We’re test pilots. Each of us had to decide long ago how we’d behave. So far we’ve done a pretty good job, and frankly, we do not seek high-school counseling now.”
The words were so unexpected, and from a source so [444] surprising, that Mott made no effort to respond; these were not the statements of some young astronaut, but rather the end-of-life reflections of a Socrates or a Voltaire. But Tucker Thompson was not silenced, because he was custodian of property rights which must be protected. “Don’t take this too lightly. There’s a newswoman in these parts who’s announced publicly that she’s going to sleep with every one of you, then write a book about your performances.”
Some of the men gasped, but the effect Thompson sought was dissipated when the husky voice of Randy Claggett whispered, “Get that girl’s full name and address.”
 
When the NASA high command learned through its grapevine of the threat posed by Cynthia Rhee, they gave Tucker Thompson a clear directive: “Get that Korean reporter straightened out,” but Tucker, remembering his first encounter with her, knew that he was not the man for that job. Calling Mrs. Mott to his room at the Bali Hai, he said, “Ride herd on our Miss Kimchi.”
“Who’s that?”
Impatiently Thompson explained: “Kimchi is the smellingest coleslaw in the world, and the bitingest. It’s Korean, loaded with garlic. And that Rhee dame is twice as obnoxious. You’re to tell her what’s what. She’s to lay off our astronauts.”
Rachel laughed. “What an unfortunate use of words, Tucker. Lay off.”
“It’s your paycheck if she gets out of line.”
So Rachel went to the Dagger Bar, where Miss Rhee was sitting alone at her customary table in the rear. Walking up to her, Rachel said, “May I join you?”
“Has Mr. Thompson ordered you to check on me?” the Korean woman asked with transparent insolence.
“He did just that,” Rachel snapped, grabbing at a chair and pulling herself up to the table. “I’ve been informed that men at the bar heard you boast that you were going to sleep with each of our astronauts. What a vile thing to have said.”
To her surprise, the Korean woman lost all belligerence. Like an autumn sunrise a warm smile spread over her beautiful face and she placed her small, well-tended hands over Rachel’s. “Surely you must know that men [445] always spread such rumors when they feel challenged by women who are brighter than they are.”
“Do you challenge them?”
“I certainly do. Men like your Mr. Thompson have been getting away with murder ... the bullshit they write about the astronauts.”
“Do you have to use such words?”
“That word is the only one which describes what the men writers around here have been throwing into the wind.”
“And you intend to correct that?”
“I surely do.” She leaned back against the wall to study Mrs. Mott. “You know, of course, that I’m extremely pleased to have you here at my table. I’ve been wondering how I might meet you.”
“Why?”
“You’re just as much a part of my story as Randy Claggett.”
“I’m surprised,” Rachel said.
“Don’t be. Your husband is a prime part of NASA, and to understand him, I must understand you.”
“And to keep you from wrecking things,” Rachel said. “I must understand what motivates you.”
“I’m relatively simple. Fiercely oriented. Self-controlled. But never complex.”
“Tell me,” Rachel said, and the sincerity in her voice “ encouraged the Asian woman to confide:
 
“Because I was born at the right time, in 1936, I profited from the groundwork done by the great women journalists who preceded me. Simone de Beauvoir, Dorothy Thompson, and especially the three younger Americans of the postwar period. I have no illusions that I’m as good as they were, but I am their inheritor and I intend to send my profession forward, as they did.”
 
When Rachel said, “Tell me about the three Americans,” Cynthia replied, “A woman like you ought to know about them,” and Rachel said, “There’s a great deal I don’t know.”
 
“The significant fact is, they’re all dead. Each one killed herself at the extremes of her profession, and [446] I suppose I’ll do the same. Maggie Higgins worked herself to death in Korea. Dickie Chapelle proved herself braver than most men, parachuting behind enemy lines, submarining in dangerous waters, leading a patrol of Marines with flame-throwers, and finally blowing herself to fragments on a land mine in Vietnam. Nell Nevler, as you know, plunged to a shattering death when the Russian transport in which she and her Russian colonel were escaping plunged into the Kiev airport.
 
“They were brave women, brilliant women, who established new freedoms, who redefined how women could be employed. That they performed well in the 1950s enabled me to try my hand in the 1970s, and I assure you that I do not intend to be a lesser woman than they were.”
 
When Rachel probed as to what her intentions were with the Solid Six, Cynthia laughed. “Who knows? When NASA launches a satellite, who can certify where it will head? Many have gone their own ways, to the consternation of your bright boys in Houston. Same thing happens when you launch a person with ideas at a target with emotional content. Who can anticipate?”
The two women reflected on this for some time, then Cynthia added what was perhaps the most relevant in all that she had revealed:
 
“In comparison with the women I’ve mentioned, I consider myself rather limited, but I do have one thing none of them did. I’m driven by a compulsive force you would not believe. You see, I’m a Korean brought up in Japan, where Koreans are treated like dirt. And that’s a furnace which forges a special kind of steel-flexible ... keen ... indestructible. I’m like a sword of the Japanese samurai, whom I detest but also admire. Their swords cut to the quick of things, and I do the same.”
 
When Rachel looked up she saw Tucker Thompson approaching the table. “And how are you two girls getting along?” And Rachel thought: What an unequal battle this [447] is going to be! The Korean karate champ versus the Madison Avenue hack, but later, when she had watched how adroitly Tucker protected himself in the dirty infighting, she concluded that perhaps the duel would not be as uneven as she had thought.
 
John Pope’s blunt defense of the right of his fellow astronauts to behave without supervision by NASA and Folks had several repercussions. The five other astronauts, knowing him to be a rather stuffy straight arrow who never dallied with the groupies, were impressed by his willingness to defend them on a matter of principle, and they appreciated this. They had already elevated Randy Claggett to the position of master pilot, and now they conferred on Pope the unannounced title of political leader. This gave him no added perquisites, only additional responsibilities, but when difficult problems arose, or confrontations with the high command, they expected him to make the first statements and then to defend them. It was not a position he sought, nor one that gained him ease; observed behavior among one’s peers accounted for it, and herd of cattle in a meadow or a flight of geese at sunset will make the same kind of election for the same kind of reason.
It was perplexing that the men accorded Pope this honor, for they did not especially like him; he was too rigid, too much an overage Cub Scout, far too much a loner. He did not drink or smoke; he quarantined himself from the groupies; and while the other astronauts lounged in the Dagger Bar, he was apt to be on the beach, running six or seven miles to keep the fat down. This separation of Pope from the rest did not mean that the latter conformed to the pattern of Randy Claggett, with his wild and sometimes crazy Texas ways. The normative astronaut was Hickory Lee: quiet, fearfully efficient, solid drinker off duty, quick to anger if his rights were trespassed, and average in almost every other human reaction. Pope and Claggett stood at the extremes; Hickory commanded the middle.
For two reasons the NASA brass were not happy with Pope’s outspoken defiance of Stanley Mott and Tucker Thompson: they had carefully cultivated the myth that the astronauts were almost heavenly creatures-“a cross between Jesus Christ, Ulysses and Joe DiMaggio,” one [448] writer had said-and they had profited enormously from it; they must preserve this myth unsullied; and they had entered into a contract with Folks whereby it and Thompson enjoyed special privileges, and to have him rebuffed so harshly was distasteful. So for some weeks, until it became clear that the Twins were not going to continue any rebellion which might endanger the great project of ultimately placing a man on the Moon, Pope and Claggett were looked upon with suspicion.
The astronauts maintained a careful balance between rigorous attention to detail and rowdy relaxation, and one afternoon, following an informal meeting with the press, five of them huddled around a corner table in the Dagger Bar, conducting a noisy debate concerning where, during a journey to the Moon, Earth’s gravity ceased to exercise dominance and Moon’s took over. Preposterous guesses circulated, after which Hickory Lee banged his beer glass and cried, “Pope, you studied astronomy. Where is the break-even point?”
John did not know, but across the room he spotted Stanley Mott and invited him over to settle the debate, and after the answer was given-220,000 miles from Earth, 19,000 miles from the Moon-Mott lingered to check on how his young men were doing, and he was pleased. But as he talked with the five he noticed that they were looking over his shoulder at someone who had just entered.
It was Tim Bell, the civilian, fresh from the barber, who had given him an especially sharp haircut. It made Bell, always studiously neat, seem even more handsome than usual, a fact which the young man was approving as he looked at himself in the mirror. Mott was perplexed when Claggett whispered, “Let’s give him the haircut routine.”
The five young men rose and walked casually across the room toward where Bell was admiring himself, and as Mott watched them go he felt pride in being associated with them. Slim of hip, broad of shoulder and slightly underweight, they created a trim appearance, and because of the press meeting, each was still dressed in a dark suit and crisp white shirt, with a sober tie knotted in a severe V that nestled neatly within the collar. What differentiated them were their shoes, each having chosen a style which best reflected his way of life. Claggett wore Texas boots, tall and limber. Harry Jensen had chosen [449] French-style pumps with extremely thin soles. Pope, of course, preferred the 1920 wingtip decorated with little holes punched in the leather to make artistic patterns. And each of the others had his own unique wear, always highly polished.
What made them appear the same, like five clones of the one ideal astronaut, were their watches, each man wearing on his left wrist a chronograph, immensely big, heavy and expensive. It told local time, Greenwich Mean Time on the twenty-four-hour system, the day of the week, the month, the phase of the Moon, and served also as a stopwatch, lap timer and alarm clock. Hickory Lee said of his, “I had more trouble learning how to work this monster than I did with advanced calculus at MIT.”
For one brief moment, as they passed from the shadowy darkness of the barroom into an aureole of sunlight coming through a western window, they looked as if nature itself were applauding their excellence, and Mott wondered if anywhere else in America there was assembled a more attractive group. But when he looked again they had passed on, and surrounded Bell as if they intended to beat him up.
“Bell!” Claggett said with a rush of emotion. “We’ve decided to stand with you, no matter what.”
Ed Cater took him by the arm and said confidentially, “At first we thought you might be a jerk, but you’ve shown us you can fly with the best. I’m going to back you all the way.”
Jensen said brightly, “Call on me, Tim, whenever you need help. As for right now, you say the word and we’ll move out.”
“What’s this all about?” Bell asked nervously.
“That haircut,” Claggett said. “We’re ready right now to go in town and beat hell out of the man who gave you that haircut.”
Bell smiled weakly, suspecting correctly that the horseplay had something to do with his not belonging to the military.
Mott, watching the nonsense, experienced an intense desire to see his own son, who had elected a course so different from that chosen by these young gods, and that night he confessed to his wife: “I’ve been doing a great deal of thinking, Rachel. About Millard and us. And the fact [450] that we’d allowed his life style to drive a wedge between us.” His voice quavered and tears threatened.
“What is it, dear?”
“Working with these young men, day after day ... It’s made me hungry to see our boy. I don’t give a damn how he’s living or what other people think. He’s our son, and I see now that we’re obligated to stay with him, hell or high water.”
Rachel bowed her head to hide her own tears, then muttered, “You may be right. What do you intend doing?”
“I’ve asked headquarters for permission, next time I’m in California. Three-day leave to visit with Millard.”
“To what purpose?”
“No purpose. No purpose in God’s world. I just want to see him and let him know we love him.”
Stifled sobs prevented Rachel from speaking, but after a long interval during which she blew her nose twice, she laughed nervously, then said softly, “It’s strange, you know, speaking about how your work with the six men has affected you. I see their wives day after day, and I suppose I know everything that’s wrong with every one of them. But do you know what? I’d be overjoyed to have any one of them as a daughter-in-law. I wish to God that Millard would marry someone like them.”
“Apparently that’s not going to be, and frankly, I no longer give a damn. As Pope said the other morning, “We do not seek counsel from you.” Millard’s made a life decision and now we’re the ones who have to adjust.”
“Even though we despise the decision?”
“Yes. We must keep in contact with our son. No matter what he does.”
During the next visit of the astronauts to check on progress at Allied Aviation, Mott slipped away, rented a car and drove to Malibu Beach, where with the help of a girl in a bikini he found the cottage occupied by Millard and a young man from Indiana named Roger. Millard. taller than his father, no glasses, very slim, very tanned, appeared to be in excellent health. He wore his hair much longer than did the astronauts and apparently he owned no socks, for during their entire visit together his father never saw him in any.
The son, supposing that his father had come to lecture him, was decidedly cool at first, while Roger was openly [451] defensive, but as the afternoon passed with no lectures, the atmosphere eased, and by the time Stanley invited the young men to have dinner with him, they were almost eager to accept because they wanted to hear what had brought him to their cottage. At first the talk centered on the astronauts.
Are they really as ...” Young Mott did not know how to finish his question without insulting his father, and there was an awkward pause.
“As square as they seem?” Stanley suggested, and when the young men laughed, he raised three fingers and said, “Eagle Scouts, word of honor. Millard, you would not believe how square these fellows are.”
“To what purpose?”
“Every time they go aloft they lay their lives on the line. One slip and they’re dead. They need discipline.”
“They’ve had no accidents yet. Aren’t you overplaying it?”
“The accidents will come. But they’ll forge ahead. And one of these days they’ll stand on the Moon.”
“As I said, to what purpose?”
Stanley Mott spoke very carefully. “Because that’s the job they’ve given themselves. That’s their scene, as you say,” When neither of the young men spoke, he added, trying to sound casual, “The way you men have worked out your own scene.”
Silence. So he added, offhandedly, “I respect the astronauts’ choice. I respect yours.” And before either young man could respond, he launched hurriedly into a recitation of what the astronauts had to know before they could participate in a space flight: “Math, vector analysis, orbital mechanics, computers, rocket engines, the characteristics of three hypergolic fuels, digital systems, radio, television and another ten or eleven really tough fields.”
“You make them sound like geniuses,” Roger said. He “had been unable to master algebra.
“Let me tell you a funny thing, Roger. What I’ve just recited are the basic fields. When they get through them, then they begin the hard work. Tracing out the particular systems of their particular spacecraft. The manuals, eight and a half by eleven, typewriter size, stand this high.” And with his hands he indicated a pile nearly two feet high, waiting for his listeners to absorb that staggering fact.
[452] “The other day I saw two of the men running to a class, and they were on a slanting surface so that their heads were tilted to the left, and I had this crazy feeling: They better stop that or the knowledge will spill out their ear. They must have, right now, as much information in their heads as the human brain can accommodate. They must be among the brightest men on Earth.” He paused, then concluded: “Maybe only squares would be solid enough to absorb so much without going nuts. Maybe they have to be square.”
The young men nodded, and Roger smoothed the expensive cashmere sweater he was wearing. “Another round?” Mott asked, but no one wanted any further drinks, so the waitress brought the food, a delicious seafood salad with Italian garlic bread and iced tea.
As they ate, Millard said cautiously, “Back there you said something about life styles.”
“Yes. I said I respected life styles.”
“I have a job, you know.”
“I didn’t know.” He took off his glasses, wiped his tired eyes, and said, “I’m delighted, Millard. What’s it deal with?”
“Now that’s odd,” Millard replied. “You ask ‘What’s it deal with?’ as if the job itself was more important than the man doing the job.”
“Habit of speech, I guess.”
But Millard would not let his father off the hook so easily. “If I told you that I had a job which sounded important. Computers. Plastic forms. Damned near anything mechanical. You’d be proud, and you could say offhandedly at the country club, “My boy Millard’s into computers.” Well, your boy Millard’s into nurses’ helper in a children’s hospital. And so is Roger.”
“Damned good public service,” Mott said.
“We think so,” his son said defiantly.
“In the normal swing of events, what will it ...”
“Lead to? Nothing, so far as I can see. It’s a way of life for the present, and where anything leads to I haven’t a clue.”
“Go with the flow?” Mott asked.
“Yes.”
This required no further comment, so after a while Mott said brightly, as if opening a completely new subject, “Your [453] mother and I are eager to maintain contact, Millard. If your work ever brings you back East ... or vacations ... you must stay with us. You, too, Roger.”
“You won’t shoot me?” Roger asked.
“Why would you say that?”
“Because if I went home to Indiana, my father would shoot me. Especially if I took your son with me.”
“Four months ago I’d have shot you. But now ...”
“What happened?” Roger asked, boring in.
“My work with the new astronauts. I’m sort of their den mother. They’ve moved me deeply. Made me see that six men could be six radically different human beings, although as you implied a while back, they seem at first like paper cutouts. So different.”
“And?”
“I saw human capacities, human variations if you will-I saw the whole ball game in a different light. And I felt driven to tell you so, Millard.”
“This is a very good salad,” his son said.
“Would you like to hear what my father said in those circumstances?” Roger asked.
“I would.”
“He’s a minor official at the raceway. Very gung ho. When he heard how I was living he blew a gasket. Said if I ever let anyone at the raceway know what I was doing, he’d kill me. So I laughed and asked him, “Who do you think were the first two men I slept with?” And he damn near fainted when I told him, giving names, “Two of your best drivers.” He screamed, “I’ll kill them,” but they were important figures at the raceway, so he didn’t kill them. Father is very strong on killing people. His father was a leading figure in the days when the Klan ran the state.”
“What do young men like you ...” Mott was embarrassed at having used such a cliché phrase, but he could think of no circumlocution. “How do you envisage the future?”
“We don’t,” Roger said.
“But Millard’s mother and I-we look forward to gainful occupation till I’m sixty-five. Then forced retirement ... then a reduced standard of living. Grandchildren to occupy us. One of us dies ... we all die. An orderly progression, you might say.”
“A statistical one,” Roger said.
[454] “Statistics surely govern your situation, too.”
The young men did not care to discuss the probabilities which dictated their lives, but throughout the remainder of this first evening they talked freely of their jobs at the hospital and of the kinds of work beachboys were able to get. Roger said, “The post office employs a lot. If you can pass Civil Service.”
Stanley Mott spent two fascinating days with his son, discussing things he would never have imagined possible. As a straight arrow he could not approve of any deviation from the norm; indeed, a straight arrow was a man who defined the norm. But as a human being whose parameters of vision and understanding were being expanded by the expanding age in which he played a central role, he could appreciate the tangled drives, so unlike his own, which motivated these two young men.
“Do you find any satisfaction in what you do?” Roger asked on the last evening.
“Each day is a new beginning, an overwhelming challenge.”
“Like what?”
“You know, I didn’t take my doctorate-an entirely new field-till I was forty-four. Celestial mechanics. That wakes a man up.”
“So what are you doing with it now?”
“NASA assigns me to one committee after another. Where I can apply what I’ve learned.”
“Like what?” Roger persisted.
“Would you really want to hear? I mean, listen for about an hour?”
“Test me.”
So Mott took a large sheet of paper, and with the exquisite line and lettering he had mastered at Georgia Tech in Drafting II, drew a schematic of the solar system, naming the Sun at the left hand and the Earth fairly close in, but not naming what he called “the nine other wanderers.”
“Can you tell me how to name them?” he asked, and neither of his listeners could. So starting close to the Sun he printed the names: Mercury, Venus, Earth, Mars, Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus, Neptune, Pluto.
“That’s only nine planets,” Roger said. “You just said there were nine besides Earth.”
[455] “I think of the collection of asteroids as a planet,” Mott said. “One that broke into fragments, from one cause or another. They hide between Mars and Jupiter.”
When the young men finished studying the diagram, Mott said, “What I’m engaged in is what we call the ‘grand tour.’ There used to be a time when young Englishmen of good family were not considered educated until they completed a grand tour of Paris, Geneva and Rome, with maybe a stopover in barbarian Germany. Long after the Moon shot is history, we propose to launch a single space vehicle which will take off from Florida, and move purposefully past all the other planets. Its course could be something like this.”
And with the most careful strokes of his pen, making never a mistake or a strikeover, he sketched a majestic itinerary, twisting and winding among the planets, sometimes turning in unexpected ways and leaping off into unexpected directions. When he finished his diagram he said, simply, “If we’re able to start this tour in 1970, we’ll end it with our craft heading past Pluto and out to the remote stars of our Galaxy sometime about 1997. It’ll wander among those near stars for about four million years, then leave for the remote galaxies, and after about two thousand billion years, it may get somewhere important.”
“You speak of it as if it was immortal.”
“It will be. No atmosphere to disturb it. No moisture to rust it. No burning fuel to clog the pipes. Only the perpetual journey.”
“How will you know it’s still on its journey?”
Mott pointed to the single light that illuminated the cottage and said, “It will carry a device which generates electricity from radioactivity. This will activate a radio that will send us messages ... one-tenth of the power of that little bulb. But it will penetrate the billion miles separating us from Saturn as if that planet were next door. “It’ll require ninety minutes for us to receive the message, of course, and when the grand tour reaches Pluto, nearly five billion miles away, it’ll take nearly four hours ... electrical impulses coming to us at the speed of light, and when the craft reaches the edge of our Galaxy its messages will require thousands of years to reach us, but the messages will come.”
[456] The young men contemplated this for a while, then Millard asked, “But how does the spacecraft get its power to keep moving outward?”
“We start it with a good boost at Cape Canaveral. And we head it with great precision, so that every time it encounters a planet, it does so in a way to pick up energy from the rotation of that planet about the Sun-sort of like the last child at the end of a crack-the-whip-and this throws the craft sharply onward to the next planet in line.”
“You can schedule it so exactly?” Roger asked.
“Almost to the second,” Mott said. “Almost to the mile.”
“And that’s what you’re doing ... when you’re not babysitting?”
“Yes.” And on a separate sheet of paper he drew a beautiful depiction of the planet Saturn, with its rings handsomely inclined and its ten known moons depicted, and what he now told the men paved the way for them to tell him things that concerned themselves. “My task, and I’m low man on the totem pole working on this, is to bring our craft toward Saturn on this kind of heading on a specified day in, say, August 1981, when the exact location of Saturn and its moons has been determined.”
“You like to use the word exact, don’t you?”
“If data can be known, they should be used.”
“And you know where Saturn will be?”
“Kepler and Newton taught us how to know.”
“And from a distance of a billion miles you’re going to pilot your tiny craft so that it threads its way past the moons and the rings.”
“That’s exactly what we’re going to do.”
“How?”
“Newton once said that if he could see great distances, which he could, it was only because he stood on the shoulders of giants-the brilliant men like Kepler who went before him. We can solve the mechanical riddles of the Sun’s system because some damned good mathematicians completed the basic work before us. We will lead that spacecraft here and here and here and here, and we will make not one damned mistake.”
He spoke with such fury, such iron-hard determination, that his listeners dared not make snide attacks on his beliefs, and after they had sat for some time in the [457] near-darkness, Mott said, “The grand tour requires an infinity of calculations-where every planet and every moon will be down to the minute and the second. Then we must work backward to a specific two-week period, and within each twenty-four hours we will have a launch window of exactly-there’s that word again-four minutes and nine seconds. We’re going to penetrate the remotest corners of the universe, and we have four minutes and nine seconds to do it in.”
No comment, and then he said, “The point is, for Johannes Kepler to calculate the orbit of one planet required mathematical equations and solutions covering papers this high-ten years of solid work. With a good computer we do it in about seven seconds. What I’m doing has nothing to do with the Moon or Saturn. I’m building for the clowns who’ll be trying things in the next century. And there will never be an end.”
He had no more to say, nor did the young men. The three of them sat there, looking at the incredible diagrams, listening to the noisy surf, and after a long while Roger said, “At dinner last night you told us that you and your wife lived in a situation governed by statistics. The mortality tables say you’ll live to age seventy-nine, then kaput. I refused to admit that Millard and I also fall into the middle of statistical predictions. We do.”
It was approaching midnight, and now Roger wanted to talk. “At nineteen you’re a young god. You can handle any breaking wave. Girls stop to look as you pass, and men too. Those are the golden years. Christ, you can do anything, write any rules. The good years are these, twenty to thirty-five. So many opportunities in so many fields, you get dizzy. Beach houses everywhere. Girls with convertibles. Men with high salaries. California sunshine. You cannot imagine how good these years can be. And no responsibility-except to pray that the nuclear bomb doesn’t swoop down to wipe it all away before you’ve finished with your fun.
“From what I’ve watched, the numbers begin to tell at about forty, and at fifty you’re a real statistic. I’ll probably continue lucky and find someone to share a house with, and our salaries, too. Or maybe I’ll escort women without husbands, women who can help me pay my bills. I’ll have a steady job, I suppose, but I don’t look forward to that, [458] and if I’m still as strongly sexed as I am now, I’ll have trouble finding partners, because I know I’ll never be rich. I’m not built that way. But I’ll get along. And at sixty, just like you, the numbers will overwhelm me, and God knows what I’ll do. But I’ll survive. And if I’m lucky enough to have found an excellent person like your son, we’ll live where it’s warm and collect social security. Then our problem becomes identical with yours, Dr. Mott. Find a place to live, enough to eat on, and an orderly burial when we die.
To Stanley Mott’s surprise, his son now said with quiet vigor, almost accusingly, “Dad, you watch what happens to your godlike astronauts. I’ve seen a lot of retired Army and Navy people in this part of California, and I can tell you with certainty what it’s going to be. You have six under your wing. Two will be killed young. Two will be divorced and marry girls twenty years younger. One of the others will quit the program, go into business, and become an alcoholic. And the other will do something of minor significance, then sit around and show the neighbors his scrapbooks. Why go through all the hassle today to accomplish so little?”
Mott had an instant response: “And of the six, three will probably stand on that Moon. And that makes all the difference. Nothing, not time nor wrinkles nor scars nor divorce nor alcoholism, can erase that. They will have been there, and we will not.”
In the morning, when he had to return to General Funkhauser’s meetings, he told Millard, “The door will always be open. Bring Roger. You’re a bright son-of-a-bitch, Roger. You won’t be satisfied with beach life permanently.”
“Try me,” Roger said.
 
In the spring of 1964 Norman Grant found himself in good shape and his party in chaos: no Republican in the state of Fremont wished to run against him in the senatorial primary, but he could foresee that nationally his party might be sorely weakened if it split down the middle over the candidacy of Barry Goldwater of Arizona. Grant supported Goldwater and prayed that the stubborn Rockefeller liberals might see the light and halt their divisive actions.
“They can only damage us,” Grant told his long-time [459] assistant, Tim Finnerty, “and I’m beginning to think they mean to go through with it.”
“I’m more worried about Lyndon Johnson. That Texas cracker is a tough politician. He could win this thing going away, if we nominate Goldwater.”
“We’re going to nominate him. Give the people a choice, not an echo.”
“Are you happy with that cliché, Senator?”
“We’re going to win with it, if the Rockefeller people don’t do us in.”
“Your problem, Senator, is your own election in Fremont. I think we’re in trouble.”
“Trouble? We don’t even have an opponent in the primary.”
“But we could be vulnerable in November. This could be a big Democrat year.”
Such talk made sense to Grant, for he had learned that a politician or an admiral should approach every battle as if it were the culminating one; besides, as he said, “If I’ve learned anything in the Senate, it’s that Lyndon Johnson is a frightening opponent.”
So he began campaigning across Fremont in May and hit every major concentration of voters before the end of June. At the Republican convention he was a fortress of strength for Goldwater and a major irritation to the Rockefeller people, and when William Scranton of Pennsylvania made a belated run, spurred on perhaps by Eisenhower, he was remorseless in rejecting him. He spent much of the summer campaigning for Goldwater in other states, then hurried home to defend himself against a very strong Democratic senator from the Fremont legislature.
After only a few exchanges it became apparent that his early optimism was unfounded; his challenger knew far more about state conditions than he, and during one strategy session with Finnerty and his local aides, the Irishman slammed the cards on the table: “Senator, if you go on this way, you’re going to lose. Goldwater is an albatross around your neck. Stop defending him.”
“Barry Goldwater is my man, a fine decent man who could save this country.”
“Look at Hugh Scott in Pennsylvania. Faces the same race you do. He’s smart enough never to mention Goldwater’s name. Listening to him, you’d never know there [460] was a presidential race on. Look at this literature. “No matter who else you vote for, pull the lever for Hugh Scott, a great American.” Can I print up some of them for you, in the tough districts in Webster?”
“You cannot. Barry Goldwater is my candidate. I sink or swim with Goldwater.”
“I was afraid you’d say that, so I’ve been restructuring the last eight weeks. Hanley is killing you on local issues, and my polls show that you’re barely holding your own. You can’t match him where he’s strong, so you’ve got to club him down where you’re strong. National leadership. Patriotism. Space. Do you think you can get John Pope to campaign for you?”
“NASA forbids it. Absolutely.”
“That’s what I was afraid of. So we bring Penny Pope back here. She’s worked for you three times before. Strictly legitimate, and everyone in the state will remember that she’s John Pope’s wife.”
“Will Glancey permit it? Presidential election and all that?”
“I took the liberty of speaking with Glancey, and he and I both know that Goldwater’s going to lose by a landslide, but without saying so, he let me know that he’d be happy having you back in the Senate. Penny’s free.”
Penny Pope was proud to work for Norman Grant’s reelection, for she had watched him at close quarters for more than a dozen years and had never found him doing a dishonest thing. “He’s straight out of the Ark, an antediluvian, the poor man’s Barry Goldwater, but he has a backbone of steel. I love the man and want to see him get six more years.”
Finnerty asked her to appear with the senator in public as often as possible so that he might introduce her as “that brave daughter of Our Fair State who helps run Washington while her brave husband, a brave son of Our Fair State, heads for the Moon.” No mention was ever made of the fact that the only thing John Pope had flown so far was the Cape Canaveral simulator and a borrowed T-38. But when Grant did finagle orders allowing Pope to land his T-38, with Randy Claggett in the back seat, at the new NASA air base near Clay, Finnerty had photographers present, and after the two astronauts were shown [461] strapped into their seats, Penny was brought forward to hand them flowers.
She was also given the delicate task of explaining to the press why the senator’s wife and daughter were not campaigning for him this year: “Elinor Grant has had severe nervous headaches which quite incapacitate her, and Marcia, as you know, is busy with her work as dean of faculty at the university out West.” When one enterprising newsman flew to California to inspect the university and the nonexistent faculty, his exposé ran in several Eastern newspapers but appeared in no major paper west of the Missouri River and in none at all in Fremont.
“We got home free on that one,” Penny told Finnerty. “Thanks for having muzzled the jackals.”
“I didn’t threaten the press, just reasoned with them.”
To keep the lid on the Elinor Grant story, however, was much more difficult; Penny had to give sworn assurances that the problem was not acute alcoholism, as certain Washington papers had intimated when trying to explain her absences from the capital, but beyond that, Penny was not willing to perjure herself.
Mrs. Grant was drinking, but she was far from being a dipsomaniac; her problem was that the little men from outer space threatened more seriously than ever before to take over control of the country, and when Penny went to reason with her she found the woman as “spaced out” as if she had been taking drugs. Her first question to Elinor Grant was: “When did you first correspond with Dr. Strabismus?”
“Maybe ten years ago, maybe more.”
“Let’s say it was ten years. That means you’ve received one hundred and twenty monthly special deliveries, all saying about the same thing. Don’t you get suspicious?”
“The danger is very great, Mrs. Pope.”
“And in those ten years you’ve received not less than forty telegrams telling you that at the last minute the little men have refrained. Doesn’t that get monotonous?”
“When they do land, Mrs. Pope, adventuresses like you are going to get their just deserts.” When Penny ignored this, she continued: “Why do you come out here to flaunt your affair with my husband before the entire state?”
“Please, Mrs. Grant, let’s just talk about your husband. [462] He’s in the midst of a very difficult campaign. He could lose, you know. And this nation needs him.”
“It does. It does. Norman’s a real patriot and the country needs him.”
“So I come begging you to help this good man ... forget your personal feelings. Your father was a notable servant in this democracy ...”
“He was indeed, Mrs. Pope. Father was a saint, as big a hero in his way as Norman is in his.”
“I’ve often heard your husband say that.”
“I would not want to damage Norman’s political career. I’m sure Father wouldn’t want me to.”

“Then you must meet with the press. They’re demanding it. They’re beginning to hint at ugly reasons.”
“I couldn’t meet the press.” But with unrelenting pressure, applied over more than a week, Penny Pope convinced the frightened woman that she must do so. “It can be brief, but it can’t be silly-silly, Mrs. Grant. You must answer their questions, but I would suggest this. You must not create panic in this nation. Dr. Strabismus takes you into his confidence about the arrival of the little men. But I don’t think he would want you to circulate that news generally.”
“You’re quite right. He always says that he will alert the world when the proper time comes.”
“He would be most unhappy, I’m sure, if you beat the gun before he gave you permission.”
“I’d never do that,” she promised, so one afternoon in early October she and Penny conducted one of the most carefully orchestrated press conferences of the entire national campaign. Elinor spoke of her husband’s heroism, his commitment to honest government, and his considerable contributions to the space program which would soon place an American flag on the Moon.
Only once did she come close to breaking the fragile spell, when she alluded to the grave dangers hanging over America, but when the press bored in to ascertain which dangers, Penny interposed the word Communism-and Mrs. Grant gave a little speech on that subject. At a signal from Penny, Senator Grant happened into the room, kissed his wife for Tim Finnerty’s cameras, then left for a rally in Webster.
Later that day, when Finnerty sought Penny’s advice [463] as to whether they should bring back the other enlisted men to wave the bloody shirt of naval heroism, she was inclined to advise against it. “You can use a war only so long. This Vietnam thing is beginning to worry people, especially students.”
“Our party used the Civil War from the 1868 election through the 1908. That’s forty years, and it gained them victory after victory. Norman Grant was an authentic hero and the theme isn’t exhausted by any means.”
Reluctantly she agreed, but when she saw the three veterans in their uniforms she realized that unless the seams were let out, the effect was going to be comical. “Old, I don’t mind. Lends a sense of history. But tight is funny, and people will laugh.” Actually, when she got through with the three men they looked great, and when she sharpened their speeches to give them a more topical relevance, the effect was almost as strong as it had been during that pivotal campaign of 1946, and she told the men, during the last days when it looked as if Grant might win the seat for another six years, “You’ve helped a really great man sustain a career that has strengthened this nation.”
She saw that Finnerty of Massachusetts and Penzoss of Alabama were touched by what she said, but that the black high-school principal, Gawain Butler of Detroit, was unmoved, and she was not surprised when the latter said, on the eve of the election, “If Senator Grant wins, I would like to see him as soon as possible.”
“Why not stay over? There’s no man in America he’s more beholden to than you, Dr. Butler.”
Two days after the election, when the Republicans of Fremont were trying to decode what had happened to their man Goldwater while celebrating quietly the reelection of their senator, Penny Pope ushered Gawain Butler in to see the victor, and after the big man had adjusted his artificial leg and seated himself comfortably, he said, “I’m sure you must think this is about a job of some kind, but it isn’t. I’m doing very well, thank you, and there’s even some talk that I might become a superintendent of schools, either in Michigan or California.”
“Congratulations,” Grant said with real enthusiasm.
“Yes, if you’ve used me to get elected to the Senate, I’ve used you to further my career in Detroit. To hear my wife [464] talk, and she does, you’d think you made no move without consulting me.”
“Your wife’s right. How many times have I called you?”
“It’s not about jobs, and yet it is,” Butler said. “It’s about space.”
“Space? You mean the Moon and that?”
“I do,” Butler said quietly. “I’d like to show you some pictures,” and from his briefcase, the imitation-leather kind favored by school administrators, he produced four glossy photographs sent him by NASA public relations. The first showed seven handsome masculine faces: Glenn, Slayton, Schirra and the other four from the first selection; Armstrong, Borman, Conrad and the six others from Group II; Aldrin, Cernan, Scott and eleven others from Group III; Claggett, Pope, Jensen and the three others from the Special Group.
“They’re our boys,” Grant said.
“Thirty-six fine Americans,” Butler said. “How much would you estimate it costs you to educate each of your boys, as you call them.”
“We have no figures, but someone gave an off-the-cuff guess of about three million dollars ... each one.”
As he had practiced in his office in Detroit, Butler pointed casually at the determined face of John Pope: “This boy’s from your hometown, isn’t he, Senator?”
“I had nothing to do with his appointment.”
“But he is from your town, and the government is paying three million dollars to educate him.”
“For a very special task.”
“A noble task, I do agree. But don’t these photographs seem strange to you?” When Grant shrugged his shoulders, Gawain Butler said sternly, “Not one black face among them.” The senator was stunned by the forcefulness of this complaint and said nothing, so Butler continued: “We blacks comprise about twelve percent of the national population. There ought to be about four of our young men in those photographs.”
“We have a very careful process of selection. I’m sure that if ...”
Butler was not listening. From his briefcase he produced another glossy showing the tense scene in Mission Control when a critical decision had to be made concerning [465] a Gemini flight; it was the kind NASA took pride in circulating, for it indicated the intense concentration of some hundred men in short sleeves, grappling with the life-and-death crisis of a spacecraft two hundred miles aloft, where the blackness was intense and gravity practically null. Most of the men had crewcuts, which they believed made them look young and serious, and no one was smoking, although some were biting on pencils. They looked like the associate professors of some excellent engineering university who had just attained tenure, and they were all white.
“By proportion, Senator, we should have twelve or thirteen black faces in that fine snapshot. We have none.”
“I’m sure-”
“This nation has made space its major effort. Five billion dollars a year, maybe six, I’m told. Publicity, speeches, whole magazines given over to this program, and not a single black man participates. Why do you always cut us off from the best parts of our national life?”
The question came so from the heart, not only of this Detroit educator but also of the entire black community of America, that Senator Grant had to recognize its legitimacy. Why were there no blacks in this great enterprise which he had labored so strenuously to launch and keep on course? The ugly thought came to him that Lyndon Johnson and Michael Glancey were technically Southerners, so that perhaps their regional inheritance had manifested itself, but this was unworthy, because no senator or President had ever done more honest work on behalf of the blacks than Johnson, and no so-called Southern senator had employed black secretaries in his office sooner than Mike Glancey.
He wondered if the committee that selected astronauts was in any way contaminated, but then he visualized its chairman, Deke Slayton, as tough and fair a man as he had ever met, and said to himself: Deke would never permit such nonsense. If a qualified black came along, he’d grab him. Checking a folder in his desk drawer, he thought with satisfaction: Besides, he’s from Wisconsin and we Westerners have no prejudices.
He rang for a servant and asked if Mrs. Pope was in the house. She wasn’t, but the maid said she thought she [466] might still be at headquarters, and in a few minutes Finnerty delivered her to the Grant residence.
“You stay,” the senator told Finnerty, and when the newcomers were seated, Grant nodded at Gawain Butler. “Tell them your complaint.”
“It’s not a personal complaint,” Butler protested. “It goes far beyond that,” and once more he spread his photographs, after which Grant asked his assistants, “How do you account for it?” and Mrs. Pope had to confess: “The problem never came up.”
“And that’s the problem,” Butler said. “Nobody ever noticed that one of our nation’s greatest enterprises was lily-white. Nobody gave a damn.”
He took from his briefcase three other photographs, not glossies this time, for they came from varied sources and not from a government public relations office. The three white people recognized the faces immediately: Jackie Robinson from baseball, Jim Brown the great football running back, and Oscar Robertson, perhaps the best basketball player who ever lived. “If black men can excel in any job you give them, why wouldn’t they prove capable in space?”
The problem was so real, and pointed so directly at the men running the program, that Senator Grant said frankly, “Gawain, you hit me with something terribly important. I wasn’t aware of this, and I propose to do something about it. Gather three of your best people and I’ll have Mrs. Pope issue travel orders. Be in my office in Washington on Monday.” Turning to the others, he said, “See that Dr. Mott is there, too.”
But if Grant had even the slightest suspicion that Dr. Mott was going to fudge the interview with bland excuses and easy promises, he did not know that tough-minded expert, for when the four black leaders were settled, and after they had made their protest in excellent fashion, he took over.
“I’ve served on three selection committees now, and we’ve striven desperately to pick Catholic or Jewish pilots, women pilots and, especially, black pilots. We’ve wanted to show men of good will exactly like yourselves that we were not bound by religion, sex or color. But when the final moment came to make the harsh choices, from about a hundred down to six, we knew that each of the persons we selected [467] had to have these qualifications,” and he handed the committee mimeographed sheets listing these requirements:
 
B.S. degree in science or engineering
M.S. degree in science or engineering (advisable)
Military flight training
Test-pilot school
Advanced university training
Solid mastery of mathematics, physics, combustion engines, calculus
Service with a flight squadron
Test-pilot experience in at least two dozen types of aircraft
 
“It’s very simple, gentlemen. You find me the young black men who have subjected themselves to training as rigorous as this, and I’ll lead the battle for their selection.”
“For astronauts, maybe yes,” Dr. Butler agreed, twisting the condemnatory paper in his fingers, “but how about the Mission Control people? Are we to be excluded from everything?”
Mott produced another mimeographed sheet, a long one this time, showing the educational qualifications of the men in Mission Control and a summary of the fantastic spread of special skills they had. On a large blow-up of a NASA photograph of the control crew at work, he pointed to one man after another, reciting his name and the great breadth of his education: “Tom Fallester. B.S. Cornell. M.S. Cal Tech. Ph.D. MIT. Qualified in all branches of engineering relating to combustion engines. Six years’ work at Lewis Center in Cleveland on rockets. Our expert during flights on fuel management and engine repair.” On and on he went, probing behind the white shirts and the grim smiles, explaining the arduous paths these notable men had followed in acquiring the manifold skills they commanded. In the entire group there was no one of whom it could be said: “Tarnoff, here, had a good high-school education and one year at a teachers’ college in which his work emphasized nothing special, but he is a likable fellow.” Tarnoff either mastered four or five fields of specific knowledge or he was in no way eligible for the team.
[468] Stanley Mott was as distressed as the four black men to whom re was talking. “I cannot even guess what the solution is, gentlemen.”
“Do the rest of the astronauts, those coming along ... do they have to be so highly trained in test-piloting and the like?” the questioner was a black professor from Harvard.
“Each man in the capsule has to be qualified to take over,” Mott said without a glimmer of conciliation.
“But down the line?” the Harvard man insisted. “Are scientists never going into space?”
“They are,” and Mott waved the list of qualifications for the Mission Control people. “But they will have to be at least as well qualified as these men. There will be no place for a black man who played four years of basketball and took basket-weaving to remain eligible.”
At his suggestion the four-man committee, accompanied by himself and Penny Pope, visited with the faculties of five excellent universities, three with engineering schools, two without, and at the conclusion of this most revealing tour, Penny compiled this doleful summary for her Senate committee:
 
We could not find in these five student bodies even one black man who was pursuing a course of hard, scientific training which would later on qualify him for astronaut selection. It was never a limitation of intelligence or ability that caused this state of affairs, for often the black males had higher raw test scores than their white classmates.
 
In this generation the gifted black student looks to business as his ladder leading out of the ghetto and to a top salary. His eye is not on the stars, it is on the board room, and at the conclusion of our tour, not one black member of our group could identify one black young man who was going to be eligible for selection ten years from now, nor even one who was preparing himself for an assignment to the Mission Control team. They do not take hard subjects.
 
Penny Pope’s accurate summary may have satisfied the committee of black protesters, but it certainly did not satisfy Senator Grant, for when he received a copy he rang [469] bells furiously, and that afternoon he and Senator Glancey met with Dr. Mott and his associates. Grant spoke first, using white-hot profanity, which he usually avoided:
 
“Goddammit, I want a black astronaut. I don’t care if we have to lower standards to the third-grade level. I want to see a black astronaut on our roster, and I don’t want to be told it can’t be done.”
 
Mott interrupted: “At this point it cannot be done. Do you want to endanger an entire program?”
 
“The entire program will be shot to hell right here in Congress if you don’t find us a black astronaut. Do you think we can go on disinheriting over twenty million of our people? Barring them from a program on which we spend billions of their tax dollars? Let me tell you, if the public ever turns against your program, Mott, you are a dead duck. Now, when the next photograph is taken of Mission Control, I want to see at least four black faces in there.”
 
Stubbornly, Mott asked, “Doing what?”
 
“I don’t give a goddamn what they’re doing. They can be knitting, for all I care, but I want them to be there. Don’t you agree, Senator Glancey?”
 
It was agreed that before another year ended, there would be black faces in the control room, but finding them proved almost impossible, for reasons cited by the faculty and students of the five universities, but when Mott and his team really searched, they found at Wayne State University in Detroit an exceptionally well-trained young man who was gifted in meeting people, so although he lacked calculus and flying experience, he was given the job of liaison with the press, in which he performed superbly. Further search revealed a young man in Alabama, another in California and one in Massachusetts with first-class scientific backgrounds, so that when the next photographs were released, that sea of radiant white faces was speckled more realistically. Senator Grant took one of the pictures, circled the three faces in red ink, and mailed it [470] to his good friend Dr. Butler of the Detroit Public Suho  System: “Dear Gawain, you challenged us to find them and we did. Norman.”
 
The mishap in Scott Carpenter’s Mercury flight, which carried him two hundred and forty miles beyond Commander John Pope’s waiting Tulagi, reminded NASA that even the smallest error in calculation or execution might drop its returning astronauts in some Central or South American jungle, so it was obligatory that all astronauts practice surviving in that terrain. Some trained in Costa Rica, some in El Salvador, but the Solid Six were flown to the Amazon, and they were surprised at how near it was.
They left Cape Canaveral at 0800, landed at Miami Airport at 0845 and took a Pan-American non-stop to Manaus, Brazil, where they landed in late afternoon at a fine, clean city eight hundred miles up the Amazon. Officers of the Brazilian navy had launches waiting, and by that 1700 same day Pope and his colleagues were boating on the world’s greatest river.
The Americans could not believe what they were seeing, for in their flights back and forth across the United States they had grown accustomed to the Ohio, the Mississippi and the Missouri, no mean rivers, and the marvelous Colorado, a source of continuing enchantment, so they carried in their minds some concept of what a major river should be, but they were unprepared for a real river like the Amazon.
“Look at the damned thing!” Claggett cried, and as the launch pulled away from shore the men could barely see the other side. The Amazon was not big, it was stupendous a vast moving lake.
“Gentlemen,” the Brazilian officer said, “on this bank you will notice the line of discoloration, twenty feet up, running along the entire stretch of river.” He interrupted to tell the astronauts he had received his education at West Point. “Now what do you suppose that line represents?” After some irrelevant guesses were made, he said. “That’s how high the Amazon rises every year in its early summer flood.” The line was incomprehensible, twenty feet higher than where the launch rode the muddy waters.
[471] “You have cliffs here,” Claggett pointed out. “On the other side, the flood must stretch forever.”
“It does,” the officer said, and the Americans looked across that fantastic expanse, trying vainly to imagine what such a flood must be like.
“Technically,” the Brazilian said, “we’re not really on the Amazon. This is the Negro, a jet-black network coming down out of Colombia and Venezuela. A few miles east of here, the Solomon, bright yellow like his mines. You won’t believe what happens.”
He sped the launch downriver, pointing out to the men the dark color of the stream, and after a while they became aware that off to the right a really tremendous river was about to join, its waters angry from their turbulent trip down from the distant mountains of Peru and Ecuador. By itself it would have formed the largest river in the world; when it joined with the Negro it would be incomparable. Then the Amazon proper would begin.
“Watch!” the Brazilian said, and it was apparent that no matter how many times he had taken visitors to see the impending miracle, he was still as thrilled by it as he had been the first time, for from the south came the mighty yellow Solomon, while from the north came the huge, surly black Negro. They met, but they did not blend. Side by side for nearly twenty miles the two majestic rivers shared the same channel, each as separated from the other as if a wall had been erected between them. Yellow and black, they moved toward the ocean side by side, and even when the launches cut through them, again and again, the two rivers maintained their individuality, each carrying an immense load of detritus which gave it color, each pursuing its own course.
And then, as night began to fall, the Americans saw two sights they would never forget. Up the newly formed Amazon came a twenty-thousand-ton ship from Bremerhaven, Germany, its dark flag flying in the jungle breeze, its nose pointed toward Manaus. It was eight hundred miles from the ocean, yet it was steaming full speed ahead, secure in its knowledge that this vast river was as safe as the open sea.
“We’re in middle Kansas” Claggett cried, “and here comes an ocean liner.”
[472] Then the dolphin began to leap, blue, silvery beasts frolicking as if they were in the deepest Pacific, leading the ship homeward to its evening haven. Right off the bow of the launches the dolphin rose, twisting in air to spy upon the astronauts, then diving to the unplumbed depths of the Amazon. Six of the dolphin accompanied the launches back to Manaus, and as they leaped in the dying sunlight Pope told the men in his boat, “Hey! They’re an omen! Altair’s always been my lucky star!”
“I don’t get it,” Cater said.
“The constellation Dolphin. It protects Altair. You watch! We’ll handle the Amazon.”
The men spent the next day sightseeing in Manaus, to which the governor of the state came to pay his respects. Tucker Thompson’s photographers took many pictures of the ceremonies, after which the governor said, through an interpreter, “Gentlemen, we have what I think may be a surprise for you,” and he led their motorcade to the center of the city, where a jewel of an opera house had been erected by the Amazon rubber barons in the closing years of the nineteenth century. Architecturally it was a gem, a Venetian dream in crystal and silver, and it contained many mementos of the great days when this little town had been a major metropolis.
“Caruso sang here, and Édouard de Reszke, and Adelina Patti. We had magnificent seasons, with stars from all over Europe coming up our river in German ocean liners. I’m told that Sarah Bernhardt played L’Aiglon on that stage, and Helena Modjeska was here, too. We were the Athens of the jungle.”
It was agreed that the Solid Six would be taken by launch sixty miles up the Rio Solimões, as the Solomon was spelled in Portuguese, there to be led ten miles up a minor tributary, from which local guides would take them five miles into the jungle and leave them. They carried with them nothing but knives, cloth that could be used as a mosquito net, and three radios that would broadcast their position constantly but not receive messages from the outside. If a man broke a leg, he would be rescued automatically, after three days.
The guide into the jungle was mestizo-Indian-black-Portuguese-Spanish-and he said nothing as he led the men into an area from which it would be unlikely that [473] they could extricate themselves. Without saying goodbye, he turned to retrace the confusing path he had taken, but “ just as he left the group he looked at Pope, winked, and with his head indicated a tree heavy with palm leaves of a sort John had not seen before: “Muy bueno, señor,” he said in Spanish, and disappeared.
The seven men were now ominously alone, seven because they had with them a canny French-Canadian woodsman, master of many tricks, and it would be his job to instruct them in the wily arts of survival. His name was Georges, which the astronauts quickly transformed into Gorgeous Georges. He told them, “Anything that moves, grab it. Anything that looks good to eat, let. me smell it.” It was no longer a game; now seven hungry men without weapons had to forage and improvise for three days, and hope to come out alive.
By the close of that first day it was clear that the hero of this expedition was going to be Harry Jensen, the cotton picker from South Carolina, for this hard-grained little fellow had a score of ingenious ideas remembered from his boyhood days in the cypress swamps along the Little Pee Dee in his home state. He could divert a small stream and thus isolate a fish; he could set traps for any animals that might wander by; he devised a snare for birds and another for monkeys; and he said that if anyone spotted a python moving in, to call him.
He was witty, and persistent and lucky, and although he caught nothing that first day, so that the men went to bed hungry, on the second day one of his traps did snare an iguana, but since the others had not found a way to make fire, the astronauts had to eat it raw, which they did eagerly if not with pleasure.
Pope, remembering the signal thrown by the mestizo guide, asked the men what good the palm tree might serve, and Timothy Bell, who had lived on an Allied Aviation expense account and thus knew the better restaurants, said, “A very expensive item is hearts of palm salad,” so Pope and Jensen attacked the tree without knowing where its heart was or what it was supposed to look like.
The palm tree defended its secret stoutly, and the two men were in a drenching sweat by the time their small knives had hacked it apart, but when Jensen passed down the succulent baby leaves the astronauts tore into them, [474] and one of the men said, “With a Caesar dressing these could be delicious.”
“They’re not too bad with raw iguana, either,” Pope said.
The late afternoons and nights were made unbearable by insects, whose stings were intensified by the constant rain of sweat that poured from every crevice. Hickory Lee, an outdoorsman, kept tasting the sweat on the heel of his left thumb, and said ominously, “We’re losing our salt at a dangerous rate,” and when the others made this most useful test they confirmed Lee’s suspicion that their perspiration was turning acid.
Ed Cater, the Air Force major from Kosciusko, Mississippi, told the men of a story he had read about fliers in World War II being lost in the jungles of Guadalcanal: “Two bad scenes, Jap snipers and any cut on the legs. You cut your shin in this climate, ninety-nine percent humidity, it never heals. Just rots away.”
“How soon?” Claggett asked.
“Maybe six months.”
“Good. We’ll live till Christmas.” Claggett’s humor never riled his companions.
He was a loud Texan, but he was also the best pilot in the group and the one most likely to survive any ordeal. Now he said soberly, “Let’s suppose our radios go on the blink. All three. We’re in this jungle and we don’t know a damned thing more than we do right now. How in hell do we get out?”
The astronauts looked instinctively to Gorgeous Georges, who demurred: “That’s your job.”
“The important thing,” Jensen said, “is to sit quietly for about an hour and figure everything you do know.” And he led the group in an analysis of its situation.
They said they knew they were in Brazil, but he would not allow that. “If we crashed in a Gemini capsule, we wouldn’t know where in hell we were.”
“We’d know we were in South America.”
“Granted.” Jensen made it a kind of game, twenty questions, with him the moderator. They did not know they were near the Amazon River, but the humidity and the thickness of the jungle made it likely they were close to some body of water. They knew that so far, at least, what water was available was potable, and they knew they could [475] subsist on hearts of palm for some days; at least it stifled the belly pains.
Gradually they concluded that the imperative thing would be not to guess where the larger body of water was, nor in which direction safety lay, but the construction of a signal which could be seen from search planes. They could not clear the jungle to do this, but they could fasten large white flags made of their cloth to the tops of trees.
“And how do we get up there?” Bell asked, and Jensen replied, “Simple, you haul your ass up or you die.”
“Can we be sure that search planes will be looking for us?” Bell asked.
“As sure as the sun will rise tomorrow,” Jensen said. “That’s one thing we must never doubt. Their radar will tell them about where the capsule went down. America will never let us rot here. They’d launch a thousand planes if necessary. That we must never doubt.”
Cater said he’d read a story about a naval pilot downed in the waters off Guadalcanal in World War II, right under the nose of Japanese shore guns, and how planes of the Army Air Corps, as it was called then, fought an entire day to save that one flier. “And they did,” he said.
“But was it a true story?” Bell asked.
“I think it must have been,” Cater said.
When the three days were over, and the radios vectored the rescue teams to where the hungry astronauts were waiting, their faces scarred from mosquito bites, Cater said, “Jensen, I don’t know whether you can fly an airplane or not, but if I’m in one that has to crash in a jungle, I want you as my copilot.”
It was a tense moment, for the four other astronauts shared Cater’s assessment of the young fellow, but Jensen reverted to a gag Army men had used when starting their flight training. Spreading his legs as if working the rudders in a trainer, he grabbed an imaginary stick with both hands and cried in horror, looking hard to his right, “Sir, sir! How do you pull this thing to make it go up?”
 
When the bone-tired astronauts reached their quarters in Manaus, Cater cried, “My God! It can’t be!” But it was. Sitting on a bar stool in the lounge was petite Cynthia Rhee, her impudent eyes laughing at them, who had trailed [476] her subjects down the length of Florida and across the Caribbean to the confluence of the Negro and the Solimões, where the Amazon began.
“I had to see how you looked when you came out of the jungle,” she said in her lovely accent. “You look awful.” She touched Cater on the cheek. “The bites, do they hurt?” She stared straight into his eyes as she said this.
“After you get a certain number ...”
“Who assumed control at the bad moments?” she asked.
“Guess,” Cater said, falling onto a stool.
“I think maybe Jensen from South Carolina.”
“Now why would you say that?” Cater asked.
“Because he would know swampy land. South Carolina has many swamps.”
“You still have all your marbles,” Cater said, and Cynthia turned her attention to Claggett.
“You promised at Cocoa Beach to tell me about your early days,” she said.
“Work comes first,” Claggett said, reaching for a beer.
“Perhaps the most important work you’ll do outside the flight,” she said to all the men, “is talk to me. Because what you’re doing is very important, and you don’t want it immortalized in the bullshit this man peddles.” And she pointed to Tucker Thompson hurrying in to protect his charges from this dangerous slant-eye, as he called her.
Despite Tucker’s efforts, she succeeded in leading Claggett to his room, where they engaged in love-making so wild and varied that Randy finally asked, “Does the Japanese government give you kids graduate courses?”
“I’m Korean,” she said as they lay exhausted after an especially vigorous engagement. “You don’t even know where Korea is, do you?”
Claggett smiled. “It’s part of China, somewheres. Japan invades it every twenty years.”
“Why are you Americans-even you bright ones-why are you so ignorant of the rest of the world?”
“The rest of the world is that flea-bitten jungle out there.”
This made her quite angry. “Do you know that Korea is divided in half. Communist and free?” She jerked the bedclothes up to her chin and glared at her stupid American.
Very quietly Randy droned like a briefing officer: “You take off at Fukuoka on the island of Kyushu. It’s a short [477] hop across the Korean Strait. to Pusan. Then Taegu, Seoul, west to Inchon, then Kaesong and a hard flight northwest to Pyongyang, where the heavy antiaircraft waits. Then up to the Yalu River and down the east coast to Hungnam, where all hell breaks loose. Then down to K-22 on the Sea of Japan ... where I fought the Russians and the Chinese for one hellishly cold winter and dreamed of a beautiful Korean Jo-san I had fallen in love with at Pusan.”
Cynthia Rhee said nothing. With the sheet tucked under her chin, she gazed at Claggett for some moments, then leaned over and kissed him. “I apologize. I should know by now not to ask questions before I finish my research.”
“Can you reach me a beer?”
Deftly she knocked the cap off by wedging it against the bedstead and the wall, marring each. “I learned that during the weekends at Yale. But if you were in Korea, then you know how the Japanese despise us. I could take a machine gun to every damned Japanese in the world.”
“But you went to college there.”
“I was born there. And my parents were treated like cattle. I have this burning hunger to show the Japanese ...”
“Don’t fight your battles in my bed. Lie down.”
They made love through the night, talking intermittently about Korea, NASA, the jungle. Never before had Claggett met such a woman, one so delicately lovely yet so sternly driven. Usually she was far ahead of him in her shrewd analysis of the astronaut program, and her witty observations on the other men of the Solid Six were startling in their perceptions. “If I were Deke Slayton ...” she began.
“You know Deke Slayton?”
“It’s my job to know everybody. So if I were Slayton organizing a Gemini flight, I’d want you as commander, and guess who as pilot? In the right-hand seat?”
Claggett guessed Jensen, but she said, “Wrong. On land he’s fantastic. He’d be sensational managing a department store like Macy’s. But upstairs I’d want John Pope. Not a pleasant man, but very capable.”
“You don’t cotton to the straight arrows, do you?”
She knew the term. In fact, she knew all the terms and their accurate definitions; she had made herself into an astronaut and intuitively she knew how they functioned. [478] “Pope would get the capsule down when you blanked out-and that’s what counts. Getting the damned capsule down. Pacific ... Atlantic. Desert ... jungle. Let’s get the damned thing down.”
As they left the room to join the others for the short flight back to Cape Canaveral-primitive Amazonian jungle to the Moon craft in one short day-Claggett asked, “Is it true what Slobber Lips Thompson told us? That you said you intended sleeping with all of us? As an act of research?”
“Randy, do I ask you ‘Is it true that on your first test flight you became so excited that things came apart and you wet your drawers?’ Shouldn’t people with a fondness for each other take certain things on faith?”
“Well, did you say it?”
“No. Did you wet your pants?”
“Yes.” And they kissed for a long time.
 
No one in America, not even the NASA high command, followed more assiduously the country’s adventures in space than Dr. Leopold Strabismus, president of Universal Space Associates and chancellor of the University of Space and Aviation, for he knew in his bones that massive changes were under way in American life and that space was only a fragment of the whole. He suspected that the present surge of interest would finally transform itself into something quite unexpected, and it was necessary for him to be ready for whatever did happen.
His original USA flourished, with more than sixty thousand apprehensive citizens pouring money into his account and receiving in return his constantly improved explanations of what the little men were up to. Ramirez, with an enlarged budget, was able to contract with a Los Angeles printer for a monthly letter done on good stock, with an occasional color diagram explaining how the spaceships from distant planets maneuvered among the Sun’s planets: one popular edition showed a cutaway of a spaceship itself. Strabismus drew the diagrams but used the newfangled appliqué alphabets printed on transparent cellophane for the lettering.
“Renewed subscriptions have increased forty-one percent since our use of color,” Ramirez reported to Dr. Strabismus, but the latter was no longer acutely interested in [479] his first venture; the university was succeeding beyond his hopes. It still had no students or faculty, but its issuance of diplomas had multiplied tenfold. “There’s an insatiable desire for education,” he told Marcia as they lay in bed one night. “And have you noticed that if a person is willing to pay three hundred fifty dollars for a master’s degree, he’s just as likely to cough up six-fifty for a doctorate.”
He and Marcia often speculated on what the purchasers did with their degrees, and just as his instincts had warned him to prepare the pamphlet which Senator Grant’s wife had used to refute Dr. Mott when he tried to attack USA, so he now had his staff compile a reassuring publication about the university, which was sent in response to inquiries from any institution whose administrators were becoming suspicious that one of its faculty who offered as his proof of education a degree from USA in Los Angeles was committing fraud.
The pamphlet was a masterpiece, showing a complete faculty with distinguished degrees from all over the world, including Witwatersrand in Johannesburg, and a list of recent publications written by these scholars. Dr. Strabismus himself wrote the bibliography, and it included papers on splitting genes, synthesizing a new drug that would replace insulin in the treatment of diabetes, and a cost-time analysis of assembly work at a General Motors plant. His knowledge was so encyclopedic, and his interests so broad, that he was able to dash off these titles in correct phraseology without consulting any books, and as he dictated each one he thought: I wish I had time to write that paper. Now. It’s needed: Theory of Tumbling Bodies Entering Planetary Atmospheres with Application to Probe Vehicles and Australian Tektites.
Once, when a full professor from the University of Wisconsin came out to investigate the credentials of an applicant who had landed a job using fraudulent degrees, Strabismus told him frankly, “Your man’s a fake. Fire him. His check bounced.”
“How do you get away with this, Strabismus?”
“In California, so many churches and colleges want to crank up that the state has little energy left over to supervise us, once we get started. We’re free to do about what we want, so long as we don’t steal state funds. We [480] pay our registration fee, our yearly renewals. We keep our nose clean and we delude nobody.”
“How about this faculty list?”
“Does it hurt anybody? Does it fool anybody like you?”
“Don’t you feel like a criminal?”
“I certainly do not. I’ve been bucking the system all my life, and I think I’ve performed a useful service.” He was so frank that the Wisconsin man actually liked him, and they talked for a long time.
“Tell me, at Wisconsin do you detect the beginnings of a falling away from science?”
“We certainly do. The flood of money pumped by the federal government into the science faculties has caused a lot of resentment among the rest of us.”
“What’s your field?”
“Humanities. And we’re hurting. I’m philosophy, principally.”
Strabismus wanted to know his specialty, and when the visitor said the Nature of Truth, the president of USA surprised him with a flow of names associated with that subject and an accurate summary of the positions of many: Hobbes, Kant, Bradley, Brand Blanshard of Yale.
“You think the antiscience movement will continue to grow?” Strabismus asked.
“I do. I see it in my students, most clearly.”
“Tell me, are your young people big with tarot cards? I-Ching?”
The professor snapped his fingers and said, “Strange you should ask that. There’s a real movement toward the occult.”
“Astrology?”
“Very big.” The man from Wisconsin stroked his chin, then stared at the floor. “It’s quite confusing, really. In space we’re having our greatest scientific triumphs. On the ground our young people are turning sharply away from science.”
“How much of it is mere youthful rebellion?” Strabismus asked. At this moment he heard his dean of faculty at the door. As she walked into the hall he called out and invited her to join them. “This is Dr. Grant, my dean.” He brought her up to date on the science-antiscience rebellion and restated his question.
“Clearly,” she said, “many young people rebel against [481] science, any kind of order, just to gig their parents.
“Excuse me?” the professor said.
“Gig their parents. Make them uneasy. More important, gig their professors.”
“You mean that if the university goes over heart and soul to science ...”
“Then to hell with science,” Marcia said.
Success in charlatanism had produced subtle and pleasing changes in the administrators of USA: Dr. Strabismus was somewhat heavier from continued good eating; his beard was more neatly trimmed and his face more rounded and benevolent; in fact, he looked like a contented university president whose football team had just been invited to play in the Rose Bowl. Marcia’s handsome face had lost its perpetual pout, for she was no longer angry at anyone, and her body had lost a good deal of its baby fat, so that while the president grew stouter, she grew slimmer, and she was so attractive, with her warm smile and her hair in neat braids, that when she suggested to the professor that he join them for dinner, he accepted eagerly.
“Tell me,” he asked over the wine, “how did you two ever get involved in these rackets?”
“Did Leopold tell you who I am?” she asked. “Senator Grant’s daughter. I just grew tired of hearing his patriotic bullshit.”
The professor winced. “So you’re part of the rebellion?”
“I sure am.” When he asked if she had finished college, she said, “Freshman year, almost. C-minus. You see, I got tired of your bullshit, too. You professors, I mean.”
“What do you foresee as the next big mania?” Strabismus asked.
“Something antiscientific, that’s for sure.”
“I did most of the talking before. Now you tell us why you think that.”
The professor of philosophy said that when a democracy responds totally to an imagined outside threat, the way America did to Russia’s Sputnik, the intellectuals quickly see that this is spurious and rebel against it, but in this particular case the situation was further confused by anxiety among college students over the military draft and among the lower middle classes by the fact that the nation was spending so much on space when things close at hand [482] required attention. “The blacks, you know, are quite opposed to the space program. They’re cut out of it.”
“The blacks are cut out of everything,” Strabismus said. “Do you know that in my Universal Space Associates, one of the hottest movements ever, I have not a single black enrolled, so far as I know. But in the diploma thing, quite a few put down their dollars for that degree. They believe the framed diploma will make the difference.”
As they spoke, Marcia turned on the television, and a news program refuted what they had been saying, for at a gala press conference officials of NASA were presenting the next two heroes who would fly in the Gemini program, and the junior member, who would sit in the right-hand seat, was Randy Claggett from Texas. He was most appealing as he smiled, gap-toothed, into the camera and allowed as how his success so far had been pretty much due to the support of his beautiful wife, Debby Dee, and their three fine children.
“One more step on our way to the Moon,” the spokesman said as the camera zoomed in on Randy and Debby Dee.
“There’s a lot of fascination left in space,” Strabismus said. “And it’ll increase when they actually attack the Moon. But believe me, Professor, the drop-off is going to be sensational ...”
“And you want to be in first when the next racket starts?”
“I do. The diploma thing adds nice extra money, but I doubt that it could finance our big building. You need something big, some big, swinging movement. All I know is, it’s going to be antiscience, antispace. But what form it’s going to take ... I wish you could tell me.”
 
The five Earthbound members of the Solid Six were proud that Claggett had been chosen so early for a ride in space, and they haunted the control rooms at Cape Canaveral to follow his progress. The center had been redesignated Cape Kennedy in honor of the President slain less than two years earlier, but none of the professionals ever used that name; to them it would always be Canaveral.
They were living, as usual on their eastern trips, at the Bali Hai in Cocoa Beach, and when it appeared assured that Claggett and his teammate were going to make a success of their flight, Ed Cater suggested that they all drive back to the Dagger Bar for a celebration at which [483] he and Gloria would provide the beer, and Hickory Lee the oysters. All the astronauts, especially those from land-bound states, relished Florida seafood, particularly the oysters, because they could be consumed in great quantities without producing fat. As Claggett and his partner were now learning, even one extra ounce of fat in that Gemini capsule meant added problems, so that the young pilots had a phobia about pies and cakes: “They can wait till we’re retired.”
There were three routes by which a car could travel the twenty miles from the space center to the motel: it could stay on A1A and, keep to the fringing islands, or it could come down the middle on Route 3 and make better time, or it could move sharply west onto the mainland and come speeding down U.S. 1, a well-kept double highway. The last way was longer but much quicker.
General Motors had presented each astronaut with a Corvette, and the men loved these sleek, swift cars. Lee, Cater and Bell drove theirs down A1A to enjoy the relaxing scenery along the shore. Pope and young Harry Jensen, having been held up by consultations with Dr. Mott, left late, and they elected to drive over to U.S. 1 and then to speed south to the town of Cocoa, then east on Route 520 to the island at Cocoa Beach.
It was a gala afternoon; everything was going right and their team was at last in the air, which meant that quite soon the rest of them would be entering space, too. Jensen, who was better with a car than Pope, led the way in his specially painted gray Corvette, and Pope, trailing in the aged Mercury convertible, which he still preferred, admired the manner in which the South Carolinian handled his car, never making a foolish move, always prepared to ease sideways, left or right, to enter a spot left open by the slower traffic. It was like flying, really, riding tail gunner to Harry Jensen.
Pope, peering ahead, spotted the heavy old Buick coming from the opposite direction when it was a good distance away, and casually muttered to himself, “That one doesn’t know how to drive.” As the big black car neared, he thought: He’s weaving. Is his front wheel funny? Instinctively, Pope took maneuvers which would provide him maximum escape room if the Buick really was in trouble, and noticed with some dismay that Jensen was not doing so.
[484] Then he uttered a wild cry as the Buick leaped across the median strip and plowed directly into Jensen’s Corvette, knocking it clear across the roadway in such a manner that Pope had great difficulty maneuvering his Mercury past the two tangled cars. Only his moments of anticipation saved him.
When he elbowed his way through the crowd he found the driver of the Buick unscathed and very drunk. Harry Jensen was so completely mashed he was barely recognizable through the blood and scattered brains.
Restraining himself from killing the murderer, Pope spoke to no one, returned quietly to his Mercury and sped off before the police arrived, for he had work to do. He roared down U.S. 1, spun his car east on Route 520, then swiftly south on A1A, grinding his wheels into the parking lot of the Bali Hai.
He did not run through the entrance lobby, but as soon as Cynthia Rhee saw his ashen face she knew something terrible had happened, and she supposed it had to do with Claggett’s flight: “John, what is it?” Because he had come to think of her as a member of the team, he grabbed her left arm and pulled her along as he sought for Cater and Lee in the bar. When he saw them, he beckoned them into a corner and said bluntly, “Harry Jensen’s just been killed.”
“How?”
“Drunk driver came across the median on U.S. 1. Wiped him out.”
“You sure?”
“Brains across the highway.”
“Oh Jesus!” The two men who had intended to host the party stood silent for a moment, then Cater said, “Where’s Tim Bell? See if you can find him, Hickory.” And when Bell joined them, shaking and pale, Cater said, “Anybody know where Inger is?”
“I saw her at the pool,” Bell said.
“We can’t tell her there,” Cater said.
“I’ll take her to her room,” Cynthia suggested, but Cater grabbed her firmly: “I think not.” The men knew that Jensen and the Korean girl had been sleeping together at odd opportunities and they suspected that Inger also knew.
Cater went to the pool, and in his gentle Deep South drawl, said, “Inger, we’re having a blowout tonight, and Harry said he’d be a bit late. The girls are dressing ...”
[485] When she reached her room she found the three astronauts waiting-Pope, Bell, Hickory Lee-standing very straight, their distress clear in their eyes as they looked at her.
“Oh God!” she gasped.
“On the highway,” Cater said. “Totally wiped out.”
“Oh God!”
In her presence Cater went to the phone and called Deke Slayton: “This is Ed Cater. Astronaut Harry Jensen has just been killed in a highway accident on U.S. 1 between the Cape and Cocoa Beach. No word of this must be sent aloft to Claggett. Call the police for verification.”
Miss Rhee had alerted the other wives, and now they streamed into the motel room, composed, tight-lipped and beautiful. Sandy Lee, the tough-minded girl from Tennessee, took command, ordering the men from the room. Cool, determined, she pushed the other women away when they wanted Inger to lie down, said brusquely, “Walk it off, kid.” When the phone started to ring she answered the first two calls, then left the receiver off the hook. She would not allow the others to turn on the television, but she did order drinks and suggested that Inger have a Jack Daniels straight.
Through that long night the five women sat together, talking, now and then laughing as they recalled some scandalous thing that had happened to them, weeping more often. And in the course of the night each woman called Texas to ask about her children. At about two-thirty Inger said, “If she wants to come in, let her.”
And Debby Dee found Cynthia Rhee in a corner of the Dagger Bar, transcribing notes. The men stayed in the bar, drinking, except that Pope and Cater ducked out to accompany the police to the morgue to identify the corpse, but this they could barely do, for Jensen had no face.
 
“When Randy Claggett splashed down after his Gemini flight, the first thing he heard aboard the rescue carrier was that his good buddy Harry Jensen had been killed by a drunk driver, and as soon as he returned to Canaveral he stormed into the police station, demanding to know who the killer was. He learned that the man had accumulated six citations for drunken driving and had once caused a woman to lose a leg. His license had not been [486] taken away because his lawyer pleaded that “it would be unfair to deprive this fine young man of his means of earning a living.” He had never gone to jail; he had never been penalized; he just kept driving that big Buick when he was dead drunk, and nobody gave a damn.
“Fifty thousand people killed a year,” the police chief said. “We have good reason to believe that more than half are because of drunk driving.”
“Can’t you do anything?” Claggett asked in seething anger.
“Automobile people won’t let us. Whiskey people won’t let us. And the courts abuse us if we arrest them. I’ve arrested your man three times. Told the judge he was an accident looking for a place to happen.”
Randy studied the dossier: Melvin Starling, 28. Married. Arrest 1: Drunk driving. Arrest 4: Drunk driving hitting a woman. Arrest 6: Drunk driving. He pointed to that last entry: “That was only three weeks ago.”
“America wants it that way,” the policeman said, folding the file and jamming it into his desk.
 
And then a familiar miracle of military life occurred. Older officers-Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine, it made no difference-who had lost their wives began flying in to Canaveral to talk with Inger Jensen and take her two children on picnics. Younger officers not yet married, who had served with Harry at some remote base, turned up to see how she was doing, and three men who had tested planes with him at Edwards stopped by.
It was as if signals had been flashed through the military establishment: “One of our women has been left a widow with two kids.” In other walks such a woman with two rambunctious flaxen-haired children might be at a serious disadvantage where remarriage was concerned, but in the military a young woman with children became especially attractive, as if she brought with her a ready-made family. So like white corpuscles hastening toward a wound to purify it, officers unmarried or widowed leaped forward to protect Harry Jensen’s widow.
To the surprise of the five astronaut families who vetted the suitors, she would have none of them. Bundling her children into a secondhand station wagon bought with [487] Harry’s insurance, she started across country to a small college in Oregon, where she had been offered a job as librarian. When Debby Dee kissed her goodbye, the big Texan woman said, “You’re a horse’s ass, Inger, but God, I love you,” and the little Swedish girl replied, “It’s as if he was in the seat beside me. He’ll always be.”
 
When Stanley Mott’s younger son, Christopher, was arrested for selling marijuana to grammar-school students in suburban Washington, his father spent three nights, after daylong meetings of his committee on the Moon, pleading with police and district attorneys not to send his boy to a house of correction, and on the afternoon of the fourth day, during a heated debate on whether the surface of the Moon might be composed of deep dust into which a landing vehicle might sink never to be seen again, he leaned forward onto the table, collapsed, and slipped sideways to the floor.
When Rachel Mott was informed, she was sure it was a heart attack, but after NASA doctors had examined him they assured her that it was mere exhaustion: “Even geniuses have to rest some time. Keep him in bed. Don’t let him worry.”
As soon as word of his collapse circulated among the Solid Six, now Five, each of the astronauts wrote personally to Mott, attesting to their appreciation of what he had done for them, from the days of the selection committee to his supportive work at the time of Claggett’s flight, and the five wives did the same with Mrs. Mott, but the most surprising outcome was a personal visit to the sickroom by Cynthia Rhee: “I’m here for two reasons, Dr. Mott. To express my hopes for your speedy recovery, for you are a good man and you’re needed, and to see firsthand what penalties a scientist pays for his dedication to space.”
“How can you afford to spend so much time on one story?”
“I submit something almost every week. The paper gets good return on my modest expense account, believe me.”
“Am I your story this week?”
“You are. “Overworked Scientist Collapses on Way to Moon.” Everyone in Japan will be able to visualize that.”
“Engineer, not scientist.”
“So there we have the first conflict. Since you always [488] resented your below-the-salt status as an engineer, now that you’ve become a real scientist, you refuse the title. Out of intellectual pique?”
Wrapped in his bathrobe, Mott adjusted his eyeglasses and smiled. “You may be right, but I’m an engineer, always will be.” He laughed outright. “Know what a really fine engineer told me when I came to work for the old NACA? ‘Scientists dream about doing great things. Engineers do them.’ ”
It was surprising how men of all caliber, and many women, were willing to talk freely with this remarkable Korean woman. She was almost thirty now, “all nonsense flushed away” as she once said to Rachel Mott, and everything about her seemed to disqualify her for the arduous task she had undertaken: she was too small to wrestle with the crowds that surrounded the astronauts, too pretty to be taken seriously. Her English was delightful to hear, with its occasional mispronunciation of l, r and f, and she had never learned to control her fiery temper; but she had a charming way of throwing herself upon the mercy of listeners, a woman without sham or pretense who wanted to delve into problems of intense mutual concern. Nothing derailed her, not abuse or scorn or outright refusal to answer her intrusive questions. As she had told Rachel one night at the Bali Hai: “Gigantic things are under way, supervised by little men, and the world requires to know all aspects.”
“I should like to tabulate the forces that brought you down,” she said as she sat beside Mott’s bed. “Jensen’s death. I think you were like all of us. We saw that heavenly boy with his fairy-tale princess of a wife as the perpetual youth, gallant ... so goddamned gallant.” After pausing to bite her lip and keep back the tears, she continued to bore in. “So you must have seen Jensen as the son you never had ...”
“I have two sons.”
Without altering in any way her tone of voice, she said, “Of course. But one is a California homosexual, the other a Washington drug pusher.”
Mott did not attempt to fight back. On these two difficult confrontations he had made his peace, but he did ask, “Is it necessary to print that?”
“To print it? Maybe not. To know it? Absolutely,” and [489] she digressed to explain her attitude toward data. “Have you ever studied the ceramics of Korea? Probably the greatest in the world. Our potters never try to make a perfect vase, flawless in all dimensions. They allow the clay to manifest itself, to work out its own destiny. And how do they achieve that unmatched celadon finish? They don’t apply it as a celadon color. They underglaze, one subtle shade after another. Pale colors you are never allowed to see. And they follow this patient ritual because they learned that if they go in some bright morning, all eager to create a masterpiece, and simply brush onto their vase the celadon color, it will always remain just that, as long as the vase exists. But if they start way back and apply first a slight gray, then a green, then a shadowy brown and finally the pale yellow, when the time comes to place the real yellow, it rests upon a pulsating base which will enable it through the next five hundred years to become whatever shade of exquisite celadon the passing fancy requires. That way you get a piece of crockery that dances and breathes and lives its own life.
“I work like a Korean potter. I underpaint, ridiculously. I must know how you felt about Jensen’s death, and a thousand other things, so that when in my book I present you as my scientist-forgive me, my engineer-the underpainting will be so generous that your portrait will vibrate for five hundred years.”
“You have a long perspective.”
“No, a very long perception. You seem sometimes to forget that you and your glorious young men are engaged in an adventure that will command public interest for at least five centuries. You’re not in America in 1965. You’re in the books of world history in 2465. And if dedicated people like me do not tell your story accurately today, do you know how the books of 2465 are going to tell it? “On 12 April 1961 the heroic Russian cosmonaut Yuri Gagarin became the first man to enter space. Much later some Americans followed.” And that will be the summary of your whole ambitious program unless writers like me engrave the real story honestly.”
“Must you speak of my sons?”
“Millard and Roger had no restraints when I interviewed them on Malibu Beach.”
“You went to that trouble?”
[490] “And l have the statements of the three major policemen in Christopher’s case. I never cared much for you, Dr. Mott, till I saw for myself how much you love your sons.”
“Why was I repulsive?”
“Because in my little world I saw you always in your companionship with Tucker Thompson, and that is a very shabby setting for an honest gem.”
“I read your story in the German papers about the death of Jensen. It wasn’t much different from what Thompson wrote for his rag, except his pictures were better.”
“Wait! Wait, Dr. Mott! For current publication I can write pure bullshit with the best of them. To pay the rent. But I certainly shall keep the B.Q. very low when I write my book.”
“B.Q.?”
“Bullshit Quotient. We try to keep it as low as humanly possible.”
“Then it’s true, you are writing a book?”
“All newspaper people are writing books. Mine will be short, and I hope poetic, and I believe it’ll be the one that will move into the next century, because my underpainting will be very solid. The old Korean potters will be proud of me for observing their rules so rigorously.” Then, in a preamble to the penetrating questions she was about to ask Mott, she did some revealing underpainting on herself: “Did you ever stop to think, Dr. Mott, that for really great ceramics, the ones that sing, you must go to Korea. Japanese work is heavy, uninspired, often very ordinary. Because they don’t know how to sing, and we Koreans do.”
 
His second visitors from the Bali Hai were equally surprising. Randy Claggett and John Pope came cautiously into the sickroom, obviously bursting with pride and carrying a heavy bundle stuffed into a paper shopping bag.
“How you doin’, Doc?” Randy asked.
“No strain, no pain.”
“What happened? Everything hit you at once?”
“You could not possibly explain it better. Let it be a warning, you young tigers. Everybody has a limit.”
“We came to buck you up, Doctor. Deke Slayton told us yesterday and we hopped a T-38 to come up and give you the good news.”
[491] “I can see it in your faces. You fly the next Gemini?”
“Two down the line, but we get the one heavy with science, a lot of extravehicular activity.”
“The man in the right-hand seat is the one who leaves the capsule and walks in space?”
“Yep,” Claggett said. “Pope goes out, and if I still like the look on his ugly face, I let him back in.”
“And if you don’t?”
“We’re paintin’ his ass in radioactive fluorescent, and for the next hundred years amateur astronomers will be able to follow him orbit after orbit.”
Mott was as excited as they were about the projected flight, the first in which the entire crew would be composed of the astronauts for whom he was responsible, and then he had to laugh. “I’ll bet Tucker Thompson is going ape.”
“That he is,” Claggett said. “Has his men photographing Debby Dee and Penny like mad, in hopes we’ll crash and he can play up their heroic sorrow the way he did with Inger Jensen. Christ, did you see what he did with that one?”
The three men discussed Inger for some moments, and Mott learned that she had arrived in Oregon, where she could escape memories of NASA. “She won’t be single long,” Claggett said. “I warned Debby Dee last night. ‘If that Swede is still around next autumn, out you go, babe, and in she comes.’ ”
Now Pope broke in. “Tucker’s in a state of schizophrenia, and you better get out of bed real soon to straighten him up, Dr. Mott.”
“What’s the problem? I should think he’d be overjoyed, an entire trip controlled by two men on his payroll.”
“That part’s fine. Last night he told everyone at the Bali Hai, ‘We’ll teach Life how to cover a space flight.’ But what eats him is the fact that of the six available wives-five, now that Inger’s out-he gets for his exclusive the two he likes least.” And Pope counted on his fingers: “He’d love to have Gloria Cater and that Mississippi charm. Or Cluny Bell and her sultry come-at-me, tiger. Or everybody’s favorite rags-to-riches hillbilly, Sandy Lee. He could do wonders with any two of them. But what does he get? Debby Dee, who calls NASA brass ‘them stupid sonnombeeches,’ and Penny Pope, who insists on staying in [492] Washington with no white fence and no kids.”
Claggett was laughing. “I heard him tell Cater last night, “Well, we have to work with what we got.” But we came on a different mission, Doc,” and he began to fumble with the shopping bag, taking from it. a stack of books whose covers were lurid and torn. “You take space too seriously, Doc. That’s why you’re flat on your ass and we’re up and about. Now, the proper trainin’ for an astronaut, or for someone like you who works with astronauts, is not all that calculus shit you bother your brains with, but some good old science fiction of the kind that got me and Pope started.”
“I never wasted my youth on that crap,” Pope protested.
Mott pointed out that of all the engineers he had known, practically none had bothered with science fiction, whereas almost all the scientists had. “Why is that?” he asked his two visitors.
“I think you were always preoccupied with how to do it,” Pope suggested. “The scientists were always far out, setting goals to try next.”
“How did you get hooked, Randy?” Mott asked.
“Those wonderful sexy covers. I didn’t give a damn about science fiction, but I always hoped that the gorillas from outer space were gonna rip the rest of the clothes off and go at it. Month after month I longed for the miracle, but it never happened, and after about six years I was bright enough to see that they were connin’ me, so I began to read the stories for the content. And they were very good.”
He had brought eight books, three anthologies with sexy covers, five full-length novels with covers featuring the anomalies of outer space, and as he passed them over to Mott, he spread the sexy items on the bed and said, “It’s always perplexed me. We speak of women as the weaker sex. But have you noticed these covers and the ads in the magazines? The men are always dressed to the hilt to protect them from the sun and the dust and the frozen snow, and the women are nearly naked, Look at these cosmonauts! Every inch of their body covered to ward off radiation. The women, hardly a stitch on.” With his hands on the anthologies he said, “When I first joined my Marine squadron I thought, “These must be the brightest officers in the world. They all read the Sunday New York Times,” [493] and I was a dumb stiff from Texas, so I figured that if I wanted to keep up, I’d better read the Times too, but then I found that all they read was the glossy magazine section, to see the naked women in the ads. Fifty science-fiction magazines don’t give you half the naked women that a good issue of the Sunday Times does.”
“How am I supposed to read these?” Mott asked. “Any special order?”
“There sure is, and I have ‘em marked. Please read ‘em in order, because then you’ll get the drift. But I’m gonna read the first one aloud, so that you get started right.” And from one of the anthologies he began to read in his strong Texas voice a story much loved by sci-fi fans.
It was called “To Serve Man,” and dealt with porcine visitors from outer space who arrive mysteriously on Earth with two inestimable boons: a way to neutralize all weaponry, so that perpetual peace can reign, and an unlimited free food supply, so that want will be eradicated. They also introduce better systems of government and one gentle innovation after another for the betterment of man.
The Earth is ecstatic, all except one suspicious computer expert who keeps trying to decipher a handbook one of the Earth’s defensive men has acquired surreptitiously from the spacecraft. Day after day, as the rest of the world applauds the swinelike intruders, he labors at his task of breaking their code, and after many futile leads he succeeds in at least interpreting the title of the manual, To Serve Man, and with this reassurance the Earthlings accept the benevolent visitors at face value, realizing that a millennium has arrived.
But just as the hero of the story and his associates are entering the spacecraft for an exploratory trip to the distant planet from which the strangers came, the computer expert rushes out to warn them: “It’s a cookbook.”
“I like that!” Mott cried, and Claggett said, “I thought you would.”
“Who wrote it?” Mott asked, and Claggett said, “A favorite of mine. Damon Knight. You’ll find other yarns by him in the anthologies.”
In the ensuing days Mott made his acquaintance with that gleaning of elegant stories crafted by men like Asimov, Bradbury and Leiber. Two of the shortest stories [494] illustrated why their authors were deemed masters of the genre. The first was by Robert Heinlein and depicted a loud-mouthed drunk in a sleazy bar near a field from which a spacecraft is about to take off for some far planet. The man has suspicions about this particular experiment and a generally jaundiced view about exploration in general. “Columbus Was a Dope” was the name of the tale.
The bore rambles on and on, reciting the pitfalls of space and the senselessness of further adventures, and nothing much seems to be happening until two glowing paragraphs at the end. The bartender throws one of his glasses into the air and watches approvingly as it drifts very slowly downward. Then he tells his listeners that working in one-sixth gravity has done wonders for his bunions, which had been killing him on Earth. The bar is on the Moon.
Mott was enchanted by the skill displayed in such stories, but the one which made the most lasting impression was by an Englishman living in Ceylon, Arthur C. Clarke, of whom even the astronauts who did not like sci-fi spoke highly. It was most adroitly told: a Jesuit priest is on an interplanetary probe in what appears to be A.D. 2534, and he is much perplexed by the impact of science on his religion, but at last he reaches the environs of the Phoenix Nebula, whose central star exploded about 3500 B.C., becoming a mighty nova.
Of course, several planets near the star were consumed by fire, but at the far edges of what had been the star’s planetary system-as far away as Pluto is from our Sunone small planet had survived extinction. All life on it had been burned away, as life on Earth must some day be, but the rocky structure of the planet had survived, and when the exploring team reached the surface, they found that the people who had lived there thousands of years before, and had foreseen the extinction of their society, had compiled a record of what life had been like on their especially congenial planet. By means of tapes and maps and diagrams buried deep where fire could not touch them, they explained to those who they were sure would visit their homeland one day what a splendid, vibrant life they had enjoyed: the great cities, the accumulated knowledge, the happy lives. And the picture of their society was so [495] enviable that the Jesuit wondered why God, in order to send His planet Earth a signal in the year 4 B.C., had set ablaze this great nova so that its light might guide three wise men to Bethlehem, while this remote planet with a civilization much more advanced than Earth’s had had all of its living forms of life scorched away.
With real avidity Mott read Claggett’s recommendations, and almost never was he disappointed, for the chaff had been winnowed away, leaving a core of stories that would have graced any imaginative literature. He was especially impressed by the writing of a man whose name he had never heard before, Stanley G. Weinbaum, who during the 1930s had produced a small collection of stories which had lifted science fiction out of the swamp of little green men and naked ladies.
He wrote of the impending exploration of Mars with subtlety and almost love, populating the planet with creatures facing the real problems their inhospitable climate would create; these were stories in the great tradition of Petronius and Boccaccio, and Mott wanted to know more about him. He had started writing, the brief notes said, only when an inescapable death loomed, and he was allowed only eighteen months in which to report his vision.
When Mott read this his eyes filled with tears, and since he was alone he made no effort to halt them; he was thinking of Harry Jensen, that golden child who had been so carefully nurtured by his society for some great task and who had been struck down so senselessly by one of the worst manifestations of that society. He calculated the investment society had made in Jensen from the day he entered the University of Minnesota, through the airplanes he cracked up in flight training, to the heavy cost of his work at Edwards and on to the millions spent on him in NASA. But the greatest loss was what he might have contributed to the NASA program-he would have been one of the best-or to the American society later, because he and Inger stood for something. He could be a rowdy child, this Jensen, and he was not above ducking out for a quick weekend with Cindy Rhee in an Oklahoma motel, but he was a man and his loss was inconsolable.
Dead Jensen, wandering Millard in California, brittle Chris in trouble with the police, he loved them all. He [496] wanted to grapple them to his heart, and through his tears he prayed for others: God, watch over Claggett and Pope, for these are good men.
Mott’s recovery from his breakdown coincided with the completion of his reading, and when Claggett and Pope returned to pick up the books, he told them, “It was fun, this course of study you set me. Are you interested in my reactions?”
“Blaze away,” Claggett said, imitating a machine gun. “Shoot ‘em down.”
“First the negatives. Some of your best writers sound like real fascists. I suppose you know that.”
“Some of the critics have been saying so,” Claggett conceded.
“And some of them really despise women.”
“So do some astronauts,” Claggett said. “So do some bullfighters.”
“And they despise the world they’re forced to live in, this imperfect Earth.”
“Don’t we all?”
“And all of them except Weinbaum-You know, Claggett, I thank you for bringing him to my attention. That man had something.”
“I guessed you’d like him. I find him too sentimental. My type is more ‘Bang-bang, let’s atomize the planet Oom.’ ”
“I was about to say they’re all extremely militaristic. Real gunslingers.”
“A lot of good men are. Look how easy it is for the National Rifle Association to maintain membership.”
“And they have almost no patience with the less fortunate. They’re elitist.”
“So were you, when you sat on the selection committee.”
“Worst of all, they’re strongly antidemocratic. Their first choice would be a one-man dictatorship, a Hitler or a Mussolini or a Stalin, cleaned up a bit. Second choice would be a benevolent king. Our kind of democracy would be far, far down the line.”
“Science fiction is popular,” Claggett said, “because a whole lot of people are beginning to think along those lines.”
“Final negative, the novels particularly, and many of the stories, are no more than good American westerns [497] rewritten. Instead of a cowboy loving his horse, you fellow’s love your space machines.”
“No comment.”
“But the virtues of these books,” Mott said, touching them with his fingers, “are many, and I can see why fellows like you, Claggett, find such enjoyment. They’re very well written. Wonderful touches. Strong insights. You know, when you brought these books in here I expected juvenile junk. But these are well done, at least as good as some of the novels I used to read when I had spare time.
“And to a gratifying degree, they all had something substantial to say. They really grappled with ideas ... concepts ... the things about to happen. In that respect they were damned refreshing. But now let’s get down to the nitty-gritty.”
“Yes,” Claggett said, “I knew all you’ve said so far twenty years ago.”
“These men were far out on the frontier. They saw things that not even the NACA engineers at Langley were ready to accept as impending realities. I’m stirred by how clearly the best of these writers could visualize what was about to happen. Nothing we’ve been doing the last six years went unanticipated.”
“That’s why I was so excited by these smoke dreams,” Claggett said. “I was far out in space, and my teachers were futzing around with one hundred miles up. I’ve been one hundred miles up and it’s not even a beginning. The Moon? Nothing. Send me to Mars. That’s the first real step. These men were doing my thinking for me.”
“But in the midst of this praise we have to remember one thing. These men had a free ride. They never had to lay their lives or their reputations on the line. Men like me did not have that indulgence. We had to get a specific instrument weighing a given number of pounds to a given altitude and bring it back with all its telemetry functioning. We have to bring you two back with your telemetry in order.”
“But the books were fun, weren’t they?” Claggett asked.
“They were. But I suspect it was only a childish sort of fun.”
“Isn’t that the spirit we’re trying to keep alive?” Claggett asked, and when he grinned the gap between his broken front teeth appeared as if in the face of a delighted child [498] reading one of Edgar Rice Burroughs’ books about the glamorous princesses on Mars.
 
Gemini, the flight of the Twins, was best seen as a provisional program halfway between the exploratory one-man flights of Mercury and the culminating three-man flights of Apollo. It had five obligations which had to be discharged before the more important Moon flights could be attempted: 1) to prove that two men could survive extended flights; 2) to compile information on the effect of weightlessness; 3) to prove that man could walk in space and perform specific operational tasks of importance; 4) to demonstrate that one spacecraft could rendezvous and dock with another; and 5) when these jobs were completed, to bring the capsule down very close to the designated rescue ship.
Each of these desiderata had been handled more or less successfully by one or another of the previous Gemini flights, but the tour planned for Claggett and Pope would endeavor to bring them all together in one master demonstration. It would, for example, cover sixteen days of fairly constant experimentation. The spacecraft would seek out and dock with two different target ships left orbiting in space from previous docking attempts, Agena-A in low orbit, Agena-B in one much higher, and when docking was completed with the latter, the Agena’s rocket would be fired in an attempt to soar higher than man had ever gone before. John Pope would spend seventeen hours walking in space, doing repair jobs on the two Agenas. And Claggett vowed that he would bring his Gemini to splashdown within a quarter of a mile of the USS Tulagi waiting west of Hawaii.
The important flight had another overtone of which the two astronauts were especially aware. The six tremendously exciting flights of the one-man Mercury so far had been conducted by astronauts from the original Sacred Seven, while the two-man Gemini had been dominated by men from the charismatic Second Group-Armstrong, Borman, Lovell, Young-with some help from three of the Sacred Seven, Cooper, Schirra and Grissom. The adventurous work had been handled by the old-timers, and many thought that it should continue to be.
But Dr. Mott had argued strenuously, before his attack, [499] that the less-dramatic men from the Solid Six should also be given a chance, along with a few from the Third Group, like Buzz Aldrin and Mike Collins. Randy Claggett had performed well in the right-hand seat of one flight, which had accomplished almost nothing because of parts failures, and his report on that mission was already a classic:
 
Commander and pilot had accumulated a total of seven hundred hours in simulators and were as well prepared as they could normally have been. But at Allied Aviation in Los Angeles the people responsible for assembling the fuel tank ran into bad luck. I found that Mr. Bassett, who was responsible for the nonflammable lining, caught cold and was not on the job when the lining was inspected. His assistant, Mr. Krepke, was well prepared to stand in, but his wife went into labor pains three days early and he left. His assistant, Mr. Colvin, was in Seattle that day, consulting with Boeing, so the job was left to Mr. Swinheart, whose regular responsibility was the electrical wiring, and because he was so concerned about doing a good job on the lining, which he did backward, he forgot to check the wiring. His assistant, Mr. Untermacher, was absent that day because his eleven-year-old son was playing in a championship Little League game, so no word was passed to his assistant, a Mr. Sullivan, whom I did not see.
 
As a result of the unfortunate omissions, the lining of the fuel tank was not secured and the electrical wiring was not given the final inspection which would have shown even a high-school science teacher that the control switch would not work when activated. For these good reasons the three-hundred-million-dollar flight could not go forward, and only because the commander had iron balls did the crew land safely in the Pacific.
 
The crew for this culminating flight had been put together with studied care. Randy Claggett was a known factor, an unflappable test pilot who could bring to safety a seagull with two broken wings, and John Pope had the most re liable and solid record in the corps. He said little, always [500] did twice as much as was required, and would have been voted by his fellow astronauts as the man they would prefer to have in the cockpit as their copilot, always assuming that it was they who sat in the left-hand seat. If the Solid Six could field a team with every chance of success, this was it, and everyone was pleased with the choice except Tucker Thompson, who had not even yet decided how to play these two difficult wives, Debby Dee and Penny. Debby Dee had stated that she would not come to Cocoa Beach and eat those sonnombeechin’ oysters at the Bali Hai, while Penny said quietly that she would of course stay in Washington and follow the launch on the television set in her office.
 
Before the flight could be launched the two astronauts had to master one final skill, a most beautiful and intricate exercise, and the scholars whose job it was to drill them in it now appreciated the fact that NASA had required superior intelligence in the men who would go into space. Claggett and Pope would be required to project themselves into universes which could be perceived only intellectually.
Dr. Mott, in charge of this indoctrination, called the two men out to those vast salt flats surrounding Edwards Air Force Base, where he started with a simple two-dimensional experiment. Placing each man in a Jeep, with Pope well in front and Claggett trailing off to one side, he instructed them over headphones: “Pope, maintain your heading without deviation in direction or speed. Steady fifty mph. Claggett, keep your eyes left and watch Pope’s Jeep until you have a sure sense of what it’s doing. Then accelerate to sixty-five mph and calculate a straight line that will carry you to a point where you feel sure you’ll intercept him.”
They did this a dozen times, until Claggett became expert in calculating in his head the trajectory which would probably enable him to intersect; also, he could identify in advance the spot where the intersection would occur. In fact, he became a human computer, feeding into the kinesthetic part of his brain the relevant data and almost intuitively getting the answer.
Then Pope was placed in the pursuing Jeep, and in [501] somewhat longer time than it had taken Claggett, he, too, converted himself into a computer.
“You’re really quite remarkable,” Mott told them. “You’ve acquired a very subtle coordination of eye, hand and foot for seeing, for steering and for acceleration. Both of you, in your last runs, achieved rendezvous in a straight line. But nothing you’ve learned on these salt flats applies in space.
“Because when you transpose this problem into space, you add the complicating factor of altitude, and everything you’ve learned changes. If you try by your own physical perceptions to bring your Gemini into rendezvous with your Agena, you’ll fail every time. Oh, you can make a coincidence. You can come quite close. But at that moment you’ll be in an entirely different orbit-you going one way, Agena another, and you’ll pass slowly, beautifully, just out of range.”
He took the astronauts back to Edwards, and on a very big blackboard, drew a diagram which magically unlocked the system; it was a perfect demonstration of how one intelligent man can convey to another arcane facts that might never be comprehended without the aid of a drawing: “This big circle is the Earth. This is its center. This first blue circle outside the Earth is your initial orbit in Gemini. This red circle farther out is the orbit of Agena-A. The green circle way out is the orbit of Agena-B. Now watch.”
From the center of the Earth he drew radii, not too far apart, which intersected the four circles: Earth’s surface, Gemini orbit, the two Agena orbits, and with a very heavy line he emphasized on each circle the distance between the radii.
“The crucial fact to master is that the farther away from Earth you move, the slower your vehicle goes. When you’re a hundred miles up in this blue circle, your speed will be about seventeen thousand five hundred mph. In the red circle, at two hundred miles, about seventeen thousand two hundred fifty. And the Moon, which is also a spacecraft far off the diagram, has an orbital speed of only two thousand three hundred mph. Remember, if you stay low, you go faster. But also, if you stay down here in the blue circle closest to Earth, the total length of an orbit is much shorter. [502] So if you stay low, you gain two ways, speed and distance covered.”
He paused, reviewed what he had been saying, and added, “I want you to burn this diagram into your brains. Because successful rendezvous depends upon understanding it.”
After they had analyzed every aspect of it, and had imagined themselves in their Gemini above the Earth but well below the orbits of the two target craft, Mott resumed. At the points where the left-hand radius cut the three circles he placed little magnetic simulations of the three spacecraft, and began his extraordinary explanation: “Let’s say that I am Agena-B way up here, Dr. Stanhope is Agena-A in middle position, and you two men are Gemini close in. You want to make rendezvous with me, all of us traveling at eighteen thousand miles an hour. What would you normally do, Claggett?”
“I’d eyeball it, calculate where the point of interception was, and burn my engines to get to it.”
“In other words, you’d burn your fuel to ascend toward Agena-B?”
“Sure.”
“Completely wrong. Look at the diagram. If you climb, you slow down as you move into a higher orbit. You’re bound to wind up far, far behind your target and then waste fuel trying to catch up. By going faster, you actually go slower.”
“That sounds insane.”
“Let’s take another example. You’re in the same orbit as Agena-B, but trailing. How will you catch up?”
“I’m afraid to give you a sensible answer.”
“To catch up, you slow down. Drop into a lower orbit, where you acquire a faster speed, and you gain rapidly on your target in the higher orbit.”
“I can’t believe it,” Claggett said, but Pope, who had continued his study of astronomy and celestial mechanics, cried, “Hey! At the lower orbit, we’d be on the circumference of a much smaller circle.”
“Right,” Mott said, “and going faster, to boot.”
“I’ll take that on faith,” Claggett said. “But how in hell do I ever get hooked up with that flyin’ sonnombeech? If I burn toward it, I always miss.”
Mott clapped his hands. “Randy, you’ve learned the big [503] lesson, and he drew other diagrams to illustrate the mysterious relationships of two hurtling spacecraft on near but different orbits, and Claggett asked, “How will I ever find the proper orbit?” and Mott replied, “You never would, not in a million years. But the computer will.”
The next maneuver that Mott proposed for his pupils was most complicated: “Randy, you’re in Gemini down here and you must intercept Agena-B up here. Don’t go for the target. Burn straight ahead. Go faster to go slower.”
“Doc, I understand that part. But what in hell do I do next?”
“As you move to a higher orbit, your speed will begin to drop off, and believe it or not, if you obey the figures your computer will be feeding you, you’ll bring your Gemini right in behind the target. The computer will time it so that when you’re about a hundred feet apart, your speeds will be identical, and so will your orbit. Then your twelve-year-old son could dock the two vehicles, because you can make the Gemini move a quarter of a mile an hour faster “ than the Agena, ease it into a docking.”
Claggett and Pope looked at each other, and the former said, with his bright Texas grin, “Like the pretty girl said in My Fair Lady, “I think I got it.”“
“I believe the professor said that,” Mott said. “And to protect you,” he added, “we always time the docking so it occurs in the daylight part of the orbit.”
“Real thoughtful,” Claggett said.
“So think about the orbits tonight. Memorize the diagram. And keep telling yourself, ‘To go faster, I must go slower.’ ”
Next day he placed them again in their Jeeps, taking them to a remote part of the salt flats, where he had marked three concentric roadways. “Claggett, you’re in Gemini orbit on the inside track. Pope, you’re Agena-A next out. I’ll be Agena-B farthest out. If we all start from the same radius, Gemini will drift far ahead, so Claggett must start “ from behind you.
“Remember, there’s a specific speed associated with each orbit. You, Claggett, on the inside, have to drive at sixty mph, Pope at fifty-five, and me at fifty. When I tell you over the headphones “Burn engines,” accelerate to sixty-five, but as you drift outward toward Pope’s orbit, your speed will decrease well below Pope’s, say to fifty. And [504] that should put you in perfect position right behind him, which is what we want, isn’t it?”
Under radio communication the three Jeeps started forth, and when they were in-position Mott instructed: “Claggett, burn engines, but when you have speed, try moving directly up at Pope, in the old way.” In three attempts, using the system that would have worked on land, Claggett failed miserably, so on the fourth try Mott suggested: “Now try it the way we talked about. Burn straight ahead, pick up speed, then drift quietly up to Pope’s orbit.”
With exquisite precision Randy Claggett accelerated to sixty-five mph, drifted up, slowed down as he had been taught, and with a final adjustment, matched his speed to Pope’s in a perfect intercept. “It can be done!” he shouted over the intercom, so for three hours the Jeeps moved back and forth in obedience to the new rules, until both Claggett and Pope could achieve rendezvous and docking while moving either up to a slower orbit or down to a faster.
For two days the men repeated these maneuvers, after which Mott astonished them by saying, “Now you must forget everything I’ve taught you, because in space you’re not on a flat surface where ordinary rules apply. You’re in space, where eyeballing a problem does no good at all. The Russians have tried five times to make rendezvous and have failed every time, even though they show us photographs of their spaceships only a few leagues apart. They were on different orbits and they might as well have been ten thousand leagues apart, for they were never going to meet. Today when we go out to the circles, Claggett, you must imagine yourself not going across a salt flat to catch Pope, but on a diagonal right up into the sky, and your eyes will not be reliable judges of where you are.”
“What do I rely on?” Claggett asked.
“The computer. I’ll be your computer, talking to you over the headphones.”
And when Claggett was seated in his Jeep, with the headphones adjusted, he could hear Mott’s metallic voice feeding him instructions, and rendezvous became so easy it was magnificent, a subtle adventure in nine or ten different dimensions.
At the close of three additional days of drilling his two astronauts, Computer-Mott said with some pride, “You men will complete a perfect rendezvous.”
[505] But Randy, who became an automobile when he was driving or a plane when flying, had a gut premonition which warned him that he still lacked some vital understanding, and he asked, “Doc, suppose that with all I know personally, the on-board computer goes out.”
“You have a backup.”
“And suppose it goes out. There I am, bare-ass in space. Can I, with my own intelligence, eyeball it carefully and achieve rendezvous?”
“Not in a million years.”
“Jesus! Those computers better work.”
“No sweat, because the duplicate computers in Houston can send you the required data.”
“And if it’s my bad day, and the radio goes out, too?”
Mott studied this for some time, forming diagrams in space with his fingers. “Knowing You, Randy, you’d make one futile try, then another, then another. And when you realized that since they failed, all the rest would fail, you’d bellow “Aw shit!” and drift off into space ... permanently ... forever.”
And it was only then that the two astronauts appreciated the delicate symbiosis of man-machine-computer that would enable them to make this flight and this rendezvous.
 
At 0415 on Tuesday morning the two astronauts were awakened in the isolation quarters, where extra precautions had kept them from contamination by colds or measles, for if they came into contact with either, the sixteen-day flight might have to be aborted. Dressed in slacks and T-shirts they had a carefully evaluated breakfast calculated to produce a minimum of urine and fecal matter.
When the time came for assistants to dress them, and they climbed into the ingenious underwear with its arrangements for handling urine and bowel movements, Claggett studied the condom-like affair that fitted over his penis and was reminded of the story about how Winston Churchill had rescued the honor of the Allies at the meeting with Stalin at Teheran:
 
“Stalin wanted to throw a psychological scare into the Americans, so he said to Roosevelt in private, [506] ‘Our greatest need to keep the morale of our fighting men high is rubbers. We just don’t have any.’ And Roosevelt told him grandly, ‘We’ll send you five hundred thousand. What size?’ Without blinking, Stalin said, ‘Sixteen inches long. Our standard size.’
 
“Roosevelt confided that night to Churchill that Stalin was throwin’ darts, but good old Churchill never blinked an eye. ‘Make ‘em up and send ‘em. But stamp each one, in English and Russian, Texas medium.’ ”
 
Claggett told his dresser that for his urine-catcher, ‘my motorman’s friend” he called it, he would take a Texas super, and the dresser said, “You do that, my bucko, and you’ll be lying in piss the whole flight.”
At dawn the two astronauts, fully suited, climbed with help into a waiting white van, which moved quietly past lines of people who had come to see the launch and across the marshes where alligators spawned, to the rim island where the majestic Titan rocket waited on end, with the almost minute passenger capsule on top.
The entire assembly reached 109 feet into the air, and seemed enormous as the first rays of the sun broke upon it, but when the waiting spectators, two hundred thousand of them, focused on only the capsule, they were aghast at how trivial it seemed, only nineteen feet long and ten feet across, outside measurements. Thus in flight, 82 percent of the total vehicle would break away and plunge into the sea.
The two men and their helpers moved with utmost precision because of a peculiarity of this flight: since they desired to make rendezvous with two different Agenas parked long ago in two different orbits, trajectory specialists like Dr. Mott had had to calculate to the second the proper moment for blast-off at Canaveral so that the Gemini capsule would reach the precise altitude (116 miles straight up) at the precise speed (18,000 miles an hour) at the precise moment (85 minutes 16 seconds after takeoff). Also, the relative position of the second Agena had to be cranked into the data, and when this was done, it was found that Claggett and Pope had a window for proper takeoff of only nine seconds, which meant that all things [507] had to come together properly for ignition within a nine-second interval, and if for any reason it was missed, the astronauts would have to wait another eleven days.
As a matter of fact, at the final briefing Dr. Mott, sitting with his charts and his computer, had said, “The optimum allows us a window of exactly two seconds, within the endurable nine. If we miss the two, we can still go, but we’ll have to waste a lot of fuel to correct.”
If one remembered the endless delays of the early rocket flights, the sad disappointments of men sitting alone in their capsules atop some giant rocket for hours at a time, and the repeated postponements of the same rocket, so that no flight seemed ever to take off within hours of the time planned, the probability of getting this rocket off within a two-second window seemed remote.
An elevator carried the men up the gantry, alongside the glistening body of the rocket and onto the walkway that provided entrance to the capsule, and now the endless hours of simulation paid off, because had the two men seen their prison for the next sixteen days cold turkey, and realized that they would have to lie side-by-side in that minute space for all those days, they might have panicked, and once a man allowed himself even to think of claustrophobia, he would be incapacitated. The space was so unbelievably cramped that when the astronauts were suited up in those bulky white Eskimo outfits, they lay literally touching, even pressing upon each other, in their narrow couches.
Claggett, as commander, slipped into the porthole first, adjusted himself to the sloping bed conformed in a soft, sturdy material to his particular body, then gave the signal for Pope to ease himself into the right-hand seat, and when all the elbows and knees and hips were adjusted, the two men occupied a space shockingly smaller than a very narrow single bed, and much shorter, too, for heads and toes exactly touched the limits of the capsule’s interior. Men had been fitted into a specific contour for a specific mission to answer a specific question: Can two healthy men survive and work in such surroundings for sixteen days?
The hatch was closed and bolted shut. The bodies were eased this way and that. The quiet voice of fellow [508] astronaut Mike Collins as CapCom started the countdown, and the two-second window approached.
“You have ignition,” CapCom said steadily. “You have lift-off,” and it was good that he told them, for the men in the capsule atop the mighty rocket could barely feel the moment of firing, so smooth were the engines with their 430,000 pounds of upward thrust, sustained for moment after moment.
“Gentle as a baby’s kiss,” Claggett reported, and then, with unbelievable persistence, the powerful engines kept thrusting upward, ever more powerfully, until at last the astronauts realized they were truly on their way to space.
Now the first stage of the rocket shut down, and for tantalizing seconds-hours it seemed-the rocket continued its climb in silence, but then the powerful second stage blasted off with 110,000 pounds of thrust, and this force acting on the relatively frail Gemini produced a sudden impact of seven full G’s, so that Pope was jammed back into his contoured couch.
“Sayonara!” Claggett cried into his mike, and everyone in Mission Control realized that this was a phrase of farewell, elegantly appropriate, which Cindy Rhee had taught him.
“Houston!” Pope broke in. “We have pogo.”
“We see it, Gemini,” CapCom said. It was a tradition that when astronauts were cooped in their tiny quarters, hundreds of miles from anything and thousands of miles into an orbit, only one person on ground must be allowed to communicate with them lest there be confusion in commands or a babel of voices, and that one person must be a fellow astronaut, preferably one who had already flown. Each flight tended to have four CapComs, coming on at intervals, and it was a second tradition that the CapCom maintain a steady volume, a steady emphasis, a kind of bland streetcar-conductor tone, so that no accidental excitement be transferred across the vast spaces.
“How much pogo?” CapCom asked quietly.
“Vibration pronounced,” Pope reported. There was nothing that could be done to alleviate the bone-shattering pogo-stick leaping of the vast machine; it was as if a monster accordion player were activating the Titan rocket and its Gemini capsule.
And here was an anomaly of NASA. With the best brains [509] in the world. it was as yet unable to prevent pogo or even to determine exactly what caused it. The violent, shaking contractions had appeared in the first Gemini flight and had continued through the tenth. Now it was assaulting this flight, and all the brilliance of NASA could not diminish it. The men could only hold tight and hope that it would go away, and after a while it did.
“Stand by for engine shutdown,” CapCom said. He was the final link in a tremendous chain of persons and machines around the world. At Mission Control in Houston hundreds of highly skilled men traced every item of the flight with their computers and charts. At radio stations in Australia, Spain, Madagascar and across America rnen listened to signals which assured them that this Gemini was sailing serenely, and on all the oceans ships kept silent watch.
Also, in the headquarters of every one of the 319 private companies that had supplied parts for the flight, men waited on call to provide immediate analysis if one of their parts failed to function, and in some ways they were the most expert of all, because they had made the parts and were intimately familiar with them.
Finally, at each of the many simulators in Houston or Canaveral or the other sites across America, men familiar with their operation waited in case it was necessary to visualize just what was going wrong in the capsule. At a signal, they would jump into the simulators and feed in data which would place them in a jeopardy imitating the one aloft.
When Ferdinand Magellan explored the Earth’s oceans he and his men traveled alone in their frail ships, out of touch for years with their supporters in Spain, but when Claggett and Pope sought to explore the oceans of the upper sky they had immediate call upon about four hundred thousand assistants, and at times it was difficult to determine who was doing the exploring, Claggett and Pope or the men like Stanley Mott on the ground who fed them their information and their commands.
When pogo stopped, as mysteriously as it had begun, shutdown followed and the time came for Claggett to detonate the explosives which would separate the Titan rocket from the capsule, and after checking with Houston, he did so at the exact second dictated by the computer that was [510] masterminding this intricate flight. There was a shattering explosion, a ripping away and a violent change it acceleration, after which the little capsule floated serener into an elliptical orbit, 116.7 x 164.6 miles above the surface of the Earth. Somewhere ahead lay the first target Agena-A.
Now began one of the most curious experiences of mankind in recent decades. Agena-A was locked into its own secure orbit, which it had been following blindly, coldly for more than a year, and it was the job of this particular Gemini to enter that orbit, to fall in line behind the target. and slowly overtake it, thrusting the nose of the Gemini into the Agena-A and making a lock, all at a speed of 18,000 miles an hour. It sounded difficult, but it was made immeasurably more so by the fact that an added dimension of complexity had to be taken into account.
At 00:02:21:36 into the flight (days-hours-minutes-seconds) Claggett informed Houston: “I see the little stinker, and Mike Collins at CapCom said quietly, “We find you thirteen miles below and twenty-two miles ahead,” and Pope responded, “Our computer says exactly the same.”
Coolly, as if he had performed the feat a hundred times. which in a sense he had, Randy made a series of the most delicate adjustments, which brought his spacecraft gently upward, at 18,000 miles an hour, until it found the orbit Agena-A was following. Deftly he edged the massive Gemini forward until it was close to the speeding target.
“Houston,” Pope said triumphantly. “Would you believe it? At 02:22:07 into the flight we’ve made perfect rendezvous.”
“Proceed to dock,” CapCom said, and then a miracle of space, occurred. The Gemini, traveling at an incomprehensible speed and weighing 8,400 pounds, edged inch by inch up to the Agena, weighing 1,700 pounds and also traveling at fantastic speed, and with the delicacy of a surgeon sewing together a torn heart, Claggett brought the two craft together and made a secure lock. The secret was simple: if both craft were flying at the same basic speed, docking was as easy as moving a car into a garage, for the relative speed could be kept to two or three miles an hour.
They docked and undocked three times to prove the [511] practicality of this maneuver, and then Claggett told Houston: “I want the right-hand seat to make the dock next time,” and CapCom, a new man now but an astronaut, agreed: “Roger.” And Pope, with his heartbeat showing a slight increase on the monitor at Houston, eased his Gemini into position, then edged it forward, and made a perfect rendezvous. The pathway to the Moon was open; men could take two or more vehicles into space and rendezvous them, if their computers could place them in the right orbit at the right time.
For this very long flight the astronauts had agreed to keep their watches on Houston time, CST, and as this first long day ended after its flawless takeoff within the two-second window and the even more gratifying docking with Agena-A, the men went to sleep. Their craft was within two miles of Agena, but round and round the Earth they sped, these two massive vehicles, making a complete circuit of a twenty-four-hour Earth day of sunrise-sunset-sunrise every hour and twenty-six minutes.
And as they lay there, sleeping fitfully, they became indeed twins. If one rolled over, the other did also, because neither wished to breathe in the other’s face. They had to plan every action so that it would not interfere with the man in the next couch, and even when one had to relieve himself, he did so with his face less than a foot from his companion’s. And this would continue for sixteen days.
By the third day the Twins had adjusted rather well to their cramped quarters. Everything movable had been stowed, sometimes in the most ingenious way, and often the men gave thanks to that genius who invented Velcro, the miracle fabric with a million fingers that enabled them to attach pens and compasses and data books arbitrarily to any spot on the interior surface which had been covered with Velcro. The capsule looked like a room in the dollhouse of a very careless child.
They had almost no trouble with null gravity, except that they had to be extremely careful when they ate, lest crumbs float permanently about them. Liquids, if spilled, formed beautiful droplets, or if in large quantity, globules the size of a fist. But even in these first days they began to appreciate what Dr. Julius Feldman, their expert on health in space, had told them: “The most dangerous part [512] of weightlessness, especially in a Gemini capsule, is the fact that you don’t exercise your legs. Let them remain motionless long enough and your muscles will atrophy so badly that they’ll be too weak to support you when you try to walk after splashdown.” To prevent this, he had provided bungee cords, a device into which they could slip their feet and against which they could exert extreme pressures, thus providing the exercise the legs were not otherwise getting. Fortunately, such vigorous effort also diminished the likelihood of embolisms forming in the legs.
For the astronauts flew flat on their backs, day after day, with not nearly enough headroom, considering the couches and gear, to permit walking about. But they were able to climb out of their heavy suits, with extreme difficulty, taking about forty minutes to do the job, so that they flew in loose garments in relative comfort. It was interesting for one man to watch another emerge from his suit and stow it painfully under his couch. “Hello, Chrysalis,” Claggett greeted Pope after one such exercise, and the latter broke into laughter as he said, “I was thinking about those poor soft-shell crabs in the Chesapeake. Penny and I gorged on them when I was at Annapolis. The poor things struggle like this to get out of their shells, and as soon as they succeed, some cook plops them into a hot pan and sautés them.”
“How do you and Penny hack it, you in Houston, she in Washington?”
“We’re a Navy family. Lots of good people live like us.”
“She’s mighty good people. When she first stayed with us on Solomons Island, I found her a mite aloof.”
“I find her that way myself, sometimes. She holds down a complex job, you know?”
“She has class. She has mighty class. She’s gonna be somebody one of these days.”
“She’s somebody now. Randy, have you heard anything about Inger Jensen?”
“Two kids, Army pension. What else do you need to know?”
“How long was Debby Dee a widow before you married her?”
“Six months, eight months.”
[513] “I hope somebody like you comes along for lnger.”
“I’d like to come along for that one. But I don’t think I was such a catch for Deb. In many ways I’m a complete horse’s ass.”
Pope did not ask in what ways, for he often felt the same way about himself.
On the sixth day Pope’s time of testing approached, for he was required to climb into a special suit, strap cumbersome gear to his back, leave the capsule, and retrieve from the flank of Agena-A a dosimeter (dose meter) which had been left there a year earlier to monitor the amount of radiation accumulated by men voyaging in space. While walking, he would be attached to the mother craft by an umbilical which would bring him oxygen and he would carry a small kit of tools with which to work on the Agena.
It required more than an hour, with constant help from Claggett, to don the suit, and an unexpected fifteen minutes to wrestle open the door to the hatchway from which he would exit, but before this could be completed, Randy had to get into his spacesuit also, for once the hatch was opened, it would remain that way, which meant that the capsule would afford no oxygen. Both men would be in space, the difference being that Randy would remain inside the shell of the capsule.
This preliminary part of the exercise required much more time and energy than Pope had calculated, because in the simulators on Earth, things had gone rather more smoothly, and for a simple reason: the simulator existed in one G, so that by merely leaning an elbow against something, one gained stability; but in null gravity, if one pushed his elbow against a wall, even slightly, one sent his body spinning across the room and he could not stop his aimless flight until he succeeded in grasping something, which was why every astronaut who returned from space told those who debriefed him: “More handholds. More footclamps.”
At last both astronauts were suited and the hatch opened. Outside waited the boundless reach of space, that colorless, weightless, formless medium in which the universe exists with all its stars and galaxies and mighty conformations as yet unknown to man. How majestic it was, how inviting, and as Pope hesitated in the doorway, [514] he was like an infant about to leave the womb which had been so pleasant and enter the world which would be so infinitely more exciting.
To the east, as he calculated his position, although this term meant little, blazed the incredible Sun, wasting energy at a rate which must imperil it after another fifteen or twenty billion years, poor fated thing. It stood at the margin between Capricornus and Aquarius and thus obliterated Pope’s guardian star, Altair, and its bright associate Vega. To the west, or away from the Sun, shone the dark night with the glorious winter constellations in view: Orion, the Lion and the one that watched over this flight, Gemini. No astronaut who went into space would know more about the stars than Pope, and now as he prepared to walk among them he greeted them as if they had always been his counselors, and took quiet delight in the fact that he would see those southern constellations which his first professor, Anderssen of Fremont State, had never been allowed to see: “I’ll say hello for him to Achernar and Miaplacidus.”
Most impressive of all, below rode the planet Earth, its features ascertainable when in daylight, barely suggested when its spinning carried one-half the surface into darkness. How big it seemed at times, how small now as Pope looked down upon it from a distance: “Hey, Randy. It really is a planet.”
“Jump, you chicken.” And he was off into space.
He moved with all four extremities slightly extended, like a falling parachute diver, but he did not fall, for there was no gravity to command him, or rather, as he had phrased it to himself so many times: There is gravity from every item in the universe, even my wife’s teacup exerts its gravity upon the Galaxy Andromeda, but it doesn’t factor very much. Of course, the Earth’s mass, slightly less than two hundred miles distant, continued to exert enormous gravitational pull, but it was so delicately counterbalanced by the centrifugal force generated by the spacecraft’s forward velocity that Pope was effectively free of any detectable gravitational effects.
He was aware that he had started the EVA (Extra Vehicular Activity) rather tired, so he moved cautiously in his approach to the waiting Agena, and he supposed that when he reached the monster he would find time to rest, [515] but when he got there he found himself confronted by an entirely new problem. There was nothing he could grab hold of, and when he endeavored to fasten himself to the huge, slippery target he merely drifted about, bruising his knees and elbows as he struggled vainly to hold fast.
After a half-hour of this he was sweating so furiously that his face mask began to steam, so he slowed down, but then he remembered that he was supposed to detach the dosimeter from the Agena and bring it back to Earth, so he moved awkwardly along the hulk till he reached the three bolts holding it. And then he faced a new problem, for when he took from his kit the special monkey wrench and fitted it to one of the nuts, he found he could accomplish nothing. If he applied pressure to the wrench handle, hoping thus to apply torque to the nut, he found that since he had no purchase, it was he and not the nut that revolved. No matter how simple the task he attempted, whenever he exerted force in one direction, his body flew off in the opposite.
For twenty minutes he tried vainly to perform the planned task, and accomplished nothing. Tears of frustration came to his eyes and fogged his visor, and all the joy of walking free in space was dissipated; what was worse, he was becoming so dangerously debilitated that he must in common prudence pull himself back to the capsule before he became so totally exhausted that Claggett would have to undertake the impossible task of maneuvering an inert mass.
“I’m coming in,” he told his partner.
“You’re scheduled for thirty-four more minutes.”
“I’m coming in or you’ll have to come out and get me,” and when he reached the hatchway to the capsule he was much too tired to climb in, and he rested there for nearly half an hour until he recovered his strength.
“It’s no picnic out there,” he said when he got his helmet off in the repressurized capsule.
“Next time better luck,” Claggett said. As commander of this flight he refused to accept defeat on any point, but he also knew that Pope had been near collapse.
He devised an interesting amusement for the next flight walk. When the astronauts accumulated a body of refuse, including bags of urine, they vented it through an ingenious system of locks, and in doing so one morning-Houston [516] time, because in this orbit a kind of morning occurred every hour and twenty-six minutes-some of the ejecta had smeared Claggett’s window and he complained about it so constantly that on the spur of the moment Pope said. “I’ll go out and give it a wash,” which was what Claggett had intended.
This time the space walk was a huge success, for it pertained only to the Gemini itself, which, being the last in the series, had been modified by McDonnell to provide some sixteen extra handholds and footclamps. Now, Pope had something to wedge himself against so that he could use the flattened expanse of his body to counterbalance the return thrust of whatever he was working upon, and in this way he was able to apply torque without having it spin him around. Also, by moving himself to the opposite side of the craft, he could give Claggett’s window an effective cleaning.
That night the two men talked at length with Houston to see if anyone could devise some way that would enable Pope to retrieve the dosimeter, and CapCom said quietly, “Dr. Feldman is most eager for you to retrieve it. Data are badly needed on the accumulation of radiation in space,” and Pope replied, “Give me some guidance,” so three astronauts hurried to the deep swimming pool at Huntsville, and after suiting up and applying weights to their belts, achieved the sensation of null gravity and went underwater to work on a mock-up of the Agena hull. They suggested that Pope try establishing leverage by hooking his left foot in a hold he had overlooked, by approaching the nuts from a different angle, and by keeping his belly, one leg and one elbow disposed so as to distribute his weight differently: “We think this will allow you to apply torque.” He went to sleep at what they had agreed to call night, swearing to Claggett, “If I have to use my teeth, I’m going to loosen those bolts,” but Claggett had a better idea: “I think we stowed a tiny can of oil somewhere in here, and I want you to go over one hour early and soup ‘em up.”
Next morning the two men dressed extremely slowly, allowing no perspiration to accumulate, and then they opened the hatch with a minimum of effort, and Pope, taking very slow breaths to control his respiration, left the capsule carrying almost nothing except the tiny can of oil, which he applied to the bolts before returning to [517] the capsule. He did not try to climb back in, but simply held on, drifting across Africa and Australia, to whose communicators he spoke.
“I feel great,” he assured Claggett, and when the latter handed him the tool kit, he set off for the Agena with real enthusiasm. Positioning himself astride the huge craft as the Houston men had advised, he found that by grasping it with one foot, one knee, one elbow and gut, he could achieve a kind of leverage, so that when he began to twist the lubricated nuts, they moved and not he.
“Semper fidelis!” he called to Claggett as he unbolted the dosimeter, stowing it carefully in a pouch attached to his belt, but when it worked free, one bolt fell away ... well, it certainly didn’t fall away, for there was no gravity to attract it, but it slid out of his control and moved away from the Agena, impelled by his futile attempt to retrieve it, and there it drifted like a minute planet, circling the Earth at an altitude of 149.3 miles above the surface, 4,108.9 miles above the molten center.
Six days had now passed, and the next three were spent uneventfully discharging tasks which had been set by the ground experts, especially the space scientists. This series required the most exact timing, collection of data and attention:
 
... Study the effects of weightlessness on neurospora to see if any genetic damage is done by extended voyages in space.
 
... Make 149 photographs of different Earth terrains using the Maurer camera.
 
... Make 36 photographs of gegenschein, the faint nebulosity which appears opposite the Sun in certain conditions.
 
... Investigate the L-4 and L-5 equilibrium points of the Earth-Moon system to determine whether clouds of particulate matter have collected as predicted by LaGrange in 1772.
 
... Check UHF-VHF polarization as it affects radio transmission through the atmosphere.
 
... Accumulate data on frog-egg growth in space.
 
[518] ... Do bioassays of body fluids, which meant urinating into a special bag. (But this study failed because Claggett broke his bag twice. The medics were sure he did it on purpose.)
 
On the tenth day they rose early, stowed every piece of movable gear, fastening pens and cups to the walls with Velcro, against the violent shock which they would soot receive. Checking with Houston, they reassured themselves that Agena-B, the one with ample fuel and good engines, was about twenty miles behind them, so they speeded up sharply in order to fall back, and as soon as they attained a higher orbit, the Agena, below them, started moving ahead. When it was well in the lead, they slowed down so that their relative speed would increase, and sure enough, they came right in on target, making a docking so perfect they could not feel the join.
“Houston, we’re ready for fire.”
“Everything is go,” CapCom said, and with that vote of confidence, Claggett fired the powerful main engine of the Agena, which the Twins were facing, and for a full twenty-nine seconds a wild explosion of fire and flying fragments engulfed the capsule as the men felt six G’s knocking them about. At an additional speed of 469 miles per hour, the whole assembly shot away from Earth until it reached an orbit of 748.3 miles, higher than any man had gone before
“Holy cow!” Claggett cried into the mike. “Houston, that was some sleigh ride.” And then, with the world listening, he added a most unfortunate afterthought: “If God was I golfer and made an approach shot like that with a niblick. He would be cheering.” Thousands of religious listeners felt that he had blasphemed, and NASA would spend hours and days denying that that had been his intention. “God is not a golfer,” one of the journals said in harsh rebuke. and Thompson would have difficulty preventing Claggett from responding, “Well, if He is, He made a great niblick shot on that one.”
Pope was more restrained, and his enthusiastic words were piped eagerly into the worldwide communications system, to be heard instantaneously in the very parts of Earth about which he was speaking: “Oh, how magnificent the Earth is from here! I can see its edge as it starts on the way back. The line between night and day down there [519] is as clean as a knife edge. Oh! Oh! There’s Africa exactly as it should be. And the oceans are blue and I see Asia coming up. Oh, the Himalayas. You should see the beauty of our Earth.”
It was his casual, tourist photographs, more than two hundred of them made at this great height, that first showed the people of Earth what their planet looked like and what majestic colors it commanded, and the precious thing it was. And at the apogee of their flight, when the Agena was shuddering into permanent orbit, Claggett cried to all the Earth: “I wish we could go on forever.”
The Twins landed in the Pacific Ocean, 781 yards downstream of the Tulagi, where they had been ordered to land sixteen days and 7,000,000 miles ago, and at the debriefing the men voiced only two complaints. Pope: “Claggett took country music on his tapes, and I never again want to hear women singing through their noses.” Claggett: “John took what he claimed was Bach and Bartok, and I don’t never want to hear no more of that spaghetti music.”
 
The Claggett-Pope flight was so successful in every detail, except the collection of urine, that the Gemini program was allowed quietly to phase out. It had served its purposes splendidly, and its cost of $1,147,300,000 had been amply repaid, for Gemini proved that men could survive handsomely in zero G if they exercised their legs, that they Could take two monster craft aloft and join them as gently its if they were baby carriages, that they could walk in space and complete tasks if, like Archimedes, they could only find a fulcrum, and that a trip to the Moon was only an extension of the flight that Claggett had contemplated when he cried, “I wish we could go on forever.”
And then the goodies began falling into the laps of the Twins. They addressed a joint session of Congress, had ticker-tape parades, were sent to seven foreign countries as ambassadors and counterthrusts to Yuri Gagarin and his cosmonauts, and were offered free automobiles and enticing real estate deals. But what was really significant, having proved their professionalism, they found it much easier to get T-38s when they wanted them, and in these sleek, swift jets they sped from one part of the country to another, making practical suggestions for the Apollo program that would soon carry them to the Moon.
[520] The Greek word is hubris, the central theme of the great tragedians. It designates that pride and insolence which infuriates the gods and causes them to strike men down at the height of their success. Hubris had invaded the NASA program, and on the afternoon of 27 January 1967 when three astronauts were running through a routine drill in their capsule atop a Saturn rocket at Canaveral an unguarded electrical wire threw a spark into the pure oxygen of the cabin, and the resulting fire cremated the men.
The surviving Solid Six were at the Bali Hai when this occurred, and as the news spread through the community the families clustered automatically together, and Penny Pope was flown to the Cape in a NASA plane, and the ten young people sat in the Dagger Bar-the Claggetts, the Lees, the Bells, the Caters, the Popes-reflecting on the inexorable movement of which they were a part, while in a corner Rhee Soon-Ka sat, unobserved, taking notes, for this was the kind of day she had long anticipated: as a modern Aeschylus, she knew what hubris was.


VII
THE MOON
ONLY once did the four families so intricately involved in America’s space program meet together in one place at one time, and that occurred in the Longhorn Motel in a dusty suburb of Houston, Texas, during the climactic July in 1969 when astronauts finally walked on the Moon.
In preceding years, of course, the men had met one another but never in concert. For example, Senator Grant had known John Pope as a boy in his hometown and had helped get him into Annapolis; he had often consulted with Stanley Mott, sometimes on personal matters; and he had twice summoned Kolff to his Washington offices for reports on what was happening in Alabama, but he had never seen the three together.
No one of the wives had ever seen all of the other three, not even Penny Pope, who might have been expected to. She had certainly met with the senator’s wife, for the two women had grown up in the same town, and she’d had many occasions for meeting Rachel Mott, but she had never gone down to Alabama to meet Liesl Kolff, who had never ventured into Washington. In fact, the only wife Liesl Kolff knew was Rachel Mott, whom she loved like a younger sister.
The families should have met a few days earlier at the Cape Canaveral launch of Apollo II; the four men had of course been there to discharge official duties, but two of [522] the wives, Elinor Grant and Liesl Kolff, had preferred staying home. The meeting between Stanley Mott and Dieter Kolff, after seven years of strained separation during which each man had concentrated on his own unique problems, was an emotional one, for Dieter, in a surrender of his old prejudice against manned flight, ran forward to embrace the man who had saved him. “Stanley, what an hour of triumph for you!” Mott clasped the engineer and said, “The triumph is yours, old fellow! That day I found you in Germany you promised: “I’ll send a rocket to the Moon.” And in a few hours we’ll be there, your rocket and my man.”
The bitterness returned, and Dieter said, “Not my rocket. It won’t get there. You chose the other solution, the wrong one.”
Mott, not wishing to reopen that old wound, asked brightly, “Where’s Liesl?” and Dieter said, “She was afraid to come.”
For many years Liesl Kolff had wanted to see the installations in which her husband spent so much of his time, but she had been apprehensive of participating in the gala celebrations which attended the launch in Florida: “I’d be out of place. All those expensive wives in their expensive clothes.” Now, with an opportunity to visit Houston, the very center of space activity, she still demurred. She would have preferred Boston, where her son Magnus had been offered a summer job with Arthur Fiedler and the Boston Symphony Pops, with the promise that if he passed rigid tests, he would be given the position of second trumpet for the winter season of 1970 and those to follow. Magnus had known of his mother’s dilemma and over the telephone from Boston had told her: “Go to Texas, Mom. You can see me anytime the next ten years. I’m determined to win the permanent job.” On the night when the astronauts were supposed to land on the Moon he would face his major test: solo part in Stradella’s lyric Concerto in D Major for Trumpet. “Please, Mom, go to Houston with Father.” She complied, and was delighted with the Longhorn Motel and the respect shown her husband.
Senator Grant had been ordered by President Nixon to be in Florida for the launch and now in Texas for the landing, and for a very solid reason. As one White House staffer pointed out: “The damned Democrats have been [523] trying to steal this show, for years. Kennedy, Johnson. Glancey. You’re our top Republican in the program, Norman, and the President wants you to be damned visible.” he young man had added, “They’ll make it a highly social affair, with lots of photography and television. Be sure to take your wife.”
On the Florida trip Grant had been unable to persuade Elinor to come along, she insisted upon staying home, and for a very good reason: on the Monday before lift-off she had received from Dr. Strabismus an urgent telegram informing her, and a select handful of other $72 subscribers, exactly what was happening:
 
Do not be alarmed if the tottering American government tries to place a man on the Moon. This has been orchestrated by those Visitors who infiltrated NASA seven years ago, as I warned you at the time. Ordinary American scientists could not possibly have solved the difficult problems involved in a Moon shot. The Visitors could.
 
Our informants within the Visitor ranks assure us that very secure colonies have been established by them on the dark side of the Moon, away from our telescopes, and that when our men try to land, every assistance will be given. This will ensure that the attempt will be successful, because the Visitors want us to be preoccupied with the Moon while they finalize their assumption of power in Washington. These are critical days, but do not be deceived by the Moon landing. The really important event will be the impending takeover in Washington, London, Rome and Tokyo.
 
Elinor had felt that she could probably help the nation most by staying in Clay to cooperate with the Visitors, so she missed the excitement of the lift-off, viewed by more than a million people lining the Florida roads, but when the White House itself telephoned to urge her to attend the celebrations in Houston which would accompany a successful Moon landing, she had to listen. Calling the headquarters of USA in Los Angeles, she asked Dr. Strabismus whether in his opinion it would be permissible for [524] her to leave home on the eve of the Visitors’ takeover, anti he said it would be all right, for they had assured him that it would be peaceful. So she joined her husband at the Longhorn Motel.
Rachel Mott was still shepherding the wives of her astronauts, but since the emphasis would now be on the families of the men about to attack the Moon, she had free time to be with her husband, and she needed the semi-vacation. She had been spending long hours with her son Christopher, who seemed to thrive under the relaxing Florida sun. He had been suspended from the University of Maryland for grades that were abominably low, but she felt sure that the stabilizing influence of family life would enable him to resume his studies. She wanted him to accompany her to Houston, but he had preferred staying in Florida, where he would be attending anti-Vietnam rallies in Miami.
When Penny Pope brought her senators back to Washington after the hugely successful launch of Apollo II, tough-minded Mike Glancey took her aside. “This is top secret, but President Nixon’s insisting that Elinor Grant attend the Moon-landing celebration at Houston. She’s as crazy as a bedbug and it’s your job to see she stays undercover.” When Penny protested that she was not a babysitter, Glancey growled, “This time you are. There would be hell to pay if European newspapers got hold of the fact that a leading member of our Space Committee had a fruitcake wife who was peddling state secrets to little green men.” It would be Penny’s job to keep Mrs. Grant isolated until either the shot succeeded or the little men took over.
At half past eleven on this dramatic day, when the temperature outside was a boiling ninety-six, the four couples sat down to lunch in a reserved corner of the Longhorn bar. Two televisions had been brought in at Senator Grant’s request so that he and his guests could listen to both Walter Cronkite and John Chancellor, and after two rounds of cocktails, which John Pope and Liesl Kolff refused, the euphoric lunch began with large plates of Louisiana oysters. Liesl refused these, too, having been indoctrinated from her earliest days in El Paso with the belief that one could eat oysters safely only in months containing an r.
Liesl Kolff was in some ways the most interesting of the group, for with a stubborn peasant sense of destiny, [525] she had allowed a varied experience to modify her very little. As a girl she had been destined to be fat, and she was, a roly-poly woman in her early fifties composed of three rather shapeless globes: a large head with fat cheeks, a very large torso ill hidden by an inexpensive flowered dress, and an extremely large bottom which protruded strikingly. She wore heavy-rimmed glasses that accented the fullness of her face; she had been told often that if she chose glasses with no rims, she would look better, and she had tried this, but she was essentially clumsy and after she had broken the rimless glasses twice she threw them away: “Chust one trick by the doctors to get our money.” She confessed to her son Magnus that in the rimless glasses she had looked better, “but I got no time for vanity. These other glasses, you could chump on them, they don’t break.”
“I understand you didn’t want to come,” Senator Grant said as they waited for the chicken salad.
“I didn’t,” Liesl said.
“But this is a triumph for your husband.”
“He has many triumphs. Today is also a triumph for my son. His first.”
“And what has he done?”
“Tonight he plays the Stradella, a trumpet concerto, with the Boston Symphony.”
“Your son? How old is he?”
“Twenty-two.”
“Isn’t that delightful! Elinor, Mrs. Kolff’s son is only twenty-two and he’s playing trumpet with a famous orchestra.”
Elinor smiled indulgently without making any comment; she felt quite detached from this assembly, for she faced problems that they could not remotely be aware of, and furthermore, she had learned that whenever the senator praised some young person who was behaving well, he intended it as a rebuke to her for having allowed their daughter Marcia to behave, as he always put it, “So poorly.” As for herself, she considered Marcia an outstanding success, to be dean of a major university at such a young age. She nodded slightly to Mrs. Kolff, as if to say, “I’m pleased that you’ve found some satisfaction in this country. You look as if you needed it.”
Despite her aloofness, Mrs. Grant did now and then steal a glance at Mrs. Pope to see if this brazen creature [526] would betray in any manner the fact that she was sleeping with the senator, but the adventuress was a wily one who disclosed nothing. Mrs. Grant deemed it outrageous that her husband would have the effrontery to bring this woman to Houston, and she felt sorry for Commander Pope, who seemed a fairly decent young man, which was to be expected, since he was the son of Dr. Pope the druggist. Penny Pope, she never forgot, came from one of the poorer Clay families, one without distinction, so her immoral behavior was no surprise.
At about the time the salad was served, excitement on the television stations began to escalate, for it was apparent that the astronauts were preparing the dangerous and thrilling descent to the Moon, so the diners ignored their food, except for Mrs. Kolff, who was hungry, not having had the oysters, and talk turned to the miracle of receiving television signals across a space of 238,000 miles.
“They could come from 238,000,000 miles,” Kolff said simply. “As long as it’s a straight line, no mountains, no planet to interfere, an electrical signal will go forever.”
When Senator Grant challenged this, Kolff put down his fork and asked, “How much electrical power to send a radio message, Moon to Earth?” Everyone but Mott and Pope made extravagant guesses, whereupon he went to a bridge lamp and turned on a sixty-watt bulb, which competed poorly with the light from the two televisions. “One twentieth of that bulb will do it well,” he said.
Discussion raged about this claim, and Kolff had to bring in Dr. Mott for assistance: “Yes, one of these days we’ll have a radio at Saturn, more than a billion miles away. With power much less than that light bulb, it will send us messages, quite easily. It’s like Kolff says, if a straight line is uninterrupted by mountains or other interjections, the signal goes on forever.”
“Is what we’re seeing from the Moon instantaneous?” Grant asked.
“Not at all,” Mott said. “When Pope here speaks to the man in the capsule, 238,000 miles separate the two men. And since an electrical impulse travels at the speed of light, it requires 1.3 seconds for Pope’s voice to reach the Moon. When Mike Collins up there replies, it takes another 1.3 seconds for his voice to come back to us.”
[527] “And if we ever go to Mars, like they keep telling us, what time lag?”
“I don’t have the exact distance to Mars ...”
“About two hundred million miles in the most likely configuration of orbits,” Kolff interjected, and Mott bowed in his direction.
“That’ll require eighteen minutes up and eighteen back down.”
“Can we send men to Mars?” Grant asked Mott, but before the latter could respond, Kolff broke in: “Of course! I could build a rocket which would carry a man safely to Mars. Next year.”
Grant, who knew that some 450,000 different Americans were engaged in supporting today’s Moon shot, did not appreciate the German’s saying that he could get to Mars; it would require more than half a million men, more than twenty billion new dollars.
But such calculations were made meaningless by events at the Moon itself, for the astronauts Armstrong and Aldrin were preparing to break loose from their mother ship and drop down to the surface of the dead minor target.
“I still can’t believe it,” Grant said. He was fifty-five now, a handsome older man with a grave worried countenance, graying hair and the stable professional look that one acquires after long years of service in Washington. He had been very close to the space program, one of its pillars, but he had usually been required to provide vast sums of money for projects he did not really understand, and now he was faced by a moment of triumph which was totally incomprehensible, with Dieter Kolff telling him that soon other men would be on Mars. He was almost as confused as his wife, except that her adventures cost thousands of dollars; his, billions.
Seven of the eight people picked at their food while Liesl Kolff asked the waiter for a second helping of salad. “You can have mine,” Elinor Grant said generously. “I haven’t touched it.”
It was two o’clock, Central Standard Time, 20 July 1969 when the dishes were cleared away and an ice bucket filled with bottles of beer was brought in. Dieter Kolff took the caps off two bottles, handing one to his wife, but she refused: “The Americans make their beer too weak, too sweet.” [528] Grant summoned the waiter to see if he could fetch German beer. “Mexican is good,” Liesl said. “Or Filipino. Or even Danish.” The motel had some Tuborg and she was content.
Penny Pope was on the telephone to Senator Glancey’s office in Washington, and between long pauses she shared information with the people in the room: “Things look unbelievably good. Maybe within the hour.”
Now the tension mounted, and Grant kept revolving an empty ginger ale bottle in his two hands, staring at first one television screen, then the other. The images were excellent and he said, “Damn, we do some things right. Look at that.”
As the landing module began its descent, the actual approach to the Moon after all these years of travail, Penny Pope went to stand with her husband, who better than the others could understand the significance of the moment, and she took his hand. Mrs. Kolff did the same with her husband, recalling the years when his optimism alone seemed to keep the Peenemünde men working on their great dream. Mrs. Mott wanted to go to her husband, too, but she could not, for Mrs. Grant held her by the hand, assuring her in a low voice that what was happening on the television screens, which she refused to look at, was trivial compared to what was about to happen in the world generally. “You have no idea, my dear, but I feel assured that men like your husband who know so much will be of extra value when it all happens.”
“When what happens?”
“You’ll see.”
Mott stood beside Senator Grant’s chair, sipping idly at a beer that was growing increasingly warm. “This is almost unbearable. I helped plot the trajectories, and to see them come alive. You know, this is really quite extraordinary. Those men will land precisely where we planned three years ago.”
“This is a great day for America,” Grant said, and before his eyes flashed the other days that he remembered: the Japanese fleet bursting out of the dawn to destroy MacArthur; Gawain Butler, that gallant man fighting off the sharks; the morning when Senator Taft led him into the well of the Senate to be sworn in, his own senior senator having been called away by death; death, yes, the assassination of [529] John Kennedy, a man he had never much liked, a dilettante but one who caused little harm; the resounding triumph of Richard Nixon over Hubert Humphrey, a clown really, the latter, a man in no way entitled to be President; and often among the images the face of good old Mike Glancey of Red River, a Democrat but a man you could trust and not at all like Lyndon Johnson, whose Presidency had been such a mishmash.
“This nation has its great days,” Grant said, clasping Mott’s hand.
Now silence filled the afternoon. Even the televisions seemed to halt out of respect for the tremendous moment at hand, and then came the news that reassured the world: “Houston. Tranquility Base here. The Eagle has landed.” For just a second no one spoke, then two of the men, Grant and Mott, showed tears of exultation, and to everyone’s surprise Dieter Kolff leaped up and down like a maniac, shouting first in German, then English, “It is done!”
“Oh my God,” Grant mumbled. “The risks we took.” He pointed to one of the televisions and asked no one in particular, “Do you realize the risks we took? The whole world watching?”
John Pope started the real celebration by kissing Penny, who had tears in her eyes, and she turned to kiss Senator Grant, whose fortitude she had so often witnessed. “We did it,” she cried. “In our bumbling way we did it.”
It would be six and a half hours before the astronauts actually left their module to step upon the Moon, and everyone was prepared to wait for the historic moment, so the dishes were cleared away and fresh drinks brought in, with three bottles of Tuborg for Liesl Kolff. Many telephone calls were placed by Penny Pope, with the senator saying, “Charge them to the committee. This is one day in a century.”
One call was to Skycrest, Colorado, where Millard Mott and his friend Roger were running a health-food store, which would scarcely have survived except that the young men had two profitable sidelines, cheese-and-wine parties and a fine selection of classical records. They were elated with the Moon shot and Roger told the senior Motts, “You’ll never know how proud of you Millard is. He’s a champion, you know.”
Penny reached Magnus Kolff in Boston just before he [530] was about to go on stage, and he told his parents that he was a celebrity this night, because the other musicians knew that his father had helped build the rocket that did the trick. “When the doorman called me to the phone he said, ‘Houston Spacecraft Center calling’ loud enough for the others to hear. I am so happy for you, Father.” He spoke in English, his parents in German.
Mrs. Grant placed only one call, to Dr. Strabismus, who told her, “Everything is stable. Our colony on the dark side of the Moon is standing by to give every assistance. They’ll see that our men succeed.”
John Pope spoke frequently to Mission Control, where excitement crackled on the telephone; it was a triumph for so many men, and one of them said, “Tell that old son-of-a-bitch Stanley Mott that he was on the beam when he sponsored lunar-orbit rendezvous.” And when Pope relayed this message, Mott asked Penny if she could get the NASA base at Langley in Virginia. When she did, he talked with the engineers there who had inducted him into the world of space and thanked them.
Grant took a dozen calls, one from President Nixon but none from his own daughter in Los Angeles, and when the furor quieted he asked the Kolffs, “How did your son learn the trumpet ... so young?”
Liesl Kolff answered, eagerly, “In America you want people to learn. Mrs. Mott, here, she taught us English at El Paso. No charge. When we move to Huntsville, first day they give out band instruments. How old was Magnus? Four maybe, he took one.”
“But we had trouble,” Dieter said. “You might say the big decision, when he wanted to do funnies with the football band. I put my foot down. “You do not do funnies with Beethoven.” He wanted to cry.”
“How were you able to make him see things your way?” Rachel Mott broke in.
“You tell him once, he don’t listen,” Liesl said. “You tell him twice, he shouts at you. So you don’t tell him a third time. You get a hammer and smash his trumpet.”
Dieter laughed. “It belonged to the school. We had to pay for it. Magnus was so ashamed, he said a truck ran over it, his fault.”
“We got him a better one, and with it he joined our little [531] orchestra. Then University of Alabama, Then Munich for one year. Now Boston, maybe forever.”
“You must be very proud,” Rachel said.
“We are,” Liesl replied.
Grant turned to the Motts. “Weren’t you having a little trouble with your son?”
“Both of them,” Rachel said. “And not just a little.”
“In what respect?”
Stanley Mott was hesitant to speak of family troubles, but his no-nonsense wife was not, and appearing almost prim and an epitome of rectitude, this forty-nine-year-old New England woman said, “Life styles, I think, our eldest son-” She corrected herself. “Our elder son seems not to like girls, He’s living with a young man about his own age in Skycrest, Colorado. They run a shop featuring health foods.” And before anyone could comment, she added quite firmly, “We’ve made our peace with Millard. He’s a fine, gentle boy and we have no doubt he’ll be the same kind of man.”
“He’s twenty-six,” Mott said.
“I think of him still as a boy,” Rachel said, and her husband added, “It’s a shock when your son exhibits traits that you, well ...” He stopped in confusion, then blurted out: “We’re lending him the money to get his store started, and I for one am proud of what he’s been able to accomplish. He’s well spoken of in the Skycrest community.”
“Young Christopher’s troubles are more serious,” Rachel said. “He’s been arrested for selling marijuana.”
“Drugs?” Liesl asked.
“I’m afraid so. Tell me,” Rachel asked, throwing herself, as it were, upon the mercy of her audience. “How do you keep your children out of trouble in this permissive society?”
“There is a vast difference,” Senator Grant said as he watched the televisions. “When I was a boy in Clay, every element in the society was supportive. The police were friendly. Sunday School teachers wanted us to do the right thing. Our football coach was an admirable figure, and I remember one day when I sneaked into the poolroom to see for myself what infamous things were going on, and two of the town roustabouts took me aside and said, “Norman, you’re supposed to grow up into a fine man. Maybe marry the judge’s daughter or something like that. You’re [532] not meant to be in poolrooms. Now get out.”
“It’s not that way any longer,” Rachel Mott said. “Right now our son’s in Miami chanting ‘Ho, ho, ho! Ho Chi Minh!’ ”
Senator Grant turned from the televisions. “He’s what?”
“It’s a childish nonsense. They think it’s funny to make us older people angry.”
“But what’s the Ho Chi Minh nonsense? Surely your son is not ...”
“They want the war in Vietnam to end. They insist we get out.”
“That’s government policy,” Grant snapped. “That’s not for puling children to determine on their own.”
“Christopher’s no child. He’s nineteen. He’s terrified of the draft.”
Grant rose. “When we faced a much more terrible enemy, two of them, my generation volunteered. You did, didn’t you, Mott?”
“The Army picked me up,” he said evasively, not wishing to admit on this night that he had not been in uniform.
“How about you, Pope? You volunteered, didn’t you?”
“I was playing football, sir. Still in high school.”
“But in Korea?”
“I was already in uniform, sir, but I did a lot of combat flying over there.”
“You certainly volunteered for the German side, didn’t you, Kolff?”
“I fought on the Russian front,” Dieter said, not caring to explain that it took four Nazi detectives to find him in the fields of southern Germany before the Army could throw him into uniform.
“In time of crisis,” Grant said, “men rally to the support of their homelands.”
“Millard, out in Colorado, denies it’s a crisis. He told us in his last letter that he’s sure the whole thing is contrived.”
“Contrived!” Grant snorted. “When the Congress of the United States ...”
“That was his major point,” Rachel said. “Congress has not had the courage to declare actual war. Millard says it’s all a political game, an avoidance of reality.”
“Your Millard had better watch out, Mrs. Mott.”
“He says it’s what he calls a ploy. A way to get the [533] children of the poor to defend the privilege-, of the rich without disturbing business as usual.”
“He sounds like a Communist.”
“He tells us that most of the young people in Colorado think the same way. Two of his friends have escaped to Canada. To avoid the draft.”
“Escaped? America’s no prison. If they ran away to Canada, they did so because they’re cowards. President Nixon and Congress have laid out certain plans, and it’s the duty of all citizens to obey them.”
Stanley Mott, not wishing this argument to proceed any further, asked, “In a time of wildly changing mores, what can a parent do to keep his children stable?”
“Sometimes,” Liesl Kolff said, “sometimes you have to take a hammer and smash the trumpet.”
More than six hours had passed since the module Eagle had landed on the Moon, and the two astronauts who occupied it had rested fitfully in order to be at maximum alert when the time came to leave their secure pouch and, like baby kangaroos, venture forth to leap about. During this interval, experts had congratulated NASA for having adopted the simplest and safest mode of approaching the Moon, lunar-orbit rendezvous rather than a direct shot from Earth, with all the massive construction that would have required, or Earth-orbit rendezvous, with its added complexity. The science consultant for ABC-TV had said:
 
“The genius of this flight was the man who pleaded with NASA to reevaluate procedures and study afresh the difficulties of other modes and the essential rightness of this one. We do not know that man’s name. Most likely he was a committee, but even in committees it takes some one person with insight and courage to urge upon his companions the right course of action, and then to defend it against challenge. So as we wait for our astronauts to venture forth upon the Moon, let us salute the organizational genius responsible for the decision that enabled them to get this far so easily and so correctly.”
 
“He’s speaking of you, Mott,” Senator Grant cried.
“Me and a dozen others.”
“Was it an argument difficult to win?”
[534] Mott was about to make a grandiloquent statement concerning the protracted debate when he chanced to look in the direction of Dieter Kolff, one of the men he had been required to oppose most vigorously, and he saw two things: that Kolff was moody and depressed at this moment of triumph, and that it would be most ungenerous to expatiate upon his defeat. Let it go at that.
Now, as 2200 approached, a miracle almost beyond comprehension occurred. In the landing module resting on the Moon one of the astronauts positioned a television camera so that the movements of the other man could be photographed and sent to Earth, which meant that all the world would be able to see, almost as it happened-plus the 1.3 seconds it required the signal to travel the 238,000 miles at the speed of light-an event of supreme historical importance. It was as if cameras had been aligned on the Santa Maria to catch the landing of Columbus, or under the apple tree to chronicle the moment when Isaac Newton conceived his theory of gravity, or in the fires of Moscow in 1812 to record the second when Napoleon decided to turn back. The world would visibly participate in the dawning of a new age, the Exploration of Outer Space.
The door to the module opened. A figure clothed in cumbersome white slowly backed down the short ladder, reached the last rung, and felt tentatively with a booted foot. Firmly, confidently, the man left the security of the ladder and stepped safely upon the Moon. Lunar dust did not envelop him as some had predicted, nor did the granules burst into flame as others had warned.
And then over the radio, so incredibly far away, came the human voice, as clear as if the speaker were in the next room: “That’s one small step for man, uhh, one giant leap for mankind.” Later, NASA would amend it into the form it would take in history books: “One small step for a man, one giant leap for mankind.”
Seven of the eight people in the motel room at the Longhorn burst into applause, and each man kissed his wife in sheer jubilation. For Dieter Kolff, depressed as he appeared to have been, it was a mighty victory, for his rocket had behaved just as he had predicted. For Senator Grant it was a triumph of his careful planning and unwavering leadership. For Stanley Mott it was vindication in his protracted [535] struggle to get NASA to adopt lunar rendezvous. And for the Popes it was a double victory: John’s demonstrations in Gemini 13 had sped the day when the Moon trip became viable, and Penny’s faithful shepherding of her committee had kept the vast project on track. She had helped supervise the spending of some $23,000,000,000.
“We’ve shown them!” Grant exulted. “We’ve shown the Russians!”
They did it so effectively,” Pope said in admiration of his fellow astronauts, and the celebrators wanted to know what Armstrong and Aldrin were really like. Liesl Kolff said, “I wonder how that Michael Collins feels, all alone out there.”
“That’s his job,” Pope said. “If I’d been chosen for this flight, that would have been my job.”
“Isn’t he lonely?”
“I spent sixteen days with this much space between me and my commander.” He held his hands eight inches apart. I’d have been glad for a little loneliness.”
“Look at them!” Grant shouted. “Look at those American boys on the Moon.”
Toasts were proposed and there were general congratulations, after which Elinor Grant, smiling at the vanity of these seven unaware people, excused herself and went to bed. Liesl Kolff had now had six Tuborgs, and she, too, departed, unsteadily. Rachel Mott, sensing that the men would celebrate for a long time, preferred to go to bed, but Penny Pope, who felt herself a part of the great adventure, remained behind, throwing beer bottles into a wastebasket and ordering some more sandwiches and pretzels from room service.
When things had quieted down, and the four men were comfortable in their chairs, they listened to a remarkable broadcast by a correspondent in Spain:
 
“It was early Sunday evening in Spain when word of the Moon landing was broadcast to the nation, and shortly thereafter a Father Tomás Uruzippe, a Jesuit scientist of note, came on the radio to assure the citizens of Spain that the Pope had been kept aware of all developments, that he had given the Moon mission his blessing, and that walking on the Moon in no way transgressed Biblical instructions. And [536] now I quote Father Uruzippe’s words as he closed his homily to the nation: ‘I repeat that the Pope has been kept fully informed by the American government of its plan to send men to the Moon, and His Holiness has found no reason to protest. I assure you again that everything is all right and in accordance with Biblical teaching.’ ”
 
“I should think that would be very comforting,” Senator Grant said, but then he caught sight of one of the astronauts pogo-sticking across the lunar surface, and he said something which proved extremely discomforting to two of his listeners: “Well, we’ve certainly shown the Russians. Now we can turn to other things.”
At one in the morning John Pope had to leave for Mission Control, where he would put in his next stint as communicator, so Penny departed with him, and after further celebration of this historic moment, Senator Grant trailed off. Now Mott and Kolff were left alone with the two televisions:
KOLFF (with real anxiety): Did you hear what he said? “Now that we’ve shown the Russians, we can turn to other things.”
MOTT: Battle fatigue. He’s worked very hard to achieve this victory.
KOLFF: It all ends tonight, Stanley. And it’s your fault.
MOTT: Don’t throw guilt at me. I feel none. Look at those celebrations.
KOLFF: The circus will soon be over. The dancing bears will retire. And we can turn down the lights.
MOTT: Quit? No. We already have eight or nine more shots on schedule.
KOLFF: But the steam goes out of the calliope. I’m so worried about this night. Now that we’ve shown the Russians, the accountants will move in. The grand adventure.
MOTT: Maybe a society can absorb only so much. Maybe it has to pause to catch its breath.
KOLFF: One part of society is allowed to pause. Senator Grant has finished his job. He’s exhausted intellectually. I’m not surprised at that. “Now we can get on with more important things.”
MOTT: Wait a minute. He didn’t say it that way.
[537] KOLFF: But he meant it. Bring the men back to Earth. Tackle the problems here.
MOTT: Do you know what my own son wrote in his last letter? “Science runs wild in our society. It sponsors great boondoggles.”
KOLFF: What are these boondoggles?
MOTT: Moon shots. What you call circuses.
KOLFF: I’m sixty-two. Two more years, I must retire from the battle. And it breaks my heart to think that I leave with everyone in retreat.
MOTT: Now that’s a silly statement. I’m not in retreat. I’m looking forward to the Mars shot, the exploration of Jupiter and Saturn.
KOLFF: The things you speak of are niggardly. Less than they should be at this time in man’s intellectual history. We should be bursting at our seams, men like you and me.
MOTT: I am. Have you been following the discoveries of Penzias and Wilson? The Bell Laboratory people?
KOLFF: Of course. That’s what makes me so uneasy tonight. We should be building on what men like them have found.
MOTT: I am. If they’re right, and the sounds they hear are echoes of the Big Bang which occurred at the start of things, we can begin to assemble a logical theory of the universe.
KOLFF: But not unless we move forward on every front. We must have our instruments in the sky, our minds down here working on the data. We’re in an age of fabulous discovery, Stanley, and that damned Moon has nothing to do with it.
MOTT: It’s a first step. An exciting one.
KOLFF: But now do you confess the folly of your decisions?
MOTT: I do not.
KOLFF: Watch what happens. When those men climb down off that Moon we’ll make gods of them.
MOTT: We should. They’re the Columbuses of our day.
KOLFF: And we’ll let it go at that, our job is done. Let’s get on with other more important things.
MOTT: A little hero worship never damaged a long-range program.
[538] KOLFF: That was your first error. To send men instead of machines.
MOTT: No! Glancey was right. Americans understand men. They can’t identify with your machines. And without emotional identification, we have nothing.
KOLFF: My machines could have startled the world.
MOTT (pointing at the television): My way worked. Look at the celebrations.
KOLFF: And what does it leave you with? A program that you can build on?
MOTT: You heard them. Even in Spain they’re celebrating.
KOLFF: And in the morning, what will we have left? The capacity to place useless men on a useless Moon. While the Russians forge constantly ahead in the real tasks.
MOTT: Wait! Wait! Don’t you think the Kremlin is biting its nails now in frustration? Who in Paris will give a damn for Yuri Gagarin when Neil Armstrong rides down the Champs-Elysées?
KOLFF: Mere exhibitionism.
MOTT: Let me assure you, exhibitionism counts ... among nations. I’ll let you in on a secret. Washington has alerted me to be ready to honcho a tour of the Moon astronauts to sixteen major nations, once they get out of quarantine. That’s what your circus produces.
KOLFF: But the noble task ... it lies sidetracked.
MOTT: What is your noble task?
KOLFF: We live within a universe. Our petty lives are spent within its constructs. Our nations rise and fall in accordance with its limitations. We know almost nothing about it, and it’s our obligation to know.
MOTT: The information may not be knowable.
It was now toward four in the morning, and although each of the men was exhausted by this long, eventful day, neither wanted to break this exploration, for it dealt with the remaining years of their lives: the things they would be attempting, the hopes they would be passing along to others, and it was Dieter Kolff, the inheritor of those stubborn Germans of the Raketenflugplatz in Berlin who had first dreamed seriously of how to throw great machines toward the stars and of those even more stubborn Prussians at Peenemünde who had actually tried to do it, who sustained the clearest vision of the future, but before he [539] could elaborate upon that future, he was interrupted by two figures who passed through the Longhorn bar without seeing him. One was Cindy Rhee, coming back from celebrations at Mission Control, and she was accompanied by Ed Cater, whose wife, Gloria, had stayed at headquarters. They formed a stunning pair, she in one of those exquisite gray-tan Korean dresses that dropped in a straight line from a point just below the neck, he in blue California shorts and matching T-shirt, and when they came to the parting point, from which she should go to her room and he to his, he suddenly caught her in his arms, lifted her high off the floor and kissed her ardently where her neck joined her shoulder. When he put her down she grasped his hand and they walked dreamily toward her room.
KOLFF: Your astronauts attend to the simpler problems ... and leave the universe to us.
MOTT: Whenever I see one of the young men, I think of Harry Jensen. You didn’t know him, Dieter, but he was a young Scandinavian god ... out of the sagas.
KOLFF: I’m so sad in this moment of celebration. So many of the things we dreamed of at Peenemünde are decaying into insequentiality ... (He tried to pronounce inconsequentiality again, fumbled it and stopped.) Would you mind if we spoke in German? Well, you continue in English, but I want to express myself accurately.
MOTT: Go ahead.
KOLFF: At any moment in intellectual history things arise which must be attended to. Who determines the ought? Not governments, not self-appointed individuals. Only the vast sweep of human knowledge. Copernicus felt this and so did Dr. Harvey with the bloodstream. The Russians felt it long before we did and that’s why they got to the Moon first. (Mott raised his eyebrows.) Yes, in our celebrations we’ll try to forget that they got there first, landed first, got samples first, photographed the far side first.
MOTT: Don’t exaggerate. Russia’s like Spain and the New World. We’re like England. Spain may have got here first, but it was England that did something important about it.
KOLFF: You don’t call South America important?
MOTT: Not really.
[540] KOLFF: We’re very arrogant tonight, aren’t we?
MOTT: I sure am. My team set out to do something extremely difficult. We chose the one right way to do it. And we succeeded. If you want to do something different, you find your right way. But don’t complain about mine, because for its task it was perfection. Let’s order more beer.
KOLFF: I’m pleased to see that you’re capable of emotion. I’m not. Not when the cause is so spurious.
MOTT: What would you have us do?
KOLFF: Very simple, Stanley. Cancel the rest of the Apollo shots. Fire all the astronauts. Assemble the hundred brightest astrophysicists, give them a minimum budget, and tell them to get on with it.
MOTT: With what?
KOLFF: The study of the universe. If we apply ourselves diligently for the next hundred years, we can solve all the great riddles.
MOTT: Like what?
KOLFF: The origins of the universe. Its probable life history. The specific role of our Sun and its planets. The origins of human life. Even things like when the next ice age will overtake us. You know, of course, that when it comes, fifteen or twenty thousand years from now, the ice will obliterate New York. And later, when it melts, the oceans will ride completely across Florida. It’s matters like that we should be addressing.
MOTT (with some irritation): Dieter, have you ever seen my office? What do you suppose faces me on the wall every time I look up? A marvelous photograph of the Galaxy 4565 ... twenty million light-years away. That’s where my imagination lives. That’s where I want to go eventually ... in my mind.
KOLFF: Then why are you fooling around with the Moon?
MOTT: Because Senator Glancey taught me that I’ll never get where I want to go unless I take the taxpayers along. We move one step at a time, and the Moon’s our first big one.
KOLFF: And maybe the last. Maybe we’ve done our one great thing tonight. We may have to pass the torch along ... Do you have the French word gonfalon? We may have to hand it to others.
[541] MOTT: What others?
KOLFF: Japan? Germany? Russia?
MOTT: Are they capable?
KOLFF: People make themselves capable. (Many minutes of silence followed.) I go to bed tonight sorely worried. I see my adopted nation on the wrong course and I must soon retire from the battle. Goodnight, Stanley, in your hour of erroneous triumph.
A week later, while the world still reverberated with cheering, it was Mott’s turn to be worried, because the mail sent down from Washington included a letter from Alberta, Canada:
 
Roger and I decided to close our shop in Skycrest and take refuge in Canada. We cannot submit ourselves to the draft for a war that is so terribly wrong and being fought on principles so terribly corrupt. We could both register at the University of Colorado and thus escape the draft, but we cannot avoid danger in that spurious way and watch young men with less money being sent to do our dirty work for us. I hope that my action will not bring discredit on you, at a time when you have a right to savor your triumph …
 
MILLARD


VIII
REAL TIME
THE retreat from space which Dieter Kolff predicted occurred more swiftly than even he had expected, and with much greater severity. NASA’s budget was slashed from five billion dollars a year to four and then to a mere three; experts in various fields were laid off; and there was talk of closing down some of the centers where exploratory work was being conducted.
What was even more surprising, trips to the Moon became routine, so that often the general public was not aware that one was under way, and people grumbled about wasting money on the collection of “more Moon rocks, when we already have enough.”
Astronaut Randy Claggett, himself from Texas A & M, brightened the gloom by circulating a joke on his alma mater:
 
“Seems the geology department at Texas Aggies was miffed because the University of Texas got Moon rocks to study and they didn’t. So a NASA scientist, thinkin’ to halt the complaints, went into a barnyard, picked up a handful of rocks and give ‘em to the Aggie scientists to analyze. Seven months not a word, then a neatly typed report: ‘There are many aspects of these rocks we cannot explain, but we can state one thing for certain, that cow really did jump over the Moon.’ ”
 
[543] Randy also reported, in his Texas drawl, the results of the visit of two astronauts to a community in Iowa, an offshoot of one founded in Illinois by Wilbur Glenn Voliva, the apostle of a flat Earth. This group sustained the hopes of people across the country, and in Europe, too, who longed for the simpler world of A.D. 1300. When Randy handed the present leader of the community a series of splendid color photographs showing an Earth as round as an orange with the blue oceans held in place by gravity, the gentleman studied the evidence for a long time, then said, “If a man wasn’t a trained observer, he might be deceived by this picture.” When Randy pressed the true believer, the man growled, “I never said it wasn’t a circle.” Five days later the Iowa community circulated a learned paper explaining why, from a certain distance, the flat Earth might look somewhat rounded: “It’s a matter of parallax.”
When Randy took his own flight to the Moon, he provided some much-needed levity by reporting the progress of his Apollo in terms that gave the newsmen some trouble, because when he ran into momentary difficulties, he told Houston: “It was pretty ginchy there for a moment.” When crumbs from the dehydrated meals hung suspended throughout the capsule, he reported: “Things are getting’ pretty grotty up here.” Another time they were “Scuzzy,” but when he said that the fuel problem was getting “just a bit grunchy,” Houston had to warn him to speak English.
When he surveyed the Moon while his two companions were on the surface exploring it, he told the world: “It looks like General Sherman marched acrost it with a legion of boll weevils,” and he irritated some patriots by exclaiming: “We ought to send an expedition to the back side of the Moon and find the highest mountain and name it Von Braun, because he put us up here.”
He was refreshing, and when the flight ended, reporters were more interested in him, alone in the capsule, than they were in the other two men who had actually walked on the Moon. When they asked him how he felt, circling the Moon alone, he replied, frankly, “It was real scuzzy.” NASA, recognizing a popular figure when they had one, sent him on various public relations tours, and his face became familiar: a thin, puckish cowboy with an attractive gap between his big front teeth and a propensity for the outrageous statement, as when he told a Denver audience: [544] “Travelin’ in a space capsule is no more dangerous than travelin’ Route 85 to Colorado Springs in a car on a Saturday night when the beetpickers is out drunk.” Statistically, of course, he was correct.
But he could be extremely sharp when required, and he delighted the science community at Boulder with an erudite joke: “Seems there was this hotshot geologist at Stanford, great authority on earthquakes. Predicted that all of California west of the San Andreas fault would disappear into the Pacific on 6 June 1966-that’s 6-6-66-and when he woke up that morning he found that everythin’ west of the fault was still standin’, but everythin’ east of it had vanished. Looking at his calculations, he said, ‘Damn, I got my sign wrong.’ ”
When speaking to these same scientists, he said, “We’re now moving into fields of constant speculation with experts in all areas acomin’ at us with their theories. Most of them, I find, have a correlation of 1.0 if you take only one instance.” There was a moment of silence, then some of the audience began to chuckle, and as explanations spread, the whole room began to applaud, for they appreciated his adept statement that if a scientist uses only one cause-and-effect instance, he will invariably produce a correlation of 1.0. Indeed, a gentleman in Boulder had recently been guilty of just that blunder; in an attempt to explain the influence of sunspots, he speculated that they dictated the behavior of the recently discovered Van Allen belt, which was certainly correct, if data from only the year 1968 were studied.
When Claggett met privately with technical experts at the various contractors’ offices, he was a source of much stable information, and three different corporation presidents inquired quietly if he would be interested in joining their firms: “The space program is running down, Colonel Claggett. You must see evidence of that. We’ll be moving into fascinating new areas, and we’d be proud to have you aboard.”
He always said, “I’m a Marine. I’d never fit in.” But when he and Debby Dee were alone with John Pope and Penny, they discussed with sharp attention the future of their strange profession.
“How do you see things, Penny?” Claggett asked one night in the Dagger Bar.
[545] “Retrenchment all along the line.”
“How many more Apollo missions will Congress stand for?”
“We started with a budget that would cover us through Apollo 20. I’m sure they’re going to knock off two of them. They may even cut us back to Apollo 17.”
“You think that’ll be the last?”
“I do.”
“Damn! I coulda been in line to command 18. Take you along, John, like Gemini.”
“One thing I know,” Penny said. “The next flights must carry scientist-geologists. The public insists on that. You should see the complaints that hit our office.”
“Well, the scientist and me, we go down on the Moon. John tends the store upstairs.”
“Would you accept that?” Penny asked her husband.
“I’d walk if I could even get near the Moon.”
“I have heard one rumor,” Penny said. “Apollo 18 would have a good chance of Congressional support if you landed on the dark side of the Moon.”
“Don’t say that!” her husband interrupted with some irritation. “Everybody uses the phrase the dark side of the Moon. It isn’t dark at all. It gets exactly as much sunlight as the side we see. It’s just that it never turns that face for us to check.”
“Everybody in Washington calls it the dark side.”
“Everybody’s wrong. They often are. And we can’t call it the unseen side, because both we and the Russians have photographed it.”
“What should we call it?” Penny asked. “The far side?”
“No! The other side. We must no longer describe everything in the planetary system from our parochial perspective.”
“Well, however you call it, if you could focus Apollo 18 on what we in Washington still call the dark side, you’d be able to enlist strong support from the scientific community ... and from the general public, too.”
“That’s not a bad idea!” Claggett cried, opening another beer, but Pope was setting up a diagram with two bowls, one large, one small.
“There’s one knotty problem. On all previous missions we’ve had direct radio communication. Canaveral is here on Earth. Your men, Randy, were here, on the Moon. If [546] we’d had telescopes strong enough, we could have watched you, and you us. But,” and he accented this word so heavily that Randy put down his beer, “when we land Apollo 18 on the other side of the Moon, which my wife insists upon calling the dark side, though why I can’t imagine, look what happens.”
He asked for a piece of cellophane, with which he made a lunar landing site on the other side, and now straight-line communication was impossible: “Radio waves from this landing site can’t penetrate the solid Moon, that’s for sure. And we know they have to travel in a straight line, so they can’t bend around the edges of the Moon. So, Randy, if you and your scientist do land down here, and let’s say you stay four or five days, which is now possible ... during descent, work, ascent, when anything can go wrong, you have no contact with Earth, no support from NASA.”
Claggett reminded the wives of the remarkable job done by Houston when Apollo 13 got into trouble because an oxygen tank ruptured: “Only the ground computers and the brilliance of the NASA staff, with an assist from the contractors’ men, got those astronauts back alive. Wonderful orchestration of talent. But without radio contact, three dead ducks.”
“What excites me about a mission to the other side,” Pope began, but Penny interrupted: “Oh no! You do not spend four or five critical days with no communication.”
“We can have communication. That’s the beauty of it. Debby Dee, let me have two oranges,” and when he had placed them in carefully selected orbits about his Moon, he explained: “One of the satellites will always be in communication with my capsule, with Claggett, on the surface of the Moon, and with Houston down here on Earth. Beautiful.”
“Can it be done?” Penny asked
“We’re doing it now, on Earth, with our communications satellites. With these Moon orbiters in position ... maybe we’ll need three to assure constant coverage ...”
“How will you get your three oranges into the proper orbit?” Penny asked.
“You take them up ass baggage, and when the computer gives the signal, you toss them out, one by one. And there they stay, like three good little oranges.”
[547] “You think we could sell it to Congress?” Claggett asked.
“Congress says it’s dead set against anything beyond Apollo 17, but Norman Grant might be attracted to this ... a noble swan song ... John Pope, a kid from his block.” She mused on this and said, “Randy, I think you have a fighting chance.”
“That’s all I need.” He took a deep swig of beer and said, “You know why I’d like to make one last trip with your ugly husband? Because the capsule on the Apollo is big enough, we could enjoy the trip. Room to move around. And when you go to the john, you don’t do it eight inches from the face of your partner. You go into a corner. You cannot imagine how refined that would seem after our Gemini flights.”
 
Tucker Thompson was worried. The Quints, who ran the Bali Hai motel, had warned him that the Life people, who owned the exclusive on all the other astronauts, had been snooping in corners, asking questions about Randy Claggett, Debby Dee and the Korean reporter Miss Rhee, and this could only mean trouble. “What do you think they were after?”
“Well, it’s general knowledge here in Cocoa Beach,” Mr. Quint said, “That Claggett’s been shacked up with this lady for some time. Life must’ve heard it. I suppose they want a scandal to discredit you Folks people.”
“But why Claggett? Hasn’t she ... well ... hasn’t she been rather ... peripatetic?” When the Quints looked at each other quizzically, he added, “Moving around a bit? From bed to bed?”
“She’s been studying the field,” Mrs. Quint broke in to say. “I like her. She’s a fine, responsible girl.”
“She’s thirty-five and I wish I could strangle her.”
“When a pretty woman pays her bills, doesn’t raise hell in the bar, and attracts customers because she’s so amiable,” Mrs. Quint said, “I can excuse almost anything.”
“Not meddling around with my boys.”
“Tucker,” Mrs. Quint asked, “how old are your boys, as you call them?”
He took from his pocket the small card on which his secretary had written in minute script the salient details of the Solid Six. “They do run into the later thirties.”
[548] “And early forties,” Mrs. Quint said. “I was reading an article about John Pope. Intellectual leader of the group, they called him. He’s forty-four.”
“Has Miss Korea been fooling around with Pope?”
“Stalwart John? No, while the others are upstairs with her he’s out jogging. Our good seafood cooking, it puts weight on most of them, but good old Pope runs off every extra ounce. You hear the great crack Claggett made about him? ‘Give Pope a pair of water wings and stick a Roman candle up his ass, he could tow Apollo to the Moon.’ ”
“Claggett is a loud-mouth,” Thompson said huffily.
“He’s the first to admit it.”
“What can we do to avoid a scandal?” Thompson asked, and when the Quints vacillated, he warned: “You know, you could be big losers in this, too, if things go wrong.”
“A good scandal never hurts a bar. What I’d really appreciate, some Miami gangster come in here and mow down four members of the opposition. This bar would make money for the next ten years.”
“NASA could put this joint off limits, Quint. No more astronauts attracting the customers.”
“I wouldn’t like that,” Quint said.
“Then you figure out a way to put a brake on Madame Egg Foo-Yong.” He had also fallen into the habit of calling his little adversary Madame Fu Manchu, the Dragon Lady and Three from Column B.
“She’s not an easy woman to discipline,” Mr. Quint said, and suddenly Mrs. Quint turned to stare at her husband as if he had opened new windows.
“Maybe you better move her out,” Tucker suggested.
The Quints did not solve the problem; Tucker himself did by the simple device of getting Claggett and Debby Dee dispatched on a foreign good-will tour, shepherded by a reporter from Folks and a functionary from the State Department, who sent Washington a chain of ecstatic cables:
 
Recommend you send Claggetts every country in world. He tells jokes to kings and prime ministers. She beams and visits hospitals. Have developed a routine in which he is a Tex-Mex astronaut coming home after eleven months on the Moon, she pregnant. Very ribald, very funny.
 
[549] Cynthia Rhee stayed behind at the Bah Hai, and when Timothy Bell flew in to Canaveral for some hours on the simulators, she quietly moved in with him, for she needed some specific quotes on how it felt to be the only civilian amidst a group of gung-ho military pilots.
“Wait a minute!” he exploded in near-anger. “I’m no second-class citizen. Don’t ask me questions like that.”
“You’re giving me a good answer, right now, Tim.”
“Well, keep in mind that the first man to step on the Moon was a civilian. Neal Armstrong was no military type. A civilian test pilot just like me. Claggett may have been the first of our group to get to the Moon. I’ll probably be the next.”
“Rumor says you will be, Tim.”
“Have you checked out the big brawl between Aldrin and Armstrong over who would be first out of the capsule? Aldrin raised hell when NASA decided it would be best if a non-military type took the big step. Buzz said it denigrated the whole military component. Made them out a bunch of warlike killers.”
“That’s why I asked the question, Tim. I wanted to hear your gut responses. Not the ones you recite so glibly at press conferences.”
He became so agitated that he left the bed and stalked about the motel room naked. Then he stormed back, climbed in, and grabbed her by the shoulders. “Of course I feel the difference sometimes. They form a kind of gang that I can never enter. The fact that I earned so much more than they do because I was a civilian test pilot, that gigs them, too.”
“Do you feel any difference in ... shall we say ... competence?”
“I could fly any one of them right into the ground.” He hesitated. “Any one but John Pope. I suppose you know he’s the best.”
“NASA thinks Claggett is.”
“And so do you, I suppose.”
“I don’t evaluate. I thought maybe young Jensen was the best of your lot.”
“But not rock-hard like Pope. Not inspired like Claggett.”
“How do you locate yourself, Tim?”
“I’ll make two flights. Sensationally good. And I’ll [550] become president of some company building airplanes.”
“Allied Aviation, maybe?”
“You said it. I didn’t.”
“Is that your ambition, Tim?”
“It’s my training. When I’m through with NASA-Wait a minute. Put it that when NASA is through with me, I’ll have had an education that not forty men in this world have had. Frank Borman, John Pope, a handful of Russians. I have been taught everything. Six Ph.D.’s, seven. I’d have to have an IQ of 31 not to have mastered a universe of knowledge. I’ll put it to some constructive use.”
“And Cluny? What happens with her?”
“She has three wonderful children. She fits in anywhere. Test flying, business, NASA-whatever I do, she blends in. She’d be sensational as the wife of a corporate president.”
“Do you love her?”
Timothy Bell reflected on this for a long time, not as to the facts, but as how properly to present them. “I was a junior at the University of Arkansas. Spring of the year. Heavy schedule of laboratory work because I took all the hard courses. It was about quarter to six and I was kind of soul-bleary coming out of the lab, and I saw this girl in a pale blue-and-white dress, like Southern girls favored before the Civil War, and I was knocked dumb. I just stood there as she went by, then I started running after her, and she said her name was Cluny, and my three laboratory courses, they went straight to hell. And after a while she said, ‘Tim, we must do things right. Tend to your grades first,’ and I did and we were married that summer. And when I think of her now she’s always in that pale blue-and-white dress.”
“And she’s still that little girl?”
“Yes. She’ll always be.”
 
In Washington, Penny Pope campaigned furiously for the money to fund one more Apollo mission, and she had the full support of NASA, which commissioned Dr. Stanley Mott to help in the lobbying, but thoughtful senators like Proxmire of Wisconsin could find no justification for redundant visits to well-known terrain, and the appeals failed. The House was even more opposed to an Apollo 18 because the NASA scientists were unable to demonstrate [551] what new truths might be unfolded, so Dr. Mott retreated, leaving the aborted mission in Penny’s care.
When she sat before her committee, reporting her failure, she gained no sympathy, and even Senator Glancey, a tired old man now, said, “I think we’ve run our course. It’s been an honorable one and let’s let it stand at that.” But she was persistent, and introduced a new idea which attracted strong support from a few senators and respectful attention from all:
 
“It would be pusillanimous of us to terminate these explorations without seeing the far side of the Moon. If we explore only the easy near side, we leave the job half done. We can go to the other side, make comparisons, and lay the groundwork for everything that will follow later on. I believe we have a moral imperative to finish the job.”
 
When her own Senator Grant objected that any such expedition would have to do its work without radio communication with Earth, a fact which condemned her proposal, Penny borrowed two water carafes and duplicated the demonstration her husband had devised:
 
“You’re entirely correct, Senator Grant, radio communication in a straight line from the far side of the Moon is an impossibility. We remember that from Frank Borman’s tremendously exciting Christmas flight around the Moon when we had that painful radio silence. But what we can now do is this. Take three devices with us into lunar orbit ... these three glasses ... and drop them out here ... here ... and here. They will relay radio messages exactly the way Comsat relays messages now from one part of the Earth to another.”
 
When one of the senators asked, “If you need three radio stations at the Moon, will you be asking us to fund an extra Apollo to carry them there?” she apologized: “I’m so sorry, Senator. Sometimes I don’t explain things well. The kind of satellite I’m talking about will be little larger than a volleyball.”
“But if every inch of space is already taken, where will [552] you be able to store three of them?”
“That’s easy. In the lunar module.”
“And how will you launch them?”
“We’ll have an explosive bolt. At the proper signal it blows open a hatch cover. The satellites will be spring-loaded, and at the proper signal they’ll leap out and be on their way.”
“How can such little things have their own propulsion?”
“They won’t need it. They pick up the same propulsive speed as the Apollo from which they’re launched.”
“How do you know so much about these things, Mrs. Pope?”
“Because it’s my job to know,” she said with a smile. “And remember, I’ve been working with this committee since 1949,” and the senator asked, “Are you a Republican or Democrat? I mean, how have you been able to hold on through all the changes?”
“By my fingernails,” she said.
“But what you just said, it’ll work?”
“I’m assured it will.”
“By whom?”
“By the best brains in this country,” and in subsequent meetings she brought before the committee a succession of excited scientists who explained how they were only on the verge of comprehending the Moon and its place in the celestial system.
“Won’t that always be the case?” one of Senator Proxmire’s supporters asked. “Won’t you forever be coming before us and begging for just one more exploration. Will it ever end?”
“No, sir. Because the pursuit of knowledge never ends.”
“Then why should we ...”
“Because we Earthlings are in the position that Europe was in 1491. They knew half the globe-Europe and Asia-but nothing about the other half, the Americas. It would have been perilous and craven to have stopped there, when the richness of the Americas-”
“There’s no richness on the Moon. We know that.”
“In understandings, it’s a gold mine. And we’ve only begun to exploit it.”
The scientist, an astrophysicist from the University of Chicago, asked an assistant to bring before the committee a rather large globe sixteen inches in diameter, unlike [553] any they had ever seen before. Indeed, only within the last few years had the making of such a globe become possible:
 
“I helped Denoyer-Geppert in Chicago put this together. It shows the complete Moon, both hemispheres. And I want to assure you that if you were to authorize a mission that landed on this unexplored side, its intellectual returns could be tremendous. Let’s look at this well-defined area of maximum interest.
 
“Here we have the Sea of Moscow 30° north of the lunar equator. On the equator we have the fascinating crater Mendeleev, Down here the beautiful medium crater Tsiolkovsky and over here,. forming a handsome triangle, Gagarin ...”
 
“They’re all Russian names!” one of the senators said. “That’s the whole point,” Penny broke in. “We have much work to do to catch up.”
This was not entirely true, even though it was a sensible reason to place before the senators. Starting in 1962, the Americans had launched four Rangers in rapid succession to photograph the Moon, and all failed miserably: on one, the command system went haywire; on another, the television system broke down; and in two instances, the craft missed the Moon entirely, for they never left Earth orbit.
The Russians, in the meantime, had succeeded in sending their Luna spacecraft behind the Moon and photographing it in some detail, once in 1959, later in 1965, and again in 1966. It was they who uncovered for the world a vision of what the other side was like, and because of their priority, it was they who had the right to name the features.
But the Russian photographs were of poor quality and haphazard siting; it was really the later American orbiters which had provided the serious photographic mapping of the other side, so that the Chicago professor’s new globe showed Russian names on American photographs. It had been a good joint exploration, but because of American tardiness, the other side of the Moon would be forever Russian.
 
[554] “We scientists believe that if an Apollo 18 could land within that triangle of Mendeleev, Tsiolkovsky and Gagarin-[“Who in hell was Tsiolkovsky?” a senator asked. “The father of us all,” the Chicago man said. “He established the scientific principles of space flight in 1883.”] If we could land in that triangle, we could produce miracles.”
 
Penny lined up fifteen scientists to testify that an Apollo 18 flight to the other side was not only practical but obligatory, and gradually the senators began to agree with her that to leave a major exploration of the universe half-completed was imprudent. Dr. Mott, testifying for NASA, assured them that an Apollo 18 would be no more expensive than any of the preceding flights: “Less so, really, because the exploratory work on the instruments we would want to use has already been done.”
“How much would the three orbiting satellites for radio transmission cost?”
“About ten million dollars each. They’d have to be foolproof, you know.”
Now a fire of enthusiasm swept the scientific community, and support for a shot to the far side began to pour in, until Congress was forced seriously to consider what Penny Pope, the counsel for the Senate committee, called “our magnificent farewell to the Moon.” In April 1971 the final launch was authorized and some eight thousand men and women across the nation rushed to resuscitate earlier plans which had been lying dormant, and in Houston, Deke Slayton informed the press that Apollo 18 would be crewed by one of the most interesting three-man teams in the history of flight: “Flight Commander Randy Claggett of the Marines. Command module Pilot John Pope of the Navy. Lunar module Pilot Dr. Paul Linley, Professor of Geology, University of New Mexico, with a civilian pilot’s license. Dr. Linley, a graduate of DePaul and Indiana with a doctorate from Purdue, is our first black astronaut.”
 
NASA, relying upon the 17,000 close-up photographs taken by lunar orbiters, drafted a large-scale map of the Mendeleev-Tsiolkovsky-Gagarin triangle, from which technicians constructed small papier-mâché mock-ups which the three astronauts could carry with them until they were [555] as familiar with that portion of the Moon as they were with their own backyards. The simulator chief, Dracula, instructed his clever photographers and lighting experts to make television shots of the area as the astronauts would see it from their spacecraft, and these he fitted into he cameras of his landing simulators, encouraging the men to fly mission after mission into this arid rocky area.
One curious technological device enabled Dracula to produce simulations of striking effect: when a good camera dad taken a well-resolved photograph of hilly terrain, or even slightly bumpy land, a computer could look at that photograph and imagine how another camera might have photographed the identical scene if it had been stereoscopically placed in relation to the first. When the two photographs were developed and placed side by side in a stereopticon viewer, almost identical with the ones that had enchanted tea parties in the 1890s, features leaped from the flat surface, and one could see Moon rocks looming up ahead and craters and rilles.
“Watch what happens when we make a movie that way,” Dracula said with an evil leer to his assistants, and without warning the astronauts, he cranked his stereoscopic films into the Moon-landing simulator just before Claggett and Linley entered it to run through their landing one more time. Suddenly, as they approached the crater Gagarin, they saw ahead not a photograph of rocks but the actual strewn surface coming up to meet them with boulders and giant depressions. It was uncanny.
Claggett and Pope took an instant liking to Paul Linley. He was younger than they and slightly smaller, but he as lean and wonderfully coordinated. He had starred as play-making guard on DePaul’s championship five, going head-to-head with men almost a foot and a half taller. As a black he had run into some rough experiences when he served as a geologist in the Texas oil fields, but his obvious willingness to mix it up with all comers quickly established his integrity, and during NASA field trips to the arid wastes of Arizona, which had always been used to familiarize astronauts with the probable surface of the Moon, he demonstrated more raw endurance than either of his mates. NASA at last had a black man, and everyone was proud of him.
But he had much background information on the lunar [556] module to catch up on, and his study hours tended to keep him up night after night till eleven at least. He was married, had three children, but his wife realized that his obligations were too intense to permit much family life, so she stayed in Houston with the children while he thundered about the United States from one simulator to the next: in Houston, landing; at Canaveral, taking off; at MIT, managing computers. He wrote his wife: “I’m spending so much of my life in simulators at Allied Aviation, I won’t know what real living is when I see it. But I’ll always recognize your ham and lima beans, and by damn I wish I had some now.”
For Claggett and Pope, on whom the heavy burden of managing this unique flight would rest, the last months of 1971 and all of 1972 formed a period of the most intense concentration. Day after day they analyzed the terrain south of the Sea of Moscow, naming objects as small as a tennis court, constructing road maps that Pope could follow from aloft while Claggett and Linley pursued them on the surface, and gradually, as directed by a team of nineteen lunar specialists convened from NASA staff and fourteen major universities, they focused upon the exact site on which the module would land-
“You got a name for your craft yet?” Mott asked.
Claggett pointed to Pope. “He’s flyin’ it alone when we’re down on the Moon. It’s his baby.”
“Altair,” Pope said without hesitation. It had been Altair since that October night in 1944 when he first saw that perfect star in his borrowed binoculars. It was Altair when he followed that star over the night skies in Korea. It had been Altair during indoctrination in the planetarium at Fremont State. He and the star were one, and now he would take Altair aloft among the stars.
The NASA people were astounded when they asked Claggett what he would be naming the lunar module. “Luna,” he said. “The Russians got there first with their Luna, let’s pay them respect.”
Considerable opposition was voiced to this radical selection, but Mott and the other NASA types found that Claggett was immovable: “I’m riskin’ my ass in it. I’ll name it.” Pope supported him, but gave the NASA people an easy escape: “Luna’s always been the poetic name for the Moon. We don’t have to mention Russia.”
[557] “That’s okay with me,” Claggett said. “I’ll know and you’ll know and nobody else needs give a damn.”
Rachel Mott found an appropriate quotation from Virgil, “Through the friendly silence of the Moon,” and Claggett said that’s exactly what he had in mind. Soon the press was handed the details: “Apollo 18 composed of the command module Altair and the lunar module Luna will take off for a landing near the crater Gagarin in early 1973 with the crew Claggett, Pope, Linley.” The astronauts named were studying eighteen hours a day.
 
Whenever the astronauts relaxed in the Dagger Bar, they called upon Paul Linley to perform a vaudeville act, which delighted the customers and even caused the newsmen to applaud. With the most beguiling body movements he walked into a space between the tables and announced himself as the head cheerleader of the Albuquerque Technological Institution, and with a riotous zoot-suit vocabulary, explained how there had been racial tension at good old ATI, where the eleven basketball players were black and the twelve cheerleaders white:
 
“Problem solved by our pres-ee-dent, Lucullus Beauregard of South Carolina, a wily cat who suggested that I be assigned to the cheerleading squad and his nephew Robert E. Lee Beauregard to the basketball team.”
 
He then gave a demonstration of how Robert E. Lee, five feet ten, defended against Kareem Jabbar, seven feet two, but quickly he turned to his own performance as cheerleader, at the end of which he enlisted everyone in the bar to help him spell out the victory howl of Albuquerque Technological Institution.
He started briskly with “Gimme an A”-at which everyone bellowed “A.” “Gimme an L.”
By the time he reached the spelling of Technological, he lost all control, throwing in frenzied K’s and Q’s. Abruptly he stopped to tell his audience, “President Beauregard warned me that I had to spell it right at least one time in four, and when I asked why, he said, ‘Because my faculty can’t spell it either, and I want ‘em to learn.’ ” When he launched into Institution he quietly transformed [558] himself into a wizened old man, calling feebly, “Gimme another of those damned T’s,” until toward the end he slipped out a white wig, jammed it on his palsied head, sank to the floor, and whispered, “Gimme that good old final N.”
When he rose exhausted, he gasped, “Next time I’m gonna be cheerleader at Yale.”
CBS wanted to televise the whole performance, but Tucker Thompson vetoed that in a hurry: “Can’t you see his act has racial overtones?” And Linley said with a straight face, “I often wondered about that.”
 
It was Dr. Mott who first noticed that Captain Pope was doing rather more work than necessary, or at best prudent, considering the problems of health. When he saw John hunched over a desk at eleven-thirty one night he asked, “What’s up?” and he found that Pope had been writing out on small sheets of flimsy but fire-resistant paper procedures which he would put into effect in every conceivable type of emergency.
“But they’re all in the handbooks,” Mott said.
“I want them up here,” Pope replied, tapping his forehead.
“You can’t burden yourself with that much detail.”
“That’s why I’m writing them down.”
“But they are written down.”
“Not till I write them.”
Mott asked Dr. Feldman if he had noticed Pope tightening up, and Feldman said, “He’s always tightened up. That’s the definition of a straight arrow.”
“Is it necessary?”
“He thinks so, and that’s what matters.”
“Well, I-”
Feldman interrupted: “The time can come in any mission when one man’s right actions will make all the difference. Iron will. Coupled with the proper hours in the simulators. Those little pieces of paper are Pope’s simulators. Let him go.”
But Mott observed a growing testiness in the astronaut, and when he reached Houston he suggested that Pope be summoned back from Canaveral and be given some rest and recuperation. The wisdom of this recommendation was so obvious that NASA directed Pope to join Timothy Bell [559] in an inspection of work being done by Allied Aviation in Los Angeles: “And we suggest that instead of flying a T-38 west, you travel by commercial airline and get some relaxation.” Pope, acknowledging at last that he might be approaching battle fatigue, counter-proposed that instead of flying, he and Penny drive across country, something they loved to do, and NASA assented.
When Pope informed the crowd at the Bali Hai what he and Penny were about to do, Tim Bell asked to ride along, but John demurred: “Three on a honeymoon, never works.”
“But I’d bring Cluny.”
“Would she want to spend that much time?” And with the perception that marked most of what Pope did, he added, “You remember, the Mercury’s a convertible.”
“If it rains, you put the top up, don’t you?” Bell argued so persuasively that Pope told him to go ahead and phone Cluny to see if she was interested, and Bell described the trip so glowingly that she flew in to join them. Twisting her pretty head this way and that as she tried to visualize what the five hurried days would be like, she had the good sense to decline: “I’m sure I wouldn’t like it.” But when she saw her husband’s disappointment, she added, “But you go, Tim.”
“It’s a kind of honeymoon for the Popes. They won’t take me alone.”
“How will you go if I don’t come along?”
“I’d fly out later in a T-38.”
“Alone?” she had an intuitive fear of this sensitive plane that had already killed two other astronauts, and her apprehension showed.
“I enjoy flying that plane,” Bell said honestly, for the swift courier was a joy when handled with respect.
No. I’ll drive out with you,” she said, and her husband, trying to be fair, said, “You know the Popes have a convertible.”
“I’d like that.” And so the trip was arranged, but when Penny heard the details before flying down from Washington to join the safari, she asked over the phone, “Are you sure, John, that you want to take her with us on so long a trip?”
“The Bells are fun. He’s a prime mover.”
“I know he is. But I wonder if she’ll fit in.”
[560] Cluny certainly did not fit into the Mercury convertible, or any other. If the top was down, she insisted on riding front seat so the wind wouldn’t blow her hair, but if it was raised, as it tended to be when late afternoons grew cool, she wanted a window halfway down so she could breathe, then complained that her hair was still being blown.
Things had started badly on the first day, for the Popes wanted to leave Cape Canaveral at 0400, as usual, but thanks to Cluny’s unwillingness to rise early, they could not start west until 0900, by which time John had expected to be three hundred miles on the way.
She absolutely demanded that they stop for lunch, and by six she was whining that “if we don’t find a motel soon, we might never find one.”
“Haven’t you ever slept in a car?” Penny asked.
“Certainly not!”
“Try it, you’ll like it.”
Cluny interpreted this correctly as a flip attack upon her, and while she did not complain to her husband, he knew that she had tensed up and would soon become unmanageable, so he supported her plea that they find a motel, and quickly.
Since it was only 1730, John pointed out, accurately, “We have four more hours of driving, Cluny.”
“And no motel when we stop.”
“We always find something.”
The statement terrified her, for she could visualize them knocking about some grubby Alabama town and settling at last upon a dirty boardinghouse or a totally unacceptable hotel. “I want to find our place while it’s still light,” she said firmly, so to John Pope’s disgust and his wife’s amazement, he pulled into a clean, modern motel that satisfied all of Cluny’s demands. It was 1733-half past five civilian time-and they had covered 316.3 miles instead of the more than twice that which the Popes were accustomed to do in a day.
They ate a leisurely dinner, each bite of which gagged Penny Pope, who warned the Bells as everyone went to bed, “Tomorrow, 0400. Sharp.”
This was agreed, but in the morning it proved impossible for Cluny to rise, shower, dress, make up and fix her hair till 0730, and then she refused to start until she had her cup of hot coffee: “It’s uncivilized to travel on an empty [561] stomach. “Their caravan hit the road at 0614 and John Pope was livid.
It was the business with the map that started him plotting as to how he might escape from this disaster. When he and Penny roared across country it was their delight from time to time to use lesser roads and to make excursions to spots they had always heard of but never seen, and they never allowed their headlong flight to prevent them from enjoying themselves.
Now, although they were only in western Alabama when they should have been leaving Mississippi, Penny wanted to see Mobile and its bay, important in the War of 1812 and in the Civil War. Normally, if John had been driving, she would have been riding shotgun with the map on her knees, and she was expert in identifying alternate roads of promise: “Turn left at the fork. Looks like a great trail beside the river.” Quite often she would have made a disappointing guess, so she would cry, “Let’s try the next road to the right. It’s got to get us back to Route 10 one way or another.”
On this day, because the top was down, Cluny Bell sat beside John as he sped the Mercury along minor roads, so it was she who held the map, and this was a disaster. For the wind made it difficult to keep the map in order, and when John did show her how to fold it, she could make absolutely nothing out of east or west, north or south. Once when he demanded in a hurry to know whether he must turn right or left at the next crossroads, she wailed, “How do I know?”
“It’s on the map,” he said curtly, and when she proved incapable of even guessing where they were, he grabbed the map abruptly, consulted it for less than five seconds, jabbed at it with his finger, and snapped, “There. It’s very clear.” She did not break into tears, but she almost did. It was curious, thought Penny in the back seat. American culture is based on the automobile, and any young man of promise is going to own one and want to travel great distances in it. Consequently, any young woman of aspiration should expect to spend most of her vacations in a car, probing into unfamiliar corners. She is not required to know how to drive-Cluny doesn’t-but she will certainly be expected to read the road map while her husband drives, and if she can’t, or if she’s abnormally slow [562] in giving him help, she’s bound to cause trouble. Therefore, you’d think that colleges which train the bright young women who’re going to marry the bright young men who are going to own the Cadillacs that roar back and forth across this continent would teach the girls to read maps. None do. They teach a hundred other useless things, but never a word about the one that will cause the greatest friction.
“Can’t you see where the road joins Route 65?” John asked plaintively.
“The map is going north,” Cluny said, “and we’re going south.” And it was only when she said this that John realized she was powerless to imagine how the map worked, or how one intuitively corrected for east and west regardless of orientation, or how one extrapolated information or calculated distances. The totality of America lay unfolded on Cluny’s knees, and she was unable to decipher a single element of it.
“Better give the map to Penny,” John said compassionately.
“I never wanted it in the first place.”
“If we drove a couple of hours after supper, which I like to do,” John informed his passengers, “we could probably reach the Mississippi ...”
“I think we should start looking for a good motel pretty soon,” Cluny said, and again the battle was joined. This time Penny supported her husband in his desire to reach the Mississippi, but Cluny created such a scene of petulant anxiety that her husband had to support her. They stopped at 1723, an ungodly hour when three hundred miles could be added to the log, and although Pope laid down the law at dinner-“We leave tomorrow at 0400 or we’ll never reach California”-they actually left at 0752.
What was more infuriating, when they stopped for lunch Cluny spotted a hairdresser’s, and before anyone could stop her she had left the group and dropped in for a quick set to repair the damages caused by the windy convertible. She reappeared fifty minutes later, and at 1730 that afternoon began to whimper about a good motel, so they stopped.
As was customary on such cross-country trips, John Pope awakened at 0330 and did the isometric exercises which kept him trim, but as he did so, Penny wakened, too, and after lying silent for a few minutes, she whispered, [563] “This trip is a disaster. And it gets worse every hour.”
“I have never struck a woman ...” He did not finish his statement, but he did turn on the light, and when he saw their clothes lying on the floor, waiting to be jumped into, and the minute hand of his chronograph climbing toward 0400, he turned and looked intently at his wife.
It was she who spoke: “We could, you know.”
“It’s the only sensible thing to do,” her husband said.
In a flash they were out of bed and in their traveling clothes. “How much money have you?” John asked.
“In traveler’s checks I have-”
“I mean cash.” Between them they could scrape up $143.55, of which they must withhold $20 for gasoline to be purchased before places would be open to cash their checks.
They took the $123.55 and placed it in a motel envelope, which they addressed “The Bells, Room 117,” and this they intended jamming under the door of their companions’ room, but at the last moment John felt that some statement was essential, so on a clean sheet of paper he wrote:
 
Dear Tim and Cluny,
 
Obviously this isn’t going to work. Here is all the cash we have. It will get you to the nearest NASA installation. See you at Allied Aviation.
All the best,
Penny and John
 
As soon as they were safely on Highway 10, roaring west toward Louisiana, John at the wheel, Penny with the map across her knees, they broke into joyous song:
 
“Bring me my Bow of burning gold:
Bring me my Arrows of desire:
Bring me my Spear: O clouds unfold!
Bring me my Chariot of fire.
 
No reference to this incident was ever made by either of the two astronauts. Tim Bell realized that his partner Pope had faced a problem and had done what was required, honestly and without hesitation; in a similar circumstance he would probably have done the same. At Allied Aviation [564] the two men worked together effectively, and once or twice they caught sight of Penny Pope performing her inspections for the Space Committee. The two couples did not dine together, but when they met at the hotel provided by Allied, they were reserved and courteous.
They could not escape having a goodbye lunch with General Funkhauser, who was in charge of Allied-NASA relations, a two-billion-dollar windfall for his company. He was expansive as he presided in the company dining room.
“This is abalone,” he said in his attractively accented English. “In Germany, I had never heard of it. And this is Oregon duckling, which I hadn’t heard of either.” He spoke revealingly of what Allied proposed to do about an instrument of radical new design that could walk on the Moon. “One-sixth gravity permits us to do wonders. Better than an automobile. Lighter than a baby carriage. Hermann Oberth always told us, ‘Your imagination must live, yes, in one-sixth gravity.’ ”
There was an embarrassing moment when he asked the astronauts how they were returning to Cape Canaveral, for Pope said bluntly, “Penny and I are driving.”
“Can you take so much time away from Washington?” Funkhauser asked. He had been especially solicitous of Mrs. Pope, anticipating the day when her committee might want to investigate the Allied-NASA contracts. They were honest, he felt sure, but they were also very favorable to the company, and if they were ever reviewed by the Senate, he knew that he would be expected to defend them, since senators listened to generals.
“And you?” Funkhauser asked the Bells.
“I’ll ask your secretary to get us a Transportation Request from the NASA office. Fly back commercial.”
“You cannot leave Allied on a commercial plane,” Funkhauser snorted. “You and Mrs. Bell will fly back in my jet.” And it was so arranged.
On the return trip in the convertible-never less than seven hundred miles a day-the Popes discussed their ungallant behavior toward the Bells, and whereas John was inclined to feel ashamed, his wife refused to be apologetic. “We have only so many trips across this great country. To allow two of them to be ruined would be craven.”
“But one of these days I may have to fly with Tim.”
[565] “He’ll think more of you for your courage in handling this problem.”
“And I’ll be more attentive to him, after treating him so badly.”
“John! Stop blaming yourself! You and I do fine work for this nation. More than any other couple I know. We’re entitled to get up at four and drive till ten, if we want to.”
They always preferred the eastbound trip, for then in the early evening they could watch the new stars rise from the horizon and climb toward the apex. It was exciting to see the summer stars coming at them in grand array: Vega, Deneb, Altair.
“It’s very strange,” he told Penny as they climbed through the Rockies. “Every chart advises the beginner to identify these three stars in relationship to each other. I can never find Vega. Not until I see those four little stars to the north. Head of the Dragon. Whenever I spot that parallelogram I know where I am.” She could not even see it.
Capricorn appeared and the Great Square of Pegasus, and John wanted to drive all night, to see the stars climb up at him as he had come to know them on the plains of Fremont, and the battlefields of Korea, and the hilltops at Boulder. “We wouldn’t have to drive too long before the blazing constellations start to appear,” he told Penny.
“Why not?” she said. It would be about three hours before Capella and the Pleiades and the Bull, so John suggested that they drive off the main road and catch a couple of hours sleep, and in the high country they found a meadow set down between tall peaks, and there they slept, huddled under coats, John in the front seat, Penny in the back.
They had no trouble in waking, and when they resumed their trip eastward at three in the morning, Orion and the Twins and the Dog were preparing to greet them, and as night faded and the Rockies gave way to vast and empty plains and the brilliant stars left the heavens, John said, “Why don’t we push right on to Fremont?” They did, arriving there exhausted in late afternoon.
Dr. Pope hurried home from the drugstore, and the Hardestys came from across the railroad tracks for a celebratory supper, but the younger Popes were too tired to enjoy it. They went to bed early, but at 0400 they were in the convertible heading east across the Missouri River, and as they sped once more into the path of the morning [566] stars Penny caught a slight glimpse of what it meant to be an aviator or an astronaut.
“You fly toward the stars, don’t you?”
“And sometimes away from them, but always in relation to where they are,” and for the first time she sensed what the ancient Assyrians had known and the men at Stonehenge and Albert Einstein: that man and all his doings and his Earth and his Sun and his Galaxy are held in interlocking responsibilities which operate beyond the farthest reaches of the mind.
 
John Pope was working at Cape Canaveral on a computer to be used in the next flight, and Penny was in Washington organizing a meeting of the Space Committee, on the day when Tim Bell, returning from a contractors’ meeting in Wichita, flew his T-38 into a radio tower in Cincinnati, where he was stopping for fuel. His plane exploded and burned so furiously that it could almost be said there was no corpse.
Word was flashed to NASA headquarters in Houston and from there immediately to Cape Canaveral and to the Space Committee in Washington, so that John and Penny heard the desolating news at about the same time. Each could guess what the other must feel, but Penny could not know that the local command had directed John to rush down to Cocoa Beach to inform Cluny Bell of her husband’s death.
“I don’t think I’m the man,” Pope said.
“It can be no one else,” the administrator said, for in NASA it was obligatory that a fellow astronaut be the one to inform a widow of tragedy. No clergyman, no reporter, no sobbing woman television star and no front-office administrator would do. An astronaut had died in line of duty, and another astronaut would carry the fatal news.
A police escort was assigned to lead him south to the Bell cottage before any news flash could alert the widow, but when John heard the sirens wailing he pushed the Mercury ahead, and signaling to the men, he yelled, “Turn those things off when we reach the Beach.”
“Roger,” one of the policemen said, and they entered the little town in silence; but knowing persons could guess that some tragedy had occurred, and wives started telephoning to be sure it wasn’t their husband.
[567] Pope signaled for the escort to leave him when he approached the lane on which the Bell cottage stood, and he parked his car some distance from it. Leaving the convertible, he walked slowly toward the front door, saying to himself, “Pull it together, buster.” And he tightened his gut.
He knocked on the door, and when he heard sounds inside-children playing and the movement of feet-he wanted to flee in terror, but he muttered again, “Not now, you bastard.”
The door opened. Cluny, with curlers in her blond hair and an apron about her waist, took one despairing look at Pope, then asked, “Is it Tim?”
“It is, Cluny.”
For one endless moment she stood there, no expression on her face. Then she slowly collapsed, as if all the muscles and joints of her body had been removed. Pope caught her, and for a few seconds she rested in his arms.
“Mommy, Mommy? What is it?” a child asked.
John felt her strength returning, and he watched as she left him and went to her three children. Gathering them to her, she started to speak, but no words came, and she turned pitifully to Pope, who took the children from her. When she saw them leave, as if they were permanently departing, she realized what a terrible blow had struck these little ones and she uttered a penetrating scream.
At this moment Tucker Thompson walked into the room, and with a sensitivity and control that amazed Pope, took over. Quietly he assured Cluny that everything would be handled as she directed; he helped her to a sofa and asked if she wanted some brandy, which he had brought with him. He then attended to the children, telling them honestly, “Your father will not be here. You must take great care of your mother,” and he placed them beside her.
“Pope,” he snapped at John, who stood bewildered, “we’ve got to get her out of here before the press gets the word. Is your wife down here?”
“She isn’t. But Debby Dee is three blocks down the road.”
“Walk. Don’t run. Have Deb prepare everything, and I’ll be there with Cluny in five minutes.” When John left, Tucker was gathering the children’s clothes.
Penny flew down, of course, and so did the other [568] husbands and wives. It was a somber funeral, with the four young astronauts in their military uniforms and medals. General Funkhauser came to pay tribute to Allied Aviation’s finest test pilot, and administrators from NASA paid their astronaut high honor. Tucker Thompson irritated some of the press by keeping them away from Cluny Bell and the children, but he was in no way obtrusive, insisting that even the Folks photographers operate from a distance; since he had provided them with high-powered Japanese telephoto lenses, they had no difficulties.
And when the funeral was over, and the lease on the cottage terminated, and the wreckage of the T-38 removed from the field at Cincinnati, the same miracle that had embraced Inger Jensen when her husband died came consolingly to Cluny Bell. Divorced test pilots and widowed military aviators started dropping by Houston to see how Tim Bell’s three kids were doing, and after one such visit Debby Dee Claggett had a long talk with Cluny: “Marry the sonnombeech. Don’t be like Inger, wasting your life in a library somewheres. You got a lot more to take care of than books.”
Cluny was vulnerable, and alone, and very beautiful, and it did not matter if she was flighty and could not read a map or a bank statement. She and her children needed help and they needed it now. Not six months had passed before she took Debby Dee’s advice and told an Air Force major she would marry him. The family moved back to Edwards, where she remembered many people from the days when Tim Bell had tested planes there, and where her new husband would be doing similar work for the next four years.
 
The essence of any NASA job was travel, and Stanley Mott was working with Boeing in Seattle when he received urgent instructions to fly immediately to Miami, where Mrs. Mott would meet him in the public terminal. When he hurried up to her she was in the company of a tall man in his fifties, who said, “Hello, Mott. I’m Harry Conable, lawyer.”
“For what?”
“For your son Christopher. He’s been caught with a very unsavory group. Almost a ton of marijuana.”
“Oh my God!” Mott had been aware for some years of [569] the ugly drift into which his younger son’s life had fallen, one damaging incident after another, starting in grammar school and continuing through the unsatisfactory half-year he was in college. There had never been any one act which by itself indicated criminality, but taken together they gave evidence of a young man sadly disoriented and heading for big trouble. During one miserable four-month period he had associated himself with a neo-Nazi group in Maryland and had been photographed in white robes without a hood, burning a cross on the lawn of a Jewish residence near the university, and from that escapade he disappeared into the desert in Arizona, where he underwent paramilitary training for soldier-of-fortune recruitment against the new black governments of Africa.
In all of this sorry rebellion against his parents and their society Chris had avoided serious confrontation with the police, but now a prison sentence loomed, as Conable explained: “The magnitude of this operation can’t be ignored. The government thinks the marijuana came into Florida by small speedboat from Mexico. At any rate, it found its way to Miami, probably brought here by your son and two others, and now it’s in a federal warehouse.”
“Is it considered a drug? I mean in Florida?”
“It sure is.”
Mott retrieved his baggage from the conveyor and walked soberly to Conable’s car, listening attentively as the lawyer spelled out his plans for the trial: “I can’t advise your son to plead guilty, although I’m sure he is.”
“Why not?” Mott asked. “If Christopher has done this criminal thing ...”
“Because I believe his relative youth-he’s only twenty-one Mrs. Mott tells me.”
“Twenty-two,” Mott said.
“I think we can prove something like stupid involvement with older men.”
“Was that the case?” Mott asked.
Mr. Conable was driving, his eyes straight ahead, watching for the turnoff from the airport where he would deposit the ten-cent toll. “Your son is a very difficult type, Dr. Mott. Two more years of this, he’s going to be a criminal.”
“Oh God.”
“In the long run it might be best if we let him go to jail [570] now. I could arrange a short tern:, I’m sure. Might scare the hell out of him.” The Motts did not respond to this, so he added, “But I have a low opinion of Florida jails. I think we must get him off if we possibly can.”
Next morning he took them to see Christopher in the lawyer’s room at the jail, and when the Motts saw their handsome son and visualized him as a young instructor in some good college, tall and straight and clean, they lowered their heads. Chris was not repentant: “Mary-Jane’s no drug. This country is off its rocker.” He would make no concessions, refused to cooperate in his own defense. Stanley Mott wanted to shake him, Rachel Mott longed to take him in her arms-but seeing the anger in his father’s eyes, the love in his mother’s, he rebuffed them both.
The judge, witnessing the same recalcitrant behavior in court, listened patiently to the arguments of Mr. Conable, then sentenced the young man to six months in jail.
The Motts rented a car and drove north to the Bali Hai at Cocoa Beach, where they sought consolation with their NASA friends. Mr. and Mrs. Quint said that they saw a good many families in Florida with sons like Christopher: “And there isn’t a hell of a lot you can do about them.” They told of friends of theirs who had a son who began to steal cars at the age of nine. Couldn’t keep his hands off them. Parents tried and tried to reason with him, so did the judges. One morning at six he came to this motel, stole the car of a man from Wisconsin, drove up the highway at a hundred and ten, and killed himself.
“And you know,” Mrs. Quint said, “not a soul in this town mourned that boy’s passing, not even his own parents. We were just glad he didn’t take some innocent person to death with him.”
The Motts were hiding in the Bali Hai, trying to comprehend what had happened to Christopher, when NASA called from Washington with news of an assignment that would determine the general emphasis of Dr. Mott’s obligations for his remaining years with the agency: “We want you to familiarize yourself with the Mars project and become our contact with the media.” Mott was elated, for this was a logical step toward his permanent interests, the outer galaxies. For some years NASA scientists had been endeavoring to photograph the planet, and no [571] mission evoked a deeper emotional response among professional astrophysicists. From the days of the Assyrians the somber red planet had tantalized astronomers, and Mott could recall vividly how as a boy he had devoured Percival Lowell’s remarkable 1906 book Mars and Its Canals.
“You know that Professor Lowell is the brother of Amy, the one who wrote poetry and smoked cigars?” his mother had said when she found him reading the advanced book.
Mott had been no child genius; like his astronauts, he had matured slowly but with great sturdiness, but as soon as he saw Lowell’s intricate maps of what he called “The canals” he began to suspect that the whole design was nonsense. Later, when he learned that Lowell had mistranslated the Italian astronomer Schiaparelli’s word canali (which the latter had used to mean channels that might have been cut by rivers or casual floodwaters) into the much stronger word canals, which would have had to be cut purposefully by sentient beings of some kind, he knew that Lowell was spouting nonsense.
Nevertheless, he asked the Newton librarian to borrow Lowell’s later book from the Harvard library, Mars as the Abode of Life, and read with disbelief as the author constructed a fantasy world of agriculture and oases and cities and canals thousands of miles long bringing water down from the melting polar ice caps. He decided then, on the basis of everything else he read, that Mars was probably uninhabited, and when he found a chance to look at the red planet through a Harvard telescope, he was satisfied that his first judgment was correct. Mars was a dead planet, and when his schoolboy friends offered him their copies of the Edgar Rice Burroughs yarn about the beautiful princesses who inhabited Mars, he said, “No, thanks.”
He had been amused, that time in the hospital, to find that about half the science-fiction tales brought by Claggett dealt with missions to Mars, the ones most worthy of study being those by Jules Verne and Arthur C. Clarke. Most of them had described the beings living on Mars, even the poetic masterpieces of Stanley G. Weinbaum, but the dazzling photographs from Mariner 4 showed him a bleak and barren terrain, and he concluded that the writers had been indulging in the lovely, forgivable dreams of childhood.
[572]He was excited when the NASA high command told him: “Mariner 4 did brilliant work, but it was merely a fly-by. Took only what shots it could catch on the wing. Mariner 9 will be an orbiter. Photograph the entire planet in high resolution.” And when he reported to the launch pad at Canaveral and saw the sleek, powerful rocket with the rather small spacecraft perched atop, he wondered at the skill of his associates in building a device which could transmit photographs over a vast distance. Depending upon where Mars and Earth were in their respective orbits, this distance could vary from as much as 249,000,000 miles to as little as 34,000,000. For this shot the mileage would be 75,000,000.
It was a hot morning at the end of May when the rocket fired and the Mariner soared high over the Atlantic to a trajectory that would carry it, after one hundred and sixty-eight days, to Mars, and as it disappeared high in the heavens, its trail still blazing, Mott thought: Our astronauts are rather glib in stating they’re ready to take the next Apollo to Mars. I wonder if they make adequate calculations? For a trip to Mars the spacecraft would have to be bigger, but that presents no problems, because in space an object weighing fifty tons moves at the same speed as one weighing fifty ounces. But up and back at the present state of the art, plus time to explore the surface, might take as long as three years, and I wonder if three men could survive with only dehydrated food and a bungee cord to exercise their legs?
While the Mariner was on its lonely way to the planet, he had more than five months to acquaint himself with the elegant system whereby the photographs would be returned to Earth, and when he dug in at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory in Pasadena he found that he had to unlearn a great deal of what he thought he knew. Marvin Template, a twenty-three-year-old bearded wizard in blue jeans, became his teacher:
 
“Knock the words camera and photograph out of your mind. I don’t like to use either because they confuse thinking. With us it’s scanner and picture. The scanner bears little relation to a camera. It’s a device which points at a subject, breaks it down into little [573] squares. They’re called pixels, from picture elements. The scanner detects with its magic eye the relative value from perfect black to perfect white of each pixel.
 
“It can differentiate 256 gradations of grayness from 000, which is total black, to 255, total white. And how does the scanner send its judgment to us down here on Earth? In binary computer language, each ‘word’ consisting of eight bits, 0 or 1. Thus a pixel might be reported as having a gray value of 227, and we would receive something like 11100011.
 
“At top speed the scanner can send us 44,800 of these bits every second. Yes, I said second. During its entire stay aloft it’ll send us 350 billion bits of information at the relaxed rate of 29,900 bits a second, day and night.”
 
Mott, having learned a great deal about computers at Cal Tech, was prepared to accept Template’s bizarre figures, but he did want to see a mock-up of the scanner that could perform these miracles, and when he had one in his hands he could scarcely believe that an instrument so small and so insignificant in appearance could do so much. It resembled a tiny one-gun turret on a battleship; a protruding eye, a traverse gearing, a lot of connecting wires, and it could be activated by radio over a distance of 75,000,000 miles. After he had taken the practice scanner apart and reassembled it, he felt that he had a preliminary knowledge of what was about to take place.
But it was what happened to the flood of information when it reached California that enchanted him, and he spent the better part of four months receiving data from other spacecraft and transmuting the bytes (groups of eight bits) into pictures, always under the meticulous supervision of Marvin Template. Once Mott said to him, “Considering what you do, Template, somebody gave you a most appropriate name.”
“That’s just what we do down here. We set up a template, 832 pixels by 700 and this becomes the base on which we construct our picture, 582,400 pixels in all.” With a battery of sophisticated machines he demonstrated the miracles he could perform using these data:
 
[574] “As each byte for this pixel arrives from Mars, them-, machine will apply the appropriate amount of grayness. And watch! As we fill in the empty spaces, the picture begins to grow, like a flower coming into bloom at the edge of a marsh.”
 
The process was quiet, mysterious and wonderful, a blank sheet of paper springing to life as if some master artist were slowly applying his brush in the creation of a masterpiece, but what Template could do with the finished work astounded Mott:
 
“Now the wonder-working begins! We have this completed picture, but if we find that our scanner has not used very frequently the dark degrees 000 to 048, or the light ones from 241 to 255, we can direct it to ignore those outer edges and redistribute the remaining 193 good numbers along the entire scale of 000 to 255. This makes the central values much more discriminative.
 
“But that’s only the beginning. With the purified data stored in our system, we can play the game of What if? What if the scanner was tilted to one side so that all values above 55 were skewed toward the dark end of the palette? We command the computer to unskew them, and we get this improved result.
 
“What if the scanner saw everything three levels too bright? We tell the computer to make the correction. What if the right-hand edge of the scanner consistently gave darker values than proper? We lighten up only that edge. And best of all, what if we are interested only in the central block of 40 pixels by 40? We can direct the computer to hold those values, ignore all others, and distribute these 1,600 little squares across the entire 000-255 spectrum, and we get a close-up that really shows something.”
 
When Mott made himself familiar with what this amazing device, half in the heavens, half in California, could produce, he spent hours at the receiving console, playing God with the data being sent in by different satellites, and he became quite proficient at the game of What if?, cutting [575] away unwanted pixels, intensifying, others, and rebuilding whatever portion of the universe the scanner had been studying.
And just when he had convinced himself that he understood what was about to happen at Mars, the JPL men reminded him of a phrase he had often heard but never really comprehended: “You can’t play What if? if you’re operating in real time.” He asked what the men meant by real time, and they explained:
 
“We’ll get data from Mars in two forms. When it comes directly to us as the scanner picks it up, that’s real time. Or the scanner can acquire such a flood of information, it can’t possibly transmit it instantaneously, so it puts it on tape and later on, when we’re not so busy, we signal the tape to unload what it’s accumulated. That’s delayed time. Handling a project becomes a nice problem in adjusting our use of real time and delayed time.”
 
Mott saw the fallacy in this: “But if it takes a message from Mars six minutes and forty-four seconds to reach us, we can never operate in real time.”
“Wrong. Real time means that you handle the data as soon as it comes under your control. You’re not expected to be a psychic genius, anticipating what’s going to arrive. If we ever get to Saturn, the time required for receiving data will be about ninety minutes, but if we go right to work, we’ll still be in real time.”
It’s much like a human life, Mott reflected as Mariner drew ever closer to Mars. A man spends his youth accumulating data, billions of bits, and some he must handle to real time, some he stores in his computer for later inspection. And balance in life consists of handling in real time those problems which cannot be delayed, then recalling more significant data during periods of reflection, when long-term decisions can be developed. And as we grow older we recall great segments of experience, deriving such lessons from them as our personal computers are able to decipher.
He built an imposing analogy, quite beautiful really, until he almost broke into tears: But what in the name of mercy had happened to Christopher? That he failed to [576] accumulate the data?” Or lacked the skill to recall and reorganize it when needed?
In his grief he compared Chris with his other son, Millard, a fugitive in Canada: Very confusing data had flooded in upon Millard, but damn it all, he had organized it, and concluded: “I’m thus and so and that’s it”-and he’s handled himself as well as I have. But then his thoughts reverted to Chris, and he was sitting with his hands over his eyes when Template, about the age of his sons and already the master of profound knowledge, asked, “Are you sick, Dr. Mott?” and Stanley wanted to cry out, “I am sick at heart,” but he merely shook his head, so Template said “I want to show you what else we can do ... quite miraculous,” and he took Mott to a new machine:
 
“This one works with a special scanner that sends us three distinct indications of value for every pixel. That means, for a complete picture, it sends us 13,977,600 bits in about 5.2 minutes.
 
“What it’s doing is sending us a color picture, but we can’t be sure what color. So we say that one of the sets represents the red portion of the spectrum, one the yellow, and one the green. We could use any three other colors, but these give us good results. And when we print the three color sheets and combine them ... ‘Voilà!’ ”
 
He showed Mott a dazzling color picture of the Earth as seen through the eye of a scanner and corrected by Template in his game of What if? It was so majestic, so much a sphere whirling in distant space that no one could see it without acquiring a deeper reverence for his planet, and he recalled Claggett’s experience with the flat-worlders in Iowa: “If a man wasn’t a trained observer, he might be deceived by this picture.”
Template said, “The colors we finally select aren’t arbitrary. We look at the object visually through our telescopes to determine what the color seems to be. We use the spectroscope to establish an objective definition.” He hesitated, then chuckled. “And we guess a lot. But in the end we balance out the three sets of values, and as I said, ‘Voilà!’ ”
When Mariner 9 reached Mars on 13 November 1972 [577] the NASA men were appalled by what the incoming photographs revealed, for they revealed nothing. Mars was engulfed in a vast planet-wide dust storm which obscured everything. The fragile little craft had negotiated millions of miles, only to be defeated by howling storms more comprehensive than any the Earth knew. For nearly two months Mariner obediently kept watch on its obscured planet, producing nothing, but in mid-January the dust began to settle and it looked as if this flight might produce results.
“Tomorrow,” Mott assured the press, and when they reminded him, “You said that before,” he said, “This time Mars will cooperate. It’s calling in its storm clouds.” And next day men watched in awe as the data began to filter in and the top row of pixels assumed their designated shades of gray.
Volcanoes began to emerge, three times higher than any mountain on Earth, and great deep canyons that could have reached from Boston to San Diego, hiding the Earth’s Grand Canyon in one shallow rift. The scarred face showed where asteroidal fragments had bombarded the surface in times past, and the desolate, cruel beauty of the vast plains reinforced Mott’s doubt that anyone in recent times had lived there, or grown vegetables or tended cattle.
The pictures that mysteriously effloresced from the pixels were forbidding yet magnificent, and as they glowed from the machines the planet Mars seemed to enter the laboratory, and the enchanting speculations of the Italian Schiaparelli with his canali and the American Lowell with his canals vanished the way dew departs with morning sunlight. Long shelves of romances dealing with Martian kings and battles slipped into honorable retirement, making way for the detailed maps and geological surveys of actual rocks and strata that would now replace them. The old Mars was dead, a splendid new one was being born.
The effect on Mott could not have been predicted. He had taken man’s exploration of the Moon in stride, because his long speculative apprenticeship at Langley had prepared him for its reality, and the other events of the 1960s had borne no surprises, since he had anticipated such accomplishments back in the 1950s. He had come within a few weeks of being the first to throw a satellite into orbit, and everything after that followed inevitably. “Of course [578] men will walk on the Moon,” he had assured Rachel years ago, so that when it happened it was an aftermath. Besides, the Moon was only a few hundred thousand miles away.
But to travel to Mars, 75,000,000 miles distant, to penetrate its secrets with a scanner, and then perhaps to go to Saturn, nearly a billion miles more distant, and see its surface, too, and its many moons, was so grand an accomplishment that he was awestruck. This was man knocking on the door of infinity, and he was honored that he had been allowed to be even a humble part of it.
Unhappiness over his sons, the deaths of the two astronauts with whom he had been associated-even these defeats could not diminish the triumph of sending that small messenger to Mars and receiving in return such a wealth of mind-shattering information. On his way back from the JPL to the motel he looked at the stars and felt them to be infinitely closer; they were no longer dots of light gleaming at immense distances; they were now real burning entities, incandescent torches scattered through the Galaxy, and some, like the Sun, perhaps had planets, and of those random planets-billions of them in space-one or two, or a million or two million, might have sentient beings living on them.
“You out there!” Mott called to the stars. “We have taken our first steps!”
 
In later years Dr. Strabismus often referred to the moment when he first caught a clear vision of the path ahead, and he spoke of it in the exaggerated rural illiterate lingo he had cultivated beginning in 1976:
 
“It was a misty day in December 1972. I was a-drivin’ home from visitin’ the sick and the road was long and dusty, so I turned on my radd-eeo and there I hear this voice a-comin’ at me and it was the voice of God, speakin’ through the agency of a ministerman from Georgia, and it spoke of revelation and salvation, and I knowed then it was a-speakin’ personally to me.”
 
What Leopold Strabismus, president of the University of Space and Aviation, heard that morning was the [579] syndicated broadcast of a radio minister who spoke with fantastic speed for his allotted time, during which he solicited funds four times, and the man was so effective, so overwhelmingly convincing in his sincerity, that Strabismus was captivated. For several weeks thereafter he sought out these religious services on the radio, studied the charismatic ministers on television, and even drove long distances across Los Angeles to hear the better local evangelists in person.
He would sit in the back of their mean storefront churches and mutter to himself, “With proper management, this man could have himself a temple,” and he would devise the strategies whereby this could be accomplished. What impressed him most, however, was the fanatic loyalty he witnessed in the congregations; these people, hungry for leadership and moral direction, gave not only their money but their whole affection to the ministers, and Strabismus realized that the two forces taken in union-pastor and flock-represented a burgeoning power in American life of which he had been ignorant.
He had known, of course, that established religions like Methodism and Catholicism exercised power in the American system, just as the Orthodox rabbis of his mother’s religion exerted leadership among the Jews of New York, but he had not realized that congruent with these known religions ran this substratum of storefront belief, and of the two types he suspected that the latter was the stronger.
In later days he would tell his congregations that his conversion occurred on that dusty road from San Bernardino; it actually took place in a religious palace on the edge of the Watts section of Los Angeles, for after some weeks of exploring the alleys of California religion he wanted to see the glittering highways, and this search took him to those varied temples and basilicas and grand pantheons built by the clergymen who knew how to collect major tithings from their congregations. He was stunned by the grandeur of some of these temples, but the one that commanded his attention over the longest span was this affair near Watts.
It was administered by a tall, thin, very attractive black an who called himself the Mighty Spirit and who preached while clothed in a long ermine robe paid for by the ladies of his congregation. He was a powerful orator [580] specializing in the Books of Daniel and Revelation, but he attracted Leopold’s attention and even affection because of the lawsuit which the government had brought against him. As the story unfolded, it concerned two middle-aged black women schoolteachers who claimed they had been defrauded by the Mighty Spirit, and they had a persuasive case, Strabismus thought, as he sat in court, listening to the charges:
 
“Our mother is seventy-nine years old, stricken with arthritis. She can’t walk easily and putting on her clothes is a misery. The Mighty Spirit told her that he could cure her, so she gave him all her money and he wrote out the directions for what she must do to be saved: ‘Go to the Greyhound Bus Station in Los Angeles. Take an even-numbered bus to Long Beach. Enter the Greyhound Station there and drink water from three different fountains, saying the Lord’s Prayer after each drink. Come home on a bus with an uneven number. Go to bed. Pray before you fall asleep, and in the morning you will be cured.’ ”
 
Strabismus whispered to Marcia Grant, who had accompanied him to the courthouse, “They may get him because he put it in writing?” and she replied, “It’s damned ingenious, whatever.”
The judge explored in some detail the minister’s behavior in this case, the amount of money taken from the mother of the schoolteachers, and the degree to which the old woman had obeyed the prescription. Satisfied that here was a case of most palpable fraud, Strabismus sat silent as the defense attorneys, one white, one black, called Mrs. Carter to the stand.
“Did you follow the instructions given you by the Mighty Spirit?”
“Yes, sir, I did.”
“You got on the bus going to Long Beach.”
“Yes, sir, even-numbered.”
“And you drank from three different fountains.”
“Yes, sir, I did.”
“And you got aboard another bus and came back to Los Angeles.”
“Yes, sir, odd-numbered.”
[581] “And what happened?”
“When I woke up next morning I could walk, just like he said.” And when she pointed to the Mighty Spirit sitting in court in his white ermine robe, the minister’s supporters broke into cheers which the bailiff could not silence. The Mighty Spirit rose from the accused’s chair, spread his arms wide, and shouted, “I forgive them, for they know not what they do.”
“That was some trial,” Strabismus said as he drove Marcia back to their university, and from the manner in which he returned to it again and again in subsequent days, it was clear to Marcia that he had been deeply moved.
He was forty-seven, about two hundred and ninety pounds, handsomely bearded, deep of voice, and he could visualize himself in robes, bringing direction and meaning to the lives of others. In ermine? No, that was for blacks, who handled the wilder manifestations with an aplomb no white man could muster. In red, perhaps? No, the best was still solid black. But wait! In an Episcopal church once, at the funeral of a friend of Marcia’s, he had seen an elderly minister in a robe of beautifully tailored wool, not black, not brown, but rather, a delicate tan-gray.
“What color do you call that?” he had asked Marcia. “I think the stores call it fawn.”
“It’s quite effective.” Yes, he could imagine himself in a fawn robe.
He was so disturbed about the present and the future-so confused might be a better description, he thought-that when he reached the university he asked Elizondo Ramirez to report to him on the finances of their various USA operations, and the Mexican assistant placed the figures before him:
 
“Universal Space Associates is plugging along. Normal subscriptions stay high. Special gifts have tailed off since you don’t travel so much, but we’re making a steady $185,000 a year and could do better if we applied ourselves. But, Dr. Strabismus, all I can do is service new mail subscriptions. Only you can bring in the special gifts.
 
“The University of Space and Aviation? Maybe we’ve reached a plateau. We do very well with our Ph.D.’s at the new price of $750, but only average with our [582] M.A.’s at $400. I’ve tried pricing them at different levels and $400 seems about right. I don’t think we can take it any higher.
 
“What I did not anticipate was the very good business we’ve been doing in selling copies of UCLA, Southern Cal and Stanford diplomas, with a very nice business in University of California at Berkeley. We just print them, fill them in, and sell them, no granting of degrees or anything else.”
 
Ramirez did not consider himself a forger. He referred to himself as a printer with imagination, but this was not accurate either, for he himself did none of the printing; he simply knew where to get it done. He had discovered that a good many practitioners of one kind or other, even doctors and dentists, liked to have an extra certificate on their walls, and he had uncovered this excellent printer in the valley who could copy anything. Together they had located four diplomas from the four most prestigious universities in the region, and by blanking out the names of the recipients, they had a stack of fine-looking pieces of paper on which a woman with a smooth handwriting could inscribe the names of purchasers. The diplomas were priced at twenty-five dollars each, thirty for Stanford, and sold about two hundred a year, which, as Ramirez said, “gives us some extra pin money.”
His genius manifested itself in an operation about which Strabismus had been ignorant until it began to pour in the money; modestly Ramirez credited the idea to pure luck:
 
“I love basketball, especially at UCLA with those great teams John Wooden turns out, and one night I read in the paper about how this fine colored center was ineligible because of his grades and it occurred to me, “Why don’t he take make-up classes at USA?” And before the year was out we had more than two hundred fine university athletes enrolled in special classes, Oregon to New Mexico. We never saw them. They never saw us. Their coaches just sent us the papers and we signed them. But I’ll tell you this, Strabismus, if we could of had half those cats on our [583] campus at the same time, we could of won the NCAA going away.”
 
The various operations, Ramirez concluded, were bringing in about $255,000 yearly, “and with this big building paid for, we have the space to branch out and do much better.”
It was interesting that not one of the principals in this operation sought money for himself. Neither the space report nor the university was ever used to collect funds for the personal gratification of Strabismus, Marcia or Ramirez. They lived simply, drove modest cars, avoided expensive clothes, and usually ate in the restaurants of the lower middle class. Each year they saved more than 60 percent of what they took in, holding it in banks against the day when they might want to make some major move, and even their most jaundiced critic could not accuse them of personal cupidity. To look at Elizondo Ramirez on the street you would have thought that he worked at some taco stand, and it would have been inconceivable to picture Marcia Grant as the daughter of a well-to-do United States senator. They were marking time, all of them.
But when Elizondo and his ledgers departed, Strabismus addressed the real problem which agitated him: “Marcia, I’ve made up my mind. You’ve got to get the abortion.”
She was thirty-three and not likely to become pregnant again if she allowed herself to be robbed of this child, and she loved Leopold, big, conniving fraud that he was. For five painful weeks she had argued against the abortion, citing one good reason after another, and he had countered with reasons of his own: “Marcia, I have this persistent feeling. Something big is going to turn up. We mustn’t be saddled with an illegitimate child.”
“You could easily marry me.”
“I don’t see that, either. Look, Marsh, we’re not the marrying kind. We’re gauged to a much different track.”
“Home and children aren’t so different. Millions of people are able to handle homes and children.”
“It’s not for us, Marsh. I want us to simplify our lives. Get things organized for whatever’s going to happen.”
He was so insistent, and upon principles which he could ,not explain or she understand, that in the end she consented to the abortion. Assuring her that this was a simple [584] operation without risk, he drove her to the home of a man known in the community as Dr. Himmelright, and there she met one of the most despicable men of her experience. It was not his ghoulish profession which annoyed her; it was his manner.
Himmelright had been born in England, and whether he had ever graduated from anywhere could not be ascertained. On his wall he displayed diplomas, but she recognized two as the handiwork of Elizondo Ramirez. He spoke in an Oxford accent, quite charmingly, and apparently did a good business, for Leopold had had to accept whatever appointment Himmelright had free.
He tried to put Marcia at ease: “We call this little deal, quite painless, you know, ‘Knocking Little Willie off the wall.’ ” He chuckled at his joke, then showed Marcia how she must lie down. “What we’re doing,” he said in a professional whisper, “is taking out the crib but leaving in the playpen.” This joke pleased him immensely, and he laughed for nearly a minute.
As he fumbled among his instruments he said, “Considering the overpopulation in Africa, what you’re doing, Mrs. Strabismus, may be a very wise thing. And Asia’s worse. Every fourth child born in the world is Chinese, and a woman came running in here the other day in tears. Said I had to operate right away. This was her fourth child and she didn’t want no Chinese baby.” This quite captivated him, and when he turned to face Marcia he was grinning so broadly that he seemed quite awful, and before he could touch her she leaped from the couch and ran from the building.
Strabismus had gone for a cup of coffee to steady his nerves and it was some hours before he could locate her. She was wandering aimlessly along the streets back of the university, and at first she would not get into his car. When she did she neither cried nor made a scene. She simply sat there, quite erect, her hands folded on her pregnant belly. “It’s Christmas and I’m going home.”
“To Clay? That would be impossible.”
“I want to go home.”
“From here in Los Angeles it looks possible. But think of it from the Clay end. Think especially of your father.”
And when she did think, and saw her cuckoo mother [385] and her pompous father, she realized that Strabismus was right. She could not go home, so she allowed him to drive her slowly back to Dr. Himmelright, who made no more jokes.
 
Stanley Mott, striving to attain some sense of what the universe was, sat perfectly still on the bank of the Tennessee River, south of Huntsville, Alabama. Keeping arms and legs motionless, he endeavored to move not even his eyes, for he wished to experience the sensation of a body at complete rest, and at last he achieved this. He was as still as a human being could be; indeed, he might as well be dead except for the inescapable functioning of autonomic systems like breathing and heart beating.
I am motionless, he said to himself at last, and he kept this posture for ten minutes, thinking of nothing. Then his brain insisted, recalling data he had memorized at Cal Tech:
 
But at this moment I’m sitting on a piece of Earth at 34° 30’ North, which means I’m spinning west to east at a rate of about 860 miles an hour. At the equator, because of the larger bulge, 1,040. At the same time, my Earth is moving through its orbit around the Sun at 66,661 miles an hour, and my Sun is carrying itself and its planets toward the star Vega at something like 31,000 miles an hour.
 
Our Sun and Vega move around the Galaxy at the blinding speed of 700,000 miles per hour, and the Galaxy itself rotates at 559,350 miles an hour.
 
And that’s not all. Our Galaxy moves in relation to all other galaxies as they rush through the universe at a speed of better than 1,000,000 miles an hour.
 
So when I sit here absolutely still I’m moving in six wildly different directions at an accumulated speed of ... (he could not add the figures in his head) maybe two and a half million miles an hour. So I can never be motionless. I’m traveling always at speeds which are incomprehensible. And it’s all happening in real time.
 
[586] He considered these demonstrable facts for some moments, then concluded:
 
And perhaps the universe itself is hurtling toward some undefined destination at a speed which could hardly be stated, perhaps to clear our space for a better universe which will supplant us, while we rush off to some new adventure.
 
When he rose and felt his limbs moving only inches, he thought: What a trivial journey we make. Inches under our own power, two and a half million miles with the universe. But ours is the journey that counts. Our slow inching along to understanding and control. When he headed back to his car, he calculated that he was walking at a rate of perhaps 2.3 miles an hour, hardly worth noting in comparison to the speeds he had been dealing with: And yet, for millions of years of our existence, that’s about the best we could do. It got us where we are, and that’s not trivial.
 
When Claggett, Pope and Linley were only three weeks from takeoff, with the lunar terrain south of the Sea of Moscow engraved on their brains and the procedure for placing the three radio satellites in orbit memorized, their ,mission encountered a snag that almost destroyed it. John Pope was the first to hear about it.
Claggett said one night at the Bali Hai, where they were staying as they spent time in the Canaveral simulators, “Johnny partner, Debby Dee and me’s getting’ a divorce. I’m marryin’ the Korean.”
“Come at me slow. You’re what?”
“It’s all settled. Deb knows. Cindy knows.”
“But does NASA know?”
“None of NASA’s business.”
“It certainly is. They’ve got millions tied up in this flight. Billions.”
“What the hell is a few billion dollars? I’m talkin’ about a private, personal affair.”
“There’s nothing private, Randy. If this thing breaks, they’ll take you off the flight, for sure.”
“So what? We got backups. They can move Lee into my seat.”
[587] “They can hell.”
Pope did not inform NASA of this impending disaster, although for some time Claggett thought that he had: “That damned Straight Arrow Pope. Always thinks he’s running a Sunday School.”
It was Tucker Thompson who got wind of the domestic scandal; the Quints of the Bali Hai advised him that Debby Dee had flown in from Houston, found Randy and Miss Rhee in bed and had raised hell, “and without getting out of bed Claggett told his wife, ‘Babe, it’s finished.’ ”
Thompson, better able to visualize the catastrophe that “Threatened than even the participants, went directly to “Claggett. “Randy, you can’t do this.”
“I’ve already done it.”
“The American public won’t let you. My magazine won’t let you.”
“To hell with your magazine. I won’t say to hell with the American public, because it’s treated me pretty good. And I’ll bet they won’t give a damn.”
“Randy, you’re not thinking straight.”
“Deb won’t have any trouble findin’ a new husband.”
“That’s not the point, son.” He was sweating. He had visualized Apollo 18 as the glorious culmination of the Folks involvement, with two of his astronauts aboard and that fine black geologist adding spice to the photographs. He would show Claggett striding across the dark side of the Moon, Pope manfully at the controls, Debby Dee waiting in Texas, and that pretty black chick, Doris Linley, behind a white picket fence, waiting loyally for her man. Now it could all go down the drain, with Time and Newsweek ridiculing the operation.
Unable to convince Claggett of the gravity of what impended, he hurried to Pope’s room at the motel. “John, this could be a disaster. Really, I don’t …” He collapsed onto a chair, where he sat mopping his forehead.
“Randy can be stubborn, you know.”
“But this is so unlike an astronaut. The American public will not tolerate him chucking a fine home-loving American wife and running off with Madame Slant-Eye from Column B.”
“From what Randy told me, it’s all settled. Even Debby Dee has agreed.”
“Nothing’s settled! Believe me, when Glancey and Grant [588] hit this town, Randy Claggett is going to shiver.”
“I don’t think he shivers easy.”
But when the two senators, accompanied by Dr. Mott from headquarters, appeared at the Bali Hai, discussions took a much different turn. These three did not plead, they came harshly to the point:
GRANT: You’re jeopardizing fourteen years of our work, young man, and we can’t allow it.
GLANCEY: Just because you get hot pants for some Japanese broad.
GRANT: You seem to forget that the American public has invested great sums of money and interest in you. You’re not merely Randy Claggett. You stand for something.
MOTT (gently): A large part of NASA’s future rides with you, Randy.
GLANCEY: One asinine gesture on your part, Claggett, the whole structure could collapse. You ditch your wife for some Japanese broad ...
GRANT: It speaks to what an astronaut is all about. We’ve spent fourteen years carefully cultivating the image of what an astronaut is supposed to be ... what his wife is supposed to be ... and divorce simply does not fit into the picture as we’ve constructed it.
GLANCEY: Divorce would shatter the image. We can’t allow it.
GRANT: An astronaut means something specific to the American public. Tucker Thompson can instruct you on your responsibilities in that area.
MOTT: Do I need to remind you, Randy, of how painfully we labored to get this mission authorized?
GLANCEY: The infinite trouble we had in slipping it past Proxmire?
MOTT (persuasively): If this story broke now, Randy ... Damn it all, man, I’ve babied you fellows along for nearly a decade. This is your apex ... our apex. You and Pope, two from the same class.
CLAGGETT: I see no reason why anything I’m doin’ should endanger things.
GRANT: Well, everybody else can.
CLAGGETT: Lemme finish. Hickory Lee’s been to the Moon. He can move into my seat with hardly a hair of change, so if you feel that my actions ...
[589] MOTT: We can’t shift the crew around three weeks before launch.
CLAGGETT: Three weeks? You shifted Apollo 13 three days before takeoff.
GLANCEY: And look at the bad luck it had. We can’t afford any more disasters, not at this stage.
GRANT: The bottom line, Claggett, America’s space program cannot absorb a divorce.
CLAGGETT: It’s gonna get one.
This first interview was much rougher than a conciliator like Mott would have wanted, much less conclusive than a hard-liner like Grant had hoped for, and when the three negotiators realized what a difficult man they had to deal with, they altered their strategy. In another room they tackled the Korean newspaperwoman, and that also was a mistake:
GRANT: Young woman-
CYNTHIA: I’m thirty-seven.
GRANT: Are you aware that you could be deported?
GLANCEY: Do you know what moral turpitude is?”
CYNTHIA: Something you thin paint with?
GLANCEY: Don’t joke with me, you tart.
GRANT: Because you lied on your visa application, you can be deported.
CYNTHIA: Proceedings would take months. By that time I’d be married, the wife of an American hero.
GRANT: You’ll be in jail.
MOTT: Miss Rhee, the senators are serious. You imperil a project they’ve worked on for years.
CYNTHIA: It’s a noble project. I’ve worked on it, too.
GLANCEY: What do you mean?
MOTT: She’s writing a book.
CYNTHIA: Chances are it’ll be remembered as the true account of this period.
MOTT: I must explain. This woman is a distinguished writer in Japan ... in Europe. Held in very high regard.
GRANT: Why do we need a foreigner to write about our astronauts?
CYNTHIA: Because you won’t allow your own writers to write about them.
GRANT: Life magazine? Tucker Thompson? Hundreds of reporters?
The Korean woman broke into a disrespectful laugh, and [590] her interrogation collapsed in shambles. It was obvious that she could not be scared, but there was a chance she could be reasoned with:
MOTT: Will you, for the welfare of a great mission, leave for Japan?
CYNTHIA: Doesn’t that sound ridiculous, even to you? Newspeople flying in from all over the world to see this launch. Me flying out.
MOTT: I have a ticket for you. Won’t you fly with me to New York? Pan Am has a reservation all the way to Tokyo. Or TWA, if you prefer.
CYNTHIA: Of the two, I would much prefer Pan Am.
GRANT: Thank God.
CYNTHIA: But since I have no intention of flying anywhere, neither airline can be of interest.
MOTT: Please? For the good of a great venture?
CYNTHIA: No.
The three men, having accomplished nothing except the disruption of training procedures, retired to their rooms at the Bali Hai, went to bed, and early next morning motored up to the launch area, where they asked NASA officials to bring the three astronauts before them:
GRANT: A serious problem threatens to disrupt your flight.
CLAGGETT: Lemme speak. I’ve already cleared this with these two.
POPE: Linley and I see no problem.
LINLEY: That’s right.
GRANT: Well, the American people ...
CLAGGETT: I don’t think they care a whistle.
GRANT: Young man, do you have any idea at all of the flak that hit us in the Senate when those fellows in Apollo 10 called their spacecraft Charlie Brown and Snoopy?
GLANCEY: I received hundreds of protests from taxpayers: “We don’t pay our hard-earned dollars for some clown to jump around the sky like a comic strip.”
GRANT: Can you imagine what’ll hit us if Time and Newsweek, not forgetting the New York Times, break it to the world that the man in charge of the flight has abandoned his American wife for a Japanese?
CLAGGETT (shouting): Why don’t you get your facts straight? She’s Korean.
GLANCEY: That’s no improvement.
[591] MOTT: It could be disastrous, Randy. For this flight. For all later flights.
CLAGGETT: Ain’t no later flights lined up.
GLANCEY: Will you help us?
CLAGGETT: What you ask, no.
Curiously, it was Navy-tough Norman Grant who produced the line of reasoning which finally made sense to the three astronauts, and he presented it in a conciliatory, almost fatherly way:
GRANT: You know, men, this flight wasn’t our idea. Glancey and I, we didn’t want it. I even fought against it. It was you who wanted it. Your wife, Pope, she brought us the clinching arguments. Glancey and I and the others, we went way out on a limb for you men. Dark side of the Moon. Culminating scientific experiments. You persuaded us. Now don’t walk away from us. Damn it all, it wouldn’t be manly.
CLAGGETT (after a long silence): What do you want?
GRANT: Something extremely difficult. But something only you can handle. Tell him, Mott.
MOTT: We want you to tell Miss Rhee to fly with me to Kennedy Airport in New York and quietly take Pan Am’s round-the-world flight to Tokyo ... or to Korea, if she wishes.
CLAGGETT: She won’t do it.
MOTT: She will if you ask her.
CLAGGETT: I can’t do that.
No one in the room spoke. Six men-three older, three younger, but all widely experienced from the battling cloakrooms of the Senate to the far reaches of space-sat and pondered a problem of the most complex dimension. Finally it was Straight Arrow Pope who broke the impasse: “All things considered, Randy, I think they have a point.”
What Claggett told Cindy in the upstairs room at the .Bali Hai was not revealed to the others, but at eleven o’clock that morning an Air. Force jet from Patrick Air Base a few miles south of Cocoa Beach took off with two United States senators, a high NASA official and a Korean newspaperwoman. It flew directly to Kennedy Airport in New York, where it was brought in ahead of orbiting planes end was met by a State Department limousine, which whisked the passengers not to Pan Am and not to TWA, [592] for they flew out at dusk, but to a BOAC plane waiting at the terminal at the far end of the runway.
There Miss Rhee was hurried aboard, while the three astronauts at Cape Canaveral resumed last-minute training on the simulators.
 
Of course, when BOAC landed at London, Cindy strode swiftly across Heathrow Airport, caught a plane to Montreal, and secretly slipped back into the United States along a dirt road southeast of Sherbrooke. Hurrying to Florida, she climbed into a jumpsuit tailored from gray linen, donned a Greek sailor’s cap, and took her place unostentatiously among the people who lined the highway overlooking Cape Canaveral. There she watched as Apollo 18 carried two of her special astronauts, Claggett and Pope, toward their appointment with the dark side of the Moon.
As the magnificent craft soared majestically into the air, the last of its glorious breed, she circulated among the watchers, taking careful note of where they were from and how they reacted to this historic moment. It was important, she believed, that their behavior be recorded in real time.


IX
DARK SIDE OF THE MOON
WHEN it was decided, back in 1961, to launch the predicted Apollos from Canaveral, the engineers and scientists of America faced a tantalizing problem. The vehicle would be so massive, 363 feet high, which was longer than a football field, that if it were assembled in one place, say Denver, it would be so big and weigh so much-3,150 tons-that it could not possibly be transported across the country. It would have to be built at six separate locations and brought to Canaveral for final assembly.
The original plan had called for this assembly to take place in the open, at the launch site itself, but even a cursory analysis of this proposal uncovered its dangers. Dr. Mott had served on the review board and had helped draft the condemnatory report:
 
One must remember that the Apollo will reach the Cape in six huge parts, with thousands of air- and water-tight connections still to be effected. Even one rainstorm would be disastrous, and in the five months required for assembly the local weather bureau estimates that we will encounter not less than sixteen rainfalls of varying strength. More important, the winds here are incessant, forty- and fifty-mile gales [594] being common and 130-mile hurricanes not uncommon. The smaller parts would simply fly away. Undercover assembly is obligatory.
 
We confess that the problem of moving the completed Apollo, weighing some 6,300,000 pounds, will present a problem which should be attacked immediately.
 
The first problem was solved majestically. Beside a canal into which barges could come bringing the components, a stupendous white cube was built, rising from the Canaveral swamps like some modern-version pyramid, preposterously big. Silent, isolated in the landscape, an abiding symbol of the space age, it became the mammoth barn-like building in which the Apollo complex would be assembled, and square though it was, it rose in the air almost as high as the needle-like spire of the Washington Monument. The face of the cube to the east contained doors half again as high as a football field is long; the covered interior provided a work space of 130,000,000 cubic feet. In many respects it was the largest building in the world, and it had been completed at breakneck speed.
In it, six extremely complicated machines would meet for the first time; none would ever have been in proximity to any other, and not until they were intricately fitted together, with each bolt and wire in one component interfacing with its mate in another, could the spacecraft be said to be in existence. One workman had calculated that some 22,000 joinings had to be completed, tested and approved before Apollo 18 became a whole.
The constructors of this giant machine, working in six widely separated sections of the nation, required 30,000 different complex documents to ensure congruent fittings from one manufacturer to the next. The massive Stage I was put together in Louisiana by Boeing; the powerful Stage II was built in California by North American; Stage III, containing the crucial single engine which would send the spacecraft toward the Moon, once it got aloft, was built in a different part of California by Douglas. And the instrument unit, built by IBM in Alabama, was so huge and complicated that one traditional engineer said, “That had to be built by some kid with an Erector set.”
[595] Those four basic parts comprised only the rocket, but the process was the same for the two craft in which the astronauts would actually fly. Their command and service module was built in Downey, California, by an independent branch of North American and was broken down into two intricately related parts: the command module in which the men lived, and the service module which kept most of the gear out of the way. The astronauts considered this a single unit, the CSM, and spent days in its simulator, for upon it they must depend. The lunar module in which two of the men would drop down to the Moon and fly back to the orbiting CSM was built on Long Island by Grumman.
It was a preposterous way to construct one of the most intricate machines ever devised by man, for no one could predict whether the system would work until the six pieces-seven, really-were assembled in the waiting cube on the Florida swamplands. As Randy Claggett said irreverently, while orbiting his first Apollo when his companions were walking on the Moon, “Here I am tooling along in a machine with four million different parts, each one supplied by the lowest bidder.”
And how did NASA bring these widely separated items together at the Cape? The instrument unit was placed on a barge on the Tennessee River, sent north to the Ohio River, then floated down the Mississippi, and around the southern tip of Florida to Canaveral. Stage I followed the same route, starting at New Orleans. California forwarded its segments two ways: by ship through the Panama Canal and by a huge Boeing Stratocruiser converted into what NASA people called our “Pregnant Guppy”; its belly could accommodate a completed Stage III.
In fact, NASA was in the transportation business with a fleet of five full-time vessels, one Pregnant Guppy and innumerable T-38s.
Claggett’s Apollo 18 was scheduled to lift off on 23 April 1973, and as soon as the time was announced, Randy endeared himself to the press by saying, offhand, “What a lucky date for us. Shakespeare’s birthday. If he was alive today, he’d write a play about it. ‘The still-vext Bermoothes.’ ”
“That’s from The Tempest, isn’t it?”
“It is.”
“How do you happen to know that?”
 

 
[597] “They learn us things at Texas A and M,” and on the spur of the moment he told the reporters of an elderly man who taught Freshman Lit: “He said, ‘It don’t matter whether you remember anythin’ else, but please, each year, remember that April 23 is the birthday of one of the noblest minds that ever existed, and pay him homage.’ Some smart ass-”
“Scrub that!” Tucker Thompson cried.
“Some wise guy said, “But I thought everyone knew Sir Francis Bacon wrote the plays,” and the old gentleman never batted an eyelash, just said, “Then for the love of God celebrate Bacon’s birthday, but at least once in your narrow, cornfed lives, pay respect to someone bigger than you are.” And he took us all to a saloon and treated us to ale, which he said was what Shakespeare drank.”
The six components had to reach the assembly building four months prior to launch, and it was an exciting Christmastime when the barges came up the canal and the gigantic airplanes dropped down with their precious cargoes. Engineering teams from each contractor’s home office arrived for extended duty at Canaveral, responsible for seeing that their part of the system functioned, and for three months the meticulous work proceeded as the disparate units were introduced one to the other and fitted together.
In February, Senator Grant and his committee factotum, Penny Pope, visited the assembly building to compile figures for presentation to the Senate budget officials, and for the last time in the Apollo program they watched the intricate labor being done in the assembly building. Grant was not unhappy to see the vast program grinding to a halt. It had been necessary in its day, to remind the Russians and the rest of the world that America was still competent, but the last few missions had been merely flourishes, and he knew it. However, this farewell flight, to the other side of the Moon, was going to be a dandy: “We’re going out with an appropriate bang.” He then handed the press a statement containing statistics collected by Mrs. Pope:
 
In mounting this tremendous effort to overtake the Russians, our nation has not stinted, and when we observe this vast assembly of buildings, what we see [598] is the imaginative effort a tree nation can make when it feels itself under the gun. Cost of the land, 140,000 acres at $72,000,000. Cost of the shell of this magnificent building in which we meet, $89,000,000. Cost of the equipment inside, $63,000,000.
 
Look at that supertractor on which Apollo will be carried to its launch site, $11,000,000, and we must have an extra for backup. Total cost of ground installations alone, $800,000,000. Number of persons working here, 26,500. Number of high-powered experts needed to supervise the forthcoming launch, 500 here, another 1,500 in Houston.
 
The statement then dealt with support systems elsewhere in America and around the world, relying on such estimates as local officials could provide:
 
Number of radio ships dispersed around the world, four. Number of communications aircraft in flight during an Apollo mission, five. Number of ground stations in various foreign countries, thirteen. Number of eligible target ships positioned in various oceans, seven. Total number of men and women involved one way or another in this mission, 450,000. Total number of men who will finally stand on the Moon, two.
 
However, despite the staggering cost, this senator is more than pleased with the results of our national effort. He is especially gratified by the caliber of astronauts who will fly this final mission. He has known Captain John Pope, USN, all the latter’s life and considers him one of the finest young men our nation has produced. His commander, Colonel Claggett of the Marines, has already flown three times in space, with outstanding results. But he is particularly honored that the third crew member is the nephew of a man he had the honor of serving with at the Battle of Leyte Gulf, Dr. Gawain Butler, Superintendent of Schools in Mesa County, California. As our first black astronaut, Dr. Paul Linley occupies a proud niche in our program.
 
[599] His final paragraph summarized this thinking, and although Mrs. Pope urged him to soften it, he refused, reminding her: “You’re loyal to your husband, as you should be, but I must be loyal to the nation as a whole.”
 
It is appropriate now for the United States to wind down this extremely costly adventure, which was amply justified in 1957 when Sputnik invaded our skies but which has trailed off into mere exhibitionism. We’ve reached the Moon. With this daring voyage we shall explore its dark side. Now we must direct our attention to equally pressing problems here on Earth.
 
In mid-February the experts in the vast assembly building reported: “All okay”-and this became the signal to initiate an operation of ponderous elegance, one which always caused gasps of approval from the hordes of visitors allowed to watch from a safe distance. The gigantic doors of the building drew aside, 456 feet tall, to reveal, standing erect inside in the darkness, a gleaming white masterpiece, heavy at the bottom but tapering to a delicate point 363 feet in the air. The simplicity of the streamlined exterior, each surface honed smooth, belied the extreme complexity within, and often at this moment of revelation watchers applauded.
Through the vast doors they could see that the Apollo ,had been assembled attached to a massive gantry, both structures resting on a heavy metal base supported by pillars which kept them well above the floor, and now the tremendous supertractor-each of its four sets of what should have been normal cleats being individual tractors of gigantic size-moved from its waiting place outside the building, up a gentle gradient, and right into the heart of the building. There it eased its way under the waiting spacecraft, activated its hydraulic lifts, and tenderly assumed control of the entire mighty structure, Apollo and gantry alike.
At that moment even the workmen cheered, but now a most difficult problem arose. Tractor-plus-Apollo-plus-gantry weighed 18,480,000 pounds-9,240 tons-and how could such a burden be moved three and a half miles across Florida swampland?
 
[600] “What we did was call in the best roadbuilders in the world, and they said, ‘Simple. You build a road wider than an eight-lane superhighway. You go down nine feet, line the bottom of your trench with big rocks, then seven feet of aggregate, then eight inches of pebbles. Cost? We can do it for about $20,000,000.’ ”
 
Gingerly, the massive tractor and its precious cargo edged its way out of the assembly building, down the incline and onto the waiting roadbed, where its four corner tractors, each carrying more than 2,000 tons, ground into the surface and inched its way along.
It required a crew of fifteen to operate it at a speed of not quite a mile an hour, but when it came out into the February sunlight, moving purposefully like some majestic dinosaur, watchers cheered as the great thing went past: “It moves fast enough to do the job.”
Slow, vast, creaking, grinding its massive cleats into the especially hard pebbles imported from Alabama, it carried on its back the soaring white Apollo nestled into the even taller launching gantry that would keep everything in order until the moment of launching: “There she goes! Destination Moon!”
As gently as if it were carrying the child Moses along a canal of rushes, the supertractor moved out toward Complex 39, where the launch would be made, and as it passed majestically through the Florida sunshine, three men watched with special interest, for they would ride inside the capsule mounted at the top; they would guide this exquisitely beautiful thing to the other side of the Moon. “The last and the best,” Claggett said.
John Pope, still amazed by the actual size of this giant, whispered, “It’s a privilege to be associated with it,” and Claggett reminded him, “You named it, son. There goes your Altair.” This would be their home, their responsibility, the last noble bird of its breed, and they watched with love as it crept along. “It wants to fly,” Randy said. “Twenty-five thousand miles an hour, not crawl at twenty inches a second.”
After it had traveled three very slow miles, the importance of the top eight inches of pebbled rock and sealer became evident, for now the crawler was required to take a smooth curve to the north, and if the surface had been [601] concrete, or macadam, as originally planned, the twisting of the cleats would have torn the road to pieces. As it was, the tremendous torque pulverized the top pebbles, but the metallic beetle inched ahead.
When it reached the approach to Pad A, from which the rocket would be fired, it faced a five-degree ramp up which it must move to the launch position, and now a score of computers, pumps, hydraulic systems and controls sprang into operation, lowering the front end of the crawler and raising the back so that an absolutely level platform was maintained.
When the climb up the ramp was completed, the crawler delivered the great Apollo with its gantry to the proper point, lowered it onto its stand, then backed slowly away as if it were some fairytale bullfrog who had saved a princess. Job done, it retreated groaningly back across the marshes, never again to bring a gleaming Apollo from its place of birth.
 
Among the 450,000 persons who were more or less directly responsible for the success of Apollo 18, including the Australians, Madagascans, Spaniards, Guamanians, Antiguans and Ascension Islanders who manned stations at their various locations, was a crew-cut Colorado farm boy from the little village of Buckingham in the drylands. An astronomer since his ninth birthday, when an uncle gave him Japanese binoculars and the Norton Star Atlas, he had won a scholarship to the agricultural college at Fort Collins, where like so many of the support team, he had graduated with honors.
His name was Sam Cottage, and his parents, immigrants from the German settlements along the Volga River in Russia, had worried about what kind of job their son could land with only a degree in astronomy, but he surprised them by quickly finding work at the Sun Study Center in Boulder, where high in the clear air of the Rockies, he studied the Sun. It was his responsibility, four times an hour, to focus his sixteen-inch solar-patrol telescope, with its special filter and obscuring disk, to see if any flares had arisen anywhere on the visible side of the Sun or along its perimeter, throwing disturbances a hundred thousand miles into the air; and then, through a restricted lens and carefully darkened eyepiece, to record patiently [602] any spots which might have appeared on the surface of the Sun itself. Special attention had to be paid to regions that might conceivably erupt later into major flares which would produce what astronomers called solar proton events.
The United States government judged it profitable to keep Sam Cottage at such work because the significance of sunspots was just beginning to be appreciated: they caused northern lights, which sometimes halted radio transmission; they seemed to disrupt the Earth’s magnetic field; and what was of great importance now, they had the capacity to launch a particularly vigorous flare which would discharge a dose of radiation so powerful as to be lethal to any human being caught unprotected. That was why Dr. Feldman, NASA’s medical expert on radiation, had been so eager to have Claggett and Pope retrieve that dosimeter from the flank of Agena-A during their Gemini flight: “We needed to know how much radiation accumulates during a long flight.”
Astronomers had to be consulted before the schedule of any flight could be fixed, because only they could say that the timing within the sunspot cycle was favorable. Spots had been meticulously counted since the year 1843, when astronomers first became aware that they varied within an eleven-year cycle, and these cycles had been numbered, so that Apollo 18 would lift off during the fading years of Cycle 20. This cycle had begun with a marked low in 1964, had achieved a below-average peak in 1970, and was now in swift decline, but as Cottage’s office warned NASA:
 
Even in the latest stages of a cycle, there is always a possibility of an unexpected solar proton event which might cause you to abandon a mission if it were still on the ground or terminate it if in flight, but Cycle 20 has been notably less violent than Cycle 19, which produced a heavy concentration of flares in 1957. We judge you can proceed with your plans for Apollo 18 with some feeling of security, but we shall maintain a close watch on the Sun’s behavior.
 
So each day young Cottage compiled four reports on what the surface appeared to be doing, and at the close of day helped prepare a summary to be distributed to interested observers throughout the world.
[603] In his spare time Cottage pursued advanced studies with a man who knew as much about the Sun as anyone on Earth, a soft-spoken Ph.D. named Jack Eddy, who worked atop a spacious hill outside Boulder in a research unit operated by a consortium of American universities. Cottage had been advised by one of his superiors: “There won’t be many advancements in our field for a young man who has only a B.S. degree. You’re bright. Get your master’s and then a doctorate.” He was now working with Eddy, through the University of Colorado, for his master’s, and he was struck by the imaginative work his professor had done in reconstructing the life history of the Sun through the last three thousand years. As Sam told the coed from Wyoming he was dating:
 
“This guy Eddy is fantastic. He’s reviewed every study ever made about the Sun since we’ve had writing, and even some like tree rings that don’t require writing. There was this guy Maunder at the end of the last century who claimed that in the late 1600s sunspots almost disappeared for a period of seventy years. People laughed, but Eddy proved that Maunder was right. That was the age of bitter cold on Earth. Glaciers edging down.
 
“The Maunder Minimum was a real thing. I suppose in the centuries ahead we’ll have other minimums, but right now I’m trying to predict what will happen from year to year, and I’m getting nowhere.”
 
He had an affinity for mathematics, and under Eddy’s guidance, had compiled mounds of data which he ran through the computer, satisfying himself but not others that over long stretches of time the Sun’s activity balanced out and that a minimum of energy here was corrected by an abundance later on. He was convinced that the significant cycle was really twenty-two years and not eleven, for during the first half the magnetic character of sunspot regions followed one pattern, reversing during the second half. He was also much impressed by studies from Germany indicating that a superior cycle of eighty-eight years might be operating, but whatever he did, whatever theory he followed, his statistics showed that Cycle 20 was grossly [604] aberrant and could he brought back into balance only if a major proton event erupted in these dying days of its existence.
Daily he gazed at the Sun’s impassive face, trying to deduce what was happening there, but he could discover nothing, so he returned to his piles of data with what was almost anger, for he knew they were hiding information, if only he could unravel it.
In some irritation he telephoned Dr. Eddy, but found him unavailable; he was at Kitt Peak in Arizona pursuing his own studies. So Sam was left alone with his data, and late one night he left his work and wandered to the dormitory where his Wyoming girl friend slept and rousted her from bed by throwing pebbles at her window: “No matter what cycle I use, eleven years, twenty-two or eighty-eight, I keep reaching the conclusion that we’re due for a really major event.”
“Why don’t you report it?”
“Because no one would believe me. I haven’t a single solid fact to go on, only theories.”
“Ask Eddy what he thinks.”
“He’s in Arizona, dammit. I’ve called twice but he’s on a field trip.”
“Your problem will wait till he gets back.”
“Wait? Do you know what a real major event can be”? A region on the face of the Sun fifty times bigger than the entire surface of the Earth. It explodes. In thirty minutes it can throw masses of material a hundred and fifty thousand miles out into space. In less than an hour it sends forth enough energy to supply every electricity need in the United States for a hundred million years. That’s titanic.”
“And dangerous?” the girl asked.
“Our atmosphere protects us. But if you were in an airplane very high, real danger.”
“And astronauts, like Apollo 18 maybe?”
“Deadly.”
So during the last weeks of March, Sam Cottage watched with extra care his Sun’s behavior, but when nothing exceptional occurred he put that month to bed with a reassuring summary:
 
[605] All solar activity low during past 24 hours. Only small subflares. Magnetic field has been only mildly disturbed. General activity should remain low. Potential for major events low. However, it could increase if new Region 396 should amalgamate with neighboring regions.
 
“Two committees had been convened, the first composed of scientists to determine what instruments Apollo 18 should carry to the Moon in order to acquire data that would help explain the genesis of that satellite and perhaps the universe. They began their discussions on a sober note:
 
“On earlier explorations, the astronauts could place the instruments, point their antenna toward the Earth, and expect that radio signals would carry the data direct to our stations in Australia, Spain or the United States. And they were correct. As of last week our Moon stations were sending us nine million separate bits of data every day, throughout the year. We are getting to know the Moon as well as we know Rhode Island.
 
“But from the other side we can have no direct contact. Everything will depend upon the two or three satellites we place in orbit about the Moon. If they fail, we fail. To state it another way, if they fail, the whole Apollo 18 flight fails.”
 
NASA brought in communications experts, who promised that the three proposed satellites would be at least as reliable as the other devices they were gambling on, and with this assurance they reached a most sensible decision:
 
“Since experiments initiated by previous Apollo missions have succeeded much better than we had a right to expect, with every instrument functioning four times longer than predicted, it is essential that we receive the same kind of data from the other side of the Moon. We recommend these duplications:
 
“A suprathermal ion detector to measure the mass and energy of any gases on or near the lunar surface.
 
[606] “A solar-wind spectrometer to measure the flux and energy of atomic particles from the Sun, an experiment of greatest significance.
 
“A lunar-surface magnetometer to measure fluctuations in the magnetic field at the Moon.
 
“A passive seismic experiment to measure lunar vibrations from whatever source.”
 
They then turned to a series of experiments specifically designed for the new side of the Moon: using a device that sent radio impulses into the body of the Moon to see whether any ice or water existed below the surface, and conducting a fascinating experiment which might help to decide a furious lunar debate: Are mascons merely impacted meteors, suggesting that the Moon had a cold origin, or are they submerged lava flows, indicating a hot origin? Ten years earlier the word mascon did not exist; it meant mass concentration and referred to mysterious but ordinary-looking locations on the Moon where the force of gravity noticeably increased. Obviously, something unusually heavy lay hidden below the surface, and it was given the name mascon. The scientists wanted to know about the mascons on the other side.
Dr. Mott was a member of the second committee, which had perhaps the more exciting assignment: to select the spot on which Claggett and Linley would try to land, for it was imperative that a location be chosen which would yield a rich variety of rocks and afford good terrain observations. The two astronauts attended every meeting because they must become familiar with the area they were to explore, and as they studied the new maps, constructed from data supplied by the Russians after their successful photographic flight to the far side in 1959 and by the American flights of the 1960s, they realized that almost every site they might want to explore carried a Russian name-so awarded because the Russians had got there first. Claggett asked, “You mean, whenever anyone goes to the back of the Moon, he’ll be using Russian street signs?” And when the committee members nodded, he said, “Now I understand why Senator Grant was in such a sweat to catch up.”
[607] Landing a spacecraft on the Moon presented unusual problems, as the astrophysicists explained:
 
“You will be faced by the same constraints as the earlier Apollos. You must bring your module down a very narrow corridor. If the Sun is below 7°, your landing area will be in shadows so deep you won’t be able to distinguish dangers like big boulders. If the Sun is higher than 25°, landing is quite impossible, for you lose shadows, and without them you cannot ascertain what lies ahead.
 
“The ideal is a space only 4° wide-12° to 16°-because then the Sun behind you acts like a helpful flashlight, pointing out the dangers.
 
“Of course, if you reach your desired landing spot too late, so that the Sun is high and blazing, quite simple. You just speed farther ahead to your alternate landing site, and as you approach the terminator line, you find yourself once more just where you want to be, 12° to 16°.”
 
When Paul Linley heard these very exact limitations, comparable to those restricting the capsule when it tried to return to Earth, he said, “From our takeoff spot that day we fly 238,848.7 miles and have to land at precisely 70 hours, 37 minutes, 45 seconds after takeoff, and right in relation to the crater Gagarin.”
“And don’t be a minute late,” Claggett said, “or the damned Sun will be too high in the heavens.”
It was only then that Linley appreciated how that requirement of sunlight and shadow on a remote valley on the other side of the Moon determined when, four days earlier, Apollo 18 must ascend into the air at Cape Canaveral. “We climb into this machine weighing 6,300,000 pounds,” he wrote to his wife, “and we fire engines producing 7,500,000 pounds of thrust, and we’re restricted by minutes and seconds. Space flight is an exact science.”
When the two committees submitted their reports, NASA was highly pleased, because everyone now saw that Apollo 18 promised exciting rewards, a worthy capstone in every respect. But when it dawned on people that this [608] would probably be the last Apollo that would ever fly, engineers from all over America came to the Cape to see it standing in majesty beside the ocean at Complex 39.
Two carloads of engineers from Langley Field drove down non-stop-nineteen hours-to see the splendid thing they had visualized years before, without having had a reasonable clue as to how it would ultimately be effected. Dieter Kolff had government orders to fly to Canaveral, but he preferred to ride, so he organized an expedition from Huntsville of old Peenemünde hands, nine of them driving straight through in thirteen hours, to see the glorious rocket they had built, and when they stood looking at it, Kolff said, “When this goes, we’ve launched fourteen of our Saturn-Apollos, and not one has failed. We’ve gone to the Moon and we could have gone to Saturn. Look at it!”
He stayed at the Cape to supervise the final touches to his masterpiece, the last in a proud series, and sometimes when he wiped dust off the giant, as engineers will do, he grieved that of all the men who had pioneered this great machine, not one had ever ridden on its high nose: A group of American boys who weren’t born when we started work. They get to go and we don’t. He prayed that the culminating flight would be a good one and that it would bring further honors to Von Braun.
One evening as he ate alone at the Bali Hai a handsome Oriental woman in a gray linen jumpsuit asked if she could sit with him, and although he expressed his astonishment at her daring, she drew up a chair and introduced herself as Rhee Soon-Ka from Asahi Shimbun of Tokyo: “Could I ask a distinguished German scientist a few questions?”
Dieter was flattered, and they talked for many hours, for she had a knack of guessing what a man like him would want to speak about in these days of beautiful tension.
“What kind of man was Von Braun?” she asked.
“He never betrayed anyone who worked for him.”
“Or anyone he worked for?”
“All of us who reached Huntsville alive, we owe it to Von Braun.”
“When the rocket lifts off, in April, what will you think as it soars into the air?” She spent almost an hour on this [609] question: the things that could go wrong, that had indeed gone wrong with the many failures of the A-4 at Peenemünde; the emotions that overcome a man when a long-sought goal is attained; his feelings toward his fellows who joined the Russians in 1945; the relative costs of an A-4 and a Saturn V.
She took few notes, for she suspected that she would use very little of what Kolff was telling her, but she needed his insights to provide a solid underpainting for what she would write, and it was almost dawn when she asked, as good reporters often did, “What would you like to tell me that I haven’t asked?” and he said, “You know it’s all wrong? Pointed in the wrong direction?” and she said, “I’ve known that all along. It’s exhibitionism. Little boys showing off.”
They discussed this for some time, and finally Kolff asked, “What do you see in them? The way they live and die?”
And now she wanted to talk, for this had been a night of enrichment. “They are so small. Herr Kolff, have you noticed how small these wonderful young men are?”
“They have to be, to fit into our capsules.”
“But the rest of America’s heroes are so tall, so huge.” he stopped speaking and drummed on the table for some moments. “I’ve been developing a theory that whenever a nation elects great giants as its heroes, it’s doomed. Tall Prussian cavalrymen. Those pathetic Swiss guards at the Vatican. The huge gladiators of Rome. And the ridiculous sumo wrestlers of Japan.”
“I have little regard for giants,” Kolff said.
“In America it’s all monstrous football players and hyperthyroid basketball players.” She became quite excited. “I was in the Atlanta airport when a basketball team, the Boston Celtics, I think-they came through as a team, and I had to look up like this to see them. Those gods, those great muscular gods.” She laughed nervously. “It was quite revolting, really. America and Japan both electing their heroes by weight. Both societies doomed.”
She spoke more on this subject, analyzing it from various angles, and concluding, “I think Europe may be saved “because they make heroes of little, ordinary men like soccer stars and bicycle racers. They have sense enough to look at Goliath and his Philistines with suspicion. They [610] see the merit in normality, and I think that’s why I’m so infatuated with the astronauts. They’re so little and so ordinary and so very brave.”
Kolff had not thought of this before, having accepted the government’s decision to select small men for the capsules, but he found that he liked the idea, for he had never been able to see merit in a man simply because he was seven feet tall or weighed two hundred and seventy pounds.
They sat quietly for a while, both weary from the long night’s talk, then Kolff said, sighing, “When you’re a young man, you imagine that when you grow old and fill a position of responsibility, all discussions will be like this one tonight. Instead, we waste our time in trivialities. I am indebted to you.”
“On the contrary.”
 
On 3 April 1973, Sam Cottage, working at his telescope in Boulder, spotted on the receding western limb of the Sun at a point 10° above the solar equator, a new collection of sunspots and he duly noted them: “Region 419, horseshoe shaped. Below average in luminosity.” And that evaluation was forwarded to numerous stations around the world.
As always these days he asked himself as he filed his report, “Could this be the big one?” but the modest appearance of 419 forced him to answer no.
On 4 April the collection of spots had moved closer to the extremity from where it would move around to the invisible side of the Sun, and Sam needed to be sure how many days would pass before it reappeared at the eastern limb. His calculations would have surprised some who thought they knew the Sun well.
Because the Sun, like all other visible stars, is gaseous and not a solid, it rotates on its axis at sharply different speeds, depending on how far from the solar equator a spot is. It is as if Ecuador had a day of 22 hours, the United States 24 hours, and Greenland 27 hours.
At its equator the Sun requires only 26.7 days to complete a revolution, but at any point approaching a pole, it takes 32.1 days. Region 419, which stood just north of the equator, would make its circuit in 27.6 days, which meant that it would be out of sight for at least 14.
On 5 April, Cottage caught his last glimpse of 419 as [611] it disappeared, and although the amount visible was minimal, he thought he detected in it substantial variations from what he had seen previously, so after filing his routine reports, he went to headquarters and said, “I caught just a glimpse of 419 as it went around the bend, and I thought it had become more active.”
“Damn,” the manager growled. “Fifteen days and we’ll see nothing. It could come back at us on the east limb a full-fledged terror.”
“All we can do is guess.”
The manager sat clasping and unclasping his hands. “Twenty years from now we won’t be so powerless. We’ll have monitors up there checking all sides at all times.” He left his desk in some agitation, looked at various photographs, then shook his head. “Cottage, the Sun is the single most vital item in our universe ... to us. And we know so little about it. The only star among the trillions that we can study close up, and we practically ignore it.”
He stomped about the room for additional minutes, then hopped abruptly and snapped, “You want me to issue an advisory, don’t you?”
“I’m very nervous, sir.”
“But have you any hard evidence?” He answered himself: “None.” Then he asked, “What was this eighty-eight-year cycle you mentioned the other day?”
Cottage outlined his nebulous theories, but even as he voiced them he had to acknowledge how tentative they must sound. The manager, apprehensive himself about the dying gasp of Cycle 20, wanted to find substance in the young man’s ideas, but could not.
“Sam, do you agree that we have no justification for issuing an advisory?”
“I do.”
So none was issued.
 
Nine days before the flight was scheduled, the three astronauts were placed in quarantine to protect them against germs, especially colds and measles, which might be brought to them by others, and in this time they went through daily drill in the simulators. Pope, as the most Methodical, shuffled his three-by-five single pages made a very high quality fireproof French paper, summarizing and indexing ninety-six different contingency [612] sequences covering every emergency for which he would have any responsibility, and although he knew these procedures by heart, he kept cutting the pages arbitrarily, as if they formed a deck of cards, and rattling off the steps he would have to take if that accident occurred. For example, the first paper reminded him of exactly how high and how far down range the rocket ought to be at crucial stages during the first two hours:
 

 
At this point Altair will still have 236,245 miles to go before ignition for lunar orbit. That’ll take us 60 hours, 36 minutes, 7 seconds, or 60.61 hours. We’ll start out at a speed of 24,247 mph and constantly diminish to 1,398. That’ll give us-and he worked the small circular slide rule he had bought in Japan during his Korean duty-an average made-good speed of 3,898 mph.
When Claggett saw what Pope was up to, he asked, “You proposin’ to replace the computer?” and Pope said, “If I have to,” and Randy said, “Don’t lose them slips of paper.”
 
On 20 April, three days before lift-off, Region 419 reappeared almost coyly on the extreme eastern limb of the Sun, as if it were a high-school-freshman girl peering around a corner in her first modish dress. Cottage, staring with the keenest interest, could detect nothing, but when [613] he alerted the manager that the region was again visible, three experts crowded into the telescope area to compare judgments.
“Lots of regions on the Sun more active than that,” one old-timer said.
“Granted,” the manager said, “but is there any evidence of significant change?”
“None,” Cottage said. “If you’ll compare photographs of fifteen days ago, you’ll see it’s less active now.”
“Thank God. Anything could have happened on that other side.”
 
The astronauts went to bed on the night of 22 April with such a wealth of information that only young men in the finest physical condition could have hoped to keep it in order and available. Claggett, for whom this would be his fourth trip, told the NASA people who dined with them, “In raw data to be handled, if Gemini was indexed at 1.0, my Apollo flight was 2.3, but this one, to the other side of the Moon, it’s got to be 3.3. This is really complex.”
They were wakened for breakfast at 0400, and Deke Slayton with five other NASA officials was surprised when Claggett lifted his glass of orange juice and toasted: “To William Shakespeare, whose birthday we celebrate with a mighty bang.” Slayton helped them dress and accompanied them to Complex 39, where a score of searchlights played on the waiting rocket and nearly a million spectators gathered in the pre-dawn to watch the last flight of this majestic prototype as it headed for regions doubly mysterious.
Despite NASA’s unhappiness with the inaccurate description Expedition to the Dark Side of the Moon, this had become the popular designation, and more than three thousand newsmen and women waited in and around the grandstand erected on the far side of protective lagoons, five miles distant. Automatic cameras, emplaced in bunkers around the Complex, would ensure excellent shots of the historic moment.
By elevator the astronauts rode 340 feet in the air, walked across a bridge to the White Room, and with hardly a pause, proceeded directly to the capsule. Without ceremony, Claggett eased himself into the left-hand seat, and while he adjusted his bulky suit Dr. Linley awaited his [614] turn, assuring Deke Slayton, who had picked him for this flight, that he would surely bring back rock samples which would answer some of the questions about the Moon’s structure and perhaps its origin. Then he slipped into the right-hand seat, after which Pope eased himself into the one in the middle.
When the men were finally in place, strapped flat on their backs to the seats specially molded to their forms, the critical moment of the countdown arrived. In a bunker below, Dieter Kolff looked stolidly ahead, assuring himself that his final Saturn would soar as planned. At 00:00:00 he saw a blinding flash of fire and felt the ground tremble, as 28,000 gallons of water per second gushed forth to quench the flames, and another 17,000 gallons protected the skin of the machine. From this deluge the rocket began to rise.
Inside the capsule the three astronauts barely felt the lift-off, and Linley, who had not flown before, said, “Instruments say we’re off,” and Pope, busy with check sheets, tapped the geologist on the arm and nodded.
At this moment, when it was assured that Apollo 18 would be successfully airborne, control passed from Cape Canaveral, whose engineers had done their job, to Houston, where Mission Control had hundreds of experts prepared to feed information and instructions into the system:
HOUSTON: All systems go.
APOLLO: We’re getting ready for jettison.
In less than three minutes the huge Stage I had discharged its obligation, lifting the entire burden of 6,300,000 pounds eight miles straight up, and now it was useless; indeed, it was worse than useless, for it constituted dead weight and had to be discarded before Stage II could be fired. So Claggett watched as automatic switches-he had more than six hundred above and about him-blew Stage I away, allowing it to fall harmlessly into the Atlantic some miles offshore. With satisfaction, Pope noted that all events so far had adhered to his schedule.
Since Apollo 18 developed no pogo, these first moments of flight were extremely gentle, no more than a G and a half developing, but when Claggett ignited the five powerful engines of Stage II, the rocket seemed to leap upward from an altitude of a mere eight miles to a majestic 112 and to a velocity of more than 15,000 miles an hour. The flight was on its way.
[615] Now Houston began to feed in data, all suggestions being delivered by a team of three CapComs, and it had been agreed that Hickory Lee and Ed Cater would conduct most of the communication. Lee was speaking:
HOUSTON: Okay, Apollo 18. You must be doing everything right.
APOLLO: We were happy to avoid pogo.
HOUSTON: Sometimes our engineers develop real smarts.
APOLLO: Pope speaking. This craft is sure roomier than Gemini. I can hardly wait for the signal to run about.
HOUSTON: You stay put, Bunny Rabbit.
Now Claggett jettisoned Stage II with its five massive engines and Apollo was powered by only the single strong engine in Stage III, the one that would be burned once to insert the vehicle into orbit around the Earth and once more to thrust Apollo into its course to the Moon, after which it, too, would be discarded. But of course the system as a whole would still have the smaller engines in the modules, and after Stage III was jettisoned, about three hours into the flight, these smaller rockets would control until the landing capsule returned to Earth.
At the 84-minute mark a conversation of immense importance began:
HOUSTON: All systems say go.
APOLLO: We read the same.
HOUSTON: We’re ready to make the big decision.
APOLLO: No opposition here.
HOUSTON: It’s go for the Moon.
APOLLO: We read 17,432 speed at an altitude of 119.6 miles.
HOUSTON: Roger. Fire at 01:26:28. And you’ll be on your proper trajectory.
With everything set for a long, leisurely drift to the Moon, the men turned to an exercise that was fundamental to the flight but which might have terrified one not accustomed to space. The components of the vast machine had been packaged in a way that would provide the best aerodynamic surface for climbing through the dense atmosphere, and this required that they be packaged in what one might call an upside-down position; Claggett called it ass-backwards. But now, since frictional drag in space was negligible, one shape was as good as another for drifting [616] through the reaches, and it was advisable for the astronauts to take their monstrous machine apart-massive pieces drifting independently at nearly 18,000 mph-and reassemble them properly, at which time the cumbersome unnecessary portions would be jettisoned and allowed to fall back and burn up in the atmosphere.
“Wish me luck,” Claggett said as he began this preposterous maneuver, and when the parts had been separated and the command and service modules, as a single unit, had been turned completely around, he edged them gently against the lunar module and docked them. Then with great skill he pulled his entire package away from the useless Stage III and watched as it started its swift descent to destruction. The astronauts were alone in the small vehicles that would deposit them on the Moon.
But there was one further obligation. As the tricky maneuver ended, Claggett and Pope did something that no former astronauts had ever done: with the most careful timing they fired the explosive bolts, knocking open the hatch cover and allowing the three spring-loaded communication satellites to eject from the Apollo. Utilizing the same forward thrust that their mother ship had, they would in due course reach a position near the Moon, but much too high and too speedy to attain orbit. At that time Claggett would send a radio signal which would activate a small retrorocket in each satellite, causing it to drop dutifully into its assigned position around the Moon. There it would serve as the vital connection with Earth when the astronauts were working on the other side.
“Now we can go to sleep,” Claggett said, for it would be a slow, methodical, totally supervised trip that Apollo 18 would engage in for the next sixty hours. Claggett would play country music on his tape machine, Pope the symphonies of Beethoven when it came his turn. Dr. Linley monitored communications with Houston and took note of the NCAA basketball scores as CapCom Cater read them off. On the second night, to coincide with prime-time television in the States, Dr. Linley activated Altair’s television camera and relayed to Earth a fifty-minute program depicting life aboard the spacecraft. Claggett told some rather dreadful Texas jokes, mainly about his uncles, but the highlight was an exposition by Pope of the consequences of weightlessness. He showed how a spill of water [617] formed a globule, how one than would sleep with his head in one position, his companion upside down relatively, and the special problems of eating and drinking in space. To delight the children he added, “Going to the bathroom isn’t simple, either.” He used the word urine and showed how it was expelled from the capsule, and then he asked Linley to carry his camera behind his, Pope’s, head, so that the children could see the absolute welter of switches the astronauts had to memorize. He stressed the device which had come late in the space program, a kind of metal bar behind which each switch hid, protected against accidental activation. With a grand sweep he brushed his left arm across one bank of switches and showed how such a careless gesture would leave the switches undisturbed.
He then took the camera and asked Linley to explain the heart of the system, the computers which stored the data necessary for such a flight, and as the scientist detailed the amazing amount of information the computer held, Pope said, “In a few minutes Colonel Claggett is going to fire an engine for eleven seconds, no more, no less. How does he know when and how long to fire? The computer tells him, and after he fires it, we’ll be on dead target to the Moon.”
Claggett felt the program was getting somewhat professorial, which was bound to be the case when Pope was in charge, so he took a bite of cracker, producing large crumbs, which hung in the capsule. “Catch the crumbs,” he yelled at the other two. “That’s how we do our housework up here. Catch the crumbs, you limeys. I’m Captain Bligh.” And he held the camera while Pope and Linley tried to capture the errant bits.
On the next day things sobered considerably, for the men of Altair were about to attempt something never tried before, a walk on the other side, and as the Moon loomed ahead, enormous in their small windows, they could identify areas where the earlier Apollos had landed, and they felt momentary remorse that they were not headed for any of the sites they had memorized as beginning astronauts. But when they swung around the edge of the Moon and saw for the first time the strange and marvelous mountains awaiting them, they gasped with delight.
Flight plan called for them to make many orbits of the Moon before actually descending, and in this waiting [618] period they talked with Hickory Lee in Houston:
APOLLO: Things couldn’t look smoother.
HOUSTON: Who wrote Claggett’s lines for the television show?
APOLLO: Joe Miller, two hundred years ago.
HOUSTON: The show was an enormous success. Editors liked Pope’s explanation of weightlessness.
APOLLO (Claggett speaking): So did we. I never understood it before.
HOUSTON: Could you see any debris from previous landings?
APOLLO: None. And we really searched.
HOUSTON: That’s hard to believe. When you drop to lower orbit, of course ...
APOLLO: Our landing spot is in darkness now, but what we can see of the lighted area looks reassuring. Totally different from the Earth side. Many, many more craters.
HOUSTON: We want you to make four sunlight passes.
APOLLO: You can be sure we want to.
HOUSTON: Any glitches?
APOLLO: None whatever. Fingers crossed, but this has been a perfect mission so far.
 
There was a glitch. Sam Cottage, monitoring the Sun on the morning after lift-off, saw with interest that Region 419 had maintained its horseshoe configuration, with signs indicating that a sunspot big enough to see with the naked eye might be developing, but there was no indication that a solar proton event might erupt. His summary that day informed the world and NASA scientists:
 
Region 419 produced several subflares. New spots are appearing in white light. Region exhibiting mixed polarities. Geomagnetic field likely to remain unsettled. Region likely to produce moderate flares.
 
But on the next day, as the astronauts were preparing their approach to the Moon, Region 419 subsided dramatically, so that the summary contained nothing to alert the NASA scientists that anything of importance might be impending.
However, Cottage could not sleep, and during the hours when Claggett and Linley were preparing their descent [619] to the Moon, he was alone in his workroom, reviewing all the data regarding Cycle 20 and the behavior of Region 419, and the more mathematics he applied to what was before him, the more apparent it became that if his theories were correct, Region 419 must soon erupt as a major flare.
He had nothing to work on except his correlations, but in the morning he carried them to the manager and said, “Here I am again. Statistically, everything would balance out if 419 did go bang.”
“We’re not gypsies telling fortunes.”
“All right, disregard my figures. What do you think?”
“It’s a troublesome region, but dammit, we don’t have enough here to warrant an alert.”
And again none was issued.
 
On 26 April, as the two astronauts were making their final decisions regarding a descent to the Moon, Sam Cottage did not leave his watching post for lunch, because a routine event was occurring on the Sun which, although it involved no specific danger, did produce a period of maximum risk to the two men who would be walking on the Moon. Region 419 was moving from the eastern half of the Sun’s visible surface to the western, and this made it triply threatening. First, because of solar rotation the paths followed by energetic atomic particles thrown out by the Sun are curved, so that those originating on the western half are more directly channeled toward the Earth and Moon. Even a truly massive flare on the eastern half would do little damage, for its ejecta would curve outward and away from Earth, to be lost in space. Second, the travel time for deadly particles originating on the western half is much shorter than those coming from the eastern, so that the likelihood of their overtaking the astronauts before they could seek shelter was much greater. Third, solar-flare particles reaching Earth or Moon from the western side are just more energetic than those from the east.
The most threatening single position for a flare is twenty to forty-five degrees west of the Sun’s central meridian, and that was the ominous area into which Region 419 now entered.
When Sam missed his lunch, his girl friend appeared with a sandwich and watched the Sun with him. “I was [620] jittery yesterday,” he said. “Took all my data to the boss and showed him nothing. He told me we weren’t gypsy fortunetellers, and he was right. Look. It’s a calm Sun. Region 419 is transiting from east to west in an orderly fashion. This time we’re going to escape, but I’m still convinced that before Cycle 20 ends, there has to be a bangeroo.”
“Lucky for the guys up there it skips us this time,” she said.
“Why, are they on the Moon?”
“Not yet. But I heard the broadcast from Houston and they’re on their way down.” She hesitated. Seeing that he was bleary-eyed and nervous, she said, “Why don’t you take a walk with me over to the library? You could use a break.”
“I want to see this thing vanish off the western limb.”
“How many hours?,
“Six more days.” Then he broke into a laugh and surrendered. “All right, off we go, but only for an hour.”
 
At about the time that Sam Cottage was going to the library with his girl, Claggett and Linley were slipping through the chute that carried them into the landing module, and after they had satisfied themselves that everything was in readiness, they signaled Pope that he could cast them loose, but he was so busy verifying the check lists that governed his solitary command of the capsule, that he asked for more time: “I’ve got three more pages. I want this place to be locked up when you pull away.”
“We want it, too,” Claggett said over the intercom. “Something to come home to.”
At the conclusion of his meticulous checking Pope cried, “Randy, it’s everything go. Contact Houston.”
So the word was given; the computers aloft and their mates in Houston concurred, and the Luna broke away to start its descent to what Tucker Thompson had told his readers was “the dark and dangerous chasm in which unknown forces threaten the life of any trespasser.” Dr. Mott, reading the report in Folks, growled, “The basic forces are identical with those which govern Brooklyn. Only the landscape is different.”
It certainly was. As the Sun began to illuminate regions farther and farther into the hemisphere, Claggett and [621] Linley could see a Moon very different from the Earth side they had once studied so assiduously. Here there were no vast seas, no multitude of smooth-centered craters, no rilles leading out in tantalizing patterns. This was a brutish Moon composed of great mountain ranges, valleys perilously deep. The Earth side had been known for twenty thousand years and mapped for three hundred. Grammar-school children could make themselves familiar with their side, but only scientists studying the Russian and American photographs could say that they knew much about Luna’s chosen landing spot.
With unmatched skill, Claggett brought the lander right down the middle of the corridor-enough Sun to throw shadows that identified every hillock-and as the long delicate probes which dangled from the bottom of the landing pads reached down to touch the Moon and alert the astronauts to turn off their power, lest they fly too hard onto the rocky soil, the final conversation with Houston took place:
LUNA: Everything as ordered. God, this is different.
HOUSTON: We read perfection. Soon now.
LUNA: No signals from the probes. Could they be malfunctioning?
HOUSTON: You’re still well above the probe level. All’s well.
LUNA (Claggett speaking): Too busy to talk now. Drifting to left. Too much.
LUNA (Linley speaking): No strain. Straighten up, dead ahead I see it.
LUNA (Claggett speaking): I can’t see a damned thing. We’re tilted.
LUNA (Linley speaking): You are tilted. Left. Five degrees.
LUNA (Claggett speaking): I thought I was. There, that’s better. Houston, I see now. All is copasetic.
LUNA (Linley speaking): Perfect landing.
HOUSTON: Great job.
As gently as if he were parking a large car at a supermarket, Randy Claggett had brought Luna to rest at the extreme far edge of the Sun’s rays. Ahead lay darkness, soon to be converted into dazzling sunlight; behind lay the areas which had been bathed in sunlight but which would later pass into the terrible cold and darkness of space [622] where no atmosphere reflected light.
LUNA: We’ve had a close look through the windows. Same only different.
HOUSTON (Ed Cater as CapCom): You must get some shut-eye.
LUNA: We want some.
HOUSTON: All systems shut down?
LUNA: All secured.
HOUSTON: We’ll waken you in seven hours. Egress in nine.
LUNA: That’s what we came for.
 
So eager was Sam Cottage to see what his Sun was going to offer the morning of 27 April that he unlimbered his solarscope an hour before dawn, then spent his time nervously waiting for the great red disk to appear over the flatlands to the east. For about an hour after sunrise it would be fruitless to take photographs, for the Sun would be so low in the east that a camera would be unable to penetrate effectively the extreme thickness of atmosphere. Later, when it stood overhead, the thickness would be at a minimum and good photographs would become possible. Even so, he studied the Sun through its blanket of haze to see whether any conspicuous event had happened overnight.
Against the possibility that he might have to issue an alert, he spent his time reviewing the data on radiation; the present thinking of the world’s experts was summarized in The Rem Table (Roentgen Equivalent in Man), from which sample lines read:
 
100-150 Rems: Vomiting, nausea but no serious disability.
340-420 Rems: All personnel sick. 20% deaths within 2 weeks.
500-620 Rems: All personnel very sick. 50% deaths within 1 month. Survivors incapacitated about 6 months.
690-930 Rems: Immediate severe vomiting, nausea. Up to 100% fatalities ...
6,200 Rems: Total incapacitation almost immediately. All personnel dead.
 
[623] These data, of course, referred to “an unprotected white male,” and the dosage could be dramatically reduced by various kinds of protection: 560 Rems striking an unprotected human drop to 400 if he wears his astronaut’s suit; to 128 if he can get back inside the lunar module; to 26 if he makes it to the command module, with its solid sides and ablative shield; and to an inconsequential 7 if he stands behind the stone wall inside a well-constructed house.
When Cottage had digested both sets of figures he concluded: That’s why they keep people like me on watch. Early warning. If the man’s caught unprotected, he’s dead. If we can get him back inside that command module, he survives.
In the fading darkness, while he waited for the blazing appearance of the Sun, he thought of himself as an ancient Aztec priest on the highest altar at Tenochtitlán waiting in darkness for the return of the life-giver, and he thought: They knew what they were doing. They knew where the power came from.
When light filled the room Cottage walked nervously about, stopping now and then to study the remarkable series of photographs taken on 23 February 1956 showing several stages of the greatest solar flare ever recorded. It would have generated, Cottage estimated, a total dose of more than 2,000 Rems as measured on the Moon.
Now came the Sun, this all-powerful agency, this source of light and heat and life and continuance which most men accepted so casually and understood so poorly. Sam, unusually captivated by the power of his star, stared at it naked-eyed as it rose orange-red, and paid his tribute:
 
What a powerhouse! I still don’t believe it. During all the billions of years you’ve been in existence you’ve thrown into space six million tons of matter every second. And you can go on doing it for another ten billion years without using up even 1/100th of 1% of your mass. Please, please restrain yourself for three more days.
 
[624] While Cottage was pleading for days of grace, Hickory Lee from Houston was trying to awaken his two astronauts with a persistent “Luna, Houston. Luna, Houston.” And when he succeeded he warned them not to skip breakfast; then he confirmed schedules as they opened the hatch on the lunar module and lowered their ladder.
Randy Claggett’s style was to be irreverent about everything: marriage, fatherhood, test-piloting or engaging Russian MiGs in Korea, but when he felt his heavy boot touch the surface of the Moon and realized that he was standing on a portion of the universe which no one on Earth would ever see, not even with the most powerful telescope, he was overcome with the solemnity of the moment:
LUNA: Nothing could prepare you for this moment. The photographs weren’t even close. This is ... it’s staggering. An endless landscape of craters and boulders.
HOUSTON: And not a dark side at all?
LUNA: The Sun shines brilliantly, but it’s sure dark in spirit.
As soon as Paul Linley joined him on the surface, a curious transformation occurred: up to now Claggett had been the skilled test pilot in command, but here among the rocks of a wildly unfamiliar terrain, the geologist assumed control, and he reminded Claggett that their first responsibility was to collect rocks immediately, lest they have to take off in a hurry. Placing the scientific instruments and doing the systematic sample collecting could come later.
Only when the emergency bags were filled with rock samples and stowed aboard did the two men proceed to perform an act which seemed miraculous when it was flashed by means of the orbiting satellites to television watchers back on Earth: at an opening in the base of the lunar module they opened a flap, activated a series of devices, and stood back as a most bizarre creation started to emerge like a chrysalis about to become a butterfly. It looked much like a frail shopping cart that had been run over in some truck accident, compacted and twisted, but as it came into sunlight, its various parts, which were spring-loaded, began to unfold of themselves: four wheels mysteriously appeared, a steering handle, a tonneau with [625] seats. Like a child’s toy unfolding at Christmas, a complete Moon rover materialized, with batteries strong enough to move it about for three days or eighty miles, “whichever comes first,” as Claggett reported to Houston.
When the rover stood clear, the astronauts did not leap into it for a gambol across the Moon; in fact, they ignored it as they went about the serious business of unloading and positioning the complex of scientific instruments which would make this journey fruitful for the next ten years. In each of the preceding Apollo missions, men had placed on the Moon devices which were expected to send messages to Earth for up to a year, but they had been so beautifully constructed, with so many sophisticated by-passes if things went wrong, that all of them were still functioning long after their predicted death. “Sometimes we do things right,” Claggett said as he emplaced the instrument which would measure the force of the solar wind.
“You seem to have the wires crossed,” Hickory Lee cautioned from Houston. “Red to red.”
“I had it ass-backwards,” Claggett said, and Lee had to remind him: “We’re working with an open mike.” Prior to every flight, NASA officials had warned Claggett that since what he said would be heard by millions or even billions of people around the world, he must censor his ebullient speech, and this he promised to do, but occasionally a test-pilot phrase crept in and NASA shuddered, for the men in charge knew that every vulgarism would bring thousands of protests and even questions in Congress: “How could you men who stood closer to heaven than men have ever stood before use such language?” And Mott, listening to the exchange, knew exactly what Claggett would reply: “Senator, it was a serious moment. Houston was right. I was about to muck up the whole experiment because I did have the wires ass-backwards.”
When the eight separate scientific devices were placed and the antenna which would relay their findings were oriented so that the satellites could intercept their transmissions, the two men were ready to send test signals.
HOUSTON: We read you loud and clear.
LUNA: Voltages in order?
HOUSTON: Could not be better.
LUNA: We’re going to rest fifteen minutes.
[626] HOUSTON: You earned it.
LUNA: Then we start on Expedition One. Seven miles to the reticulated crater.
HOUSTON: Roger. Are you checking your dosimeters?
LUNA: Regular.
The astronauts gave this much-used word its Mexican pronunciation reg-u-larrrr, with heavy accent on the last syllable, which made it a fine-sounding statement: not good, not bad, nothing out of the way, just regularrrr. If someone had asked Claggett what kind of test pilot he had been at Pax River, he would have said, “Regularrrr,” flipping his right palm face-up, face-down. “Nothing special. Regularrrr.”
After their rest, taken to avoid perspiration or heavy breathing which might consume too much oxygen, the two men climbed into the rover with Dr. Linley at the controls, for the machine was his responsibility, and as the rover pulled away, Houston received a remarkable message:
LUNA: Linley speaking. Please someone inform my uncle Dr. Gawain Butler, who would not allow me to drive his used Plymouth, that I am now chauffeuring a jalopy with a sticker price of ten million clams.
HOUSTON: Obey all traffic signs.
Each trip had been constructed with almost every minute accounted for; the men would work incessantly, searching for specific things that would illuminate the history of this other side. The distances to be traveled had been carefully studied, for a basic consideration had to be the point of safe return, that point so far removed from the module that if the rover broke down completely, the astronauts could still hike back, taking into account exhaustion and oxygen supply. On previous flights six miles out had been the limit, but Claggett and Linley were in such superb physical shape, and their traveling gear had been so improved, that seven miles was being authorized.
This carried them to one of the most interesting small craters on this side, one whose flat central section was so reticulated like a mud flat in August that the astronauts had named it the Giraffe Crater. When they climbed a small mound at its edge Linley gasped with pleasure, and informed Houston that it was even more exciting than they had supposed when studying photographs.
[627] LUNA: Magnificent. We have a whole new world here.
HOUSTON: Better change that to Moon.
LUNA: Corrected. We’re going down on foot to collect samples.
HOUSTON: Too steep for the rover?
LUNA: We think so.
HOUSTON: Roger. We’ll follow you with the television camera.
LUNA: We’re going left. To get those rocks that look yellowish.
It was truly miraculous. The two astronauts left the rover and descended gingerly into the crater, but as they went, technicians in Houston sent electronic commands to the television camera mounted on the side of the rover, and obediently it followed the progress of the men. Its electrical impulses were dispatched by a special antenna on the rover to one of the waiting satellites, which reflected them to collecting stations at Honeysuckle in Australia and Goldstone in California, where they were transformed into television pictures for commercial stations. And the linkage was so perfect that operators in Houston were able to point the camera and activate it rather more meticulously than a man could have done had he stayed in the flimsy rover.
 
At the Sun Study Center in Boulder, Sam Cottage turned the cranks which moved his solarscope into position, brought the hydrogen-alpha filter into the optics in order to obtain the most sensitive view of activity on the Sun, and waited for the great star to lose its redness so he could get a clear look at its face, and when he did so he saw that Region 419 had reached the precise spot from which it could create the maximum danger. It had edged across the mid-line at which it would have stood closest to the Moon but still remained close enough to deliver a powerful shot, and it had entered the ultra-dangerous western hemisphere from which extra-powerful discharges were possible.
With every minute successfully negotiated, the possibility of danger diminished, and Sam was pleased to see that 419 remained quiescent; however, for his morning summary he did consult his charts to make an estimate [628] of the size of the region, and was surprised at his figure: “Region 419 is now 63 times larger than the entire surface of the Earth.”
Before filing his report he looked back to verify the astonishing size of this disturbance, and as he did so he saw the area expand significantly: “Jesus, what’s happening?”
He reached backward for his telephone, but his attention became riveted on that distant battleground where primordial forces had reached a point of tension that could no longer be sustained. With one mighty surge, Region 419 exploded in titanic fury. It was no longer simply a threatening active region; it was one of the most violent explosions of the past two hundred years.
“Oh Jesus!” Cottage gasped, and while he fumbled for the phone, figures and delimitations galloped through his head: Sun to Moon, less than 93,000,000 miles. What we see now happened 8.33 minutes ago. But radiation travels at speed of light, so it’s already hit the Moon. Oh Jesus. those poor men! Rems-5,000, maybe 6,000 total dose? And in the brief seconds it took for him to pick up the phone, two thoughts flashed across his mind: What else might have happened during the eight minutes it took that flash to reach here? and God, God, please protect those men.
He spread the alarm, but by the time his superiors could alert NASA, two other observatories and three amateurs in the Houston area had already reported that a gigantic solar proton event was under way.
 
HOUSTON: Luna, Altair, do you read me?
ALTAIR: I read.
HOUSTON: Why doesn’t Luna answer? Altair, can you see Luna at this point?
ALTAIR: Negative.
LUNA (breaking in): I read you, Houston.
HOUSTON: There seems to have been an event on the Sun. Have you checked your dosimeters?
LUNA: Uh-oh!
HOUSTON: We read your telemetry as very high.
LUNA: So do we. Dosimeter is saturated.
ALTAIR: Confirm. Very high.
HOUSTON: We now have confirmation from different [629] sources. Major solar event. Classification 4-bright, X9 in x-ray flux.
LUNA: What probable duration?
HOUSTON: Cannot predict. Wait. Human Ecology says two days, three days.
LUNA (Claggett speaking): I think we may have a problem.
HOUSTON: The drill is clear. Return to lunar module. Lift off soonest. Make rendezvous soonest.
LUNA: We do not have data and time for lift-off. We do not have data and time for rendezvous.
HOUSTON: Our computers will crank up and feed you. What is your ETA back at lunar module?
LUNA: Distance, seven miles; top speed, seven miles. Yield, one hour.
HOUSTON: How long to button up?
ALTAIR: Am I to drop to rendezvous orbit?
HOUSTON: Stand by, Altair. We’ll handle your problems later.
ALTAIR: Roger. Wilco.
HOUSTON: Repeat, how long button up, Luna?
LUNA: Abandonin’ gear, twenty minutes.
HOUSTON: Abandon all gear. Luna, there is no panic, but speed essential.
LUNA: Who’s panickin’? We’re climbin’ out of a crater, rough goin’.
HOUSTON: Manufacturer assures rover can make top speed eleven miles per hour.
LUNA: And if we break down? What top speed walkin’?
HOUSTON: Roger. Maintain safe speed.
LUNA: We’ll try nine.
HOUSTON: We’re informed nine was tested strenuously. Proved safe.
LUNA: We’ll try nine.
 
Now the Sun reminded Earthlings of its terrible power, for it poured forth atomic particles and radiation at an appalling rate, sending them coursing through planetary space and bombarding every object they encountered. Wave after wave of solar-flare particles and high-energy radiation attacked the Earth, but most of this was rejected by our protective atmosphere; however, enough did penetrate to create bizarre disturbances.
[630] ... In northern New York a power company found its protective current breakers activated by huge fluxes of electrical power coursing along its lines, coming from no detectable source to disrupt entire cities.
... An Air Force general, trying vainly to communicate with a base one thousand miles away, realized that the entire American defense system was impotent: “If Russia wanted to attack us at a moment of total confusion, this would be it.” Then he smiled wanly. “Of course, their system will be as messed up as ours.”
... Taxi drivers in Boston, listening to the radios connecting them with their home offices, received instructions directing them to addresses in Kansas City.
... A world-famous pigeon race between Ames, Iowa, and Chicago launched 1,127 birds, with a likelihood from past experiences that more than a thousand would promptly find their way home. But since all magnetic fields were in chaos, only four made it, bedraggled, confused and six hours late.
... People in Florida reported seeing the aurora borealis for the first time in their lives, and in northern Vermont the display was so brilliant that people could read by it.
... And in Houston the knowing men in charge of Apollo 18 assembled quietly, aware of how powerless they were. The mission controller and Dr. Feldman looked at the dosimeter reports and shuddered. More than 5,000 Rems were striking the Moon. Very calmly the controller said “Give me the bottom line.”
Dr. Feldman ticked off on his fingers: “Highest reading we’ve had is 5,830 Rems,” and a NASA scientist said, “Absolutely fatal,” but Feldman continued his recital: “If, and I repeat if, 5,830 strike a naked man, he’s dead. But our men have the finest suits ever devised. Enormous protection. Plus their own clothes. Plus the most important aspect of all. It isn’t radiation that might kill them. It’s the outward flow of protons from the Sun. And they will not reach the Moon for another fifty minutes.” He ticked off his last two points: “We rush our men into their Moon lander, where they find more protection. Then we rocket them aloft to the orbiter with its heavy shield.”
Throwing both hands in the air, he shouted, “We can save those men!”
The controller summoned his three CapComs and said, [631] “No fluctuation in voice. No hysteria at this end.” To the hundreds gathering, he conveyed the same message: “I want all ideas and I want them quick. But only the CapComs are to speak with the astronauts.”
Turning to the chief astronomers, he asked, “Could this have been predicted?”
“No,” they said. “Closing months of a quiet cycle. It should not have happened.”
The controller wanted to say, “Well, it did. Six thousand Rems.” But he knew he must betray neither anxiety or irritation. “Now it’s our job to get them home safe.”
 
By the time Claggett and Linley reached their rover and turned it around, they no longer bothered with their dosimeters, because once the reading passed the 1,000-Rem mark, any further data were irrelevant. They were in trouble and they knew it, but they did have a chance if they did everything right.
For nearly an hour their rover crawled back toward the waiting lunar module, itself attacked by the solar outpouring, and the two men wanted to talk about their predicament but could think of nothing sensible to say. So they took refuge in trivialities: “Men have absorbed large doses of this stuff, haven’t they, Linley?” and the scientist replied, “Every day, in dentist’s offices,” and Claggett asked, “Do those lead blankets they throw over you do any good?” and Linley said, “We could profit from a couple right now.”
And then Houston heard raucous laughter coming from Luna. It was Linley: “Hey, Claggett! Did you see those medicals they threw at us last week? Said that a man with black skin had a 23.41 better chance of repelling radiation than one with white skin. Hot diggity! At last it pays to be black.”
Then Claggett’s voice: “Move over, brother, so I can sit in your shadow.”
 
Alone in Altair, John Pope carefully shuffled his summary sheets until he came to one bearing the elegant printing he had learned at Annapolis: RADIATION PRECAUTIONS, and when he had memorized his instructions to himself, he took down the massive volume of additional advice and went through each line, so that by the time his two companions reached their module he would be as prepared as [632] any man could be. Like them, he felt no sense of panic, only the added responsibility of doing the right thing in an emergency.
HOUSTON: Altair, have you cranked in the data we sent?
ALTAIR: Affirmative.
HOUSTON: You have the drill on turning the CM around so the ablative shield keeps facing the Sun?
ALTAIR: Affirmative.
HOUSTON: Execute immediately rendezvous has been established.
ALTAIR: Will do.
HOUSTON: What is your dosimeter reading now?
ALTAIR: As before.
HOUSTON: Excellent ... your reading is much lower than Luna’s. You’re going to be all right.
ALTAIR: All ready for rendezvous. Get them up here. The CapCom, up to this point, had been one of the older astronauts, a man with a stable, reassuring voice, but the NASA command felt that it would be advisable to use in this critical situation someone with whom the men upstairs were especially familiar, and Hickory Lee took over:
HOUSTON: This is Hickory. All readings are good. (This was a lie; the dosimeter readings were terrifying. But it was not a lie, either; the prospects for an orderly rendezvous still existed.)
LUNA: Good to hear that Tennessee voice. We can see the module. ETA fifteen minutes.
HOUSTON: I will read lift-off data as soon as you’re inside. You don’t have a pad available now, do you?
LUNA: Negative. Pads not a high priority aboard this bone-rattler.
LUNA: Linley here. We have terrific rock samples. Will salvage.
HOUSTON: Appreciated, but if transfer takes even one extra minute, abandon.
LUNA: We will not abandon.
HOUSTON: Neither would I. What’s that? Who? (After a pause): Luna, Dr. Feldman is here. He asks, “Dr. Linley, is your voice sort of drying up?”
LUNA: Affirmative.
HOUSTON (Dr. Feldman speaking): Imperative you swallow spit.
[633] LUNA: Fresh out of spit. Send orange juice.
HOUSTON (Lee speaking): Dr. Feldman says, “Dr. Linley, keep your mouth moist.”
LUNA: Mouth! Be moist!
Mission Control in Houston had received, in the past hour, a flood of additional men rushing to emergency posts, each determined to get the two astronauts into the slightly better environment of the lunar module and headed for rendezvous with Altair. But when they saw the shocking data from the dosimeters they could not be sanguine; this was going to be a tough ride, a very tough ride.
HOUSTON: Park the rover close to the module.
LUNA: Roger.
HOUSTON: Inform me the moment Claggett steps into the module. I will start reading data for check. Nothing is to be done without full check.
LUNA: I have always been one of the world’s most careful checkers. Call me Chicken Claggett.
HOUSTON: Give me the word.
As soon as Linley stopped the rover, Claggett dashed for the module, climbed in, and started taking down the instructions Hickory Lee transmitted. Since NASA could not wait for an ideal lift-off time, when Altair would be in maximum position to achieve rendezvous, schedules had to be improvised for second best, and when Linley saw that his commander would be occupied for some minutes, he welcomed the opportunity to return to the rover to rescue the precious cargo he had collected at the reticulated crater. He had been sent to the Moon to collect rocks and he proposed to deliver them, but as he heaved aboard the second batch, he seemed to tremble and reached for a handhold that was not there.
LUNA: I think Dr. Linley has fainted.
HOUSTON: Inside the module or out?
LUNA: Halfway in.
HOUSTON: Drag him in, secure all and lift off immediately.
LUNA: I have only partial data. He’s in. You can do wonders in one-sixth gravity.
HOUSTON: Lift off immediately.
LUNA: I am using Runway 039. Ain’t a hell of a lot of traffic on it.
[634] John Pope, coming from the Earth side of the Moon, which was now in darkness, used the sextant as a telescope to spot the module, and when he had it fixed he reported to Houston: “Everything regularrrr,” but he had already heard that Linley was unconscious and that Claggett would be making the complicated maneuvers alone: “If anyone can do it, he can.”
LUNA: Linley out cold.
HOUSTON: Have you completed your check? And his, too?
LUNA: Shipshape.
HOUSTON: It’s go.
LUNA: You ready up there, Altair?
ALTAIR: Three orbits should do it.
LUNA: Here we come.
And then, as Pope watched and the world listened, Randy Claggett, working alone, lifted the lunar module off the surface of the Moon and brought it six hundred feet into space.
HOUSTON: All readings correct. One hell of a job, Randy.
LUNA: I feel faint.
HOUSTON: Not now, Randy. Not now. You dare not.
LUNA: I ...
HOUSTON: Listen, Randy. Hickory here. Hold the controls very tight.
LUNA: It’s no good, Houston. I ...
HOUSTON: Colonel Claggett, hold tight. You must not let go. You must not let go.
LUNA (a long silence, then a quiet voice): Blessed Saint Leibowitz, keep ‘em dreamin’ down there ... (A choking sound) ...
 
John Pope, who had heard this conversation, stared at the module through his sextant, saw it waver, turn on its side, sort of skid through space, and descend toward the Moon with fatal speed.
HOUSTON: Hold on, Randy. You must not let go. Randy, you must not let go. Randy ...
ALTAIR: Luna has crashed.
HOUSTON: Location?
ALTAIR: East of landing. Mountains.
HOUSTON: Damage?
[635] ALTAIR: Obliterated.
HOUSTON: This is Hickory. Altair, climb to orbit.
ALTAIR: Negative. I must stay low to check.
HOUSTON: I’m talking with Dr. Feldman. He asks, “Is your voice sort of drying up?”
ALTAIR: Obliterated. My God, they were obliterated.
HOUSTON: Hickory here. Altair, you must ascend to orbit. You are wasting fuel.
ALTAIR: I will not leave until I see where they are.
HOUSTON: You’ve already told us. East of landing. Mountains.
ALTAIR: I will not leave them.
HOUSTON: I think he turned off his mike. John, John, this is Hickory. It’s imperative that you proceed to orbit and prepare to ignite engine. John, John, this is Hickory.
 
For two orbits John Pope flew alone through the intense radiation being poured out by the errant Sun, and each time when he headed directly toward the Sun he realized the heavy dosage he must be absorbing, for his dosimeter was running wild, but when he slipped behind the Moon, putting that heavy body between him and the Sun, he knew that he was reasonably safe from the extreme radiation.
On each pass he stared for as long as he could at the site of the crash, and although he was at an altitude from which not much could be seen clearly, it was nevertheless obvious that the astronauts’ suits had been ripped by the crash and that death must have been more or less instantaneous, and he chanted to himself.
 
“How different death is there. No worms to eat the body, no moisture to corrupt. A thousand years from now, there they’ll be, the first, the only. When wanderers come from the other galaxies, there our two will be, immaculate, unburied, waiting for the resurrection, all parts intact.
 
“Oh, Randy, how I loved you. Warring together in Korea. The mock fights over the Chesapeake. The flights across the country, you pilot out, me pilot home. Those sixteen days in Gemini, with you drinking nothing but orange juice and farting in my face.
 
[636] The hours of simulation. Drinking beer with Debby Dee.
 
“Jesus, Randy, it can never happen again-but it happened once.”
 
In hurried consultations NASA agreed that they would explain these two orbits of silence as a radio blackout caused by the Sun flare, which had now reached catastrophic proportions. Astronomers all across the world were focused on it, and scores of photographs were showing television viewers just how titanic the explosion had been, so that John Pope’s temporary silence must not be construed as anything untoward. Without discernible agitation, Houston asked all its stations to try to make direct contact with Pope, and a welter of international voices sped toward the drifting Altair. Pope listened dully, but snapped to attention only when a familiar one echoed:
HONEYSUCKLE: This is Australia. (Or-stry-lee-uh, the voice said) Calling Altair.
ALTAIR: Aren’t you the man who watched over Claggett and me in Gemini?
HONEYSUCKLE: The same.
ALTAIR: I remember you pronounced it Jimmin-eye.
HONEYSUCKLE: How else?
ALTAIR: I love your talk.
HONEYSUCKLE: Houston is eager to speak with you.
ALTAIR: I’d like to speak with Houston.
HONEYSUCKLE: Everything roger?
ALTAIR: Copasetic.
HONEYSUCKLE: Good on you, Cobber.
The hearty voice with its cheery brightness brought Pope back to attention, and when Houston reached him again, he was ready to talk:
ALTAIR: Luna crash confirmed. They bought the ranch.
HOUSTON: Any possibility of survivors?
ALTAIR: Negative. Luna completely fractured.
HOUSTON: Hickory speaking. John, we want you to go immediately to orbit.
ALTAIR: Roger. Wilco.
HOUSTON: John, during the blackout we calculated every mile of your way home. It looks good.
ALTAIR: I’m ready.
[637]  HOUSTON. it will be obligatory for you to get some sleep. Will you need sedatives?
ALTAIR: Negative. Negative.
HOUSTON: Can you stay alert for the next six hours?
ALTAIR: Affirmative. Six days if we have to.
HOUSTON: Six days you’ll be in a feather bed. Now, John. Do you read me clear?
ALTAIR: Affirmative.
HOUSTON: And you understand the burn sequence?
ALTAIR: Affirmative. Repeat, my mind is clear. I comprehend.
HOUSTON: You’re going to have to do everything just right. Exactly on the times we give.
ALTAIR: I intend to.
HOUSTON: And if there is anything you do not understand ...
ALTAIR: Lay off, Hickory. I intend to get this bucket safely home. You take it easy. I’ll take it easy.
HOUSTON: God bless you, Moonshiner. Bring it down.
ALTAIR: I intend to.
As methodically as if he were in the seventeenth hour of a familiar simulation, Pope ran through his check lists, took note of his fuel supplies and when the firings were to be made to correct his course so that he would enter the Earth’s domain correctly. When all was secure, so far as he could control, he said quietly to Houston, “I think it’s go all the way,” and at the signal he fired the rockets which inserted him into the orbit that would carry him about 238,850 miles back to the safety of the Pacific Ocean.
He now faced some eighty hours of loneliness, and from the left-hand seat the capsule seemed enormous; he was surprised that anyone had ever felt it to be cramped. Aware that he had been motionless for a long time while Claggett and Linley had been active on the Moon, he began to worry about his legs, and for two hours he banged away on the newly provided Exer-Genie, which produced a real sweat.
He then turned on his tape, listening to Beethoven’s joyous Seventh, but remembering how Claggett had objected to what he called spaghetti music, he found it distasteful. Instead, he routed out some of Claggett’s tapes and listened to hillbillies singing “D-i-v-o-r-c-e,” which not even his longing to see Claggett again could make [638] palatable. When CapCom Ed Cater came on from Houston to ask if he wanted to hear the news, he said curtly, “No!” So Cater said that Dr. Feldman wished to ask a few questions.
ALTAIR: Put him on.
HOUSTON (Dr. Feldman speaking): Are you experiencing any dizziness?
ALTAIR: Negative.
HOUSTON: Any excessive dryness in the throat? Any spots in the eyes?
ALTAIR: Negative.
HOUSTON: Any blood in the urine?
ALTAIR: Who looks?
HOUSTON: I do. And I want you to. Report as soon as you check.
ALTAIR: Will Comply.
HOUSTON (Cater speaking): Your favorite shrink says it’s very important he talk with you.
ALTAIR: Shoot. He may know something I don’t.
HOUSTON: Crandall is here.
ALTAIR: I remember him. Joe Rorschach.
HOUSTON: He says, “Only reason you’re up there is because he passed you.”
ALTAIR: Ask him if he remembers Claggett? Toward the end of the test Crandall showed us that blank sheet of white paper, and guys like me said, “Outer space” and “The face of the Sun,” and stuff like that, and Claggett took one quick look and said, “Two polar bears fornicating in a blizzard.”
HOUSTON: Open mike.
ALTAIR: That’s why I said fornicating. You remember what he said.
HOUSTON: Dr. Crandall says, “Claggett was stable all the way.” (No comment) And he says it’s imperative that you remain stable. You have much work to do, coming up.
ALTAIR: I’ll do it.
HOUSTON: This is Hickory. You’re doing just fine. But we want you to sleep regularly, John. We want you to listen to the news.
ALTAIR: Hey, knock it off. I’m not depressed. There’s nothing wrong with me.
HOUSTON: For sure there isn’t, John. But you ate nothing yesterday.
[639] ALTAIR: I was vomiting.
HOUSTON: You refused to listen to the news. You cut me off and you cut Cater off.
ALTAIR: I’d like to talk with Cater. I always like to talk with Cater.
HOUSTON: Cater here. We’re not kidding, John. Thirty-six hours from now you have three men’s work to do. When you give me the word, I want to go over four special check lists with you.
ALTAIR: You mean one-man emergency reentry?
HOUSTON: It could be a little tricky, you know.
ALTAIR: I figured that out a year ago. I have it programmed on my papers.
HOUSTON: You really are a straight arrow. But we can’t just let you drift along up there for all these hours ... well, alone.
ALTAIR: Plans called for me to be alone over the Moon for about this length of time.
HOUSTON: Roger, but things were different then.
ALTAIR: They sure were. Excuse me.
He refused to speak any further, but when Hickory Lee came on again they talked freely about the familiarization trip to the Amazon:
ALTAIR: If I put this bucket of bolts-Remember how Claggett used to describe his test planes? If I land this in the Amazon jungle, I’ll know how to live on hearts of palm and raw iguana.
HOUSTON: They wanted to ask you if anyone had taken any alcohol aboard?
ALTAIR: Do they want me to take it or not take it?
HOUSTON: They thought it might calm things, but I told them you never touched the stuff.
ALTAIR: Roger. I had this wild-eyed football coach who preached that the worst enemies a young man could have were cigarettes, booze, fried food, refined sugar and girls. And I was dumb enough to believe him. I’ve continued to avoid the first four.
HOUSTON: Penny’s here at Houston with us.
ALTAIR: She’s not putting on a big act, I’m sure.
HOUSTON: She’s with Debby Dee.
ALTAIR: I would expect her to be. Tell her I’ll see her May second.
[640] HOUSTON: You’re due to land May first ... remember?
ALTAIR: Hawaii, May first. Houston, May second.
HOUSTON: They’ll probably fly her out to Hawaii.
ALTAIR: Negative! Negative! She wouldn’t want to come anyway.
 
It seemed as if the entire nation, and much of the rest of the world, was watching as John Pope prepared to bring his Altair back to Earth. Prayers were said and cartoonists hailed his solitary effort; television provided meaningful analyses of his situation, and various older astronauts appeared on the tube to share their estimates of what the real danger points would be. All agreed that a practiced hand like John Pope, who had tested scores of experimental planes and engaged the enemy in combat over Korea, was not likely to panic at the necessity of doing three men’s work. The highlight of the return trip came on the last full day, when Hickory Lee was serving as CapCom:
HOUSTON: Altair, our double-domers have come up with something everyone here thinks has merit.
ALTAIR: I’m listening.
HOUSTON: They think it would be good for the nation, and for you, too, if you would turn on your television camera and let the people see what you’re doing.
ALTAIR: I wouldn’t want to leave the controls and move around.
HOUSTON: No, no! Fixed focus. (A long pause) It was our unanimous opinion ...
ALTAIR: You suggesting this to keep my mind occupied?
HOUSTON: Yes, I recommended it. Strongly.
ALTAIR: You usually know what you’re doing, Hickory.
HOUSTON: Tomorrow can be a very demanding day.
ALTAIR: What could I say on television?
HOUSTON: You have a thousand things to say. Read your emergency notes. Let them see.
ALTAIR: Does Cater concur? He’s a solid citizen.
HOUSTON: We present it to you together.
ALTAIR: The hours pass very slowly. They are very heavy. (His voice sounded weak and hollow.)
HOUSTON: That was our guess. Altair, set up the [641] camera. Make some notes. Get your ideas under control, and in forty minutes we go.
ALTAIR: Does Dr. Mott approve such a scheme?
HOUSTON: He says it’s obligatory. It will bring you all together.
ALTAIR: Roger.
At nine o’clock on the night of 30 April, prior to the time when Pope would make an important course correction, he turned on the television that stared down at him from a holding place on the bulkhead just aft of his right shoulder, and no more effective spot could have been found, for the camera did not reveal his full face, but it did display most of the capsule, especially the welter of switches and devices which confronted him.
He could not bring himself to use the pronoun I, so he fell naturally into the we, and this produced a riveting effect: “We are bringing this great spacecraft back to Earth after an abbreviated visit to the other side of the Moon.” It was clear to everyone who saw the missing seats whom he meant by we.
“Dr. Linley should be in the right-hand seat, over there. And our commander, Randy Claggett, would be riding in the middle seat. He brought us to the Moon. It was my job to bring us back.”
Then came the most dramatic segment: “When we lifted off from Cape Canaveral our two spacecraft, this one and the one going down to the Moon itself, weighed 17 tons empty. We carried 35 tons of fuel, just for these two little machines. We had to know where 40 miles of electrical wire ran, in and out. We had to memorize how 29 different systems worked, what every one of them did and how to repair each of them. Look, we had 689 separate switches to flick off and on. We had 50 separate engines to speed us through space. And we had, I believe, more than 4,000 pages of instructions we had to memorize, more or less. No one, I’m sure, could memorize that much.”
Although it was not looking at his features, the camera gave an excellent portrait of an astronaut: smallish, slim, shirt sleeves, short hair, strong, firmly set jaw which flexed now and then, showing muscles, small hands which moved masterfully, a sense of competence and a startling command of detail: “I have a diagram here of the spacecraft [642] as it was when we started out on what will be a 200-hour voyage. Here it is, 363 feet in the air. In the first two minutes we threw away the entire Stage I. Its job was to lift us into the air, and when that was done, we didn’t have to use the escape tower, fortunately, so we dropped it off at three minutes. It had no further purpose. Stage II was finished after eight minutes, and down it went. Stage III, which sent us off on our way to the Moon, lasted for about two hours, then we got rid of it. The lunar module had two parts, one we left on the Moon on purpose. The other was supposed to rejoin us, but as you know, it didn’t. If it had, we would’ve dropped it, too.
“So that leaves us only these two small parts, the service module, which carries all the things that keep us going, and tomorrow we’ll throw that away. That’ll leave this little portion I’m sitting in, and we’ll fly it down through the atmosphere backward, to fight off the heat. It will be 25,000 degrees outside tomorrow, but we won’t even feel it in here.
“And then a drogue parachute will open, a little one, and it will pull out a bigger one, and we’ll land west of Hawaii like a sea gull coming home at the end of the day, and ships will be waiting there to greet us.”
He then turned and looked directly into the camera. “Some years ago a hundred and ten of us, all test pilots, volunteered to be astronauts. Six of us were lucky enough to have been selected. Harry Jensen, perhaps the best of us, all round. He was killed by a drunken driver with God knows how many previous accidents. Timothy Bell, the only non-military man among us, flew into a radio tower. Randy Claggett, who was a legend long before this flight, got hit by a wayward Sun. That leaves Hickory Lee of Tennessee and Ed Cater of Mississippi, and me, and if the three of us could persuade NASA to send us to Mars in a craft as good as this one, we’d lift off tomorrow.
“Mankind was born of matter that accreted in space. We’ve seen dramatically these past few days how things far off in space can affect us deeply. We were meant to be in space, to wrestle with it, to probe its secrets. I’d like especially to say to Doris Linley that her husband was coming home with a multitude of secrets and new theories, and we feel his loss most grievously. The world will have to wait till next time, Doris!”
[643] He turned back to his console with its 689 separate switches, and he let the camera run, ignoring it as he went about his work, and after a while on Earth they stopped transmitting.
The men at Houston who were guarding his welfare had been prudent in asking him to make the television broadcast, for he awakened on the morning of 1 May relaxed and eager to start his last demanding tasks, and although he was now approaching an operation which had previously proved exacting for three men, he neither brooded about it nor sought to avoid thinking about it.
 
When the time came for his stripped-down craft to plunge into the atmosphere at the tremendous speed generated by a return from outer space, it would have to hit that semi-solid layer, upon which all life on Earth depends, at exactly the right angle. If it came in too directly, pointed straight at Earth, it would encounter so much opposition, it would burn up almost instantly, and if it came in at too shallow an angle, it would fail to cut into the atmosphere at all and would become like a stone that boys skip across a pond of water: the craft would bounce once, twice, five, six times, and go careening off into space, flying endlessly, Never to be seen again, and when the limited supply of oxygen vanished, the man would lie there in his couch, unbroken, unsullied, uncontaminated, moving through space forever.
Pope checked the approach once more: No steeper than 7.3° or we burn up. No shallower than 5.5° or we bounce off. This means hitting a corridor 27 miles in diameter at the end of 238,000 miles at a speed of better than 24,000 mph. Let’s hope our computer’s working.
Laymen, when they first heard of this delicate problem of reentry, often asked, “If you come in too shallow and bounce off, why not turn around and make a second try?” and they were shaken by what astronauts told them: “You won’t believe what we do just before we try to reenter.”
John Pope was now preparing for this remarkable act of faith. With about ninety minutes before scheduled splashdown, he consulted his computer and fired rockets briefly to make the final small correction in his orbit. When the computer confirmed that his capsule had responded correctly, he activated explosive devices which [644] blew off the service module, blew it right off into space. where it would burn up as it entered the atmosphere. This left him without any support system, any large supply of fuel, any of the instruments he would require for extended flight. If he missed the proper angle at reentry, he could do nothing to correct it, for all the impedimenta of flight would have vanished with the explosion. He was alone and almost powerless in a speeding vehicle heading for near-destruction.
He had rockets left for one life-saving maneuver; he could turn the capsule around so that it flew backward. presenting the big curved end with the ablative material to the incredible heat.
HOUSTON: Lee here. You never looked better, Moonshiner.
ALTAIR: Things going so well I’ve got my fingers crossed.
HOUSTON: This is your day, Moonshiner. Bring her down.
ALTAIR: I intend to.
With quiet confidence he slammed into the atmosphere. and even though he had been warned many times that it would be tougher than Gemini, he could scarcely believe it when it happened. Great flames engulfed the capsule. wiping out the sky. Huge chunks of incandescent material. 25,000° hot, roared past his window, reveling in the oxygen they were finding for their flames. More colors than, a child has in a crayon box flashed past, and at one break in the tremendous fireworks he caught a glimpse of his trail, and he calculated it must be flaming behind him for five hundred miles.
It was impossible to tell Houston of the great fire; the heat was so intense that all radio communication was blacked out; this was the flaming entry that astronauts had to make alone, and the flakes of ablated material became so thick that he felt sure that everything was going to burn up, but the interior temperature did not rise one degree.
The flames stopped. He could feel the G’s slacking off as the capsule was braked, and when he activated the drogue parachute, he felt with satisfaction and almost joy its first sharp grip.
USS TULAGI: We have you in sight, Altair. Three good chutes.
[645] ALTAIR: Quite a reception committee you arranged. All the Roman candles.
USS TULAGI: Looks like you’re going to splash down about six-tenths of a nautical mile away. Perfect landing.
ALTAIR: That’s what I intended.
 
The NASA high command was outraged when they learned that the intrusive Japanese newspaperwoman Cynthia Rhee intended being present at Arlington when Marine Colonel Randolph Claggett was to be buried, as it were, and Dr. Stanley Mott and Tucker Thompson of Folks were sent to her hotel in Washington to try to dissuade her from attending.
In the cab on the way, Thompson said, “I’d call it the biggest surprise of my life. The way this Debby Dee has risen to the occasion. Hard drinker, hard talker, you’d have expected her to louse up the whole procession, but what does she do? She comes on like Melanie in Gone With the Wind. Perfect picture of genteel Southern womanhood.
“I’ve been through nine NASA tragedies now, and no astronaut’s wife has played her role better than Debby Dee. It would be disgraceful if that goddamned Dragon Lady showed up to ruin the funeral.”
Thompson had proved twice that Folks knew how to handle the funerals of its astronauts, once in the Jensen case, once when Tim Bell flew into the tower; he knew where to catch the young widows to evoke the awful loss, how to photograph the kids, the minister at the graveside, and he better than most sensed what a jarring note it would be if Debby Dee were confronted by her dead hero’s mistress: “I wouldn’t blame her if she swatted Madame Butterfly right in the kisser, but I would sure hate to see it photographed. Especially by Life. They’d drive us into the ground with a shot like that.”
He explained, when the cab neared the hotel, how diligently he had worked to keep the threatening scandal out of the press. “You got a man like John Glenn, a winner like John Pope, they stand for something. People make fun of us for cultivating the Boy Scout image, but dammit, that’s what this nation wants. This man Pope, bringing that Apollo back alone, that’s heroic. Give me two million bucks, I could elect him President.”
In Cynthia’s room, an inexpensive one rented by the [646] day, Mott spoke first, and in his gentlest voice: This is terribly embarrassing ...”
“Not for me,” the Korean girl said softly.
Thompson then launched his campaign, as unctuously as possible: “Now, Miss Rhee, we know how you slipped back into America ... illegally ... and we know where you came over the border ...”
She moved a step nearer her tall adversary, a porcelain hand grenade ready to explode. “Mr. Thompson, don’t talk like a fool.”
Tucker sucked in his gut. If it was to be warfare, he was prepared with some salvos of his own. “You show your face at this funeral, Madame Butterfly, out you go ... right on your ass.”
“Why?” she asked brazenly.
“Because the senators do not want a scandal.”
“Don’t they have one already?” When Dr. Mott looked bewildered, she said, “I mean your young farmer, Sam Cottage. I’ve been talking with him about the warnings he tried to issue, but I suppose your spies have told you that.”
“Rumors,” Thompson said. “We’ve already looked into the Cottage case.”
“You hope it’s rumors. You hope there’s nothing in writing.”
“Miss Rhee,” Thompson said in a fresh attempt at conciliation. “When America has two bona-fide heroes like Claggett and Pope, you wouldn’t want to ...”
“I am attending the funeral,” she said firmly.
“Then Senator Grant is going to order you arrested.”
“What for? Hundreds of people slip across the border from Canada ... and Mexico, too.”
“I’m warning you that he’s going to hit you with the heavy stuff. Like being a prostitute.”
She laughed. She had been a world-ranging newspaperwoman, and that was all. True, she had traveled with the six astronauts exactly as she had traveled in Europe with Fangio and the other racing drivers in order to catch their unadorned stories, but if any senator tried to expel her on trumped-up charges, she would create a real scandal. “A great man lies dead on the Moon. I loved him, and it matters very little who knows it. Because one day I shall write about him, and his widow will thank me.”
[647] Thompson grew furious. “For you to appear at Arlington ... Scandal sheets are just waiting for something like this.”
“It will be very difficult for you to stop me, or for your senators, either.”
Dr. Mott felt he had to speak. “This is a solemn moment, Cindy. I’ve always aided you, when I could. Now I’m begging you to stay away.”
“Impossible. Because I’m being escorted by John Pope.”
“Pope?” Thompson yelled. “Have you been messing around with Pope, too?”
“During the flight to the Moon, Randy told John-I’ll let him tell you. He’ll be here shortly.”
Within a few minutes Pope entered, accompanied by Penny, and as soon as they saw Mott and Thompson they could guess what was happening. Pope said, “We’ve come to take Cindy to the ceremonies,” and Mott protested: “Senator Grant and Senator Glancey expressly asked that she be kept away.”
“I believe I was Randy’s best friend, and I’m prepared to say who-”
“John,” Mott interrupted, “you could make some people very high in NASA most unhappy.”
“This is the funeral of my friend. The nation is honoring a sensational man, and I know he’d want Cindy to attend.”
“How can you know such a thing?” Thompson asked, red of face.
“Because on the flight to the Moon he told Linley and me, “Soon as I get back to Earth, I’m chucking NASA and the Folks contract and marrying the Korean.” When we argued against it, especially Linley, who’d seen a lot of interracial marriages fail, Claggett said, ‘When I was flying in Korea, I shacked up with this Jo-san-’ ”
“What’s a Jo-san?” Penny asked.
“A Korean whore,” Thompson interjected, and Pope stared at him venomously: “You use that word again, Thompson, I’ll take you apart. I met Claggett’s Jo-san. Two years of college. Caught up in the war. Impossible to live, so she took a job slinging hash for the American flyers and Claggett fell in love with her. Told Linley and me she was the best loving he’d ever had, and he was mortally ashamed he hadn’t married her. Told us he didn’t want to lose happiness twice, so he was going to marry this other [648] Korean woman,” and he bowed toward Cindy.
“Mrs. Pope,” Thompson pleaded. “Can’t you bring some sense-”
“I can vouch for what my husband has just said because after you men and my two senators put the arm on Randy not to leave Debby before the flight, he took me aside in the committee room and said, and I quote with great accuracy: ‘Tell your boys they win now, but when I get back they can all go fuck a duck.’ ”
Thompson gasped. “Are you in this with your husband?” he asked weakly. 
“I sure am. And so is Debby Dee, it may surprise you to hear. I had the decency to warn her over the phone that John was determined to escort Cindy, and she said, ‘Bring the slant-eyed sonnombeech along. I think Randy would’ve had a lively time with that one.’ ”
“Pope!” Tucker Thompson shouted. “I warn you, the big men aren’t going to like this!” and Penny said, “My husband’s a big man now, and I’m his wife, and we’re taking Cindy right into the front row where she belongs.”
“Your senators will fire you if-”
“I work for my senators,” Penny said. “I do not allow them to dictate how I behave.” And when Debby Dee arrived, mascara running and blouse awry, Penny took charge. “Debby Dee, this is Miss Rhee,” and Debby Dee said gently, “I suppose you could say we’ve already met ... through a third party.”
Tucker Thompson charged right into battle. “Mrs. Claggett, do you want this woman at your funeral?” And he jabbed an accusing finger at Cindy.
“I invited her,” Debby said. “Wouldn’t I look cheap as hell if I disinvited her?”
Before Tucker could launch his moralities, Senator Grant entered, bearing on his arm the beautiful widow of Dr. Paul Linley, a tall ebon-faced woman of thirty. His voice choking, he said, “I encouraged my dear friend Gawain Butler to place his nephew in our NASA program. So in a sense I feel responsible for his death.”
“And for his chance to prove his heroism,” Doris said and Penny, comparing the two widows, thought: How wonderfully American they are. Debby Dee, rock-hard from deepest Texas; Doris Linley, survivor of the Detroit ghettos. Which one made the greater journey to get here? And [649] although she knew it was exhibitionistic, she could not restrain herself; dashing across the room, she embraced them and for just a moment there were tears which could not be contained.
After the stately ceremonies with the seventeen-gun salutes and the muffled drums, Debbie Dee, a blowzy woman of forty-seven, who had maintained a gracious, solemn posture for Thompson’s cameras during nine heartbreaking days, grabbed Doris Linley’s hand and growled, “Let’s get the hell out of here and find some beer.” They drove in their government limousine to Penny Pope’s Washington apartment, where with John and Cindy Rhee they guzzled beer through the night.
“Randy Claggett was one of the world’s basic men,” Debby Dee said, “and I was privileged to know him. Good times and bad, he was one hell of a man.”
“What was it like, Deb, when you were widowed the first time?” Cindy asked, and after this had been explored for more than half an hour, she wanted to know how they had lived at Pax River.
“Ask them,” Debby Dee said, pointing to the Popes, and for two hours they reminisced about the days at Solomons Island, the old cars, the Pax-Jax-Lax routine, the dogfights above the Chesapeake.
“What was it like?” Cindy asked Doris. “I mean, his being black and not a military man?”
“Everything Paul did, and he did so much, he started way behind. Black boys always do. But he caught up fast. At the end he was as good as any of them.” And she looked to Captain Pope for confirmation.
“In brains he was better than most,” John said. “In courage no one surpassed him.” When he tried to visualize Linley, all he could see was the irrepressible comedian leading cheers for Albuquerque Technological Institution, and he had to subdue a smile, but after a while he said, “For sixty-six hours and seventeen minutes he was my seatmate in space. None better.” Then he walked across the room and kissed Doris.
When the night was almost gone, Cindy said, “I loved him in a different way. The symbol ...”
“If there was one thing Claggett wasn’t,” Debby said, “it was a symbol. That sonnombeech was basic.”
“He was the astronaut,” Cindy said. “Not Glenn, not  [650] Shepard, not you, John Pope. He spent more hours in space than any other man, and I watched him. He approached a spacecraft as if he owned it. Once he said as he left for the sixteen-day flight with you, Pope, ‘Well, let’s see how we fly this bucket of bolts.’ ”
Debby Dee wiped her eyes, and later, in her hotel room, Rhee Soon-Ka started her manuscript about the Solid Six:
 
They took a dark stone and stood it in a dark place, publishing to the world that Randy Claggett was dead. But we who knew him were convinced that his spirit still stunned and startled and confused the ribbon clerks, as always.


X
MARS
THE national excitement over John Pope’s heroic odyssey lasted eleven days, and then the nation awakened to the fact that never again in this century would an American walk on the Moon. The enchantment of Apollo vanished, the glory of the astronaut dimmed.
Dr. Loomis Crandall, the Air Force psychologist who had helped select the various groups of spacemen and who knew more about them than any other official, compiled a condescending summary which infuriated Mott:
 
Our sensible astronauts, correctly assessing the national mood, are resigning from the program, seeking employment in business, but most often merely drifting from one public relations job to another for the good reason that they have no basic skills except calculus and astrophysics.
 
True, John Glenn has gone to the Senate and Frank Borman to an airline, but the typical astronaut is Ed Cater, who left NASA to front for a real estate developer in Miami, then to an insurance company in New Orleans, and now to a used-car dealership in his hometown of Kosciusko, where his wife has become a partner in a dress shop and earns more than he does.
 
[652] Nine of the finest we had are dead. All the living comported themselves with a heroism and dignity of which we can be proud. But, we can also be disappointed, for they produced no national spokesman for space, no poet of the skies like Saint-Exupéry of France. They were in effect red-hot test pilots who transformed themselves into red-hot spacecraft pilots-and nothing more. In this limited response they reflected the national attitude toward space.
 
When Mott finished reading, he stormed into headquarters, eyes blazing behind his steel-rimmed glasses, a small, wiry man whose most sensitive nerves had been abused. When he found Crandall in the administrator’s office he bored right in: “Let’s take an equal number of graduate from the Harvard School of Business, from Cal Tech, MIT and Notre Dame and let’s compare records. Glenn a senator. They tell me Schmitt of New Mexico might make it next time. Borman at Eastern Airlines. Anders an ambassador. Young men doing wonderful things way beyond their age qualification. I’ll put my astronauts up against any group you assemble, Crandall, including an equal number of Ph.D.’s in psychology, psychiatry, psychoanalysis and psychosometric voodoo.”
“Stanley,” the administrator interrupted, “Crandall’s only writing a report.”
“Well, I don’t like it. I do not like to see the great work done by this agency denigrated. If our program is grinding to a halt, it’s not because it was a bad program, but because we stopped too soon.”
In this fighting mood he trudged up to the Capitol to defend NASA in one more public hearing, and normally he would have been the quiet, self-effacing scientist on whom Congress had come to rely. But on this morning a senator from North Dakota had asked why NASA lagged so far behind private industry in certain learned fields, and Mott almost lost his temper:
 
“NASA is private industry, Senator. We make nothing. We’re a grandiose procurement agency, one of the best this world has ever seen. We’ve spent more than fifty billion dollars since I came aboard, without a single case of fraud or embezzlement or [653] malfeasance. The nation has never had to apologize for our behavior, and although I can give you a dozen examples where in my opinion we chose the wrong contractor, you cannot give me one where we awarded that contract fraudulently. I would be proud if all government operations could say the same.”
 
Yet, even as he defended his agency Mott realized it was beginning to retreat from its days of grandeur, and he told his young assistants, “We ought to be taking bold new steps in space, dispatching spacecraft with and without men to probe the farthest frontiers. When we do this, philosophers will face new complexities and be forced to explain them to the public.” At a conference of astrophysicists at Purdue University he warned:
 
“Within the last few years we have made discoveries which stagger the knowing mind. Arno Penzias and Robert Wilson have identified the residue reverberations of the original explosion which set our universe in motion. Maarten Schmidt has made brilliant deductions about the speed at which distant galaxies travel. Hawking at Cambridge asks awesome questions about quasars, pulsars and black holes, and I believe we must rethink all our basic concepts.
 
“How will the general public react? Three precedents provide some guidance.
 
“Copernicus kept his new knowledge largely to himself, and when the Church objected to his conclusions, he stifled them. His immediate impact was nil, but his ultimate effect on morals, theology and individual comprehension was profound.
 
“Giordano Bruno flaunted his radical theories, irritating Catholics and Protestants equally. He agitated society by pointing out the consequences of scientific discoveries, and in the end, was burned at the stake to refute his astronomical heresies.
 
“Charles Darwin’s work produced so many shattering implications that he was rebutted immediately, and since his theory of evolution abused religious [654] sensibilities, it aroused intense opposition which has not yet abated.
 
“I believe that the speculations we have awakened regarding the ultimate nature of the universe must disturb our generations as profoundly as Darwin’s theories affected his. Whenever we stand on a threshold, as we do now, we must inescapably bring into question positions held previously, and when such revision involves the origin of the universe, we find ourselves on inflammable ground and must anticipate vigorous rebuttal.”
 
Mott had always been a religious man. His father, after all, had been a Methodist minister, and young Mott had been raised with the Bible as a constant presence. At one time he had been able to recite from memory the names of the books of both Testaments, a skill which he found useful in later years when he wished to locate a quotation, but he had also known their content rather thoroughly, and this, too, had been significant, for it prevented him from slipping thoughtlessly into a cliché “scientist-as-atheist” position. When his father’s ministerial friends railed against Darwin’s theory of evolution, he was never contemptuous in his attempts to defend it, and if they pressed, “But do you believe in God?” he was always able to answer without dissembling, “Yes, I do.”
But he also believed, without even the smallest nagging question, that mankind evolved in much the same way that the Sun had evolved from primordial matter, and he believed this because when he inspected the heart of existing galaxies, including our own, he could watch stars evolving from great clouds of matter. This was fact, not theory, and he could conceive of no alternative. He supposed that when religionists abused Darwin and proposed an instant, godlike creation, they were merely saying what he was saying, but in a more poetic form, and therefore he felt no sense of opposition to his father’s affirmation of his belief.
But he also believed without any reservation whatever that this universe of which he and his Earth and his Sun were a part had come into being-that is, in its present form-about eighteen billion years ago, with the Earth assuming its existence and shape about four and a half [655] billion years ago. When his father’s friends insisted that the Book of Genesis was the accurate statement, he was able to agree: “It’s a poetic version. It says about the same thing I’ve been saying, except that its word day is best understood to mean a vast geologic era.”
If debaters tried to make him deny that the billions of years required for the formation of Sun and Earth ever existed, and if they argued that all the magnificent galactic structure came into being a mere six or seven thousand years ago, with geological strata and dinosaur bones hidden in place like some jolly theological treasure hunt, he refused to argue. “Possible but not likely” was all he would respond.
The real question in this debate had been posed by his father: “If I concede, Stanley, that the universe did begin with your big bang eighteen billion years ago, tell me what set that bang in motion?”
“Science has no answer to that.”
“Was it not God?”
“I think so. Or some force mysteriously like God.” But when his father smiled in philosophical relief, his son insisted upon adding, “The big bang could not have taken place 4004 B.C.”
“Fair deal,” the elderly minister said. “I’ll give you your billions of years if you’ll give me my God.”
Once while vacationing between meetings he listened to a park ranger on the rim of the Grand Canyon describing to some tourists how that trivial stream, the Colorado River, had through the ages cut the gorge from one level of rock to another until the masterpiece stood revealed, and after the ranger ended his talk and went back to his office, Mott remained on the rim speculating on the beautiful accident by which the United States had acquired parks like this Grand Canyon and Yellowstone, and he silently congratulated those social pioneers who had fought the battles for succeeding generations: This canyon is totally unspoiled. Somebody deserves a lot of credit. And he could envisage someone like himself, three hundred years from now, standing on the edge of a canyon on Mars and saying, “That NASA gang, whoever they were, who reached here first, they did very little to destroy what they found,” and if he was proud of what his team had done, he was even more proud of what they had not done.
[656] He had barely formulated such thoughts when a tall, awkward, flaming-eyed man stepped out of the crowd who had been listening to the park ranger’s description of how the canyon had evolved, and shouted for attention:
 
“These park rangers, government employees, have been getting away with murder for too long. Standing here on government property and spreading lies that contradict Holy Scripture. Telling us yarns about how that little river down there took a hundred million years to sculpture this magnificent canyon. You know and I know that that’s a lie. That’s a damned lie, and one of these days, mark my words, park rangers like that are going to be held to account.
 
“This noble canyon was born about five thousand years ago, no more, when God sent the planet Venus scraping along the edge of the Earth, building mountains and cutting gullies. You can look at that canyon and know in your hearts it can’t be a million years old. And a hundred million? That’s laughable. It was cut down when men like Moses and Jeremiah were living on this Earth, and it is not the handiwork of some puny little river; it is the handiwork of God.”
 
He orated with fiery eloquence for nearly half an hour, holding Mott and the other vacationers captivated by his bold assertions, and at the end of his argument he cried, “Let’s have a show of hands. How many of you know in your hearts that I’m right and the park ranger is wrong?” To Mott’s surprise, more than half the listeners voted that the Grand Canyon of the Colorado could not be more than five thousand years old.
Wherever he went these days the world seemed to be divided into two groups, the few who had followed the deeper researches of the astrophysicists and the many who appeared to long for a simpler universe, one with fewer speculative aspects, and this feeling intensified as the year 1976 approached, for across the land people yearned for a return to the simplicities of 1776.
His son Millard was a case in point. When President Ford, following his pardon of Richard Nixon, offered a meager and grudging pardon to the young men who had [657] fled to Canada to escape the draft, Millard crept back to the Mott home under the most humiliating circumstances, even though, as he told his father, “everyone now concedes that men like me and Roger were right to protest. America knows that Vietnam was a horrible mistake.”
Roger had refused to accept, America’s reluctant forgiveness and had elected to remain in Canada. When Millard told his parents of their separation, he burst into tears, and for the first time the older Motts realized what a deep human attachment their son had felt for Roger, and they were surprised the next day to learn that Millard was now living with a young man named Victor, who ran what was known as a “head shop” in Denver. They did a big business in astrology books, tarot cards, the I-Ching, and cheese-and-wine lectures by gurus from India who explained to the college students in the area how society ought to be organized.
After Millard flew back to Colorado, Rachel Mott studiously tidied the apartment: the Mondrians were straightened on the living-room wall, the classical records were alphabetized again, excess books were placed in a corner to be given to the community college, and various unnecessary things which had accumulated were thrown away. When she finished getting all things in place, she sat on her bed and looked once more at the loving Axel Petersson figures carved in wood, and said to her husband, “Talking with Millard about his Roger and Victor was exactly like listening to a headstrong daughter who has divorced her banker husband and is living with an architect. It’s very difficult to keep values straight.”
“Especially for people in their late fifties,” Stanley said.
While brooding about his sons he idly thumbed a science magazine, and came upon a startling proposal by a scientist named Letterkill: “We should position in outer space a gigantic radio telescope whose distance between its two elements would be ten astronomical units. That would give us a base line of 900,000,000 miles.”
His imagination ablaze, Mott started drawing diagrams at top speed, then explained the basic principle to his wife: “It’s magnificent! The problem of parallax carried to the ultimate. You know how a range finder on a battleship works? You have this very long base line, say ninety feet. The longer the better. And they have two small telescopes, [658] one at each end. And the difference in angle between how each looks at the same target can be converted into precise distance. Boom! Your big guns fire, hit the target and sink the enemy, all because you used parallax intelligently.”
He proceeded to explain that earlier astronomers had determined star distances through clever applications of parallax: “On December 20 they took a photograph of the star Sirius. On June 20, when the Earth had moved halfway through its orbit and was as far away from its December position as possible, they took another photograph of the same star, using the same camera. Parallax revealed that Sirius was 8.6 light-years away.”
He said that astronomers had already devised a vast radio telescope, one leg in California, the other in Australia, with each taking a “photograph” of some heavenly body at exactly the same moment, so that the differential in angles could determine distance: “But now what this fellow Letterkill proposes is to place a huge radio telescope atop a rocket and fire it a billion miles into space, and lock it there. Then fire the other half of the telescope out into space, a billion miles in the opposite direction. What a fantastic base line we’d have. Rachel, we could see to the outer edges of the universe.”
His excitement grew at such a pace that he telephoned Huntsville, even though he suspected that Dieter Kolff would be asleep, and when the drowsy man came on the telephone, he asked, “Dieter, read about a man who has just made a dazzling proposal and I want your reading on it. Could we build a giant gossamer telescope in two parts? Throw one by rocket about a billion miles out into space and fix it there in orbit? Then throw an exact duplicate a billion miles out in the opposite direction? I think he recommends an angle of about a hundred and twenty degrees and ...”
“You have a base line of enormous length.”
“Something like ten astronomical units.”
“And you could penetrate beyond the farthest known galaxy.”
“Is it practical?”
“We could do it tomorrow.”
The two men talked for about an hour, with Kolff always bringing the discussion back to the two activating rockets, which he was prepared to build if NASA wanted [659] to bring him back from retirement, and Mott speaking always about the gossamer construction of the telescopes: “You understand, Dieter, we use no metal except in the frame for the radio eye. Everything is gossamer. Whole telescope would weigh, what? Less than three thousand pounds?”
When the call to Huntsville ended he could not sleep, and as he pored over Letterkill’s proposal, the thought came to him that this might well be the same man who had planned to make the Wallops Island rocket device the first satellite into space, and at four in the morning he had an operator track this Letterkill down at the Lewis Center in Cleveland: “Are you the fellow who came up with that brilliant proposal at Wallops Island? Excuse me, I’m Dr. Stanley Mott, who supported you at that time.”
It was the same Levi Letterkill. A man who has one good idea is always apt to have another, but his proposal for a telescope with a base line of ten A.U.’s did not get immediate attention, because later that morning, about 830 Washington time, the Miami police called to inform the Motts that their son Christopher was in jail again, this time on a very serious charge of bringing cocaine in from Colombia.
 
When Christopher Mott went to trial in Florida on the charge of smuggling cocaine from Colombia to the street value of $3,000,000, as they said in the newscasts, his parents defended him in anguish. Nearing sixty and unwavering defenders of all that was good in American life, they flew down to the muscular town of West Palm Beach, across the Intracoastal Waterway from the real Palm Beach, and sat for three days in a grubby courtroom while the state’s attorneys wove a web of damning evidence against their son.
The Motts presented a sorrowful picture as they listened to the ugly facts they had tried so diligently to ignore through the preceding years: a middle-aged couple who had always tried to appear respectable-Rachel, her Grecian hairdo severely in place, her tailored suit neatly pressed, her firm mouth never quivering; and Stanley in his blue-black pin-striped suit, white shirt, foulard tie and steel-rimmed glasses. They looked like an executive family from Bethlehem Steel or IBM, but since the trial took [660] place so near to Cape Canaveral, the papers emphasized their membership in the NASA family.
Christopher was twenty-five years old now and no longer entitled to consideration as an unknowing youth, but as he sat with the defense lawyers he seemed so slim and frail, so close to what a young man of his age with an assistant professorship at some college like Bates or Bowdoin should look like, that Rachel sometimes had to bow her head to keep from weeping, but then fresh evidence of his behavior would echo throughout the courtroom, and she would ask herself: How could this have happened? What in God’s name went wrong?
At the end of each day’s testimony she and Stanley returned to their glossy motel near the big shopping center, and it seemed to her that this was the other face of Cape Canaveral: up there the huge rockets soaring off into space with cheers and hundreds of technicians monitoring the flight and the young heroes in the capsule; down here. only a few miles away, a confused young man in a courtroom attempting to defend himself against a society which had almost encouraged him to become a criminal.
The songs of his day, the patterns of dress, television’s idealization of the illiterate rowdy who disrupts the classroom, sleazy newspaper stories and the dreadful pressure of one’s peers, all had conspired to put her son on trial, and she and Stanley had been too preoccupied with society’s business to combat the destructive influences.
“We never worked for ourselves,” she whispered as the damaging second day ended. “It was always for the Army. for the Germans at El Paso, for the Alabama rural children, even now, for the families of the astronauts. We’ve not been selfish, Stanley.”
“I may have been,” he said mournfully as he sat on the motel bed casting up the accounts of his life. “You tried to warn me in California when I was studying so hard. We know that’s when Millard started running with the wrong crowd and Chris began his undisciplined behavior. I feel the guilt almost unbearably.”
On the third day the case went to the jury at eleven in the morning, and shortly after lunch the seven men and five women brought in their verdict of guilty on all counts. The judge announced that because Christopher’s parents had to leave Florida quickly, he would sentence their son [661] two days later, and they spent most of those days at the jail talking with Chris and giving him what belated support they could.
When Rachel heard the sentence-five years in jail-she almost fainted, but then joined her husband and the defense lawyers in a plea that her son be remanded to a minimum-security prison where the likelihood of abuse and sodomy would be diminished. The judge listened tentatively, said that he could not accept the insinuation that Florida jails were out of control, and denied the request.
 
When the President suggested that John Pope make a world tour to allow other nations to see what an engaging hero America had produced, the NASA medical staff demurred on the grounds that he had undergone a grueling experience and deserved rest, but Pope said, “I’ll go if I can be routed through Australia. I’d like to thank that fellow at Honeysuckle. He was very important to me-twice.
So Pope flew to Europe, where the papers made much of his determination to visit the Australian voice that had helped save him, and Down Under newspapers kept track of how many days it would be before he reached Australia. The American ambassador flew from Canberra to Sydney to welcome him, then flew him in an American plane to receptions in rowdy Brisbane, staid Adelaide and gracious Melbourne, with a final stop at the American embassy in Canberra, where a large assembly waited to greet the hero.
He was courteous as always, explaining several times that his wife, Penny, would normally have accompanied him, except that this time she was kept in Washington by her duties with the Senate. The Russian ambassador gave a small party for what he termed “The American cosmonaut and a very brave man,” and then Pope called it quits.
“I came here to see the Australian communicator at Honeysuckle, and it’s time we got to it.” The U.S. ambassador agreed, and next morning a car and driver were provided to take Pope to the concentration of huge radio dishes hidden among the hills south of Canberra. These formed the system whereby Houston kept in touch with its satellites when they were over the Indian Ocean and [662] the western Pacific, and Pope was awed by their size, their complexity and the beauty of their setting.
“This must be one of the most attractive features of the space age,” he told the Australian manager, and before he entered the low buildings where the messages were processed in a bank of computers, he walked among the trees and flowers that made the place a garden.
“Appropriately named,” he told the Australians, then he stopped suddenly to watch two kangaroos feeding in a grassy swale. “They really do hop along on their hind feet,” he said, and his guides had to tug at his arm. “McGuigan’s waiting,” they said, “and some press people want to talk with you later.”
So reluctantly he left the Australian woodland with its enchantments and entered the working area of the communications center, where wires from the great hemispherical dishes pointing to the invisible satellites delivered their messages. McGuigan, a tall, thin, hipless Australian with a barbarous accent, stepped forward eagerly to meet the man with whom he had talked in both Gemini and Apollo.
“Hello, Pope. Glad you made it back.”
“Thanks to your help.” They talked for some minutes most amiably, and then Pope said to one of the managers, “I guess I’ve got to go through with it,” and the manager shrugged.
“Call the staff together, please,” Pope said, and while the local workers assembled he inwardly asked forgiveness for what as a guest he was now required to say.
On almost every important American space shot, the Australian workers had waited till the last crucial moment, then threatened a strike for higher wages. For a spacecraft to try to negotiate the vast corridors of heaven without any contact over half the surface of the Earth was unthinkable, so always NASA had to surrender to the blackmail, but Pope also knew that once the higher wages were agreed to, the Australians provided the best communications in the entire network. On one occasion men left the picket line, and under the most adverse circumstances, walked miles into the arid backlands to repair a communications link to ensure that the American spacecraft passing over the Indian Ocean could maintain its communication with Houston.
[663] When the crew was assembled, Pope said quietly, “All astronauts realize what a profound debt they owe you wonderful communicators in Australia, and especially this superb crew here at Honeysuckle. On two occasions Mr. McGuigan here provided me with assistance beyond the call of duty, and I should like to hand him two medals, placed in my care by the American government. The first is to him personally. The second is to him as representative of your excellent crew.” As he handed over the medals and listened to the cheering, he wanted to add, but didn’t: “That’s till the next time you strike, you lovable sonsabitches.”
After the crowd dispersed, the manager said, “The press is in the other building,” and Pope had a second chance to observe the rugged beauty of this unusual place. He was therefore in an amiable mood when he entered the press room to find five journalists awaiting him, four from Australia, one from Japan. He could see only Cindy Rhee, beautiful like the flowers outside, dressed in somber colors and staring at him with those dark, slanted eyes.
“I have wanted to finish my story,” she said as she took his hand.
“You came all the way here from Tokyo?”
“I wanted to see the last of my astronauts in a real setting. With his own kind. At Honeysuckle.”
“This is Captain John Pope,” one of the managers said. “You’re all aware of his accomplishments.” In answer to the Australian questions, John lied: “We’ve never had anything but the most amiable relations with your stations. They’ve been invaluable links in our chain of communications, and I particularly can testify ...” He saw Cindy smiling sardonically, and then he remembered the night at the Bali Hai motel when Claggett told the gang how the Australians at Honeysuckle had threatened a strike before his first Apollo flight. “I wanted to go down there when the flight was over and cut their balls off,” Claggett had said, and Pope had watched Cindy copying his words in her notebook. Now she was copying his, and smiling.
“I asked especially to come to Honeysuckle,” he continued, “to pay my respects to Mr. McGuigan. I couldn’t always understand his accent, but I sure could appreciate the warmth of his interest.”
When the press conference ended, the managers started [664] to walk Pope back to his embassy car, but Cindy interposed, saying, “I’ve a rented car. I’ll take him back,” and before anyone could protest, she had ordered the American car to return empty to the embassy compound while she led Pope to her Volkswagen.
“I have a room in a village toward Mt. Kosciusko in the Australian alps,” she said, and they drove for more than an hour through parklands that sometimes teemed with kangaroos, large, tawny beasts that played along the roadway. “I’ve written my book,” she said, “but it can’t be completed without your story, John.”
“Mine’s easily told. Three of us went up, one of us came down.”
“But why did you go up? When, on those great flat plains of Fremont, did you first visualize yourself in the heavens?”
“Did you take the trouble to visit Fremont?”
“I visit everywhere. I visited Honeysuckle last week to be sure I would know my way around.”
“But why?”
“John, you and the others, you’re real ... don’t you realize it? You’re immortal. Four hundred years from now they’ll read about you the way we read about Magellan today.”
She said this so simply, and with such conviction, that he could say nothing, nor did she, and after passing through a village he asked, “What did you mean by real?”
“Well,” she said as she looked directly at him, her hands almost off the steering wheel, “There’s Randy Claggett, one of the best men this century will produce, and then there’s Timothy Bell, a pathetic bombast.”
“Are you going to say that? He’s dead, you know.”
“He was always dead, and I shall say so.”
“You’re remorseless.”
“So is the truth.”
She drove to an inviting country inn whose sign announced that it sold Toohey’s ale, and since it was not yet dusk they sat in the garden with their tea. Slowly, at first, he began to talk; then words rolled out unimpeded, as if he had hoarded a universe of impressions which he must now share. He spoke of things close to the heart of space, things he had never before been able to verbalize, not even [665] in those long debriefings conducted by the super brains of NASA.
“They kept asking how I felt, alone in the command module flying home, and I kept feeding them the answers I knew they wanted, expressed in words I knew they would accept. Responsibility. The job I was assigned to do. Training in the simulators quite adequate. Plus a lot of real guff about loneliness. But would you like to hear the truth?”
“That’s why I’m here.”
“The module was a very small place. Like from here to here. When I was alone, how did I feel? I felt roomy. Free to spread out. At last I had all the space I needed, and to confess the truth, I was rather relieved.” He laughed at himself for having revealed his anti-heroism, but then he stopped. “The others? Even in the roominess their ghosts crowded in upon me.”
They talked till dinner was called, and all through the meal, and afterward in the parlor decorated with brightly colored English hunting prints, a great outflowing of evaluation, and when the time came to go to bed, there was a brief moment of embarrassment, as if Cindy expected him to suggest that they sleep together, or as if he expected her to. It passed when he banged on the desk bell and asked the manager, “Can you show me to my room?” Cindy followed them upstairs and accompanied him to his door, where she said, “Goodnight, John. Let’s continue at breakfast.”
They spent the entire next day lounging about the inn or walking its flower-strewn grounds, but always talking about space, and when they passed members of the hotel staff he could hear them whisper, “That’s John Pope, the one who brought the spaceship home. He’s rooming with the Japanese newspaper girl.”
By the end of that day it seemed as if everyone in Australia knew what he was up to, plus many of the people in Washington. Senator Grant, receiving a flow of confidential messages from NASA, did his best to keep their content hidden from the committee counsel, but before long one of the secretaries felt that Mrs. Pope should really know how her errant husband was behaving: “He’s shacked up with that Korean babe.” With a forced smile Penny said, “Occupational hazard,” and no more.
[666] When cables began pouring into the embassy in Canberra, demanding that Pope be found and escorted personally to his major speech in Sydney, the embassy tracked down where he was hiding and telephoned to reprimand him, but he would accept no calls, so the woman running the inn brought him the messages in person: “I’m afraid the fat’s in the fire, Captain Pope.”
“It’s been there before,” he told her, and to Cindy he said, “We seem to have whipped up a storm.”
As if they both realized that this probing interview could never be repeated, the mood and the willingness having been lost, they spent that last day at the core of the space experience, and Pope found himself saying strange things which he would never have divulged to another:
 
“Claggett from the South and me from an area where there were no blacks, yet we had the standard prejudices. ‘Niggers smell funny,’ Claggett insisted, ‘and bein’ cooped up in that tight module ain’t gonna be fun.’ So I pointed out that this would be my problem, since it was my seat which jammed against Linley’s.
 
“Well, Paul was about the most fastidious man I ever knew. Cleaner than an elk’s horn in autumn. Me? After a couple of days without proper washing I began to smell like fermenting turnips. Just before we reached the Moon, I asked Paul, ‘Do I stink?’ and he said, ‘You sure do.’ And all three of us busted out in laughter because we all knew that he was the one who was supposed to smell bad.”
 
Cindy took notes constantly, then bored in with her harsh questioning: “Pope-san, do you think of yourself as mature?”
He bit his lower lip. “I guess I’ve always been a plebe at Annapolis.”
“The others were simply oriented, too. Claggett, Jensen. From the day of their births they were intended-”
“I use that word a lot. Intended. I intended to do certain things, in certain ways. I believed that manhood consisted of stating your intentions and fulfilling them.”
“Did you ever fail?”
[667] “No,” he said, and then he shivered. “I’m not sure how to answer that truthfully. As a boy I dreamed of going to Annapolis. Our senator, Ulysses S. Gantling-get the son-of-a-bitch’s full name-promised me an appointment, but at the last minute he reneged. I was left with nothing.”
“What did you do?”
“For two days I cried. Thought my heart would break. Then I began to curse him, which I never did before, and I’ve never cried or cursed since that second day. You know the rest.”
“You enlisted in the Navy for spite. Practically tore it apart till you got sent to Annapolis ... second in your class. You got everything you wanted, didn’t you?”
“Nothing I didn’t work for.”
“Was Penny the first girl you ever kissed?”
“The only one, really. I’ve been remarkably happy with Penny. When you look at the six of us, only Hickory Lee has a marriage as good as mine.”
“How about Harry Jensen? Inger is a dear.”
“Compared to Penny, Inger is a piece of fluff.”
“Will you ever go into space again?”
He left his chair and stalked about the room, wondering whether he ought to speak to this strange woman about a subject so personal that he had not even discussed it with Penny. “Have your spies told you that NASA is fed up with me?”
“I’ve heard rumors you’re in the doghouse. Ed Cater dropped a hint in his last letter.”
“Does he write to you?”
“Of course. We were very dear friends. Always will be.”
“What gossip was he selling?”
“He said, if I remember correctly, ‘Straight Arrow Pope surprised us all by disobeying the brass twice. When Claggett died he refused to leave the scene. And when Claggett was buried he insisted upon taking you to the funeral.’ He said he supposed your days were numbered.”
“You know more about this than I do,” he said with some petulance.
“That’s my business,” she said.
He was tempted to show his irritation, but instead he broke into a smile. “When Claggett flew with me in Korea, I could never understand how he could love Debby Dee working in Japan and at the same time his little Jo-san [668] at our air base in Pusan. I didn’t know you then.”
She shrugged her shoulders, her warm amber-gold smile irradiating the parlor. “You’re worth knowing, Pope-san. Another time, another age …” She looked down at her note tablet and made a promise: “You and Penny have something very precious, and I shall try to depict you both as you actually are. And if I can achieve that-”
They were interrupted by the sound of some man bustling into the reception hall and loudly demanding to know where this damned John Pope was shacked up with his Korean popsie.
It was Tucker Thompson, rushed out by NASA, the State Department and Folks to protect their shared in vestment in Astronaut Pope. He looked awful. “They shoved me aboard an Air Force jet at Dulles. Flew to Los Angeles Fifteen minutes to board Pan American, then non-stop across the Pacific to Auckland. Australian airline to Sydney. Same one to Canberra, and excuse me if I fall flat on my face.”
“You exhausted hero,” Cindy said. “Have a drink.”
“And what do I find? America’s favorite Boy Scout shacked up in a cheap-”
“Let’s start with one understanding, Tucker. We have not been shacked up. We’ve been talking.”
Tucker looked with amazed delight at the two, then broke into a wide grin. “You stay with that explanation, Pope, and I hope to God you can peddle it. But if Time gets hold of the truth, we’re dead ducks. And I mean all of us.”
Pope swung him around. “I told you. We came here to talk.”
Thompson brushed Pope’s hand away and fell into a chair. “In 1960 I sold the hard-shell Baptists in Texas on the line that John F. Kennedy was a sweet, simple-hearted Irish spalpeen who sang ‘Mother Machree’ and would take no orders from the Pope. Maybe I can sell this. That a red-blooded American hero and his almond-eyed Dragon Lady ...”
Pope came extremely close to belting Thompson in the mouth; instead he reached out and embraced him. “Tucker, an hour with you is better than a year in the sewers of Middle America. I love you.”
[669] “Stick to your story, son. It’ll draw more comment than the truth.”
“It all matters so very little,” Cindy said. “You took six American boys and the girls they married when they were young, and you wove a fairy story-” Her voice broke and suddenly all her bravado vanished. She started to cry, and when she found Pope’s hand she held it close to her lips. “You were all so very small,” she whispered. “You never told the world that, Tucker. That they were such ordinary little men. Not big and heroic at all, not with wide shoulders and heavy jaws. God, they were heroic in their age, and whenever the Moon rises red in October they will be remembered.”
Several fine books would be written about the astronauts-Mailer, Collins, Wolfe, to name the best-but if you want to know how it really was inside the men inside the capsule, the book to read is the one by the Oriental newspaperwoman Rhee Soon-Ka. She was a Korean, but to irritate her Japanese enemies she adopted an American name, Cynthia, and to irritate the American establishment, which she despised, she titled her account The Golden Midgets.
 
Any average wife who might have heard of Mrs. Pope’s reaction to her husband’s Australian escapade with the Korean newspaperwoman would have been dismayed that a self-respecting woman would allow herself to be so abused, and so publicly. It would be three more weeks before Captain Pope returned to the States, for he was obligated to tour New Zealand and then fly to South America via Fiji, Tahiti and Easter Island, and during this waiting period Penny Pope conducted her normal work with the Space Committee, often dealing with matters which affected her absent husband.
She never alluded to his misbehavior, and when Senator Grant tried to comfort her, she rebuffed him: “Captain Pope knows what he’s doing. We’ve always trusted each other.” But if she would allow no one to mention the matter, she herself speculated constantly on how she must behave when John returned, and she found herself limited by restraints which other wives might ignore.
For she was not an average wife. She was a Navy wife, [670] and that made a huge difference; from the first day of their courtship she had been prepared to stay at home for long periods while her husband served on some distant ocean; she was prepared to supervise the moving from place to place while he was in Japan or Germany; and she had always known that if she and John had children, it would be her responsibility alone to care for them during his long absences.
Those, of course, were the housekeeping details, and like many Navy wives, she never complained; Navy wives since the days of Darius and Xerxes had anticipated such absences, but there was also an emotional component of this problem, and this was a subject about which the wives rarely spoke among themselves.
Their husbands tended to be absent during the very years when their sexual drives were strongest; when they finally became stay-at-home admirals, they were in their fifties, when absences would have been easier to handle. So the Navy wife always knew that her lusty man was stuck in some foreign port at a time when his desires, and hers, were greatest, and she preferred not to be told what happened at such times. Indeed, she blanked out this portion of her married experience and was usually none the worse for it.
Penny had tried to be an ideal Navy wife, and although her work in Washington had prevented her from living with John at his various duty stations, she had visited him whenever practical and had known with favor the wives of many of his associates. Once when she was visiting with the Claggetts at Solomons Island, Debby Dee had observed: “It’s really as if John was the civilian married to Penny, who’s in her own Navy.” And that was often the way it was: he would have some free time but she would be occupied with her Washington duties, and she never pried into how he spent his freedom.
She knew from her Patuxent River days that Navy families were usually too busy to permit much hankypanky when the husbands were ashore, and she was constantly surprised at how capably the wives adjusted to all difficulties; there were very few Navy divorces, and when one did occur, the separating partners quite often found some other Navy type to marry, as if they knew that it was they and not the system that was at fault.
[671] The one constant peril faced by the military wife was not infidelity, it was alcoholism, for the officers’ club was always open, booze was cheap, loneliness was a constant spur to heavy drinking, and there were always older women on the bottle who sought the companionship of younger wives. Penny had watched a dozen older women become flaming alcoholics, and she had heard rumors of several celebrated cases in which the wives of top generals and admirals were habitually attended by junior officers whose job it was to see that the dipsomaniac did not create a scandal or fall headfirst down a flight of stairs. Since Penny drank only an occasional beer, this major pitfall presented no danger.
Most of all, her attitude toward marriage, and particularly Navy marriage, had been determined by her husband’s character. As a plebe at Annapolis he had been a straight arrow, always near the top of his class, always dating only her. At Pax River he had occupied bachelor quarters to save money, which he turned over to her. In Korea, according to Claggett, John had avoided the airfields where the pretty little Jo-sans waited table and slept in the officers’ quarters. He had never gone ratting about the countryside with Hickory Lee, and when this Korean woman invaded the Bali Hai with the avowed intention, some said, of sleeping with the entire contingent, she had been assured by the other wives that her husband would have nothing to do with her. Now both Debby Dee Claggett and Gloria Cater, eager to believe that the idol had crumbled, sent letters using the same rowdy phrase: “Join the club!”
A subtle change took place in Penny’s attitude. She still trusted John, but she also had to consider her self-esteem. She was three years shy of fifty, the occupant of a position of some importance and looked up to by the women graduates of good colleges who aspired to better jobs than typing. She represented something, and it was galling to think that she had been so poorly used, and in public. Her resentment caused her to look unsentimentally at the ramifications of her life, and what she saw evoked even deeper indignation.
When she attended public Senate hearings she noticed how many of the heavy-drinking old men found it impossible to follow arguments, frequently falling asleep in the [672] midst of testimony. She marked the ones who grubbed servilely for every passing penny, yearning to sell their votes to any likely bidder, not even waiting to arrange the most profitable deal. When she compared these bumbling fellows with the best women appointees to federal positions, she was startled by the difference, and when she started to study the House members she knew, she was even more distressed, for here she saw public servants accepting money from Korean lobbyists, pursuing wildly deviant sex behaviors, and voting like idiots, while able women languished as mere assistants.
Her standards of comparison were high, for she had worked closely with three first-class politicians: Lyndon Johnson, who could contrive anything if it gave Texas and his private bank account a slight edge; Mike Glancey, who was perhaps the best man she had ever known, but whose vote was always negotiable on the principle of “You scratch my back, I’ll scratch yours”; and good, faithful Norman Grant, a man of impeccable integrity who did the same swapping of votes, but on a slightly higher level. These were good men and they served their nation admirably, but it was quite clear to her now that America produced an equal number of good women who were held contemptuously down.
She had for some years been listening carefully to the arguments of certain liberated women who had been addressing these problems, but she had never been attracted to their cause. Germaine Greer, the Australian, she found too harsh, Bella Abzug too abrasive, and Betty Friedan far too lacking in feminine qualities; and sometimes she suspected their logic, for without fanfare she had acquired one of the good jobs in Washington and she supposed that other women could do the same. But when Gloria Steinem and a woman with the fascinating name of Letty Pogrebin began analyzing situations exactly like her own, she began to listen more attentively, and she saw that women were discriminated against in scores of situations, that they were compressed by society into certain cliché molds, and that the consequences were nearly as damaging to the men as to the women they subjugated.
She became painfully aware of these matters when Tucker Thompson returned breathlessly from Australia to coach her in how the good people at Folks expected her [673] to play the role of the insulted wife. “Mrs. Pope, in Australia we had a near-miss. I flew all the way to Canberra. Christ, that’s a big country, and I suppose you know what I found. Scandal about to erupt all over the place. NASA is fed up with your husband, and Time and Newsweek are sitting on the story, just hoping for a break that’ll allow them to level a real blast.”
“What’s holding them back?”
“Your husband is a national hero. How would they play it? For laughs? I don’t think they’d dare. As a hard sex story? I doubt it. Now, if we get in first with a style-setter, we can pull their fangs.”
“What does your magazine recommend?”
“That we take the bit in our teeth, run the flag up the pole, and show a spread of you welcoming your husband home after his triumphal tour.”
“Would I be kissing him, did your, editors think?”
“Yes. The important thing is to set the pattern. It would be dreadful if this affair got out of hand.”
“Isn’t it already out of hand?”
“Not unless you make it so,” Thompson said firmly. “This is a national problem, Penny. NASA’s reputation at a time of budget review. The whole shmeer.”
“It would be quite easy for me to kiss my husband,” Penny said, “because I love him.”
“God, if we could only work a quote like that into the story. But it would raise more questions than it answered.” Then, for the first time, he began to suspect that this dangerous woman whom he had never liked was toying with him. “You do intend to cooperate, don’t you?” he asked hesitantly.
“It would be undignified to behave otherwise,” she said.
“You mean that?”
“Of course I do.”
“Could I have more coffee?” He was perspiring, and after a deep swig of java he said expansively, “It’s downright remarkable, Penny. The NASA selection committee picked six families, out of a hat as it were, and they got six all-time winners. How many other American girls would have behaved better than you six? Death, disappointment, threats of divorce, now scandal, you kids were champions.”
“We intended to be,” Penny said, borrowing her husband’s favorite phrase.
[674] “It’s been an honor to be associated with a girl like you.”
“I’m forty-seven.”
“We never mention that in the articles. To our readers you’re all still girls, well dressed, well behaved. I’m terribly proud to have known you girls, Penny.”
“You keep speaking as if it were all past.”
“It is. Space is a dead duck. If I were an evil man, I’d play this Pope versus Pope thing for high scandal-the end of the epoch, the fond farewell to a group of symbols. I could write that story now, no strain. And it would be one hell of an exit.” He shook his head as if regretting that he was no longer working for a Hearst newspaper with its huge headlines. Then he said, “But I love you kids as if you were my own family. This is my swan song, too, you know. Yep, retired against my will next month. And I refuse to sully something I’ve loved. Penny, let’s go out in style.”
“What is the proper style?” she asked.
“The American wife, loyal, trusting, forgiving. We don’t want to show you in your office this time. We’ve done that and it always seemed harsh. What I have in mind is a small house somewhere-”
“What I have in mind, Tucker, is my office, with an American flag in the corner, as always, and the big photograph of Johnson, Glancey and Grant, the architects of our space program.”
“But-”
“I am just as much a part of NASA as my husband, and in some ways, I think, even more important, because I helped keep the whole damned thing running.”
Thompson saw instantly that he was venturing into waters far too deep for him to negotiate. This office bitch was going to behave just as he feared she might: Give me a hundred Alabama cheerleaders any day, twisting their pretty asses in the sunlight, to one girl who got straight A’s in college. The cheerleaders know how to act in any situation, and the damned college girls never learn.
“I’m afraid what I had in mind won’t work, Mrs. Pope.”
“I’m sure it won’t.”
“You better pray that Time and Newsweek don’t start running with this story.”
“They have my office number.”
He was about to leave, but he could not allow one of [675] his Solid Six to dash headlong into danger. “Please, Mrs. Pope, we’ve had a tremendous run with this story. Gemini ... Apollo ... your husband’s heroics ... Claggett. Jesus Christ, don’t throw mud on Claggett.”
Lowering her head, she said in a whisper, “You wrote in one of your stories about how Randy and John had flown together in Korea, then tested planes at Pax River, then shared a Gemini phone booth for sixteen days. And of how John had to leave him dead on the Moon. It was very strong writing, really.” She looked up at him. “Do you think I’d do anything to sully those relationships?”
“I don’t think you would.”
“Of course I’ll cooperate. Bring your photographers. But it will have to be in my office.” When he groaned, she said, “You’re a master with words, Tucker. Spin one of your fables. The modern wife who does two things superbly-runs her office, loves her man.”
“I don’t think it’ll play in Peoria.”
He decided not to try the John-Pope-and-his-loving-wife-Penny story, for he saw that it contained far too many time bombs, but as he was about to leave, distressed by his failure to manipulate Mrs. Pope, she suddenly caught his arm and forced him back into a chair.
“You’ve done me a great favor, Tucker. Up to one minute ago I never gave Betty Friedan much time. I simply did not like her style, but everything you said fortified the basic thesis in her Feminine Mystique. Writers like you, and your magazine, are major forces in creating the myth of what an American woman should be. The little house, not the office. A white jumper, not a business dress. The forgiving wife, not the woman who feels herself humiliated.”
“Penny,” he broke in, “it’s no longer something I worry about with Folks. To hell with Folks, they’ve said to hell with me. But I beg you, don’t divorce-”
“Who said anything about divorce?”
“You said you were humiliated by John’s behavior in-”
“Of course I am. I’m humiliated by what he’s done to me. But I’m just as humiliated by what you and your magazine would like to do. The fake posing. The fake quotations. Tucker, you’re on your way out. John’s on his way out of NASA. I may be on my way out of my job as counsel to the committee. Let’s all go out with a bang. [676] Here’s the one quote from me you’re authorized to use in your wrap-up: ‘Mrs. John Pope said, when apprised of her husband’s juvenile performance in Australia, “I’d like to kick his ass from Canberra to Tahiti, then hand him a NASA medal for acting like a perfect Boy Scout.’ ” And I want you to run it with the photograph of me kissing him beneath the American flag in my office with this caption: ‘All is forgiven. He’s the only Boy Scout I have.’ ”
“I wonder if we could get away with it?” Thompson mused. “I wonder if there’s some way I could imply that you said “kick his ass from Canberra to Tahiti” without actually saying it?”
“Use it as I said it,” Penny snapped, “because that’s the way I’m going to say everything from here on out.”
Disgusted with this modern woman, he started to stamp out of her office, but one more danger signal flashed. “Maybe you haven’t heard, but your husband has cooked up a story that all he and the Korean Typhoon did for three days was talk. Please, if that’s going to be his version of three days in the sack, let him get away with it. Don’t laugh at him in public.”
“Did he say that?” she cried, and when Thompson nodded she gave him a huge kiss. “Tucker, you are adorable, corrupt, stupid, even a little evil ... but downright adorable.”
When her husband landed at National Airport with two suitcases of medals and mementos, Penny was there to greet him. On the tarmac he said, “I’m sorry, Pen, if I caused you embarrassment. But I had to talk. It was important that I get it on the record with someone who understood.”
“Why couldn’t you have talked with me?” she asked, tears of joy filling her eyes.
“You were always so busy.” He corrected that: “I was always so occupied with things that didn’t really matter.” Arm in arm they walked toward the waiting cameras.
 
Like an ultra-sensitive barometer that monitors the atmosphere, predicting when the hurricanes will strike, Leopold Strabismus followed every nuance of the national mood, and long before Senator Grant realized that the space age had stumbled to a conclusion, he had detected the change, and with the termination of the Apollo program, he realized that he must alter his strategies or suffer [677] loss. Accordingly, one morning in the summer of 1976 he woke, pulled down the bedcovers, pulled up the nightgown of his sleeping partner, slapped her roundly on the bottom, and said, “Out of bed, Marcia! We’re getting married!”
She was thirty-seven that year, still slim and beautiful with her pouting look and her feline skills, and she had about given up on the possibility that Strabismus would ever marry her. Still, she had a good life. They continued to make substantial profit from the menace of little green men and a small, steady income from the sale of diplomas, so that she had her own Mercedes and a secretary to look after her affairs. Ramirez still ran the general office with imagination and things were prospering, which made this sudden proposal of marriage a shock.
“What’s eating you?” she asked.
“The handwriting is on the wall, my lovely.”
“Investigation? Police?”
“No, the turn of the wheel. The awakening of the public.”
“What are you talking about?”
“I’ve had a kind of vision, Marcia. The kind I had at Yale when I saw as if in revelation that California was the promised land.”
“I don’t want to leave California.” She shuddered. “Could you imagine us living in Fremont or Nebraska?”
“We get married today. And we make California twice the home it ever was before.” When he jumped out of bed and grabbed the trousers of a business suit reserved for trips to wealthy donors back East, Marcia saw that his eyes were aflame with enthusiasm.
“What is it, Leopold?”
“Goddammit, get your clothes on. This is for real.” And when they were dressed, he led her outside to a roadway from which she could see all of the fine building that housed their university, and she could feel him almost trembling as he divulged his plans: “We have enough money right now to build the two wings I used to speak about. One here. One there. Not little wings, big ones.”
“To what purpose, please tell?”
“Religion.”
She said nothing, but in the protracted silence she could imagine what her brilliant companion could do with this volatile subject. She imagined him behind a pulpit-big face, beard, huge imposing body draped in a robe of some [678] kind, thundering voice-and she knew instinctively that he would excel. She could visualize the university building expanded into a cathedral, with hundreds of cars parked in front, and devoted followers, and the money rolling in even more generously than before. It was quite clear, given the nature of her man and the nature of California, but it had to be done correctly, because the competition was terrific. Running a bogus university was easy, because not many manipulators sought to operate in that specialized field, but the religious arena was brutal, and unless one could invent some special allure, success was not assured.
“What religion?” she asked.
“I’ve been thinking about that for the last two months. I’d like to keep USA. It’s a good set of initials. How about Universal Spiritual Association?”
“Every word is wrong. The U must be United. Start from there.”
“You may be right. What’s wrong with Spiritual?”
“Sounds too much like spiritualism. Too restricted.” “You may be right again. How about Salvation? I plan to hit very hard on salvation.”
“I like that. I like it, Leopold. Hold on to that.”
After discussing for some time the appropriate word for A they could agree on nothing, so they drove to one of the storefront churches where the seedy minister was willing to forgo the legal waiting period and predate the marriage certificate to 1973, which he said a clerk at the courthouse would register as of that year for an extra ten dollars. They then returned home and telephoned the Red River Bible University: “Reverend Hosea Kellog? This is Dr. Leopold Strabismus, president of the University of Space and Aviation in Los Angeles. I’ve heard of your good work. Reverend Kellog, and my university would like to award you with a Doctor of Laws if you would give me a Doctor of Divinity. This is extremely important to me, and I’d appreciate it if the date could read 1973.”
It was arranged, and Strabismus asked Ramirez to prepare an especially ornate diploma for Dr. Kellog, and with the same plate but different lettering, to print up one for Strabismus from the University of Western Dakota in the fields of Hebrew, Greek and Latin. With these and other impressive documents framed on the wall behind his head, [679] he was qualified to decide what branch of theology his new church would sponsor, but before he printed up any materials, he had long discussions with his wife.
“We had to get married,” he said, “because I plan to stress morality. This country is hungry for a revival of the old-time spirit, Marcia.”
“Hadn’t you better send those two girls from Texas packing?”
“That’s a possibility, but the important thing was to have you up front for people to see. I plan to use you extensively. Senator Grant’s daughter. Play up his heroism in World War II.”
“And what else?”
“A rejection of scientific atheism-Darwin’s evolution from apes, geology. All that rot.”
“But we’ve done very well with science. The pamphlets ...”
“That’s all finished. We’ll keep the university, that’s a gold mine. But we’ll let someone else handle the little men, because flying saucers have run their course. Believe me, Marcia, the new field is old-time religion.”
He told her that he had been much impressed by a Southern television preacher who had mounted a campaign against what he called “atheistic humanism,” and although neither Strabismus nor the minister seemed to have a very clear concept of what this was, it made a splendid target, and when Leopold reached home he took four or five books from the Los Angeles Public Library and within a week made himself an expert on atheistic humanism.
“It’s the mind-set of smart-ass librarians who corrupt our young people with their immoral books. It’s the beliefs of college professors who seek to destroy this nation. It’s what makes the editors of the New York Times and the Washington Post soft on Communism. It’s what’s wrong with this fine country, and people who subscribe to it have got to be rooted out of our national life. A lot of generals in our Army are secret humanists, and they’ve got to be identified before they destroy our armed forces.”
In the days when the two wings of his temple were being erected he began to speak like an illiterate Southern farmhand, using phrases like: “Nukelar warfare,” “Old [680] Tessamint religion,” “Socialist subsidation of infamy,” “Dimunition of our power to defend ourself,” and “Irrevelant big-city argaments.”
At New Haven he had twice written Ph.D. theses for laggard scholars in English literature; now he habitually used “Jesus wants you and I ...” and “We wuz lost in the wilderness of sin.” But what made his oratory especially effective was his new pronunciation of old words; for example, it was always “God’s luuuv” in three long-drawn syllables. It was hisse’f; and shouldn’t auter, and evoluushun.
He adopted this usage because he knew that people who craved an old-time doctrine were intuitively suspicious o• university types and big-city editors and hotshot television announcers; they yearned for the simplicities of rural life and believed that only a man who was close to the untutored farmlands of their remembered youth could be trusted. They thus became not only a part of the national swing away from learning; they became with their cash contributions a leading factor in the movement. The nation, as if surfeited with the marvels of space and medicine and science and sophisticated social analysis, seemed hungry for anti-intellectual preachment, and Leopold Strabismus was eager to provide it.
He saw immediately that to be effective he must have access to television, but he knew he should move cautiously. “Marcia, I want you and Ramirez to scout every corner of this area and find a radio station that we can buy cheap. I don’t care where it is or what its power. Buy us a station.”
They found a fifty-watter, a dawn-to-dusk affair in the hills back of Los Angeles, and because the Reverend Dr. Strabismus spoke from it with great passion during all daylight hours, using the same taped sermons over and over, with no apologies, it became a sensation: “Why do I have to stop deliverin’ God’s message at sunset? Why am I forbidden to bring you the word of the Lord when the sun goes down? Because the atheistic humanists who run our State Department have entered into a corrupt deal with Mexico ...” He heaped special scorn on Yale University and Stanford as centers of the humanism that was destroying our nation.
[681] With sizable funds collected from his radio ministry, he was able to acquire a real twenty-four-hour radio station, which he threw open to the electronic ministers across the nation, and through the cooperation of these gifted orators he at last found an opening on television, where his bulk, his beard and his fiery oratory gained immediate approval. His income, after only twenty months of his ministry, was $300,000 a year.
Marcia, who was one of the factors in his success-for he sat beside the pulpit whenever he preached, giving testimony when called upon-identified the one weakness which might destroy his effectiveness: “Leopold, one of these days the newspapers have got to discover that your real name is Martin Scorcella and that you’re Jewish. That could create quite a scandal.”
“Half-Jewish,” he corrected. “And I’ll handle it the way Fiorella La Guardia handled his problem, which was just like mine, Italian father, Jewish mother. He said nothing about it during six elections. Let all the voters think he was Catholic. When he was finally challenged and some smart-ass newspaperman asked, “Why did you hide the fact that you were half-Jewish?” he said, “Half-Jewish ain’t enough to brag about.” When they find out about me six or eight years from now, I’ll be so firmly established they can’t touch me.”
“People who take religion seriously, they could be very disturbed. The way the Jews crucified Jesus and all that.”
“I’ve thought about it, Marcia, and I think I have the perfect answer. I’ll say, ‘Yes indeed, I was born a Jew, like St. Peter and St. James and Jesus Christ Hisse’f. But like them, I seen the true way, hallelujah, and became a Christian, and I will not rest until every Jew on this earth acknowledges his error and, like me and St. Paul, converts to Christianity.’ And you can bet that’ll hold ‘em.”
He first attracted statewide attention because of his television program Chimp-Champ-Chump, in which he savagely attacked the theory of evolution. He was especially effective because in his New Haven days he had produced three graduate theses on the Darwinian theory which had required him to master the details of this controversial subject. He was, indeed, better informed on the theory than most of the professors who defended it, and [682] when he poured his scorn on Darwin and his atheistic humanism, he was more amusing than the average vaudeville show.
He asked Marcia and Ramirez to scout the animal trainers in Hollywood for a likable monkey, and they came up with a chimpanzee named Oliver, whom they dressed in short satin pants and big white shoes. He appeared with Reverend Strabismus seated at a desk under the handsomely lettered sign CHIMP-CHAMP-CHUMP, and he took a liking to Leopold’s beard, which he pulled frequently. He had the attractive gift of listening attentively and smiling when Strabismus talked to him, and of nodding aggressively whenever the Reverend made a telling point. He was a delightful animal, and viewers up and down the state applauded whenever he appeared.
“I love this little animule,” Strabismus bellowed. “Look at him, he’s as cute as a button. It’s a privilege to call him my friend, but I do not want to call him my grandfather. There ain’t a shred of evydence in ever’thin’ that Charles Darwin ever wrote that proves to me or to any sensible man or woman that this here monkey was my ancestor, and there is ever’ evydence in the Bible that he was created as an animule and me as a human bein’ with God-given intelligence and immortality.”
Chimp-Champ-Chump became such a popular show that it led the movement in California to ban the teaching of evolution outright, or at least to require the parallel teaching of Biblical genesis. Wise science teachers, sensing the shift in public opinion, accorded more time and emphasis to creationism, as they called it, than to the much-ridiculed theory of evolution, and a generation of California students was beginning to believe that Darwinism was a fraud perpetrated by atheistic humanists, because Reverend Strabismus and the other preachers who shared his television show said so.
Strabismus muscled his way onto the national scene by his imaginative campaign to force rangers in national parks to stop saying in their lectures that places like the Grand Canyon had evolved through billions of years, when it was known from the Book of Genesis that they had been created within the passage of one week. Whenever listeners reported that federal employees were supporting evolution during their public talks in national parks like [683] Yellowstone and Glacier, he moved in furiously to combat their heresies.
But now the nation’s leading scientists began to take his attacks seriously, and there was a countereffort. Men at Harvard, Chicago and UCLA felt obligated to inform the people that America was going to make an ass of itself in the eyes of the world if it engaged in a know-nothing persecution of science, and they had begun to make some headway when Strabismus and a score of his associates launched a frontal assault, charging the professors with being atheistic humanists and Communists.
The confrontation became ugly when Reverend Strabismus, in a widely repeated harangue, invited his listeners to join him in a great crusade: “It ain’t my doin’. It’s the work of devoted Christians back East. They call theirselves the Righteous Rulers, and under their inspired leadership we are gonna drive the money changers outa the Temple. We are gonna defeat ever’ United States senator who supports the atheistic humanists. We are gonna drive from ever’ campus in this nation perfessers who teach Communistic evolution. We are gonna cleanse our library elves of ever’ book that contains filth and un-American teachings. And we are not gonna halt until we bring this nation back to God.”
When the response exceeded his hopes-hundreds of thousands of dollars streaming in through the mail-he told Marcia, “I think we got somethin’ important started, somethin’ much bigger than you and me foresaw.” He was now talking rural illiterate, even in his private life.
 
Senator Grant suffered no ambivalence about his role in space. He had bombarded NASA with the credentials of Gawain Butler’s nephew and had watched with pride as that young man became the nation’s first black astronaut. He had delighted in the early behavior of Captain John Pope, a lad from his hometown who had become rather difficult after his historic solo flight. Nevertheless, he had gone personally to President Nixon, urging that Pope be sent around the world as an ambassador of good will and … “to remind the Russians who’s still ahead.”
But as for any future NASA spectaculars, or for providing federal funds for such escapades, he was rigorously opposed: “We had three men who fought this battle when [684] the honor of our nation was exposed, Lyndon Johnson, Michael Glancey and me. The first two did their work honorably, and are now dead. I feel myself to be their surrogate, and I am satisfied that if they were still living, they would vote with me against any enlargement of the NASA commitment.”
He never ranted against NASA, nor did he attempt to lead any kind of open crusade; he merely voted consistently in favor of cutting the budget for space, telling anyone who asked about his activity, “We’ve proved that we can do anything we put our minds to, and now we must address more serious problems.”
Much of his attitude stemmed from the fact that he was up for reelection in 1976, and like a cautious politician, he endeavored to sense the national mood, which had shifted markedly and now opposed any further adventures in space. As one farmer said during a campaign meeting in Calhoun, “There’s damned little plowing to be done on the Moon and a great deal down here.” Blacks objected to further expenditures; young people who had opposed the war in Vietnam now turned their animosity toward science in general, so that when Grant surveyed his electorate he found almost no constituency for space.
“It’s a dead issue,” he told Finnerty. “Let’s take credit for everything we’ve done so far but avoid questions about the future.” He asked Finnerty to schedule John Pope, as a local hero, for meetings across the state, knowing that the astronaut would not be able to speak out publicly in his behalf, but would consent to being photographed with him.
What worried Grant in this campaign was not space, but the deplorable spiritual condition of the American people: “Here it is, the two hundredth anniversary of our republic and we find ourselves powerless even to mount a national birthday celebration.” The grand designs which had been discussed since 1969 for a world fair, immense parades, exhibitions and innovative enterprises in theater, sports, publishing and television had all collapsed; a great nation, one of the gleaming hopes of mankind, was celebrating its triumphs in virtual silence, as if it were ashamed of itself.
“The reason,” Grant mourned, “is that 1976 happens to be an election year, and we Republicans started out trying [685] to make capital of the celebration, as a kind of jubilee honoring Richard Nixon’s eight years in the White House and paving the way for Spiro Agnew’s eight years to come. Well, that part of the plan collapsed with Watergate, so we decided to make the Bicentennial a celebration of the new Republican leadership. Totally the wrong thing to do.
“And the Democrats were just as venal. Publicly they gave lip service to a grand national holiday, but since we would manage it, they wouldn’t vote a dime. So because of election politics, we’re celebrating one of the noblest days of our history in craven silence. How contemptible.”
He was also deterred from taking any major stance that might attract too much attention by his wife Elinor’s sad deterioration, and only the kindness of the local press prevented her behavior from becoming an election scandal. She had given her entire personal inheritance to Dr. Strabismus to support the good work he was doing in California, and if the senator’s staff had not stopped payment on certain checks and recovered others she had forged, the Grant name would have been badly sullied.
Elinor, far better informed on the perils facing the nation than her husband, had complained to reporters that Norman was starving her and keeping her imprisoned: “It’s very much like Bluebeard. Here I am a captive in a castle.”
“But we were free to come here to see you,” a woman reporter said.
“Yes, but you can’t imagine what would happen if I tried to leave when you do.”
“Let’s try. Let’s the five of us go downtown for lunch.”
“I wouldn’t dare. There are spies everywhere.”
“You mean, the senator employs spies ...”
“Not only the senator,” she said darkly.
When the editors read such reports they decided that Norman Grant was stuck with a whacko, and out of respect for his heroism in the war and the good work he had done subsequently, they decided to suppress the story, but they continued to express interest in the deportment of the senator’s daughter out in California. In news reports written with extreme delicacy and utilizing all kinds of ingenious innuendo, they referred to her association with the notorious fraud Leopold Strabismus and his diploma mill:
 
[686] Marcia Grant, daughter of Senator Norman Grant (Republican-Fremont), longtime personal friend of Strabismus and now his wife, serves as his dean of faculty with the degree of Ph.D. conferred upon her by her own institution. What her role is other than the collection of fees is difficult to ascertain, since the university appears to have no faculty. Repeated demands to meet with at least one professor have been rejected by Dean Grant on the grounds that her staff was far too busy correcting examination papers, written presumably by students who also do not exist.
 
Careful investigations in Sacramento have revealed that the state of California accredits several degree mills like the Strabismus USA on the grounds that “They do very little real harm and everyone knows their degrees are spurious.” When we asked why the state condoned such open fraud, we were told, “If we attempted to discipline the fake universities, then we’d be expected to do the same with the bogus churches, and defenders of the First Amendment would climb all over us. In this state you can have any religion you like, any university, and this office can do nothing about it.”
 
It was curious, really, that in the heat of a senatorial campaign the Democrats made so few attacks on Norman Grant’s private life, but as Tim Finnerty told his staff one night, “In the American system everyone knows that men are incapable of disciplining their wives, their daughters or their sons. If you start to raise hell with Grant, where do you stop?”
The senator was grateful for this courtesy, but the deportment of his women caused him deep concern, for he believed that if he had been a better husband and father, Elinor and Marcia would have developed more normally, and never was this feeling more intense than when Penny Pope flew west to help in his campaign, for then he saw a local girl, much like his daughter, who with far fewer advantages had become a leading Washington figure. At forty-nine she was tough-minded in committee meetings, self-directed in her personal life, and a most attractive [687] wife to a national hero. Grant had seen the reports submitted by State Department people who had chaperoned John and Penny Pope on their triumphal tours to foreign countries:
 
John Pope is a winner wherever he goes, modest, self-effacing, a most likable hero. He meets kings and presidents with an attractive reserve and addresses public gatherings with skill and good sense. A winner all the way. But wherever we go, Penny Pope steals the show. She dresses immaculately, tends her appearance and is refreshingly frank in whatever she says. In diplomacy, she’s worth ten battleships.
 
Penny was never loath to heckle Grant about his retreat on space, but she did so only in private, and was especially careful never to speak as John Pope’s wife but only as counsel to the committee: “To hear you talk, Senator, one would think that America had quit the space race. Look it up. How many satellites do you think we have up there right now? Year after year? Going round and round and sending us billions of messages?”
“I know from our committee that a lot of work keeps going on. But we have no Apollos. Skylab’s ended, so we have nothing big up there.”
From her briefcase she took a NASA publication, Satellite Situation Report, and with a delicate finger pointed to a line of figures: “Every item that has ever been shot into space has been given a serial number, starting with 1. What do you think the Russian Cosmos that went up the other day was numbered?” And she showed him-9,509.
“Good God! Why don’t they bump into each other?”
“Different altitudes. Different orbits.”
“Who put them up there?” he asked, and she reminded him of the wild variety of nations that had the capacity to do so: “Spain, India, Czechoslovakia, Italy, Netherlands and, of course, the United States and Russia.”
“We have 2,116 American objects sending signals right now,” she said. “Russia has 1,205.”
When the senator borrowed the report he spotted an ominous column: “What’s this ‘Inanimate Objects-6,078’ and most of them Russian?”
[688] “They’ve run out of electrical power. Send no messages. Just go round and round in timeless beauty.” She pointed to Catalogue Number 4041: “That’s the little craft that carried Armstrong and Aldrin down to the Moon in 1969. When they came back to Apollo 11 they jettisoned it. Read Footnote 9.” And Grant read: “A manned spacecraft which successfully landed on the Moon, after which it went into perpetual selenocentric orbit.”
“What’s selenocentric?” he asked.
“Selene was the Greek goddess of the Moon. Around the moon forever.” She laughed. “Senator, the other night in Webster you spoke as if we’d abandoned space. We’re just beginning to use it.”
When Penny spoke with such authority, Grant could not help speculating on what his life might have been had he married such a woman, one who was stable and judicious. There had been talk in Nixon’s first administration of bringing Grant into the Cabinet in one of the really good positions, perhaps even Defense, and because of his winning margins in Fremont, there had even been suggestions that he go on the ticket as Vice-President to forestall Rockefeller, but he had been painfully aware of his vulnerability because of his wife and daughter, and when he confided his fears to the Nixon advisers they quickly saw that he was prudent, and talk of any high-visibility position evaporated. As one of the California mafia said, “We have hundreds of men in this country who would make damned fine senators but lousy national leaders. And Norman Grant of Fremont is perhaps the outstanding example.”
With a wife like Penny Pope, he mused, anything would have been possible.
 
But whenever she campaigned on behalf of Senator Grant and listened to his oratory, Penny realized what a soggy pathetic politician this particular Republican had become. He stood for nothing. He represented no vital force. He had no vision of the future. And he ran on the simple program of patriotism and the fact that he answered his constituents’ mail within forty-eight hours.
His life had known two apexes: when he steered his destroyer escort right at the heart of the Japanese fleet. [689] and when he lined up with Lyndon Johnson and Michael Glancey to lead America into the space age. Everything since had been downhill, and now he presumed to ask the voters of his state to return him for another six years of futility. Penny was ashamed to be part of his team.
“Now wait,” Finnerty said one night in June after they had arranged a rousing campaign rally in Calhoun. “Norman Grant represents this state almost ideally. Look at the federal funds he’s brought in-the installations we’d never have had otherwise. And the service he gives his constituents.”
“I’ll grant the last. No senator takes more visitors to the Senate dining room. But his ideas ...”
“They’re adequate. Look at what happened to Fulbright. Rhodes scholar, wonderful orator. He has ideas galore and no Senate seat. Grant plays it safe.”
“Grant does nothing, Tim. You came to my office seven times in the last few years-make that a dozen times-bewailing his refusal to vote for good projects.”
“Penny, he’s infinitely better than the Democratic opposition.”
“Conceded. He won’t be a disgrace, the way that lump-head would, but he’s no ornament, either.”
“Few senators are.”
Her face-to-face meetings with Grant were depressing. He was only sixty-two, but he seemed a worried old man long past any constructive act, and the behavior of the women in his family prevented him from being impressive even with his dark suits and silvery hair. He was a hollow shell, and what was worse, he reverberated rather loudly: “We must turn our attention to more serious matters. We must cut the budget and increase our military power. We must get chiselers off the taxpayer’s back and take drastic steps to control crime in the streets. If you return me to Washington, my first priority will be to lower taxes without impairing our ability to defend ourselves.”
And then he would parade onto the stage, in their historic uniforms and medals, Tim Finnerty, Larry Penzoss and Gawain Butler, who would relate the facts about his heroism and solicit votes for this great American.
“Tim,” Penny said after the Webster rally, “you really ought to knock the heroism bit in the head. You fellows [690] look plain silly in those faded uniforms,” but Finnerty pointed out correctly: “It’s what’s kept him elected for thirty years, going on thirty-six.”
Tucker Thompson, still searching for one last good story about his Solid Six, arranged for Captain John Pope to fly out to Benton for the rally on November 3, when it was clear that although President Ford might be in trouble, the reelection of Norman Grant was assured. Pope, still a charismatic hero, came onstage, kissed his wife, and in defiance of NASA rules, said a few words asking the voters of his home state to send a great patriot and a foremost figure in America’s space supremacy back to the Senate.
Penny, like a good wife, posed with her left hand in her husband’s right, but the camera caught her looking with extreme uncertainty at Senator Grant, who was shaking hands with a group of women voters. Tucker captioned the picture, the last his magazine would run of the astronauts:
 
She had threatened to kick his butt from Canberra to Tahiti, but in the end she supported him enthusiastically when he campaigned in the successful reelection bid of Senator Norman Grant.
 
When Penny saw the picture in the magazine she was alone in her office, and she could not restrain herself from muttering-using profanity, something she rarely did:
 
“That sonnombeech Tucker! Male chauvinist pig! He knows it was me campaigning for Grant, and John only flew out to help me. But he’s got to write that John was doing the work and I flew out to help him. Penny, this sort of bullshit has got to stop, and you’re the only one to stop it.”
 
In this period of emotional turmoil regarding his sons, Stanley Mott took refuge, as men will, in his work, but here also he was confronted with confusion, for in his studies of the planets which he was obligated to conduct for NASA he found himself always oscillating between engineering and science. As an engineer he wanted to build bigger and bigger machines with ever more sophisticated capabilities, regardless of the specific use to which they [691] were put; but as a scientist he longed to send small, precise machines into bold new adventures of the mind: There’s a universe out there we’ve only begun to perceive. And if we had the courage, we could be living intellectually at the heart of it.
His indecision was marked by the two books he kept near him: the first, an engineering marvel by a physics professor at Princeton; the second, a summary of the scientific knowledge of space by a much different kind of professor in London. Whichever book attained ascendancy at the moment persuaded him to move in that direction; he had become a pendulum.
The Princeton book was Gerard K. O’Neill’s The Colonization of Space, in which an engineering job of immense dimension-the assembling of a gigantic machine in orbit to be occupied by thousands or even hundreds of thousands of workers and explorers who would spend most of their lives there-was considered by many to be practical. The beauty of O’Neill’s proposal was that work on it could be started now. Rockets like those built by Dieter Kolff, hundreds of them a month, could certainly carry the materials into low Earth orbit. Construction devices already in being at Houston and Huntsville could bind the parts together, while gossamers of enormous dimension could bring from the Sun all the energy needed to operate such an enterprise.
All that would be required to build such a station would be $1 followed by 27 zeros-a billion billion billion dollars-and that posed problems. Of course, enthusiasts argued that it could be shaved to a mere billion billion, but Mott doubted it.
Yet he was captivated by the boldness of the concept and convinced himself that before long some nation was going to break O’Neill’s grand design down into manageable parts and build itself a space station not for hundreds of thousands of settlers but for eighty or a hundred, and that nation would acquire an advantage in world control which might never be overcome by other nations less adventurous: From such a station you could beam down the energy of the Sun, making petroleum obsolete. You could control the weather, making rain fall where needed and preventing it from falling elsewhere. You could devise new forms of life, construct new combinations of material, [692] conduct researches into the nature of the universe.
And whenever he reached that point he stopped, for he could hear the Germanic accents of Dieter Kolff: “But you can do all that right now with unmanned probes, and for one-thousandth of the cost.”
The London book was an extraordinary affair, C.W. Allen’s Astrophysical Quantities, compiled by a retired professor of astronomy at the University of London and offering in 310 pages a summary of everything known about the structure of the universe, with hundreds of tables and thousands of footnote references indicating where the data could be verified. It was the handbook of any Russians, Japanese, Pakistanis, Germans or Americans who addressed themselves to the mysteries of space, and Mott referred to it almost daily.
It was a book of beautiful simplicity, for it started with a compact list of those constant values which govern existence, then summarized what mankind knew about the atom, and moved purposefully outward to the structure of the Earth, the other planets, the Sun, the fellow stars, the Galaxy, the distant clusters of other galaxies, and on to the infinite reaches of the universe. Even to read the table of contents was an adventure of the mind.
Mott found special pleasure in the first section, that list of immutable laws so painstakingly uncovered by investigators in so many different centuries and so many different countries. Pi was 3.14159265 … which Mott had memorized as a boy, and not some other value. There was a Planck constant governing energy, an Avogadro number giving the number of molecules in a standard volume of gas, a Faraday in electricity and a Stefan-Boltzmann constant in radiation.
To consult this list was a humbling experience: Damned few of the great constants were discovered in America. We build on the work done by men overseas.
On the other hand, when Mott turned to the later chapters of the handbook, the ones that concerned him, he found that much of the pivotal work had been done in America, as if our people had assembled the wisdom of the world and applied it to daring new concepts. Harlow Shapley initiated the studies which determined the size of our Galaxy; Carl Seyfert identified new types of galaxies; Edwin Hubble derived the constant that governed [693] them; and Maarten Schmidt extended the definitions. For Mott to look even casually into Astrophysical Quantities was like a lover of literature browsing in the Oxford Book of English Verse; every page had its own resonance. Here stood Isaac Newton and Max Planck and Albert Einstein and Ejnar Hertzsprung. Here stood the gateway leading into the heart of the universe, and whenever Mott laid the small green-bound book aside he felt refreshed.
It was a curious book, the work of an old man who had loved his subject, and the edition that Mott owned, the third, carried this extraordinary preface:
 
It may be anticipated that yet another revision will be justified after a lapse of about seven years and preparation for this should begin at once. The author would like to negotiate with anyone willing to cooperate.
 
When Mott first read this invitation to become co-author of an established best seller, he idly considered applying, but quickly broke into laughter: All I’d be required to know would be atomic physics, spectrum analysis, radiation, geology, subatomic particles, astronomy, photometry and the whole crazy field of astrophysics. Damn! Wouldn’t it be great to be eligible?
The whole set of his mind was toward science, but whenever he was tempted to go too far down that road, he could hear old Crampton in the wind tunnel at Langley: “Scientists dream about doing things. Engineers do them.” And he would turn to the more practical jobs at hand: What can we do now? And this would throw him back onto Gerard O’Neill’s space station, a version of which America could have been building right now.
His day-to-day work with NASA focused on a managerial problem faced at one time or other by most big operations: “How do we hold our key personnel together in a time of retrenchment?” With the Apollo program wiped out and no clear mission to replace it, cutbacks were inevitable and firings had to take place. When he visited Cape Canaveral he found Cocoa Beach in a state of shock: the Bali Hai motel had only two waitresses instead of the eight who had served the astronauts and their friends in the roaring 1960s, and Mr. and Mrs. Quint sat mournfully [694] with Mott in a darkened corner of the once-lively Dagger Bar: “Homes that people bought for nineteen thousand dollars ten years ago, you can pick hundreds up for nine thousand dollars each. We lost thousands in population, stores and bars shutting down the way they are.”
When Mott asked if they thought they could keep the Bali Hai open, they were gloomy: “We have a better chance than most, our good beach, and people know us. One Apollo shot a year would keep us prosperous. But that’s all gone, and we just don’t know.”
“But you are going to try?”
“Resort type of business, maybe. Catch the snow-birds as they drive south for the winter.”
“I wish you luck. This place is a part of American history.” He could hear the vanished astronauts; he could see Cynthia Rhee flashing into the bar like a comet in low orbit; most of all he could see the three young men he had admired so much when he supervised their activities: Bell the proficient civilian; Jensen the dream kid who typified the perfect astronaut; Claggett the tight-jawed doer, the clown, the best young man he had ever known, flawed but magnificent. They died, and now Canaveral was dying, too. When he left the Bali Hai to drive down to Palm Beach to visit his son in jail he saw the mournful signs: HOUSE FOR SALE. ANY REASONABLE OFFER.
It was the same wherever he went: the great, proud bases from which man had conquered space were retrenching, and some were on the verge of extinction. Personnel were being fired at an appalling rate, but it was not until he reached California on his inspection that he appreciated the real problem facing NASA and the nation, for at both Ames and the Jet Propulsion Laboratory he heard the same story: “We can cut back. We can fire people. But how do we maintain a basic capacity to spring back into action if we’re needed in a hurry?”
That was the headache. How does one preserve a cadre of intelligence and skill? What manufacturing jobs do you assign them to in the downswing? And most important of all, how do you keep the infrastructure vital so that it can be quickly expanded in time of need? Automobile companies, military units, big retail stores all faced that problem, but never so acutely as NASA did in these painful years, because each man it fired carried with him some [695] unusual and vital skill that could not easily be replaced. Mott listened as supervisors described the men let go at JPL: “Henderson knew more about computer enhancement than anyone else on the block. He could take data and make the whole thing sing. If a war came along, he’d be invaluable to the military, but what can he do working the salary list at Sears Roebuck? Ondrachuk knows more about metal stress than any of us. A very cautious man. But how can he use such knowledge teaching in junior high school, supposing he gets the job?”
There was an even deeper problem: “Henderson and Ondrachuk had learned how to work together. They’d evolved a jargon which extended to fifty other experts, each with his own peculiar field. In a pinch we could probably find men as good as they are, but without the accumulated jargon. And what’s worse, keep them out of the program for three years and they’ll have lost the jargon. They won’t have kept up with their fields, no matter how much they study. Space is a hands-on experience. You have to do it to learn it.”
Sometimes at night he trembled to think of the intellectual capacity his country was squandering ... dissipating to the four winds ... ignoring at a time of no-crisis and perhaps destroying against the day of great-crisis. But a democracy worked that way, by fits and starts, by dynamic response to felt emergencies, then slothful indifference when the emergency dissolved. However, when he reached the Lewis base near Cleveland and found that the creative engineer Levi Letterkill had been let go, he perceived the problem not in the abstract but in fiercely human terms.
“You can’t fire Letterkill. Call him right now and get him back on the job.”
“We had to let him go. Quotas.”
“I don’t give a damn about quotas. Letterkill is twice as bright as I am, and this country needs him.”
“We don’t. Not in this shop.”
“You think you don’t. But let me tell you about this man. In 1957, well before Russia put Sputnik up, he devised a way for the gang at Wallops Island to put one of our little machines into orbit. You know what he came up with last year? A radio telescope with a base line ten A.U.’s long. We need this man.”
[696] “Not here, we don’t.”
“If he goes, I go.” He had thrown out a challenge which the Lewis people jumped to accept. They called Washington and said that they refused to be overridden by some headquarters has-been; then Mott took the phone and said calmly, “If Letterkill is fired, I have to be fired, too.” There was a long silence, then a conciliatory voice: “Is this a conference call? Are you both listening? Mott, why don’t you see if Huntsville could find Letterkill a place?”
When he reached Huntsville he found them in a frenzy of retrenchment, too, but with urging from Washington he persuaded them to take Letterkill into their think tank, where bold ideas were generated, and Mott thanked the administrators profusely.
That evening he dined with the Kolffs up on Monte Sano, and after supper, as he and Dieter and Liesl sat on the front patio overlooking the city, they told him the wonderful news: “Always when I was working at Peenemünde I loved to borrow classical records from Von Braun. He loved music. The records were Polydor, the best ever made, no scratch. And I used to dream that the day was coming when I would be a big manager like Von Braun and I, too, would be able to afford Polydor records. Beethoven, Brahms, Wagner. Now look!”
He returned to the living room and turned on his record player; soon sounds of heavenly clarity filled the night with music Mott could not identify, but quite soon Dieter was back with one of those handsome album jackets of Deutsche Grammophon with the golden-yellow cartouche across the top: VIVALDI. CONCERTO IN A FOR TRUMPET AND ORCHESTRA. Magnus Kolff with Herbert von Karajan and the Berlin Philharmonic. Holding the jacket on his knees. Mott listened to the brilliant trumpet sounds as they filled the room behind him, making it a noble symphony hall.
“Is it too loud?” Dieter asked.
“No. I like the reverberations.” After a while he said, “You must be very proud, Dieter.”
“I am. It’s better to me than all of Von Braun’s Polydors.” Then he explained: “You understand, of course, that Polydor merged with Deutsche Grammophon. It’s the same company, really.” When Mott turned the jacket over he found a photograph of young Kolff, twenty-nine years old, [697] his German-American face smiling, his left hand clasping his trumpet.
“How do we keep the team together?” Mott asked.
“We had the same problem at Peenemünde. Hitler blows hot, lots of work. He has a negative dream, fire everybody. He has a positive dream, the A-4 will win the war, our staff triples. Vietnam and Watergate, America has a bad dream.”
“How did Von Braun handle it?”
“When General Funkhauser came along to find volunteers for the front, he hid people in barns.”
“Did you hear that Congress gave Funkhauser a medal last month?”
“I saw the papers. He deserved it, Stanley. He did one hell of a job in this country.”
“He got me my job with NASA. It was NACA then. I wonder where I’d be if he hadn’t intervened?”
Kolff laughed. “I know where I’d be if Liesl hadn’t stopped him from intervening. I’d be six feet under in some German potato field.”
“What should NASA do now?”
“Hide its best men in a barn. Wait for Hitler or whoever to have a better dream.”
Mott received advice that was more specific from Senator Grant when he visited him in the Senate Office Building: “I’ve resigned from the Space Committee, Mott. Made my small contribution and turned the job over to younger men. When we had astronauts up there-Glenn, Armstrong, Claggett-the whole nation throbbed with excitement. Today, what? Total indifference. This Mars thing you’re about to do. What’s it really mean to the man in the street?”
“It could be our most significant accomplishment in space.”
“Don’t you believe it. If no men are involved, it’s merely an exercise.”
“But men are involved, sir. The comprehension of the entire world ...”
“That comes later. Much later. In books that men like you read. Not in real life.”
“What would you advise NASA to do?”
“Cut back to the bone. Close down three-fourths of your [698] installations. Go ahead with your inexpensive shots that explore the planets. Keep the scientists happy, but don’t try to occupy center stage.”
“What about preserving our cadre? In case of a national emergency down the line?”
“That’s the military’s problem. I’ve done some studying of my own. Every really competent man NASA’s fired has gone either to the Pentagon or to the air-space industry and got a better job. The capacity is kept alive, but in a different set of buildings.” When Mott tried to counter this argument, citing the preeminence of civilian control, Grant cut him short: “Why do you suppose I quit the Space Committee? To take a more important job on military affairs. That’s where the action’s going to be.”
Again Mott tried to interrupt, and again Grant forestalled him: “Look at your own group of astronauts-the ones you brought in and coddled. Three dead. That fine man Cater back in civilian life. John Pope from my hometown about to resign. Only that chap from Tennessee ... what’s his name?”
“Hickory Lee.”
“Only one left. Too limited in outside experience to land a good civilian job. Well, we need caretakers.”
“How far should we cut back, Senator?”
“I was rather startled the other day when our committee counsel, Mrs. Pope-you know her-told me how many satellites we already have in the air, and the good purposes they serve. Keep them up there. Add to them. Improve the new models and be sure they function. Work hand in hand with the military and you’ll find enough to do. But drop the idea that you’re some superagency, some Manhattan Project inventing the atomic bomb. You’re the Department of Agriculture now, a service agency with a limited budget. Learn to live with it.”
“Did you say that John Pope was leaving the program?”
“He’s bright. He can see we’re at the end of an epoch.”
“What’s he going to do?”
“I don’t know. He has an able wife with a good job to tide him over till he makes up his mind.” Grant grew hesitant. “You know, I suppose, that the high brass at your shop is displeased with Pope. His arrogance when we talked Claggett into postponing his divorce ... the bit about that Japanese newspaperwoman at Claggett’s funeral. And I [699] don’t need to specify the Australian foul-up ... the high brass ...”
“I’m fairly high brass,” Mott said coldly, “and I find no fault with Pope.”
“Neither do I! Look, he’s from my hometown. I’m indebted to him. He campaigned for me. But ...”
He walked Mott to the door. “The days of wild blue yonder, the science-fiction bit-that’s all finished, Mott. Now we address ourselves to practical matters.”
 
Senator Grant was correct; John Pope had concluded that he would do better if he resigned from NASA. “It’s this way, Penny, I’m forty-nine. They’re not ever going to send me up again. Nothing to send me in.”
“They surely have some kind of job for you, an outfit that big.”
“Sure, pencil-pushing in some third-floor office. I’m not the type.”
“You can do anything you put your mind to, John. I’ve watched you.”
“That’s true, but it has to be something of significance. Now, if they wanted me to study a completely new field-for a new kind of flight, that is-I’m their boy. But that’s passed. The whole establishment is chairborne now, and there’s really no place for me.”
“John, I see the budget. It’s enormous even now. A lot of work to be done ...”
“I’ve been in space. I’ve been to the Moon. If the flight program has ended, I can’t spend the rest of my life at a desk.”
“What will you do?” They were in her apartment in Washington, where the activity of a great nation throbbed with vitality, and to hear him talking as if life had somehow ended was distasteful, an evaluation she allowed to creep into her voice.
“I’m still a Navy captain. I can always go back.”
“John, the best you could do in the Navy is more pencil-pushing. They don’t want an old-timer like you, respected though your record would make you.”
“Look, I’m still one of the real pilots around.”
She burst into laughter as she poured him a ginger ale. “John, those young tigers at Pax River wouldn’t know what to do with you ... or me.”
[700] They thought about this for some time and after a while John turned on the television, but Penny immediately turned it off. “We must talk about this, John. The Navy’s no solution. It’s trading a NASA desk job for a Navy desk job, so who’s ahead?”
“Who has to be ahead? I could teach astronomy at Annapolis, maybe.”
“No, if you’re going to make a break, make a big one.”
“Like what?”
In their dilemma the Popes became just another NASA family faced by unemployment because a great program was winding down, and like the other perplexed experts, they wandered off into many different possibilities.
“John, have you ever considered us both moving back to Clay? We’d have a decent pension. We could-”
“We could what?”
“You could go into politics, maybe.”
“I’d never touch it.”
“You could get elected, you know.”
“I am not a politician.”
He refused to discuss that possibility any further, turned on the television and watched a football game, but next day when he went to Navy headquarters in the Pentagon he received a jolt: “John, the Navy would always find a place for you, but you’ve been away so long. You’re definitely age in grade.” This meant that in the normal flow of a Navy man’s career, someone like John Pope ought statistically to be much further advanced than he was; his lagging on the promotion ladder meant simply that the Navy no longer expected him to become one of its senior admirals. He was tagged, indelibly, as a loser.
“But in aviation ...”
“You’re a champion, John. No doubt about it. But you’ve converted yourself into a civilian.”
“Sir, I could certainly ...”
“I can’t think of a commander who would feel easy having a national hero your age, your reputation, under him. It would be quite out of balance.”
“They tell me Yeager’s being promoted to general. I’m due for admiral.”
“Yeager stayed in the chain of command. You didn’t.”
“How about Patuxent River?” Before the admiral could respond, Pope added with obvious enthusiasm, “I [701] sometimes think they were the best days I ever had. Did you know that Claggett was there with me? Hickory Lee did a stint there, too, while he was in the Army.” The admiral listened with respect, tapping his fingers, as Pope recalled the glory days when he was a hotshot lieutenant commander, probably, and gradually the fire subsided. “I suppose I would be overage for Pax River. But those were damned good days.”
“Believe me, John, you’d make a terrible mistake trying to come back in.”
He was not wanted. There was no way that the Navy could feel comfortable with a front-line civilian hero like John Pope on its administrative hands, and when he left the Pentagon it was with the solid knowledge that retreating to the blue uniform was not a possibility. Penny had been right, and when he reported to her apartment this time he was prepared to listen.
“You feel it’s the end of the line at NASA?” she asked.
“Definitely. I’m through there, whether I want to admit it or not.”
“And you’re through at the Navy?”
“I’m sure that’s what they were trying to tell me.”
“How about business? Claggett told me that six different firms wanted to lure him away from NASA.”
“That was Claggett. He could sell anybody anything.”
“Well then, I have a surprise for you. Behind your back Senator Grant and I have been doing some logrolling. The State University of Fremont invites you to join its faculty.”
“As what?”
“Professor of Applied Astronomy.”
John leaned back in his chair, hands to lips, and tried to visualize the job, and gradually a big, relaxed smile came over his lean, tough face. “That I would like.” Then he asked, “You coming, too?”
“Much of the year. Yes, I know just the house we must buy.”
“What do you mean by much?”
“I have work here I want to finish up. At the committee. What with Glancey gone and Grant out. I’m needed.” She moved about the apartment, straightening chairs, something she did only when inwardly confused. “And there’s been some loose talk about appointing me to one of the federal agencies ... maybe even a judgeship.”
[702] “You’d be damned good. Penny. If they make a solid offer, grab it.”
“I’d have vacations. You’d have vacations. I’m sure it would work, John, but on the other hand, if you wanted to find something here in Washington ...”
“I think I’ve had Washington.”
“I think you’re right. I have this strong feeling that you ought to get back to your home soil. Dig in for the hard work that lies ahead.”
“Like what?”
“Who knows? You’re not fifty yet. You have twenty-five good years ahead.”
“Penny, the most important aspect of this making decisions ... it’s difficult to say.” He seemed to choke on his words, then blurted out: “You know I love you-more than flights, more than anything else.”
“That’s hard to believe ... sometimes.”
“But we always seem to be you here, me in Korea. You here, me at Pax River ... or the Moon.”
“You trained me to be a Navy wife, John. You did a great job.”
“So it’s still you in Washington, me in Fremont?”
“During these good years of our lives, yes. But we can handle it.”
“I intend to,” John said.
 
To honor John Pope’s return to his hometown, the citizen and the university united in organizing a gala celebration worthy of a national hero, but the community itself was far from united on anything else; in fact, it was riven into warring segments.
Religious fundamentalists who believed in the literal truth of every word in the Old Testament had some time before launched a crusade in the state of Fremont to expunge from the school curriculum, elementary through university graduate work, any reference to Darwin’s theory of evolution, and the movement might have died under the scorn of editorials and expert testimony had not the Reverend Leopold Strabismus of the United Scripture Alliance of Los Angeles seen the situation as a heaven-sent opportunity to lead a publicity campaign against godless humanism: “We have a statewide arena, Marcia. We have a new area which has never heard our preachments before. [703] And I think we can command a national audience.”
He therefore moved into his wife’s state with great force: tents for rural meetings, sound systems to amplify his thundering voice, choirs to provide music, and local enthusiasts to keep the excitement moving. Fremont had never seen the like, and people who normally might not have bothered with a revivalist’s meeting flocked to hear Dr. Strabismus excoriate science, Communism, false prophets and Yale University. It was an excellent side show, at first, but it quickly degenerated into a searing attack on the general intellectual establishment.
The most popular member of the Strabismus troupe was not Strabismus himself, huge and hefty in his white suit, nor his very attractive wife, who nodded vigorously when he made his major points, but the appealing little animal, quite tame now and hungry for applause and bananas, who participated in the lectures as Chimp-Champ-Chump:
 
“Do you good folks really believe that this here monkey was your grandfather? Do you accept the teaching of the atheistic humanists at Yale University that this here monkey lived two million years ago, breeding a nest of half-animals, half-men, when the Bible itself says God made this Earth about six thousand years ago, and we have proof to prove it?”
 
His assault became so powerful and his logic so persuasive that the voters of Fremont placed a referendum on the ballot so that the citizens of the entire state could vote on whether Genesis was correct or Darwin, whether God was supreme or some Communist atheistic humanists at Yale University.
Men and women defending each point of view stormed into the state, and the air was filled with acrimony. In a rousing revival for rural communities in the western half of the state, Strabismus spelled out the goals of his campaign:
 
“I got me on’y five points, and they’re taken straight from the Bible. First, in no tax-supported institution in this state, elementary school through the university, can anyone teach Darwin’s atheistic theory as a fact. Second, in every institution, God’s creationism [704] has got to be taught. as the fact that all sensible people believe. Third, we have got to erase from our textbooks any reference to millions and billions of years. This Earth came into bein’ about six thousand years ago, and that’s that. Fourth, we have got to stop talkin’ about dinosaurs and the like as havin’ lived a very long time ago and died out for some confused geologic reason. They died in the Flood, that’s how they died. Five, we don’t want no more geology of any kind pollutin’ our kids’ minds.”
 
When the full force of his crusade was appreciated and it was seen that his side had a chance of winning the referendum, scholars from other states and textbook publishers from New York and Boston streamed into the state to try to restore reason, but they were powerless to quench the firestorm he had ignited.
He based his persuasive reasoning on two books which a Mississippi clergyman of some erudition had brought to his attention. The first was by Philip Gosse, an English writer, who argued simply that there were fossils, yes, and there were dinosaur bones, and there were geological strata, and everything was exactly as Darwin and the geologists described it. The secret was that in the year 4004 B.C. God had created the world exactly as Genesis said, and had hidden all these bits of evidence in the rocks and in the dinosaur bones as a kind of temptation to man’s intellectual presumptions. Gosse explained everything in such simple and beautiful terms that Strabismus said, “No further discussion is necessary. The record is exactly what the atheistic professors at Yale say. It has to be, because God placed it there on the day of Creation.”
The second book was extremely useful when arguing with people from the universities who had a smattering of knowledge. It was George McCready Price’s The New Geology, which Marcia Strabismus sold for ten dollars a copy, to those who sought the truth. It was a formidable essay, well founded in scientific jargon and difficult to rebut. Its major thesis appealed to all who suffered from the tyranny of science, and when Strabismus translated this into his own terms it made a persuasive argument:
 
[705] “These here scientists try to tell us that fossils found in rocks always grow from primitive forms to complex forms like you and me. And to prove this they show us that the primitive forms always appear in the earliest rocks, and the complex forms in later rocks. But how do they date the layers of rock? You stop right now and tell me how they date the layers of rock.
 
“They do it by seein’ that primitive forms are in what they call the older layers. And the complex forms in the younger. Don’t you see that they’s arguin’ in a great big circle. It’s jest like a boy tellin’ his girl, “You ought to kiss me because it’s Valentimes Day, and Valentimes Day became special because that’s when girls kissed boys.”
 
“That’s crazy reasonin’ and the boy knows it, and the scientists know it, and they’s pullin’ the wool over the eyes of the public. I say it’s time to stop.”
 
Several professors of geology volunteered to debate Strabismus, but he would meet them only in his tent, where the choir, the charm of Mrs. Strabismus, the cheers of his supporters and the antics of Chimp-Champ-Chump put the scientists to rout.
Leopold Strabismus was a most formidable adversary, much better educated than most of his opponents, and as the time for voting in the referendum approached, it became obvious that the citizens of a great state were going to throw evolution, geology, anthropology and paleontology out of the state curriculum. Two hundred years of the most painstaking accumulation of data and understanding were to be tossed overboard.
Why did Strabismus pursue this campaign so frenetically and with such diabolic effectiveness? He made no money from the crusade, since everything that reached him in the nightly collection was spent on rentals of the tent and the sound system. He could not have done so because of ignorance of the subject matter, for he had written Ph.D. theses on both evolution and Devonian geology. And he certainly did not act from deep religious conviction, for he had none.
[706] He was driven by two great compulsions: a desire for power, and a longing for revenge against the academic community which had refused to accept him on his own dubious terms. Sooner than most, he had sensed that America was becoming surfeited with science and longed for simpler explanations, and very early in his crusade he had discovered that people in the hinterlands enjoyed listening to attacks on places like Yale University and institutions like the New York Times.
But most of all, his antennas, those remarkably sensitive probers of the national consciousness, reported to him that America was preparing itself for a major swing to the right, and he proposed to help lead that swing.
What were his own inclinations? His Italian grandparents would have been Christian democrats had such a party existed in Mount Vernon, and his Jewish grandparents were still avowed socialists. His parents on each side had softened these beliefs, becoming standard Democrats who voted now and then for really good Republicans like General Eisenhower and Jacob Javits. In the normal unfolding of events, Martin Scorcella should have been a moderate liberal, which is exactly what he was until his expulsion from New Haven.
Then he began to wonder, falling into the habit of telling jokes on himself in public: “I came from a family of eleven Democrats, but I learned to read.” And what did he read? Eugene Lyons, Igor Gouzenko and, especially, Ayn Rand, and gradually he came to see that liberalism with its state-social approach was horribly wrong.
His next decision was vital, one often made by brilliant young men since the days of Greece: If society is rotten, I shall manipulate society. He had started with little green men, moved on to the founding of a bogus university and now to a religious temple, but what not even his wife Marcia had detected, he planned soon to surrender his basilica in Los Angeles and acquire several thousand acres in the suburbs to house a temple and a real university based on the Bible. In the meantime, he had the Fremont plebiscite to win, for he hoped that if he could encourage even one state to outlaw evolution, a groundswell would develop, and as its champion in state after state, he would inevitably become a man of considerable power.
[707] When the vote was counted, the people of Fremont had elected to rescind most of modern science, and the educators of the state began the painful process of weeding out from their libraries any books which spoke well of Darwin, geology or dinosaurs. The task was easier than it sounded because avid citizens volunteered for the job, and there was a general cleansing.
It was into this heated atmosphere that John Pope returned, and there was general apprehension when the university announced that its most beloved professor emeritus, Karl Anderssen, who had taught John Pope his astronomy, would give the major address at the celebration. Anderssen was now a very old man and there was cause to fear that he might ramble on, and a possibility that although he had not participated in the fight against Strabismus, he might speak unguardedly and open old wounds. The officials were relieved, therefore, when Anderssen said, “I’ll give my speech honoring John in the planetarium.”
“The place is small enough,” the president of the university assured his board, “So that the rabble can’t force their way in.”
They convened at eight in the evening, the intellectual cream of the community, many of whom had voted to outlaw evolution and geology, but they were not fanatics and they wanted to hear what the old man had to say.
 
“Tonight is the twenty-second of June 1976, and when the lights go down we shall see the heavens as they are outside this planetarium. Now, I’m going to turn the sky-clock back 922 years. It is again June 22 in A.D. 1054. The sky looks almost the same as it does tonight, a few planets in different positions, but that’s about all.
 
“I’m going to speed through eighteen days, and here we have the heavens as they appeared at sunset on the night of 10 July 1054. Let’s go to midnight in Baghdad, where Arabic astronomers are looking at the sky, as they always did. Nothing unusual. Now it’s 11 July 1054, toward three in the morning. Still nothing exceptional. But look! There in the constellation Taurus!”
 
[708] In the silence of the planetarium the audience watched in awe as an extremely brilliant light began to emerge from the far tip of the Bull’s horn. It exceeded anything else in the heavens, infinitely brighter even than Venus, and increasing in brilliance each moment.
 
“It was a supernova, in the constellation Taurus, and we know the exact date because Arabic astronomers in many countries saw it and made notes which confirmed the sightings in China. Indians in Arizona saw it and marveled. In the South Pacific natives marked the miracle. And watch as daylight comes in 1054! The new star is so bright it can be seen even against the rays of the Sun, which was not far off in Cancer.
 
“For twenty-three days, the astronomers of Cathay and Araby tell us, this supernova dominated the sky, almost as bright as the Sun, the most incandescent event in recorded history. No other nova ever came close to this one. Look at it! Challenging even the Sun! And watch how it commandeered the night sky, this flaming beacon.”
 
He allowed his planetarium to run rather slowly, re-creating the cycle of those twenty-three unequaled days, when watchers throughout the world had been stunned by this miracle. By day, by night, it filled the planetarium so that John and Penny Pope could see each other in its radiance. and the faces of all around them. And then, on the evening of the second day of August 1054 the great new star diminished, fading with a speed more precipitous than that with which it had arisen, until Taurus looked as it had for a thousand years and would look for a thousand years thereafter.
 
“Why do I tell you these things on the night we honor our cherished son John Pope? For one simple reason. This great star, which must have been the most extraordinary sight in the history of the heavens during mankind’s observation, was noted in China, in Arabia, in Alaska, in Arizona and in the South Pacific, for we have their records to prove it. But in Europe nobody saw it. From Italy to Moscow, from [709] the Urals to Ireland, nobody saw it. At least, they made no mention of it. They lived through one of the Earth’s most magnificent spectacles and nobody bothered even to note the fact in any parchment, or speculate upon it in any manuscript.
 
“We know the event took place, for with a telescope tonight we can see the remnants of the supernova hiding in Taurus, but we have searched every library in the western world without finding a single shred of evidence that the learned people of Europe even bothered to notice what was happening about them.
 
“An age is called Dark not because the light fails to shine, but because people refuse to see it.”
 
Never had NASA’s planning been more delicate. In the great orbiter mission to Mars in 1971 there had been no attempt to land on the planet itself, and since the Mariner remained aloft, taking from a distance those remarkable photographs which delighted the scientific world, there was no worry about safe landing sites. But on this flight the Viking was going to land on the actual surface of Mars and send its photographs from there. In 1971 Mars had been 75,000,000 miles away. This time it would be 199,000,000, and that, too, made a difference.
But what gave the exploration a touch of elegance was the time chosen for the landing. Starting back in 1961, when the trip was first contemplated, with little apparent chance of success at that time, skilled mathematicians had laid out a timetable which could deposit the machine on Mars at three o’clock Eastern Daylight Saving Time on the afternoon of the Fourth of July 1976. This daring, intricate, wonderful, imaginative feat would thus serve as capstone to our nation’s two-hundredth birthday.
Year by year NASA leaders had asked their experts: “Are we keeping to schedule? Will it land on the Fourth of July?” In 1975 they began asking monthly, and after the Viking was launched in August of that year, they checked week by week. Now, in the centennial year itself, with the landing date looming ahead, they verified their figures daily, and always they received the same answer: “We’re on schedule to land at three in the afternoon on the Fourth of July.”
[710] Since the government lacked any other spectacular event to use as the highlight of its two-hundredth birthday, the politicians fastened upon the Mars landing as the apex of their celebration. President Ford would make a nationwide broadcast congratulating the scientists who had achieved this miracle. The three television networks would relay photographs as they reached the Earth. And the entire world would celebrate with us this exquisite intellectual victory. Thousands of Americans in all parts of the nation geared their lives to bringing this stupendous adventure to a successful conclusion.
The NASA high command asked Dr. Stanley Mott to fly out to the Jet Propulsion Laboratory in Pasadena to ensure that there would be no housekeeping glitches in a performance that would be watched by millions, and when he arrived three weeks before the Fourth he was pleased to find that leading scientists were gathering to study the data Viking would be sending back; engineers worked around the clock to keep the spacecraft on target; the Landing Site Selection Team would choose the exact spot for touchdown; the Image Processing Team would determine which of the thousands of photographs would be released to the media; the Inorganic Chemistry Team would analyze the data sent down by sensors; the Surface Sampler Team would concentrate on the actual composition of the planet; and at least three teams would try to collect any evidence which would prove that life had previously existed on Mars ... or that it did now in some minute, unfamiliar form.
It was a dazzling concentration of brilliant minds, made more so when NASA flew in a group of distinguished civilians, not connected with the project but deeply interested in Mars, to conduct a seminar establishing an intellectual framework in which to understand the landing. Jacques Cousteau, lean and magisterial, spoke of the inner forces which goad men to explore, whether on Mars or in the ocean deeps. Ray Bradbury, the science-fiction giant, exploded into poetry to convey his feelings, while crippled little Philip Morrison of MIT, one of the subtlest brains in the world, shared his reflections as Viking sped silently into orbit.
On the third of July, with President Ford preparing his [711] notes to inform the world that we had landed on Mars and with television cameras crowding the room in which Dr. Mott and his men would make their scientific disclosures, a small group of NASA scientists, the ultimate wizards of this project, studied the latest close-up photographs of the site chosen for landing six years earlier and were shocked by what the scanner was revealing.
“We can’t land in that nest of craters!”
“Look! The President of the United States is standing by. All those television cameras are waiting out there.”
“I don’t give a damn. You can’t land a fragile machine n terrain like that.”
“You don’t give a damn for the President of the United States?”
“I didn’t say that, but as a matter of fact, in this situation I don’t.”
“What do you propose?”
“Slip the landing a few days. Look around for a better site.”
“Slip? Dammit, you can’t slip!”
“I just did. Landing tomorrow is absolutely impossible. We must find a safer site.”
A sickening pall settled over the room, for these men knew the disappointment such an announcement must entail. They appreciated the abuse NASA would receive for having botched a mission of such importance, with the whole world watching. There was brief discussion as to who would announce the postponement, and a committee of three was chosen: two project scientists and Dr. Mott from headquarters. The grieving men took deep breaths, after which the one who had made the decision said, “Well, lets get on with it.”
The formal announcement caused a dull mutter of resentment through the briefing hall, for these hundreds of reporters and television crewmen had traveled long distances to participate in this triumphant moment, and they were not pleased with the three men who gave them the bad news.
“So your whole delicate schedule is shot to hell?” one belligerent asked.
“It is,” the leading scientists admitted, but when the questioners reached Dr. Mott, they found him unwilling [712] to concede a single point. Sitting primly and wearing a formal jacket while the others were in shirt sleeves, he parried all the castigations:
 
“We cannot land on July 4, which is a deep disappointment. But I feel confident from the new photographs that we will land on a better and safer spot on July 21 or even 20. That’s a delay of sixteen or seventeen days, and in the long history of man’s exploration, what did it really matter whether Christopher Columbus sighted his New World on October 12 or two weeks later?”
 
“If he’d delayed two more weeks,” a newsman growled, “his crew might’ve lynched him.”
 
“We’ve spent years of effort and millions of dollars to bring this effort to the verge of success. An adventure like this has never before in the history of the world been attempted, and we must not endanger it at the last minute by trying to land in the middle of a plain of rocks.”
 
“Will your next site be any better?” a science writer asked.
 
“We’re not guaranteeing anything, but this mission is so difficult, we’ve got to have as many factors as possible in our favor. We know that the July 4 site is no good. We hope the next one we select will be.”
 
“Why didn’t you see that the present site was no good three weeks ago? Save us hauling out here on a no-go mission.”
 
“Three weeks ago we had to rely on photographs taken from a distance of several thousand miles. Now we have close-ups and radar probes, and I can tell you, that makes a difference. But if at the last minute on July 21 real close-ups show that site to be a bummer, we’ll back away from it, too. Gentlemen, scientists grope for information, and when we get it we must obey its dictates. That’s what science is.”
 
[713] So this big day, the day of national celebration, passed ignominiously. President Ford filed his notes. The television crews went home, and second-guessers around the world explained how the affair should have been handled. But at the end of two weeks the NASA scientists concluded that everything was in their favor, so on 20 July men like Cornell’s Carl Sagan and Hal Mazursky, the superbrain, bit their lips, and white-haired Jim Martin crossed his fingers and gave the signal to detach the small lander from the bigger orbiter which had brought it safely across so many millions of miles.
One of the young scientists gripped Mott’s arm and whispered, “It’s got to work.” And when the signal reached Earth confirming that the lander had broken away neatly, the young man sighed and whispered again, “I knew it would work.”
For two painful hours the NASA men checked indicators as the frail lander drifted down through Martian space, and then, when it began to descend precipitously, tension rose and in the disciplined silence excitement multiplied: “Viking is 300,000 feet aloft ... Viking is 74,000 feet from landing ... Viking is at 2,600 feet ... Viking is approaching Chryse in perfect attitude ...”
The room fell silent; men could hear each other breathing. Then across 199,000,000 miles came the steady, unemotional signal: “Viking has landed. All systems go.”
Men leaped into the air. Some wept. Jerry Soffen, project scientist for the adventure since its inception, shouted, “After fifteen years ... Mars!” Mott, overcome with emotion after having just witnessed the defeat of science in the Fremont plebiscite, danced with Carl Sagan in celebration of this tremendous victory.
Man had reached the planets. He stood challenging the entire solar system to reveal its secrets. Even the ramparts of the Galaxy were now approachable, and where this vast adventure into space would end, no man could predict. The landing on the nearby Moon had carried trivial significance compared to this, for the Moon was a dead appendage to planet Earth; Mars was a planet in its own right, and now it was being revealed as scarred, arid and lifeless.
The young fellow who had whispered at the moment of [714] maximum tension now studied the first incoming photographs and again gripped Mott’s arm. “Damn it. Damn it to hell! A barren waste. If only it had shown a palm tree, we’d start planning a manned flight tomorrow. This way, we’ll forget it by September.”
Mott, hearing this gloomy prediction, knew it to be true, but only insofar as the immediate future was concerned. And he felt he must correct the young scientist: “In this work we build slowly. That photograph which is so disappointing to you ... it could set the mind of some young Japanese ablaze. Or some schoolboy in Massachusetts.”
He stood apart, trying to recall the days when he had been such a schoolboy: “Maybe the most important book I ever read was that ridiculous affair by Percival Lowell. It was totally wrong, but it set my mind working. Look! Seventy short years after he published it, here we are on Mars. And if I helped get us here, he helped get me started.” He moved in close to study the new photographs as they evolved in real time, and they showed no canals.


XI
THE RINGS OF SATURN
STANLEY Mott was irritated. By training and predisposition he should have been concentrating on the farthest but because of the various scandals in which his sons were involved he was prevented from attaining any of the major positions in NASA management. However, his unusual combination of skills-practical engineer plus visionary astrophysicist-made him respected as a counselor in the varied activities of the agency.
Recently he had been assigned to analytical work in land-based aviation, a task which might occupy him for many months. “A terrible waste of talent,” he grumbled to Rachel when the decision was announced. “I’ve always been the one who pushed for daring new explorations. Now I'll be wasting my time at places like Boeing or Lockheed, and it hurts.” He glared at his photograph of NCG-4565 and longed to be back in space.
But Mott had always been a devoted workman, and after he had spent three weeks researching America’s efforts in aviation, he became obsessed with a desire to do a first-class job; his friends had to listen as he explained his new enthusiasms: “You forget that the first A in NASA stands for aeronautics. In the past our agency made [716] sensational contributions to flight, and now that our space effort is in eclipse, it’s only natural that men like me should be reassigned.”
He pointed out that the country was in grave danger, again: “You forget that at three critical periods of our history America lagged far behind Europe. In 1915, when the old NACA was established. During the period after World War I. And in the closing years of World War II when the English and the Germans were experimenting with new designs and new engines. You know what I think? I think we’re behind again.”
He startled listeners by arguing: “Our aviation industry seems determined to repeat all the errors our automobile makers made. Lagging in inventiveness. Not enough emphasis on research. Making no effort to build the small aircraft the world needs. Resting on our duffs because we have our marvelous Boeing 747.” But he attracted serious attention only when he revealed that the world’s best small commercial carrier was now made in Brazil; the best medium-range, in Europe. “NASA should do everything possible to excite advanced thinking-a helicopter that could fly forward at three hundred miles an hour, a plane that could take off and land in very short space, better jet engines, better everything.”
He was opposed in such a program by men in Congress and NASA who preached the doctrine that “if an idea is commercially profitable, commerce should pay for its development and not the federal government.” It was the intention of these men that all of NASA’s great aeronautics centers with their wind tunnels be sold to the big aviation companies so that they, and not NASA, could take charge of experimentation and the creation of new ideas for flight.
They had a certain logic in what they said, Mott had to concede. If a commercial company made a lot of money through adapting a NASA discovery, then that company should pay the freight; but even so he found himself arguing strenuously against these men:
 
“It seems to me that four of the wisest laws ever passed by the United States Congress were these: The Homestead Act of 1862, which gave away [717] Western lands in order to settle the area and build a great free nation; the Morrill Act of the same year, which gave away lands so that each state could have its own agricultural college, producing excellent universities like Texas A and M and Oklahoma State; the GI Bill after World War II, providing free education for men who served their nation, and the act which gave free land to the railroads so we could build a vast transportation network to bind the country together and free land to build airports so that we could fly into a new age.
 
“There are certain fundamental things a nation should do to keep the creative pot stirring, and the energetic sponsorship of new technical ideas, advanced education and the creation of better modes is one of them. If the nation does not continue to sponsor experimentation in aviation, I fear it will not be done, and our marvelous industry, which earns us so much money, will languish as our automotive industry has.”
 
In vocal defense of this idea, he lectured at industry centers throughout the nation, and one day in January 1979, after a visit to NASA contractors in Denver, he hopped aboard the incredible commuter plane that flew in and out of the highest Rockies-“mountain goat with wings”-and landed at Skycrest, where the taxi driver delivered him at the shop run by Millard Mott: “You’ll find it’s the center for the in-crowd. President Ford and his gang haunt the place when they drive over from Vail.”
Mott entered unannounced, and stood by the doorway for some moments appraising the store and liking what he saw. It was clearly a ski shop featuring the most expensive gear from Austria and a cadre of attractive young clerks who doubled as instructors for Easterners who wanted to try the slopes. Finally a brash young woman who should have been in school spotted him, hurried over, thrust her lovely face toward his, and asked brightly, “Buster, can I sell you a pair of super skis? Only four hundred and fifty dollars?”
“You’re confusing the men and the boys,” he said.
“Can you even ski?” she asked.
“I came in here to escape the snow. I hate it.”
[718] “Have a beer,” and with that she went to a small refrigerator, produced a can of Coors, and knocked back the aluminum cap. “What’s your racket, buster?”
“I’m Millard’s father.”
“Oh, wow!” she yelled, leaping up and giving him a kiss. “You’re the man who sends boys to the Moon when they’ve been bad!”
“When they’ve been good.”
“Millard,” she shouted. “Your old man’s here!”
Millard appeared from an inner office, a handsome young man of thirty-six who looked to be in his middle twenties-no fat, blond wavy hair. He was dressed in a Tyrolean sweater which looked as if it had been extremely expensive and a pair of pale blue après-ski lounging pants. He paused for a moment, recognized his father, and hurried over, extending his right hand, which Stanley grasped enthusiastically.
“You have some installation here. Is it paid for?”
“You know what you taught us. ‘The only thing to buy on credit is your casket.’ ” Millard laughed, led his father to the inner office, and confided: “I borrowed like hell. Paid interest like you never saw. And the place caught on. I’m hiring another girl next week.”
“The two you have out there don’t hurt business, I’ll bet.”
“They’re a rascally pair.” He leaned back in his chair and said, “Dad, you never seem to get any older. How do you do it?”
“Your mother’s a fabulous cook. A health nut. I see you’re not gross.”
“How’s Chris?” The question came much earlier than Stanley had intended, but he had to answer.
“He survives. Not even the jailers have much influence on him. He lives behind a wall, impenetrable.”
“When he gets out, could I offer him a job? Skycrest’s a curious place. You find your own level. The mountain air clears things for some people. The saloons mark the end for others.”
“Chris would incline toward the saloons, I fear.”
“How dreadful. You see him, I suppose?”
“Whenever I go to Canaveral.”
Stanley found that what the taxi driver had said was [719] correct: Millard’s was the center for the in-crowd, for in the course of the morning he met three leading Republican politicians who had followed President Ford to nearby Vail and the presidents of two major corporations. The girl clerks treated them all with rowdy disrespect and the men responded. It was a lively scene, but Stanley noticed that one young clerk, a man from the Air Force Academy, quietly pushed merchandise on everyone who entered the shop. “You ought to make him your partner,” he said to Millard.
“I have a partner. He’ll join us for lunch, and I assure you, he’ll be a surprise.”
Millard took his father to a chalet where nine of the prettiest girls Stanley had seen for some time, dressed in abbreviated winter costumes, served a severely limited menu: “I’m Cheryl, from Montana. You can have shirred eggs with chicken livers, or a beef bourguignon at an outrageous price, or a very fine bacon-and-spinach quiche. Believe me, take the quiche.”
“There’ll be three of us.”
“Three quiches?”
“I think we better wait for my partner.”
“Okay. Two beers?”
Stanley concluded that in Skycrest, one bought something, and quickly, or one was tossed out of town.
“The girls are all drop-outs from college. Vassar, Texas, Berkeley. You can staff a restaurant here in fifteen minutes.”
“What happens to them?”
“Some of them-Oh, here he is,” and Stanley looked up to see a handsome young man approaching, deep-set crevices in his cheeks, a touch of gray at his temples, and he thought he had met him before.
“I’m Roger, Mr. Mott. We met in California some years ago.”
“Roger from Indiana!” Mott remembered him well: the rejecter of amnesty.
“He served three years in Leavenworth for refusing the draft,” Millard said, almost proudly, “and now he’s back. Thank God, he’s back.”
On the plane from Denver to Los Angeles, Mott wrote to his wife:
 
[720] I left in confusion, Rachel, but also with a sense of profound happiness. Roger is out of jail, bearing the marks of his confinement with dignity, and Millard has given him half-ownership of the shop on the grounds that Roger had served his sentence for both of them. They’ve built themselves a fine small house in Skycrest, where I met many of the leaders of this nation, for our son is a respected member of the mountain community. Once, after a visit with Millard and one of his friends, you said it was like having a daughter who had left her banker husband and was living with an architect. Well, the daughter is back with her husband and I simply did not have the courage to ask what had happened to Victor, the architect. But I would be a liar if I refrained from saying that one sensed in the house and in the shop a presence of love.
 
The reason that drew Stanley to Los Angeles this time was not aviation, but a disruptive crisis in space. A decade ago, when he was occupied with other matters, the NASA high command had spent a great deal of time and intelligence trying to devise some major operation which would replace the Apollo program, and belatedly they recognized the validity of Dieter Kolff’s persistent argument that what America needed was not something on the Moon but a floating platform in Earth orbit from which other vehicles could be launched for high-orbit work.
But NASA went one step beyond Kolff’s prescription. Its spacecraft would be manned by astronauts who would bring it back to Earth for repeated re-uses. America would thus have a kind of inexpensive flying bus that could shuttle back and forth between Cape Canaveral and outer space.
As soon as Mott heard of this decision, he put his finger on the real problem: “We’ve proved we can take off, maneuver and land. But what did we land? Only a minute percentage of what we took up. And it was wrapped in protective material which ablated away as it came through the fires of the upper atmosphere. No way we can ablate a whole aircraft and then use it again.”
When he heard the proposed solution-to glue onto the leading edges of this Shuttle small, individual tiles of a [721] new material which would withstand the heat of reentry and could be used again-he was aghast: “How many different tiles will you require?”
The answer was 31,689, and no two would match. As scientist he was satisfied that such tiles could be manufactured and that a glue could be fabricated which would hold them in place, but as an engineer he could not believe that anyone in his right mind would come up with such a complicated procedure; however, those who made the decision defended it: “Mott, we can’t use an ablating material. You pointed that out. We’ve got to have something that stays put and can be reused. So what can we use? A special copper alloy would be great, but if you covered the Shuttle with three inches of copper, there isn’t a rocket in the world that would lift it off the pad or brakes strong enough to stop it rolling when it landed. So what are you left with? We invent some new material, a new adhesive ...”
“But why 31,000-odd tiles?”
“Because the Shuttle will be a living, breathing, moving thing. Its various parts will interact, and if you simply plaster our new material over its face, hundreds of feet wide, inches thick, the first creaking motion in the structure would crack the protection and make it break off in huge chunks. By using the tiles, we build in 4 x 31,000 joints ... well, somewhat less because the edge of one tile makes its joint with the edge of another. You figure it out. But one hell of a lot of joints. And they give, not the whole fabric.”
When Mott had a chance to inspect the new material these men had invented he was enchanted; a piece four inches square and an inch thick weighed about as much as a tiny box of safety matches, less, really. They glued a tile one inch thick onto his left hand and then applied a blowtorch to the outer facing, thousands of degrees hot, and the area exposed to the flame glowed a sullen red, then a white hot, but no heat came through the tile to his palm. Any structure protected by this tile could come crashing down through the atmosphere without burning up.
However, the fitting of the tiles to the Shuttle surfaces became, as Mott predicted, a task of infuriating complexity. A company in California had to produce 31,689 [722] different, individual tiles minutely conformed to a particular spot on the Shuttle, and then apply each tile by hand in the most meticulous manner. Four different specifications were used in providing the outer facing of the tiles, depending upon how much heat each would be expected to absorb, and five different kinds of adhesive were needed to affix them.
Furthermore, when the finished Shuttle was transported from California to Canaveral for its launch, a horrendous number of tiles worked their way off, which meant that if this had been a real flight, the Shuttle and its two-man crew could have burned up.
So now the Shuttle was in Florida and the manufacturer of the tiles was in California, which necessitated a cross-country operation of the most complex nature. The fitters in Florida would make exact templates of the tiles they required and indicate what type of material must go into that tile, and with what surface. These specifications, with the template, were then flown to California, where highly skilled workmen, jewelers really, fashioned each tile to minute tolerances, whereupon it was flown back to Florida, tested for its waiting slot, and returned to California if even one edge or one thickness was out of line. Nearly twenty thousand times this intricate procedure had to be exercised, until an engineer like Mott shuddered. He could not imagine, not even late at night when he had had an extra beer, how such a solution had been accepted by his colleagues.
“Didn’t they have any engineers on the board?” he asked his wife in frustration, and she countered: “What you mean is, why didn’t they have you on the board?”
As a good soldier, and a man furiously jealous of NASA’s reputation, he never criticized the morass into which his beloved agency had fallen, but he did often speculate as to why the process of selection and verification, at which NASA had been so spectacularly successful, had this time gone awry, and in the end he had to conclude that it was that remorseless devil which haunts able men: hubris. The NASA scientists, bloated by one success after another-the Moon, Mars, Jupiter-had come to believe that they could do anything, and they saw nothing preposterous in a plan which called for the hand manufacture and hand [723] application of 31,689 different tiles. They had overlooked the fact that hand-applied meant that individual men and women, hundreds of them, would have to work years on end doing the applying, and that when they were finished, half the tiles would fall off. An experimenter can determine the ultimate security of a process only by doing it and recording the outcome.
A week’s delay turned into a month and a month into a year, and budgets exploded as men had to be paid for the extra work. Mott cringed as ABC-TV ran frequent specials deriding the Shuttle, and he grew actually nervous-had to take an antacid to quieten his stomach-when he was required to testify before Congress as to how this awful boondoggle had occurred.
But grimly he defended NASA, became its major spokesman in testifying both to Congress and to the press that the Shuttle would fly and that it would provide America with the space vehicle it needed. He said this so often and in such public places that he came to believe it. He defended the Shuttle before Rotary clubs, at universities, on television, and with great stubbornness among his colleagues at Houston or Huntsville.
“The Shuttle is aerodynamically even better than we’ve been saying. The tiles are a minor problem which an improved adhesive will solve. The lift-off system is the best we’ve ever had, believe me.” He refused to concede a single weakness, and it became obvious to his associates that at the age of sixty-three, when retirement faced him, this stubborn, able man had adopted the Space Shuttle as his final contribution to NASA. As an act of will power, which his associates had often seen him exercise in the past when difficulties arose, he would force this vehicle to fly, come back through the atmosphere, and fly again.
When a space expert from the New York Times heckled him about the cost and time overruns, he invited the learned gentleman to have a beer with him at the Dagger Bar. “Every criticism you offer makes sense. The overruns have been distressing, but remember that if you crank in the inflation factor, we’ve spent very little more than we predicted we would back in 1971. And as to the changes, I’d like to share a story with you.
“Some years ago I met a man who had handled paper [724] work on the Navy’s PBY-5A. You may remember the original PBY, marvelous old warhorse, a seaplane that landed on the ocean to rescue downed fliers. Well, someone had the bright idea to make it amphibian, land on water if necessary, but also on land. Now, that doesn’t double the complexity, it quadruples it.
“This fellow told me that after the manufacturer had made the plane absolutely foolproof and after the best brains in Navy procurement had approved it, and it was accepted by Navy aviators and was flying in combat, 536 different alterations were necessary before it was first-class. That’s the nature of experimenting with a new idea You do the very best you can, and when it’s perfected in every detail, you make 536 alterations. With the Shuttle, we’re at 421-but we’re working.”
His present job was to fly out to a remote site in the California desert where scores of technicians were fabricating the final series of tiles, the ones which curved around a bump in the Shuttle or nestled into a corner, and he could scarcely believe the intricacy of the task. Even a simple square tile, ABCD, would have markedly different slopes from A to corner B, to corner C and to corner D. while the diagonal slope from A to C would not resemble the slope from B to D. And specifications might call for any one of four mixtures in the basic material, any one of four different finishes, and any of five different glues for attaching it to the Shuttle. It was an operation of preposterous complexity and he was ashamed of the engineer who had devised it. But when he gave press interviews he defended NASA against all criticism:
 
“This Shuttle will take off in March of this year. It will orbit the Earth for three days, exactly as planned, and America will be astounded by the beauty and skill of its performance. Obviously, we’re entering a new age and I assure you it will be one of endless promise.”
 
But, when he was alone in his motel, unable to sleep, he would imagine what was going to happen to America’s space program if the Shuttle floundered on its initial launch or turned to flame on its attempted reentry, and he could [725] visualize the unbroken chain of disasters: ridicule in the press, sententious I-told-you-so reviews on television, pontifications in the editorials and, worst of all, direct abuse in Congress. He could see himself testifying before the Senate, with no defenders like Mike Glancey to protect either him or NASA. And then the heartbreaking images would cascade: Huntsville closing down; Wallops Island, where he had spent those wonderful days discovering the nature of the upper atmosphere, once more a bleak stretch of sand; Houston diminished; JPL, home of wizards, a warehouse.
Be there! he would pray, for he, more than almost anyone else in America, appreciated the dreadful burden of significance the Shuttle would carry on its maiden flight: Be there! Get up high and get down safe. At dawn he would finally fall asleep, but even then he would dream of tiles breaking loose at an altitude of 550,000 feet and a temperature of 25,000° and he would wake sweating, but this continual terror he shared with no one. He had been chosen spokesman for the Shuttle and he would serve that role, a man whose unblemished performances in so many different fields gave him credibility.
 
Professor Pope taught his astronomy classes at Fremont State as if he were training groups of future astronauts: “You live among the stars whether you think so or not. Like ships adrift at sea, you identify your place on Earth through your relationship to the stars, and when you leave Earth and enter the air, your plane directs itself in obedience to the position of the stars. I insist that you know where the stars are and how they look, so that you can know where you are.”
His students spent a good deal of time in the planetarium familiarizing themselves with the heavens, and he was particularly eager to have them know the difficult southern stars which most of them would never see: “If your plane captain gets lost and lands you in Australia rather than Woonsocket, I want you to be able to find your way back to Fremont State by following the stars,” and he taught them Canopus, Achernar, and Acrux.
He was a taskmaster, really, but the students indulged him because of what he had done when alone among his [726] stars; also, he made the work fun, for he told them of how Randy Claggett had massacred the heavens, and whole generations of students at Fremont State came to believe that the North Star lay in Ursula Minor and that the proper names of Betelgeuse and Zubeneschamali were Beetle Juice and Reuben Smiley.
But occasionally moments of unexpected emotion took possession of the classroom, and then the laughing students remembered that they were studying with a real astronaut. One day a farm boy from downstate who had studied the heavens the way Pope had done as a boy and had even built his own telescope, polishing the glass like Galileo, said, “Professor Pope, my Norton Star Atlas doesn’t show three of the stars you have on your list. Navi, Regor and Dnoces.”
Suddenly Pope choked. He twice tried to speak but could not, and the students were powerless even to guess what was the matter, but then he controlled himself. “At dusk on 27 January 1967 we were giving our first manned Apollo a shakedown. Something went wrong, and Grissom, White and Chaffee burned to death. There were three spaces in the heavens where navigational stars were needed but had not yet been named, so we called them Navi after Ivan Grissom, Regor after Roger Chaffee, and you’d never guess how we honored Ed White. He was Edward Higgins White II, so we reversed the Second, and I think that name’s the best of all.” He stopped to let the students check the positions of these three important stars, and identify their constellations: Navi in Cassiopeia, Dnoces at the far tip of Ursa Major, and Regor to the south in Vela.
Then he said, “As long as Americans venture into outer space, they’ll be guided by the spirits of Grissom, White and Chaffee.”
One morning a girl student said, “There’s always been a lot of speculation about the last words of Colonel Claggett on your Apollo 18 mission. The real text has never been divulged, so far as I can find out. What did he say?”
“It was a garble,” Pope evaded. “You know, that tremendous flood of radiation. It wiped out transmission to Earth.”
“But you must have heard the words. You weren’t on Earth. You were right there.”
[727] Pope considered this for some moments. He had always deemed Claggett’s message, which he had heard so clearly, to be a privileged communication, and on this morning he persisted in that opinion, refusing to answer the girl’s question, but that night, as he worked in the planetarium arranging the stars he would show the next day to explain the motion of the planets, it occurred to him that nothing was served by keeping Claggett’s last words to himself. They represented his dead companion, so next morning at the close of class he answered the girl: “I’ve never revealed what it was Randy said when he knew that he was about to crash his module and die on the Moon, but I see no good reason to keep the secret any longer. I shall tell you merely his words, and let you unravel their significance. What he said was, ‘Blessed Saint Leibowitz, keep ‘em dreamin’ down there.’ ” And he walked from the lecture hall.
The students scoured the campus trying to find clues to this remarkable sentence; the words blessed, saint and Leibowitz formed such a contradictory conjunction that they could make nothing of them, but one freshman boy had a buddy addicted to science fiction, the way Claggett had been, and this one solved the mystery in a moment. Next day the freshman raised his hand to inform Pope that he had the answer, and when Pope bent over his desk, the lad whispered, “Walter Miller.” Returning to the front of the room, Pope said:
 
“Many believe, as Claggett did, that the best science-fiction novel ever written is a strange book by a man named Walter Miller. He called it A Canticle for Leibowitz. It takes place around A.D. 3175. The world has been shot to blazes by nuclear warfare, and in a great revulsion against science, like the one we’re witnessing today, all libraries, laboratories and research materials have been destroyed. Scientists have been torn apart ... Actually, people live in caves, with no electricity, no medicine, no books.
 
“North America has disintegrated into warring feudal states and life is unutterably bleak, but in one corner of New Mexico a group of dedicated monks, let’s call them, has secretly kept alive the tradition  [728] of an all-wise scientist who had once lived in that area, a saintly man named Leibowitz. The most precious document in this sequestered civilization? A revered scrap of paper from Leibowitz’s laboratory. Unquestionably authentic, it has not yet been decoded. It reads:
 
Pound pastrami
Can kraut
Six bagels
Bring home for Emma.
 
“From that shred of cryptic paper the culture of the entire western part of the United States will be recreated. I commend Leibowitz to you. Randy Claggett placed us in his hands when he died, and I’m sure the Blessed Saint would not be surprised to find that the state of Fremont had voted to outlaw all books dealing with evolution and geology, because that’s what happened in exactly this part of America in his lifetime. Say A.D. 2010.”
 
In February 1981 the pressure on Stanley Mott, as spokesman for the Space Shuttle, became intense, because each trivial delay, unavoidable in an operation of this complexity and magnitude, became an occasion for reporters to bewail anew the failure of the entire concept. Thousands of sarcastic words were written about the tiles, and one enterprising woman reporter burrowed through the entire history of NASA, dredging up every instance of failure and asking in bold headlines, HAS NASA LOST ITS TOUCH? Doom and catastrophe reigned, and when two men were actually killed because they ventured into the wrong chamber at the wrong time to breathe pure nitrogen, Mott himself began to wonder if this great enterprise might be snake-bit, but he kept his apprehensions to himself.
In public he remained the stout defender, and when he flew down to Canaveral to see the majestic machine in place on the launch pad, even his most secret doubts were brushed away and he told the press in complete honesty. “This thing will fly. It’ll open a new age of space exploration.”
[729] When the date for launch was fixed, Friday at dawn, 10 April 1981, he moved to the Bali Hai, where the Quints entertained him and the other NASA personnel with great meals and much good talk. Former astronauts Cater and Pope flew in for a reunion with Hickory Lee, who would serve as CapCom at the Cape before handing control over to Houston, once the launch was successful.
When all was in place and prognostications were positive, Mott almost relaxed, but his engineering background warned him that things could still go wrong. Those damned tiles could break away, leaving the great ship vulnerable, so he did not rest easy on the evening before the launch.
He rose at two on the culminating day, looked out at the dark sky and muttered, “Thank God, it isn’t raining ... or blowing.” Things looked very good, all down the line, but when he and two others from NASA headquarters got in their car to drive north to the launch site, a distance of only a few miles, they encountered a traffic jam of awesome proportions, and when they finally inched their way to where a policeman stood, he said, “I’m powerless. Maybe a million people descending on us. All those who missed the Apollo shots want to catch up.”
At 0500 his car was surrounded in every direction by impacted vehicles and it seemed unlikely that he would even get to Canaveral, let alone the launch site, but he took solace in the fact that from where he was immobilized he would be able at least to see the distant launch, but then traffic inched ahead, and as the time for launch approached he found himself in a depression behind trees and tall buildings, without any chance of even seeing the shoreline where the Shuttle waited.
“We’re going to miss the whole show,” he said resignedly to his partners, and one who had a transistor radio kept him advised as to the swift passage of time. It was a fiasco, the last in a long line, and Mott wondered again: Is this whole thing snake-bit?
Then came the good news! There would be a slight delay in the launch because of minor trouble with one of the five computers, and this might give them just enough time to break through the jam and get to the launch area. At this moment a larger car with several NASA personnel came [730] rushing by with a police escort, and some of the passengers recognized Dr. Mott: “Fall in behind!” And the chain of VIP cars drove across lanes, across lawns, and made it into the launch area.
It was a bright, perfect Florida morning made notable by that dazzling white spacecraft poised at the edge of the Atlantic. Mott and his men were in the stands closest to the launch, but even so, they were five and a quarter miles away, a distance dictated by the requirements of safety; if the rocket went wild, it would probably miss an area so far removed.
It seemed to Mott that everyone he had ever known was there to watch as America resumed its assault on space: past administrators who had fought budget battles, past engineers who had devised the great machines, past scientists who had charted the way to the stars, and good friends from Congress who had supervised the whole. But some of the best were missing: Lyndon Johnson, who had maintained such a steady perspective, was dead, and so were Mike Glancey, who had done the yeoman work, Wernher von Braun, whose boyhood imaginings had made it possible, and John Kennedy, who in a time of national malaise had had the courage to utter the magic words: “I believe ... before this decade is out ... landing a man on the moon and returning him safely to Earth ...”
But after the greetings ended, the empty minutes began to grow very long, and people began to fret, and old doubts resurfaced. One scientist tried to brighten the gloom by telling of the television network, one of those best informed on space, which had built itself a Shangri-la kind of headquarters from which to observe this launch: “Must have spent ten thousand dollars. But they built it facing the wrong way. When the crew got here from New York they said, “Hey, we can’t see a thing but swamp.” We lent them a big crane, picked their building up, and swung it around the right way. They can screw things up, too.”
By 0900 it was obvious that the launch was not going to take place; the obstinate fifth computer refused like a petulant child to talk with the other four, so the gruesome announcement had to be made: “The launch is scrubbed.”
Now the vast collection of cars reversed itself and the traffic jam back to the Bali Hai was even more tedious [731] than the earlier one, but when the cavalcade finally reached there and disappointed men filed into the Dagger Bar, a phone call awaited Dr. Mott: “Can you please come over to the press room at the Hilton? Two television crews would like to interview you.”
He looked about the bar, spotted Pope and Cater in disgusted isolation and asked them to join him-“Let’s show a brave face to the slobs”-and they came eagerly. Several critics said later that it was by far the best show in the whole misadventure: “It allowed us to see a real-life reflective scientist and two forthright astronauts who were not bright-eyed kids.”
Mott conceded nothing, and John Pope also demonstrated firmness in his support of the program, but it was salty Ed Cater from Louisiana who again and again brought the discussion back to practicalities: “I’ve had more trouble with my Oldsmobile Toronado than they’ve had with the Shuttle. I’d fly in it tomorrow if they’d invite me. It can do so many things our Apollos couldn’t do. I’ve walked on the Moon, it’s fun, but now we have to tend our housekeeping chores. That Shuttle will take off Sunday morning like gangbusters, and if I know John Young, and I flew with him for a hell of a lot of hours, he’ll land it in California like a careful farm wife bringing in a basket of eggs.”
Mott, Cater and Pope spent the rest of that day in the Dagger Bar talking of past times and secretly keeping their fingers crossed. At nightfall Hickory Lee joined them, and they invited no one else, for they were the professionals, the ones with their necks on the line, and they prayed passionately that their bird would fly.
Mott could not sleep Friday night, and on Saturday, after another long day in the Dagger Bar, he wondered if he ought to take some sleeping pills, but the thought of lying in bed inert while the Shuttle took off was too depressing, and he lay awake till two, when he dressed, got in his car, and with three NASA passengers, fell in behind a police escort that whisked them right into the launch area. In the dark, while women filtered in to tend the refreshment stands, he met with his associates and assured them: “This bird is going to fly. It’s going to amaze America.”
[732] At dawn the excitement was intense, and when the final countdown started on the radio Mott found himself breathing at an intolerable rate, and he thought: I hope those fellows up there are taking this easier than I am.
A roar! A flash of immense light! A thunder coming across the empty swampland! And then the slow, purposeful rise of the huge machine, an explosion of mist and fire as water rushed in to dissipate the extraordinary heat, and finally the Shuttle soaring majestically into the air.
Stanley Mott almost collapsed in his canvas chair. His energy had been drained away as if a siphon had been injected into his guts, and he could not speak, for he knew that now the real agony was beginning, never to end until those two men brought that spacecraft back to Earth with its tiles intact, and even as he was experiencing the first pangs of this uncertainty, a television commentator was announcing: “When the doors to the bay opened, the astronauts could see that several tiles were missing.”
He flew with several others out to Los Angeles and then by a small NASA plane to Edwards Air Force Base in the desert, where he assembled with other scientists and a group of former astronauts. Two television stations asked if he would make himself available for interviews about the missing tiles, but since he could not risk displaying his anxiety in public, he declined, and he heard one announcer say, “High officials of NASA have refused to comment on this perilous condition.”
Early on Tuesday he arose, cut himself while shaving nervously, and drove out to the vast stretch of flat, empty desert on which the Shuttle was supposed to land, and when he was confronted by the actual strip, waiting there in real time, he felt his knees grow weak: Please, God, bring it down safely. He shivered to think of how the critics would howl if there was a last-minute catastrophe.
He knew from briefings that just about now Young and Crippen would be making their final decision far above the Indian Ocean; they would cross Australia and speed toward California, descending as they came. In a few minutes they would begin to penetrate the heavy atmosphere at Mach 24.5, when the heat would become so intense-The loudspeaker interrupted: “Columbia has now entered the zone of silence. Heat is so intense that radio [733] communication becomes impossible.” Oh, Jesus, Mott prayed, keep those tiles in place.
This was the moment which the men aloft and those monitoring them below had to take on faith. When men have ventured toward the stars it is not easy to come back to Earth.
Mott almost stopped breathing. The men around him grew silent. What was happening up there? Then came the joyous, rattling sound of a human voice, no excitement, no panic: “This is a great way to come back to California.”
Then one of the ordinary planes keeping watch in the sky sent television shots of the great spacecraft coming back, the first ever to fly its way home intact. Men began to shout, for they could see the Shuttle as it appeared in real time. It came to Earth like an everyday commercial airliner winging in from Australia, and Mott cheered as if he were a child at some game.
And finally the electric moment came when the beautiful machine triumphantly touched the gravel, settled down like an eagle returning to its nest, raced along the runway, and braked to a halt. Never had a major exploration ended so well when so many had expected it to fail.
Mott looked around for something to sit on, for he was afraid he might faint.
 
On the day after the Shuttle landed in California, Rachel Mott received in her Washington apartment a surprise gift from Huntsville. It came from the Kolffs and contained a handwritten note: “Please can you call me and give me some advice? Dieter.” When she opened the package it contained two records produced and played by young Magnus Kolff; both were by an ensemble, which he had organized, called the Boston Brass, consisting of eleven of the top brass players from the Boston Symphony plus five men from other orchestras. The first record contained four classic pieces which Magnus had transcribed from the shorter ones of Vivaldi, Schumann, Beethoven and Brahms, and the rich sustained notes cascaded out with the joy these men had shared in playing music when they, and not the violins or the soloists, were the stars. Rachel could not detect when Magnus played, for he did not give precedence to the three trumpets, and certainly not to himself.
[734] The second record was going to prove the more popular, Rachel predicted, for it contained Christmas carols played with a sweet verve that was bewitching. On the second side Kolff, who served as director of the group, had run out of carols and had filled in with three short pieces that Rachel had loved as a child before her tastes became refined: Handel’s Largo from Serse, the Bach-Gounod Ave Maria, and the wonderful Agnus Dei of Bizet, which one rarely heard these days but which Caruso had sung with such overpowering effect.
She played both records twice, delighting in the rich tones that young Kolff’s men had produced, and then she called Huntsville to determine what problem the older Kolff might have. The message astonished her:
 
“Rachel, I’m delighted it’s you. I trust your judgment. It concerns my grandson Wernher. Magnus’ boy. Did you get the records? Aren’t they splendid sound? He conducts the group, you know.
 
“The problem is this. Magnus lives here in Huntsville, and young Wernher-named after Von Braun, as you might guess-well, the boy’s old enough for serious studies now and Magnus thinks we must send him to Germany for his education. So do I and Liesl. What’s your opinion? ...
 
“Why? For a very good reason, Rachel. There’s a fierce movement in Alabama to stop the teaching of evolution, geology, everything in science. A minister named Strabismus is leading a crusade and all decent teaching must stop. I think no boy of promise should be denied access to the full range of science. How could Von Braun have invented the rocket if-”
 
She broke in: “Dieter, send your grandson to Germany immediately. If America insists on retreating to the dark ages, we may have to educate our brightest children in China and Germany. Sneak them out to discover the real world, then sneak them back in to keep learning alive.”
“That’s exactly what I told Magnus. Young Wernher could be a new Von Braun. He could be a bank clerk. How did I ever produce a boy who can play the trumpet like [735] an angel? Who knows? But the boy must have a chance to know the truth, whatever he becomes.”
Liesl Kolff, sixty-five now and somewhat bewildered by the tenor of things in Alabama, came on the phone to ask, “You think we’re right, Mrs. Mott?”
“Send him on the next plane, Liesl. The safety of his soul is at stake.”
“Will you have Dr. Mott call us, please? I’m still an old German. I like to hear it from the man.”
When Stanley returned home and learned how his wife had advised the Kolffs, he was distressed and called Huntsville immediately: “Dieter, I think Rachel gave bad advice. I see no reason to send your son to Germany. America is a free republic and its citizens are allowed to do any crazy thing they want. Like trying to rescind geology.”
“How do we refute such nonsense?”
“With data. With logic. With new developments. We protect science with science. Just as we protect faith with faith.”
“But they’re starting to pass laws, Stanley. Our Wernher will not be allowed to learn the truth.”
“They pass laws, and then we knock them out, and they aren’t laws any longer. I have great faith in this nation.”
“Millions of people had great faith in Germany, and look what happened.”
“Keep the boy in school, Dieter. Give him good books to read. And this summer, if you can afford it, send him to Germany ... for a visit ... to see for himself ... to check on what they’re teaching there. He’ll come home better for it.”
When he hung up, Rachel asked, “Was I hysterical? Am I wrong in fearing that the Neanderthals will win?”
“I’m sure they’ll try, and I’m sure people like us will fight to knock them back.”
“Will we succeed?”
“We’ve been succeeding for the past six million years-with setbacks now and then of a thousand years or so.”
 
The three most dangerous airports in the world were in southern Florida: Miami, Fort Lauderdale just to the north and Palm Beach International. The chances of death here, if one’s plane took off or landed after dark, were [736] grotesquely greater than at an airfield in some backward country like Burma or rural Indonesia.
The Florida airfields had the best electronic equipment, the best-trained air controllers and big, broad landing strips, but still the danger mounted. Partly it was because the landing strips were so spacious; with tarmac going off in all directions, they constituted a temptation.
Smugglers, attempting to bring into the States huge cargoes of marijuana or smaller, more valuable ones of heroin or cocaine, loaded their small, illegal planes, often stolen from private owners, in Colombia, Ecuador or Mexico and flew them north at sunset. Keeping low over the Gulf of Mexico to avoid radar detection, they approached the western shore of Florida in darkness, dipped across the peninsula and came roaring in without lights, permission or radar assistance to land secretly at one of the big southern Florida strips.
How did they land? By sheer luck, hoping that the runways would be wide enough to accommodate them, no matter how they approached, trusting that no big commercial planes were landing or taking off. One airline pilot who had flown against the Japanese Zeros at Guadalcanal said, “Landing a plane at Fort Lauderdale is the hairiest thing I’ve ever done in the pilot’s seat. Radar gives you clearance. The field lies dead ahead. But what you don’t know is whether some smuggler is choosing that minute to land his stolen plane down the middle to where the fast cars are waiting.”
Practiced travelers who knew of the clandestine landings refused to fly into or out of these airports after sunset. A German businessman who lived half the year in Palm Beach because of the advantageous exchange, said, “In Berlin we have the Baader-Meinhoff Gang, sixteen or seventeen people who make life hell for the rest of us. But over here you have sixteen or seventeen hundred trying to use the airports after the sun goes down. They’re the real revolutionaries.”
In June 1981, when the nights were shortest and therefore least helpful to the smugglers, a pair of daring aviators held secret sessions in West Palm Beach with a gang of resolute ground men whom the leader of the smugglers, Chris Mott, had met when serving time in the local jail. [737] His plan was bold: “Jake and I know a field in Louisiana where we can lift a Lear jet without too much trouble. We’ve had four dry runs to see if we could make it, and the owner is so damned careless we could take it out in a tractor trailer. He runs a fish-canning business, chowder and the like.
“Jake and I will fly it directly to a place called Las Cruces north of Medellin in Colombia, where our people will load the Lear with the biggest haul in the history of the Caribbean. We calculate that with a good wind we can make it straight in to this airport. We’ll land about 0230, a good confusing time. Jake says he can bring it west-to-east, keep it off to the southern side away from the airport buildings, and you fellows will be waiting on Route 98 just off the tarmac, and of course you’ll head straight for Orlando, where John will be waiting with a legal plane, at the far end of that runway.”
It was a neat plan, one that required timing and skill and not a little courage, for the flight from Las Cruces to Palm Beach just about represented the range of the Lear jet they proposed to steal. Jake, the pilot, said he was prepared to take the risk if the several ground crews would provide the fast cars, the legal plane at Orlando and the outlets in New York and Boston. But the central courage, the hard brains of the planning, lay with Chris Mott, who, at the age of thirty-one, was fire-hardened and prepared for the all-or-nothing hazard: “There could be eleven million dollars in this, and we take our risks evenly. The guys in Colombia, they get only six cents on the dollar unless we can sell the stuff in the big cities. Jake and I get peanuts unless you men succeed. And you get nothing unless we get the stuff to Palm Beach. Comprendo, amigos?”
Two of the couriers drove Jake and Chris to Baton Rouge and then southwest to Plaquemine, where a man named Thibodeaux had a packing plant and a sleek brown Lear jet with extra-large tanks. After the drivers of the car stole a large truck, which they placed across the roadway to forestall pursuers, Jake and Chris moved swiftly to the unguarded Lear, opened the locked door with a skeleton key, and slipped into the pilots’ seats. Checking all systems with extreme care, Jake satisfied himself that the jet had sufficient fuel to get him into Mexico, where a [738] dozen clandestine fields operated, then switched on the ignition.
It was imperative that once the engines roared into life, the takeoff proceed without a moment’s delay, so while the various systems hummed with life, Jake checked one last time: “Looks good, old buddy.”
“Take her up,” Chris said, and with a deep breath Jake applied power, heard the engines respond beautifully, and moved swiftly to the far end of the little runway. With a breathtaking U-turn to the right he reached takeoff position, poured on the gas, and roared down the runway. It was a perfect escape, and as soon as the plane was well into the sky, the two men in the automobile were speeding west to the safety of Lafayette, where traffic would absorb them.
In Colombia it was Mott who took charge. In jail he had learned Spanish, anticipating the day when his cloudy operations might require that language, and he dealt boldly with the brigands who controlled the heroin-cocaine market, offering them what funds he had collected in the States and assurances of a much heavier payoff if the smuggling succeeded. At first the Colombians were disposed to protest the relatively small amount of hard cash they were receiving up front, but when Chris railed at them, showing them his own empty pockets and reminding them of the great risks he and Jake and the others in the States were taking ... “Where do you suppose we got this plane? We heisted it, right off an airfield in Louisiana.” And he showed them an American newspaper he had purchased while waiting in Mexico so they could read for themselves about the daring robbery at Plaquemine. Fortunately, the account carried a photograph of the stolen plane and a description of its number and brown-painted body.
“Leave the jet with us,” the brigands suggested. “One million, two million dollars.”
“What would we fly in?” Jake asked, but before the Colombianos could even reply to this stupid question Chris stepped in: “Fools! You could sell the jet for maybe two hundred thousand. We’re talking about eleven million.
Iron-hard, he kept everyone in line. He had brought less money than the brigands had expected and now he was taking out of the country a plane on which they might [739] have made a substantial profit, but the convinced everyone that this was the only way. For one bad moment he suspected that the brigands might try to kill him and Jake and sell the jet to some South American customer, but he forestalled them by drawing his own revolver and indicating to Jake that he must do the same. Nodding to the heroin providers, he backed slowly to the Lear, sent Jake in ahead of him, waited till the engines coughed, then dashed in, slammed shut the big door, and waited breathlessly as Jake took the jet down the rough runway and into the air.
“I thought they might have a machine gun somewhere.”
“I’d’ve headed this beauty right into the trees,” Jake said. “They’d have found themselves with zilch.”
“And we’d have been dead.”
“Sure, but we’d have had the laugh on those bastards.” The load was so extremely bulky-bales upon bales of marijuana plus the smaller cartons of the heavy drugs-that there was scarcely room to move if one sought a drink of water or any of the beer in the packing company’s icebox, so Chris stayed in the copilot’s seat, staring at the dark waters of the Gulf as the sun disappeared. Their route would take them over the western end of Cuba and onto the Florida peninsula south of Naples, and as night fell Chris asked, “You feel confident we can drop low enough to confuse the Cuban radars?”
“That’s my job,” Jake said.
“If they did have a machine gun, and they got you,” Chris said, “I was going to take this baby up. Or die trying.”
“You’ve never flown a plane.”
“I’ve watched you.”
“Could you land this baby? If anything happened?”
“I could sure try.”
Jake asked him ten or fifteen questions and was startled by the cleverness of Mott’s responses. “Maybe you could get this tub down. Wouldn’t be worth much after you did, but you just might make it.”
“Our boy in Louisiana will get his plane back just about as good as when he lost it, won’t he?” Chris asked. He was always fascinated with possibilities, with alternate ways of doing things, and he was known among his fellow convicts, in jail and out, as the man to have with you if the risks were great.
[740] “What’s your old man really do?” Jake asked as the Lear purred over the water.
“He’s a mahoof with NASA. You know, the outer-space stuff.”
“What’s he think about your operation?”
“Distressed.”
“You tell me once you had a brother?”
“He’s an interior decorator.”
“For real?”
“I think he runs a bar in Denver, but he’s an interior decorator.” They flew in quietness for about fifteen minutes-one hundred miles covered by the jet-and then Chris added, “Millard, that’s his name, he wrote to me while I was in jail-offered me a job. I think Pop got to him, suggested it. I’m sure as hell good old Millard didn’t want me around. I didn’t bother to answer.”
They slipped across Cuba without incident, edged their way up the western coast of Florida keeping very low then darted inland south of Fort Myers and headed west-to-east for the spacious airport at West Palm Beach.
They came in low, as planned, saw the lights of the town, looked for the southern edge of the strip, and came roaring down just as another private jet lifted into the air for a flight to a meeting of a corporation board in Chicago. The two powerful jets, one brown, one a pale blue, smashed head-on eight feet above the ground, exploded, and fell it a blazing tangle.
The six men in the five fast cars who waited on Route 98 watched in awe as their precious cargo vanished in the intense flames. One driver suggested: “We better get out of here. The cops might ...”
“Jesus,” another said as he and his partner crept back to their car, “eleven million bucks!”
 
The NASA high command was one of the most compassionate in government; for decades they had worked with high-strung scientists and for years with sensitive astronauts, and they appreciated the psychological tensions to which their personnel were vulnerable, so when tragedy struck in Florida they knew the Motts needed help. But by an unlucky chance, while dispensing sympathy they had to require Mott to confront an additional blast of bad [741] news, and they decided to tackle the problem directly.
“Stanley, this is one hell of a time for me to say this, but you know your obligatory retirement takes effect on the last day of this year.”
“I’ve been aware of that,” he said dully. “For some years ...”
“But we appreciate enormously the way you defended the agency during the bad days with Shuttle. You were a man to be proud of.”
“Look!” Mott snapped. “I’m retiring. Let’s not make a big deal of it.”
The administrator did not alter the level of his voice. “We wanted you to know that even when you do retire ... well, we’ll still want to call on you for consultations. You have a decade of hard work ahead of you.” Mott nodded. “And to prove our appreciation, we want to headquarter you in California ... work with the press on the Voyager 2 fly-by of Saturn in August.”
When Mott showed obvious relief at this unexpected good news, the administrator breathed more easily, and smiled approvingly when Mott spoke: “You understand, Clarence, I’ve been preoccupied with Shuttle. I haven’t kept up with all the great things the Voyagers have already accomplished.”
“We’re aware of that. But a man like you, fresh to the program, enthusiastic, might provide just what the press needs to make this operation sing.”
“I would like that. I’d like a chance to catch up.”
“And, Stanley, we think you ought to take Rachel along. Get her involved.” Mott could not respond-the past weeks had been horrible-so the two men just sat there, and after a while Mott said very quietly, “It’s thoughtful of you to suggest that, Clarence. You know, she had to identify the boy’s body from dental fragments.”
This assignment to Pasadena’s Jet Propulsion Laboratory would be his final job with NASA, not out among the shadowy galaxies, but at least with the great planets, so he and Rachel packed their car to the brim, and during the long drive west talked and rediscovered each other. They stopped at Clay to chat with Professor Pope, then on to Boulder to consult with the Sun Study people, and into the mountains to visit briefly with Millard in his ski shop, where to their amazement his partner told them, “Some [742] of the Skycrest businessmen are thinking of running your son for mayor!”
By the time they reached California the dull ache of their son’s death had somewhat diminished; the wonderful therapy of driving across America had asserted itself once again, and Stanley was eager to leap into the middle of preparations for the fly-by. Both he and Rachel were caught up in the euphoria which permeated the place. There were no loose tiles here, no soul-searching, for this was the kind of meticulous preparation and supervision that NASA had always done so well. There were no sleepless nights over Saturn.
Each morning he and Rachel met with the sixty or seventy experts responsible for the mission, and as soon as he began assembling technical details for the press, he fell under the enchantment of this last great planetary exploration, and he appreciated the sadness with which some of the men worked: “You should stress, Mott, that this is our culminating effort. When Voyager 2 leaves Saturn it will head for Uranus, arriving in January 1986; then to Neptune, August 1989. After that, there’ll be no more probes, no more landings. The American effort to explore the planets will have ended ... for this century.” So the nation’s fantastic adventure in far space was ending just as his personal career was drawing to a close; whenever he looked at the marvelous duplicate of the spacecraft, he felt as if he were seeing himself, and he prepared his materials with special reverence:
 
In 1967, fourteen years ago, a band of visionaries saw that if they could launch the right kind of vehicle into space at the right time with the right velocity, it would fly in a beautiful arc to Jupiter, where the gravity of that giant could be used to whip the vehicle on toward Saturn. Indeed, these far-seeing men argued that it would be possible to fly within a few thousand miles of the great rings of Saturn and to decide once and for all what they were composed of and what they signified in the grand design of our universe.
 
The data of this bold dream still amazed him: straight line distance from Earth to Saturn, about 1,000,000,000 [743] miles, depending on where the two planets happened to be in their respective orbits; distance of the actual route to be flown, 1,400,000,000 miles; time required for the trip, four full years less eleven days; average speed during that time, about 40,400 miles an hour.
Ten years ago he had asked those early gnomes with their primitive calculators, “But what can you see if you do get to Saturn?” and they had jolted him with their answer: “We’ll cram onto our vehicle eleven subtle instruments, the like of which the world hasn’t seen before. Special scanners to provide us with pictures. Devices to measure radiation, magnetic fields, plasma particles, cosmic rays. We’ll do spectroscopy, and photopolarimetry, and all kinds of radio science. Things you don’t even know about yet.”
They had shown him a mock-up of the spacecraft, and once again he was startled by the realization that even though it would be flying through space at enormous speed, there would be nothing in space to impede it, so it could have wonder machines dangling from it at any desirable attitude or spot: “Looks like a flying bedstead.” And they countered: “Four of our complex devices aren’t attached yet.” And he asked, “Where will you put them?” they replied, “We’ll hook them on anywhere.”
The magnetometer had captivated Mott, for it symbolized what science could achieve in this radically different environment. When he first saw the contraption it was a forty-foot length of filmy epoxy glass resembling a spiderweb and not much firmer. A breath of wind would disturb it. He was perplexed by a rather heavy instrument attached to one end, for obviously the web could not support it, but he watched as men from JPL coiled their gossamer into a tight package, storing it in a canister like ones that hold tea and placing the heavy magnetometer on top. Far out in space the top of the canister would be blown off, the spring-loaded gossamer would uncoil, and Voyager would have a long rigid arm supporting the Earth-heavy instrument. It was quite miraculous, but the inventor assured Mott: “In space that gossamer arm’ll be as rigid as a steel beam here in California.”
“But how do we get the commands from Earth to the spacecraft?” Mott had asked in those early days, and the project manager had explained: “We’ll build three [744] maximum-efficiency computers into the craft, and while they’re still on Earth we’ll fill them with instructions-roll after roll of the most intricate things to do. “Point your scanner the other way.” “Switch your focus from the star Canopus in Carina to Deneb in Cygnus.” “Increase the speed of your read-out.” “Take away the blue filter and move in the red.”
“When the computers are crammed with instructions, we establish a radio link from them to the ground, but it’s not like a telephone. Not a bit. Because of the vast distance, it takes our radio instruction-traveling at the speed of light-eighty-seven minutes to reach Saturn, and takes Saturn’s answer eighty-seven minutes to get back. What does this mean? I say in the telephone, “Hello, who’s there?” Then I wait three hours to hear you say, “Stanley Mott.”
“So we construct a special language of about 1,300 words and we transmit those, and each word cues the computers to set a prearranged sequence of events into operation. Dr. Mott, how many radically different commands do you suppose we’ll be able to send our spacecraft?”
“You mean, from JPL to Saturn?”
“Exactly.”
“You have 1,300 command words, I suppose each one controls ... what? Ten ... fifteen functions?”
“We can send 300,000 different, specific orders.”
Mott had stared at the man for almost a minute, trying to absorb this astonishing fact, and slowly, as if he were a child in school, he repeated salient data: “After four years of remote travel, after a billion and a half miles on the road, with a system that requires an hour and a half to exchange one word ... you can deliver 300,000 intricate orders?”
“Yes. With a likelihood of success. By that I mean, the craft will receive the new order and be in working condition to obey it-90.3 percent.”
From time to time during the following years Mott had been in touch with what the people in charge of Voyagers 1 and 2 were doing: 1972-1976, building the spacecraft and their various appendages; 1976-1977, frantic simulations to be sure things would work; 20 August and 5 September 1977, two perfect launches; 1977-1979, four hundred experts biting their nails; 5 March and 9 July 1979, glorious arrivals at Jupiter; 1979-1980, more [745] nail-biting; 12 November 1980, triumphal photographing of Saturn by Voyager 1 ...
Now, in the anxious interval before 25 August 1981-the hoped-for arrival time at Saturn of Voyager 2-his job was to check with the mavens at Jet Propulsion to ensure that usable photographs would be supplied to the hungry media, and he said to Rachel, “You must see what these miracle workers can do.” When he took his wife to the laboratories, one of the men directing the overall flight told her, “We threw this baby into the air four years ago with every intention of getting it into position to take the Earth’s best pictures of Saturn. You see on the wall what Voyager 1 accomplished last November.” As Rachel studied the dazzling photographs, he said, “When those rings come into closer view, we’ll do even better.”
“How can you be so confident?” she asked, and he said, more quietly now, “I’m positive we’ll deliver the camera to the door of Saturn. What happens when it peeks through, that’s Template’s headache.”
When Mott heard this familiar name he cried, “Rachel, you’ve got to meet this character. If NASA has a verified in-house genius, Template’s it.” And when the Motts reported to that man’s cluttered office, Stanley said jovially, “My wife is hoping to see some really great pictures. What can I promise her?”
“Mrs. Mott,” the enthusiastic young fellow cried, “you’re going to see a miracle. When we started with Mariner 4-back at the dawn of the space age, you might say-”
“It was only 1964,” Mott reminded him.
“Like I say, at the dawn of exploration. Our equipment then could deliver to Earth about six bits a second. This time, 44,000 bits a second! Think of it-44,000 clear, distinct pieces of information come at us each second from 1,000,000,000 miles.”
“You feel confident it’ll still produce good pictures?” Rachel asked.
Template ignored the question, which he deemed irrelevant; his burning interest was in the process he and his associates had devised, not in the end results. “Mrs. Mott, Mariner 4 required an entire week to send us 21 lousy pictures, exciting in that primitive time, but lousy. This baby will bring us 18,000 photographs in a jiffy. Right [746] here in River City, I’ll receive 184,000,000,000 bits of information from Saturn. Enough data to keep the scientists of the world guessing for ten years.”
“I was told,” Mott said, “The chance that Voyager would get from launch in working order ... 90.3 positive. What’s your prediction that the cameras will work if they do get there?”
“I still prefer the word scanner. My guess-97, 98 percent you’ll get a batch of the world’s greatest photographs, and some we’ll convert to color.”
With such assurances from men who knew what they were talking about, Mott proceeded to supervise arrangements for the hundreds of press people who would soon be flooding JPL, for realization had spread that this might well be the last close-up the Earth was going to have of the nearer planets during this century. All major foreign countries were sending observers: fifty-two different foreign newspapers, seventy-one magazines, nine television crews from Germany, Japan, Great Britain and France, plus all the regulars from the United States. Many of the world’s leading astronomers were planning to attend, and Mott saw with pleasure that John Pope’s name was among them.
As the days neared when Voyager 2 would make its closest approach to Saturn, Pasadena became the intellectual capital of the world, for men and women were about to see a close view of this magnificently complex planet. Excitement was intense and debate heated, for this was one of the great moments in man’s speculative history, when he would stand face-to-face with a celestial object which had captivated his imagination from that night more than a million years ago when someone cried in awe, “It moves among the fixed stars!” and which had tantalized him even more when telescopes revealed that it was surrounded by a congregation of exquisitely beautiful rings.
Soon it would be revealed. There would be a brief hello, a respectful nod there in the timeless freezing wastes, then a photographic salute, and the endless departure. Fragile moment in time, hallowed by those hesitant guesses of Galileo-“It seems to have horns, but my scope was not powerful enough to make sure”-this would be an instant of supreme importance to the scientists gathered here, but [747] of little significance to the majority of the world. One astronomer well into his seventies said,
 
“Don’t worry about that, Mott. I had my graduate students look into the experience of Copernicus, Kepler and Newton. Now, you’ve got to admit those men changed the history of the world. But when they were doing their work and announcing their discoveries ... how many of their contemporaries even knew it was being done? How many could comprehend its significance?
 
“My bright young men concluded that perhaps three percent of the citizens living in their towns knew they were doing something that might be important. One-fiftieth of one percent could have understood what it signified.
 
“With television and our good magazines, a few people will know about our visit to Saturn, but of one thing you can be sure. As in the case of Copernicus and Newton, everyone who ought to know will know, and the reverberations of these next few days will echo through eternity, reappearing from time to time in manifestations that would astonish you.”
 
The final two days of waiting were as pleasant as any that Mott had known, for scores of his honored associates flew in to exchange greetings of great warmth. Carl Sagan was there in the flush of his enormous success; Bradford Smith, with his cool assessment of the images that were already arriving; John Pope, keeping somewhat to himself-the masters of this little world of knowing men and women.
“Here’s a close-up of Titan, men, and what a hell of a lot of speculation goes down the drain with this one.” Titan, largest of the Saturn moons, was the only one in the entire solar system with an atmosphere comparable in any way to Earth’s and of a size sufficiently large and solid to warrant speculation that living beings might inhabit it. In science fiction it was already a populated center of extreme sophistication; in reality it was a gaseous concentration not much denser than water, and as one disgruntled astronomer said, “If people are living there, they’ve [748] got gills that can handle methane-hydrogen.”
A flood of color pictures was constructed, and even men who knew Saturn well gasped at the beauty of those heavenly rings, perhaps the most stunning sight in the planetary system; inherent in whatever force created that intricate halo was the artistry of a Michelangelo or a Picasso, for it was a work of art, as Mott explained in his briefing:
 
“The rings are very wide, but extremely thin, perhaps not more than half a mile. They’re composed of ice chunks varying in size from BB shot to cubes as large as a boxcar. They’re kept in place by gravity, of course. Saturn is an immense giant who draws things to him, but they’re also kept in line by disciplining satellites which patrol the edges.
 
“How did the ice form? Speculation is infinite, but I incline to support the theory that elements which should have coalesced into a moon failed to do so, but you’ll hear more about that at the roundtable tomorrow. I will give you one piece of reassuring news. We’ve run Saturn through the most advanced computers available to us, and we find that chunks of ice in varying sizes circulating around a planet like this will remain ice, in stable condition, for not less than five billion years, which covers the probable age of Saturn. You see, there is nothing to sublimate them, nothing to abrade them. They just circulate for five billion years.”
 
The part of the fly-by that Mott enjoyed most came when the newest pictures, corrected and enhanced by Template’s wizards, were flashed on a large screen while a panel of the world’s greatest astronomers made their original, free-wheeling guesses as to what these new data signified. Now these cautious scholars could not spend months in their laboratories running checks and eliminating ideas that were physically impractical. Now they stood alone on the frontier of thought, parading their ignorance, illuminating the room with their intuitive brilliance. For a brief, beautiful moment in time they and Saturn were co-conspirators regarding the great mysteries of the universe, [749] and sometimes the room became electric with ideas that would reverberate for years to come; a few would prove accurate; others would be knocked quickly apart; none would have been useless.
Great Saturn, wreathed in icy glory, seemed to move majestically through the room, but not in awe-filled aloofness. These men were living with the planet, wrestling with its secrets, and once when Template posted a peculiarly mottled view of one of the moons, Brad Smith blurted out: “I’ve seen a pizza that looked better than that.”
On the last afternoon as Mott was leaving Von Karaman Hall, where the convocations were held, he was accosted by a group of astronomy students from nearby universities who had come with their professors to participate in the fly-by. “Are you the Dr. Mott who did those four seminal papers back in the late 1950s on the nature of the upper atmosphere?” Mott was delighted that young “people should remember who he was: “You know, I did those papers long before I had my Ph.D.”
This surprised the young people, who asked if they could talk with him, and after a while he was joined by an elderly professor from Stanford. Then the students spotted John Pope as he was leaving the hall; they cornered him, and there they sat in the fading sunlight, three older men of proved reputation, some sixteen young scholars beginning their careers, all abrim with excitement about a massive planet and a little spacecraft a billion miles away.
“If I were a teacher, how could I explain to my students that although Saturn has a density much less than that of water and only a gaseous structure, it doesn’t just drain away?”
Some of the students laughed, but the old professor stopped them. “That’s one of the profoundest questions in astronomy, and unless your students appreciate its complexity, they’ll never comprehend the easier difficulties. Start this way. Look at a globe of the Earth in good colors, and spend about a week trying to understand why the oceans do not, as you say, “just drain away.” It’s not easy to answer that question.”
“How do you answer it?”
“You know, I’m familiar with every equation in the book, and I know all about gravity and the tides caused [750] by the Moon, but I’m damned if I can give you an articulate explanation.”
“How do you handle it?”
“Years ago I told myself, ‘You idiot! Anyone can see they do stay in place.’ And I accepted that.”
John Pope volunteered: “In the Navy when we tried to identify men who had the capacity to become really good navigators-we needed hundreds of them-we’d put them all in a room and show them a globe, just like the professor said. And we pointed to where they were at that time, that meridian, and we said, “You know it’s four o’clock here. Look at your watches. And we also know it’s only three o’clock in the next time zone, and two o’clock in Denver. and one o’clock in Los Angeles and eleven o’clock in Hawaii.” We took them all around the globe and showed them that we were ahead of every other place. But then we said, “But you know from news broadcasts that London is actually five hours ahead of us. Yet we just proved we’re nineteen hours ahead of London. How can those two contradictory things be true?” We let them stew in this for a while, the way we had stewed when we began, until one of us said, “Isn’t it clear that somewhere you have to institute an international date line?” When you reach there, this silly round robin ends and you start with new definitions.”
“That’s brilliant,” one of the students said enthusiastically, taking mental notes.
“You haven’t heard my point,” Pope said. “We would stand at the front of the room and watch the faces of the plebes. Some of them, when their minds grasped this magnificently simple solution, lit up like light bulbs. They could become navigators. Others sat in absolute perplexity. They would never make it. They could become good gunners, or aviation experts, but they’d never make navigators, because you either understand the international date line or you don’t, and if you don’t, I’m powerless to explain it to you.”
Lights went on in several faces. “Why didn’t someone explain it that way before?”
They asked Pope what he had experienced in space for which he had been intellectually unprepared, and without hesitation he said, “Gravity was nothing. We were [751] prepared for that. And we expected the reimposition of gravity when we neared the Moon. But what blew my mind was the fact that when we left the shadow of the Earth and before we reached the shadow of the Moon, we had sunlight twenty-four hours a day on one side of our trajectory and perpetual night on the other side. I had somewhat anticipated this, but even so, I had not realized that almost all the stars in the sky would be permanently visible. There they were, an entire sphere, except for a region around the Sun. It was quite awesome to me, but when I pointed it out to Claggett, he said, ‘The Galaxy would be in poor shape if they weren’t there.’ ”
“How did you occupy yourself? Coming back down to Earth?”
The old professor would not permit this question. “You must break the habit, in your thought if not in your speech, of saying “up to the Moon” or “back down to Earth” or “up to the stars.” There is no up or down, no above or below. There is only out to and back from in reference to the center of the Earth. If you use the plane of the Galaxy as reference, we’re clearly off the central axis, but whether we’re up or down, who knows? I don’t even like the phrase out to the edge of the universe. We may be the edge, so that everything we see exists between us and the opposite edge. More likely, the edge is everywhere, for I think that space is without direction or definition. You can’t express it in words, I suppose, but you must induce that concept among your students, for otherwise they can never become astronomers.”
“Look!” one of the girl students cried. “Saturn itself!” And there in the sky in close conjunction with blazing Jupiter and Venus, the ancient planet appeared, its magical rings not visible to the unaided eye, but its mysterious beauty magisterial. The old men who would be quitting their studies soon and the young who would be taking over stared at the planet with only a little more comprehension than that possessed by the Assyrians four thousand years earlier.
“Bits of ice no larger than those you use in a cocktail shaker. They don’t melt in five billion years. We could use some down here.”
“Over here,” the old professor corrected.
 
¯
 
[751] His last big job for NASA completed, Mott slept that night without nightmares, and while shaving next morning he understood why: The Space Shuttle carried men, and that made us cautious. Voyager 2 carried only the minds of men, and they can be adventurous. A ray of sunlight coming through the window and throwing a shadow across his bed made a rude cross, and he cried, “How profound the legend of Jesus is. His body died on the Cross, and that signified little, either to Him or His world. But His mind, what He thought, triumphed and reverberated forever.”
When he turned on the news he got instead an early-morning religious program, and a man he knew well was orating: “This is Reverend Leopold Strabismus of your United Scripture Alliance.” Mott listened with attention as the preacher spelled out a splendid theory of salvation and the restructuring of a broken life; it was generous, loving and curiously reassuring. In exaggerated Southern accent Strabismus offered a sounder doctrine than most psychiatrists, and he did so with a personal conviction that won even Dr. Mott, for some of the things he said about the love that parents ought to feel for their children were directly applicable to the Mott family.
He spoiled his sermon, Mott thought, by two errors: he appealed four times for contributions, which Mott’s father would never have dared, and in his peroration he shouted that what his listeners must do to attain salvation was to turn their backs on godless science and atheistic humanism and come back to the clear, simple teachings of Jesus. He then repeated three times the addresses of those California legislators who would be voting on his bill to drive the teaching of evolution and geology from state-supported schools.
Since Mott had some hours before his plane left, he thought it might be profitable to inspect what Strabismus called his United Scripture Alliance. Remembering roughly where it was, he reached the building once occupied by the University of Space and Aviation. He discovered it to be occupied by Mexicans, who explained: “Reverend Strabismus sold us the building. We use it as our Chicano Center.” When Mott asked where Strabismus functioned, [753] the pretty Mexican secretary said, “He has a big church out in the country,” and she handed him a nicely printed map showing the route to the United Scripture Alliance and a message: “All who seek the Light of God will be welcome.”
The map led him to a handsome mesa north of Pasadena, where Strabismus, with the large funds contributed by his radio and television audience, had built a series of structures which delighted the eye, for he had chosen the best architects in the region and had urged them to be daring and inventive. Dominating the area was the Temple of USA, a bold and comprehensive designation, and around it stood eleven low, strong buildings of the University of Spiritual Americans. The first building, however, which one encountered on entering the grounds, pertained to both the temple and the university: the Office of Perpetual Giving.
Mott went in and asked the very attractive young woman serving as hostess whether he might speak with Reverend Strabismus.
“I’m so sorry, sir, but he’s not in California.”
“I just heard him on television.”
“That was taped. He leaves us eight pre-recordings whenever he goes on a trip.”
“Where is he? If that’s not secret information.”
“Heavens, no!” the woman said with a disarming smile. He’s meeting with the President today, then flying to the big campaign in the state of Fremont.”
“What’s the campaign about?”
“A group of determined atheistic humanists is trying to overturn the law we passed some years ago.”
“The one that outlawed the teaching of evolution?”
“Yes.”
“I’m a school-board member, and I have reason to think hat we have on our staff teachers who are humanists ... who are teaching evolution subversively, as it were. Have you any literature that might provide me with ammunition?”
“We have indeed!” and she led him to a library room in which some dozen pamphlets and three more-substantial books were available to the inquiring public. Mott chose three pamphlets explaining how to launch local campaigns against teachers, elected officials and college [754] professors suspected of being humanists, and a book called How to Detect a Humanist.
“That will be four dollars,” the hostess said.
“I thought the pamphlets were free.”
“Nothing is free.”
“How’s the campaign in Fremont going?”
“It’s a real struggle. They’ve done a disgraceful thing. Dredged up a former professor named Anderssen, so old they have to lift him onto the platform, and he rants about freedom of the mind.”
“They’ll do anything,” Mott said, and as he left he reflected on the sardonic fact that the Temple grounds lay in an area marked by the historic observatory on Mount Wilson, from which the early photographs of galaxies had come to set minds ablaze; the California Institute of Technology, where some of the most unorthodox thinking in the world had taken place (speculation on the nature of the universe); and those centers of error, UCLA and USC. And he thought: Strabismus ought to cleanse his own backyard. All those scientific humanists down there staring at Saturn.
 
Stanley Mott was in for a shock when he watched Reverend Strabismus in action during the agitated campaign in Fremont, for the popular clergyman was even more rotund than before, a bearded three hundred pounds, and certainly more urbane and relaxed. He did not shout like some Old Testament prophet, nor did he display any animosity toward the atheistic humanists he was striving to eliminate from public life. He was reasonable, intelligent and persuasive, with uncanny skill in touching exposed nerves of national life. And he was remorseless in his hammer blows against science:
 
“Are you any happier because men claimed they walked on the Moon? Are your bills at the grocery store any lower? Are your children any better-behaved? Are you pleased that these crazy doctors in London can make babies in test tubes? Or that abortionists are free to run rampant in this here land? Are you safer in your homes because some knee-jerk liberal wants to take away your right to have your own gun?
 
[755] “Where has evolution and fossils in the rocks and Pleistocene-Meistocene got you but into deep trouble? I’ll tell you where science has got you-into the pigpen with the other animals.
 
“But I bring you release from all that. I tell you what you know in your hearts, that there’s only one true way. Throw out these evil humanists. Get rid of their corruptin’ textbooks. Bring God back into the schools and make this a decent country once again.”
 
Mott was surprised to learn that Reverend Strabismus and his wife were staying at the home of Senator Grant, up in Clay, and he followed the evangelist from town to town until the entourage of speakers, singers, trumpet players and Chimp-Champ-Chump reached the college town. The senator, hearing that Mott was in the neighborhood, invited him to dinner one night, and the occasion could have become an icy one because Mott launched right into the fatuities of the campaign.
“It’s amusing that I should be here,” he said in his precise way. “I mean, in this particular house. Because some years ago the senator gave me a commission in this very room. “Go out and see what that rascal has done to my daughter.” I went, and I saw a brilliant young man making-”
“Please!” the senator interrupted, and with a nod of his head toward a largely inert mass sitting opposite him, he indicated that nothing must be said about the little green men of the past that might agitate his wife.
“How did you make the transition, Reverend Strabismus, from science fiction to religion?”
“God called me.”
“Did God also call Jim Jones of Guyana? And Reverend Moon?”
“Individual persons turn sour in every calling. Look at the mad scientists of fiction.”
“Yes, but my mad scientists are in fiction. Dr. Jekyll, Dr. Frankenstein. Yours occur in real life.”
“You asked me how I made the transition. In response to the heart cries of the American people. They were sick with a great malady, Dr. Mott, one caused by you scientists.”
“You’re an extremely brilliant fellow, Strabismus. I’ve studied your record since those days at New Paltz and-” [756] Again Senator Grant indicated that nothing must be said which would upset his wife, so Mott changed his tone abruptly. “In public you speak like an illiterate hillbilly. Here you sound like Socrates ... or better, Savonarola.”
“I have what you don’t have, Dr. Mott. An acute sense of what the American public seeks. The vote in this state will prove it. They seek assurance from a simple man. They seek clarification, simplification, a return to historic ideals, the safety of the religion their grandfathers knew, cleansed of Darwin and Einstein and all that rubbish. They seek security, and they know instinctively that this comes from simple men like me, not atheistic scientists like you.”
“I suppose you know my father was a Methodist minister.”
“You’ve strayed a long way from his teaching.”
“I sometimes think I’m carrying it forward. Don’t you see, Strabismus, if the things we’re discovering are so extraordinary, so infinitely wonderful, isn’t it likely that the force which created them was Himself a scientist?”
“Don’t refer to God as force. He is God, exactly as the Book of Genesis states.”
“That’s what my father taught me to believe.”
“Then why, in brazen disobedience to God’s statements, do you teach children lies about dinosaurs and geology and evolution?”
“Because the record is before me ... in the rocks ... the relationships.”
“On the day of Creation, God placed those fossils in the rocks. He laid down the layers of rock to instruct us.”
“I refuse to believe that God is a trickster.”
“He is a Creator whose intention we are not allowed to penetrate.”
“You claim that He spent His energy putting together this jigsaw puzzle-the fossil fish high in the mountains, the dinosaur bones in a hundred varied locations, the geological strata. Isn’t it infinitely grander to believe that He started everything with a mighty bang, let’s say eighteen billion years ago, and then allowed His grand design to work itself out ... according to the rules inherent in what He threw into the universe?”
“Once you start down that road, you find yourself with [757] evolution and the claim that my Chimp-Champ-Chump was your grandfather.”
“You prefer to believe that God was a jokester?”
“He was the Creator. He began everything on one glorious day.”
“But if the entire record of the Earth drives us inescapably back ...”
“You’ve lost your battle, Dr. Mott. And we’ve won. Regardless of how the referendum goes next month in Fremont-I mean, even if your forces of evil do revoke our law forbidding evolution-we’ve won the battle. Why? Because our people dominate the committees that select schoolbooks for California and Texas, and what the big states do, the little ones will have to follow. Atheistic science is being driven right out of our textbooks. Soon you won’t dare show a fossil or a dinosaur, and you won’t be able to preach your atheistic evolution. So what does it matter what a state like New Mexico does? The corrupt New York publishers must print their books for sale in California and Texas, and that means they have to print them according to what we say. Your kind of science is dead in these two big states, which automatically makes it dead in New Mexico and Vermont, too.”
“So if I wrote a science book that showed fossils and spoke of dinosaurs roaming this area thirty million years ago ...”
“It would be obviously false, because the world did not exist thirty million years ago. It couldn’t have. It was created not more than six thousand years ago with the dinosaur bones and all that in place.”
“Is it true that your people have halted all geology lectures in the national parks?”
“A national park is a national schoolbook, and what we teach children in California we certainly teach their parents in Yellowstone and Grand Canyon.”
“Not long ago I put a little boy on an airplane for his summer vacation in Germany. His parents insisted that he learn honest science, not the mishmash you’re prescribing. Do you fear the day when our best young people will have to flee to Europe to get a real education?”
“Dr. Mott, we have a committee right now compiling a dossier on the evils done to this nation by Rhodes scholars [758] who came home with corrupt ideas. Fulbright of Arkansas, Sarbanes of Maryland, Carl Albert of who knows where, this man Bradley of New Jersey. If you ask me, I think they’re all Communists. So you tell your boy who went to Germany to mark his ways, because when he comes back here, we’re going to watch him.”
“Do you ever suspect that you’re becoming the Jim Jones of the mind? That your ultimate effect-”
“Gentlemen,” Senator Grant interrupted. “We’re getting nowhere with this debate. Dr. Mott is a distinguished scientist, Reverend Strabismus is a leader in this nation. I believe there’s room for both.”
“We need scientists to invent new medicines,” Strabismus conceded. “Build better airplanes. But not to dabble in ultimate things like Creation.”
“That’s where the trail ends,” Mott said.
The talk now turned to Mrs. Grant, who broke her long silence. “I’m so pleased to have Marcia with us again. Is California very hot?”
“Probably the best climate in the world,” Marcia said. She was forty-two and almost radiantly beautiful; standing with her husband on a platform, she presented the reassuring image of a supportive wife whose sole interest was the promotion of his good work. She obviously enjoyed her role, and now spoke enthusiastically about it. “You know, Dr. Mott, Leopold and I live very simply. We do have that imposing temple that you spoke about, but things like that and the university are built with funds placed in our hands by a believing public. We spend very little on ourselves.”
“The private airplane?”
“It belongs to a generous businessman who supports our work.”
“Your Mercedes?”
“We do move about.”
“How did you handle your old building? The one you were in when I visited you?”
“We sold it to a Mexican church for one dollar.”
“Is that true, Strabismus?”
“We’re very strong in the Mexican community because of that. One dollar, when we might have sold it for one million.”
[759] “Dr. Mott,” Mrs. Grant protested, “you keep asking the Reverend difficult questions. You must stop.”
“I shall.”
“I’ve known Reverend Strabismus for many years now, even before Marcia knew him. And he has always been a bringer of light.” She reached out to touch his arm. “If you ask me, it was only his tireless statesmanship that prevented the Strangers from taking over our government, although I was assured by their messengers that Norman would be kept on in government.”
Mott looked straight ahead, but then the senator said something which jolted him: “From what the voters in Fremont tell me, I’m afraid we went too far too fast with the Moon business.”
“In your evangelism the other night, Strabismus, you said something about NASA “claiming to have reached the Moon.” What possibly could you have meant?”
Instead of trying to defend himself, Strabismus leaned forward eagerly to explain. “A lot of people in this country believe we never got to the Moon. They believe it was all a government hoax, and I was speaking to reassure them.”
“So you gather all the mind-weary dissidents-the anti-everythings-and you build a great constituency. And one day you’ll find yourself the new Jim Jones ... but in a more devastating arena.”
In a frail voice Mrs. Grant said, “I wish we could retreat from all of this unpleasantness about schoolbooks and monkey grandfathers and women’s rights and people who want to take away our guns. I wish we could erase it all and go back to the simpler life I knew in this house with my father. Reverend Strabismus, you must rescue that simpler life for us.”
In the brief silence that followed, Mott reflected that this good woman had seen space and been repelled by it. As the wonder-machines leaped into the air at Canaveral, probing ever outward, extending the dimensions of the comprehensible universe, she had intentionally contracted the perimeters of her world, making it ever smaller and easier to control. And he concluded that all persons are obligated to wrestle with the universe as they perceive it, and those who are terrified by the [760] prospect retreat to little corners from which they seek to destroy the machines doing the outward probing and the men who manage them.
Senator Grant had perceived space only as a battleground on which to humiliate the Russians, who had done their best to humiliate us, and when that struggle was resolved, with Americans on the Moon and the Russians flopping about a hundred and ten miles above the Earth, he had retired from the great adventure. Indeed, he had turned his back on space and had voted against any major new appropriations. John Pope had performed better than anyone still living, but once he attained his limited objective, the Moon, he had retired to obscurity. Ed Cater had flown his two flights with distinction, but had retreated to a real estate office in his hometown. Lovely Inger Jensen had given her husband to the program and then fled to the sanctuary of a library in Oregon. Mott’s own sons had been engulfed, but good old Debby Dee had guzzled her gin and handled space as easily as she had mastered her husband’s rusted Chevrolets.
And how had he, Mott, met the challenge? Always he had tried to extend the frontier, first in Germany, where he knew he must rescue those Peenemünde men or see America go down the tubes, then at Wallops Island, where he had explored the farthest atmosphere, then in the Apollo program, and finally at the doors of Saturn. He had made an honest effort, but listening to how Reverend Strabismus was marshaling the nation against his principles, he suspected that he might have been fighting the wrong battle.
Dieter Kolff was wrong, he said to himself as the others chatted. He believed that with a rocket big enough, man could do anything. But he failed to protect himself against the frightened people who would always want to destroy the rocket. I suppose that’s the historic failure of the Germans. They worship the machine but not the man who runs it. Maybe Strabismus is right. Keep the citizens ignorant. Burn the books that might distress or agitate them. Convince them that the truth lies elsewhere than in the questing human mind.
His reflections were broken by Mrs. Grant, who said, “I think it’s so wonderful, Reverend Strabismus, that you [761] and Marcia will he able to vacation in Sweden after the vote.”
“Uppsala has been very good to me, Mrs. Grant. In all my literature I’ve referred to the happy years I spent there. Now I’m taking my wife to see those hallowed halls.”
“The real reason for our going,” Marcia divulged, “is that Leopold is endowing a chair at Uppsala.”
“In what subject?” Mott asked, his mouth agape.
“The Strabismus Chair of Moral Philosophy,” Leopold said.
 
In the early spring of 1982 Penny Pope, working diligently in the Senate on the problems of NASA and refusing two superior appointments suggested by the new Reagan administration, reached two important decisions which she longed to discuss with her husband, so she arranged for herself a trip to NASA installations in the West, then telephoned John at the university, suggesting that he fly to Washington and help drive the Buick back to Clay. “I know it’s an imposition, John, but I enjoy nothing in life more than riding with you when we have a chance for long talks.” Since he felt the same way, he leaped at the invitation, arranged substitutes for his classes, and breezed into her apartment ready to go. They had dinner that night at a Chinese restaurant, went to bed early, and awakened at 0400 the next morning. Within ten minutes they were in the car, heading west over the mountains on Route 50.
They covered their customary seven hundred miles that first day, but the driving was not what commanded their attention; a long, passionate conversation did:
PENNY: I’ve been keeping an eye on Senator Grant. He’s senile.
JOHN: Wait!
PENNY: I’ll not wait any longer. He’s senile.
JOHN: Like what?
PENNY: Like he can’t follow a conversation. Like he gives the same speech on every occasion, regardless of the question.
JOHN: Those criteria would classify half the Senate as senile.
PENNY: But he could do so much good with his seniority.
[762] JOHN. He’s got a good record. He can get reelected as often as he wishes.
PENNY: He’s not got a good record. He gives Reagan no creative assistance.
JOHN: I doubt if Reagan wants any. Grant votes the straight ticket, and that’s all that’s required.
PENNY: So much more, so very much more ...
JOHN: Norman Grant will never supply that. He was never inclined that way. Your senator is a place-filler.
PENNY: He was a glorious leader in the space movement.
JOHN: Some men have only one contribution. Look at the astronauts who made only one flight. They still counted.
PENNY: But we can’t settle for mere place-fillers. The times deserve something better.
JOHN: We could do worse.
PENNY: I’ve concluded that Norman Grant has got to go.
JOHN: You concluded?
PENNY: I’m a citizen. I’m a voter in his district. Yes, I concluded.
JOHN: And whom are you backing to beat him?
PENNY: You.
JOHN (almost driving off the road): That’s fatuous.
PENNY: Not at all. Before you say another word let me get the facts on record. Barring a precious handful, John, you’re much abler right now than most of the senators. Birch Bayh knew his way around, but he’s down the tube. Strom Thurmond may be the ablest manipulator on the floor. I could name half a dozen other really powerful men who do a fantastic job. But the grand average? John, men like you and Hickory Lee surpass them in every direction. Grant must go, and you must challenge him in the primaries.
JOHN: Let me lay it out clear and strong. I’m not a politician. I’m not ambitious along those lines. I doubt even if I have the capacity. But the overwhelming fact is that Norman Grant got me into Annapolis. He saved my life the way he saved the lives of those three men who come back each year-
PENNY: John! Don’t speak of those obscene men in their bulging uniforms. They’re a disgrace to American politics.
[763] JOHN: So if Grant saved my life-
PENNY: He did nothing of the sort, John. You were appointed to Annapolis because you did such a great job as an enlisted man.
JOHN: He saved my life. He sponsored me. I helped him get elected, and I owe him a debt forever. I will not run against him.
PENNY: Will you grant me one thing? That he’s become a doddering old fool?
JOHN: I will not. He’s a United States senator and worthy of the dignity.
PENNY: He’s a busted record, and the cracks are echoing like dynamite explosions.
JOHN: I could never make a move against Norman Grant.
The conversation continued along these obdurate lines through Ohio and well into Indiana, with Penny marshaling a wealth of evidence proving Grant’s deficiencies and John refusing to concede that the man should be defeated in that spring’s primary.
JOHN: You’re crazy if you think any insurgent can knock Norman Grant out of the box. The whole Republican party would rally to his defense.
PENNY: The Republican party is like any other party. It goes with the winner.
JOHN: The primary is ten weeks off. When does a challenger have to submit his nomination-a couple of weeks from now, isn’t it?
PENNY: Tuesday of next week.
JOHN: And you think you’re going to find some sacrificial lamb ... How much money do you think you can collect to fight the power that Grant would have?
PENNY: Money, nominations, petitions-they all fall into place the minute you say you’ll run. John, I’ve been testing the waters.
JOHN: In Washington, not Fremont.
PENNY: Most of Fremont that counts is in Washington. And they know to a man that Norman Grant is finished. He’s run his course, John. He’s a dodo. He’s a plum ripe for picking.
JOHN: Let’s stop this right now. Under no conceivable way in the world will I make a move against a man who’s [764] been my friend. You learn that in the astronaut program, and you learn it deep.
PENNY: We’ll discuss it tomorrow in Illinois.
It was not until they were leaving Abraham Lincoln’s state that she launched her most persuasive argument. She was driving at the time and they’d had a nine-o’clock breakfast of pancakes and sausage, a murderous meal except when one was driving all day without lunch.
PENNY: You’re a military man, John. I want to talk strategy, not tactics. If you don’t make your move now, some other good Republican will. He’ll get his foot in the door, and by the next election in 1988 he’ll be unbeatable. Your grand opportunity will be gone.
JOHN: I’ve told you before, I will not-
PENNY: Listen to my most important point. By 1988 Norman Grant will be a basket case. Anyone will be able to beat him, if he doesn’t retire before then. The decision has to be made this year, to protect your position in 1988.
JOHN: As long as Grant wants the seat-
PENNY: Let’s suppose you’re right. Let’s suppose that Grant is unbeatable this year. The strategy is to establish yourself as his inevitable successor. You do that by challenging him now. By conducting a high-level campaign. I’m positive that you can win even this year. In 1988 it’ll be a lead-pipe cinch.
JOHN: Let Grant make the decisions. My sense of honor will not allow me to-
PENNY: If the Republican committee came to you?
JOHN: I’d have to tell them no.
PENNY: John, I think you underestimate yourself. You’re an authentic American hero. Everyone in the country knows you.
JOHN: Everyone in America doesn’t vote in Fremont.
PENNY: Everyone in Fremont loves you. You have an enormous capital to draw upon. You’re electable. And you sit here and fritter away-
JOHN: Why are you so concerned about a Senate seat?
PENNY: Because I’m a patient in that dreadful Washington hospital.
JOHN: What do you mean?
PENNY: I’m infected with the incurable disease. Capitalitis.
[765] JOHN: I’ve suspected this for some time. You don’t want to come home?
PENNY: They made a study some years ago. One hundred ex-senators. Some had been defeated in primaries, some in the general, some had withdrawn voluntarily. But of the hundred, ninety-three were still in Washington, one thing or another. One of the men from Phoenix said it best. “Me go back to Arizona? Are you nuts?” When you’re in Washington you see the wheels go round. And sometimes you can give them a nudge.
JOHN: Then why don’t you accept that judgeship they keep talking about?
PENNY: It was the Carter administration that did the talking. Glancey convinced them I was a Democrat.
JOHN: What are you, really?
PENNY: In 1982 I’d be dumb if I wasn’t a Republican.
JOHN: You know, Penny, when NASA got the six families together that first time at Cocoa Beach, I had a strong feeling that you and I had the best marriage of all. I love you very much. More every year as we grow older. You have a lot of pizazz.
PENNY: I’m so proud of you I could burst. You’ve really hewn your log to a very straight line, John. Ain’t many like you, kiddo. That’s why I want to see you senator.
JOHN: Impossible.
Their incessant arguing slowed down their driving, so they slept that night in eastern Missouri, where they had Mexican food, made some phone calls, and went to a movie, but as they drove through the early morning on the last day, Penny returned to her basic theme:
PENNY: John, I’m asking you for the last time. Will you declare for the United States Senate?
JOHN: I cannot.
PENNY: This is dreadfully serious, John. I must repeat. Will you run?
JOHN: No.
She swung the car abruptly off the main highway, sought a gas station, and went inside to make a series of phone calls. When she returned, a handsome, strong-wilted lawyer of fifty-five, well versed in the ways of Washington, she announced calmly as she swung the car back onto the road: “I have asked my people to inform the papers and [766] the television immediately. I’m entering the Republican primary for the Senate.”
Captain John Pope, USN (retired), slumped in the right-hand seat of the Buick as it sped toward the Fremont state line and wondered what he should say. If Penny had authorized her people to release the announcement, she would not be deterred now, and his mind twisted and turned, trying vainly to hit upon the right comment. That he would support her, there could be no doubt; she was his wife and he was extremely proud of her accomplishments. He knew her to be one of the best women in America, forceful but loving, hard as nails where principle was concerned but gentle in her personal relationships, and very bright. Both Glancey and Grant had told him at different times, “Pope, your wife is just as important to our space program as you are. Because she knows where the bodies are buried.”
And yet, as a man of honor he would have to make his apologies to Norman Grant, and if asked, state in public that he knew Grant to be a splendid citizen and a good public servant worthy of reelection. It was going to be a difficult spring in the state of Fremont during the Republican primaries.
His mind then turned to the matter of living arrangements, and he concluded that practically nothing would change-he would remain in Clay and she in Washington, or wherever. They were a Navy family, accustomed to prolonged separations, and he knew they could hack it, as enlisted men said when unpleasant jobs lay ahead, for they always had. And then, smiling quietly as he glanced sideways while Penny roared down the highway, chin forward, he thought of the perfect thing to say: “Penny, when I flew Gemini with Claggett, I sat in the right-hand seat. I can do so again.”
 
They arrived in Clay at eleven in the morning, and Penny drove directly to the home of the man who had been working quietly in behalf of John Pope for Senator, and there John received a lesson in practical politics, for a committee of nine awaited Penny’s arrival. They had before them some sixteen nominating petitions covering all parts of the state, and all signed on behalf of John Pope, who was refusing to run. The chairman’s wife had carefully typed [767] in a Mrs. before the original candidate’s name, then, hollowing it: (Penny Hardesty).
“That’s illegal as hell,” John exclaimed. “They signed for one person, and you change it to another.”
“Not without permission,” the chairman said. “We spent all last night calling every signer and getting permission to switch.”
When he looked at Penny, standing erect in the doorway, smiling, neat, suit presentable after three days of travel, he had for the first time a fleeting suspicion that she might really carry this thing off, and when he left the meeting, alone, to report to Senator Grant at the big house on the edge of town he received another jolt-two, in fact.
The first concerned Mrs. Grant, who appeared at the door to let him in. She did not recognize him, even though he was probably the best-known man in town and one she saw frequently, and when she led him toward her husband’s study it was as if she were in an unknown house. She asked him if she could count on his support in the referendum regarding evolution, which was a pernicious theory destructive of human dignity, and he did not bother to remind her that the vote had been taken months ago and that her side had won.
The second shock came after Senator Grant had listened courteously to the explanation of how Penny had come to file for his seat and why Pope had told her that he could not in decency oppose a man who had done so much for him, who had been, indeed, a kind of father.
Grant laughed almost raucously. “Pope! You miss the whole point. Penny’s not got a chance of beating me this year. But she’ll get her name known. She’ll show the central committee she’s a real contender. I think the world of that girl, and in 1988, when I certainly won’t run again, she’ll be in the front row. The very front row. And unless this nation falls to hell, she’ll be United States Senator from Fremont. You go out there with my blessing, John, and give her every support. Because when I do step down, six years from now, I’ll want somebody good in my place, and she’s the one I’d choose.”
Exactly what Penny told me in Illinois, Pope thought. But I’d better not tell Grant she’d had him figured out so neatly. Also, there was the unsettled question: Did Penny [768] mean it, when she said so vehemently that Grant could be defeated? Was this primary to be the real thing?
 
There was another election which intruded before the Fremont primary. In the Colorado ski resort of Skycrest, the business promoters, the shopkeepers and the lodge managers wanted a shift in the political governance of the place: “We have special needs which require special solutions. We’re not dryland farmers raising Herefords.” By common consent they settled upon Millard Mott as their level-headed candidate: “He knows business. He knows what it is to pay taxes. And look what he’s done with his own shop.”
In a town that had once been mainly Democratic, the conservative Republicans offered Millard as their candidate, and although there was minor talk about the way his brother had been killed in Florida, it was agreed in the community that this should not be held against him. Also, the fact that he lived with this chap Roger, who had been a draft dodger, was ignored. Nor did the opposition make much headway with the charge that Millard had himself been a Canadian goose: “Didn’t he fly north?”
“He did, but everyone knows the Vietnam war was a shitty affair. Maybe he was just brighter than us stupid sonsabitches who went.”
He was elected by a huge majority, and at his thank-you party, catered by Roger and the college girls at the ski shop, he promised Skycrest: “What everybody wants-more services, more police, more ski patrols, better roads and lower taxes. I hope somebody here will tell me how to do it.”
 
In June 1982 Professor John Pope heard with pleasure that NASA was thinking of assigning his friend Hickory Lee, last of the Solid Six, to command the fourth flight of the Shuttle. He would carry it to heights not attempted before, where various scientific instruments would be placed in orbit and checked during an extended extravehicular activity. The Shuttle was now a workhorse, and Lee would join that restricted group of astronauts who had flown in three radically different types of craft-in his case, Apollo, Skylab and Shuttle. None had flown in four [769] different types, and as the program was working out, none ever could.
A much more personal surprise came on a bright morning when Senator Norman Grant, in the heat of his campaign for renomination to the Senate, announced that he would hold a press conference at noon sharp, and he telephoned Pope to ask if he would attend. John supposed that the surprising closeness of the primary, with Penny doing much better than predicted, had frightened the senator into a last-minute spurt, and that Grant was going to ask him for an endorsement.
Penny was in the southern part of the state, where she was amassing unexpected support, but he was able to reach her by phone: “Darling, the damned pullets have come back to roost. Senator Grant is pressuring me for an endorsement.”
“We decided long ago you’d give it.”
“I’ll have to. I’ll simply have to. But it’ll be very guarded. And, darling, I’ll fly out to Calhoun this afternoon, Phil will take me in his plane. I’ll appear on the platform with you tonight, and I’ll speak. If you want to win this primary, I want you to win it, too.”
“I do want to win. And I do want your help.” Then she said brightly, “Don’t you see, John? If Grant feels he needs your endorsement, he knows he’s in trouble.”
Satisfied that he had cleared this ticklish problem with his wife, Pope went to his university office, where a tough politico from Webster was awaiting him: “Professor, does your wife really want to win this primary?”
“She sure does!”
“She’s not just goin’ through the motions?”
“Penny never goes through motions.”
“My wife is a trained nurse.”
“What’s that got to do with the primary?”
“Plenty. She works with doctors. She listens.”
“Where’s she work? Sit down, please.”
“She works in Webster General. But one of her doctors, a Dr. Schreiber, is a specialist who flies about the West on heavy missions.” He paused to allow this to take its effect, then said, “Three days ago he flew here to Clay Municipal.” Another pregnant pause. “His patient was Senator Grant’s wife.”
[770] “What about her”?”
“She’s in dreadful shape, according to the doctor. He treated her sickness and wouldn’t say anything about that. But he did talk about her other behavior. The forgery. Signing the senator’s name to a check. She’s pumping money into the Strabismus crusade, the one in Alabama against Darwin and abortions and all that.”
“Forgery? Why would she commit forgery?”
“I don’t know why. All my wife knows is that Senator Grant had to intervene to prevent the police-”
“Why did you come here to tell me this?”
“Because it makes Grant vulnerable. If your wife wants to really puncture that bag of wind ...”
Pope did not lose his temper. This man was suggesting behavior that neither of the Popes would countenance or even remotely consider, but John had learned that politics produced all sorts of aberrations and the honorable man or woman looked at each as it was presented, accepting those that stood within limits, rejecting those that were outside the pale of decent behavior. Rising and placing his arm about the visitor’s shoulder, he said quietly, “My wife and I appreciate your interest, but this isn’t the kind of private information that she would use. Thank your wife, and I hope you both continue to support Mrs. Pope.”
It was now forty-five minutes before the press conference, and Pope needed to clarify his thinking as to what exactly he could say in support of the man he still held to be a notable citizen, and this was difficult, for the campaign had proved that Grant really was doddering, lacking in focus and without any clear vision of the future. There had been a most painful night in the capital city of Benton, where the senator and Penny were to debate major issues; before the session Penny learned that Tim Finnerty was bringing Gawain Butler from his important job in California and Larry Penzoss from Alabama, and she went directly to Finnerty’s hotel to confront him.
“Surely, Tim, you’re not trotting out those miserable uniforms again?”
“They’re the heart of his campaign. Voters love them.”
“Tim, that day is past. Believe me, if you three clowns get up on that stage-”
“The other two are not clowns. They’re considerable heroes. Their stories-”
“Will make people yawn.”
“Why are you protesting”? If it’s a bad idea, as you say, you profit.”
“Nobody profits. Tim, if you do this, I’m going to have to rebut. I’ll have to point out how silly the whole thing is.” Her jaw firmed. “And I will, believe me, Tim, I will.”
The debate had not gone well for the senator, but Penny remembered that he was always best in his closing statements, when he drew upon patriotism, heroism and love of country to make telling points, the only ones that would be remembered when the night was over and the serious discussion forgotten. And sure enough, at the beginning of his peroration he signaled Finnerty, who marched out with Butler and Penzoss in their old uniforms. Unfortunately for Grant, the city of Benton contained three colleges, and students in the audience began to laugh, one black activist shouted “Uncle Tom,” and suddenly the stage became a place of ridicule, and the heroic memory of those days adrift in October of 1944 seemed as remote as the Battle of Thermopylae.
Grant was confused. He had encountered student opposition during the bad days of Vietnam, when values were contorted, but now these young people were laughing at him and Gawain Butler and the heroic days when all values hung in the balance, and it was shocking. His opponent, Mrs. Pope, seemed to have tears in her eyes, and it was she who spoke:
 
“Students, stop that laughter. These four men, Senator Grant and his crew, were sensational heroes. The safety of our nation depended upon them, and I for one salute them. But I suspect you are right in believing that the day is past when we can rely only upon old memories ... old ideas ... old ways of doing things. We need fresh spirit, fresh drives. Please try to get these conflicting good things straight in your mind. This nation needs some straight thinking.”
 
In her hotel room later that night she confided to her husband: “I’m not proud of what I did tonight. What I should have done was machine-gun those little bastards for making fun of a profound idea. But I must say that I warned Finnerty not to carry his broken jugs back to that [772] pathetic pump.” Tears came to her eyes. “I was so sorry for Norman Grant. Did you see the shock on his face? He was facing a new generation, a whole new set of decades, and he hadn’t a clue. John, he hasn’t a clue and it will be God’s mercy if I defeat him.”
Reluctantly, Pope left his office, and walked slowly to the campus building in which the press conference was to be held, still unsure of what he should say in view of the fact that later in Calhoun he was going to neutralize it. But when he entered the building and saw Norman Grant, big and handsome and very American, his heart went out to him: Best man this town ever produced. I’ll help him win one more time. Penny can afford to wait.
But when Grant took the podium and adjusted the microphones, Pope received a shock: “I am sorry that my talented opponent, Penny Pope, could not be here this morning. She’s at work lambasting me in the southern part of the state, but I’m most pleased that her husband, our great hero John Pope, is with us.”
There was applause and someone nudged Pope, getting him to stand, and as he rose to acknowledge the cheers he thought: In for a penny, in for a pound. What a lousy pun.
“I’ve asked you here this morning,” Grant continued, “To inform you that personal matters of the most urgent kind make it necessary for me to withdraw from the primary campaign. Those who know me will understand that this action does not come from fear of my worthy opponent, because I have faced others just as resolute. I am retiring from the fight for personal reasons which I can no longer ignore.
“I am relieved in this moment of great stress to know that I leave the field to one of the ablest people in America and one of the finest associates I have ever had, Penny Pope. We have worked together for thirty-six years, and no one in America is better qualified to give her a character reference than me.
“Mrs. Pope, you’ve won the Republican primary. Without question you’ll win the November general, in which you’ll have my fullest support. Astronaut John Pope, go out and help your wife get elected. She’s worth it.”
When Pope finally reached his wife in a small town [773] near the Kansas border, her first words were: “John, get hold of Tim Finnerty before he leaves town. I want him for my campaign manager.” And when she was senator, she would want him as her chief of staff, because that crazy, Democrat, liberal, Boston-Irish-Catholic manipulator knew how the Senate operated and where the votes were. He had almost succeeded in making Norman Grant a first-rate senator; with better material, he might have better luck.
 
Stanley Mott was retired now, sixty-four years old and covered with the honors that came normally to a man of his competence; he had four honorary doctorates, awards from six learned societies, and invitations from across the country to speak on issues confronting the space program.
In his final days with NASA he had helped supervise two tremendous achievements: the launching of the Shuttle and the Voyager 2 fly-by of Saturn, and of the two, he had no hesitation in concluding that the latter was the more important, for it threw the mind of man forward to new horizons, and he had not interrupted when Dieter Kolff telephoned from Alabama:
 
“See what I told you. Stanley? The future of man in space is to build ever more capable machines and ever bigger rockets to launch them. We can go anywhere, you and I, and we don’t need astronauts to clutter up the hardware. You devise a whole new family of instruments, marvels that can do anything. I’ll build a new family of rockets that will land on Uranus and Neptune, and we can do this before we die.”
 
But he had also listened when Grant called from Clay:
 
“See what I told you, Mott? Practically no one noticed the Saturn thing. No men in the machine. But that Shuttle business with those two fine young men at the throttle ... [Mott interrupted to remind Grant that John Young had been fifty-one.] Did you see how the world ate that up? Man is still the measure of all things, Mott, and you better remind your old buddies at NASA of that fact.”
 
[774] Mott did not need to be reminded by Grant of the added value NASA received from a launch when men were aboard, and he conceded that years ago when he championed Kolff too strongly, NASA had been correct in disciplining him. Man is the measure of all things, he admitted to himself, but it matters greatly what he measures.
He worried about such matters because he had been nominated to receive the gold medal awarded occasionally by the three major scientific societies of the nation, and this obligated him to make a speech of some significance at the acceptance ceremonies. His whole thrust was toward the immaculate nature of science, especially since certain groups in many states were trying to outlaw it in their schools, and he knew well what he wanted to say in that respect, but he was deterred by things that Senator Grant and Reverend Strabismus were preaching: that man can absorb only so much abstract science, after which he reverts to a kind of childhood simplicity in which he rejects everything.
Are we the ones who are at fault? he asked himself. Have we failed to bring the world along with us? Why did Mrs. Grant retreat into her cocoon, denying everything that her husband stood for? Why does Strabismus receive such thundering approval when he turns the clock back? Stanley felt that the answer lay not in Mrs. Grant or Reverend Strabismus, but in men like himself who had blindly pursued their own narrowly defined interests while ignoring the vast, sloppy, stumbling universe of people who could not keep pace with the discoveries.
But he would make only limited concessions. The brilliant men and women of his age were pushing back the frontiers of knowledge, and if the general public was unable to keep up, that was a political matter; it must not be allowed to be an intellectual damper on the exploration itself. The Church had muzzled Copernicus, threatened Galileo and burned Bruno, but the truth about the position of the Earth in the planetary system had not been stifled. Today in America the television Ayatollahs and the Neanderthals in the Senate could force states to deny the palpable truths of science, and they could force that knowledge underground in some quarters, but they could not destroy the facts themselves. The Earth did revolve about the Sun; [775] it was created about four and a half billion years ago; and dinosaurs had roamed the Earth in the periods cited. More important to the present day, quasars and black holes did exist and they commanded the mind to explain them. As Mott said tentatively in the opening paragraphs of the speech he was preparing:
 
I am satisfied by all the evidence that reaches me that the mind of man stands now in much the position it stood at the beginning of the Copernican age. Ahead of us lies one of the world’s major explosions of knowledge. Year by year the frontiers of the universe will be pushed ever outward by discoveries and interpretations which will dazzle the mind and force it to fashion new interpretations.
 
What our recent developments will produce in their train, not even the boldest of us can predict, but I am impressed by the fact that in 1938 President Roosevelt assembled the brightest scientists in America to the White House to help him envisage the things he might have to adjust to in the future.
 
“I want you to tell me what to expect,” he begged, and after three days of intense speculation these men, whose job it was to anticipate the future and who commanded more keys to that future than any other group, failed to predict atomic power, radar, rockets, jet aircraft, computers, xerography and penicillin, all of which were to burst upon the world within the next few years. They knew about the exploratory research, of course, but they could not believe it would produce functional products so soon. I assure you that if tonight you assembled an equal group of our most learned men, they would not anticipate the simple wonders which will engulf us by the year 2000.
 
His speculations were brought down to Earth when he learned, in his Washington office, that the Reverend Strabismus, in conjunction with several other religious leaders, had decided to launch a major campaign against homosexuality in American life and especially in public office. “God created Adam and Eve, not Adam and Steve” [776] became the battle cry, and they had decided to test their power in the Colorado ski community of Skycrest, which had just elected a notorious homosexual as mayor.
They would dispose of him, they said, as a warning to San Francisco, and they would do so by means of a recall referendum, an agency of policy they were finding to be of great value, since with television coverage they could persuade the American electorate to ratify anything. Mott felt obligated to fly out and assist his son, but he was little prepared for the vilification he would face. The campaign was horrible, with much citation of Leviticus 18 and 20, especially verse 13 of the latter. When Mott first heard Strabismus thunder on these texts he was shaken, for his father had taught him to take the Bible seriously:
 
“If a man also lie with mankind, as he lieth with a woman, both of them have committed an abomination: they shall surely be put to death.”
 
He pondered this for some days during the fiery debates when the clergymen tried to purify American politics, and he was so perplexed that he retired from the struggle, unsure of his moral position. His son Millard seemed a fine man in all respects save his sexual orientation, and Stanley had almost persuaded himself that a decent public life of service and the good report of one’s neighbors counted more than an arbitrary condemnation by men like Reverend Strabismus, but this bald statement in the Bible lent great force to their preaching, and he was confused. Perhaps Millard was as evil as they claimed.
Sorely troubled, Mott borrowed a Bible and studied the whole of Leviticus carefully, and when he was finished he knew what he must do. He carried the Bible with him to the big meeting at which all five of the charismatic ministers were arrayed on the platform, and after several vain attempts he reached a microphone where the television cameras focused on him:
 
“Each of you clergymen has preached against my son, Mayor Mott, and I want to ask if you indeed support the teaching of Leviticus 20, verse 13, in which homosexual men are condemned to death. [Two of the [777] ministers said yes, it way an abomination, Strabismus hedged.] Well, gentlemen, are you aware that this same chapter of Leviticus says that anyone who curses his father shall be put to death? Are you prepared to execute that sentence?
 
“Are you familiar with the last verse of your chapter? It says that anyone who appears to be a witch shall be put to death. Are you prepared to relight the fires of Salem? To resume burning old women who mumble?
 
“Are you aware that the same chapter directs you to execute every man and woman who has committed adultery? Has any one of you committed adultery? Are you ready to be executed? Do you honestly believe that everyone in the state of Colorado who has committed adultery should be stoned to death? How many in this audience tonight have committed adultery? Should you all be killed?”
 
His words created a firestorm in the hall, with Strabismus shouting that it was unfair to quote partially from the Bible, and members of the audience shouting back that it was just as unfair for him to quote it partially in support of his harsh ideas. The affair got out of hand when three college girls got to the microphones and said that they had committed adultery with leaders of the Skycrest community and were prepared, if pressed, to reveal names.
Next day several citizens appeared on the streets with big A’s emblazoned on their chests and the challenge Execute me. One girl carried a sign: I AM A KNOWN WITCH. BURN ME.
The ministers ended their crusade with a huge meeting at which they announced that Skycrest was the new Sodom and Gomorrah, which surprised no one in Colorado, but which did send a ripple of altered vacation plans through the rest of the nation. The referendum to unseat Mayor Mott failed, but even so, the ministers considered their expedition a valuable experience. In their much larger campaign in California they would not stress Leviticus, Chapter 20, so heavily, for they had found that it could be turned against them.
 
¯
 
[778] When he returned, battle-fatigued, to Washington, Mott spent some days with his wife just listening to music, and one afternoon, at the end of Verdi’s Requiem, he said, “Of all the couples we knew-the Peenemünde gang, the NASA people and even our Solid Six-I think you and I were the happiest. Thanks to you, we kept our lives simple, cleaned up. I appreciate that, Rachel.” They sat in silence for some time and then he broke into laughter. “Guess what I’m going to play next?”
“You wouldn’t dare!” It was the String Quartet in A Major by Luigi Boccherini, and whenever her husband forced her to hear it she blushed. But now as the limpid, formless notes came tumbling out, as if from a mechanical hurdy-gurdy, she had to laugh at herself.
At Wellesley she had fallen under the spell of a forceful woman teacher of music history who believed that the only European music worth listening to started with Palestrina and Purcell and ended with Handel. Vivaldi had been her special love, and a whole generation of Rachel’s contemporaries had considered this amiable composer’s The Four Seasons somewhat superior to Beethoven’s Ninth and infinitely more elevated than Tchaikovsky, who did not even figure in the professor’s syllabus.
Rachel had always kept with her a handful of Vivaldi records, which she cherished, and even when her husband discovered in program notes from the Boston Symphony that Vivaldi had dashed off some four hundred and twenty concerti, composing them sometimes of an afternoon, she refused to admit that much of the man’s work was trivial or even tedious: “The best of Vivaldi is the best of European music.”
Somehow she conceived the erroneous idea that Luigi Boccherini had been a contemporary of Vivaldi’s and therefore commendable; in a record store she had chanced to see an album containing the String Quartet and had bought it eagerly. To tell the truth, when she got it home she found it somewhat banal, but since it came from a composer of the approved period, she forced herself to like it and endeavored to make her husband do the same, but as always, he looked things up in his encyclopedias and found that Boccherini was not an early composer at all, [779] but a man who worked side by side with Joseph Haydn and was considered even then a facile hack: “ ‘Haydn’s wife,’ the critics of that day called him, Rachel. Here, look at it for yourself.”
She had been outraged, first by her husband’s unkindness in disclosing the fraud, then by her own gullibility. Boccherini became an ugly word in the Mott household and the cause for much hilarity, and it was used to puncture Rachel’s Wellesley pretensions. But one Christmas, Stanley gave his wife as a present a magnificent German recording of the flawless minuet from the Boccherini Quintet in E Major, and it became one of their favorites: “Our sentimental masterpiece. We play it to each other when we think we’re in love.”
In retirement, Stanley also suggested that they bring that wonderful woodcarving by Axel Petersson in from the bedroom to the living room, where it could establish the humanity of the Mott household, and whenever Stanley saw that little wooden man with the jutting jaw and the low-brimmed hat dancing with his wooden wife he felt good, and he loved Rachel a little more.
Rachel agreed that their marriage was perhaps the most satisfactory in their group, but she had a high regard for John and Penny Pope: “I’d almost say they were the best, except that they had no children. The joy and the anguish of having sons and daughters ...” She never once allowed even a fugitive thought to stray across her mind that perhaps it would have been better if doomed Chris had not been born: “We had years of delight with that boy. Where he got off the track, who can say?” She never went to his grave in Florida, but he was in her thoughts constantly; as for Millard, she chortled when he beat back the attempt to unseat him. “My son the Mayor,” she called him when she spoke with her friends, and she was happy that he was back with Roger, if that’s what gave him contentment.
She was pleased when Stanley read portions of his science speech to her, for she realized that he was endeavoring to summarize a lifetime of experience and she applauded his conclusions:
 
“When the mind of man ceases to thrust outward, it begins to contract and wither. So with civilizations.
 
[780] In the fifteenth century Spain and Portugal established new worlds and divided continents between them, but in the sixteenth century they faltered in their willingness to pursue vast goals, and one might say they withered intellectually and even economically. They allowed other nations to take up the joyous burden of developing new ideas, and from this decline they never recovered.
 
“I am terribly afraid that in America’s reluctance to proceed with the exploration of space we are making the Portugal-Spain error. It is not enough to initiate an action. One must also develop it to its ultimate capabilities.”
 
She was delighted with his adept use of postwar Japan and Germany as case histories of defeated nations which had been almost destroyed but which by clever application of scientific advances had emerged rather stronger than the victors.
“What’s the secret, Stanley?”
“When you rebuild starting from scratch, you adopt only the most modern concepts. This means those countries whose factories weren’t dynamited are burdened with old-fashioned ways. They must fall behind.”
“Would you recommend that countries like England and the United States blow up their factories every thirty years?”
“The world would be a much better place if we did ... periodically.”
“Why don’t we?”
“We wouldn’t have to blow them up, actually. Not if we had the courage to gut them and start over. But we’d never be able to persuade our people to do that. So we wallow along with our outmoded ways and watch the defeated nations surge past us-in dozens of aspects.”
“Who would lose if we did revolutionize production, our way of doing things?”
“It’s uncanny. You can see a hundred examples in history of nations that were destroyed, almost wiped out, who came storming back with renewed vigor. It’s like pruning a tree. The novice never believes that you improve the tree by cutting it savagely back.”
[781] “Yes, but who suffers?”
“The middle class. You, me. The very rich rarely suffer. The poor go on as usual. But when a currency goes sour, it’s people like us who suffer. People on retirement pay. People who own a little property or goods. In fact, our class can be wiped out.”
She thought about this for some time, then asked, “Is it proper to wipe out a whole class? So that the larger welfare can be helped?”
“I can’t answer that. All I know is that nations which have allowed their middle class to be wiped out haven’t suffered much at the time and have come back stronger than ever as a consequence.”
“You believe in the integrity of an idea, don’t you?”
“I suppose that’s all I believe in.”
“How about religion? As an idea, that is?”
“Quite necessary. As the adjudicator. It was the best-educated nation in the world, Germany, that lost its way most completely. It had brains galore, but no one to blow the whistle and cry, “This is wrong.” Science could serve that role, but it never does. Politics certainly never does. Society requires some agency larger than itself to blow the whistle. My father taught me that.”
“Granted, but then what do you do about Reverend Strabismus and his ilk?”
“I think you bear with them. Admit that if society did not yearn for them, they wouldn’t achieve the power they do. And hope that like Savonarola, they pass quickly without doing too much damage.”
“When will the present crop halt its damage?” she asked.
Mott left his writing desk and paced about the room. “Giving it to you cold turkey, as the astronauts say, I think we’re in for a very bad time for the rest of this century. I expect to be called before the Senate one of these days for having been subversive-”
“Good God, on what grounds’?”
“Any they see fit to legislate. I expect to see book burnings one of these days. And families might begin to think like the Kolffs. Sneak their children out to some foreign country to learn forbidden subjects, then sneak them back in to keep learning alive.”
“When I told Dieter that, you said I was hysterical.”
“I’ve been wondering if maybe you weren’t right. And [782] if I think so, I’m morally obligated to say so. While I’m still allowed free speech.”
“I want to read your talk before you deliver it. To discuss possibilities in private is one thing. To do so in a public speech, quite another. I don’t want my husband to sound the damned fool.”
“I’m not really concerned about what people in 1982 think. How an individual reacts to any stimulus is his own problem. I want this to be on the record for 2002. I want men and women then to know that I was scared silly by the nonsense and that I tried to do something about it.”
As shadows fell they played Vivaldi, looked lovingly at the Axel Petersson dancers, saw their patron saint Mondrian on the uncluttered walls, and tried to decide which of the good Washington restaurants they would dine in that night, for it was their fortieth wedding anniversary.
 
And just when Mott had adjusted to his retirement, conceding that the productive period of his life was past, he received two short-term assignments which gave him joy, for they enabled him to rush back into the heart of the great adventure. The first invitation came from Fremont State University, where Professor John Pope was doing final editing on the first eleven chapters of an important treatise he was writing on aviation and space:
 
I’d be honored, Stanley, if you would take in hand the final three chapters. They need the expertise and understanding which only you can provide. Please say yes.
 
When the heavy package arrived at the Mott apartment in Washington, Stanley opened it with the keenest anticipation, for it obviously represented an intellectual outflow from the space program, and this was important.
Mott had never been one to justify the vast NASA program because it had provided stick-free Teflon frying pans to housewives or Velcro hold-fast fabrics to vaudeville performers, enabling them to appear in funny break-away costumes. Again and again he refrained from testifying to the Senate that our explorations in space were vindicated by things like telecommunication satellites or the [783] miniaturization of medical devices. He deemed it cheap to retreat to such sophistry when the noble adventure could be justified within its own terms: man had thrown back the perimeters of ignorance and darkness by quintillions of miles and centuries of years, and that was adequate justification.
But even when defending this austere intellectual position, he appreciated the parallel development of industrial products-especially computerization-and the application of space science to things like agricultural analysis and ocean prediction. He was pleased to know that John Pope, perhaps the brainiest of the astronauts and one of the most experienced, was putting his training to use.
 
CIRCADIAN DISORIENTATION
by John Pope, Ph.D.
 
The subject matter of this book is simply defined. Three times in recent years I have been ordered to fly nonstop from Capetown at the southern tip of Africa to London on the western edge of Europe, and because I stayed generally within the same time zone, I arrived at my destination only as tired as the very long flight demanded. Actually, since I sleep well on planes, I reached London quite rested and able to go immediately to work at the American Embassy for nine hours, then to the theater, and finally to a formal dinner.
 
During this same time period I was ordered three times to fly nonstop from Tokyo to New York, a flight of about the same duration, but because I was crossing ten time zones, my pineal gland secreted melatonin so abnormally that it required me four to five days to bring it back into balance. I therefore arrived in New York exhausted and disoriented and was insecure until my circadian orientation reasserted itself.
 
This book explores the phenomena cited, drawing upon animal experiments, the accumulated experience of airline pilots who make flights across time [784] zones, and especially the reports of American and Russian astronauts who repeatedly crossed twenty-four time zones in ninety minutes.
 
The word circadian is derived from the Latin circa diem or about a day and refers to the mysterious twenty-four-hour rhythms which control all brain outputs-behavioral, autonomic or neuro-endocrine-of all animals or humans who live on Earth with its twenty-four-hour alternation of light and darkness. We must assume that were our day only ten hours long, as on Saturn, our circadian responses would correspond to that timing.
 
Our specific problem is: What causes circadian disorientation when we cross time zones? And what can be done about it?
 
Mott leafed through the manuscript hurriedly to ascertain how Pope with his astronomical training had attacked the problem, and he saw with interest that John speculated that flying from New York to Tokyo was more troublesome than flying the same distance in reverse order:
 
It may be that when we fly from east to west we are flying against the motion of the Earth. Perhaps we fight against this dislocation, adjusting to it incrementally. But when we fly west to east, we are flying with the motion of the Earth and are seduced into accepting its domination, continuing to accept it long after we have ceased our flight. A simpler explanation might be that most people find it more difficult to get up early than to get up late.
 
He was halted in his skimming by the fascinating case histories of race horses flown practically nonstop from breeding farms in Delaware to race tracks in New Zealand and Australia:
 
At both the Christchurch and Melbourne race tracks where I conducted my studies, I found that trainers had to be extremely careful with imported American horses, keeping them in artificially lighted surroundings which conformed to the day-night timing [785] of their Delaware homeland for at least three weeks. Gradually the electric lighting became synchronized with the real lighting outside, at which time the horse could step out into his new environment with no apparent disorientation.
 
Pope was best in his careful analysis of two kinds of space travel, Gemini-type low orbiting, in which an Earth-oriented time zone was crossed every three and three-quarter minutes, and the far thrust into outer space which could be conceived as flying an immense distance within roughly the same terrestrial time zone. One of Pope’s trenchant paragraphs amused him:
 
We must remember, in evaluating these data, that only thirty human beings in world history have experienced travel of this second type: three men each in Apollos 8, and 10 through 18, and each man an American. No Russian so far has ventured into outer space; each of that country’s daring cosmonauts has been confined to low Earth orbit, so their experience does not yet impinge on what we are discussing here.
 
Finally Mott came to the missing chapters for which he would be responsible. Chapter XII: Travel to Mars; Chapter XIII: Travel to Proxima Centauri; Chapter XIV: Travel Outside the Galaxy. When he saw the titles and visualized what must be said to enflesh them, he felt that surge of excitement which had overcome him when General Funkhauser inserted him among the geniuses at Langley: “I’m being granted a second life ... a second time.”
With an almost adolescent ardor he plunged into the three subjects, accumulating a bewildering array of technical studies and applying to them his own imaginative analyses. When three Americans blasted off from Canaveral for their journey to Mars, say in the year 2005, when that great surge of energy which marked the 1960-1970 epoch was re-created by some driving force as yet unidentified, they would be starting on a journey of about 200,000,000 miles one way at a speed of 25,000 miles an hour, which would then be feasible. The trip would take about 330 days out, two months on the surface and 330 days back, or just about two years:
 
[786] If prudent, they will maintain their natural circadian rhythm, basing it on Central Standard Time at Houston and adjusting their schedules to it. Of course, they could establish over that period of time a circadian rhythm coincident with the Mars day of 24 hours and 37 minutes, but the slight advantage of achieving this would scarcely repay the effort.
 
It was when he attacked the second problem of sending humans out to Proxima Centauri, the flare star closest to Earth at 4.3 light-years or 2.52 x 1013 miles (25.2 trillion) that he realized the irreversible change which had come over him. He discovered it first when he looked at the books he had assembled, for he found among them a score of the best science-fiction works:
 
Good God! That damned Randy Claggett made a sci-fi nut out of me. And look at my stuff! Each book is what they call heavy metal, the hard-core scientific prediction of the machines and processes for real space travel. None of the soft-core analysis of future civilizations. This is vintage Jules Verne, Arthur C. Clarke, Robert Heinlein. Daring men in a crate heading into the challenge of outer space.
 
As he looked at the collection he had to acknowledge what had happened to him: Engineers don’t bother with this idle speculation. Scientists do. Which means I’ve become a scientist, against all my better instincts. And it was as a scientist, the new breed of astrophysicist who lived among the farthest galaxies, that he placed before him only one book, his bible, Allen’s Astrophysical Quantities, and from its recondite data he began to construct the patterns that men would some day follow in adjusting to the problems of traveling for 4.3 years at the speed of light over a distance of 25.2 trillion miles to the nearest star.
 
Circadian rhythms will be just as important a problem as time dilation, and how the space travelers organize their capsule universe will be significant. Suppose they go the route of suspended animation: they will have to reinsert their sentient bodies into [787] a specified circadian system, for if they do not, they will find themselves disoriented to the point that they might not be able to function during the precise period of readjustment when maximum brain efficiency will be at a premium.
 
As he drafted the detailed flight plan to Epsilon Eridani, the fascinating star only eleven light-years distant (65 trillion miles) he could feel the reality of such proposed travel and its problems become not abstract intellectual puzzles but specific difficulties to be overcome, and one night he threw down his pencil and cried, “God, how I wish I could live into the century that will accomplish such things!” But as soon as he uttered this lament he was ashamed of himself, and he turned off his desk lamp and went in the other room to join Rachel, who was sitting prim and quiet in a straight-backed chair listening to Pachelbel.
“I’m so damned grateful,” he said.
“For what?” she asked without moving.
“That I was permitted by fate, or chance, or God’s planning to live into the age when aviation was invented-into this explosive period when men could go to the planets.”
“And to be a part of it all. That counts, too.”
“I was so damned fortunate.” His voice broke and for some moments he stood silent, listening to the intricate canon as if it were an orderly echo from outer space. “We were lucky.”
 
When he had his three chapters outlined and the research material on which they must be based identified, he started writing with a desire to summarize all known knowledge about man’s probable reaction to travel in space, and he had pretty well completed his two-year trip to Mars when his former superiors in NASA called with another short-term project, one which could constitute the capstone to his life’s work: “Stanley, we’re being badgered from many sides to make an authoritative statement as to the possibility of life elsewhere in the universe. The UFO contingent is after us, the L-5 specialists, half a dozen religious leaders who demand that we state definitely that life can exist only on Earth, and lots of people who’ve seen Star [788] Wars four times. If we convene a workshop with top-drawer participants, will you chair it in your customary non-hysterical way?”
Mott wanted to leap into the phone to grasp the speaker’s hand, to say yes immediately, but caution warned him to find out more about the composition of the workshop.
“Only the best, Stanley. Nineteen-like Sagan, Asimov, Cameron of Harvard, Bernie Oliver of Hewlett Packard, John Pope of Fremont State. Maybe we can get Freeman Dyson of Princeton. Then we’ll give you two dozen NASA experts for the technical reports. And we’ll invite about two hundred official observers-Army, Air Force, church groups, the sci-fi wizards-and we’ll hold three plenary sessions which the general public will be free to attend.”
For a long moment Mott could not respond: from his childhood days he had speculated on the possibility of extraterrestrial intelligence and at critical moments in his life had addressed the unseen beings as if they could hear him. But he had never made up his mind as to the probability of their existence, and this opportunity to clarify his thinking, and that of the scientific community, was a joyous one. At last he would be free to reach out to the ultimate horizons.
“You there, Stanley?”
“I’ll take it.”
He went to work preparing several guidance papers to be circulated before the nineteen official members met, then hurried to the millionaire’s estate in Vermont, now a study center belonging to Harvard, where the four-week session would convene. With almost childish pleasure he supervised printing the plaques used to identify rooms to be occupied by men he had known for decades: Ray Bradbury, Frank Drake, Kantankerous Kantrowitz, Gerard O’Neill of Princeton, Nobel winner Lederberg, small, ultra-brilliant Phil Morrison of MIT, who had written a book on the subject, and Riccardo Giacconi, who had a mind like a restive volcano. It would be a reunion of what Rachel affectionately called “our crazies of the far out,” but they would not preempt discussion, because the two hundred observers would contain disputatious experts prepared to challenge anything. Conspicuous would be the Reverend Strabismus heading the group of churchmen; at one time [789] he had known as much science as any of them and was indeed the only man in the group who had written two doctoral theses in the fields to be discussed.
It would be difficult to hold these intellectual stallions in rein, but Mott would try.
 
Before Mott could devote full attention to his new job he was diverted by a shocking interruption. Senator Grant, with the generosity which had marked his incumbency in Washington, waited until Fremont officials had certified the election of Mrs. Penny Pope as their new senator, then resigned. The state governor was free to appoint Mrs. Pope to the remaining weeks of his term, whereupon Grant rushed her to Washington to be sworn in as his replacement, thus ensuring her permanent seniority over other first-term members of the Class of 1982.
On the afternoon of the swearing-in Senator Pope asked Mott if he could report to her new office, and when he reached there he found the Popes and Senator Grant in sober discussion. After an unusually brusque greeting Penny said, “I’ve asked you three friends to give me some hard advice. I’ve been assigned to the Space Committee and I wish you’d tell me, Dr. Mott, what NASA’s program ought to be.”
Mott bowed formally to the new senator and said, “America must pursue a set of clearly defined, practical goals in space.”
With impatience at such a wobbly answer she snapped, “And what are they?”
“I can tell you exactly, but I did not want to seem pushy.”
“Please push. In as few words as possible.”
“Solar-polar mission to study the Sun.” He paused, expecting to be asked what that might be, but Senator Pope nodded, indicating that she knew.
“A mission to greet Halley’s Comet.” Another nod. “The great space telescope. Retrieval of rock samples from Mars and, before long, a manned mission there. Intense study of gossamer flight, ramjet flight, solar-powered flight. Certainly the establishment of a permanent station in space. And above all, continued research in aeronautics.”
“Are they practical? Given the present state of the art?” Mott deferred to Professor Pope, who said, “Each one could be done.”
[790] “But could they be financed?” she pressed, and this time Mott indicated that Senator Grant should respond.
“In the present economy, we can’t afford even one of them.”
“Not even the aviation studies?”
“Private industry should assume that burden,” Grant said, and Mott winced.
“Where did we use to get the money, Norman?” Penny asked. “Those billions your committee and mine lavished on Gemini and Apollo?”
“That was an easier world,” Grant said with some sorrow. “In those days we believed we could do anything. We’re no longer that kind of people.”
Senator Pope leaned forward, bit on a pencil, and studied each of her advisers. “I fear that what Senator Grant has said is true.” Mott gasped. “I’ve been studying the budget ... seen the immense cost of programs that can’t be cut. I find no margin left for space.” Now Mott had to protest, but she cut him short: “That is, beyond the housekeeping functions NASA is already performing.”
“That’s hardly enough to justify a major branch of the government,” Mott said.
“Exactly,” the new senator agreed, and she looked at her old friend with a harshness he had not seen in her before. “It’s quite possible that NASA should be closed down ... completely.”
“But you were our principal supporter,” Mott cried. Senator Pope ignored this and asked Grant, “What’s your advice, Norman?”
Grant cleared his throat. “I’ve never said this in public, and I didn’t reveal it even to you, Penny. But before he died Senator Glancey told me, ‘Norman, I think NASA should be quietly buried in the Department of Defense.’ I think so, too.”
“Oh, no!” Mott protested. “That would be entirely wrong. A reversal of all the good decisions Eisenhower made to get us started.”
“In his day he was right,” Grant said, “and you remember that I spearheaded his program. But in our day the situation is totally changed. Mission, budget, public support and military need, all different. Dr. Mott, your agency should be dismantled. Aviation and communications to [791] private industry. Shuttle to the military. Close down the rest.”
“And what happens to science? To the inquiring mind of man?”
“Universities can assume responsibility for that,” Grant said.
Stanley Mott was courteous to senators, but he was not awed by them; he had seen too many awful mistakes, and now, since these two seemed determined to commit a colossal one, he could not stay silent. “If you do what you’re suggesting, you commit the United States to second-class citizenship. We have problems of the most profound importance-”
With some asperity Mrs. Pope interrupted: “If we do what you suggest, we’ll go broke.”
“I’m amazed at your reversal of attitude,” Mott protested.
“If I could butt in,” John Pope said, “and if you’ll excuse the expression, I think the Korean newspaperwoman said it all in her book.” He nodded gravely to his wife, who glared at him, then smiled.
 
“A free nation is capable of surviving one challenge after another, as America proved so clearly in meeting her Depression, World War II, the creation of an atomic bomb and the flight to the Moon. But it will rarely respond to the same challenge twice, as it proved when it behaved so cravenly during the Vietnam war. It needs the excitement of change, new dangers to be overcome, new frontiers to be pushed back. With John Pope’s return from the dark side of the Moon, America terminated her space episode and retreated to a quiet corner to conserve her resources until the next challenge exploded.”
 
Senator Pope nodded. “We challenged the Moon, and Mars, Jupiter and Saturn, and we won. Now we must wait for the next great adventure. NASA has made its contribution.” And the meeting ended.
 
In 1975 NASA had explored the possibility of life in outer space in considerable depth, with many of the same [792] experts on the committee, so they required no indoctrination, but the new members, especially those not trained in the sciences, did, and at the opening plenary session, with nineteen committee members present, and forty-three NASA contributors who would provide much of the detailed study, Mott laid down the ground rules:
 
“We are commissioned by our government to make a simple, clear statement as to the probability of life elsewhere in the universe. The outward circles from Earth, each of which must be explored, are the Moon, the planets, our Galaxy, the other galaxies, the quasars and black holes of recent definition, and anything that lies beyond.
 
“We are speaking always of two forms of life, what we might call the lowest possible level of reproductive existence and sentient beings who might be much like ourselves. Let’s keep those two goals constantly in mind.
 
“We start with certain demonstrated knowledge that our predecessor investigators could not have had. We know there is no kind of life of either category on the Moon. We suspect the same of Mars. We have good reason to believe that sentient life exists nowhere in the planetary system and certainly not on the Sun. It is highly probable that even the lowest imaginable forms do not exist on planets like Jupiter, Saturn and Uranus. So let’s not have any serious proposals regarding humanoids coming at us from Mars or Jupiter. They’re not there and probably never were.
 
“That throws us into our Galaxy and out into the other galaxies, and to keep our thinking in focus I have prepared this simple sheet, which I hope you will keep with you during our discussion. It lists twenty stars and other celestial objects, and indicates rather nicely, I believe, the specific problems we face in either traveling to those distant objects or exchanging messages with them. Please, please, as we conduct our discussions, keep these data in mind.”
 
[793] The sheet he distributed was arranged in neat columns, as any work he did would be, and it contained startling information. Six of the more interesting targets were:
 

 
In presenting the table he apologized to his science colleagues: “I very much wanted to give these big numbers as powers of 10, but I was afraid this might prove difficult for our many lay participants. To acquaint them with the proper system, the star Altair, a member of our Galaxy, is 9.385 x 1013 miles distant, which is read 9 plus thirteen additional digits, most of them zeros.
“Because Professor Pope is with us, I’ve started with the star Altair, a name he made famous during his solitary ride. If you can get hold of an old Apollo, John, you can travel to your favorite star in 428,000 years, one way. And when you get there you can tell us about it, but your radio message will require 16 years to reach us, but even so, you’re lots better off than I am. As those of you who have worked with me know, I have for some years been enamored of NGC-4565, and if I send a message there right [794] now, you and I will have to wait 40,000,000 years for a reply. So let’s not talk glibly about easy trips or quick message exchanges with celestial objects-”
“Unless,” one of the younger men interrupted, “we travel by time warp.”
“Exactly! We’ll discuss that tomorrow,” Mott said.
 
A NASA man laid out the conventional wisdom: “Our Galaxy contains about four hundred billion stars. There appear to be something like one hundred billion other galaxies besides our own. That means that we may have as many as four followed by twenty-two zeros of stars around us. And each of those stars could have nine planets accompanying it, the way our Sun does, which would make thirtysix plus twenty-two zeros of planets, and if each planet had a dozen or more moons like Jupiter and Saturn, we have a fantastic number of locations on which extraterrestrial life might exist. But Dr. Kelly has something to say about that.”
Now came the first striking bit of speculation: “Suppose we look at the forty billion trillion possible stars and begin to cut away to see if we can bring this number down to an understandable figure. In a hundred stars taken at random, seventy will be double, triple or more complex. Only thirty will be single stars like our Sun. There is good reason to assume that no double star or triple can have planets, for the close passage of such masses would quickly destroy any planets. So right at the start we cut our number of possibles by seventy percent.
“I want to call your attention to a remarkable analysis by Michael Hart, which I’ve mimeographed for you. Hart shows that if the Earth had been only a little closer to the Sun, a greenhouse effect would have occurred four billion years ago which would have made life as we know it impossible. And if the Earth had been only one million miles farther away from the Sun, runaway glaciation would have frozen the world shut. So we see that accurate placement of the planets we’re looking for is also of vital importance.”
“Sir,” came a strong voice from one side of the conference hall; it was Reverend Strabismus in the first of his many interruptions. “Why are you surprised at the accurate placement of our Earth? Surely God intended it to be [795] exactly where it is. He took all your calculations into consideration.”
“Some agency certainly did,” the speaker said without halting in his explanation, “and unless a similar accuracy was exhibited in placing all the other planets we’re to discuss, life of any kind might be impossible.”
“Life would be possible anywhere if God willed it,” Strabismus said and sat down.
The speaker used half a dozen criteria with which to whittle away that huge number of forty billion trillion, and in the end he had his remaining number so small that he ended with a brief statement which awed his listeners: “The factors which operate against billions of possible sites for human habitation are so tremendous that I could be persuaded that Earth is so astonishingly peculiar that sentient life has developed only here.”
“That’s what we’ve been saying since the Book of Genesis,” Strabismus said.
“There’s a minority report on that,” came a stern voice from the rear. “I give my paper tomorrow at eleven.”
Mott now called on a man from Cal Tech, who developed an amazing theme, one which shone like a light in a dark valley once it was enunciated: “We shall be talking about enormous spans of time, and it’s essential that we keep one fact in mind. No matter how many or how few other civilizations we postulate, they must be scattered at random over vast ages. It is extremely unlikely that if a planet like ours exists in Andromeda, and has developed sentient beings somewhat like us-”
“They will be like us,” Strabismus interrupted, “for they will have been made in the image of God.”
“It’s extremely unlikely,” the man from Cal Tech continued, “That they will be at the same cultural level as we are. The laws of chance dictate that they will be everywhere else. Perhaps they matured a billion years ago and are now in sad decline, unable to communicate even with themselves. Perhaps they’re just beginning and won’t develop radio communication for another four billion years. It took us that long. So in everything we do during these next weeks we must visualize a situation like this.” And he covered the board with a series of vertical chalk lines, some near the top, some toward the bottom, but almost [796] none overlapping. It was like o forest of telephone poles scattered upright in the sky, each in its own ambience, each at a different height, unrelated to the others.
“Here’s an inhabited planet in Andromeda, way up here on the scale. Here we are down here in the first blush of morning. Gentlemen, remember that although this Earth has existed for about four and a half billion years, and human beings for a few million, we’ve been able to send comprehensible signals into space for only about forty-five years. Suppose Andromeda had wanted to communicate with us two billion years ago. There was no one here to listen, and even a hundred years ago when people were here, they hadn’t mastered the techniques of listening.”
The concept was so challenging, and so concisely presented, that Reverend Strabismus asked quietly, “We know that the universe could not have existed in the time period you suggest. The Bible explains all that. But do you think, Professor, that even today the kind of imbalance you suggest-one civilization up here, one down there, with no chance of communication-could that exist right now?”
“I’m convinced it does.”
“Thank you for making something clear which was not clear before.”
“I’m not sure the various applications are clear to me,” the Cal Tech man said.
 
With these conservative caveats the first day ended, and dinner was spent in furious discussion, with younger scientists warning that on the morrow they were going to tear the place apart with some contemporary thinking; these cowboys of outer space held a rump session starting at ten-thirty that night to lay plans for the presentations they would make regarding the future of space communication, when their radical new procedures would be applied.
The second day started like a typhoon in the Pacific, building intensity with each hour until entire island structures were endangered. A delightfully brash young man from MIT said, “I want you to disregard all the frightening statistics Dr. Mott handed you yesterday in his golden sheet, because he refused to take into account time dilation. For you non-scientists that’s a major consequence of Einstein’s Theory of Relativity. It means this. That time [797] aboard the spacecraft is radically different from time as seen by those who remain behind on Earth. If Professor Pope, whom Dr. Mott mentioned yesterday, should want to fly to the nebula in Orion, it would take him only thirty years of elapsed time, but the people on Earth would have spent thirty-one hundred years.”
Mott heard two science-fiction writers: “We explained all that forty years ago. They’re just catching up.”
Another main speaker said, “I visualize travel by as many as four hundred persons in a single spaceship that accelerates to the speed of light within one hour, then moves into a time warp that will enable the crew to take the ship to any spot within the Galaxy within a mortal lifetime.”
“How soon do you think such travel possible”?”
“By the year 2050, but incoming voyagers from the Galaxy might get here before we leave.”
Strabismus was delighted to hear such speculation, for it reminded him of those early days his Universal Space Associates peddled little green men. “I was right all along,” he muttered to himself, “just ahead of my time.” His old interests awakened, he listened with acute attention as radio experts predicted that if intra-galactic communication ever did reach Earth, it would probably arrive on the 1420-1662 megahertz band: “This occupies the space between the spectral lines of water’s components, hydrogen and the hydroxyl radical. For that reason we call it the Water Hole, around which creatures of space will congregate socially the way animals in a prairie gather at their water hole.”
Strange, strange, Strabismus thought. If I’d settled down at either Yale or New Paltz, I could have been one of the scientists here today. I know more than any I’ve heard so far, except maybe Mott. He listened attentively as a different speaker elaborated: “We’ve done much work at the Water Hole already. We’ve sent thousands of messages out, and we’ve spent many hours listening with our great ears at Arecibo, and based on those solid beginnings, men like Sagan and Oliver are proposing interesting new attacks. Everything we do is based on the assumption that somewhere other intelligences are ready, perhaps even eager, to communicate with us.”
On the third day a pair of Drake’s students from Cornell [798] explained to the laymen in the group the frightening equation covering the probability of life on some other planet in the Galaxy:
 

 
When it was placed on the blackboard the non-scientific members groaned, but the speaker quickly explained: “This proves how arcane we can be. All it means is that the first N represents the number of civilizations in our Galaxy capable of communicating with us right now. That’s the figure we must have to make our discussion reasonable. The second N is a figure we seek to make our discussion practical. N* is a very large number representing all the known stars in our Galaxy. Some experts say one hundred billion, some say four. In our example I’ll take four. The next six letters with their subscripts represent fractions, with each subscript standing for a crucial word or concept. When you multiply the very large number by the six fractions, you get a constantly diminishing number of possible civilizations. First fraction: the portion of stars which have planetary systems, and we heard yesterday that this fraction must be considerably smaller than one-half, more likely one-quarter. Second fraction: the portion of planets with an ecology able to sustain life, perhaps one-half. Third fraction: the portion of the eligible planets on which life actually does develop; the biologists believe it must be almost nine-tenths. Fourth fraction: what portion of those with life develop intelligent forms? Given enough time, we think it could be one-tenth. Fifth fraction: the portion of civilizations with intelligent life which learn to communicate outwardly, maybe one-third. Sixth fraction: that gripping question we discussed yesterday, what is the longevity of a technical civilization?
“We must evaluate this question of longevity with all the philosophical resources at our command. The only hard evidence we have is our own experience on Earth. Four and a half billion years old. Technically competent to communicate forty-five years. Likely to blow itself into extinction at any moment. So the last gloomy fraction must be 45/4,500,000,000 or 1/100,000,000. Let’s face facts and multiply our equation:
 

 
[799] This means that among the myriad stars of our Galaxy, there are probably not more than fifteen with whom we could converse.”
When some had expressed awe at the small number, others at the fact that there might be even one other intelligent society, the speaker said dryly, “Of course, that’s just our own Galaxy. Since we know of one hundred billion other galaxies, there could be more than a trillion civilizations spread around out there. Enough to occupy us for a while.”
 
The two big fights that preoccupied the commission, one mind-expanding fun, the other so fundamental that it threatened to destroy the workshop, began on the fourth day. The first pitted the old-timers, who were pessimistic about the possibility of interstellar travel and communication, against the avid youngsters, who predicted both.
“We have the technological principles right now to fly a spaceship into the Galaxy,” one young man claimed. “Of course we do,” a cautious old-timer agreed. “And have you calculated the amount of energy needed to do such a job? I have. Enough to illuminate the United States for the next fifty thousand years.”
“We’ll devise new systems of propulsion,” the young man said.
“You solve every objection I bring up by a ‘new this’ or a ‘new that.’ ”
“That’s how we solved the objections you made forty years ago!”
Mott took no sides in this debate, but he had always attended to the quiet sardonic guesses of salty Freeman Dyson of Princeton, and if Dyson now argued that both communication and travel might be practical sooner than some thought, he was inclined to go along, but after one evening session, when debate had sizzled, he walked alone under the Vermont stars and acknowledged that he had for some time been harboring a thought which stunned him when said aloud: “Perhaps we are unique. Perhaps we’re the only planet that developed life. Perhaps ...”
[800] A voice hailed him: “That you, Mott?” It was Strabismus. “The ideas thunder at you like railway trains,” he said.
“That’s why we hold these sessions.”
“Cold turkey? What’s your personal guess as to how many others there might be?”
As they walked side by side through the starry night Mott answered honestly: °I was just about to concede that Earth might be unique-”
“But you didn’t?”
“No, Strabismus. I think all our fractions were far too conservative. My calculations permit about two million societies with whom we could interact.”
They looked for a light, and when they found a lamppost Strabismus took a scrap of paper from his pocket. “My fractions are bigger, too. I come up with about a million.” He folded the paper, returned it to his pocket, and said, “But these are figures for those in the know. The general population, it would only confuse them.”
“And you intend to keep them confused?”
“I intend to work with them as I find them.”
“You mean use them.”
“They want to be used.”
“We’ll resume in the morning!”
Like many great conflagrations, the fundamental fight began with a fire so small that a child could have extinguished it, and when it started, no one could have foreseen its destructive potential. It centered on the fraction f1, the portion of eligible planets on which life actually develops, for what started out to be a problem in biology quickly became a question of metaphysical and religious values. The scientist who presented the basic data used an unfortunate term; he said that life would evolve compulsively whenever the primordial soup had the right components, temperature, pressure and general surroundings, and he believed that these rules must prevail throughout the universe, so that the genesis of life was possible in billions of imagined situations.
The religionists and some of the lay observers found “ this phrase primordial soup wildly offensive and withdrew any conciliatory gestures they may have made during the first days of the conference. One fiery Baptist, the Reverend Hosea Kellog of the Red River Bible University, [801] shouted, “Man was placed on this Earth by the personal intervention of God, as a man entire, and not as a cauldron of bubbling chemicals.” Quickly the debate ran wild, leading to this improbable exchange:
“Are you claiming, Reverend Kellog, that God saves only those who accept Jesus Christ? And all the rest are condemned to eternal hell?”
“That’s what the Bible says.”
“Does this mean that all Jews are so condemned?”
“Especially the Jews. They had a chance to accept Jesus and they denied him. They stand condemned.”
“And all the people in Asia who never heard of Jesus? And all those in Africa? And all the Unitarians in this country, and the non-believers?”
“They are all condemned.”
“And the millions who died before Christ appeared? They could never have known him. Are they, too, in everlasting hell?”
“They are.”
Even Reverend Strabismus found such doctrine too extreme, and he surprised the assembly by refuting it: “My Bible preaches hope for all. I was a Jew but saw the light, and I’m convinced that God welcomes me into His heaven. But this does not mean that I condemn the other Jews in this assembly or in this nation who have not seen the true way. If God is big enough to have set in motion the kind of universe we’ve been describing, He’s big enough to find a place in it for a handful of Jews and Buddhists.”
“Anathema!” shouted Kellog. “I rue the day I granted you a degree in theology.”
Strabismus had far more friends in the hall than Kellog, and this condemnation of their leader was offensive, so a brawl erupted, and soon scientists were defending their right to exist, while Kellog’s men condemned them anew. The affair would have destroyed the workshop had not Dr. Mott gaveled the contestants to order and then abruptly terminated the stormy session.
He had little on which to congratulate himself, for at seven the next morning his phone began to jangle, and in quick succession he had three agitated calls from NASA headquarters and a stern one from Senator Pope: “You were sent there to keep those tigers in their cages, Stanley. [802] Throw them some warm meat and bring this thing under control.”
“How did you hear about it?”
“New York Times, Washington Post, Christian Science Monitor. Front pages are full of it. Do you think you should terminate the workshop?”
“Never.”
“Then knock some sense into their heads. That’s your job.”
He skipped breakfast, spending the time drafting a few concise notes which he hoped would quieten things, but when he stood at the podium he could see that the conferees were still eager for battle, and he knew he must conciliate them:
 
“Yesterday evening we witnessed an unfortunate manifestation of the ancient and unnecessary quarrel between religion and science, and the chair feels obligated to make a statement.
 
“I would remind my scientific brethren, to whom personally I owe so much, that whereas each arriving piece of new evidence supports the theory of an original big bang which launched at least this portion of the cosmos into being, no one, and I repeat no one, has provided even one acceptable scientific guess as to what agency activated that primordial bang. If our religious participants insist that it was God, their reasoning is at least as good as anyone else’s, and I think better.
 
“Now I must remind my religious brethren, and I feel justified in using that familial word, since my father was a clergyman, that all available evidence does point to a very old beginning for our Earth and to an immensely old beginning for our universe. Even though I believe in God as firmly as I do, I simply cannot deny the evidence, and I hold it to be the task of knowing men to reconcile the two points of view which erupted here last night with such violence.
 
“My conclusions are threefold, and because this question is so vital to this workshop and to humanity in general, I have taken the precaution of writing them [803] down on this small slip of paper lest I misspeak myself on what is proving to be the heart of this meeting.
 
“First, society cannot exist without a referee to judge the good and evil of any proposed act. Without this constant guidance, encouragement, and censorship we must revert to barbarism, as we have seen societies do in our lifetime. Science has not the moral force to provide this guidance, nor has politics. Only an ethical system can do this, and our inherited ethical systems have been given the hallowed name religion.
 
“Second, I am not much concerned with the doctrinal debates and differences of religion, nor are many of my scientific brethren, but I am deeply supportive of the solid work religion does in helping to structure society. I would not wish to live in any community which lacked churches. I have sometimes phrased it this way: If I were an unmarried young man of twenty-four, sent by my corporation to a new job in its Detroit plant, there is no possibility whatever that I would go to a bar to find my wife, or to a dance hall. I would join a church, or associate myself with a library or college, because I would want to meet people who supported the same ideals I did. Most sensible citizens support churches, and therefore the religious impulse which creates them.
 
“Third, as a scientist who did not attain that august title till he was a mature man of forty-four, so that he did not accept generalizations easily, I cannot deny or obscure the accumulated evidence that piles up before me. Our scientific probes of Voyager II, the photographs it returned to Earth, told us the nature of the planet Saturn, and regardless what ancient religious texts claim in their poetic form, that is the nature of the planet and I am bound by that truth.
 
“I am told that last night Reverend Hosea Kellog of Red River Bible University and Professor Hiram Hellweiter of Indiana University came to blows during the heat of their debate. Such partisanship is understandable and certainly forgivable, for [804] decisions of great moment confront us, and it is inevitable that defense of one’s priorities should become furious. But in the quietness of this beautiful morning I ask you two distinguished gentlemen to embrace, as I embrace each of you.
 
“For all of us must grapple with problems of tremendous import, and we must strive together in harmony, not in destructive discord. We can now reach out to the farthest galaxies and peel back the layers of confusion which in the past have obscured our understandings. What shall we do with this new knowledge? We have seen that we can harness the hydrogen atom. But how will we utilize and discipline that capacity? And perhaps of even greater significance and peril, we can now move into the structure of the human gene to create new forms of life. How can we supervise the exercise of that terrible power?
 
“Finally, the time may not be far distant when we shall be summoned back to this hall to discuss in secret not the exploration of other galaxies but the steps in which America can utilize her stations in space in mortal warfare with some other power which has also learned how to function in this medium and is determined to use it to destroy us.
 
“This first assembly of great minds must not be divided. We must work as partners in our exploration into the structure of matter, into the workings of the human mind, and into society’s chances for survival. If we divide, we can destroy ourselves. If we unite, we can bring order to a threatened Earth.”
 
When he sat down, the participants, most of whom sought the conciliation he represented, cheered, but he was so exhausted nervously that he could not resume conduct of the session and excused himself. As he walked unsteadily toward the rear of the hall he felt his arm being taken by Leopold Strabismus, who whispered as he led their way to the sun-filled lawn, “Forget them for a moment. They’re resuming where they left off last night.”
[805] “I noticed that you stayed out of that fray, Leopold. Uncharacteristic.”
“I wanted to find out what the more sensible men like you believed.”
“All of us scientists are convinced that this Earth upon which you and I stand this afternoon was brought out of chaos four and a half billion-”
“There it is, Mott! You said it yourself. Brought out of chaos. Who brought it out?”
“That has never concerned me. It could easily have been God. Or the Primal Force. Or Divine Chance. I have no problem with that whatever.”
“There’s the difference. Men like me want to nail things down.”
“So you halt the teaching of evolution? You put a stopper on geology?”
“The common man must not be confused.”
Mott pointed over his shoulder toward the noisy session. “Practically every man in there, including you and me, is a common man, and for sure we were the sons of common men. If we can grapple with these questions, and one day solve the easier ones, why not the common man? You and I are the common man.”
And so the grand debate continued. It had started eons ago along the camel trails in Mesopotamia and in the barren highlands of Judea. Ancestors of Mott and Strabismus had chosen opposing sides in Assyria and at Stonehenge. These precise questions had been raised in the temples of Thebes and Machu Picchu, and in the ancient universities of Bologna and Oxford. Now they were being revived on a hillside in Vermont, and a thousand years from now they would still be debated on some other planet orbiting some other star in some other galaxy.
 
 
THE END.


APPENDIX
THE FOUR FAMILIES
Mott, Stanley. Born Newton, Massachusetts, 1918.
Mott, Rachel Lindquist. Born Worcester, Massachusetts, 1920.
Millard, born 1943.
Christopher, born 1950.
 
Pope, John. Born Clay, Fremont, 1927.,U.S. Navy.
Pope, Penny Hardesty. Born Clay, Fremont, 1927.
 
Grant, Norman. Born Clay, Fremont, 1914.
Grant, Elinor Stidham. Born Clay, Fremont, 1917.
Marcia, born 1939.
 
Kolff, Dieter. Born near Munich, Germany, 1907.
Kolff, Liesl. Born Peenemünde, Germany, 1916.
Magnus, born 1947.
 
THE SOLID SIX ASTRONAUTS
Claggett, Randolph. Born Creede, Texas, 1929. U.S. Marine Corps.
Claggett, Debby Dee Cawthorn Rodgers. Born Laredo, Texas, 1926.
 
Lee, Charles “Hickory.” Born Teacup, Tennessee, 1933. U.S. Army.
Lee, Sandra Perry. Born Nashville, Tennessee, 1937.
 
Jensen, Harry. Born Orangeburg, South Carolina, 1933. U.S. Air Force.
Jensen, Inger Olestad. Born Loon River, Minnesota, 1935.
 
Bell, Timothy. Born Little Rock, Arkansas, 1934. Civilian test pilot.
Bell, Cluny. Born Little Rock, Arkansas, 1937.
 
Cater, Edward. Born Kosciusko, Mississippi, 1931. U.S. Air Force.
Cater, Gloria. Born Kosciusko, Mississippi, 1931.
 
Pope, John. (See The Four Families above)
 
THE OTHERS
Von Braun, Wernher. Born Wirsitz, Germany, 1912.
Funkhauser, Helmut. Born Hamburg, Germany, 1896.
Butler, Gawain. Born Detroit, Michigan, 1921.
Glancey, Michael. Born Magnolia, Red River, 1904.
Strabismus, Leopold. Born (Scorcella, Martin) Mount Vernon, New York, 1925.
Thompson, Tucker. Born Columbus, Ohio, 1912.
Rhee, Cynthia. Born (Rhee, Soon-Ka) Osaka, Japan, 1936.
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